Santanu Kumar Bal · Joydeep Mukherjee Burhan Uddin Choudhury Ashok Kumar Dhawan *Editors*

Advances in Crop Environment Interaction



Advances in Crop Environment Interaction

Santanu Kumar Bal • Joydeep Mukherjee Burhan Uddin Choudhury Ashok Kumar Dhawan Editors

Advances in Crop Environment Interaction



Editors Santanu Kumar Bal ICAR - Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA) Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Burhan Uddin Choudhury ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region Umiam, Megalaya, India Joydeep Mukherjee ICAR - Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI) New Delhi, India

Ashok Kumar Dhawan Former Addl. Director of Research Punjab Agricultural University (PAU) Ludhiana, Punjab, India

ISBN 978-981-13-1860-3 ISBN 978-981-13-1861-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018959460

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore This book is dedicated to Indian Council of Agricultural Research & Punjab Agricultural University



Preface

Agriculture is facing multifaceted threats from unpredictable weather variability, frequent drought occurrence, irrigation water scarcity, degradation of soil resources, and environmental health. These stresses result in modification of plant physiology to impart responses to the changing abiotic and biotic environments, only at the cost of decline in the ability of plant productivity. Given these facts, assessing the status of natural resource base and understanding the soil-plant-environmental interaction mechanisms for devising adaptation and mitigation approaches are of great and imminent challenges for all of us. In this context, it is essential to understand potential applications of modern tools and existing coping mechanisms and their integration to develop advanced mitigation strategies. In a broader perspective, the proposed book deals with crop environment interactions in the pretext of changing climatic conditions.

This book tries to bring answers in four major theme areas such as the following:

- Understanding the mechanism of carbon dynamics in soil-plant-environmental continuum, greenhouse gas fluxes in agriculture systems, soil properties influenced by climate change, and carbon sequestration processes
- Mitigation and management of photothermal environment for improving crop productivity, soil health under variable climate, agro-ecosystem evapotranspiration losses through biophysical controls, and heat stress in field crops and its management
- Studying the impact of climate change on biotic environments, insect-pest interaction, manifestation of diseases, and adaptation strategies for island agroecosystem
- Innovative approaches for assessing stress impacts in crops such as crop modeling, remote sensing, and spectral stress indices.

This book is a collection of contribution from the authoritative experts in their respective fields, provides a perspective to young researchers and opens up new avenues of work in the respective fields, and will be useful for different stakeholders, including postgraduate students and other academicians as well.

We are extremely thankful to all the contributors for their efforts in providing comprehensive and coherent reviews. We are also thankful to Indian Ecological Society for providing language editing services. We sincerely appreciate Team Springer especially RaagaiPriya ChandraSekaran and Aakanksha Tyagi for providing technical support in this publication.

Hyderabad, India

Santanu Kumar Bal Joydeep Mukherjee Burhan Uddin Choudhury Ashok Kumar Dhawan

Contents

Part I Understanding the Process of Interaction

1	Carbon Dynamics in Soil-Plant-Environment System on Climate Change Perspective: Special Reference to Rice	3	
2	Monitoring Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Agro-ecosystems Sunayan Saha, Paramjit Singh Minhas, and Ramlal Choudhary	25	
3	Methane Emission from Wetland Rice Agriculture-Biogeochemistry and Environmental Controls in Projected Changing EnvironmentSaurav Saha, Dibyendu Chatterjee, Chinmaya Kumar Swain, and Amaresh Kumar Nayak	51	
4	Response of Soil Properties and Soil Microbial Communities to the Projected Climate Change 8 Dibyendu Chatterjee and Saurav Saha 8		
5	Altitude Regulates Accumulation of Organic Carbon in Soil:Case Studies from the Hilly Ecosystem of NortheasternRegion of IndiaBurhan U. Choudhury, B. C. Verma, T. Ramesh, and S. Hazarika	137	
Part	t II Making Interaction Favourable Through Management Interventions		
6	Managing Photothermal Environment in Improving CropProductivitySantanu Kumar Bal, Kiran Pandurang Bhagat,Arnab Roy Chowdhury, Nilesh More, Shruti Suman,and Harpreet Singh	153	

7	Heat Stress in Field Crops: Impact and Management Approaches	181			
8	Identifying Suitable Soil Health Indicators Under Variable ClimateScenarios: A Ready Reckoner for Soil ManagementJoydeep Mukherjee, Nilimesh Mridha, Surajit Mondal,Debasish Chakraborty, and Amit Kumar	205			
9	Organic Agriculture: Potentials in Managing Abiotic Stresses in Crop Production . K. A. Gopinath, V. Visha Kumari, G. Venkatesh, M. Jayalakshmi, P. S. Prabhamani, and G. Ravindra Chary	229			
10	Plant-Associated Microbial Interactions in the SoilEnvironment: Role of Endophytes in Imparting AbioticStress Tolerance to CropsVenkadasamy Govindasamy, Priya George, Susheel Kumar Raina, Mahesh Kumar, Jagadish Rane, and Kannepalli Annapurna	245			
Part	t III Scientific Approaches for Assessing Stress Impacts on Crops				
11	Field Crop Response to Water Deficit Stress: Assessment Through Crop Models	287			
12	Hyperspectral Remote Sensing: Use in Detecting Abiotic Stresses in AgricultureBappa Das, Gopal R. Mahajan, and Ronald Singh	317			
13	Understanding the Crop-Climate Interaction Using Process-Based Simulation Models	337			
14	Canopy Temperature-Based Water Stress Indices: Potential and Limitations	365			
Part IV Stress Impacts on Agricultural Commodities: Few Case Studies					
15	Shift in the Manifestations of Insect Pests Under Predicted Climatic Change Scenarios: Key Challenges and Adaptation Strategies Babasaheb B. Fand, Henri E. Z. Tonnang, Santanu Kumar Bal, and A. K. Dhawan	389			

16	Food Chains and Webs: Interaction with Ecosystem	405
17	Future of Rice Crop Under Enriched CO ₂ Environment	425
	Biswanath Dari and Debjani Sini	

About the Editors

Dr. Santanu Kumar Bal is a Principal Scientist at the ICAR-Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA), Hyderabad. He obtained his MSc and PhD in agrometeorology from Punjab Agricultural University (PAU), Ludhiana. He has published 55 research articles and 110 other publications and received advanced training on database management in meteorology and hydrology in Israel. His current research interests include the development of dynamic crop weather calendars and improvement in prediction of crop phenology.

Dr. Joydeep Mukherjee is a Principal Scientist at the ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi. He obtained his MSc and PhD in agricultural physics from ICAR-IARI. He has published 73 research articles and 32 other publications and received advanced training on the application of GIS in agriculture at OSU, USA. His current research interests include micrometeorology using LAS and eddy covariance tower and soil moisture estimation using microwave remote sensing.

Dr. Burhan Uddin Choudhury is a Principal Scientist at the ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Megalaya. He obtained his MSc from PAU and PhD in agricultural physics from ICAR-IARI. He has published 62 research articles and 55 other publications, and he has received the Rothamsted International Fellowship 2016, prestigious IARI Merit Model, and ICAR Biennial Team Research Award. His current research interests are NRM using hyperspectral remote sensing (RS), UAV and multispectral RS, and crop and soil erosion studies in the fragile hilly ecosystems of NE India.

Dr. Ashok Kumar Dhawan is former Additional Director of Research and Head of the Department of Entomology, PAU, Ludhiana. He is the president of the Indian Ecological Society and the Society for Sustainable Cotton Production. He has 71 recommendations, 16 books, and 430 research articles to his credit. He is a fellow of seven professional societies and, at present, is involved in organizing conferences to develop awareness among policy planner and public/private sectors on issues related to ecology and environment by organizing conferences.

Part I

Understanding the Process of Interaction



Carbon Dynamics in Soil-Plant-Environment System on Climate Change Perspective: Special Reference to Rice

P. Bhattacharyya, P. K. Dash, C. K. Swain, A. K. Nayak, D. Chatterjee, S. R. Padhy, R. Saha, and D. Barman

Abstract

Carbon is the backbone of life. It is present in the atmosphere, oceans, soils and earth's crust and basically divided into five pools. In this chapter, we have tried to find a link of carbon dynamics in soil-plant-environment system and climate change by keeping in mind the major food crop of India, rice. Climate changes have direct as well as indirect influence on dynamics of soil organic carbon (SOC) and its degradation kinetics that contribute to global warming. In future climatic scenario, there is an opportunity to increase carbon assimilation and carbohydrate accumulation in rice under elevated carbon dioxide (CO₂) environment. Again, temperature moderates the carbohydrate allocation in plant and significantly affects the growth of crop. Moreover, under changing climatic scenario, methane emission may become an important driver because of higher belowground carbon allocation. Therefore, enhancing carbon sequestration, growing of rice with low carbon footprint and soil management for controlling different pools of SOC could be some of the emerging approaches which are discussed thoroughly in this chapter.

Keywords

Climate change \cdot C dynamics \cdot C sequestration \cdot Rice ecosystem

R. Saha · D. Barman

ICAR-Central Research Institute for Jute and Allied Fibres, Kolkata, India

P. Bhattacharyya (\boxtimes) · P. K. Dash · C. K. Swain · A. K. Nayak · D. Chatterjee · S. R. Padhy ICAR-National Rice Research Institute, Cuttack, Odisha, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_1

1.1 Introduction

In last four decades, concern of global carbon (C) cycle increased dramatically because of significant anthropogenic effect on changes in C cycle. Moreover, the topic received higher importance when researches showed that ice core and ocean core sediments have much higher carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentrations than previous times. Spikes also found in core samples CO₂ concentrations which have not been recorded since the last 650,000 years. Global CO₂ concentrations have increased by 37%, from ~275 ppm in the preindustrial era (1000-1750 AD) (Nieder and Benbi 2008) to 395 ppm in 2017. Anthropogenic activities like fossil fuel burning and land use change contributed heavily to C release to the atmosphere. The primary components of ecosystem CO₂ exchange and global C cycle could be listed as oceans, soils, fossil fuels and vegetation. Photosynthesis, respiration, organic C decomposition and mass transfer between air and water are the major pathways through which C is introduced and or removed from atmosphere. Carbon accounts for around 40% of dry biomass in Earth's crust (Houghton 2007) and 0.27% of the mass of elements. In vegetation, forests are one of the biggest reservoir of C as trees hold a larger amount of C per unit area. The oceans have nearly 50 times more C than the atmosphere (approximately 38,000 Pg C; Lal 2003). Majority of those are present in intermediate-deep waters, and around 700-1000 Pg C in the surface ocean have direct contact with atmosphere (Nieder and Benbi 2008). Ocean sediments contained about 6000 Pg of reactive C, important in long-term C fluxes. The primary contributor of excess C in the atmosphere was fossil fuel burning, adding 8.5 Pg C to the cycle every year. Oceans, vegetation and soils were considered as net C sinks with 26.98, 22.22 and 1.59% C sequestration status, respectively. The remaining 50.79% of excess C from fossil fuel burning primarily is responsible for increasing atmospheric C by ~3.2 Pg per year (IPCC 2007, 2014).

On the other hand, soil C represents the largest C reservoir in terrestrial ecosystems (Houghton 2007). It is twice as large as the vegetation C reservoir and has relatively low residence time. Therefore, soil C is becoming the nodal point for scientific research in global C cycle. As annual exchanges of CO_2 from soils to atmosphere are slightly less than that of oceans-atmosphere, slight increases or decreases in net CO_2 exchanges from soils could have a significant effect on atmospheric CO_2 status (Amundson 2001). Soils have huge C sink potential and to mitigate climate change. The predicted C storage by 2050 across the Great Plains region in the central part of the United States is around 2.2–2.7 Pg C. Moreover, it was concluded that C sequestration primarily through increase in soil C and 47% of all land in Great Plains was considered agricultural land.

It is also well recognized that SOC is the single most important indicator of soil quality assessment (Shukla et al. 2006). Soil quality refers to 'the capacity of a soil to function'. In agriculture, it signifies the capacity to sustain and/or enhance biomass production to provide healthy and inexpensive food and fibre to consumers. Therefore, not only the environmental point of view, SOC plays a dominant role in C cycling, soil health and production sustainability.

1.2 Carbon Cycling in Soil, Plant and Environment

Carbon is present in the atmosphere, oceans, soils and Earth's crust. It is present in the systems of plant, animal and any form of the living organism representing different C pools. Any movement of C among these pools is known as a flux. The combination of different C pools connected with the flux directions generates the carbon cycles (Fig. 1.1). The C in the atmosphere (as CO_2) is used by autotrophs in photosynthesis in the presence of sunlight and stabilized it in the form of glucose. This process transfers considerable proportion of C from atmospheric pool to biotic pool. Autotrophs like plants are consumed by animals. Over the time, these plants and animals die, respire and decay; the carbon will be released back to the atmosphere. In the same way many individual carbon cycles are linked among the pools, which integrally form global carbon cycle.

Global C pools are subdivided into five major pools (Fig. 1.2, Lal 2008a, b). Among them, oceanic pool is the largest (estimated as 38,153 Pg), in which surface ocean contributes 900 Pg, intermediate and deep ocean contributes 37,100 Pg, surface sediments contribute 150 Pg and marine biota contributes 3 Pg C. The second largest pool is the geological C pool which is estimated about 4130 Pg. This pool comprises fossil fuels of which 84.99% is coal, 5.57% is oil, 3.39% is gas and 6.05% is others (Lal 2008a, b). However, this C pool is reducing at the rate of 7.0 Pg



Fig. 1.1 Simplified carbon cycle in soil, plant and atmosphere



Fig. 1.2 Dynamics of global carbon pools (Note: Source, Lal 2008a, b)

year⁻¹ by fossil fuel burning (Bandyopadhyay 2012). Pedologic pool is considered as the third largest, that is, around 2730 Pg up to 1 m depth. This pool includes four components: SOC (1550 Pg), soil inorganic carbon (SIC; 950 Pg), litter (40-80 Pg) and peat (150 Pg, Lal 2008a, b). The largest terrestrial C pool is SOC which plays a nodal role in C cycle and, thus, is considered as the most vital pool for global climate change. Carbon is taken out in the form of CO_2 from the atmosphere by plant during photosynthesis. The C, thus assimilated by plants, is transferred back to soil in the form of dead residues. Recycled residues act a substrate for soil biota which decomposes those and CO₂ and CH₄ become back to atmosphere through respiration. The SIC pool consists of calcite, dolomite and gypsum (carbonates of minerals), elemental C and also primary and secondary carbonates (Bandyopadhyay 2012). Atmospheric pool is the fourth largest pool (780 Pg) increasing at the rate of 4.1 Pg year⁻¹. The biotic pool is the least (500–650 Pg) among the global C pools. The terrestrial C pool is the sum of the pedologic and the biotic C pools. There is more interaction in between the terrestrial and the atmospheric pools (Fig. 1.2). The annual rate of global primary production (GPP) is 120 Pg, while the respiration is 60 Pg of C, land use conversion $(1.1-2.2 \text{ Pg year}^{-1})$, decomposition (60 Pg year⁻¹) and soil erosion (1.1 Pg year⁻¹) are responsible for depletion of terrestrial C and at the same time enrichment of the atmospheric C pool. The fossil fuel (coal, oil, gas, etc.) combustion depletes the geologic C pool and enriches the atmospheric pool at the annual rate of 1.5–3.0 Pg carbon. However, the terrestrial C sink is increasing at the rate 2–4 Pg year⁻¹ and might increase at 5 Pg year⁻¹ by 2050 (Bandyopadhyay 2012).

1.3 Soil Carbon Dynamics

The easy approach to understand soil C dynamics is to understand the pools of organic C on the basis of susceptibility to microbial decomposition and their interactions. All the pools of soil C are present in dynamic equilibrium with different residence time. Their turnover rate depends on their chemical structure, environmental constraints and ambient physical conditions. A flow chart (Fig. 1.3) can precessily represents, such C pools in soil-plant system and their dynamics is presented in Fig. 1.3. Plant residues contain metabolic C, viz., proteins, sugar and starches are readily metabolized by microbes. And structural plant C, mostly present in lignin, cellulose, polyphenols and waxes are resistant to microbial decomposition. In general, an active, slow and passive fraction of organic C together represents total organic C pools in soil.



Fig. 1.3 Conceptual model of different pools of SOC and their interactions

1.3.1 Active Fractions/Pools of Soil Organic Carbon

Active pools of SOC represent the materials with a relatively high C/N ratio (~15–30) and short half-lives (few months to few years). Living biomass, fine particles of detritus, polysaccharides and few non-humic substances are the components of this pool. This provides readily available substrates for soil microorganism and readily mineralizable nitrogen. Beneficial effects of these pools include structural stability of soil which leads to enhancement of water infiltration, easy tilling and reduced erosion. Although this fraction can be readily replenished by addition of organic matter and residues, this could easily be lost also through tillage and intensive cropping. It contributes about 10–20% to total organic C.

1.3.2 Passive Fractions/Pools of Soil Organic Carbon

Passive fraction of SOC represents the stable substances remaining in soil for hundreds to thousands years. The primary components of these fractions are humus, clay-humus complexes, humin and majority of humic acids. These pools accounts for 60–90% of the organic C in majority of soils and decompose very slowly. As an integral part it influences the colloidal properties of soil humus, cation exchange capacity and water holding capacity of soil.

1.3.3 Slow Fractions/Pools of Organic Carbon

Slow fraction of SOC has intermediate properties of active and passive C pools. These pools primarily include slowly decomposable and chemically resistant particles and finely divided plant tissues having high lignin content. Half-lives of these C pools are in decades. The slow fraction is an important source of available plant nutrients. It also provides the food source for steady metabolism of the autochthonous soil microbes.

1.4 Effects of Soil Management on Active and Passive Fraction/Pools of SOC

Soil analytical methods only evaluate chemical or physical fractions of soil organic carbon that approximate the functionally defined fraction/pools: passive, slow and active. Conservation-oriented practices and conservation agriculture facilitate high proportion of active-fraction components as microbial biomass and oxidizable sugars. Despite the analytical difficulties, models which assume the existence of these three pools could able to explain and predict precise changes in SOC levels and associated soil properties. Researches on dynamics of SOC have proved that the different pools of SOC play quite different roles in the system and in C cycle. Soil management practices that cause only small changes in total organic carbon (TOC)

often cause rather pronounced alteration in aggregate stability and nitrogen mineralization. This is because of greater sensitivity of active C pools than passive pools in soil to management practices.

1.5 Stability and Degradation Kinetics of Soil Organic Carbon

Stability and decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM) in general and SOC in particular depend primarily on chemical structure of SOC, ambient temperature and moisture conditions. The temperature sensitivity of global C stocks decomposition is the key issue of present day because of its influence on global carbon (C) cycle and climate change feedbacks. Stability of SOC varied among the ecologies. Upland soils having better drainage and aeration facilitate roots and fauna to penetrate deep into lower soil horizons and enhance mixing of mineral particles with SOC favourable for decomposition. Therefore, relatively low C densities are generally observed in upland mineral soils. On the other hand, decomposition rates much slower in wet and peatlands where anaerobic conditions prevail accumulate higher organic C on top of soil layers.

1.6 Drivers of Soil Organic Carbon Decomposition

Balance of inputs and outputs of C in belowground regulates the organic C stocks in soils. Leaf and root detritus are the primary inputs, whereas effluxes of CO_2 from soil surface are the dominant output. Other two important outputs are hydrological leaching of dissolved and particulate C compounds and CH_4 efflux. Rhizosphere respiration and microbial decomposition of SOC represent the majority of CO_2 production from soils. These processes are primarily temperature-dependent. Water status also considerably regulates root respiration and microbial decomposition. Hence, efflux of CO_2 from soils is mostly related to soil temperature and moisture in simulation models. The kinetics of enzymatic reactions and activation energies are also closely related to molecular structure of the SOC and ambient temperature. The temperature sensitivity of decomposition of SOC enhances with increasing molecular complexity of the substrate. Substrate concentrations and affinities of the enzymes to the substrates also modified the rate of reactions.

Soils contain different organic C compounds having their own different inherent kinetic properties. Plants along with detritus that undergo transformations by microbial decomposition produce a wide range of C substrates. Abiotic condensation reactions generate/synthesize new aromatic structures having larger molecular weights, insolubility, which affect the rate and efficacies of enzymatic degradation. Complex molecular structures are characterized by high activation energies, inherently high-temperature sensitivity and low decomposition rates. The 'intrinsic temperature sensitivity' of SOC primarily depends on inherent kinetic properties based on molecular structure and ambient temperature of the substrates.

However, physical or chemical exclusion of the organic C substrates from microsites of enzymatic reaction by environmental constraints causing substrate limitation to reaction. In those environmental constraints, the observed response of SOC to temperature is referred to as 'apparent temperature sensitivity', which may be much lower than that of intrinsic temperature sensitivity. Conversely, removal of 'environmental constraint to decomposition' leads to increase in substrate availability that could result in higher apparent temperature sensitivity than intrinsic temperature sensitivity of the substrate temporarily. The environmental constraints include physical, chemical protection, drought, flooding, freezing, etc.

1.6.1 Arrhenius Equation and Michaelis-Menten Kinetics

Temperature coefficient, Q_{10} , refers to the factor at which the rate of reaction increases with 10 °C rise in temperature as given by van't Hoff. Temperature sensitivity of soil respiration also could be explained by that. Relative reaction rates as a function of temperature (Arrhenius equation, Eq. 1.1):

$$k = \operatorname{Aexp}\left(-\operatorname{Ea}/(\operatorname{RT})\right) \tag{1.1}$$

where A is the frequency factor, k is the reaction rate constant, Ea is the activation energy in joules mole⁻¹, $R = 8.314 \text{ JK}^{-1} \text{ mol}^{-1}$ gas constant and T is the temperature.

Recalcitrant SOC with complex molecular attributes (adsorbed/complexed SOC) has high activation energies, low decomposition rates and 'inherently' high-temperature sensitivity. Activation energy is a function of ambient temperature and molecular characteristics of the organic C compound (Davidson and Janssens 2006). There is a declining relative increase in the fraction of molecules with sufficient energy to react with increasing temperature, which leads to decrease in the Q_{10} values (Davidson and Janssens 2006; Tjoelker et al. 2001). That is why the highest temperature sensitivities of SOC are observed in colder regions where C stocks are also found to be largest (Post et al. 1982; USDA 2000). The Arrhenius function also shows that the temperature sensitivity of decomposition increases with increasing stability of organic compounds because stabilized substrates are less reactive due to higher activation energies. This means that the stable pool is more temperature-sensitive than the labile pool, which is characterized by low activation energies.

The application of Arrhenius kinetics is limited under conditions of low substrate availability. As described by Michaelis-Menten kinetics (Eq. 1.2), the reaction rates are further modified by substrate concentrations [S] and affinities of the enzymes for the substrates Km:

$$k = \operatorname{Vmax}^{*}[S]/(\mathrm{Km} + [S])$$
(1.2)

where k is the reaction rate; Vmax is the maximal rate of enzymatic activity at a given temperature; Km is the Michaelis-Menten constant, representing the affinity of enzymes for the substrates expressed as substrate concentration at which the reaction rate equals Vmax/2; and [S] is the substrate availability (substrate concentration at active site of the enzyme).

Substrate availability is directly affected by stabilization of organic compounds (e.g. by interaction with mineral surfaces and metal ions, spatial inaccessibility due to aggregation and hydrophobicity (Sollins et al. 1996; Von Lützow et al. 2006)) or indirectly by external control factors (e.g. water, oxygen and nutrient supply, temperature, pH) that restrict decomposition. *In situ* temperature-insensitive processes such as seasonal litter fall, drying-rewetting and tillage alter the release of easily decomposable substrates.

1.6.2 Cancelling Effects

Michaelis-Menten constant becomes insignificant, and the temperature response of Vmax determines the decomposition rate when substrate is abundant and larger than Km and the temperature does not exceed the optimum temperature. However, Km becomes relevant when substrate availability is low, and the decomposition rate depends on the enzyme as well as on the substrate concentration. Temperature sensitivities of Vmax and Km can neutralize each other (Davidson et al. 2006), because those increase with temperature (Arrhenius 1889). This 'cancelling effect' is significant when substrate concentration is low or lower than Km and if both Km and Vmax have similar temperature sensitivities (Larionova et al. 2007). Respiration is controlled by temperature-sensitive processes which alleviate substrate limitation (e.g. decomposition of recalcitrant SOC pools) and produces available substrate when Vmax and Km cancel each other out.

The cancelling effect could be important for controlling the 'actual' in situ temperature sensitivity in soils as most soils are C-limited (Ekschmitt et al. 2005). However, cancelling effect is generally short-lived as the time delay between Vmax and Km changes is significant.

1.7 Plant Carbon: Partitioning and Allocation

Carbon allocation refers to the distribution of C (photosynthetic assimilates) throughout the plant body. Carbon allocation is an adaptive response to resource stress. The term C partitioning means the division of C (photosynthetic assimilates) into metabolic, structural or storage pools (Caraballo and Earnshaw 2014). In majority of cereals including rice, C partitioning occurs due to loading of sucrose (Suc) into the phloem, delivering it to sink tissues from source tissues (van Bel 2003). The gene 'Suc transporters' (*SUTs*) regulates the loading of sucrose into the phloem (Lalonde et al. 2004; Sauer 2007).

Under the elevated CO_2 environment, there is an increase in C and carbohydrate assimilation within the source, i.e. leaves of C_3 plants (like rice). The changes in CO_2 concentration also lead to changes in the partitioning of biomass between shoot and root. An experiment in open-top chambers showed CO_2 elevation (650 µmol Mol⁻¹) enhanced rice tillering in early vegetative stage, but panicle dry weight plant⁻¹ did not change at maturity. Root biomass was improved in elevated CO_2 . In elevated CO_2 , root/shoot ratio also increased at maturity, signifying higher C allocation to the belowground portion in rice under elevated CO_2 (Weihong and Dali 1998).

Temperature has significant influence on the development and growth of plants by changing the carbohydrate allocation within its different parts. Elevated temperatures significantly decreased carbohydrate assimilation within the source and sink parts of plants (Farrar and Williams 1991). Higher temperature would also trigger sucrose synthesis and decrease carbohydrate accumulation in leaf (Farrar and Williams 1991).

Experiments on the interaction between temperature and CO_2 showed an increase in biomass production in different C_3 grasses and rice at elevated temperatures and CO_2 (Lilley et al. 2001; Morgan et al. 2001; Roy et al. 2012). Moreover, regulation of photosynthesis, P uptake-utilization and sucrose-P synthase in rice were observed under elevated temperature and CO_2 (Sujatha et al. 2008; Bhattacharyya et al. 2013).

1.8 Environment Carbon

The net ecosystem exchange of CO_2 is the balance between fluxes of atmosphere and biosphere. It is associated with photosynthetic assimilation and respiratory effluxes from autotrophs and heterotrophs. The net budget between production and emission determines the nature of the system, whether a sink or a source of CO_2 . However, meteorological variability and physiological activities of crop influence the temporal variations of ecosystem CO_2 exchange. Soil respiration is an integrated reporter of ecosystem functioning that represents the major pathway of C emission from terrestrial ecosystem (Mills et al. 2011). Soil respiration is critical as a small change of its rates could significantly regulate atmospheric CO_2 concentrations and soil C sequestration. Soil CO₂ emission integrates the components of soil CO₂ production, rhizospheric respiration as well as soil microbial respiration in soil-plant systems. Variations in soil respiration, i.e. soil CO₂ fluxes, are also influenced by agronomic practices. Agricultural operations affect soil CO₂ flux by altering soil environment like soil pH, temperature, moisture, aeration, C/N ratio of substances, etc. These have significant effect on soil microbial activities and SOC decomposition instrumental for transforming plant-derived C to SOC and CO_2 .

1.9 Methane Emissions from Rice Fields

Rice production systems are known to be an important anthropogenic source for CH₄ and contribute around 20 Tg CH₄ annually to global budget (Houghton 1996; IPCC 2014). Intensive rice cultivation in ecologically fragile ecosystem is anticipated to increase CH₄ emission in coming decades. *Rainfed* upland, *rainfed* lowland and irrigated land, representing about 15, 40 and 45% of total rice grown area in our country. Approximately, 48% of Indian rice area is irrigated. Flooded rice fields are the potent sources of CH₄ as well as can also act as sink for C (Bhattacharyya et al. 2014a, b). The source and sink capacity entirely depends on field management practices. Methane is predominantly emitted to the atmosphere through rice plant via aerenchyma pore spaces. Well-oriented aerenchyma tissues provide good conduit to CH₄ emission. Root exudation, nutrient supply and root oxidase activities also regulate the budget of CH₄ in rice field. Submergence/flooding, methanogenic activities and C status of soils also affect the CH₄ emission from rice production systems.

1.10 Carbon Sequestration

Soil C sequestration primarily refers to accumulation/ transferring of atmospheric CO_2 into soil C pool with high residence time and storing it through judicious land management and cropping practices. The process of C sequestration involved both organic and inorganic C. Broadly, this is the process of transferring CO_2 from the atmosphere into the soil through crop residues, organic solids and other means in such a form so that it is not lost in short period of time.

1.11 Mechanism of Carbon Sequestration

1.11.1 Physical

The organic matter per se carbon may be protected from enzymatic degradation by sequestration within mineral mesopores (2–50 nm diameter), which is postulated under 'mesopore protection hypothesis' (Wang et al. 2003; Mayer et al. 2004). The tortuous porosity of mesopore hinders the oxygen to reach to the stored C, which may involve in low C accessibility to microorganisms and reduce microbial respiration.

Some short-range ordered minerals like allophane also protect C physically which is attributed to its peculiar structure analogous to a natural gel (Woignier et al. 2006). In the aggregates, SOC is also protected in microaggregates and mesoaggregates. Sometimes addition of OM decreases in permeability and few pore spaces being occupied by OM itself. Those subsequently facilitate the creation of inaccessible microporosity (Curry et al. 2007). Those physical protections of SOC prevent easy decomposition by inhibiting enzymatic breakdown (Rothman and Forney 2007).

1.11.2 Chemical

Chemical stabilization of SOC is related to the formation of organo-mineral (MIN-SOM) complexes (Basile-Doelsch et al. 2005; Mikutta et al. 2005; Broquen et al. 2005; Wiseman and Püttmann 2006) and organometallic (Al/Fe-SOM) complexes formed with aluminium and iron ions (Wiseman and Püttmann 2006; Egli et al. 2008; Chatterjee et al. 2013). Sorption plays an important role in SOC protection (Wiseman and Püttmann 2006). The organo-mineral complex is produced by the large number of valence-unsatisfied hydroxyl groups of these Al, Si and Fe hydroxides, which have the ability to adsorb ions and compounds of opposite charge specifically (Shoji et al. 1993; Mikutta et al. 2005), and the mechanism is the linking of SOM to clay particle through polyvalent cations and represented as [(Clay-P-SOM)x]y, where x and y are whole integers depending upon the size of primary clay particles (Manjaiah et al. 2010). Some other mechanisms like ligand exchange, coulombic attraction, van der Waals forces, polyvalent cation bridging with or without mediation by hydration water or hydrogen bonding, water bridging, etc. are also involved (Theng et al. 1986; Theng and Tate 1989). Both organo-mineral and organometallic complexes are very stable C reservoirs. This is primarily due to the toxic effect that aluminium has on soil microbes and also allow limited accessibility to enzymes, that protects the organic compounds from mineralization, by making the mean residence time of organic C very high (Basile-Doelsch et al. 2005).

1.12 Soil Processes Affecting C Sequestration

1.12.1 Aggregation

An aggregate consists of an assemblage of a number of primary particles (sand, silt and clay) into a secondary unit. Soil aggregates are formed by the combination of mineral particles with either organic or inorganic binding agents or both, which are the secondary soil particles (Bronick and Lal 2005). The formation of soil aggregates involves several factors such as microorganisms, vegetation, soil fauna, clay-clay interactions, clay-organic interaction and impact of cations (Baver and Gardner 1972). Stable microaggregates increased by the production of organo-mineral complexes, which encapsulates C and protects it against microbial activities (Kumar et al. 2013).

1.12.2 Secondary Carbonates Formation

In this process, the atmospheric CO_2 is chemically transformed into mineral carbonates like $CaCO_3$, MgCO₃ and other minerals which are geologically and thermodynamically stable (Lal 2008a, b). This process involved two stages, i.e. scrubbing and mineral carbonation. In scrubbing process, first CO_2 is absorbed in an amine or carbonate solvent. Then pure CO_2 gas is re-precipitated through

Eco region	Land area (billion ha)	Potential rate (kg ha ^{-1} year ^{-1})	Total potential (Pg C year ⁻¹)
Arid	2.55	0-1	0-0.0026
Semiarid	2.31	3–114	0.0069–0.2633
Subhumid	1.30	1–124	0.0013-0.1599

Table 1.1 Estimate of C sequestration through formation of secondary carbonates

mineral carbonation through heating the CO_2 -rich amine. Finally stable rock carbonates are formed in which CO_2 is sequestered forever. For example, the formation of magnesite (MgCO₃), olivine (Mg₂SiO₄) and serpentine (Mg₃Si₂O₅(OH)₄) through the aqueous mineral carbonation reactions is as follows (Gerdemann et al. 2003). An estimate of C sequestration through formation of secondary carbonates is given in Table 1.1 (Rosenberg and Izaurralde 2013).

1.12.3 Humification

Humification process refers to the alteration of residues of plant and animal origin into a stable and recalcitrant end product in the form of complex humic substance. Carbon is an important building block needed for this conversion, but simultaneously this process requires equivalent quantity of N, P, K, S and other nutrients. To sequester 10,000 kg of C in humus, there is a requirement of 833 kg of N, 200 kg of P and 143 kg of S (Himes 1998). Therefore, quality and fertility of soil and the interaction of soil with C inputs may strongly control the sequestration of C (Canadell et al. 1996). Thus, the application of organic manure and the land use system determine the amount of C stored in soils and the rate at which this storage could happen. If the applied organic matter contains less N, P and S per molecule of C, i.e. much higher C:N:P:S ratio, then there will be the requirement of additional mineral fertilizers which allow the formation of new fine fraction of soil organic matter that improves the humification efficiency of soil organic matter (Kirkby et al. 2013, 2014).

1.12.4 Translocation and Transportation

Translocation of eroded soil organic matter into the subsoil may promote carbon sequestration. Transport of soil organic matter-enriched sediments into protected areas of the landscape (like subsoil) and to depression sites and/or aquatic ecosystems protects the loss of carbon. Actually, a part of the translocated soil organic matter is buried and the rest is redistributed (Smith et al. 2001), which emitted into the atmosphere either as CO₂ through mineralization or as CH₄ by the process of methanogenesis (Alemu 2014). The deposition and burial of translocated

soil organic matter are estimated to be 0.4–0.6 Gt C per year compared with 0.8–1.2 Gt C per year emitted into the atmosphere (Lal 2003).

1.12.5 Mineralization

Mineralization is a process in which the fixed atmospheric C in the form of organic matter is transformed into inorganic compounds mediated by the microorganism., hence reduces the chances of sequestrating more C in soil. However, this process should not be prevented artificially for reducing CO_2 emission in the atmosphere, because artificial limitation of the organic matter mineralization may lead to a shortage of nutrients and, thus, may decline the crop yield. Consequently, the photosynthetic binding of CO_2 may diminish (Janzen 2006). Therefore, a strategy aimed at increasing the stable pool of soil organic C seems to be more appropriate than a strategy aimed at limiting the C mineralization (Paustian et al. 2000).

1.12.6 Soil Erosion

Soil erosion negatively affects the carbon sequestration process. Through soil erosion induced processes, about 1.14 Pg of C are emitted annually into the atmosphere (Lal 2001). Soil erosion affects the C pool and fluxes because of several processes. It includes soil aggregate breakdown, exposure of C to climatic elements, organic matter mineralization in both disrupted aggregates and redistributed soil, transport of SOC-rich sediments into protected areas of the landscape and C sequestration with sediments in depositional sites as well as aquatic ecosystems (Alemu 2014) (Fig. 1.4).



Fig. 1.4 Various soil mechanisms affecting carbon sequestration

1.13 Management for Carbon Sequestration

1.13.1 Biochar

An enormous amount of crop residues are being produced from the agricultural sector. The global estimate of crop residue production for cereal crops and 27 food crops are 2.8 and 3.8 Gt per year, respectively. In India, agro-residues are produced in a tune of about 435.98 million tonnes annually, among which 313.62 mt are in excess. However, those are partially utilized for various reasons (Murali et al. 2010) and 16% is burned (Streets et al. 2003). Accumulating residues can cause considerable crop management problems, and burning of these huge amounts of residues can even cause global warming. CO2 is one of the most important greenhouse gases and as a result of biomass burning immediately releases CO₂ from nearly all carbon stored in the biomass. Increasing trend in environmental degradation is the concern, and at the same time, search for alternatives to crop residue burning is the need of the hour. Biochar is one of the solutions of this issue. Application of biochar in agriculture is a potential tool for C sequestration and sustainable soil management. In this process the biomass is transferred to an inactive C pool in biochar and redistributed to agricultural fields resulting in C sequestration, and at the same time agricultural productivity as well as environmental quality can be sustained and improved.

Biochar is rich in C, fine-grained porous products produced by thermochemical conversion process (pyrolysis) from the plant biomass at low temperatures (\sim 350–600 °C) in an environment with absence of oxygen (Amonette and Joseph 2009). Biochar is also rich with hydrogen (H), oxygen (O), nitrogen (N), sulphur (S) and ash in a different proportion (Masek 2009). Due to the physical characteristics/quality of biochar like high porous structure, more surface area and higher water retention capacity, soil scientists recommend it as an important soil amendment.

In addition to improvement of soil physical quality, it has high carbon sequestration potential, nearly 30–40% more than non-biochar materials (Lehmann and Rondon 2005). During the process of conversion of biomass to biochar, about 50% C contained in biomass is lost, leaving the stable biochar carbon, whereas almost 80–90% C content in non-biochar material in soils is lost in a period of 5–10 years depending on the quality of biomass and its exposure to the environment (Lehmann et al. 2006). However, non-judicious application of biochar in soils to increase terrestrial carbon sink may reduce soil productivity. Therefore application rate of biochar to get optimum crop response needs to be evaluated for long-term carbon sequestration management strategy. It has been observed that there is a straightforward relationship between crop yields and addition of biochar to the soil up to 50 MgC ha⁻¹, whereas the performance of crops may reduce at very high applications. But in most soil ecosystems, the performance of numerous plant species showed increasing trend even with 140 MgC ha^{-1} (Lehmann and Rondon 2005).

1.13.2 Conservation Agriculture

Conservation agriculture (CA) is an important model of sustainable agriculture which leads to profitable food production. This is also protecting and restoring the natural resources. Farmers are benefited with this technology because it increases crop yields and reduces production costs. It also has positive impacts on environment as well as society by enhancing food security, increasing soil fertility, improving water quality, reducing soil erosion and also helps in mitigation of climate change by increasing carbon sequestration. Conservation agriculture is a sustainable option for intensification as well as environmental protection as it is, in one hand less sensitive to climate and on the other provides resilience to the system.

Conservation agriculture is based on healthy functioning of the whole agroecosystem with a maximum attention and focus on the soil. The soil is not only a physical support to roots and plants but also a living entity with its physical, chemical and biological characteristics. The focus of CA is determinants of sustained productivity, which embraces the nutrient contents of the soil as well as its biological and structural status.

The main paradigm of CA is to convert an undisturbed or unhealthy soil to develop a fertile soil and produce healthier plants.

1.13.3 Principles of Conservation Agriculture

Conservation agriculture is a system which refers to reduce soil tilling as well as retaining the crop residues on the soil surface and maintaining the crop rotation.

The key elements which characterize CA include:

- (a) Zero/minimal soil disturbance (no-tillage and direct sowing and direct placing of planting materials to soil)
- (b) Permanent soil covers either by crop residues or by cover crops
- (c) Crop diversification in sequence/associations through rotations

Conservation agriculture principles are converting a low-yielding, dry, rainfed conditions to high-yielding, irrigated conditions in a wide range of crop production systems. It also sustain biodiversity and natural biological processes both in aboveand belowground soil surfaces. External inputs such as agrochemicals and plant nutrients of minerals or organic origin are applied without soil interventions such as mechanical tillage which are reduced to an absolute minimum or avoided optimally. In this way the soil qualities do not interfere with, or disrupt, the biological processes. CA facilitates good agronomy, such as timely operations, and improves overall land husbandry for rainfed and irrigated production. At the same time, CA complies with the generally accepted ideas of sustainability. The use of chemical fertilizer and pesticides, including herbicides, is also reduced in the long-term application. Depending on the agroecological location and management practices, it further helps in C sequestration in soil ranging from 0.2 to 1.0 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. About 50% labour requirements are generally reduced which helps the farmers to save time, fuel and machinery costs.

1.13.4 Cover Crop and Residue Management

In organic agriculture, cover crops are incorporated by tillage. Incorporating of legumes enhanced productivity in wet season, and surface mulch in dry season was found effective. Mulching is helpful for in situ moisture conservation, weed suppression and nutrients mobilization both in organic and integrated nutrients management practices.

Crop residues directly effect on the evaporation of the water content from the soil surface and also the amount of water infiltrates into the soil. The organic residues incorporation significantly increases the crop yield with improvement in soil physical properties. It was reported that incorporation of locally available organic residues (*Ambrosia sp.*) continuously for 5 years in puddled rice could increase SOC by 21.1%. Apart from this it also increases the stability of microaggregates, moisture retention capacity and infiltration rate of the soil by 82.5, 10 and 31.3%, respectively (Saha and Mishra 2009).

1.14 Carbon Dynamics and Climate Change Feedback

Climate change affects SOC dynamics as well as its decomposition kinetics. Soil organic carbon decomposition that provide a feedback to the gaseous-C concentrations to the atmosphere contributes to the global warming. There are both direct and indirect effects of carbon dynamics to climate change feedback. Direct effects include temperature-mediated soil respiration, SOC decomposition leading to gaseous C emission, changes in precipitation and extreme climatic events.

As SOC decomposition rates and soil respiration are more sensitive to temperature than primary production it is predicted that climate change would increase the net transfer of C from soil to atmosphere, thereby creating a positive feedback to climate change. Growing stress tolerance species also contribute to a positive feedback to climate change. Increase of primary production (higher photosynthesis) and reduction of the length of growing season cause negative feedback to climate change by reducing the CO_2 emission to the atmosphere and absorbing more CO_2 from the atmosphere. The indirect effects which include positive feedbacks are (i) percolation and runoff losses of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and (ii) higher root exudation that causes faster SOC decomposition through 'priming effect' and promotes methanogenesis and hence enhances the C losses from soil as methane. The indirect negative feedbacks include (i) increasing plant-microbial competition for nitrogen (N) that causes ecosystem C accumulation, (ii) increasing growth of mycorrhizal fungi causing C accumulation and (iii) stimulation of microbial biomass and immobilization of soil N causing limitation of N availability to plant and hence accumulation of C in soil. Another indirect effect on climate change (both positive and negative feedbacks) is through shifts in the functional composition and diversity of microbes and vegetation which occurs over longer time scales of decades and centuries.

Acknowledgement We acknowledge the Director, NRRI & CRIJAF, ICAR-National Fellow Project (Agri. Edn. /27/08/NF/2017-HRD) and NICRA for providing support.

References

- Alemu B (2014) The role of forest and soil carbon sequestrations on climate change mitigation. J Environ Earth Sci 4(13):98–111
- Amonette J, Joseph S (2009) Characteristics of biochar: micro-chemical properties. In: Lehmann J, Joseph S (eds) Biochar for environmental management: science and technology. Earth Scan, London, pp 33–52
- Amundson R (2001) The carbon budget in soils. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 29(1):535-562
- Arrhenius S (1889) Über die Reaktionsgeschwindigkeit bei der inversion von Rohrzucker durch Säuren. Z Phys Chem 4:226–248
- Bandyopadhyay KK (2012) Carbon sequestration: global and Indian scenario. In: Singh AK, Ngachan SV, Munda GC, Mohapatra KP, Choudhury BU, Das A, Rao CS, Patel DP, Rajkhowa DJ, Ramkrushna GI, Panwar AS (eds) Carbon management in agriculture for mitigating greenhouse effect. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya, India, pp 27–42
- Basile-Doelsch I, Amundson R, Stone WEE, Masiello CA, Bottero JY, Colin F, Masin F, Borschneck D, Meunier JD (2005) Mineralogical control of organic carbon dynamics in a volcanic ash soil on La Réunion. Eur J Soil Sci 56:689–703
- Baver LD, Gardner WH (1972) Soil physics. Wiley Eastern, New Delhi, p 498
- Bhattacharyya P, Neogi S, Roy KS, Dash PK, Tripathi R, Rao KS (2013) Net ecosystem CO2 exchange and carbon cycling in tropical low land flooded rice ecosystem. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 95:133–144
- Bhattacharyya P, Neogi S, Roy KS, Dash PK, Nayak AK, Mohapatra T (2014a) Tropical low land rice ecosystem is a net carbon sink. Agric Ecosyst Environ 189:127–135
- Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS, Dash PK, Neogi S, Shahid MD, Nayak AK, Raja R, Karthikeyan S, Balachandar D, Rao KS (2014b) Effect of elevated carbon dioxide and temperature on phosphorus uptake in tropical flooded rice (Oryza sativa L.). Eur J Agron 53:28–37
- Bronick CJ, Lal R (2005) Soil structure and management: a review. Geoderma 124:3-22
- Broquen P, Lobartini JC, Candan F, Falbo G (2005) Allophane, aluminium, and organic matter accumulation across a bioclimatic sequence of volcanic ash soils of Argentina. Geoderma 129:167–177
- Canadell JG, Pitelka LF, Ingram JSI (1996) The effects of elevated [CO2] on plant-soil carbon below-ground: a summary and synthesis. Plant Soil 187:391–400
- Caraballo J, Earnshaw K (2014) Carbon allocation and partitioning. NREM680. EcosystEcol. http://www.ctahr.hawaii.edu/littonc/PDFs/680_Discussion CarbonAllocation.pdf
- Chatterjee D, Datta SC, Manjaiah KM (2013) Clay carbon pools and their relationship with shortrange order minerals: avenues to mitigate climate change? Curr Sci 105(10):1404–1410

- Curry KJ, Bennett RH, Mayer LM, Curry A, Abril M, Biesiot PM, Hulbert MH (2007) Direct visualization of clay microfabric signatures driving organic matter preservation in fine-grained sediment. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 71:1709–1720
- Davidson EA, Janssens IA (2006) Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440:65–173
- Davidson EA, Janssens IA, Luo Y (2006) On the variability of respiration in terrestrial ecosystems: moving beyond Q₁₀. Glob Chang Biol 12:154–164
- Egli M, Nater M, Mirabella A, Raimondi S, Plötz M, Alioth L (2008) Clay minerals, oxyhydroxide formation, element leaching and humus development in volcanic soils. Geoderma 143:101–114
- Ekschmitt K, Liu M, Vetter S, Fox O, Wolters V (2005) Strategies used by soil biota to overcome soil organic matter stability-why is dead organic matter left over in the soil. Geoderma 128:167–176
- Farrar JF, Williams ML (1991) The effects of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide and temperature on carbon partitioning, source-sink relations and respiration. Plant Cell Environ 14:819–830. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1991.tb01445.x
- Gerdemann SJ, Dahlin DC, O'Connor WK, Penner LR (2003) Carbon dioxide sequestration by aqueous mineral carbonation of magnesium silicate minerals. In: Second annual conference on carbon sequestration, NETL proceedings 5–9 May, 2003. NETL, Alexandria, VA/ Pittsburgh, PA. See www.carbonsq.com/pdf/psoters/BCI2
- Himes FL (1998) Nitrogen, sulfur and phosphorus and the sequestering of carbon. In: Lal R, Kimble JM, Follett RF, Stewart BA (eds) Soil processes and the carbon cycle. CRC, Boca Raton, pp 315–319. https://eo.ucar.edu/kids/green/cycles6.htm
- Houghton RA (1996) Terrestrial sources and sinks of carbon inferred from terrestrial data. Tellus B Chem Phys Meteorol 48(4):420–432
- Houghton RA (2007) Balancing the global carbon budget. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 35:313-347
- IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis, contribution of working group-I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental panel on Climate Change. IPCC, Geneva, p 151
- Janzen HH (2006) The soil carbon dilemma: shall we hoard it or use it? Soil Biol Biochem 38:419-424
- Kirkby CA, Richardson AE, Wade LJ, Batten GD, Blanchard C, Kirkegaard JA (2013) Carbonnutrient stoichiometry to increase soil carbon sequestration. Soil Biol Biochem 60:77–86
- Kirkby CA, Richardson AE, Wade LJ, Passioura JB, Batten GD, Blanchard C, Kirkegaard JA (2014) Nutrient availability limits carbon sequestration in arable soils. Soil Biol Biochem 68:402–409
- Kumar R, Rawat KS, Singh J, Singh A, Rai A (2013) Soil aggregation dynamics and carbon sequestration. J Appl Natusci 5(1):250–267
- Lal R (2001) Potential of desertification control to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Clim Chang 51:35–72
- Lal R (2003) Soil erosion and the global carbon budget. Environ Int 29:437-450
- Lal R (2008a) Carbon Sequestration. Philos Trans R Soc B 363:815–830. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2007.2185
- Lal R (2008b) Sequestration of atmospheric CO₂ in global carbon pools. Energy Environ Sci 1:86–100. https://doi.org/10.1039/B809492F
- Lalonde S, Wipf D, Frommer WB (2004) Transport mechanisms for organic forms of carbon and nitrogen between source and sink. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:341–372
- Larionova AA, Yevdokimov IV, Bykhotevs SS (2007) Temperature response of soil respiration is dependent on concentration of readily decomposable C. Biogeosci 4:1073–1081

- Lehmann J, Rondon M (2005) Bio-char soil management on highly-weathered soils in the humid tropics. In: Uphoff N (ed) Biological approaches to sustainable soil systems. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Lehmann J, Gaunt J, Rondon M (2006) Bio-char sequestration in terrestrial ecosystems a review. Mitig Adapt Strateg Glob Chang 11:403–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-005-9006-5
- Lilley JM, Bolger TP, Gifford RM (2001) Productivity of *Trifolium subterraneum* and *Phalaris* aquatic under warmer, higher CO₂ conditions. New Phytol 150:371–383
- Manjaiah KM, Kumar S, Sachdev MS, Sachdev P, Datta SC (2010) Study of clay-organic complexes. Curr Sci 98:915–921
- Masek O (2009) Biochar production technologies. http://www.geos.ed.ac.uk/sccs/biochar/ documents/BiocharLaunch-OMasek.pdf
- Mayer L, Schick L, Hardy K, Wagai R, McCarthy J (2004) Organic matter content of small mesopores in sediments and soils. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 68:3863–3872
- Mikutta R, Kleber M, Jahn R (2005) Poorly crystalline minerals protect organic carbon in clay subfractions from acid subsoil horizons. Geoderma 128:106–115
- Morgan JA, LeCain DR, Mosier AR, Milchunas DG (2001) Elevated CO₂ enhances water relations and productivity and affects gas exchange in C3 and C4 grasses of the Colorado shortgrass steppe. Glob Chang Biol 7:451–466
- Mills G, Pleijel H, Braun S, Büker P, Bermejo V, Calvo E, Danielsson H, Emberson L, Fernández IG, Grünhage L, Harmens H (2011) New stomatal flux-based critical levels for ozone effects on vegetation. Atmos Environ 45(28):5064–5068
- Murali S, Shrivastava R, Saxena M (2010) Greenhouse gas emissions from open field burning of agricultural residues in India. J Environ Sci Engg 52(4):277–284
- Nieder R, Benbi DK (2008) Carbon and nitrogen in the terrestrial environment. Springer Science & Business Media
- Paustian K, Six J, Elliott ET, Hunt HW (2000) Man-agement options for reducing CO₂ emissions from agricultural soils. Biogeochem 48:147–163
- Post WM, Emanuel WR, Zinke PJ, Stagenberger AL (1982) Soil carbon pools and world life zones. Nature 298:156–159
- Rosenberg NJ, Izaurralde RC (2013) Storing carbon in agricultural soils: a multi purpose environmental strategy. Springer, p 118
- Rothman DH, Forney DC (2007) Physical model for the decay and preservation of marine organic carbon. Science 316:1325–1328
- Roy KS, Bhattacharyya P, Neogi S, Rao KS, Adhya TK (2012) Combined effect of elevated CO2 and temperature on dry matter production, net assimilation rate, C and N allocations in tropical rice (Oryza sativa L). Field Crops Res 139:71–79
- Saha R, Mishra VK (2009) Effect of organic residue management on soil hydro-physical characteristics and rice yield in eastern Himalayan region. India J Sustain Agric 33(2):161–176
- Sauer N (2007) Molecular physiology of higher plant sucrose transporters. FEBS Lett 581:2309–2317
- Shoji S, Nanzyo M, Dahlgren R (1993) Volcanic ash soils- genesis, properties and utilization. Dev Soil Sci 21:1–288
- Shukla MK, Lal R, Ebinger M (2006) Determining soil quality indicators by factor analysis. Soil Tillage Res 87(2):194–204
- Smith SV, Renwick WH, Buddemeier RW, Crossland CJ (2001) Budgets of soil erosion and deposition for sediments and sedimentary organic carbon across the conterminous United States. Global Biogeochem Cycles 15:697–707
- Sollins P, Homann P, Caldwell BA (1996) Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74:65–105
- Streets D, Yarber K, Woo J, Carmichael G (2003) Biomass burning in Asia: annual and seasonal estimates and atmospheric emissions. Global Biogeochem Cycles 17(4):1099

- Sujatha KB, Uprety DC, Nageswara Rao D, Raghuveer Rao P, Dwivedi N (2008) Up-regulation of photosynthesis and sucrose-P synthase in rice under elevated carbon dioxide and temperature conditions. Plant Soil Environ 54(4):155–162
- Theng BKG, Tate KR (1989) Interactions of clays with soil organic constituents. Clay Res 8:1-10
- Theng BKG, Churchman GJ, Newman RH (1986) The occurrence of interlayer clay-organic complexes in two New Zealand soils. Soil Sci 142:262–266
- Tjoelker MG, Oleksyn J, Reich PB (2001) Modelling respiration of vegetation: evidence for a general temperature-dependent Q₁₀. Glob Chang Biol 7:223–230
- USDA (2000). *Soil organic carbon map*. US Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources, Conservation Service, Soil Survey Division, World Soil Resources, Washington, DC. Available via DIALOG. http://soil.usda.gov/use/worldsoils/mapindex/order.html
- van Bel AJ (2003) Phloem, a miracle of ingenuity. Plant Cell Environ 26:125-149
- Von Lützow M, Kögel-Knabber I, Ludwig B, Matzner E, Ekschmitt K, Guggenberger G, Marschner B, Flessa H (2006) Stabilization of organic matter in temperate soils: mechanisms and their relevance under different soil conditions-a review. Eur J Soil Sci 57:426–445
- Wang WJ, Dalal RC, Moody PW, Smith CJ (2003) Relationships of soil respiration to microbial biomass, substrate availability and clay content. Soil Biol Biochem 35:273–284
- Weihong L, Dali W (1998) Effects of elevated CO₂ on growth and carbon partitioning in rice. Chin Sci Bull 43(23):1982–1986
- Wiseman CLS, Püttmann W (2006) Interactions between mineral phases in the preservation of soil organic matter. Geoderma 134:109–118
- Woignier T, Primera J, Hashmy A (2006) Application of the DLCA model to "natural" gels: the allophanic soils. J Sol-Gel Sci Techn 40:201–207



Monitoring Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Agro-ecosystems

Sunayan Saha, Paramjit Singh Minhas, and Ramlal Choudhary

Abstract

Monitoring net exchange fluxes of greenhouse gases (GHGs) over agricultural fields is done either by chamber-based measurement approaches or using micrometeorological techniques. Chamber-based methods provide point-based measurements, but those can be customized and implemented at low costs in the field. Micrometeorological techniques, on the other hand, provide area-integrated measurement of gas exchanges without altering the natural canopy microclimate condition. With recent advances in instrumentation, fluxes can be measured at a very high temporal frequency of the order of hours to minutes. However, instrumentation is costly, often requires power supply and a homogeneous crop cover of a certain minimum area and knowledge of micrometeorology on the part of the user for a comprehensive GHG budgeting. Eddy covariance (EC) is regarded as the most robust micrometeorological technique which provides the most direct measurement of energy and GHG fluxes. This chapter mainly deals with CO₂ flux measurement using eddy covariance technique. Guidance on various measurement protocols such as site selection, sensor configuration, and its orientation is provided. Sources of error in the eddy covariance data, data screening steps and various gap-filling measures such as mean diurnal variations, linear and non-linear regressions and look-up tables and flux validation have been addressed. It further includes a brief review of GHG exchange dynamics over agricultural landscapes, emerging challenges and case study of flux monitoring in three different crop ecosystems of semiarid Deccan plateau of peninsular India.

S. Saha (🖂)

R. Choudhary ICAR-National Institute of Abiotic Stress Management, Baramati, India

ICAR-Central Potato Research Station, Jalandhar, India e-mail: sunayan.saha@icar.gov.in

P. S. Minhas ICAR-National Institute of Abiotic Stress Management, Baramati, Pune, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_2

Keywords

Greenhouse gas \cdot Agro-ecosystem \cdot Flux \cdot Instrumentation

2.1 Introduction

Since the beginning of the industrial revolution around 1750 AD, atmospheric concentrations of various greenhouse gases have been rising due to anthropogenic activities. In 2011 the concentrations of three key greenhouse gases, viz. carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O), were 391 ppm, 1803 ppb and 324 ppb having exceeded the pre-industrial levels by about 40, 150 and 20%, respectively (Hartmann et al. 2013). CO₂ is the most important GHG as nearly 72% of total emission is CO_2 . The continuous rise in atmospheric CO_2 concentrations is occurring as a result of imbalance between the rate of emission of CO_2 and the rate of removal of CO_2 from the atmosphere by vegetation biosphere and oceanic sinks. The alarming trend in the concentration of CO_2 and other GHGs has given rise to the most prominent global environmental issue of today's earth, i.e. global warming, as these gases absorb the outgoing thermal radiation from the earth's surface and reradiate it back to the surface, thereby causing an increase in the ambient temperature. Global warming, in turn, has also triggered changes in the behaviour of many climatic parameters and occurrence of extreme events, more prominently in the last few decades. In view of direct correlation of GHG concentration with global warming and climate change, proper monitoring of GHG emissions from the earth's surface is required. A thorough understanding of various processes that lead to net gas exchange from earth's surface, quantification of spatio-temporal dynamics of GHGs and assessing source or sink potential of various ecosystems under varied climatic conditions form the basis for developing GHG mitigation strategies from terrestrial ecosystems.

Managed ecosystems such as agriculture play equally important role like the natural terrestrial ecosystems (e.g. forest and grasslands) and may contribute significantly to regional carbon budget where crops are dominant. Furthermore, agricultural lands are prone to wider variations in the gas exchange rates compared to natural ecosystems and hence require proper monitoring. Several studies have been carried out to quantify gas exchanges and net emission of GHGs from agriculture. It is estimated that agriculture contributes around 10–15% of total anthropogenic emissions globally (IPCC 2007). However, because of differences in methodologies used for such quantifications, there are a lot of uncertainty in the estimates and often intercomparison among sites, crops or experiments becomes difficult. Hence, for maintaining uniformity and robustness in the datasets, there is a need to follow some standard methodology.

GHG exchange studies are done either by chamber-based measurement approaches or micrometeorological techniques. Chamber-based methods can be implemented at low costs but become cumbersome for large-area measurements as sample size increases. Micrometeorological techniques are more robust having specific advantages over point-based chamber methods as the former provide areaintegrated measurement of gas exchanges without altering the natural canopy microclimate condition. With recent advances in instrumentation, such measurements are done on a continuous basis and at a very high temporal frequency. However, instrumentation is costly and often requires power supply, a minimum footprint area and knowledge of micrometeorology on the part of user for proper sensor orientation, data processing and final flux computation. Of the various micrometeorological methods, eddy covariance technique has been widely accepted as the standard, and it is becoming the preferred choice in long-term flux monitoring programmes worldwide (Aubinet et al. 2000; Baldocchi et al. 2001). This chapter provides an overview of various approaches with major focus on implementation of eddy covariance system-based monitoring of GHGs in agro-ecosystems. In doing so, the key issues such as instrument setup, installation, data quality and processing issues have been dealt upon. At the end, the chapter includes flux measurement results in terms of major GHGs such as CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O for various crop ecosystems and some India-specific case studies.

2.2 Techniques for GHG Measurement

Within the crop field, a lot of spatial variability can be found which causes both spatial and temporal variability in GHG fluxes. The variability could arise due to differences in bulk density resulting from use of machinery, inherent texture, management (rows, interrow spaces, cropping, non-uniform distribution of fertilizers and manures), soil temperature (canopy shading), soil moisture (due to fissure, groundwater depth, lateral seepage, texture), organic carbon (non-homogenous distribution of crop residues), soil depth and rooting depth and distribution all of which affect soil microbial population and activity. The approaches for measurement of greenhouse gas fluxes between agro-ecosystems and the atmosphere can broadly be classified into two groups, viz. chamber-based methods and micrometeorological methods. However, for a more comprehensive study, a combination of the two aforesaid approaches should be followed.

2.2.1 Chamber Methods

Chamber-based techniques are essentially point measurements. In these, gas samples from within the enclosures or chambers are collected either manually or in an automated mode. The samples are then analysed in laboratory using gas chromatography technique. Spatial variability in the measured GHG fluxes is a major drawback of the chamber approach, particularly for highly diverse smallholding farm systems
as can be found in India. Another drawback is that imposition of artificial chambers may disturb the microclimate such as creating significant difference with the ambient environment in terms of temperature and obstruction in natural wind flow, thereby introducing errors in the measured fluxes. Also, to adequately represent the temporal variability or when day-night trend is to be monitored, chamber method becomes cumbersome and often impractical due to the requirement of more number of trained laboratory staff, instruments and chemicals.

2.2.2 Micrometeorological Methods

Micrometeorological methods can broadly be divided into two categories, viz. vertical flux-profile or flux-gradient and eddy covariance techniques. In contrast to chamber techniques, micrometeorological methods offer to provide high-frequency temporal measurement integrated over a large area and without disturbing the natural microclimate of the area. Of late, with the advent of state-of-the-art sensor technology, automation and highly efficient computational tools, eddy covariance techniques have emerged as the most preferred choice of the contemporary research community for GHG monitoring at ecosystem scale (Aubinet et al. 2000; Baldocchi et al. 2001). However, uniform terminology and a single methodology are still being developed for the eddy covariance method, and much of the effort in this direction is being done by various flux networks across the world such as FLUXNET, ICOS and NEON. The following sub-sections deal with various micrometeorological techniques with special emphasis on the eddy covariance technique.

2.2.2.1 Vertical Gradient Methods

These are mainly of two types, viz. the aerodynamic gradient method and Bowen ratio-energy balance (BREB) method. Both of these use measured gradients of atmospheric variables in the determination of fluxes. In each case, a time-averaged estimate is produced, representing typically a half-hourly or hourly average flux. The aerodynamic gradient method utilizes the near surface logarithmic wind profile, while the BREB method (Bowen 1926) assumes short-term closure of the surface energy balance and does not require explicit calculation of a turbulence coefficient. The BREB method is a low-cost technique, does not require power supply and is primarily designed for measuring energy fluxes, i.e. latent and sensible heat, rather than measuring trace gas fluxes. It requires more assumptions to be fulfilled than the aerodynamic gradient method. The aerodynamic gradient method is more suited for barren or low-vegetation surface and is difficult to apply over complex vegetation due to the fact that GHG concentration gradient such as that of CO₂ is often small in such ecosystems (Raupach and Legg 1984; Monji 2003).

2.2.2.2 Eddy Covariance Methods

The majority of transport between the soil or vegetation surface and atmosphere takes place mainly through the process of turbulence (instantaneous fluctuations in the vertical wind speed from its mean value) and only slightly through the process of



Fig. 2.1 Concept of eddy turbulence exchange in a wind flow

diffusion caused by local gradients such as concentration gradients of CO_2 or temperature. Wind flow at any time can be pictured as a horizontal flow of numerous three-dimensional rotating eddies (Fig. 2.1) which bring with them different surface or environmental properties such as temperature, humidity and partial gas concentration. An eddy covariance (EC) system essentially consists of fast response sensors that are capable of measuring the vertical wind speed and simultaneously some other properties of the turbulent eddies, as stated above, at a very high frequency (e.g. 10 Hz or more). The method of measurement is mathematically complex and requires a lot of care in setting up and processing the data.

The name eddy covariance (EC) has its origin in the fact that such system measures statistical covariance between the vertical wind speed and an atmospheric property whose flux (the quantity of an entity that moves through a unit area per unit time) is to be determined within the atmospheric boundary layer. The mean vertical flux density of a gas (Fz) is approximately equal to mean air density (α) multiplied by the mean covariance between the instantaneous deviations of vertical wind speed (w) and mixing ratio (c) of the gas under consideration (i.e. ratio of the molecular weight of the gas divided by the weight of dry air) for a given time period such as 30 min or 1 h (Baldocchi 2003).

$$Fz = \bar{a}^* \overline{w'c'}$$

In the above equation, the over bars denote time averaging and the primes represent fluctuations from average value. In a similar manner, other eddy/turbulent fluxes such as sensible and latent heat fluxes can also be computed. For example, in calculation of sensible heat flux, temperature and, for latent heat flux, water vapour density have to be considered instead of mixing ratio, while other terms remain the same, and conversion to energy units is accomplished by including the specific heat term. Each flux is associated with a sign. Unless otherwise mentioned, all through this chapter, positive flux shall indicate a net transfer into the atmosphere, whereas a negative sign is used to indicate net downward movement, i.e. towards the vegetation/soil surface from the atmosphere. The above sign convention is followed by the atmospheric physicists and micrometeorologists and exactly opposite sign convention is also used by some research groups.

Some other micrometeorological methods which are close variants of the eddy covariance technique can be found in literature. Those were developed by the researchers mainly under situations when there were limitations of response time of sonic anemometers and trace gas analysers. For example, disjunct EC technique could be used to limit the analysis to an equally spaced subsample of eddies when trace gas analysers have a response time of the order of tens of seconds (Lenschow et al. 1994). Watanabe et al. (2000) used bandpass EC technique to correct the highfrequency losses which were due to the slow instrumental response, tube attenuation in closed-path EC system and the sensor separation between sonic anemometer and gas analyser. Eddy accumulation or relaxed eddy accumulation techniques (Desjardins 1977; Businger and Oncley 1990; MacPherson and Desjardins 1991) are based on fast conditional sampling of upward and downward moving eddies using the ultrasonic anemometer vertical velocity signal. The air is sampled at a constant flow rate and stored in two separate reservoirs, one for the updrafts and another for the downdrafts. The covariance is proportional to the difference of the mean trace gas mixing ratio associated with updrafts and downdrafts and to the standard deviation of the vertical wind velocity. Sometimes, a dead band can be imposed on vertical velocity, within which no conditional sampling is performed in order to enlarge the trace gas concentration difference between updrafts and downdrafts (Pattey and Desjardins 1993). A comparison of fluxes measured by the band pass and relaxed eddy accumulation techniques with that of eddy covariance techniques showed reasonably good agreement between them (Hamotani et al. 1996; Watanabe et al. 2000).

2.3 Designing Experimental Setup with EC System

To obtain best measurements using the eddy covariance technique, proper site selection and experiment setup are the foremost requirement. While installing a flux monitoring station due considerations should be given on the following aspects:

2.3.1 Site Characteristics

Like any other micrometeorological methods, EC method too ideally requires a flat terrain, spread over a wide area around the flux tower and homogenous in terms of land use, crop management and soil characteristics. The site should be characterized with respect to topography or slope percentage, seasonal wind speed and direction pattern (wind roses) and rainfall. Several footprint models (Hsieh and Katul 2000;

Kormann and Meixner 2001; Kljun et al. 2004) are available in literature wherein wind and surface roughness information could be fed to know the plausible footprint (the area that contributes to the total measured flux) and fetch (the upwind distance which is required for the wind to come into equilibrium with the underlying vegetation) under varied meteorological conditions and in season vegetation dynamics. Empirical observations suggest that even for the smallest type of crops, a footprint area of more than 1 ha size would be required for EC method to use. Tall features such as buildings, trees etc. should not be present in the vicinity of the flux tower as it may obstruct the natural wind flow in the fetch.

If the area receives low amount of rainfall, then open-path eddy covariance system should be used. For high-rainfall areas, closed-path eddy covariance system serves the purpose best. It should also be kept in mind that closed-path system and some trace gas analysers (e.g. for N_2O) require more power; hence provision of grid power supply should be there in the location.

2.3.2 Positioning of the Flux Tower

At the measurement site, the eddy covariance sensors (those could be put on a tower or heavy duty tripod) should be positioned in such a way that it gets the maximum possible fetch in the upwind direction. It has been observed that most of the contribution in total measured flux at the tower usually comes, not from underneath the tower or far away from it, but rather from somewhere in between. Often it is encountered that the site which is available for flux monitoring study does not have a wide homogeneous area rather appear checkerboard type owing to small farm holdings where crops and management vary or may require evaluating a number of experiments within a limited land area. An example of how best the eddy covariance methodology could be used under such situation has been discussed elaborately by Pattey et al. (2006) and Burba (2013).

2.3.3 Height of Sensor Placement

The depth of air within the atmospheric boundary layer over a vegetation surface can be divided into several strata (Fig. 2.2), viz. roughness sublayer, inertial sublayer and mixed layer. The boundary and depth of each of these strata depend on the vegetation height, topography of the area and the prevailing meteorological conditions. For routine flux monitoring, the measurement apparatus should be placed at such a height that it always remains within the inertial sublayer. When there is a limitation of fetch, the above sensors should be placed near to the boundary with roughness sublayer than further away. A general rule of thumb is that the measurement height should be 100 times smaller than the desired fetch (i.e. height/fetch ratio = 1:100) to avoid sampling outside the area of interest. However, experimental data suggests that the actual height/fetch ratio under a given condition may be as low as around 1:25 (Munro and Oke 1975) to as high as around 1:500 (Burba 2013).



Fig. 2.2 Layers of atmosphere above a vegetative surface. (Source: Stull 1988; Oke 2007)

For agricultural crops (heights <3 m), it may be advised to position the flux sensors at about 1–1.5 m above the top of the canopy. For example, if the canopy height is 0.5 m, the flux sensors should be placed at least at 1.5 m (0.5 m + 1.0 m) above the soil surface. In this case, the site should provide a fetch of about 150 m. In regions with winds from multiple directions, it would be ideal to find a site of at least 300×300 m, so that the tower can be placed in the centre and can collect data from all directions, the tower can be positioned on the downwind edge of the measured area, reducing the minimum size requirement to 150 m $\times 150$ m.

2.3.4 Instrumentation

An eddy covariance system is essentially a fast response measurement apparatus consisting of sonic anemometer and trace gas analyser. However, a suit of slow-response research-grade sensors also form a part of flux station for supporting observations. The entire setup requires a robust data logger that can synchronize the measurements done by the variety of fast and slow-response analog or digital sensors. Some data loggers have in-built programmes that can process the high-frequency raw data and provide real-time flux estimates at hourly or sub-hourly time scales. However, it is always advisable to script your own programme to process the high-frequency data and impose site-specific criteria for data correction and screening. For a more comprehensive study on GHG exchanges over agro-ecosystems including the understanding of regulatory processes, observations on some additional factors are advised. Table 2.1 presents an exhaustive list of such sensors/equipments.

Sensors/parameters	Models
1. Core components	
3-D sonic anemometer (three-dimensional wind speed)	CSAT-3 (Campbell Scientific); R3 and HS series anemometers (gill instruments); model 81,000 ultrasonic anemometer (young); uSonic series (Metek)
Krypton hygrometer (density of H ₂ O)	KH20 (Campbell Scientific)
CO_2 - H_2O gas analyser (density of CO_2 and H_2O)	Open-path type: IRGASON, EC-150 (Campbell Scientific) Open-path type: LI-7500A (LI-COR Biosciences) Enclosed type: LI-7200 (LI-COR Biosciences) Closed-path type: LI-7000 (LI-COR Biosciences)
CH ₄ analyser (density of CH ₄)	Open-path type: LI-7700 (LI-COR Biosciences)
Fine-wire thermocouple (absolute temperature)	FW05 (Campbell Scientific)
Data logger (storage and processing of raw data and or on-line flux computations)	CR-3000, CR-1000 (Campbell Scientific)
2. Auxiliary/meteorological sensors	
Soil CO_2 flux system along with atmospheric CO_2 profiling kits (soil respiration and canopy storage of gases)	LI-8100A (LI-COR Biosciences)
Air temperature and humidity sensors	HMP155A (Vaisala)
Anemometer and wind vane (wind speed and direction)	Mechanical-type anemometer: Propeller- or cup-type anemometers (Gill) Combined mechanical type: Wind sentry and wind monitor series (Young) Combined ultrasonic type: 86000 series (Young)
Barometer (atmospheric pressure)	Digital: 7150 series (All Weather Inc); DBT-100 and DBT-100 T (CNMC)
Rain gauge(rainfall)	<i>Tipping bucket type</i> TE25 (Campbell Scientific); 5600-0425 series (Sutron Corp.)
Net radiometer (net radiation and/or its various components)	CNR4 (Kipp & Zonen), NR01 (Hukseflux)
Soil heat flux plates (upward or downward fluxes of heat in soil) heat	Non-calibrating type: HFP01 (Hukseflux) Self-calibrating type: HFP01SC (Hukseflux)

Table 2.1 Eddy covariance system components and related sensors/equipments for a comprehensive study on GHG exchanges over agro-ecosystems

Sensors/parameters	Models
Leaf area meter (leaf area index)	LAI-2200 plant canopy analyser (LI-COR Biosciences); ACCUPAR LP-80 (Decagon Devices)
Quantum sensor (incoming and intercepted photosynthetically active radiation, PAR by the vegetation canopy)	Point quantum sensor: SQ-224 (Apogee Instruments) Line quantum sensor: LI-190R, LI-191R, LI- 191SA (LI-COR) SQ-311 (Apogee Instruments)
Photosynthesis system (leaf photosynthesis)	LI-6400XT (LI-COR); GFS-3000 (Walz)
Hyperspectral spectroradiometer (canopy growth, vigour and stress)	FieldSpec 4 (ASD Inc.), PSR-1100F (Spectral Evolution)
Infrared thermometer (canopy stress)	Agri-Therm III series (6110 L/6210 L) (Everest Interscience Inc)
Soil temperature probe	TCAV (Campbell Scientific)
Soil moisture probe	CS616, CS 625 (Campbell Scientific)

Table 2.2 Sensors for crop biophysical and soil property measurements

• The models mentioned above are only examples and not endorsement to any manufacturer. (Tables 2.1 and 2.2).

Selecting good equipment and its proper maintenance is necessary as it would reduce the occurrence of noise in the data. As far as possible, low power requiring setup should be preferred so that carbon emission by the instrument itself remains low and there is little or no impact on the fluxes of the crop surface of interest. During the flux station establishment, the tower which supports the sensors should be made steady with concrete basement support of appropriate strength and if required by fixing guy wires. The sonic anemometer should be installed perfectly horizontal because if unlevelled it will affect all fluxes by contaminating the vertical wind speed with a horizontal component. The shape of the sonic anemometer should be aerodynamic so as to minimize wind distortion. The EC system should have fast enough response time to catch all the rapid changes that result from the eddy transport. Sensor integration ideally should be such that the sample measurements by sonic anemometer and gas analyser represent the same volume of air and that covariance is computed for parameters that were measured at the same point of time. However, because of physical limitations of most available models, such ideal arrangement is difficult to achieve, and this introduces some error in flux measurement. In the absence of any choice, the mid-axis horizontal separation distance between the sonic anemometer and gas analyser should be kept to a minimum, preferably not exceeding 10–15 cm. Recently, a physically combined model (IRGASON, Campbell Scientific), i.e. no separation distance between the two aforesaid sensors, is available in the market, but information regarding its field performance has not been widely reported so far. For open-path system, the sensor head of the gas analyser can be slightly tilted to minimize the amount of precipitation accumulating on the windows.

GHG measurements using the eddy covariance technique require significantly higher capital investment than that of chamber method or other micrometeorological methods. High costs are due to sophisticated nature of the sensors for detecting fast changes, the need for a suit of auxiliary instruments (e.g. weather station), and supporting hardwares (tripods or mast). Even with minimum recommended set of auxiliary sensors, initial investment in instrumentation for measurement of CO_2 and energy fluxes only is around Rs. 40–50 lakhs. To add other sensors such as for CH_4 (open-path sensors are available) and N_2O (requiring laser spectroscopy instruments) would require additional investments as high as Rs. 20-30 lakhs per gas. If the focus of the study is other than open-path measurement of $CO_2/H_2O/CH_4$, then external energy supply to the system is required, thus adding some more constraints and raising the cost. More information on processing tools for GHG flux calculation and expertise support for designing, establishing and running micrometeorological instruments could be availed from multisite, multi-year observation networks such as AmeriFlux (http://public.ornl.gov/ameriflux), AsiaFlux (http://www.asiaflux.net); National Ecological Observatory Network (NEON), USA, (http://neoninc.org/); and Integrated Carbon Observation Network (ICOS), Europe, (http://www.icos-infrastructure.eu) among others.

2.4 Measurement Issues: Data Screening, Corrections and Gap Filling

It is often seen that a site chosen for GHG measurement does not represent the ideal condition which is required for application of eddy covariance methodology. For example, the topography may be undulating or having steep slope, and there could be obstruction along the wind path. Furthermore, during stable atmosphere and calm conditions with very low wind velocity, either turbulence does not fully develop or the footprint may become so large that it exceeds the target area of measurement. There could be other issues which produce errors such as intense rainfall events, wrong instrument setup, sensor failure or aberrations, and certainly there is technology limitation which does not guarantee the theoretical perfection during measurement. During computation of mean fluxes from high-throughput raw data, appropriate correction measures need to be applied. Further, certain quality criteria need to be used to flag suspected bad flux data and screen them out. The above steps eventually lead to some missing values. Data gaps in the flux time series should be filled in using appropriate techniques for a valid inference.

2.4.1 Errors: Causes and Correction Measures

Even though modern flux programmes will automatically correct most of the errors as part of the standard flux processing sequence, it is still extremely important to minimize or eliminate the majority of these errors during the experiment setup and only then to correct the remaining errors during data processing. Another important fact is that most of the principles that are used for flux corrections and commonly reported in literature have been developed and tested for traditional settings, over reasonably horizontal and uniform terrains, with negligible air density fluctuations and negligible flow convergence and divergence and with prevailing turbulent flux transport. In recent times, several research groups have started working under conditions that violate the basic assumptions such as complex terrains, hills, flow obstructions and limited footprint in order to come out with methodologies that ensure reliable measurements. There are at least 25 stations across the globe under FLUXNET and other networks that operate in complex mountainous terrains (Burba 2013).

Various types of errors that occur during measurement by the EC system and affect the final fluxes are discussed below:

- *Spikes and noise*: These are abrupt datapoints occurring in a time series that cannot be explained by the underlying ecosystem processes that govern its neighbouring datapoints. These are most common features in any flux dataset and mostly arise due to electrical fault of the sensors. Based on some reasonable statistical criteria such as standard deviation thresholds, these errors can be eliminated.
- *Frequency response error*: If placed very close to the canopy (say inside the roughness layer), the eddy covariance sensors' response time may fall short to resolve smaller eddies which are prevalent in that zone. This kind of error affects all type of fluxes and is more severe in long-tube closed-path system than open-path system. By choosing sensors with faster response time and placing those away from the roughness layer would minimize such errors. The remaining errors can be removed using flux processing software.
- Sensor responses mismatch: Errors due to unadjusted time delay of sensors can affect all fluxes but are most severe in closed-path systems. Sticky gases such as water vapour (H₂O) and NH₃ are more highly affected than nonsticky gases. In general, time delay can be minimized through time synchronization, i.e. using instruments with matching clocks, by minimizing the separation distance between the intake/path of the gas analyser and the sonic anemometer. For closed-path system, when possible shorter tubes can be used. The delay between two time series can also be computed from the known flow rate and tube diameter of a closed-path system. In open-path system too, time delay error can be virtually eliminated during data processing by adjusting the delay. This is implemented by shifting the two time series in such a way that the covariance between them is maximized.
- Density fluctuations error: It mostly affects gas and water fluxes and when instruments output fast density. Size and direction of the related errors vary greatly. For example, the error could be 300% of the small magnitude fluxes in winter or only a few percent in summer. These errors can be eliminated by choosing instruments that output fast dry mole fraction or can be corrected

using Webb-Pearman-Leuning (WPL) density terms (Webb et al. 1980) using software/computer programmes.

- *Band-broadening errors*: These affect gas fluxes measured by the NDIR technique and depend greatly on the instrument used. The error can be fixed by applying corrections in the instrument's software or described by the instrument manufacturer. Oxygen in the gas analyser path affects krypton hygrometer readings, and the error is fixed with an oxygen correction.
- *Coordinate rotation*: For non-flat terrain or rolling topography, one additional correction, viz. coordinate rotation, is applied to streamline the data (Zhilin et al. 2005).

2.4.2 Missing Data and Gap-Filling Techniques

Occurrence of gaps, i.e. missing values in eddy covariance flux data series, is a common problem. Typically, the quantum of gaps in annual datasets, across sites, exceeds 20%, and cases where the missing frequency has even exceeded 50% are not uncommon (Falge et al. 2001; Moffat et al. 2007). Data gaps do not occur randomly in the half-hourly dataset. Apart from instrument failure, majority of the gaps occur mostly during night time owing to the stable condition of the atmospheric. Gap filling of the flux data is essential especially when long-term experiments are to be evaluated.

So far, no single method has been prescribed in literature as the standard that suits all situations, and new methods or modifications of the existing techniques are continuously being evolved by the research community. The appropriateness of a method depends on the unique conditions of the flux measurement site and end use of the flux data. For example, one who is interested in determining seasonal or annual carbon budgets or comparison of fluxes with biometric measurements may choose non-linear regression methods. On the other hand, those preparing complete half-hourly datasets for process-based SVAT model validation may choose artificial neural network (ANN) techniques. Also, while some methods such as non-linear regression methods and SVAT simulation models essentially require the ancillary meteorological data during the missing flux observations, others can do away with such requirement. The latter group includes methods such as mean diurnal variation (MDV) and ANN. Some of the gap-filling approaches are discussed below.

2.4.2.1 Mean Diurnal Variation

This is a simple interpolation technique. In this method, a missing observation is replaced by the mean for that time period (half-hour) of few adjacent days. Bin-averages of half-hourly fluxes for the diurnal time period are calculated by considering a time window around each gap. Depending on the environmental condition and the parameter of interest, the length of the window may be varied and sizes between 4 and 15 days have been reported in literature. Too short a time window such as <4 days may not be enough as spectral peaks of fluxes are reported

to occur at 3–4 days (Baldocchi et al. 2000). On the other hand, a large window should not be considered while filling gaps in carbon fluxes as it is non-linearly dependent on environmental variables (Falge et al. 2001).

2.4.2.2 Multiple Regression

In this method, a multiple regression relationship is established between a flux quantity (which is to be gap filled) and its main controlling variables. A regression relationship for each missing value is calculated using the data from the adjacent few days, before and after the missing data. If, in the resulting equation, independent variables explain sufficient variability in the fluxes of interest, then missing data are gap filled. Alavi et al. (2006) used this technique for latent heat flux (LE) using net available energy (net radiation minus ground heat flux) and vapour pressure deficit as the main controlling factors. Only those regression equations were used in which R^2 exceeded the value 0.5, and when such criteria did not meet, the gaps were not filled. For short and long gaps (missing data for more than 5 days), they used windows of ± 10 days and ± 20 days period, respectively.

2.4.2.3 Semiempirical Methods

Semiempirical methods retain the response of the parameter, whose values are to be gap-filled, to temperature and flux density of photosynthetically active radiation as observed in the data. These methods fall mainly in two groups, viz. look-up table approach and non-linear regression approach.

Look-Up Table (LUT) In this approach tables are created for a given site. The NEE data are binned by variables such as light and temperature presenting similar meteorological conditions, so that a missing NEE value with similar meteorological conditions can be "looked up" from the table. Look-up table methods allow for variable response, i.e. the shape of a light response can vary between linear and rectangular hyperbolic, based on the data analysed.

In standard LUTs fixed periods of a year are considered with corresponding fixed intervals for the variables (Falge et al. 2001). An improvement to the standard fixed LUT is a moving LUT technique, also called marginal distribution sampling (MDS). Here, similar meteorological conditions (of a fixed margin) are sampled in the temporal vicinity of the gap to be filled (Reichstein et al. 2005).

Another type is the semi-parametric model technique (SPM) which can be seen as three-dimensional, non-linear look-up table sorted with environmental variables of interest (e.g. solar radiation and soil moisture) and time. SPM represents the continuity of the response of NEE to the environmental variables (Moffat et al. 2007).

Non-linear Regressions (NLRs) The non-linear regressions are based on parameterized non-linear equations between the NEE flux and environmental variables. Each technique (Falge et al. 2001; Hollinger et al. 2004; Desai et al. 2005; Richardson et al. 2006; Noormets et al. 2007) uses one equation for the ecosystem respiration (ER) based on temperature and one equation for the light response of the ecosystem, which is the gross primary production (GPP). NEE is

estimated by subtracting ER from GPP with GPP equal to zero at night due to the absence of photosynthesis. The parameterized equations are fit to the observed data and then used to fill missing NEE values.

The modelled relationships of respiration vary from technique to technique. The most common are semiempirical equations with an exponential or logistic dependence on temperature. The response of GPP to the photosynthetic photon flux density PPFD is modelled using rectangular hyperbolic functions. The entire year is divided into various time windows as per the variations over the year and the regression parameters of the equations are kept constant within each window but varied outside it (Falge et al. 2001).

2.4.2.4 Multiple Imputation (MI)

In this technique, the missing values of a dataset are simulated multiple number of times using the Markov chain Monte Carlo algorithm (Schafer and Olsen 1998; Hui et al. 2004). The variation among the multiple imputations reflects the amount of uncertainty with which the missing data can be predicted from the observed ones. Each set of imputed datapoints (observed and simulated values) is analysed using normal statistical metrics. The results are finally pooled and averaged to provide the missing NEE data. Past studies (Schafer 1997) have shown that the violation of the normality assumption of values used in the analysis does not take away MI's robustness when the amount of missing values is not large. Three to five imputations are enough to estimate the missing data if the rate of missing data is not very high (Rubin 1987; Schafer and Olsen 1998).

2.4.2.5 Artificial Neural Networks (ANNs)

The concept and structure of artificial neural networks (ANNs) is in close analogy to that of neural networks in biological systems. An ANN consists of some purely empirical non-linear regression models (also called as nodes) that are interconnected together by regression parameters (also called as weights). The network is trained by presenting it with sets of input data such as meteorological variables and associated output data, for example, fluxes. Classical back-propagation algorithms are used in the ANN techniques. The training is performed by propagating the input data through the nodes via the weighted connections and then back-propagating the error and adjusting the weights so that the network output optimally approximates the fluxes. Examples of gap filling of missing eddy covariance flux using various ANN techniques include the works of Papale and Valentini (2003), Braswell et al. (2005) and Moffat et al. (2007).

2.4.2.6 Process-Based Models

It may happen some times that the data, available to construct the mean diurnal variation or regression equations, is biased towards a particular condition and hence the resulting fit or mean diurnal variation may not represent the conditions in the gap. Process-oriented ecosystem gas exchange models, parameterized from independent datasets, are the best option to simulate missing data in such case. Also, for sites with many and large data gaps, process models may prove to be better than other

gap-filling methods. However, these are more input intensive and complex to develop as specific computer programming is required. Example includes biosphere energy-transfer hydrology (BETHY) model (Knorr and Kattge, 2005).

2.4.3 Other Approaches

Application of recursive parameter estimation algorithms based on Kalman filtering can be found in literature. Researchers have used various forms of filters such as ensemble Kalman filter or dual unscented Kalman filter for gap filling of GHG fluxes such as CO₂ (Jarvis et al. 2004; Williams et al. 2005; Moffat et al. 2007) and various components of energy balance including water vapour flux (Boni et al. 2001; Alavi et al. 2006). For gap filling of latent heat, i.e. water vapour flux data, standard evapotranspiration equations such as Penman-Monteith (Allen et al. 1998), Priestley-Taylor (Alavi et al. 2006), etc. can be used.

2.5 Flux Validation

The most common approach for validating the fluxes measured with the eddy covariance method is to construct an energy budget for the study site. The principle behind this concept is the energy balance closure, i.e. the net energy which is available to the system is spent in maintaining the key ecophysiological processes, viz. sensible heat transfer between surface and atmosphere (H) and latent heat flow (LE) due to evapotranspiration. Net available energy can be obtained by deducting ground heat flux (G) and heat stored in the system (S) from the net radiation (Rn). If the closure is good, i.e. if there is a good agreement between the net energy and turbulent fluxes of sensible and latent heat, then by analogy we can infer that turbulent fluxes of trace gases/GHGs such as CO2, CH4 or N2O measured by the EC system are most likely to be corrected as well. However, it should be kept in mind that there is inherent difference in the method of measurements of available energy and turbulent fluxes. One can also argue that a good measurement of, say, latent heat flux does not necessarily mean a good measurement of the trace gas, because transfer processes and sources/sinks of water and other gases, especially reactive VOCs (volatile organic compounds), may significantly differ compared to water vapour. Hence, it can be said that a good (closed) energy budget will not necessarily indicate good measurements of the trace gas flux, while a "non-closing" energy budget will almost certainly indicate a problem in the measured flux.

At least four different indicators (Li et al. 2005; Wilson et al. 2002) have been cited in literature to infer on the degree of closure of energy balance. For example, linear regression coefficients (slope and intercept) of the relationship between the half-hourly turbulent fluxes (dependent variable) against the net available energy (independent variable) derived from the ordinary least squares or reduced major axis techniques can be taken as indicators. When the slope is one and intercept zero, that

condition represents ideal closure. In general, a slope of 0.7 or above is good enough indication of closure under practical field situations.

The third indicator is energy balance ratio (EBR), which is a ratio of turbulent heat flux to net available energy.

$$EBR = \sum (LE + H) / \sum (Rn - G - S)$$

The closure can also be inferred from frequency distribution of relative errors of energy balance (δ). It is a ratio of the residual in the energy imbalance to available energy.

$$\delta = \left[(\operatorname{Rn} - G - S) - (\operatorname{LE} + H) \right] / (\operatorname{Rn} - G - S)$$

Here, $\delta = 0$ stands to refer a perfect closure. Positive values of δ would mean underestimation of turbulent fluxes, and negative ones would mean that turbulent energy fluxes are higher than the net available energy. The latter situation could arise due to edge effect or advection.

A comprehensive evaluation of energy balance closure by Wilson et al. (2002) which included 22 FLUXNET sites and 50 site-years showed that energy imbalance is a common phenomenon across vegetation types in climates ranging from Mediterranean to temperate and arctic. The average magnitude of such imbalance was around 20%, and in general the imbalance was higher during the night- than during the daytime conditions. They also suggested a link between the energy imbalance and CO_2 fluxes. For a given value of photosynthetically active radiation, the magnitude of CO_2 uptake was found to be less when the energy imbalance was greater. Similarly, respiration was found to be significantly less when the energy imbalance was severe in agro-ecosystems than that of tall forests owing to smaller surfaces roughness in the former compared to the latter.

2.6 GHG Fluxes from Agro-Ecosystems

Agricultural activities account for about 10-15% of the global emission of greenhouse gases (IPCC 2007). It releases a significant amount of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O into the atmosphere. The GHG budgets in agricultural fields are affected by structure and dynamics of anaerobic and aerobic conditions in the soil, nutrient and other management practices, growth stage, environmental conditions or stresses. A wide range of values of fluxes and often conflicting inferences about the source or sink nature of some agro-ecosystems can be found in literature. The reasons could be the factors as stated above and also because no single methodology is used for measurement, data processing and quality control. Furthermore, before comparing experiments or to draw valid inferences on agro-ecosystems, care should be taken to note differences in terms of monitoring period, crop rotations, intermittent fallow periods, measurement units, externally added inputs, harvest removal, left over residues etc.

2.6.1 Carbon Dioxide (CO₂)

Measurement of carbon dioxide fluxes in relation to plant physiological processes such as photosynthesis and respiration and dynamics of environment are vital for understanding the agro-ecosystems behaviour and prediction of climate change. An eddy covariance system measures the rate of CO_2 exchange at ecosystem scale, also termed as CO_2 flux or the net ecosystem exchange (NEE) rate, which takes into account both the photosynthetic gain and respiratory losses of carbon. Whether an agro-ecosystem act as a source or a sink of CO_2 could be assessed based on the seasonal NEE values and ancillary data on biomass removal, leaf shedding and extraneous inputs such as organic manures and crop residues.

The flux at any time during the growing season is directly or indirectly governed by various biophysical and environmental factors such as crop growth stage, global radiation, photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), net radiation, ambient temperature, soil moisture, soil temperature, vapour pressure and rainfall (Anthony et al. 2004; Suyker et al. 2004; Posse et al. 2010; Hernandez-Ramirez et al. 2011; Bhattacharyya et al. 2013; Guo et al. 2013). In the beginning and towards the end of the crop season, agro-ecosystems behave as net source of CO_2 as the respiratory losses exceed the photosynthetic carbon fixation due to low plant cover and senescence of the green tissues, respectively. If the diurnal cycle is considered, an ecosystem invariably becomes a source of CO₂ during nighttime, whereas during daytime period, it can be either a source or a sink depending on meteorological conditions particularly solar radiation. With fully developed canopies, available light becomes the main driver of daytime CO_2 uptake. Suyker et al. (2004) observed such relation between NEE and incident light in maize. Similarly, Hernandez-Ramirez et al. (2011) observed that in corn and soybean under non-limiting soil water availability conditions, seasonal variations of CO₂ fluxes were mostly controlled by ambient temperature and available light.

For a good number of crops such as soybean, winter wheat, rapeseed and sugar beet, daily average net assimilation fluxes between -9 and -13 g C m⁻² have been reported in literature (Baldocchi 2003; Soegaard et al. 2003; Anthoni et al. 2004; Hollinger et al. 2005; Moureaux et al. 2008; Béziat et al. 2009). Bhattacharyya et al. (2013) compared fluxes from rice paddy under both flooded and aerobic field conditions and from studies conducted across Asia (countries included were India, Bangladesh, Philippines, Taiwan and Japan). They reported NEE values ranging between -300 gCm^{-2} and -85 gCm^{-2} per growing season which when converted to daily scale would mean a maximum uptake rate of about $-2.5 \text{ gC m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$. Saha et al. (2014, 2016) reported even lower values of NEE, which was $-1.6 \text{ gC m}^{-2}\text{d}^{-1}$ as mean of the season and 558 gC $m^{-2}d^{-1}$ for the green manuring crop Sesbania aculeata and wheat crop, respectively, grown under semiarid rainfed condition with severe soil depth limitation. Despite large annual exchanges of CO₂ between agroecosystems and the atmosphere, net flux is approximately balanced with soil contributing less than 1% of global anthropogenic CO₂ emissions and estimates for agricultural lands hovering around 0.05 Gt of net CO₂ emission per annum (US-EPA 2007).

2.6.2 Methane (CH₄)

Soil condition and organic wastes strongly influence atmospheric CH_4 concentrations. CH_4 emission increases under continuous flooding condition. It is estimated that wetland and paddy soils represent approximately one third of all sources for atmospheric CH_4 (Fowler et al. 2009). On the other hand, natural and seminatural ecosystems and to some extent non-paddy agro-ecosystems, due to aerobic soil conditions, act as sinks and remove approximately 20–45 TG year⁻¹ of CH_4 (approximately 6–8% of all sinks) from the atmosphere (Dutaur and Verchot 2007; Fowler et al. 2009).

2.6.3 Nitrous Oxide (N₂O)

The global estimate of nitrous oxide (N₂O) flux emitted from agricultural land is 2.3-3.7 Tg N year⁻¹ (Bouwman 1990) which is about one-fourth of the global N₂O emission. Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is emitted from the nitrogen fertilizers, legume cropping, animal waste and biomass burning. The gas is generated by the microbial transformation of N in soils and manures, and is often enhanced where available N exceeds plant requirements, especially under wet conditions (Oenema et al. 2005). Primarily it is emitted in pulses after fertilization and strong rainfall events. Rice paddies act as major sources of N₂O and nitrogenous fertilizers such as urea appears to be the single most important factor that controls its emission from flooded rice fields.

Chao (1999) estimated N₂O emission of around 0.67 Mg N year⁻¹ from the paddy fields of Taiwan. Chen et al. (1997) estimated 39–164 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ of N₂O-N emission for the Chinese rice fields. For crops such as soybean and maize, Chen et al. (1997) reported emissions of the order of $3.1-7.1 \text{ kg N}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1}$. In India, agriculture-related activities account for around 90% of the total N₂O emissions (Garg et al. 2001). Bhatia et al. (2004) reported annual N₂O emission of about 80 Gg from Indian agricultural fields. For irrigated and upland paddy fields of India, annual N₂O emissions of about 4–210 and 2–10 Gg, respectively, were reported by Sharma et al. (1995). The total N₂O emission from Indian rice and wheat fields was put at 199–279 Gg year⁻¹ by Parashar et al. (1998), whereas Aulakh et al. (2001) reported that the irrigated rice-wheat system could emit about 15 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹.

2.7 Measurement of GHG Fluxes in Some Crop Ecosystems of Indian Peninsula: Case Study

A flux monitoring tower with an open-path eddy covariance system (EC-150 and CSAT3 combination, Campbell Scientific) was installed in the research farm of ICAR-National Institute of Abiotic Stress Management, Baramati, Pune, India in August 2013. The physical separation between the two aforesaid sensors was only 2 inches (mid-axis separation distance) which minimized error in flux measurement.



Fig. 2.3 Eddy covariance-based GHG measurement in *dhaincha* (Sesbania spp.), wheat and soybean ecosystems in the years 2013 and 2014

A fast-response fine-wire thermocouple (FW05, Campbell Scientific) was attached with the sonic head of the EC system for absolute temperature measurement. In addition to the eddy covariance component, the tower was also equipped with a suit of slow-response research-grade sensors that were needed for flux validation through energy balance closure principle and recording micrometeorological conditions near the crop surface. These include one 4-component net radiometer (NR01, Hukseflux), two soil heat flux sensors (HFP01, Hukseflux), two soil moisture sensors (CS616, Campbell Scientific), two soil temperature sensors (TCAV, Campbell Scientific) and one sensor for ambient temperature (HMP155A, Campbell Scientific) measurement.

Seasonal NEE rates were monitored in three different crops, viz. dhaincha (*Sesbania aculeata*), wheat and soybean (Fig. 2.3). During each growing season, measurement protocol was standardized as per site condition so that minimum data is lost during the post-processing screening steps. This was done by suitably orienting the eddy covariance sensors keeping in view the mean seasonal wind rose pattern (wind direction and speed) and availability of fetch in different directions and also by adjusting the sensor height as per crop.

Hence, while during *dhaincha*-growing season the EC sensor faced west with a maximum height of 3 m from the ground, in wheat and soybean seasons, the heights varied between 1.8 and 2 m and the EC sensors had a 300° azimuth orientation. In all seasons, about 2 ha area around the flux tower was maintained under a single crop ecosystem. As all the three crops, considered for the study, were of short height (< 2 m), gas storage within the plant canopy was considered negligible, and hence CO₂ profiling in the crop microclimate was not undertaken. The EC system measured all the parameters diurnally (24 hours of the day) throughout the season. The fast data was sampled at 10 Hz frequency which was subsequently processed, including density correction using Webb et al. (1980) method, by the CR-3000 data logger programme, and produced measures of turbulent fluxes (CO₂, sensible heat and latent heat) in real time on a half-hourly time scale. Data on ground heat flux, soil moisture and temperature and meteorological conditions were also generated and stored in the data logger on half-hourly basis. Time series flux data (half-hourly) of each season was put to stringent

screening process. Thresholds for various quality control criteria were selected after trial and error and were applied uniformly to all the three crops. Suspicious flux data were filtered out based on data logger diagnostic warnings, standard deviation criteria (5 SD) for noise and spikes, frictional velocity criteria (0.1 ms^{-1}) for low wind/stable atmospheric conditions, any rain events, low signal strengths (< 0.70) of turbulent data acquisition and wind flow from a sector that was at the back of eddy covariance sensors (tower shadow effect). The screened dataset were then divided into day (0630 AM to 0600 PM) and night (0630 PM to 0600 AM of next calendar date) halves keeping in view the local sunrise and sunset timings. A 5-day moving average interpolation method was used to fill the gaps in the quality controlled datasets and compute seasonal rates of daytime and nighttime fluxes. A summary of processing attributes and seasonal CO_2 flux characteristics is presented in Table 2.3. As it is observed that a considerable percentage of flux data are missed out during the screening process, different gap-filling strategies may be applied to determine the uncertainty involved in such measurements. It will help towards a more informed interpretation in terms of source/ sink potential of different crop ecosystems in respective growing seasons as well as intercomparison among them.

• Observation in *dhaincha* and wheat excludes observations for some part in the beginning of the season.

Dataset attributes and flux characteristics	Dhaincha	Wheat	Sovbean
Half-hourly NEE datapoints in the time series	n = 4296	n = 3882	n = 4205
Suspicious NEE values (major sources)			
Data logger diagnostics warning	6.8%	2.4%	7.6%
Low frictional velocity of wind (0.1 ms^{-1})	18.4%	46.8%	29.0%
Tower shadowed fluxes	30.8%	25.2%	6.5%
Original NEE datapoints retained	n = 2867 (66.7%)	n = 1206 (31.1%)	n = 2393 (57%)
Flux observation period	9-Aug 13 to 29-Oct13	18-Dec13 to 9-Mar14	25-Jul 14 to 20-Oct14
Seasonal CO ₂ flux statistics of NEE (μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹)			
Daytime rate	-7.6	-7.1	-5.2
Nighttime rate	4.6	3.1	3.2
Estimated net uptake rate	-1.5	-2.0	-1.0

Table 2.3 Seasonal statistics of net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO_2 from various agriculturalcrops at NIASM, Baramati

2.8 Conclusions

In an agro-ecosystem the crop undergoes substantial changes in terms of vegetation cover (LAI) and canopy architecture in a relatively short period which is also associated with a large corresponding variation of CO₂ and other trace gas fluxes, including a sign reversal for CO₂ during the season. In addition, agro-ecosystems are often smallholding one, thus causing additional variability on account of differential land use and management practices. In case of chamber-based monitoring of GHGs, proper sampling strategy in both space and time would be vital. On the other hand, for micrometeorological eddy covariance method, proper site selection and sitespecific data processing protocol assume great importance. When resources are available, a combination of well-designed sampling scheme using chambers and eddy covariance system would be the best for GHG monitoring in agro-ecosystems as it offers for data cross validation and flux partitioning into various components. Nevertheless, eddy covariance method has emerged as the preferred choice of flux research community worldwide. EC measurements using tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy and quantum cascade laser absorption spectroscopy are nowadays available for improved trace gas (NH₃, N₂O, NO₂, CH₄ and CO₂) analysis.

During implementation of EC-based monitoring, special care must be taken in sensor orientation and height, keeping in mind the prevailing wind, surface roughness and fetch availability to obtain meaningful data. Sensors' physique, integration and time response should be appropriate to detect small eddy as those are more common over smooth surfaces, such as bare soil or low canopies. However, even with the best sensors and experimental designs, some data losses would be eventual and appropriate correction and gap-filling measures are required based on specific site features. In addition, observation on field activities and environmental conditions must be recorded along with the GHG fluxes for validation and complete budgeting of GHGs using ecosystem models. Data from a network of eddy covariance towers and satellite imageries can be used in modelling framework to upscale and validate GHG emissions from farmland scale to local or regional level which will help predicting changes in earth's climate.

References

Alavi N, Warland JS, Berg AA (2006) Filling gaps in evapotranspiration measurements for water budget studies: evaluation of a Kalman filtering approach. Agric Forest Meteorol 141:57–66

Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration - guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO irrigation and drainage paper 56. Food and agriculture organization, Rome

- Anthoni PM, Freibauer A, Kolle O, Schulze ED (2004) Winter wheat carbon exchange in Thuringia. Germany Agric Forest Meteorol 121:55–67
- Aubinet M, Grelle A, Ibrom A, Rannik U, Moncrieff J, Foken T, Kowalski AS, Martin PH, Berbigier P, Bernhofer CH, Clement R, Elbers J, Granier A, Grunwald T, Morgenstern K, Pilegaard K, Rebmann C, Snijders W, Valentini R, Vesala T (2000) Estimates of the annual net carbon and water exchange of forests: the EUROFLUX methodology. Adv Ecol Res 102:113–175
- Aulakh MS, Khera TS, Doran JW, Bronson K (2001) Denitrification, N₂O, and CO₂ fluxes in ricewheat cropping systems as affected by crop residues, fertilizer N and legume green manure. Biol Fert Soils 34:375–389
- Baldocchi DD (2003) Assessing the eddy covariance technique for evaluating carbon dioxide exchange rates of ecosystem: past, present and future. Glob Chang Biol 9:479–492
- Baldocchi DD, Falge E, Wilson K (2000) A spectral analysis of biosphere-atmosphere trace gas flux densities and meteorological variables across hour to year time scales. Agric For Meteorol 107 (1):1–27
- Baldocchi D, Falge E, Gu L, Olson R, Hollinger D, Running S, Anthoni P, Bernhofer C, Davis K, Evans R, Fuentes J, Goldstein A, Katul G, Law B, Lee X, Malhi Y, Meyers T, Munger W, Oechel W, Paw UKT, Pilegaard K, Schmid HP, Valentini R, Verma S, Vesala T, Wilson K, Wofsy S (2001) FLUXNET: a new tool to study the temporal and spatial variability of ecosystem-scale carbon dioxide, water vapor, and energy flux densities. Bull Am Meteorol Soc 82:2415–2434
- Béziat P, Ceschia E, Dedieu G (2009) Carbon balance of a three crop succession over two cropland sites in south West France. Agric For Meteorol 149:1628–1645
- Bhatia A, Pathak H, Aggarwal PK (2004) Inventory of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture soils of India and their global warming potential. Curr Sci 87:317–324
- Bhattacharya P, Neogi S, Roy KS, Dash PK, Tripathi R, Rao KS (2013) Net ecosystem CO₂ exchange and carbon cycling in tropical lowland flooded rice ecosystem. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 95:133–144
- Boni G, Entekhabi D, Gastelli F (2001) Land data assimilation with satellite measurements for the estimation of surface energy balance components and surface control on evaporation. Water Resour Res 37(6):1713–1722
- Bouwman AF (1990) Exchange of greenhouse gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. In: Bouwman AF (ed) Soil and greenhouse effect. Wiley, New York, pp 61–127
- Bowen IS (1926) The ratio of heat losses by conduction and by evaporation from any water surface. Phys Rev 27:779–787
- Braswell BH, Sacks B, Linder E, Schimel DS (2005) Estimating ecosystem process parameters by assimilation of eddy flux observations of NEE. Glob Chang Biol 11:335–355
- Burba G (2013) Eddy covariance method for scientific, industrial, agricultural and regulatory applications. LI-COR Biosciences. Lincoln, Nebraska. ISBN 978-0-615-76827-4
- Businger JA, Oncley SP (1990) Flux measurement with conditional sampling. J Atmos Ocean Technol 7:349–352
- Chao CC (1999) Nitrous oxide emission and mitigation of composting and application of Livestock manure. In: Yang (ed.) Flux and mitigation of greenhouse gases. pp. 128-146. S. S., Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Global Change Research Center, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan
- Chen GX, Huang GH, Huang B, Yu KW, Wu J, Xu H (1997) Nitrous oxide and methane emissions from soil-plant systems. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 49:41–45
- Desai AR, Bolstad P, Cook BD, Davis KJ, Carey EV (2005) Comparing net ecosystem exchange of carbon dioxide between an old-growth and mature forest in the upper Midwest. USA Agric For Meteorol 128(1-2):33–55
- Desjardins RL (1977) Description and evaluation of a sensible heat flux detector. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 11:147–154

- Dutaur L, Verchot LV (2007) A global inventory of the soil CH₄ sink. Glob Chang Biol 21. doi:10.1029/2006GB002734. ISSN:0886-6236
- Falge E, Baldocchi D, Olson R, Anthoni P, Aubinet M, Bernhofer C, Burba G, Ceulemans R, Clement R, Dolman H, Granier A, Gross P, Grunwald T, Hollinger D, Jensen NO, Katul G, Keronen P, Kowalski A, Lai CT, Law BE, Meyers T, Moncrieff J, Moors E, Munger JW, Pilegaard K, Rannik U, Rebmann C, Suyker A, Tenhunen J, Tu K, Verma S, Vesala T, Wilson K, Wofsy S (2001) Gap filling strategies for defensible annual sums of net ecosystem exchange. Agric For Meteorol 107:43–69
- Fowler D, Pilegaard K, Sutton MA, Ambus P et al (2009) Atmospheric composition change: ecosystems-atmosphere interactions. Atmos Environ 43(33):5193–5267
- Garg A, Bhattacharya S, Shukla PR, Dadwal VK (2001) Regional and sectoral assessment of greenhouse gas emission in India. Atmos Environ 35:2679–2695
- Guo Q, Li WW, Liu DD, Wu W, Liu Y, Wen XX, Liao YC (2013) Seasonal characteristics of CO₂ fluxes in a rain-fed wheat field ecosystem at the loess plateau. Spanish J Agric Res 11 (4):980–988
- Hamotani K, Uchida Y, Monji N et al (1996) A system of the relaxed eddy accumulation method to evaluate CO2 flux over plant cano-pies. J Agric Meteorol 52:135–139
- Hartmann DL, Klein Tank AMG, Rusticucci M, Alexander LV, Brönnimann S, Charabi Y, Dentener FJ, Dlugokencky EJ, Easterling DR, Kaplan A, Soden BJ, Thorne PW, Wild M, Zhai PM (2013) Observations: atmosphere and surface. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK/New York
- Hernandez-Ramirez G, Hatfield JL, Parkin TB, Sauer TJ, Prueger JH (2011) Carbon dioxide fluxes in corn-soybean rotation in the midwestern U.S.: inter- and intra-annual variations, and biophysical controls. Agric For Meteorol 151:1831–1842
- Hollinger DY, Aber J, Dail B, Davidson EA, Goltz SM, Hughes H, Leclerc MY, Lee JT, Richardson AD, Rodrigues C, Scott NA, Achuatavarier D, Walsh J (2004) Spatial and temporal variability in forest-atmosphere CO₂ exchange. Glob Chang Biol 10:1689–1706
- Hollinger SE, Bernacchi CJ, Meyers TP (2005) Carbon budget of mature no-till ecosystem in north central region of the United States. Agric For Meteorol 130:59–69
- Hsieh C, Katul G, Chi T (2000) An approximate analytical model for footprint estimation of scalar fluxes in thermally stratified atmospheric flows. Adv Water Resour 23:765–772
- Hui D, Wan S, Su B, Katul G, Monson R, Luo Y (2004) Gap filling missing data in eddy covariance measurements using multiple imputation (MI) for annual estimations. Agric For Meteorol 121:93–111
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2007) Climate change: the scientific basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Jarvis AJ, Stauch VJ, Schulz K, Young PC (2004) The seasonal temperature dependency of photosynthesis and respiration in two deciduous forests. Glob Chang Biol 10:939–950
- Kljun N, Calanca P, Rotach M, Schmid H (2004) A simple parameterization for flux footprint predictions. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 112:503–523
- Knorr W, Kattge J (2005) Inversion of terrestrial ecosystem model parameter values against eddy covariance measurements by Monte Carlo sampling. Glob Chang Biol 11:1333–1351
- Kormann R, Meixner F (2001) An analytical footprint model for non-neutral stratification. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 99:207–224
- Lenschow DH, Mann J, Kristensen L (1994) How long is long enough when measuring fluxes and other turbulence statistics? J Atmos Oceanic Technol 11:661–673
- Li Z, Yu G, Wen X, Zhang L, Ren C, Fu Y (2005) Energy balance closure at China flux sites. Science in China series D. Earth Sci 48(Supp I):51–62

- MacPherson JI, Desjardins RL (1991) Airborne tests of flux measurement by the relaxed eddy accumulation technique. In: Proceedings of the seventh symposium on meteorological observations and instrumentation. Am Meteorol Soc Boston, MA, pp 6–11
- Moffat AM, Papale D, Reichstein M, Hollinger DY, Richardson AD, Barr AG, Beckstein C, Braswell BH, Churkina G, Desai AR, Falge E, Gove JH, Heimann M, Hui D, Jarvis AJ, Kattge J, Noormets A, Stauch VJ (2007) Comprehensive comparison of gap-filling techniques for eddy covariance net carbon fluxes. Agric For Meteorol 147:209–232
- Monji N (2003) Plants and micrometeorology-turbulence and fluxes in plant atmosphere. Osaka Municipal Universities Press, Osaka
- Moureaux C, Debacq A, Hoyaux J, Suleau M, Tourneur D, Vancutsem F, Bodson B, Aubinet M (2008) Carbon balance assessment of a Belgian winter wheat crop (*Triticum aestivum* L). Global Change Biol 14:1353–1366
- Munro DS, Oke TR (1975) Aerodynamic boundary-layer adjustment over a crop in neutral stability. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 9:53–61
- Noormets A, Chen J, Crow TR (2007) Age-dependent changes in ecosystem carbon fluxes in managed forests in northern Wisconsin, USA. Ecosystems 10:187–203
- Oenema O, Wrage N, Velthof GL, Van Groenigen JW, Dolfing J, Kuikman PJ (2005) Trends in global nitrous oxide emissions from animal production systems. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 72:51–65
- Oke TR (2007) Chapter 6: Siting and exposure of meteorological instruments at urban sites. In Air pollution modeling and its application XVII (online ISBN. 978-0-387-68854-1). Springer, pp 615–631. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-68854-1_66
- Papale D, Valentini A (2003) A new assessment of European forests carbon exchange by eddy fluxes and artificial neural network spatialization. Glob Chang Biol 9:525–535
- Parashar DC, Kulashrestha UC, Sharma C (1998) Anthropogenic emissions of NOx, NH3 and N₂O in India. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 52:255–259
- Pattey E, Desjardins RL, Rochette P (1993) Accuracy of the relaxed eddy-accumulation technique evaluated using CO₂ flux measurements. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 66:341–355
- Pattey E, Edwards G, Strachan IB, Desjardins RL, Kaharabata S, Wagner Riddle C (2006) Towards standards for measuring greenhouse gas fluxes from agricultural fields using instrumented towers. Can J Soil Sci 86:373–400
- Posse G, Richter K, Corin JM, Lewczuk NA, Achkar A, Rebella C (2010) Carbon dioxide fluxes on a soybean field in Argentina: influence of crop growth stages. Open Agric J 4:8–63
- Raupach MR, Legg BJ (1984) The uses and limitations of flux-gradient relationships in micrometeorology. Agric Water Manag 8:119–131
- Reichstein M, Falge E, Baldocchi D, Papale D, Aubinet M, Berbigier P, Bernhofer C, Buchmann N, Gilmanov T, Granier A, Grunwald T, Havrankova K, Ilvesniemi H, Janous D, Knohl A, Laurila T, Lohila A, Loustau D, Matteucci G, Meyers T, Miglietta F, Ourcival JM, Pumpanen J, Rambal S, Rotenberg E, Sanz M, Tenhunen J, Seufert G, Vaccari F, Vesala T, Yakir D, Valentini R (2005) On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: review and improved algorithm. Glob Chang Biol 11:1424–1439
- Richardson AD, Braswell BH, Hollinger DY, Burman P, Davidson EA, Evans RS, Flanagan LB, Munger JW, Savage K, Urbanski SP, Wofsy SC (2006) Comparing simple respiration models for eddy flux and dynamic chamber data. Agric For Meteorol 141:219–234
- Rubin DB (1987) Multiple imputation for non response surveys. Wiley, New York
- Saha S, Bal SK, Minhas PS, Singh Y (2014) Net carbon-dioxide exchange in green manuring ecosystem, *Sesbania aculeata*: assessment through eddy covariance approach. J Agrometeorol 16(2):149–156
- Saha S, Bal SK, Bhagat K (2016) Fluxes and production efficiency of irrigated wheat ecosystem under edaphic constraints of western Maharashtra plateau: a micrometeorological investigation. J Agrometeorol 18(2):175–183
- Schafer JL (1997) Analysis of incomplete multivariate data. Chapman and Hall, London

- Schafer JL, Olsen MK (1998) Multiple imputation for multivariate missing-data problems: a data analyst's perspective. Multivar Behav Res 33:545–571
- Sharma C, Gupta PK, Parashar DC (1995) Nitrous oxide estimates from paddy fields and forests in India. Indian J Radio Space Phys 24:311–313
- Soegaard H, Jensen NO, Boegh E, Hasager CB, Schelde K, Thomsen A (2003) Carbon dioxide exchange over agricultural landscape using eddy correlation and footprint modelling. Agric For Meteorol 114:153–173
- Stull R (1988) An introduction to boundary layer meteorology. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London, p 666
- Suyker AE, Verma SB, Burba GG, Arkebauer TJ, Walters DT, Hubbard KG (2004) Growing season carbon dioxide exchange in irrigated and rainfed maize. Agric For Meteorol 124:1–13
- US-EPA (2007) Global mitigation of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases. United States Environmental Protection Agency, EPA 430-R-06-005, Washington DC, USA. http://www.epa.gov/nonco2/ econ-inv/downloads/GlobalMitigationFullReport.pdf. Accessed on 26 March 2007
- Watanabe T, Yamanoi K, Yasuda Y (2000) Testing of the bandpass eddy covariance method for a long-term measurement of water vapor flux over a forest. Bound-Layer Meteorol 96:473–491
- Webb EK, Pearman GI, Leuning R (1980) Correction of flux measurements for density effects due to heat and water vapour transfer. Q J R Meteorol Soc 106:85–100
- Williams M, Schwarz PA, Law BE, Irvine J, Kurpius MR (2005) An improved analysis of forest carbon dynamics using data assimilation. Glob Chang Biol 11:89–105
- Wilson K, Goldstein A, Falge E, Aubinet M, Baldocchi D, Berbigier P, Bernhofer C, Ceulemans R, Dolman H, Field C, Grelle A, Ibrom A, Law BE, Kowalski A, Meyers T, Moncrieff J, Monson R, Oechel W, Tenhunen J, Verma S, Valentini R (2002) Energy balance closure at FLUXNET sites. Natural resources paper 153. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/natrespapers/153
- Zhilin Z, Xiaomin S, Yanlian Z, Jinping X, Guofu Y, Renhua Z (2005) Correcting method of eddy covariance fluxes over non-flat surfaces and its application in China FLUX. Sci China Ser D Earth Sci 48(Supp 1):42–50



Methane Emission from Wetland Rice Agriculture-Biogeochemistry and Environmental Controls in Projected Changing Environment

Saurav Saha, Dibyendu Chatterjee, Chinmaya Kumar Swain, and Amaresh Kumar Nayak

Abstract

Global atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases (GHGs) has remarkably increased from the periodic spontaneous increase in anthropogenic activities during the past few decades. The anaerobic wetland rice agriculture has considerable contribution in global GHG emission preferably as methane (CH₄). The share is much elegant for developing countries like China and India. It is essentially important to understand the underlying pathways of methane emission from anaerobic rice agriculture, identifying the possible environmental controls on the emission mechanism. We discussed the possible ways for methane emission reduction and emphasized on the associated mitigation options, with largescale on-farm adaptation of agricultural research generated tested technologies in rice agriculture.

Keywords

Methane emission \cdot Rice \cdot Elevated CO $_2 \cdot$ Elevated air temperature \cdot Elevated ozone

3.1 Introduction

Our present progress towards the hi-tech modern human civilization is often crumbled by the gradual invasion of negative consequences from anthropogenic global climate change (Chatterjee et al. 2013; Pathak et al. 2016). Proliferated urbanization, massive deforestation, rapid industrialization and excessive use of automobiles

S. Saha (🖂)

D. Chatterjee · C. K. Swain · A. K. Nayak

ICAR - National Rice Research Institute, Cuttack, Odisha, India

ICAR - Research Complex for NEH Region, Mizoram Centre, Kolasib, Mizoram, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_3

resulted in a significant increase in atmospheric greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O) and ozone (O₃) emission, at an alarming rate in the post-industrial revolution era (Chatterjee and Saha 2015). After CO₂, CH₄ is the second most important potent greenhouse gas (GHG) in the atmosphere having its global warming potential about 23 times greater than carbon dioxide on a mass balance basis for 100-year time horizon, if indirect effects are taken into account (Towprayoon et al. 2005), thus having substantial effects on the earth's radiative budget. On molecular basis, it is a much more effective greenhouse gas than CO₂. At present, the CH₄ is contributing $\sim 20\%$ of the anthropogenic global warming effect (IPCC 2001). The tropospheric mixing ratio of CH₄ has increased to 1.78 ppm from its pre-industrial concentration of 0.7 ppm with an average increasing rate of 0.5-0.8% year⁻¹ (Khalil and Shearer 1993). Together with other atmospheric GHGs, the increased concentration of CH₄ has been predicted to cause an average increase of the global mean surface temperature in the range of 2–4.5 °C by the end of the twenty-first century (IPCC 2007). Ruddiman and Thomson (2001) estimated ~192 ppb increase in atmospheric CH_4 levels due to early anthropogenic inputs which caused 0.21 °C warming (0.16–0.28 °C) between 5000 cal BP and AD 1700.

Methane (CH_4) known as 'marsh gas', a hydrocarbon and the primary component of natural gas, is emitted during the production and transport of coal, natural gas and oil. The average lifetime of CH₄ in the atmosphere is about 10 years. Most atmospheric CH₄ (~90%) is oxidized by UV-active hydroxyl radicals (OH), while 5-10%is removed from the atmosphere by diffusion into aerobic topsoils for further oxidation by soil microorganisms (Prather et al. 1995). Oxic rhizosphere is the important site of CH₄ decomposition in rice fields (Kimura et al. 2004). Around 70–80% of total annual global CH_4 emission is biogenic in origin, viz. livestock and agriculture sector including rice paddies, biomass burning, waste disposal and natural wetlands that will continue to rise in the near future (Khalil and Shearer 1993). Methane is produced strictly under anaerobic environment, viz. wetlands, sediments, paddy fields, sewage and landfills. The total annual source strength of all CH_4 emissions is about 500 Tg, exceeding the total sink by 37 Tg year⁻¹, accounting for 14% of global emissions (IPCC 1996). There are several sources of anthropogenic CH_4 emission that are responsible for this current CH_4 build-up in the atmosphere. In agriculture, cultivation of rice generated a large quantity of CH₄ because of their distinct floodwater regimes that have long been one of the major contributors to the anthropogenic CH₄ emissions (Chatterjee et al. 2018a). Rice is the only major crop grown on flooded soils. Khalil and Rasmussen (1990) estimate the contribution of wetland rice agriculture to the current atmospheric CH_4 burden in the atmosphere was ~230 ppbv during the last century (20-30% of the total increase in atmospheric CH₄). Rice soils may act as a CH₄ sink until it is flooded (Ko and Kang 2000). The CH₄ average source strength of rice fields ranges from 20 to 100 Tg CH_4 year⁻¹ (Prather et al. 1995), constituting about 14–40% (~20%) of global CH_4 emissions from all sources (Khalil and Rasmussen 1990; Tang et al. 2014). Rice agriculture may be defined as continuously flooded, intermittently flooded, or dry land. Flooding, or at least saturation with water, is a prerequisite for the anoxic soil

conditions needed to produce CH_4 (Bhaduri et al. 2017). Wetland rice agroecologies provide a limited scope for oxygenation and therefore are a major contributor for the increasing atmospheric CH_4 burden. Globally, irrigated rice (51% of global rice area) has the highest CH_4 source strength followed by rained rice (27% of global rice area) and the deep water rice with intense inundation (10% of global rice area), respectively. In India, rice is cultivated as irrigated, rainfed, deep water or upland. Only 15% of the cultivated area is under upland condition, while the majority of rice cultivation is under wetland condition (irrigated, rainfed and deep water rice).

Current research efforts are focused on quantifying the global CH_4 emissions from major rice ecosystems (irrigated rice, rainfed rice and deep water rice), evaluating the control processes on CH_4 fluxes from the waterlogged rice fields and identifying the mitigation options for CH_4 emissions to maintain or enhance rice productivity in the major rice ecosystems around the world. Much of the uncertainty in the current estimates of global CH_4 emissions from rice cultivation is due to the large spatial heterogeneity of soil properties (e.g., texture, SOC content, pH) and varying management practices (Li et al. 2004b). Aerobic soils under upland rice do not encompass flooding; thus it is considered as a negligible source of CH_4 (Wassmann et al. 2000b; Pathak et al. 2003). The controlling internal variable factors include soil characteristics, rice cultivar selection, and soil microbial dynamics. The external controlling factors, viz. soil temperature, meteorological conditions and cultural practices such as water management and fertilizer and organic matter applications, also have the control on CH_4 emission from wetland rice agriculture (Swain et al. 2018a, b; Chatterjee et al. 2018b). The global CH_4 flux is usually calculated by using Eq. 3.1:

$$\mathbf{F} = \Sigma \ \theta_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{R}} \ \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{R}} \tag{3.1}$$

where θ_R (g m⁻² day⁻¹) is the measured, seasonally averaged emission rate over any specific region R; A_R (m²) is the area of the region, presumably with similar characteristics, so that the region R is an accurate representation of flux for the entire area; and T_R is the length of growing season (days year⁻¹). The measured flux (θ_R) must represent the area of our interest and growing season. The global extrapolate is A_R and T_R that can be subdivided into similar homogeneous subregions to calculate the CH₄ flux from rice agriculture across a country. However, the limited number recorded field-scale observations for CH₄ emission over limited periods may not necessarily be representative of average emission rates at the global, national and regional levels to which they are frequently extrapolated.

At present, the Asian counties jointly account for the largest cumulative share in global CH₄ emission (89%), followed by African countries (4–5%) for their everexpanding huge wetland area under rice paddy cultivation (FAOSTAT 2013). China (30.7 million ha) and India (43.4 million ha) account for ~50% of the global rice area and become the largest CH₄ emitters from wetland rice paddies. We considered the FAO database on annual CH₄ emission from rice cultivation that was computed at Tier 1 following the revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National GHG Inventories and the IPCC 2000 Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in

Region	Z values	Decadal increase in CH ₄ emission (gigagram/decade)
World	9.032	969.57
Asia	8.918*	772.81
Africa	9.958*	162.18
Americas	5.783*	73.00
Europe	0.942	19.45
Oceania	3.517*	9.11

Table 3.1a Trends (Z values) in CH_4 emission from rice agriculture in major continents around the world (1961–2012)

National GHG Inventories (IPCC 2000), available by country, with global coverage and relative to the period 1961–2012 along with the projections for 2030 and 2050. The relative share in global CH_4 emission is also very high for these two countries, viz. 21.7% (for China) and 18.8% (for India), respectively. As compared to the early 1960s, rice-cultivated area steadily increased worldwide and will continue to increase over the coming decades to meet the future food requirement of the everincreasing human population (Table 3.1a and 3.1b). While land resources are shrinking, present trends suggest that tomorrow's rice land will be under even more pressure. It is projected that to meet the regular food demand, continual intensification of rice paddy cultivation under submergence is essential with rapid expansion of paddy cultivation in the coming decades (880 million tons by 2025; Lampe 1995). As a consequence, a significant rise in CH_4 fluxes to the atmosphere is expected worldwide from the submerged rice paddy fields that have the potential to further continue the gradual rise in atmospheric CH_4 concentration, considering the current technological progress as a constant one (Bousquet et al. 2006). The projected estimates for CH_4 emission are displayed in Fig. 3.1a and 3.1b.

Mineral soils are small sinks for atmospheric CH₄, whereas most of the peat soils emit CH₄. CH₄ are often generated from the microbial degradation of organic substances in the anaerobic environment with very low redox potential that prevails in flooded rice fields due to prolonged waterlogging, as well as in lake sediments. The net CH_4 emission from flooded rice fields is the balance between CH_4 production and its oxidation in the soil environment. At first, the microbial consortium hydrolyses the complex organic compounds (polysaccharides, proteins and neutral fats) to CO2, H2 and acetate. In the second step, CO2, H2 and acetate are reduced to CH_4 by methanogens (Thauer et al. 2008). Plant-mediated transport is the primary mode of CH_4 emission through the aerenchyma cells from rice paddies that constitute as much as 90% of CH₄ transported to the atmosphere (Gerard and Chanton 1993). The aerenchymal network often promotes rhizosphere oxygenation to support root respiration and CH₄ oxidation. More than 50% of the generated CH₄ is oxidized during the early stage of the crop growth that may increase up to 90% at maturity (Tang et al. 2014). However, 30-90% of the CH₄ produced in the agricultural soil is oxidized to CO_2 by methanotrophic bacteria under the aerobic surface soil of rice fields where CH_4 reaches by diffusion (Bosse and Frenzel 1997). In this chapter, we

Country name	Z values	Decadal changes in CH ₄ emission (Gg/decade)
Sri Lanka	+6.12*	10.00
Malaysia	+0.63	0.68
Nepal	+8.39*	10.49
South Korea	-4.71*	-11.92
North Korea	+0.39	2.28
Japan	-9.19*	-78.74
Cambodia	+3.81*	59.62
Bangladesh	+6.56*	48.54
Myanmar	+5.76*	83.10
Vietnam	+8.74*	93.14
Philippines	+6.45*	107.76
Thailand	+8.35*	211.09
Indonesia	+9.50*	250.83
India	+7.88*	238.49
China	-3.75*	-350.99
USA	+5.42*	41.33
Nigeria	+9.13*	57.15
Pakistan	+8.71*	37.67
Madagascar	+8.09*	20.79
Egypt	+5.05*	12.24
Brazil	-4.21*	-26.94
Iran	+7.38*	15.02
Italy	+8.03*	11.12
Guinea	+10.22*	17.65
Tanzania	+9.01*	16.42
Australia	+3.63*	9.31

Table 3.1b Trends in CH_4 emission from rice cultivation in the major rice-growing countries around the world (1961–2012)

Source: FAOSTAT (2013); *significant at p < 0.05 level

will confine and focus our discussion preferably on the available case studies on submerged wetland rice agriculture in the recent past.

3.2 Mechanisms of the Methane Emission from Wetland Rice

The atmospheric concentration of CH_4 increased by 0.5% per annum because of increased anthropogenic activity (Dlugokencky 2001). Flooded rice fields are one of the largest sources of atmospheric CH_4 in global CH_4 budget (IPCC 2001). The acetoclastic pathway predominates in methanogenesis, whereas the serine pathway is the principal metabolic pathway for CH_4 oxidation in lowland rice (Bhattacharyya



Fig. 3.1a Future projections for regional CH_4 emission from rice agriculture around the world (FAOSTAT 2013)



Fig. 3.1b Future projections for methane emission from rice paddy cultivation in major ricegrowing countries around the world (FAOSTAT 2013)

et al. 2016). The CH_4 formation in and its subsequent release from rhizosphere environment into the atmosphere are governed by several microbial, physical and physiological mechanisms like the following:

(a) Methanogenesis-microbiological perspective

Organic matter mineralizations in flooded wetland rice soils favour the methanogenic bacteria to ferment and produce CH_4 and CO_2 .

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 3CO_2 + 3CH_2$$

The conversion of complex organic matter to CH_4 requires a microbial consortium composed of several interacting metabolic groups of facultative and strict anaerobic microorganisms (DiMarco et al. 1990): (a) *hydrolytic microflora*, they are either aerobes or facultatively or strictly anaerobes mediating the hydrolysis of large complex biomolecules into glycosides, fatty acids and amino acids monomers; (b) *fermentative microflora*, acidogenesis are the prime activity of this group to various organic acids, alcohols, CO_2 and H_2 ; and (c) *methanogenic microflora*, this group is involved in methanogenesis from the simple compounds ($H_2 + CO_2$ and acetate). Methane produced in nature derives about two thirds from the reduction of the methyl group of acetate and one third from the reduction of CO_2 with electrons from H_2 or formate (Ferry 1992). Methanogens proliferate mostly in the strictly anoxic underground environments, contributing to the degradation of organic matter. Methanogens produce CH_4 from various substrates (Table 3.2), but the major substrates for CH_4 production are acetate and H_2 + CO_2 .

The major pathways of CH_4 formation are the following (DiMarcoet al. 1990):

(a) Carbon dioxide to CH₄ reduction: Chemoautotrophic methanogens reduce CO₂ to CH₄. Carbon dioxide reduction pathway is derived from *Methanobacterium* thermoautotrophicum strains. Studies on these organisms have revealed several novel cofactors involved in the CO₂ reduction pathway and other pathways for methanogenesis.

Species name	Substrates that serve as electron donor
Methanobacterium arbophilicum	Hydrogen
M. formicium	Hydrogen or formate
M. ruminantium	Hydrogen or formate
M. mobile	Hydrogen or formate
Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum	Hydrogen
Methanococcus vannielii	Hydrogen or formate
M. sarcina barkeri	Hydrogen or methanol
M. hungatii	Hydrogen or formate

Table 3.2 List of methanogenic species and its substrate serving as electron donor*

*Note: Adapted partially from Zeikus (1977)

$$4H_2 + CO_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O$$

(b) Conversion of formic acid and carbon monoxide to CH₄: Some microbial strains are also able to use formic acid and carbon monoxide as substrates to produce CH₄.

$$4\text{HCOO}^- + 4\text{H}^+ \rightarrow \text{CH}_4 + 3\text{CO}_2 + 2\text{H}_2\text{O}$$

 $4CO+2H_2O\rightarrow CH_4+3CO_2$

(c) Conversion of acetate to CH₄: The microorganisms involved in this process are Methanosarcina, Methanospirillum and Methanothrix. Acetate is activated to acetyl CoA followed by decarboxylation and methyl transfer in both the genera.

$$CH_3COO^- + H^+ \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2$$

(b) Methane transfer from soil to atmosphere-physical and physiological perspective

Three methods are involved in transfer of CH₄ from soil to atmosphere.

- (i) Vascular transport: The CH_4 formed in flooded soils and sediments move towards the surface and are emitted into the atmosphere via aerenchyma cells of vascular plants. Basically these vascular structures have evolved to nourish the supply of O₂ required for root respiration and cell division. However, studies on transport of CH_4 through the aerenchyma of rice by Butterbach-Bahl et al. (1997) demonstrated that the root-shoot transition zone is the main site of resistance to plant-mediated gas exchange between the soil and the atmosphere.
- (ii) Ebullition: In this method CH_4 is released into the atmosphere in the form of bubble. In their rice paddy experiment, Bosse and Frenzal (1998) observed that in unplanted and planted microcosms, 85% and 50% of the CH_4 were in the form of gas bubbles, respectively. The range may vary from 4 to 100% across different seasons (Green 2013). Komiya et al. (2015) observed that the daytime CH_4 ebullition in tropical rice paddy took place due to falling atmospheric pressure and increasing soil surface temperature, and at night-time, the drop in atmospheric pressure predominately triggered the CH_4 ebullition. The speed of this process prevents any significant oxidation of CH_4 in the submerged rice paddy environment (Conrad 1989).

(iii) Diffusion: This process is common in submerged paddy, and it is dependent on CH₄ concentration, supply of CH₄ to the water, temperature of the water and wind speed (Sebacher et al. 1983). About 10–40% of total CH₄ diffused to atmosphere get oxidized in rice paddies (Krüger et al. 2002).

3.3 Factors Controlling Methane Emissions from Wetland Rice Agriculture Under Submergence

The average lifetime of CH_4 in the atmosphere is about 10 years. Around 90% of the atmospheric CH_4 are destroyed by the UV-created hydroxyl radicals (OH^-); 5–10% diffuses into aerobic topsoils that get oxidized by different soil microbes (Prather et al. 1995). The CH_4 source strength of rainfed rice is uncertain because of high variability in the strength of different controlling factors of CH_4 emissions from upland rice. The magnitude and variability of CH_4 emission from the lowland submerged rice paddy soils are governed by a complex set of environmental factors linking the physical, chemical and biological characteristics of anaerobic flooded soil environment likewise.

3.3.1 Soil Texture and Soil Structure

Seasonal CH₄ emissions are sensitive to percolation rates of the existing soil profile. High percolation rate (> 20 mm d⁻¹) in coarse-textured sandy loam soils facilitates oxygen entry into the soil environment that promotes CH₄ oxidation. Frequent external irrigation water replenishment in permanently flooded *kharif* rice fields results in low CH₄ emission (16 and 40 kg CH₄ m⁻² season⁻¹; Mitra 1999; Jain et al. 2000). High bulk density (with lower soil/water ratio) retards CH₄ production in wetland rice soils. CH₄ diffusion is seldom limited by water-filled soil pores in the well-drained sandy soils (Carter et al. 2011). Heavy soils entrap more CH₄ for subsequent oxidation, thereby less emission to atmosphere (Neue 1993). The downward movement (leaching) of CH₄ with rapid downward flux of percolating water towards the groundwater reduces the substrate availability to methanogens so as the decrease in net seasonal CH₄ production and emission rates (Inubushi et al. 1992; Yagi et al. 1998).

3.3.2 Soil pH

Methanogens are mostly neutrophilic (pH: 6.5–7.5) but sensitive to soil acidity (Garcia et al. 2000). A few alkaliphilic methanogen isolates from, viz. *Methanosarcina, Methanobacterium* and *Methanohalophilus* genera, often dominate with optimum growth pH 8.0–9.0 (Blotevogel et al. 1985). At present, acidophilic methanogenic bacterial strains are rare. The growth of methanotrophs is favoured at more acidic pH ranging from 4.3 to 5.9 (Kamal and Varma 2008).

However, the optimum pH ranges for CH_4 production and consumption vary between the range of soil pH likely 5.5–7.0 and 5.0–6.5, respectively (Dunfield et al. 1993). Flooded rice soils stabilize the soil pH near neutral providing a good scope for methanogenesis to occur.

3.3.3 Soil Redox Potential (Eh)

Anaerobic condition (<-100 mV) promotes methanogenesis in lower range of redox potential (Hou et al. 1998). The critical soil Eh for initiation of CH₄ production varies from -150 to -160 mV. Nevertheless, the redox potential of bulk soil (corrected to pH 7.0) of at least -50 mV is essential for the CH₄ formation. A 50 mV decrease in soil redox level often results in approximately a tenfold increase in CH₄ emission rate for the -150 mV to -250 mV soil Eh range (Masscheleyn et al. 1993). The negative correlation between the CH₄ production and soil Eh is negatively exponential between -230 and -150 mV (Wang et al. 1993). The potential role of depth variation on CH₄ emission from the soil surface is uncertain. The surface layer redox potential is likely to be relevant, since any GHG produced there can easily escape into the atmosphere. For CH₄, the deeper layers might also be relevant as the CH₄ from rooting depth to the atmosphere through rice plants is a well-proved fact.

3.3.4 Soil Chemical Condition

Soils with high ferritic, ferruginous or oxidic mineralogy (strongly acidic pH) are less prone to CH_4 formation. CH_4 production in soil only starts after the complete exhaustion (reduction) of the soil reserve for molecular oxygen, NO_3^- , Fe^{3+} , Mn^{4+} and SO_4^{2-} (all of which maintain a higher potential) (Ponnamperuma 1972). Presence of such chemical ion species in the soil solution prevents the shift of soil environment towards the intense reduced condition and thus reduces the CH_4 production (Achtnich et al. 1995). Increased Fe^{2+} concentration in wetland rice paddies under submergence facilitates CH_4 emissions (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013).

3.3.5 Soil Temperature

The soil temperature of flooded rice soils may vary from 15 °C in northern latitudes to 40 °C in equatorial wetlands. Seasonal and daily soil temperature is likely positively correlated with the increase in daily and cumulative CH₄ formation and emission from wetland rice paddy cultivation. The monthly distributions of global CH₄ emissions were varying between 300 and 1000 mg m⁻² day⁻¹ for 20 to 30 °C temperature range and constant emission of 300 mg m⁻² day⁻¹ for temperatures <20 °C (Aselmann and Crutzen 1990; Cheng et al. 2000). Majority of the methanogenic bacteria are mesophilic (optimum temperature 30–40 °C). In the tropics, the temperature of the reduced puddled layer becomes optimal for methanogenesis. The rate of CH₄ emission doubled with the rise of temperature from 20 to 25 °C that attains maximum at ~37 °C (Holzapfel-Pschorn and Seiler 1986; Sass et al. 1991). Parashar et al. (1993) observed that CH₄ emissions increased for soil temperatures up to 34.5 °C but decreased sharply above 34.5 °C. Low temperatures often limited CH₄ emissions in temperate and subtropical stations such as northern China and northern India (Wassmann et al. 2000a).

3.3.6 Soil Organic Matter

The presence of readily high mineralizable organic matter (as in peat soil), addition of root exudates/degrading roots or incorporation of plant residues and or organic amendments (containing biodegradable organic carbon) into soil provides an array of organic substances for anaerobic degradation via methanogenesis in wetland rice soils. Thus, anaerobic CH_4 production and emission from rice soils are facilitated with subsequent lowering of soil Eh, providing sufficient carbon sources. In tropical lowlands, high temperature throughout the growing seasons also stimulates organic matter degradation and CH_4 emission from rice paddies. The rate of soil organic matter decomposition decreases with soil depth. In deep water rice fields, the anoxic deeper layers of the floodwater may promote methanogenesis during the active crop cycle, if large quantity of organic material is readily available from rice culms, nodal roots and dead aquatic biomass (Whitton and Rother 1988). Earthworms in the topsoils decrease CH_4 formation by promoting aeration but increase CH_4 emissions by enhancing trace gas fluxes.

3.3.7 Soil Salinity

Salinity (EC > 4 dSm⁻¹) reduces the CH₄ emission from flooded wetland rice fields due to more available terminal electron acceptors in situ (Sahrawat 2004).

3.3.8 Rice Cultivar Specificity

Variations in crop phenology and physiological characteristics among different rice cultivars have direct influence on the CH₄ emission from the flooded transplanted rice fields. The number of tillers m^{-2} , root mass, rooting pattern, total biomass and metabolic activity are the emission-related traits that vary among different cultivars of rice crops. The rate of CH_4 emission is higher at mid-tillering than at panicle more fresh organic matter initiation stage due to decompition by amplified methanogenic bacteria population from the greater root activity of the rice, lower rhizospheric CH₄ oxidation rate and more effective transport of internally synthesized methane mediated by rice plants (Bhatia et al. 2011; Suryavanshi et al. 2012). The maximization of photosynthetic carbohydrate assimilation during these specific crop growth stages results in increasing substrate availability for methanogenic bacteria (root exudates and slough off) with more intense reducing conditions that prevailed during the reproductive phase, favouring the formation of more CH_4 (Adhya et al. 1994). The transport capacity of the rice plants is another decisive factor as the plant vascular tissues act as a conduit for CH_4 diffusion from sediments to atmosphere (Tokida et al. 2012). However the total CH₄ emission is positively correlated with the above-ground biomass production in different rice cultivars (Inubushi et al. 2003). Indica cultivars emit more CH_4 than the japonica type (Inubushi et al. 2011; Yun et al. 2012). Furthermore, the CH_4 emissions from the hybrid rice are reported to be lower than that of the traditional rice cultivars, due to the more tillering habit and longer root system, facilitating more CH₄ emission for the traditional rice cultivars (Neue et al. 1996). Semidwarf rice varieties emit less CH_4 (~36%) than the traditional tall rice varieties (Lindau et al. 1995). Satpathy et al. (1998) demonstrated the variability in seasonal CH₄ emission potential may reach fourfold for ten high-yielding rice varieties with similar grain yields tested in India. The seasonal fluctuation of CH_4 emission flux is less for early rice than late rice (Huang et al. 2005). However, the early-maturing rice cultivars with fewer flooding days emit low CH₄ to the atmosphere as compared to late-maturing cultivars (Gutierreza et al. 2014).

3.3.9 Soil Water Regime

Water stagnation in the flooded rice paddy fields hastens anoxic environment either by promoting O₂ depletion for heterotrophic microbial respiration or cutting the external O₂ supply from the outside environment for methanogenesis that enhances net CH_4 emission (Conrad 2007). Flooding in rice fields is reported to increase CH_4 emission varying between 1.17 and 4.76 times than well-drained aerobic condition during the entire crop-growing season (Kang et al. 2002). Continuous submergence in rice paddy cultivation promotes anaerobic environment that stimulates methanogenesis, contributing about 5–19% (60 \pm 40 Tgyr⁻¹) of the total global anthropogenic CH₄ emission (Bousquet et al. 2006; Khalil and Butenhoff 2008). The depth of water table also has pronounced impact. Sebacher et al. (1986) reported that CH₄ emission rates were linearly related to water depth up to about 10 cm; depths greater than this did not promote CH₄ emission. Draining of flooded rice fields allows free oxygen (due to increased oxygen diffusion rate and air permeability with decrease in soil moisture) to diffuse into soil aggregates and oxidize the existing reduced S, Fe, Mn and N forms. Rice ecosystems under continuous flooding often facilitate the anaerobic environment in irrigated and deep water rice that favours CH4 emissions from rhizosphere. Irrigated rice was reported to have the highest CH₄ source strength of all rice ecologies in East Asia (~ 97% of the CH₄ emission from rice fields) and South and Southeast Asia ($\sim 60\%$ of the CH₄ emission from rice fields). Temporary aeration of flooded rice field reduces CH₄ production. Intermittent flooding or midseason drainage often reduces the CH₄ emission (up to 40%) by increasing O_2 efflux into the soil environment of the paddy fields (Jain et al. 2000;

Johnson-Beebout et al. 2009). Shifting the water management from continuous flooding to midseason drainage was projected to reduce CH₄ fluxes by 4.2–4.7 Tg CH₄-C per year in China (Li et al. 2004b). The emission potentials may also vary based on crop management practices adopted for wetland rice culture. This may favour or lower the actual emission rates in continuously flooded irrigated rice, intermittently flooded irrigated rice, flood-prone rainfed rice, deep water rice, drought-prone rainfed rice and tidal rice (Wassmann et al. 2000a, b; Yan et al. 2009). In rainfed rice, the alternate drying and wetting process is generic that reduces the opportunity for CH₄ production and increases the scope for CH₄ oxidation. System of rice intensification reduces CH₄ emission from submerged paddy fields (Suryavanshi et al. 2012).

3.3.10 Organic Amendment Application

The amount of organic amendments (compost, sludge from biogas pits or crop residues) applied to the submerged rice fields is one of the most important determining factor for CH_4 emission from the soil environment. The release of soluble C compounds from decomposing organic substrates is an important factor that determines the degree of methanogenic activity as well as CH_4 emission from soil environment. Incorporation of organic amendments of endogenous origin, viz. crop residue (rice straw, green manure), or exogenous origin (compost, farmyard manure, etc.) into flooded rice paddy soil increased the CH_4 emission dramatically during the active crop-growing season (Cheng et al. 2000; Johnson-Beebout et al. 2009; Thangarajan et al. 2013). Field application of well-decomposed and comparatively stabilized organic amendments often decreases CH_4 emission by 20% during rice paddy cultivation as compared to fresh manure application (Pramanik and Kim 2014). The in situ combustion of paddy straws enhanced CH_4 emission from rice paddy fields (130%) as the ashes contain much organic carbon for utilization by methanogens that promotes CH_4 emission (Ma et al. 2008; Xie et al. 2012).

3.3.11 Fertilizer N Application

Application of different mineral N fertilizers, especially in combination with FYM, enhances the fraction of bioavailable organic C pools that promotes CH_4 production from the enhanced methanogenic microbial population by the utilization of readily biologically active organic C in flooded rice soils (Fang et al. 2012). Dan et al. (2001) reported the negligible impact of late-season urea fertilization on CH_4 oxidation to the net CH_4 flux from the submerged rice paddy. Under greater N availability in the soil environment (concentration of NH_3 : CH_4 ratio > 30; in aerobic rice soils), the methanotrophs may switch substrates from CH_4 to NH_4^+ (due to activity enzyme similarity), causing the inhibition of CH_4 oxidation in soil environment (Dubey 2003). Thus fertilizer N addition (preferably ammonium sulphate) often promotes the net gains of C accumulation from soil N enrichment by emitting
less CH_4 from both aerobic and flooded rice soils by changing the soil pH (Chen et al. 1993). Small-scale field experimentation showed that if the organic manure application is replaced with equivalent amount of inorganic N fertilizers, then CH_4 emissions drop dramatically (Khalil and Butenhoff 2008).

3.3.12 Tillage

Scarce published data are available for studying the impact of tillage on CH_4 emission from rice soils. Spring ploughing positively influenced CH₄ emission (26%), as it changes soil physicochemical properties and eventually affect the decomposition of soil organic matter (Ko and Kang 2000). Most studies have found either no significant effect or a decrease in CH₄ emissions under conservation tillage practice (Ussiri and Lal 2009; Smith et al. 2010). However, long-term no tillage operation often lowers the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) content and facilitates higher bulk density, reduces the volume fraction of large pores and inhibits the decomposition of organic matter, thus having the potential to reduce the cumulative seasonal CH_4 flux from the surface soil layer of rice-based cropping system (Hanaki et al. 2002; Ahmad et al. 2009; Li et al. 2011). Under no till condition, the rice soils may act as a CH₄ sink that promotes the movement of CH₄ into oxidizing zones by sustaining greater pore continuity with high methanotrophic activity and greater rates of CH_4 diffusion into the soil profile due to increasing the compaction of surface soil layer (Smith et al. 2001). The CH_4 produced in the no tilled soil are entrapped in the soil for longer time period due to surface soil compaction that subsequently increases the probability of CH₄ oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria.

3.4 Response of Rice Ecosystem Towards the Projected Environmental Change

The environmental factors influencing the C_3 photosynthesis in rice canopy have indirect control on the CH₄ emissions and other associated ecosystem processes in wetland rice paddy soils under submergence with a variable degree of uncertainties (Prather et al. 1995). The projections of CH₄ emission from wetland rice ecosystem in the imminent future are a major concern under the combined increasing trend in atmospheric CO₂ concentration and rising temperature due to accelerated anthropogenic GHG emission-induced global warming. IPCC AR4 projections (2007) predicted the increase of global air temperature between 1.1 and 6.4 °C with a concomitant increase of atmospheric CO₂ level (~300 ppm) by the end of this century that is predicted to markedly modify the CH₄ emission dynamics from the submerged soils in wetland rice agriculture. CH₄ emissions from wetland rice paddy soils are generally a positive function of plant vigour and primary productivity that may be expected to increase due to enhanced rates of plant growth (more rice tiller numbers) through the enlargement of aerenchyma in a future enriched CO₂ environment (Aulakh et al. 2001a; Pereira et al. 2013). The available findings from the reported literatures, studying the trend and magnitude of changes in CH_4 emission from the lowland rice fields under elevated CO_2 combined with enhanced temperature conditions, are listed in Table 3.3, for a wide range of soil texture, rice cultivar and experimental CO_2 enrichment facility used. The vast majority of reported literatures suggests the potential of climate change, viz. atmospheric CO_2 enrichment and consequent temperature rise, to increase the global CH_4 flux from lowland rice fields. Both of these factors may affect soil biophysical characteristics and the activities of methanogens and methanotrophs in variable direction and magnitude (van Groenigen et al. 2011).

3.4.1 Impact of Elevated Temperature

Diverse responses of different ecosystems towards the global climate change has increased the difficulties to upscale the specific elevated temperature impact on methanotrophy at the global scale. Temperature plays a crucial role in CH_4 emissions from the anoxic soils, as the activities of both methanotrophs and methanogens are expected to be altered with rising temperature (Fey and Conrad 2003; Das and Adhya 2012). The mechanistic controls of elevated air temperature on the process-based growth response and CH_4 efflux from the anoxic submerged rice paddy soils are less known, inconsistent and often determined by the relative balance between contrasting possibilities under variable moisture availability (Singh et al. 2010; Gaihre et al. 2014). It is evident that the increase in air temperature has potential to exert a positive accelerating impact on CH₄ emission from the soil environment, but the trend is not universal. Rhizodeposition is the main origin of CH_4 evolved from rice fields (Kimura et al. 2004). Elevated temperature promotes soil organic matter decomposition, increases root exudation and sloughing with greater rhizodeposition (Allen et al. 2003; Das and Adhya 2012). The net impact has positive correlation with root biomass accumulation in rice (Aulakh et al. 2001a, b). Decomposition of organic materials in flooded rice fields generates CH_4 (Kimura et al. 2004). Thus, the elevated temperature-induced stimulation in CH_4 emission may be independent to the above-ground biomass accumulation preferably at the early stages of rice growth, viz. transplanting to panicle initiation, due to enhanced electron-donor production through hydrolysis and fermentation of organic matter that dominates over the temperature insensitive of Fe reduction rate in the submerged rice paddy soils (Tokida et al. 2010). Thus, the rising air temperature provides readily decomposable substrates for stimulating activities of the mesophilic methanogens, which thrive at optima between 30 and 35 °C (Minami and Neue 1994). The CH_4 production potential is unlikely to be a limiting factor within the specified temperature range. Despite the accelerating impact of elevated temperature on methanogenesis, laboratory incubation studies revealed the inhibitory effect of temperature on CH₄ oxidation process with a sharp decline in methanotroph abundance (Mohanty et al. 2007; Das and Adhya 2012). Temperature not only affected the activity but also changed the structure and the function (carbon and electron

	Source	Baker et al. (1997a, b)	Ziska et al. (1998)	Schrope et al. (1999)	Yagi et al. (2000)	Cheng et al. (2003, 2005)	Inubushi et al. (2003)	Allen et al. (2003)
CH4	Additive effect (CO ₂ and temperature) over ambient		+164					+258.4 (3 °C) to +402.4 (6 °C)
in cumulative e	Elevated temperature effect		-47					+19 (3 °C) to 209 (6 °C)
% Increase i	Elevated CO ₂ effect	+600	+48.2 to +60	-76.6	+23 to +145	+58 to +65	+38 to +51	+53.2
	Associated increase in water/soil temperatures							
	Temperature elevation over ambient (°C)		4 °C (Air)					3 °C and 6 °C (Air)
	CO ₂ elevation (ppm) over ambient	350	360	350	300	300	200	330
	Soil type			Arredondo fine sandy-loamy siliceous hyperthermicGrossarenicPaleudult			Andosol	Sandy, siliceous, hyperthermicUlticAlaquods
	Facility used	Soil-plan- atmosphere research	Open-top chamber	Temperature gradient greenhouse tunnel	Climatron facility	Climatron facility	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Soil-plant- atmosphere research (SPAR) chambers
	Cultivar	IR72	IR72	Lemont and IR-72	Nipponbare	Nipponbare	Akita Komachi	IR72
	Location	Florida, USA	IRRI, Philippines (14°13' N, 121°15' E)	Florida, USA	Tsukuba, Japan (36°01'N, 140°07'E)	Tsukuba, Japan (36°01'N, 140°07'E)	Shizukuishi, Iwate, Japan (39°40' N, 141°10' E)	Gainesville, Florida,USA
	SI no.	-	7	m	4	Ś	9	٢

Table 3.3 Interactive effect of elevated CO, and elevated temperature exposure on methane emission from wetland rice agriculture

Xu et (2004)	Li et a (2004:	Zheng (2006)	Cheng (2006)	Cheng (2008:	+35.1 to +78.5 Cheng +71.4 (2008)	[2008] [Inubus
+72 to +200	+28.6 to +56.3 (dissolved CH ₄)	80 +	+58	+6.3 (ns)	~ 4.2 °C +3.5 (ns) to +32	+10.9 to +23.8
					10 °C (Air) during night	
200	300	200	300	200	300	200
Light clay-loam	Alluvial soil	Andosol and light clay-loam, respectively	Alluvial soil	Andisols	Grey sand soil	Sandy soil
Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Sunlit, semi- closed growth chambers in stainless steel containers	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Plant growth chamber	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Controlled environment chambers	Plant growth chamber
Japonica 99–15	Nipponbare	Keng	Oryza sativa L., cv. japonica	Akita Komachi	IR72	Dular> IR-72 > IR65598 > Koshihikari
Wuxi, Jiangsu, China (31° 37'N, 120° 28'E)	Tsukuba, lapan (36°01'N, 140°07'E)	Shizukuishi, Wate, Japan (39°40' N, 141° 10' E) & Wuxi, Jiangsu, China (31° 28'E)	Tsukuba, Japan (36°01'N, 140°07'E)	Shizukuishi, Iwate, Japan (39°40' N, 141° E)	Tsukuba, Japan (36°01'N, 140°07'E)	Climatron facility, Shimadzu,

								% Increase i production/e	n cumulative C mission	H_4	
SI					CO ₂ elevation (ppm) over	Temperature elevation over ambient	Associated increase in water/soil	Elevated	Elevated temperature	Additive effect (CO ₂ and temperature)	
no.	Location	Cultivar	Facility used	Soil type	ambient	(°C)	temperatures	CO ₂ effect	effect	over ambient	Source
15	Shizukuishi, Iwate, Japan (39°38' N, 140°57' E)	Akitakomachi	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Andosol	200	2°C (Soil)		+ 26 to +28 (ns)	+44	+80	Tokida et al. (2010, 2013)
16	Gwangju, Korea (35°10'N, 126° 53'E)	Imybyeo	Temperature gradient field chambers	Loam	300	1.7 °C (Air)		+18	+8 (ns)	+29.3	Yun et al. (2012)
17	Jiangsu province- Yangtze River Delta, China (32°35' N, 119° 42'E)	Wuxiangjing 14 (japonica)	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Shajjang-AquicCambosols	200			+15 (ns)			(2012)
18	CRRI, Cuttack, India (20°27'N, 85°56' E)	Naveen	Open-top chamber	Sandy clay loam- AericEndoaquept	156	2 °C (Air)		+24.3		+26.3	Bhattacharyya et al. (2013)
19	Salvaterra de Magos, Portugal (39°2.2015'N, 8°44.257'W)	Ariete	Open-top chamber	Clay loam-Anthrosols	175	3 °C (Air)	2 °C		+13.6 to +84.9 (ns)	+8.5 to +97.4 (ns)	Pereira et al. (2013)
20	Changshu, Jiangsu, China (31°30'N, 120°33'E)	Changyou 5	Free-air carbon dioxide enrichment	Gleyi-StagnicAnthrosol	110	2°C (Air)		+23.7	+86.9	+56.6	Yang et al. (2015)

Table 3.3 (continued)

flow) of a complex methanogenic system in wetland rice ecosystem. The relative abundance of most frequent methanogenic groups, viz. Methanosaetaceae, decreased along with the increasing relative abundance of acetoclastic methanogens (Methanosaetaceae and Methanosarcinaceae) under elevated temperature (Fey and Conrad 2000). However, the potential C availability to methanogens from altered plant metabolism under elevated temperature dominantly governs the change in CH_4 flux from the submerged rice fields, rather than the changing soil bacteria dynamics preferably at panicle formation and grain-filling stages (Yun et al. 2012; Tokida et al. 2013). On the other hand, the excessive increase in air temperature stimulates plant respiration over leaf photosynthesis to a greater extent that reduces tillering, alters plant metabolic processes and increases floral/spikelet sterility at the reproductive phase (viz. booting, flowering), increasing disturbance during the grain-filling stage (Baker et al. 1997a, b; Gaihre et al. 2013). In contrary, elevated temperature-induced negative C balance in rice plants often reduces the potential C availability to methanogens and the net CH_4 emission as the recent photosynthates are the important source of C for methanogenesis in the submerged wetland rice ecosystem (Ziska et al. 1998; Cheng et al. 2008a; Yun et al. 2012). Hence, the relative change in CH_4 emission with elevated temperature regime often depends on the actual temperature range exposure. Under the low ambient temperature, CH_4 emission generally increases. While considering the high temperature range as ambient, the CH_4 emission may decrease, due to a combination of stress to the methanogens as well as the rice plants that act as conduits for CH₄ generated in wetland rice agriculture (Schrope et al. 1999; Gaihre et al. 2013).

Modelling studies predict 20% increase in net CH₄ emissions from rice paddies for +2 °C rise in temperature beyond the optimum temperature range (Li et al. 2004a). Global temperature rise of 3.4 °C unveils the possible increase in global CH_4 emission by ~78% (Shindell et al. 2004). Moreover, a sharp decrease in CH_4 emissions is obvious only when the air temperature goes beyond a certain threshold of 37 °C in laboratory experiment (Yang and Chang 1998; Cheng et al. 2000) and above 34.5 °C in the field soil temperature (Parashar et al. 1993). CH₄ transport capacity of rice plant is directly controlled by root-zone temperature rather than by air temperature. Increase in soil temperature has direct control on plant-root respiration, microbial activities and the steady-state CH₄ production rates in the soil environment, irrespective of air temperature (Fey and Conrad 2000). Therefore, the marginal increase in standing water/soil temperature within the optimum range of mesophile activity is crucial for methane emission from submerged rice paddy fields, and the air temperature rise should facilitate the plant photosynthesis to provide more C to methanogens via rhizodeposition. Otherwise, any increase in rhizosphere temperature may have the least impact on the methanogenesis as well as the CH_4 emissions from rhizosphere environment (Gaihre et al. 2014). A moderate increase in ambient air temperature by <2 °C over the average ambient air temperature (\sim 24.8 °C) during the reproductive stage has negligible impact on the floral sterility and net CH₄ emission from wetland rice fields (Yun et al. 2012). However, more than 3 °C increase in air temperature drastically alters the plant metabolic

processes, thereby reducing the net CH_4 flux from wetland rice agriculture (Ziska et al. 1998; Allen Jr. et al. 2003).

3.4.2 Impact of Atmospheric CO₂ Enrichment

Several mechanisms are proposed to explain the possible increase in the CH_4 emission from the submerged soils under wetland rice agriculture in the elevated CO_2 environment. The process of CO_2 enrichment within the canopy often concentrates CO₂ at Rubisco to enhance the catalytic turnover rate that further promotes the amount of CO₂ fixed per unit Rubisco protein from the enhanced rate of photosynthesis in C₃ rice (Cheng et al. 2006; Cheng et al. 2008a; Caemmerer and Evans 2010). Rice releases photosynthates into the rhizosphere (rhizodeposition), and they follow a different avenue of decomposition in soil. The higher photoassimilation under elevated atmospheric CO₂ increases primary productivity and promotes root growth, so as the belowground C allocation in the form of readily decomposable root-derived organic C substrates to the soil microbes (root exudates or root autolysis products) as well as the CH_4 production activity and the amount of CH₄ entrapped in the rice paddy soil over the entire course of the growing season (Ziska et al. 1998; Inubushi et al. 2003; Allen et al. 2003; Cheng et al. 2006; Lou et al. 2008). The easily enhanced decomposable energy-rich substrate availability may lead to a general increase of labile soil C and N pools (biological N fixation and N mineralization: Cheng et al. 2001) that ensures the fresh supply of C input for the stimulated growth, population and activities of heterotrophs and methanogens enhancing the seasonal CH₄ emission from the surface layer of tropical submerged lowland rice soils (Inubushi et al. 2001; Xu et al. 2004; Bhattacharyya et al. 2013, 2016). Atmospheric CO_2 enrichment hastens the significant population rise of methanogens (both acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic) with subsequent decrease in soil redox potential and increased readily mineralizable C, along with the depressing effect on methanotroph population in laterite and alluvial soils under flooded rice paddy cultivation (Das and Adhya 2012). In contrast, the elevated atmospheric CO_2 level may have least impact on activity of methanogens (Cheng et al. 2000). However, Inubushi et al. (2011) observed the high dependency of CH₄ oxidation on microbial biomass C but no clear trend for elevated CO₂ impact on methanotrophs activity in flooded andosol fields under different rice paddy cultivars. Furthermore, the reduced transpiration from partial stomata closure inhibits leaflevel transpiration in the elevated CO_2 environment. The significant reduction in transpiration loss may result in greater soil moisture availability over a longer time period, which in turn will favour methanogenesis over methanotrophy, preferably after draining out of floodwater from the wetland rice fields (Singh et al. 2010).

Elevated CO_2 intensifies plant N uptake and, modifies N metabolism that amplies the population of ammonifiers, denitrifiers and nitrifiers in rice rhizosphere; thus reduces soil N availability to the methanotrophs. Therefore finally CH_4 oxidation process is inhibited (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013, 2016; Yang et al. 2015). However, the population of methanogen and methanotroph may not always be the only important decisive factors, so as their activity influencing the net CH_4 emissions under elevated CO_2 environment (Inubushi et al. 2003). The stimulatory effect of elevated CO_2 on CH_4 emissions from submerged wetland rice paddies may disappear from restricted plant growth due to limited N availability. Accumulative CH_4 emissions under the long-term elevated CO_2 exposure from the field under temperate rice-wheat sequence depend on periodic N fertilizer addition to the standing crop and the level of leftover residue availability from preceding crop (Inubushi et al. 2003; Zheng et al. 2006). In contrast, climate change factors are estimated to have least/ negligible impact on the net CH_4 efflux from the upland rice ecosystem (van Groenigen et al. 2011).

Obviously, more extensive research experimentations are essentially required to understand the underlying mechanisms responsible for the large variation in the reported elevated CO_2 impact studies on CH_4 emission. In contrast to the reported increasing trend in majority, Schrope et al. (1999) observed a negative impact of elevated CO_2 environment on CH_4 emission from wetland rice. Despite a substantial increase in root dry matter and above-ground dry biomass accumulation, the CH_4 production in the rhizosphere was hindered, possibly due to the improvement of the O_2 supply into below-ground plant parts under enriched CO_2 . The increase in aerobicity resulted in reduced CH_4 emissions from rice rhizosphere.

3.4.3 Interactive Impact of Elevated CO₂ and Air Temperature

A combined rise in atmospheric CO_2 and air temperature is the most expected projection, rather than a sole rise in any of these two factors for our future climate system. The stimulation of CH_4 emission under the combined impact of CO_2 elevation and temperature is conspicuous (Table 3.3). The net impact may be additive or nonadditive (Cheng et al. 2000; Yun et al. 2012; Pereira et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2015). Enhancement of CH_4 flux is often attributed to more C allocation of C to shoot, coarse or fine root biomass and C-rich metabolites, which in turn increases the TOC in root exudates and thus promotes the organic matter decomposition and the final rice grain yield (Roy et al. 2012; Bhattacharyya et al. 2013). Elevated CO₂ combined with elevated temperature also alters the soil N dynamics by stimulating mineralization of labile organic N and decreased mineralization of recalcitrant organic N, thus promoting the net microbial activity in the submerged paddy soils (Chen et al. 2016). The positive response of CH_4 flux under the interactive effect of elevated CO_2 and temperature accounts the significant amplification of acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogen population without affecting the CH_4 oxidation process (Das and Adhya 2012). Increased night temperature by 10 °C throughout the reproductive phase depressed the stimulatory effect of elevated CO₂ on CH₄ emission. High night temperature enhanced plant respiration and decreased C and N allocation to developing grains that failed to fulfill the increased sink demand from the rapid use of photoassimilates. However, such source-sink imbalance rarely contributed to the increase in final grain yield as well as CH_4 production process in rice rhizosphere (Cheng et al. 2008b, 2010).

3.4.4 Manipulative Role of Algal Population to Modify the CH₄ Flux Response Under Elevated CO₂ and Temperature from the Flooded Wetland Rice Agriculture

Enhanced algal growth on the floodwater in the wetland rice paddies promoted the CH_4 oxidation either by increasing O_2 supply in flooded water's surface that inhibited the CH_4 flux (ebullition or diffusion) through the water-air interface (Cheng et al. 2000, Inubushi et al. 2001) or by increasing the O_2 delivery to rhizosphere, resulting in the decrease in plant-mediated CH_4 transport to the atmosphere at early crop growth stages from flooded wetland rice under atmospheric CO_2 enrichment (Schrope et al. 1999). The effect of gradual increase in algal growth exerted less influence on internal CH_4 synthesis, with increased canopy cover and phonological advancement in rice. Therefore, the sole effect of elevated CO_2 on CH_4 oxidation process via increased algal growth is often negligible (Inubushi et al. 2003). However, the algal growth stimulation may dominate over other controlling factors to depress the net CH_4 emission considerably from wetland rice agriculture at early crop growth stages, preferably under the combined exposure of warmer air temperature and elevated atmospheric CO_2 concentration (Pereira et al. 2013).

At present, we are still far from being able to predict future CH_4 emissions, as the majority of impact assessment studies have been conducted under controlled condition and focused on the relative changes in CH_4 emissions in response to elevated CO_2 and warming exposure, rather than paying less attention to the mechanisms behind the net ecosystem response. The magnitude of the relative change of CH_4 emission (%) in the reported literature is drastic for the controlled environment experiments (growth chamber, greenhouses or closed sunlit chambers, OTCs) than open-field enrichment, as these experiments often overestimate the interactive impact of elevated CO_2 and temperature on the plant system (Yun et al. 2012; Bunce 2016).

3.4.5 Impact of Elevated Ozone

Rapid urbanization in the post-industrial revolution era accelerated air pollution and amplified the level of troposphere ozone that became an additional contributing factor to anthropogenic global climate change. Ozone is a short-lived secondary pollutant generated from the oxidation of emitted hydrocarbons. Elevated level of atmospheric ozone has an inexorable impact on rice ecophysiology and associated CH₄ emission dynamics from wetland rice cultivation. The reported literatures from the field-scale experimentation studying the elevated ozone impact on CH₄ emission from wetland rice ecosystem came into the public domain only after 2010. At present, there is still inconclusive evidence due to limited experimental reports on multifactorial elevated O_3 exposure impact on CH₄ emission from submerged wetland rice ecosystem. For ecosystem modelling studies, better scientific understanding of the ecosystem processes demands more elaborative field-level research experimentation on elevated O_3 impact in conjunction to elevated CO_2 and temperature enhancement factor, under diverse agroclimatic condition. In this section, we briefed on the available literatures studying the sole impact of elevated O_3 level on potential CH_4 emission from wetland rice paddies in the recent past.

Elevated ozone increased above-ground C demand with a significant reduction in below-ground C allocations in terms of root biomass, root activity and rhizodeposition across different rice cultivars (Andersen 2003; Emberson et al. 2009). The lower substrate availability reduced dissolved organic C content in soil solution and depressed the methanogenic bacteria population (archaeal communities) as well as inhibited their critical ecological functions for methanogenic activity in submerged rhizosphere environment of rice paddy (Bhatia et al. 2011). The abundance and diversity for the dominant groups of paddy methanogens, viz. aceticlastic Methanosaeta, were adversely affected under elevated O_3 exposure (Feng et al. 2013). Thus, a sharp decline in CH_4 emission from the submerged rice paddy is obvious under the elevated O₃ environment. Consequently, the draining out of stagnated water from submerged rice paddy fields promoted favourable conditions for the rapid growth of methanotrophs during the later crop growth stages under elevated O_3 environment. Thus, elevated O_3 exposure in submerged rice paddy resulted in the net CH₄ uptake (negative CH₄ flux) towards crop maturity (due to enhanced soil aeration) with a significant reduction in cumulative seasonal CH_4 emission (Bhatia et al. 2011, Zheng et al. 2011). Fresh supply of readily decomposable organic C from previous crop leftover often suppressed the depressing effect of short-term elevated O₃ exposure on root exudation and microbial proliferation in rhizosphere environment, without affecting net CH_4 emission from submerged lowland rice fields in the rotational rice-wheat cropping systems (Kou et al. 2015). Therefore, elevated O_3 exposures have partial potential to mitigate the global warming induced by soil carbon loss with decreased CH_4 emission.

3.5 Adaptation and Mitigation Options

For emission of the CH₄, three specific situations are required: (a) substrate, ample source of carbon, i.e. organic matter; (b) aeration status, anaerobic situation; Eh should be less than -200 mV; and (c) microbes, methanogens. Any method, which alter these three situations, may be considered as the adaptations and mitigations strategy to curb CH₄ emission.

(a) Methods dealing with availability of substrate

(i) *Nitrogen availability:* The application of N fertilizers needs major attention to control CH_4 emission in rice production. Several experiments were conducted to examine the effect of N fertilization on CH_4 emissions from paddy fields (Singh et al. 1999; Krüger and Frenzel 2003). As an outcome it was observed that the application of urea-based fertilizers increased CH_4 emission from rice fields. The probable reason was thought as inhibition of CH_4 oxidation and

simultaneously the stimulation of CH₄ production as induced by nitrogenous fertilizers (Schimel 2000). In contrast to such results, reduction in CH₄ emission induced by nitrogenous fertilizers was also reported (Bodelier et al. 2000). When urea and other urea-based nitrogenous fertilizers are applied to the submerged rice soils, it hydrolyses to NH_4^+ . The NH_4^+ ion imposes both positive and negative impacts on CH₄ emission through various means likely, (a) improving aerenchyma conduits through stimulating rice growth and more tiller number and enhancing CH₄ ebullition (increasing CH₄ emission), (b) providing more methanogenic substrates (add more litter, root exudates and root autolysis products) by improving growth and increasing root biomass of rice (increasing CH₄ emission; Inubushi et al. 2003), (c) stimulating the activity of the microbes responsible for decomposition (increasing CH₄ emission, Inubushi et al. 2003), (d) intensifying plant N uptake and thereby reducing the soil N availability and inhibiting the activities of methanotrophs towards the CH₄ oxidation (increasing CH₄ emission, Hütsch 2001, Xu et al. 2004), (e) increasing CH_4 oxidation by supplying more O_2 to the rhizosphere through enlarged aerenchyma conduits (decreasing CH₄ emission) and wider C/N ratio, and (f) hampering the decomposition of plant residues and, therefore, inhibiting CH₄ production as well as intensifying CH₄ consumption by stimulating the activities of methanotrophic bacteria (decreasing CH₄ emission, Cotrufo et al. 1998; Krüger and Frenzel 2003). Based on the balance of CH₄ formation or its oxidation, the increase or decrease of CH₄ emission has taken place.

- (ii) *Cultivar specificity:* Rice varieties affect CH_4 emissions because of two reasons: (1) variation in the aerenchyma tissue which mediates the transportation of CH_4 and O_2 (Aulakh et al. 2000). The aerenchyma of rice paddy acts as a chimney to emit CH_4 . Moreover, the well-developed airspaces in leaf blades, leaf sheath, culm and roots provide an efficient gas exchange between the atmosphere and the anaerobic soil (Neue and Roger 1994) and (2) provide substrates for methanogenic bacteria and methanotrophs through root exudates and/or dead root cells (Kerdchoechuen 2005). Therefore, variation in the cultivar may play a major role in the regulation of CH_4 emissions from rice fields, and this phenomenon has been widely studied (Setyanto et al. 2000; Wassmann et al. 2000b). Gutierrez et al. (2013) found that CH_4 emission differs significantly among cultivars but not between the late- and early-maturing groups. Hence, the selection and breeding of cultivars with lower CH_4 emissions instead of selection of early-maturing cultivars.
- (iii) Land use (tillage/residue management): Conversion of upland to lowland cultivation of rice significantly affects the CH_4 emission through changing availability of electron donors, redox status of soil Fe and activity of methanogens, which ultimately resulted in low CH_4 emissions (Eusufzai et al. 2010). The land-use changes in natural or seminatural ecosystems such as peatlands reverting to forest (Ball et al. 2002) and upland grasslands becoming forest (Menyailo et al. 2008) result in net consumption of CH_4 .

(b) Methods dealing with aeration status

- (i) Water management: Like nutrient management, water management like alternate wetting and drying and midseason drainage is one of the most important factors controlling CH₄ emission from rice paddies (Zou et al. 2005). To reduce the water requirement of rice paddy, the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) has proposed a 'safe alternate wetting and drying (AWD)' technique which may reduce CH₄ emissions by 70% (IRRI 2013). The AWD avoids occurrence of very low redox potential in soil and thus it can suppress CH₄ emissions. This technology involves frequent wetting and drying of soil in such a way so that the water level does not fall below a soil depth of 15. On the other hand, this kind of drainage may contribute greatly to increase N₂O emissions and might prevail over the benefit of reduced CH₄ emission. Safe AWD in combination with straw biochar could be an effective strategy in suppressing overall emissions (Pandey et al. 2014).
- (ii) Addition of Fe/Mn/S containing fertilizers: CH_4 production requires carbon and electron flow to methanogens under strict absence of free oxygen. The main electron acceptors in submerged soils are dissolved oxygen (O₂), NO₃⁻, Fe (III), SO₄²⁻ and CO₂. The end products of reduction in submerged soils are Fe (II) from Fe (III), H₂S from SO₄²⁻ and CH₄ from CO₂. External application or in situ availability of terminal electron acceptors such as Fe/Mn/S containing fertilizers allows iron or manganese or sulphate reducers to successfully compete for substrates (hydrogen or acetate) with methanogens (Sahrawat 2004). The concentrations of H₂ and acetate are depleted to so low levels that CH₄ production is not possible (Hori et al. 1993; Ratering and Conrad 1998). This hinders CH₄ production. Moreover these Fe/Mn/S containing fertilizers also oxidize CH₄ and reduce its emission. For example, addition of single superphosphate (contains sulphur) to flooded rice soils inhibited CH₄ production (Adhya et al. 1997).

(c) Methods dealing with microorganism

(i) *Methanotrophy:* In the nitrification-denitrification and sulphur oxidation-reduction, methanotrophy is one of the coupled reactions of methanogenesis which involves the conversion of methyl group to CO_2 , using either oxygen or other compounds of higher oxidation status as electron acceptors. Methanotrophs are the bacteria which are able to grow using CH₄ and are part of a larger grouping of organisms that can utilize one-carbon (1-C) compounds having no C-C bonds. It is investigated that methanotrophic bacteria use molecular oxygen as the terminal electron acceptor and therefore are obligate aerobes, although there is evidence that certainly, sulphate (SO₄²⁻)-reducing habitats exist, in which anaerobic CH₄ oxidation occurs.

Methanotrophs oxidize CH₄ by first initiating reduction of an oxygen atom to H_2O_2 and transformation of CH_4 to methyl group (CH₃OH) using CH_4 monooxygenases (MMOs) (Krüger et al. 2003). Furthermore, two types of MMO have been isolated from methanotrophs: soluble CH₄ monooxygenase (sMMO) (type I) and particulate CH_4 monooxygenase (pMMO) (type II). Cells containing pMMO have demonstrated higher growth capabilities and higher affinity for CH_4 than sMMO-containing cell (Krüger et al. 2003). It is suspected that copper ions may play a key role in both pMMO regulation and enzyme catalysis, thus limiting pMMO cells to more copper-rich environments than sMMO-producing cells. Methanotrophs (methanophiles) metabolize CH₄ as their only source of carbon and energy. Aerobically or anaerobically, they require single-carbon compounds to survive. Under aerobic conditions, they combine oxygen and CH₄ to form formaldehyde, which is then incorporated into organic compounds via the serine pathway or the ribulose monophosphate (RuMP) pathway. Type I methanotrophs are part of the Gammaproteobacteria which they use in the RuMP pathway to assimilate carbon. On the other hand, type II methanotrophs are part of the Alphaproteobacteria and utilize the serine pathway of carbon assimilation. They also characteristically have a system of internal membranes within which CH_4 oxidation occurs. Methanotrophs occur mostly in soils and are especially common near environments where CH_4 is produced. Their habitats include oceans, mud, marshes, underground environments, soils, rice paddies and landfills. They are of special interest to researchers studying global warming, as they are significant in the global CH_4 budget (Oremland and Culbertson 1992; Holmes et al. 1999).

Methanotrophs, obligatory aerobic autotrophic organisms, which are abundant in oxic sites, standing water, surface soil and rice rhizosphere, oxidize CH_4 to carbon dioxide deriving energy from this reaction. Planktophytes, mainly consisting of microalgae, hold promise as efficient contraptions for harvesting greenhouse gases such as CO_2 , because of their autotrophic mode of nutrition and ability to scavenge pollutants from the environment. In this context, it would be interesting to study the role of cyanobacteria and *Azolla* (a water fern harbouring a cyanobacterium, *Anabaena azollae*, commonly found as floating assemblages in rice paddies) in the CH₄ production-oxidation processes. During photosynthesis oxygen released by cyanobacteria into the standing water can diffuse into the soil and provide aerobic conditions, which is not congenial for methanogenesis. Alternatively, oxygen, released by cyanobacteria, can promote the proliferation of CH₄-oxidizing bacteria (methanotrophs).

Oxygen concentration in rice field with flooded water normally varies between 4 and 6 μ g g⁻¹ (Mandal 1961; Saito and Watanabe 1978), and in the presence of profuse growth of cyanobacteria, concentration of oxygen in the water may reach 10–12 μ g g⁻¹ (Mandal 1961; Lakshmanan et al. 1994). The effect of cyanobacteria in decreasing concentration of CH₄ may be due to enhanced CH₄ oxidation mediated by methanotrophs at high concentration of oxygen produced during their growth. The striking decrease in CH₄ concentration with living cells of *Synechocystis* species under light, but not under dark, would suggest that living cells of the cyanobacterium during photosynthesis under light provided oxygen for the proliferation of

methanotrophs and thereby helped in accelerating the CH_4 oxidation by the methanotrophs.

- (ii) Aerobic methane oxidation: Monooxygenase enzyme is responsible for the initial step in oxidation of CH₄ which requires molecular oxygen. The product of this reaction, methanol, is further successively oxidized via formaldehyde to formate and CO₂. Some of these intermediates may leak or be excreted from cell and perhaps support growth of other bacteria. The use of enzymes known as CH₄ monooxygenases to catalyse the oxidation of CH₄ to methanol is a defining characteristic of methanotrophs. The common metabolic pathway branches off, depending upon the type of methanotrophs, the monooxygenase involved, the metabolism of substrates by methanotrophs, the central role of formaldehyde as an intermediate in catabolism and anabolism and the unique pathways employed for the synthesis of intermediates of central metabolic route. Formaldehyde is usually assimilated further either through RuMP pathway or serine pathway. Methane monooxygenases present in aerobic methanotrophic bacteria exhibits a striking lack of substrate specificity that often results in the fortuitous metabolism of a very large number of compounds including xenobiotic chemicals. Thus catalysing a large number of biotransformations; methanotrophs have attracted the interest of scientists involved in the development of bioremediation technologies and in the use of bacteria containing methane monooxygenases for the production of chemicals with commercial value. Integration of the duck rearing reduces the possibility of CH₄ emission from the wetland rice ecosystem. Frequent activities of ducks often increase dissolved oxygen concentration in the standing water that eventually increases soil Eh value (depressing methanogenesis) and rapidly promotes the activity of methanotrophs in the wetland rice-duck complex ecosystem (Huang et al. 2005).
- (iii) *Inhibitor of methane reduction bacteria:* Dicyandiamide (DCD) inhibits CH_4 production in a flooded alluvial soil due to higher redox status, lower pH, lower Fe^{2+} and readily mineralizable carbon contents as well as the lower methanogenic bacteria population and their activity (Bharati et al. 2004). Thus, the pattern of CH_4 production following repeated addition of DCD might have resulted from enhanced methanogenesis by higher NH_4^+ concentration, due to inhibition of nitrification and DCD degradation from its repeated application and continued inhibition of methanotrophs. In DCD-retreated soils, however, the redox potential was lower than that of control. Soil pH was also high in DCD amended soils. Soil alkalinity further increases CH_4 production in presence of NH_4^+ , being accumulated due to inhibition of nitrification process (Joseph and Prasad 1993).

The amount of acetate-derived methanogenesis can be assessed with methyl fluoride, fluoromethane (CH_3F), a specific inhibitor for aceticlastic methanogenesis when applied in microbial ecology; CH_3F was assumed to be a specific inhibitor for

 CH_4 oxidation and ammonium oxidation (Oremland and Culbertson 1992; Bodelier and Frenzel 1999). While providing direct access to processes, inhibitor experiments may be misleading, if specificity is confined to certain conditions (Oremland and Capone 1988). Indeed, CH_3F turned out to be an efficient inhibitor of methane and ammonium monooxygenases.

Sodium azide inhibited CH_4 production by 75% over that of unamended control. Sodium azide, a potent nitrification inhibitor, is also a respiratory inhibitor and a microbial inhibitor and is known to increase N₂O emission in soils (Aulakh and Rennie 1985). Although ammonium thiosulphate and thiourea stimulated CH_4 production, especially at 40 days of incubation, CH_4 production was observed lower than the unamended control. Nitrogen-containing compounds are known to stimulate CH_4 production in flooded soils (Bollag and Czlonkowski 1973).

3.6 Summary

Despite the large variation in the available literatures, taken together, the trend for the potential increase in accelerated CH_4 emission from the wetland rice paddy is evident under the projected combined increase in atmospheric CO_2 and air temperature by the end of the twenty-first century. Thus, the possible consequences of the rising CO_2 and subsequent warming of our atmosphere may be a reduction in the soil CH_4 sink strength in submerged rice paddy that may act as a positive feedback to the greenhouse effect, thereby exacerbating the global climate change.

Reference

- Achtnich C, Bak F et al (1995) Competition for electron donors among nitrate reducers, ferric iron reducers, sulfate reducers, and methanogens in anoxic paddy soil. Biol Fertil Soils 19:65–72
- Adhya TK, Rath AK et al (1994) Methane emission from flooded rice fields under irrigated conditions. Biol Fertil Soils 18:245–248
- Adhya TK, Pattnaik P et al (1997) Influence of phosphorus application on methane emission and production in flooded paddy soils. Soil Biol Biochem 30:177–181
- Ahmad S, Li C et al (2009) Greenhouse gas emission from direct seeding paddy field under different rice tillage systems in central China. Soil Tillage Res 106:54–61
- Allen LH Jr, Albrecht SL et al (2003) Methane emissions of rice increased by elevated carbon dioxide and temperature. J Environ Qual 32:1978–1991
- Andersen C (2003) Source–sink balance and carbon allocation below ground in plants exposed to ozone. New Phytol 157:213–228
- Aselmann I, Crutzen PJ (1990) Global inventory of wetland distribution and seasonality net primary production and estimated methane emission. In: Bouwman AF (ed) Soils and the Greenhouse Effect. Wiley, Chichester, pp 441–450
- Aulakh MS, Rennie DA (1985) Azide effects upon N₂O emission and transformations of N in soils. Can J Soil Sci 65:205–212
- Aulakh MS, Bodenmender J et al (2000) Methane transport capacity of rice plants. Part II. Variations among different rice cultivars and relationship with morphological characteristics. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:367–375

- Aulakh MS, Wassmann R et al (2001a) Impact of root exudates of different cultivars and plant development stages of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) on methane production in a paddy soil. Plant Soil 230:77–86
- Aulakh MS, Wassmann R et al (2001b) Characterization of root exudates at different growth stages of ten rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. Plant Biol 3:139–148
- Baker JT, Allen LH Jr et al (1997a) Rice responses to drought under carbon dioxide enrichment Growth and yield. Glob Chang Biol 3:119–128
- Baker JT, Allen LH Jr et al (1997b) Rice responses to drought under carbon dioxide enrichment.2. Photosynthesis and evapotranspiration. Glob Chang Biol 3:129–138
- Ball BC, Mctaggart IP et al (2002) Influence of organic ley-arable management and afforestation in sandy loam to clay loam soils on fluxes of N₂O and CH₄ in Scotland. Agric Ecosyst Environ 90:305–317
- Bhaduri D, Mandal A, Chakraborty K, Chatterjee D, Dey R (2017) Interlinked chemical-biological processes in anoxic waterlogged soil-a review. Indian J Agr Sci 87(12):1587–1599
- Bharati K, Mohanty SR et al (2004) Influence of six nitrification inhibitors on methane production in a flooded alluvial soil. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:389–394
- Bhatia A, Ghosh A et al (2011) Effect of elevated tropospheric ozone on methane and nitrous oxide emission from rice soil in north India. Agric Ecosyst Environ 144:21–28
- Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS et al (2013) Impact of elevated CO₂ and temperature on soil C and N dynamics in relation to CH₄ and N₂O emissions from tropical flooded rice (*Oryzasativa* L.). Sci Total Environ 461–462:601–611
- Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS et al (2016) Elucidation of rice rhizospheremetagenome in relation to methane and nitrogen metabolism under elevated carbon dioxide and temperature using whole genome metagenomic approach. Sci Total Environ 542(A,15):886–898
- Blotevogel KH, Fischer U et al (1985) *Methanobacteriumthermoalcapiphilum* sp. nov. A new moderately alkaliphilic and thermophilic autotrophic methanogen. Arch Microbiol 142:211–217
- Bodelier PLE, Frenzel P (1999) Contribution of methanotrophic and nitrifying bacteria to CH₄ and NH₄⁺ oxidation in the rice rhizosphere using new methods for discrimination. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:1826–1833
- Bodelier PLE, Hahn AP et al (2000) Effects of ammonium-based fertilisation on microbial processes involved in methane emission from soils planted with rice. Biogeochemistry 51:225–257
- Bollag JM, Czlonkowski ST (1973) Inhibition of methane formation in soil by various nitrogen containing compounds. Soil Biol Biochem 5:673–678
- Bosse U, Frenzal P (1998) Methane emissions from rice microcosms: the balance of production, accumulation and oxidation. Biogeochemistry 41:199–214
- Bosse U, Frenzel P (1997) Activity and distribution of methane-oxidizing bacteria in flooded rice soil microcosms and in rice plants (*Oryzasativa*). Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1199–1207
- Bousquet P, Ciais P et al (2006) Contribution of anthropogenic and natural sources to atmospheric methane variability. Nature 443:439–443
- Bunce JA (2016) Responses of soybeans and wheat to elevated CO₂ in free-air and open top chamber systems. Field Crop Res 186:78–85
- Butterbach-Bahl K, Papen H et al (1997) Impact of gas transport through rice cultivars on methane emission from rice paddy fields. Plant Cell Environ 20:1175–1183
- Caemmerer S, Evans JR (2010) Enhancing C₃ Photosynthesis. Plant Physiol 154:589-592
- Carter MS, Ambus P et al (2011) Effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂, prolonged summer drought and temperature increase on N_2O and CH_4 fluxes in a temperate heath land. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1660–1670
- Chatterjee D, Datta SC, Manjaiah KM (2013) Clay carbon pools and their relationship with shortrange order minerals: avenues to mitigate climate change? Curr Sci 25:1404–1410
- Chatterjee D, Saha S (2015) Climate change and agriculture: a multidimensional perspective. In: Chatterjee D, Sangma CBK, Kikon ZJ, Ray SK, Chowdhury P, Bordoloi LJ, Deka BC (eds)

Resource conservation technologies in the context of climate change. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region/Nagaland Centre, Jharnapani/Medziphema, pp 1–8

- Chatterjee D, Mohanty S, Guru PK, Swain CK, Tripathi R, Shahid M, Kumar U, Kumar A, Bhattacharyya P, Gautam P, Lal B (2018a) Comparative assessment of urea briquette applicators on greenhouse gas emission, nitrogen loss and soil enzymatic activities in tropical lowland rice. Agric Ecosyst Environ 252:178–190
- Chatterjee D, Tripathi R, Chatterjee S, Debnath M, Shahid M, Bhattacharyya P, Swain CK, Tripathy R, Bhattacharya BK, Nayak AK (2018b) Characterization of land surface energy fluxes in a tropical lowland rice paddy. Theor Appl Climatol 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-018-2472-y
- Chen Z, Debo L et al (1993) Features of CH₄ emission from rice paddy fields in Beijing and Nanjing. China Chemosphere 26(1–4):239–246
- Chen Z, Zhang J et al (2016) Enhanced gross nitrogen transformation rates and nitrogen supply in paddy field under elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide and temperature. Soil Biol Biochem 94:80–87
- Cheng W, Chander K et al (2000) Effect of elevated CO₂ and temperature on methane production and emission from submerged soil microcosms. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:339–347
- Cheng W, Inubushi K et al (2001) Effects of elevated carbon dioxide concentration on biological nitrogen fixation, nitrogen mineralization and carbon decomposition in submerged rice soil. Biol Fertil Soils 34:7–13
- Cheng W, Yagi K et al. (2003) Effects of elevated CO_2 on CH_4 and N_2O emissions from submerged rice soil: a pot experiment. Annual Meetings, Denver, Colorado, USA, CD-ROM, 2–6 November 2003
- Cheng W, Yagi K et al (2005) Influence of elevated concentrations of atmospheric CO_2 on CH_4 and CO_2 entrapped in rice-paddy soil. Chem Geol 218:15–24
- Cheng W, Yagi K et al (2006) Effects of elevated atmospheric CO_2 concentrations on CH_4 and N_2O emission from rice soil: an experiment in controlled-environment chambers. Biogeochem 77:351–373
- Cheng W, Inubushi K et al (2008a) Effect of elevated CO_2 on soil bubble and CH_4 emission from a rice paddy: a test by ¹³C pulse-labeling under free-air CO_2 enrichment. Geomicrobiol J 25:396–403
- Cheng W, Sakai H et al (2008b) Increased night temperature reduces the stimulatory effect of elevated carbon dioxide concentration on methane emission from rice paddy soil. Glob Chang Biol 14:644–656
- Cheng W, Sakai H et al (2010) Combined effects of elevated [CO₂] and high night temperature on carbon assimilation, nitrogen absorption, and the allocations of C and N by rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Agric For Meteorol 150(9):1174–1181
- Conrad R (1989) Control of methane production in terrestrial ecosystems. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (eds) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. Wiley, Chichester, pp 39–58
- Conrad R (2007) Microbial ecology of methanogens and methanotrophs. Adv Agron 96:1-63
- Cotrufo MF, Briones MJI et al (1998) Elevated CO₂ affects field decomposition rate and palatability of tree leaf litter: importance of changes in substrate quality. Soil Biol Biochem 30:1565–1571
- Dan J, Krüger M et al (2001) Effect of a late season urea fertilization on methane emission from a rice field in Italy. Agric Ecosyst Environ 83:191–199
- Das S, Adhya TK (2012) Dynamics of methanogenesis and methanotrophy in tropical paddy soils as influenced by elevated CO₂ and temperature interaction. Soil Biol Biochem 47:36–45
- Di Marco AA, Bobik TA et al (1990) Unusual coenzymes of methanogenesis. Annu Rev Biochem 59:355–394
- Dlugokencky E (2001) Carbon cycle green- house gases, global average atmospheric methane mixing ratios. NOAA CMDL cooperative air sampling network. www.cmdl.noaa.gov/ccg/ figures/ch4trend.global.gifS
- Dubey SK (2003) Spatio-kinetic variation of methane oxidizing bacteria in paddy soil at mid-tillering: effect of N-fertilizers. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 65:53–59

- Dunfield P, Knowles R et al (1993) Methane production and consumption in temperate and subarctic peat soils: response to temperature and pH. Soil Biol Biochem 25(3):321–326
- Emberson LD, Bueker P et al (2009) A comparison of North American and Asian exposureresponse data for ozone effects on crop yields. Atmos Environ 43:1945–1953
- Eusufzai MK, Tokida T et al (2010) Methane emission from rice fields as affected by land use change. Agric Ecosyst Environ 139:742–748
- Fang CL, Dan-Na Z et al (2012) Effects of tillage and nitrogen fertilizers on CH₄ and CO₂ emissions and soil organic carbon in paddy fields of central China. PLoS One 7(5):e34642
- FAOSTAT Emissions Database (2013) http://faostat.fao.org/ Accessed 12 Jan 2016
- Feng Y, Lin X et al (2013) Elevated ground-level O₃ negatively influences paddy methanogenic archaeal community. Sci Rep 3(3193):1–9
- Ferry JG (1992) Biochemistry of methanogenesis. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 27:473-503
- Fey F, Conrad R (2000) Effect of temperature on carbon and electron flow and on the Archaeal community in Methanogenic rice field soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(11):4790–4797
- Fey F, Conrad R (2003) Effect of temperature on the rate limiting step in the methanogenic degradation pathway in rice field soil. Soil Biol Biochem 35:1–8
- Gaihre YK, Wassmann R et al (2013) Impact of elevated temperatures on greenhouse gas emissions in rice systems: interaction with straw incorporation studied in a growth chamber experiment. Plant Soil 373:857–875
- Gaihre YK, Wassmann R et al (2014) Seasonal assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from irrigated lowland rice fields under infrared warming. Agric Ecosyst Environ 184:88–100
- Gerard G, Chanton J (1993) Quantification of methane oxidation in the rhizosphere of emergent aquatic macrophytes: defining upper limits. Biogeochemistry 23:79–97
- Green SM (2013) Ebullition of methane from rice paddies: the importance of furthering understanding. Plant Soil 370:31–34
- Gutierrez J, Kim SY et al (2013) Effect of rice cultivar on CH₄ emissions and productivity in Korean paddy soil. Field Crop Res 146:16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2013.03.003
- Gutierreza J, Kim SY et al (2014) Effect of rice cultivar on CH₄ emissions and productivity in Korean paddy soil. Field Crop Res 146:16–24
- Hanaki M, Toyoaki I et al (2002) Effect of no-tillage rice cultivation on methane emission in three paddy fields of different soil types with rice straw application. Jpn Soc Soil Sci Plan Nutr 73:135–143
- Holmes AJ, Roslev P et al (1999) Characterization of methanotrophic bacterial populations in soils showing atmospheric methane uptake. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(8):3312–3318 PMC 91497. PMID 10427012
- Holzapfel-Pschorn A, Seiler W (1986) Methane emission during a cultivation period from an Italian rice paddy. J Geophy Res 91:11803–11814
- Hori K, Inubushi K et al (1993) Competition for hydrogen between methane formation and sulfate reduction in a paddy soil. Jpn Soc Soil Sci Plan Nutr 64:363–367
- Hou X, Chen GX et al (1998) Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from a rice field in relation to soil redox and microbiological processes. Soil Sci Am J 64(6):2180–2186
- Huang Y, Wang H et al (2005) Characteristics of methane emission from wetland rice–duck complex ecosystem. Agric Ecosyst Environ 105:181–193
- Hütsch BW (2001) Methane oxidation in non-flooded soils as affected by crop production. Eur J Agron 14:237–260
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (1996) Climate change 1995; The science of climate change. Camhridge University Press, Camhridge, UK, p 572
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2000) Good practice guidance and uncertainty management in national greenhouse gas inventories. In: Penman J et al. (eds.), IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Technical Support Unit, Hayama
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2001) Climate Change 2001: synthesis report. A Contribution of Working Groups I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007) Climate Change 2007: the physical science basis, contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- International Rice Research Institute (2013) Smart water technique for rice. Available at http://eiard. org/media/uploads/File/Case%20studies/2013_SDC%20funded/IRRI%20-% 20Smart% 20water%20technique%20for%20rice.pdf
- Inubushi K, Muramatsu Y et al (1992) Influence of percolation on methane emission from flooded paddy soil. Jpn Soc Soil Sci Plan Nutr 63:184–189
- Inubushi K, Hoque MM et al (2001) Effect of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) on microbial biomass in paddy field soil. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 47:737–745
- Inubushi K, Cheng W et al (2003) Effects of free-air CO_2 enrichment (FACE) on CH_4 emission from a rice paddy field. Glob Chang Biol 9:1458–1464
- Inubushi K, Cheng W et al (2011) Microbial biomass carbon and methane oxidation influenced by rice cultivars and elevated CO₂ in a Japanese paddy soil. Eur J Soil Sci 62:69–73
- Jain MC, Kumar S et al (2000) Methane emissions from irrigated rice fields in northern India. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58(1–3):75–83
- Johnson-Beebout SE, Angeles OR et al (2009) Simultaneous minimization of nitrous oxide and methane emission from rice paddy soils is improbable due to redox potential changes with depth in a greenhouse experiment without plants. Geoderma 149:45–53
- Joseph PA, Prasad R (1993) The effect of dicyandiamide and neem cake on the nitrification of ureaderived ammonium under field conditions. Biol Fertil Soils 15:149–152
- Kamal S, Varma A (2008) Peatland microbiology. In: Dion P, Nautical CS (eds) Soil biology Microbiology of extreme soils. Springer, Berlin, pp 177–203
- Kang G, Cain Z et al (2002) Importance of water regime during the non-rice growing period in winter in regional variation of CH₄ emissions from rice fields during following rice growing period in China. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 64(1–2):95–100
- Kerdchoechuen O (2005) Methane emission in four rice varieties as related to sugars and organic acids of roots and root exudates and biomass yield. Agric Ecosyst Environ 108:155–163
- Khalil MAK, Butenhoff CL (2008) Spatial variability of methane emissions from rice fields and implications for experimental design. J Geophys Res 113:G00A09
- Khalil MAK, Rasmussen RA (1990) Atmospheric methane: recent global trends. Environ Sci Technol 24:549–553
- Khalil MAK, Shearer MJ (1993) Atmospheric methane: sources, sinks and role in global change. Chemosphere 26:201–217
- Kimura M, Morasses J et al (2004) Carbon cycling in rice field ecosystems in the context of input, decomposition and translocation of organic materials and the fates of their end products (CO₂ and CH₄). Soil Biol Biochem 36:1399–1416
- Ko JY, Kang HW (2000) The effects of cultural practices on methane emission from rice fields. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:311–314
- Komiya S, Osorio K et al (2015) Contribution of ebullition to methane and carbon dioxide emission from water between plant rows in a tropical rice paddy field. Int Sch Res Not 2015:1. https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/623901
- Kou TJ, Cheng XH et al (2015) The influence of ozone pollution on CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O emissions from a Chinese subtropical rice–wheat rotation system under free-air O₃ exposure. Agric Ecosyst Environ 204:72–81
- Krüger M, Frunze P (2003) Effects of N-fertilization on CH₄ oxidation and production, and consequences for CH₄ emissions from microcosms and rice fields. Glob Chang Biol 9:773–784
- Krüger M, Eller G et al (2002) Seasonal variation in pathways of CH₄ production and in CH₄ oxidation in rice fields determined by stable carbon isotopes and specific inhibitors. Glob Chang Biol 8:265–280
- Krüger M, Meyerdierks A et al (2003) A conspicuous nickel protein in microbial mats that oxidize methane anaerobically. Nature 426(6968):878–881

- Lakshmanan A, Raj SA et al (1994) Biofertilisers enhance dissolved oxygen content in water. Crop Res (Hisar) 8:283–286
- Lampe K (1995) Rice research: food for 4 billion people. Geo J 35:253-261
- Li C, Mosier A, Wassmann R et al (2004a) Modeling greenhouse gas emissions from rice-based production systems: Sensitivity and up scaling. Glob Biogeochem Cy 18:GB1043
- Li C, Mosier A, Wassmann R et al (2004b) Modeling greenhouse gas emissions from rice-based production systems: sensitivity and up scaling. Glob Biogeochem Cy 18:GB1043
- Li D, Liu M, Cheng Y et al (2011) Methane emissions from double-rice cropping system under conventional and no tillage in southeast China. Soil Tillage Res 113:77–81
- Lindau CW, Bollich PK et al (1995) Effect of rice variety on methane emissions from Louisiana rice. Agric Ecosyst Environ 54:109–114
- Lou Y, Inubushi K, Mizuno T et al (2008) CH₄ emission with differences in atmospheric CO₂ enrichment and rice cultivars in a Japanese paddy soil. Glob Chang Biol 14:2678–2687
- Ma J, Xu H, Yagi K et al (2008) Methane emission from paddy soils as affected by wheat straw returning mode. Plant Soil 313:167–174
- Mandal LN (1961) Transformation of iron and manganese in waterlogged soils. J Appl Microbiol 73:286–289
- Masscheleyn PH, DeLaune RD et al (1993) Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from laboratory measurements of rice soil suspension: Effect of soil oxidation-reduction status. Chemosphere 26 (1–4):251–260
- Menyailo VO, Hungate AB et al (2008) Changing land use reduces soil CH₄ uptake by altering biomass and activity but not composition of high-affinity methanotrophs. Glob Chang Biol 14:2405–2419
- Minami K, Neue HU (1994) Rice paddies as a methane source. Clim Chang 27:13-26
- Mitra S (1999) Effect of rice cultivars on methane emission. Agric Ecosyst Environ 73(3):177-183
- Mohanty SR, Bodelier PL et al (2007) Effect of temperature on composition of the methanotrophic community in rice field and forest soil. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 62:24–31
- Neue H (1993) Methane emission from rice fields. Bio Sci 43(7):466-473
- Neue H, Roger PA (1994) Potential of methane emission in major rice ecologies. In: Zepp RG (ed) Climate biosphere interaction: Biogenic emissions and environmental effects of climate change. Wiley, New York, pp 65–93
- Neue R, Wassmann RS et al (1996) Factors affecting methane emission from rice fields. Atmos Environ 30(10–11):1751–1754
- Oremland RS, Capone DG (1988) Use of 'specific' inhibitors in biogeochemistry and microbial ecology. Adv Microb Ecol 10:285–383
- Oremland RS, Culbertson CW (1992) Evaluation of methyl fluoride and dimethyl ether as inhibitors for aerobic methane oxidation. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:2983–2992
- Pandey A, Mai VT et al (2014) Organic matter and water management strategies to reduce methane and nitrous oxide emissions from rice paddies in Vietnam. Agric Ecosyst Environ 196:137–146
- Parashar DC, Gupta PK et al (1993) Effect of soil temperature on methane emission from paddy fields. Chemosphere 26:247–250
- Pathak H, Prasad S et al (2003) Methane emission from rice–wheat cropping system in the Indo-Gangetic plain in relation to irrigation, farmyard manure and dicyandiamide application. Agric Ecosyst Environ 97(1–3):309–316
- Pathak H, Jain N, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Chatterjee D (2016) Improved nitrogen management: a key to climate change adaptation and mitigation. Indian J Fertil 12(11):151–162
- Pereira J, Figueiredo N et al (2013) Effects of elevated temperature and atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration on the emissions of methane and nitrous oxide from Portuguese flooded rice fields. Atmos Environ 80:464–471
- Ponnamperuma FN (1972) The chemistry of submerged soils. Adv Agron 24:29-96
- Pramanik P, Kim PJ (2014) Evaluating changes in cellulolytic bacterial population to explain methane emissions from air-dried and composted manure treated rice paddy soils. Sci Total Environ 470–471:1307–1312

- Prather M, Derwent R et al (1995) Other trace gases and atmospheric chemistry. In: Houghton JT, MeiraFilho LG et al (eds) Climate Change 1994: radiative forcing of climate change and an evaluation of the IPCC IS92 emission scenarios. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 73–126
- Ratering S, Conrad R (1998) Effects of short-term drainage and aeration on the production of methane in submerged rice soil. Glob Chang Biol 4:397–407
- Rother JA, Whitton BA (1988) Ecology of deepwater rice-fields in Bangladesh 5.Mineral composition of the rice plant and other aquatic macrophytes. Hydrobiologia 69(1):57–67
- Roy KS, Bhattacharyya P et al (2012) Combined effect of elevated CO₂ and temperature on dry matter production, net assimilation rate, C and N allocations in tropical rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Field Crop Res 139:71–79
- Ruddiman WF, Thomson JS (2001) The case for human causes of increased atmospheric CH₄ over the last 5000 years. Quat Sci Rev 20:1769–1777
- Sahrawat KL (2004) Terminal electron acceptors for controlling methane emissions from submerged rice soils. Commun Soil Sci Plan 35(9–10):1401–1413
- Saito M, Watanabe I (1978) Organic matter production in rice field floodwater. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 24:427–440
- Sass RL, Fisher FM et al (1991) Methane emission from rice fields as influenced by solar radiation, temperature, and straw incorporation. Glob Biogeochem Cy 5:335–350
- Satpathy SN, Mishra S et al (1998) Cultivar variation in methane efflux from tropical rice. Plant Soil 202:223–229
- Schimel J (2000) Rice, microbes and methane. Nature 403:376-377
- Schrope MK, Chanton JP et al (1999) Effect of CO₂ enrichment and elevated temperature on methane emissions from rice, *Oryza sativa*. Glob Chang Biol 5:587–599
- Sebacher DI, Harriss RC et al (1983) Methane flux across the air-water interface: air velocity effects. Tellus 35E:103–109
- Sebacher DJ, Harriss KB et al (1986) Atmospheric methane sources: Alaskan tundra bogs, an alpine fen, and a subarctic boreal march. Tellus 38B:1–10
- Setyanto P, Makarim AK et al (2000) Crop management affecting methane emissions from irrigated and rain-fed rice in Central Java (Indonesia). Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:85–93
- Singh S, Singh JS et al (1999) Methane flux from irrigated rice fields in relation to crop growth and N-fertilization. Soil Biol Biochem 31:1219–1228
- Singh BK, Bardgett RD et al (2010) Microorganisms and climate change: terrestrial feedbacks and mitigation options. Nat Rev Microbiol 8:779–790
- Smith P, Goulding KW et al (2001) Enhancing the carbon sink in European agricultural soils: including trace gas fluxes in estimates of carbon mitigation potential. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 60:237–252
- Smith KE, Runion GB et al (2010) Effects of elevated CO₂ and agricultural management on flux of greenhouse gases from soil. Soil Sci 175:349–356
- Suryavanshi P, Singh YV et al (2012) Pattern of methane emission and water productivity under different methods of rice crop establishment. Paddy Water Environ 11(1–4):321–329
- Swain CK, Bhattacharyya P, Nayak AK, Singh NR, Chatterjee D, Dash PK, Neogi S, Pathak H (2018a) Temporal variation of energy fluxes during dry season in tropical lowland rice. MAPAN-Journal of Metrology Society of India. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12647-018-0260-x
- Swain CK, Nayak AK, Bhattacharyya P, Chatterjee D, Chatterjee S, Tripathi R, Singh NR, Dhal B (2018b) Greenhouse gas emissions and energy exchange in wet and dry season rice: eddy covariance-based approach. Environ Monit Assess 190(7):423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-018-6805-1
- Tang H, Liu G, Zhu J et al (2014) Effects of elevated ozone concentration on CH_4 and N_2O emission from paddy soil under fully open-air field conditions. Glob Chang Biol 21 (4):1727–1736
- Thangarajan R, Bolan NS et al (2013) Role of organic amendment application on greenhouse gas emission from soil. Sci Total Environ 465:72–96

- Thauer RK, Kaster AK et al (2008) Methanogenic archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:579–591
- Tokida T, Fumoto T et al (2010) Effects of free-air CO_2 enrichment (FACE) and soil warming on CH_4 emission from a rice paddy field: impact assessment and stoichiometric evaluation. Biogeosci Discuss 7(2):1863–1903
- Tokida T, Cheng W et al (2013) The contribution of entrapped gas bubbles to the soil methane pool and their role in methane emission from rice paddy soil in free-air [CO₂] enrichment and soil warming experiments. Plant Soil 364:131–143
- Towprayoon S, Smakgahn K et al (2005) Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from drained irrigated rice fields. Chemosphere 59:1547–1556
- Ussiri DAN, Lal R (2009) Long term tillage effects on soil carbon storage and CO₂ emissions in continuous corn cropping systems from an alfisol in Ohio. Soil Tillage Res 104:39–47
- vanGroenigen KJ, Osenberg CW et al (2011) Increased soil emissions of potent greenhouse gases under increased atmospheric CO₂. Nature 475:214–216
- Wang ZP, DeLaune RD et al (1993) Soil redox and pH effects on methane production in a flooded rice field. Soil Sci Am J 57(2):382–385
- Wassmann R, Neue HU et al (2000a) Characterization of methane emissions from rice fields in Asia. I. Comparison among field sites in five countries. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:1–12
- Wassmann R, Neue HU et al (2000b) Characterization of methane emissions from rice fields in Asia. I. Differences among irrigated, rainfed, and deepwater rice. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:13–22
- Xie B, Zhou Z et al (2012) Influences of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE), nitrogen fertilizer and crop residue incorporation on CH₄ emissions from irrigated rice fields. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 93:373–385
- Xu Z, Zheng X et al (2004) Effects of elevated CO₂ and N fertilization on CH₄ emissions from paddy rice fields. Glob Biogeochem Cy 18:GB3009
- Yagi K, Minami K et al (1998) Effects of water percolation on CH₄ emission from rice paddies: a lysimeter experiment. Plant Soil 198:193–200
- Yan XY, Akiyama H et al (2009) Global estimations of the inventory and mitigation potential of methane emissions from rice cultivation conducted using the 2006 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Guidelines. Glob Biogeochem Cy 23:GB2002
- Yang SS, Chang HL (1998) Effect of environmental conditions on methane production and emission from paddy soil. Agric Ecosyst Environ 69:69–80
- Yang B, Chen Z et al (2015) Effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration and temperature on the soil profile methane distribution and diffusion in rice–wheat rotation system. J Environ Sci 32(1):62–71
- Yun S-I, Kanga B-M et al (2012) Further understanding CH₄ emissions from a flooded rice field exposed to experimental warming with elevated CO₂. Agric For Meteorol 154–155:75–83
- Zeikus JG (1977) The biology of methanogenic bacteria. Am Soc Microbiol, Bacteriol Rev 41:514–541
- Zheng XH, Zhou ZX et al (2006) Nitrogen-regulated effects of free-air CO₂ enrichment on methane emissions from paddy rice fields. Glob Chang Biol 12(9):1717–1732
- Zheng FX, Wang XK et al (2011) Effects of elevated ozone concentration on methane emission from a rice paddy in Yangtze River Delta, China. Glob Chang Biol 17:898–910
- Ziska LH, Moya TB et al (1998) Long-term growth at elevated carbon dioxide stimulates methane emission in tropical paddy rice. Glob Chang Biol 4:657–665
- Zou J, Huang Y et al (2005) A 3-year field measurement of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from rice paddies in China: effects of water regime, crop residue, and fertilizer application. Glob Biogeochem Cy 19:GB2021. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002401



4

Response of Soil Properties and Soil Microbial Communities to the Projected Climate Change

Dibyendu Chatterjee and Saurav Saha

Abstract

With the advancement of human civilization, anthropogenic emission of greenhouse gases induces climate change. Science has made significant development in evaluating the direct and indirect impacts of climate change on the most important natural resource, the soil. The variable magnitude of emitted GHG fluxes between the soil and the atmosphere is primarily sourced from soil microbial activity that is mostly regulated by the existing soil environment. Certain soil properties, fertilizer nutrient management, and water management practices influence the magnitude of soil GHG fluxes. This chapter focuses on the impact of changing climatic variables on the dynamics of carbon and other major nutrients and micronutrients and deals with the effect of climate change on the processes that alter their cycling and availability. The changing environmental variables will most likely impact on nutrient transformation in soil and also alter its plant availability dynamics. The nutrients like C and N are controlled by biological cycles and may show a different reaction to the changing climatic variables than the elements with cycles controlled both by geological and biological processes, such as P, S, and K, or elements with predominantly geologically controlled cycles, such as K, Ca, Mg, S, or micronutrients. In this chapter, we also review how the soil microbial community and the extracellular enzymes are affected by alteration of the climate. The diversity and composition of the aboveground plant community influences the soil microbial community through the supply, timing, and composition of residues and exudates. There are many reports showing

ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Nagaland Centre, Medziphema, Nagaland, India

S. Saha

D. Chatterjee (🖂)

Present address: ICAR - National Rice Research Institute, Cuttack, Odisha, India

Department of Agricultural Physics, ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Mizoram Centre, Kolasib, Mizoram, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_4

evidence that environmental modifications (increase in temperature, elevated carbon dioxide, drought, excess moisture, etc.) significantly impact the abundance, diversity, and activity of soil biota. Besides, we briefly focus on how greenhouse gas emissions are influenced by different soil characteristics. We have highlighted the global carbon pools and soil carbon pools. Actually, soil organic carbon (SOC) pool is 20.99 Pg up to 30 cm depth and 63.19 Pg up to 150 cm depth of soils in India, and the highest SOC pool was observed in aridisols followed by inceptisols and alfisols. Understanding the characteristics of these pools helps to apprehend the global climate change more clearly. Even with the paucity in availability of literature, we have also discussed the effect of environmental modifications/change on soil physical properties. With the current knowledge regarding climate change, the adaptation and mitigation of the climate change are also addressed.

Keywords

Carbon pools · Climate change · Climatic variables · Greenhouse gas · Soil biodiversity · Soil enzymes · Soil properties

4.1 Introduction

In the present century, accelerated anthropogenic emission is accountable for the global climate change. The climate change affects the Earth's physical, biological, and ecological systems and becomes a major environmental concern. Due to rapid urbanization and industrialization in the post-industrial revolution era, emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and ozone (O₃) increased at an alarming rate into our atmosphere with ever-increasing world population (Wang et al. 1976; Chatterjee and Saha 2015). These increases are attributed mainly to extensive fossil fuel usage, land-use change, and intensive agriculture. Ammonia does not impose any direct effect on global warming. However, about 10% of atmospheric ammonia is oxidized to NO and NOx, which play a catalytic role in several photochemical reactions in which O_3 , CH₄, CO, and OH are involved. Tropospheric O₃ is mostly produced by lightcatalyzed reactions involving nitric oxide (NO) and organic compounds (e.g., isoprene, monoterpenes) emitted by vegetation, further contributing to atmospheric warming (García-Marco et al. 2014). Non-methane hydrocarbons are also oxidized by tropospheric O_3 to CO in the atmosphere that subsequently converted into CO_2 . By far, three major GHGs, viz., CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O, are coming from soil and agriculture-related sources. Due to their relatively long atmospheric residence times, CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O have important effects on the radiative balance. Despite very low concentration of CH_4 and N_2O , they are estimated to have a disproportionately larger effect than atmospheric CO_2 in the radiative forcing because of their global warming potential (Table 4.1).

In this section, we will confine our discussion for these three major GHGs. Agricultural GHG fluxes are complex and heterogeneous, and historically,

Greenhouse gases	Residence time (yr)	Radiative absorption potential*
Carbon dioxide	100	1
Methane	12	23
Nitrous oxide	114	298
Ozone	0.1–0.3	2000
Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs)	65–110	> 10,000

 Table 4.1
 Residence time, radiative absorption potential of different GHGs in atmosphere

*CO2 as reference

Table 4.2 Relative	Greenhouse gases	% Contribution
GHGs (%) to the	Energy-related carbon dioxide	81.3
anthropogenic warming	Methane	10.5
0	Nitrous oxide	4.3
	Carbon dioxide from other sources	1.5
	Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs)	2.5

agricultural soils have been a major source of large amounts of C and N to the atmosphere. To account their warming potential, the non-CO₂ emissions are always expressed in CO₂ equivalents (CO₂-eq). Agriculture is a net source of GHG contributing about 10–12% (5.1–6.1 Pg CO₂-eq year⁻¹) of total GHG emissions worldwide. These emissions are mostly in the form of methane (CH₄) (up to 3.3 Pg CO₂-eq year⁻¹), nitrous oxide (N₂O) (up to 2.8 Pg CO₂-eq year⁻¹), and carbon dioxide (CO₂) (IPCC 2007a, b). Nitrous oxide is produced and emitted into the atmosphere by nitrification, incomplete denitrification, nitrifier denitrification, and/or fungal denitrification, as well as during reduction of nitrate (NO₃⁻) to ammonium (NH₄⁺) (Kool et al. 2010). Methane is formed by methanogenic microorganisms in anaerobic microsites and consumed by soil methanotrophs, especially in aerobic microsites (García-Marco et al. 2014). The relative contribution of different GHGs to the anthropogenic warming to the Earth's atmosphere is listed in Table 4.2 (EIA 2008).

Being the major contributor to anthropogenic warming, about 24% rise in atmospheric CO₂ since the industrial revolution took place at 2.04 ppmv in the last decade compared to 0.84 ppmv during the 1960s (Saha et al. 2015). Among the most important GHGs, CH₄ ranks next to CO₂. The atmospheric CH₄ concentration also increased to 1.78 ppmv from its preindustrial concentration of 0.7 ppmv with a growing rate of 3% per year against 1.2% in the late 1970s (Pathak et al. 2003). Currently, the atmospheric concentration of N₂O is increasing at 0.8 ppbv per year (WMO 2011). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fourth Assessment Report (AR4), issued in February 2007, states that "most of the observed increase in globally averaged temperatures since the mid-20th century is very likely due to the observed increase, they will trap more outgoing long-wave radiation from the Earth's surface in the lower atmosphere. Thus, the excess trapped heat is expected to warm the oceans over several decades and that will in turn lead to a long-term change in our climate system. The magnitude of rise in Earth's ambient air

	Temperature change (in °C in 2090–2099 as compared to 1980–1999)		
IPCC scenarios ^a	Best estimate	Likely range	
A1T (600 ppm)	+2.4	1.4–3.8	
A1B (800 ppm)	+2.8	1.7–4.4	
A2 (1250 ppm)	+3.4	2.0–5.4	
A1F1 (1550 ppm)	+4.0	2.4-6.4	

Table 4.3 Projected global average surface warming at the end of the twenty-first century

^aProjected atmospheric CO₂ concentration in parenthesis IPCC (2007a, b)

temperature due to this human-induced emission of heat-trapping gases into the atmosphere was variable at both spatial and temporal scale. Hulme and Jenkins (1998) reported about 0.6 °C increase in air temperature over the past 100 years. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) reported a linear increase in global surface temperature between 1906 and 2005 at the rate of 0.74 °C (range 0.56–0.92 °C), with a more rapid warming trend over the past 50 years. According to future projections generated by the current model simulations under variable levels of GHG emission scenarios, a substantial warming of our atmosphere (between 2 and 4 °C) may occur that is expected to induce many unexpected changes in the behavior of our global climate system during the twenty-first century in a greater magnitude than those observed during the past twentieth century with reduced weather predictability (IPCC 2007a, b). The details of IPCC projections for an increase in mean Earth surface air temperature under different projected atmospheric CO_2 level are listed in Table 4.3.

Over the time span of our Earth's history, the anthropogenic activities along with changes in our climate system often modified the physical and biogeochemical processes in soil, which resulted in a dynamic shift in the aboveground and belowground natural interactions within all of our existing terrestrial and aquatic agroecosystems across the world (Grieve 2001). Bidirectional interactions between the soil and climate of any agroecological unit mostly emphasize on the direct impact of soil processes on the changes in atmospheric composition through balancing between the production-consumption dynamics of different GHGs (viz., CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O) evolved through several physical and biochemical reactions and indirectly through the maintenance of production-consumption dynamics of NH₃, NOx, and CO within the soil environment. Both the climate changes and variability are likely to have significant short- and long-term impacts on soil properties. Although fossil fuel combustion is the primary source of CO_2 emission, land-use changes and conversion of forest and grasslands to agriculture (especially the rice cultivation) have also contributed significantly to rise in atmospheric CO_2 level. Alteration in land-use management may promote net CO₂ uptake and sequestration from the atmosphere. About 30% of CH₄ and 70% of N₂O are produced in the soil, and soil processes will control the future changes in the atmospheric concentration of these gases (Mosier 1998). The soil-atmosphere exchange of these GHGs is interrelated and regulated by the existing climatic condition. Changes in one cycle can impart significant modification for the other in the soil environment (C, N, and P cycling) that further influence the soil processes through additionally imposed changes in soil temperature, soil water, and nutrient competition under modified environmental condition. Regional-scale impact studies to measure the absolute amount and predict the changes in GHG fluxes are difficult due to high spatiotemporal variability of GHG fluxes.

The world population will increase from 6.8 billion in 2008 to greater than 9 billion in 2050 (United Nations 2008). There are very limited scopes to attain the sustainability in the increasing food production to feed the ever-increasing human population with the serious threat of soil degradation for many of the world's best agricultural soils (Cassman et al. 2003; Godfray et al. 2010). Intensive agricultural practices along with the excessive tillage, imbalanced nutrient application, and pesticide usage to meet growing demand for agricultural products have stressed the long-term sustainability of cultivated soils and pose a greater risk for deteriorating environmental quality (soil water and air) as well as overall ecosystem health. In this section we have emphasized the possible impact of this environmental change, viz., increasing concentration of atmospheric GHGs, temperature rise, etc., on soil health and gaseous exchange processes within the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum.

4.2 Soil Carbon Pools and Their Possible Role in Climate Change

Global carbon pools are subdivided into five major pools (Fig. 4.1, modified after Lal 2008). Among them, the largest is the oceanic pool which is estimated at 38,153 Pg, of which surface ocean contributes 900 Pg, intermediate and deep oceans contribute 37,100 Pg, surface sediments contribute 150 Pg, and marine biota contributes 3 Pg carbon. The second largest pool is the geological C pool which is estimated at 4130 Pg. This pool comprises fossil fuels, of which 84.99% is coal, 5.57% is oil, 3.39% is gas, and 6.05% is others (Lal 2008). This carbon pool is depleting through fossil fuel combustion at the rate of 7.0 Pg year⁻¹ (Bandyopadhyay 2012). Pedologic pool is the third largest pool, which is estimated at 2730 Pg up to 1 m depth. This pool includes four components: soil organic carbon (SOC, 1550 Pg), soil inorganic carbon (SIC, 950 Pg), litter (40-80 Pg), and peat (150 Pg; Lal 2008). Soil organic carbon (SOC) pool is the largest terrestrial pool of carbon and plays a key role in carbon cycle and is, thus, the most vital pool for global climate change. Carbon is taken out in the form of CO_2 from the atmosphere by plant during photosynthesis. The carbon, thus fixed by plants, is transferred to the soil in the form of dead plant residues. These residues act a substrate for soil biota which decomposes and respires back to the atmosphere as CO₂ and CH₄. The soil inorganic carbon (SIC) pool includes elemental C and carbonates of minerals such as gypsum, calcite, and dolomite and comprises primary and secondary carbonates (Bandyopadhyay 2012). The atmospheric pool is the fourth largest pool (780 Pg), and it is increasing at a rate of 4.1 Pg year⁻¹. The least among the global pools is the biotic pool, estimated in the range of 500-650 Pg. The sum of the pedologic and the biotic pools are called the terrestrial carbon pool. There is more interaction in



between the terrestrial and the atmospheric pools (Fig. 4.1). The annual rate of global primary production (GPP) is 120 Pg, while the respiration is 60 Pg of carbon. Land-use conversion $(1.1-2.2 \text{ Pg year}^{-1})$, decomposition (60 Pg year⁻¹), and soil erosion $(1.1 \text{ Pg year}^{-1})$ caused the depletion of the terrestrial C pool and also the enrichment of the atmospheric pool. The fossil fuel (coal, oil, and gas) combustion depletes the geologic pool and enriches the atmospheric pool at the annual rate of 1.5-3 Pg carbon. The terrestrial sink is presently increasing at a rate of $2-4 \text{ Pg C year}^{-1}$ and it may increase to approximately 5 Pg C year⁻¹ by 2050 (Bandyopadhyay 2012).

Soil organic matter (SOM) is the dark-colored organic constituent of the soil which comprises of tissues from the dead plants and animals at various stages of decomposition mediated by soil biota. Undecomposed materials on the surface of the soil (e.g., crop residues) are usually more than 2 mm in size and are not considered to be part of the SOM (Corsi et al. 2012). The SOM comprises a mixture of (i) residues of plant and animal at various stages of decomposition, (ii) substances that are formed from the breakdown products through chemical and/or microbial synthesis, and (iii) the bodies of live microorganisms and small animals and their decomposing products (Schnitzer 1991). It is the well-decomposed product of the decomposition of organic materials; hence it is generally rich in more resistant compounds (e.g., lignin, cellulose, hemicelluloses, etc.) and poor in less resistant compounds (e.g., carbohydrates, polysaccharides, etc.) (Munda et al. 2018). Soil organic carbon (SOC) is the carbon occurring in the SOM. On average SOC constitutes about 58% of SOM mass. Soil organic carbon pool consists of three different pools (Table 4.4) based on its mean residence time (Jenkinson and Raynor 1977, Parton et al. 1987). Mean residence time means the time it takes to turn over and also it indicates its resistance to decay and the extent of protection against decomposition (Nayak et al. 2012).

Lal (2004) estimated the soil organic carbon (SOC) pool of 20.99 Pg up to 30 cm depth and 63.19 Pg up to 150 cm depth of soils (Fig. 4.2). The data are estimated from Walkley and Black oxidizable organic carbon measurement through approximation. The highest SOC pool was observed in aridisols followed by inceptisols and alfisols. The SOC pool in soils of India is 2.2% of the world pool for 1 m depth and 2.6% to 2 m depth (Lal 2004).

4.3 Soil Greenhouse Gas Emission: A Function of Soil Characteristics

Increase in concentration of atmospheric GHGs has hastened the rate of anthropogenic climate change over the last 50 years that may result in positive changes in the Earth's energy balance (Swain et al. 2018a, b; Chatterjee et al. 2018b). The variable magnitude of emitted GHGs fluxes between the soil and the atmosphere is primarily sourced from soil microbial activity that is mostly regulated by the existing soil environment. Certain soil properties, fertilizer nutrient management, and water management practices influence the magnitude of soil GHG fluxes. A significant positive feedback effect of global warming on soil GHG emissions is expected to further accelerate the warming process of our future world climate with an amplified magnitude.

4.3.1 CO₂ Emission

After photosynthesis, CO₂ flux from soil remains the second largest carbon (C) flux in most ecosystems and can account for 60–90% of total ecosystem respiration (Kuzyakov 2006). The soil CO₂ emission mostly relies on the microbial and root respiration at the soil surface or within the thin upper layer of the soil. Consequently the CO₂ uptake during photosynthesis balanced this CO₂ emission via carbon cycling pathways within our agroecosystems. The amount of global net CO₂ emissions is almost negligible (~0.04 Gt CO₂-eq year⁻¹) from the agricultural soils (excluding energy use in agriculture sector, IPCC 2007a, b). In general, soil CO₂ flux can be an indicator of microbial activity during the oxidation of organic matter. But, as compared to other GHGs (CH₄, N₂O), total CO₂ effluxes are not only solely derived from soil. Therefore, it is very difficult to determine whether the soil is a net source or net sink for atmospheric CO₂. Major sources of CO₂ efflux from soil include microbial decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM), rhizodeposit derived from living roots, residue decomposition, and root respiration. The magnitude and variability of soil-surface CO₂ efflux are controlled by several factors:

4.3.1.1 Weather Factor

Rainfall patterns strongly affected the spatiotemporal pattern of the CO_2 production rates throughout the soil profile by modifying the soil moisture status (discussed later).

	Soil carbon pools			
		Slow or an	Passive or	
Characteristics	Active or labile	intermediate pool	stabilized	Reference
Composition	Microbial biomass, their metabolites, and easily decomposable compounds (e.g., proteins and polysaccharides), root exudates	Structural plant residues and physically stabilized C	Mineral stabilized aliphatic compounds or complex aromatic structure	Jha et al. (2012)
Fractions associated with the pool	Soil microbial biomass carbon (SMBC) Water-soluble carbon (WSC) Acid- hydrolyzable carbohydrate (AHC) Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)	Readily mineralizable carbon (RMC) Light fraction carbon (LFC) in soil aggregates Particulate organic matter carbon (POMC)	Humic acid (HA) Fulvic acid (FA) Clay organic complex	Bhattacharyya and Manna (2014)
Type of protection	Not stabilized, easily accessible	Physical protection	Chemical stabilization or stabilization by organo-mineral bonding, biochemical stabilization	Sollins et al. (1996), Wander (2004)
Mean residence time	Few days to few years	10 to more than 100 years	1000 years	Paul et al. (2001), von Lützow et al. (2006)
C/N ratio	5–15: 1	20:1	7–9:1	Bhattacharyya and Manna (2014)
Availability to the microbes	Easily available	Slowly available	Resistant to oxidation and relatively unavailable	Wander (2004), Bhattacharyya and Manna (2014)
Temperature sensitivity	Less sensitive to an increase in temperature	Medium sensitive to an increase in temperature	Highly sensitive to an increase in temperature	Leifeld and Fuhrer (2005)

Table 4.4	Different pools of a	soil organic carbon

(continued)

	Soil carbon pools			
Characteristics	Active or labile	Slow or an intermediate pool	Passive or stabilized	Reference
Major role in soil	Serves as a food and energy source for the living soil biological community Act as a buffering agent and useful in replenishment mechanism like desorption of soil colloids, dissolution of litters, etc.	Strong response to management, such as tillage, residue handling and levels, and crop rotation Key attribute in soil quality; it is the precursor of active pool	Contributes to cation and anion exchange capacity Prevents plant nutrients from leaching Modifies and stabilizes toxic materials Enhances soil aggregation	Overstreet and DeJong- Hughes (2015), Bhattacharyya and Manna (2014)

Table 4.4 (continued)



Fig. 4.2 Soil organic carbon pool in soils of India

4.3.1.2 Soil Temperature

Any change in air temperature modifies the soil thermal regime both in spatial and temporal domain and predominantly affects the spatiotemporal pattern of soil CO₂ evolution rate from soil. Soil respiration rate increases exponentially with increase soil temperature that enhanced CO₂ evolution. The increased rate of soil respiration with temperature slows down gradually at very high temperature exposure (Fang and Moncrieff 2001; Nosalewicz et al. 2013). Under sufficient moisture supply, CO₂ evolution almost ceased at <10 °C followed by a logarithmic increase between 20 and 40 °C; > 50 °C, it declined rapidly due to partial inhibition of microbial respiration due to inactivation of biological oxidation systems (Rastogi et al. 2002). The Q₁₀ of soil CO₂ evolution rises exponentially with increase in soil incubation temperature from 4 to 40 °C (Sato and Seto 1999). Soil temperature > 30–35 °C

tends to limit CO_2 emissions because soil water becomes often limiting at those high temperatures (Wardle and Parkinson 1990).

4.3.1.3 Soil pH

The adverse effect of low pH on soil microbial activity contributes to lower microbial respiration rate in acid soil and consequently lower CO_2 evolution. Increase in soil pH up to 7.0 increases CO_2 emission, but when it goes beyond 7.0, the increasing alkalinity adversely affected CO_2 emission (Rastogi et al. 2002).

4.3.1.4 Soil Texture

Soil texture influences the water infiltration and gas diffusion rates within the soil environment that further modifies the CO_2 formation and emission process. CO_2 emission rate is significantly higher from clay soil than sandy soil (Kowalenko and Ivarson 1978; Sugihara et al. 2012).

4.3.1.5 Soil Moisture

Soil moisture from rainfall or applied irrigation is very useful to maintain the heterotrophic activity in this soil. Increasing soil moisture increases soil CO_2 emission up to an optimum level, but beyond that it has limited or often reduced effect on soil CO_2 emission (Drewitt et al. 2002). Soil respiration increases with increase in soil moisture between 40 and 70% water-filled pore spaces (WFPS) in most of the soils (Doran et al. 1990). At lower WFPS, soil respiration was reduced considerably by water availability, whereas at higher WFPS CO_2 production decreased as a result of reduced aeration. Increasing level of soil moisture results in small quantity of CO_2 emission but for prolonged duration as a result of the reduced gas exchange (Rusera et al. 2006). Alternate drying-wetting cycles enhanced dissolved organic carbon (DOC) production which increases microbial C consumption and enhanced O_2 consumption which also stimulates denitrification (Kalbitz et al. 2000).

4.3.1.6 Soil Trafficking/Soil Compaction

The relationship between soil respiration and WFPS is moderately influenced by the existence of macropores. Soil compaction in the inter-row soil often destroys the soil macropores and modifies the soil moisture levels above 70% WFPS, therefore enhancing the net CO_2 emission rates (Rusera et al. 2006).

4.3.1.7 Soil Salinity

Increasing soil salinity has adverse effects on physicochemical and microbiological processes in soil that affect organic matter decomposition. CO_2 evolution decreases with increase in soil salinity suggesting an increased osmotic stress on the soil microbial communities causing a reduction in their activity (Pathak and Rao 1998; Reddy and Crohn 2014). However, saltwater intrusion into freshwater wetlands with high organic matter, often suppressing the detrimental effect of salinity, increases soil respiration and promotes CO_2 emissions from wetland ecosystem (Weston et al. 2011).

4.3.1.8 Water Table Depth

More oxidized conditions associated with low water tables (> -20 cm) favor CH₄ oxidation by aerobic methanotrophic bacteria (Whalen 2005), as well as aerobic decomposition of organic matter, both processes emitting CO₂ from the soil environment (Olsson et al. 2015).

4.3.1.9 Crop Specificity

The seasonal and annual rate of CO_2 emission is one of the most determining factors for the annual rates of soil C cycling through autotrophic root respiration and heterotrophic microbial respiration as driven by annual soil C inputs (West and Marland 2002; Lee et al. 2009). As root activity has strong effect on spatiotemporal variability of CO_2 emissions (Rochette et al. 1991), higher soil CO_2 flux is usually expected in the rows relative to the inter-rows due to a higher root density during the crop growing season (Lee et al. 2009). The soil CO_2 emission follows the order of maize > cowpea > rice (Neogi et al. 2014).

4.3.1.10 Tillage

Higher turnover rate of organic matter after tillage promotes oxygenation in soil environment and increased soil CO_2 emissions due to degassing of dissolved CO_2 from the soil environment (Lee et al. 2009; Neogi et al. 2014). No-tillage or reduced tillage increases soil organic matter (SOM) reserve with the passage of time, available water content, and soil aggregation (Pare et al. 1999). Therefore, soils under conservation tillage practices (no-tillage or reduced tillage) may emit low CO_2 (Sanchez et al. 2002). But the effect of no-tillage on net soil CO_2 emissions is shortlived and often nonsignificant, when assessed under long-term scale (Lee et al. 2009).

4.3.1.11 Addition of Organic Material

Organic manure addition along with other organic wastes enhances the supply of soluble organic C into soil as a fresh substrate for growing microorganisms with their enhanced activity and increased soil respiration, which in turn emits more CO_2 from the soil environment by a factor of 2–3 (Rastogi et al. 2002).

4.3.1.12 Fertilizer Application

The effect of fertilizer N application on soil CO_2 emission is highly variable and sitespecific (Pathak et al. 2016). Nitrogen application may decrease soil respiration and often resulted in a reduction of both emission rate and season-long cumulative emission of CO_2 from soil due to induced soil acidity with reduced soil pH (Al-Kaisi et al. 2008). In contrast, application of inorganic N may have little effect on CO_2 emission due to insensitivity of fertilizer N application toward the net N mineralization (Carpenter-Boggs et al. 2000).

Factors	Most likely effect on CO ₂ emission	Confidence level
Increasing soil clay %	1	High
Low water table	1	Low
Organic matter addition	1	High
Fertilizer N application	Ļ	Low
Increasing soil alkalinity	Ļ	High
Increasing soil salinity	Ļ	High
Soil wetness	1	High
Alternate drying and wetting	↑	High
Conventional tillage	\uparrow	High
Conservation tillage	\downarrow	Low
Elevated CO ₂	\uparrow	High
Elevated temperature	1	High

Table 4.5 Factors and their most likely effect on CO₂ emission with confidence level

4.3.1.13 Changes in Atmospheric Composition

Rising levels of atmospheric CO_2 are expected to stimulate plant growth and soil C input but may also alter microbial respiration and organic matter decomposition process for the soils under both C_3 and C_4 crop plant (Mosier et al. 2002). The soil C accumulation potential is expected to be depressed due to increase in the soil C turnover rate with faster decomposition process under elevated CO_2 environment with no limitation in soil water or N availability (van Groenigen et al. 2014). That results in higher soil CO_2 fluxes under elevated CO_2 environment (Abbasi and Müller 2011).

Factors and their most likely effect on CO_2 emission with confidence level are tabulated in Table 4.5.

4.3.2 Methane Emission

All of the mineral soils are small sinks for atmospheric CH_4 , whereas most of the peat soils emit CH_4 . Net CH_4 emission from flooded fields to the atmosphere is the balance between CH_4 production in soils and its oxidation carried rice by archaea and methanogenic and methanotrophic bacteria in soils (Le Mer and Roger 2001). CH_4 emission from the rice fields is estimated to be globally 37 Tg year⁻¹. Around 70–80% of the total annual global emission of methane is biogenic in origin (IPCC 2007a, b). Microbial degradation of soil organic substances under anaerobic conditions generates CH_4 in soils, at very low redox potential. Such low redox condition prevails in natural wetlands and flooded rice fields under prolonged waterlogging, as well as in lake sediments (Bhaduri et al. 2017). The CH_4 formed in flooded soils and sediments often moves toward the surface and is emitted into the atmosphere by means of three different processes:

- Ebullition process (without oxidation, Conrad 1989)
- Transport of CH₄ (via aerenchyma cells of vascular plants, Lloyd et al. 1998)

The average lifetime of CH_4 in the atmosphere is about 10 years. UV-created hydroxyl radicals (OH⁻) destroy about 90% of the atmospheric CH₄, while 5–10% diffuse from the atmosphere into aerobic top soils and get oxidized by different soil microbes (Prather et al. 1995). The major sources of CH_4 in our atmosphere include the digestive system of ruminant animal population (about 15% of the calculated annual global CH_4 emission), wetland rice agriculture (20%), gas loss during coal mining and oil production (14%), biomass burning (10%), and natural wetlands (24%) (Whalen 2005). In India, rice is cultivated as irrigated, rainfed, deepwater, or upland. Only 15% of the cultivated area is under upland condition, while most of the rice cultivation is under wetlands (irrigated, rainfed, and deepwater). Rice culture under wetlands has been identified as one of the major sources of global CH_4 emission (~40% of total CH₄ emissions, Prather et al. 1995). Around 80% of CH₄ produced in the agricultural soil are converted to CO_2 in the oxidized zone in the surface soil of rice fields where CH_4 reaches by diffusion (Conrad and Rothfuss 1991). The major biological sink of atmospheric CH_4 is oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria in aerobic soils (Xu et al. 2003). In well-drained soils, methanotrophic bacteria oxidize only 10% of atmospheric CH₄ of the total global sink (Topp and Pattey 1997). It is projected that to meet the regular food demand of the ever-increasing global population, increased wetland rice culture is essential with rapid expansion and intensification of rice cultivation in the coming decades. As a consequence, a significant rise in CH_4 fluxes to the atmosphere is expected from the wetland rice fields, considering the current technological progress as constant one (Singh et al. 1999; Anand et al. 2005). The major factors influencing the magnitude and variability of CH_4 emission from soil have already been discussed in chapter 3 entitled "Methane Emission from Wetland Rice Agriculture: Biogeochemistry and Environmental Controls in the Projected Changing Environment." In brief, the factors and their most likely effect on CO₂ emission with confidence level are shown in Table 4.6.

4.3.3 Nitrous Oxide Emission

Among all the anthropogenic GHGs, N₂O is one of the most important long-lived tracers contributing to the changes to the global N cycle and global warming and plays a crucial role in stratospheric ozone (O₃) depletion. Transportation into the stratosphere is the most significant means for the removal of atmospheric N₂O, where it is photolytically oxidized to NO which reacts with stratospheric ozone and absorbs harmful solar ultraviolet radiation. The global estimate recalls that doubling the atmospheric N₂O concentration in the atmosphere may result in about 10% decrease in the ozone layer with 20% increase in the ultraviolet radiation reaching the Earth's surface (Crutzen and Ehhalt 1977). Nitric oxide (NO) is involved in the

Factors	Most likely effect on CH ₄ emission	Confidence level
Continuous flooding in rice fields	↑	High
Intermittent flooding	\downarrow	High
Increasing clay % in soil	↑	Low
Increasing water table depth	↑	High
Organic matter addition	↑	High
Fertilizer N application	\downarrow	High
Hybrid rice/early-maturing rice	\downarrow	Low
Increasing soil salinity	\downarrow	High
Conservation tillage	\downarrow	Low
Elevated atmospheric CO ₂	↑	High
Elevated temperature (soil and air)	↑	High
Elevated atmospheric O ₃	Ļ	High

Table 4.6 Factors and their most likely effect on CH₄ emission with confidence level

complex photochemical reactions, which is a precursor of nitrogen dioxide and nitric acid that leads to environmental acidification (Ravishankara et al. 2009). It has two opposing indirect greenhouse effects through tropospheric ozone enhancements and methane (CH₄) reductions (Pathak et al. 2016). The agriculture sector (soil and livestock) is the major source of N₂O, contributing about 42% of anthropogenic N₂O emissions worldwide (IPCC 2007a, b). The atmospheric N₂O concentration has reached 324 ppbv as compared to the preindustrial level of 270 ppbv (WMO 2011). Due to the long atmospheric lifetime and higher warming potential of this GHG, greater attention has to be paid on the mechanistic evaluation of the production and emission of N₂O and other oxidized forms of gaseous nitrogen (NO_x).

Unlike methane emission which is mostly confined for the flooded rice fields and wetland agriculture, the problem of N_2O emission is widespread that cover the production practices of almost all arable crops in addition to the previously mentioned one. For any successful crop production, N fertilization is necessary to enhance our crop productivity. N application to soils as chemical or organic fertilizers provides the necessary substrates for growing the microbes involved in the biochemical processes of nitrification (aerobic) and denitrification (anaerobic) that further promotes the anthropogenic N₂O emission from soil environment. N₂O in the soil environment is mostly produced either from the natural microbial nitrification or denitrification processes by denitrifiers (Hayatsu et al. 2008) along with the non-biochemical process of chemo-denitrification (mostly under acidic soil conditions) and decomposition of hydroxylamine (Venterea et al. 2005). Microbial nitrification and denitrification in managed and natural soils contribute approximately 70% of global N₂O emissions (Butterbach-Bahl et al. 2013).

Under low oxygen availability, NH_3 oxidation pathways and nitrifier denitrification are also accounted as the significant sources of N_2O (Kool et al. 2010). N_2O formed inside the soil is released into the atmosphere by the processes of diffusion (in aerobic soils), ebullition (in waterlogged soils), and vascular transport (bundle
sheath tissue assembly). The uptakes of N_2O by the soils with low N in dry regions exploit N_2O as N substrate in the absence of NO_2^- and NO_3^- to sustain soil microbial denitrifiers (Rosenkranz et al. 2006). Alternatively, the nitrogenase enzyme involved in biological N_2 fixation in the surface soil can use N_2O as a substrate (Jensen and Burris 1986). N_2O emission from organically managed soils is influenced by soil characteristics, and for the nonorganically managed soils, it is often dependent on total N inputs (Skinner et al. 2014). The magnitude and variability of N_2O production and emission from soil depends upon a wide range of weather, soil, management, and plant-related factors as described below.

4.3.3.1 Weather Factors

Warmer air temperature and high wind speed accelerate the soil N₂O emission (Ding et al. 2007). High wind speed maintains N₂O concentration gradient between soil and the atmosphere if continuous N₂O reduction is occurring in soil. Low rainfall promotes soil dryness (< 25% water-filled pores) that is not conducive for fast nitrification along with high O₂ concentration, which is toxic to denitrifiers. Thus, the soil N₂O production and emission process is inhibited (Tellez-Rio et al. 2015). However, sufficient rainfall promotes soil moisture as well as enhanced N₂O emission under anaerobic soil environment (Zhang and Han 2008). N₂O flux increases substantially after sufficient rainfall due to increased nitrifying and denitrifying activity within hours of wetting a soil (Majumdar et al. 2002).

Freeze-thaw cycles also promote N_2O production and emission under temperate climate condition (Sehy et al. 2003). Under sufficient N supply, the N_2O emission potential of clay soils with high NH_4^+ fixation capacity increases during freezing-thawing periods (Singurindy et al. 2009), whereas heavy rainfall events often enhance NO_3^- leaching that may inhibit N_2O emission (Livesley et al. 2011). In certain circumstance, summer dryness often enhances the soil nitrifying activity as a source of soil N_2O emissions. The N_2O emissions during nitrification may not be constant, but depend on season-specific soil temperatures and land management practices during the post-harvesting period (Henault et al. 1998).

4.3.3.2 Soil pH

Soil pH has direct control over denitrification, mineralization, and immobilization, therefore controlling the N₂O production and uptake within the soil environment. Denitrification occurs for a much range of soil pH that varies from 3.9 to 9.0 (Włodarczyk 2000). But the nitrification process is mostly confined for relatively narrower range soil pH from 3.8 to 8.5 (Subbarao et al. 2006). *Nitrosomonas* requires an optimal pH between approximately 7.0 and 8.0, and the optimum pH range for *Nitrobacter* varies from 7.5 to 8.0. Nitrification can occur in acid soils with a pH as low as 3.8, though at a much slower rate (Tisdale and Nelson 1970). Denitrification rates in acidic soil pH are slower than under slightly alkaline conditions (Ussiri and Lal 2013). However, the optimum pH for both nitrification and denitrification varies between the soil pH range of about 7.0–8.0 (Włodarczyk 2000; Van den Heuvel et al. 2011). Under adequate supply of NO₃⁻ in the soil solution, the overall rates of both denitrification and nitrification often decrease with

increasing soil acidity (Włodarczyk 2000; Dalal et al. 2003). N₂O reductase activity is more sensitive to the proton activity than NO₃⁻ reductase, i.e., the reduction of N₂O to N₂ is more sensitive to acidic conditions than the reduction of NO₃⁻ to N₂O (Lesschen et al. 2011). The larger share of N₂O fraction in the total N products liberated from the denitrification process in acid soils may be resulted from the decreased rate of N₂O reduction at low soil pH. This allows the net N₂O built within the soil environment and promotes soil N₂O emission, with its peak at pH 5.0 (Van den Heuvel et al. 2011). As the soil pH increases, the net N₂ production rates often dominates over the net NO₃ reduction rate, and that leads to the denitrification products to be more, or completely, toward N₂ production with significant reduction in N₂O/N₂ ratio (Focht and Verstraete 1977).

4.3.3.3 Soil Redox Potential (Eh)

Soil N₂O emission is favored for a wider range of soil redox potential from +500 to -250 mV. Denitrification process dominates for soil redox levels <+200 mV. Significant N₂O emission only occurs when the soil redox potential reaches > +200 mV. The peculiarity lies with two maxima for N₂O evolution curve with changes in the soil redox potential. Nitrification peak occurs at +400 mV and at 0 mV for denitrification process (Masscheleyn et al. 1993; Hou et al. 1998). With increasing degree of reduction in the soil environment, the net amount of liberated N gases also increases. But, the percentage of N₂O formation in the denitrification products (i.e., the total amount of N₂O and N₂ production) decreases with increasing anoxic conditions (Weier et al. 1993; Masscheleyn et al. 1993).

4.3.3.4 Soil Texture

Soil texture and particle size distribution affect N_2O emission by influencing soil aeration and moisture status. Heavy-textured poorly drained soils emit more N_2O than light-textured well-drained soils (Laegried and Aastveit 2002). Essentially, the entrapment of N_2O generated in the heavy clay soils also provides a greater scope to denitrify into elemental nitrogen gas under anaerobic conditions (Velthof and Oenema 1995). Compacted soil with higher content of clay-associated aggregates promotes denitrification and emits higher N_2O than sandy soils (van Groenigen et al. 2004; Singurindy et al. 2009).

4.3.3.5 Soil Structure

Soil structure interacts with the N₂O emission process from soil. Increased aggregate stability, reduced soil bulk density, and greater air-filled porosity often depressed the N₂O emissions (Berglund and Berglund 2011). In the poorly aerated compact soils with sufficiently available moisture, N₂O emissions is triggered irrespective of NO₃⁻ concentrations in soil solution, due to enhanced anaerobic crop residue decomposition (Chirinda et al. 2010).

4.3.3.6 Soil Chemical Condition

Soil nitrate (NO_3^-) concentration has direct influence on the N₂O emission process from soil environment. Under anaerobic conditions, NO_3^- is reduced to NO_2 , N₂O,

and N₂. A lower NO₃⁻ concentration in soil solution and NO₃⁻leaching from the top soil to the subsoil inhibits the formation of N₂O via denitrification (Ma et al. 2010). In the absence of NO₃⁻ accumulation, denitrification is the most likely source of N₂O. In general, the susceptibility of soil for emission loss of N₂O increased with increasing availability of NO₃⁻ in the soil. The strong inverse relationship between soil N₂O effluxes and NO₃⁻ leaching losses follows exponential decaying function (Zhou et al. 2013). Soils with small N₂O emission losses generally have a small soil inorganic N pool dominated by NH₄⁺ (Davidson and Verchot 2000). In aquatic ecosystems NO₃⁻ may leached down into groundwater or surface waters (via agricultural runoff) and gets denitrified into N₂O flux (Groffman et al. 2002). Under most circumstances, the presence of NO₃⁻ inhibits the rate of N₂O reduction to N₂, resulting in a higher N₂O/N₂ ratio at similar moisture and oxygen contents (Dalal et al. 2003).

4.3.3.7 Soil Temperature

 N_2O emission generally increases with soil temperature from 5 to 40 °C due to rise in the rate of nitrification, denitrification, and diffusion processes (Pereira et al. 2013). Temperatures lower than 5 °C reduce soil microbial activity and consequently reduce emissions (Singurindy et al. 2009). Increase in soil temperature (at least up to 37 °C) enhances microbial activity as well as soil respiration that leads to a depletion of soil O_2 and enhanced diffusion and within the soil medium under optimum moisture availability. Thus the denitrification process is promoted and the N_2O emission from soil is increased (Dalal et al. 2003; Butterbach-Bahl et al. 2013). The solubility of N_2O in soil water reduces and that further promotes N_2O emission (Majumdar 2003). Above 37 °C, the N₂O/N₂ ratio in denitrification increases with decrease in soil temperature (Maag and Vinther 1996). At higher temperatures (>50 °C) chemo-denitrification of NO₂⁻ dominates due to the increased activity of thermophilic nitrate respirers (Dalal et al. 2003). Annual variation in environmental temperature regime also influences soil microbial activity. But on annual basis the effect is almost negligible. In general, for the soil fauna under colder ecosystems, peak N_2O emission occurs during the warmer periods. In contrast, under warmer climates, the biological activity of the soil fauna reaches at peak during the wetter periods, therefore the higher N_2O emission from soil (Lesschen et al. 2011).

4.3.3.8 Soil Moisture and Aeration Status

The supplementary relationship between the soil moisture and soil aeration has the direct control on the N₂O emission dynamics from soil environment. The soil water-filled pore spaces (WFPS) strongly influence the N₂O production, likely via manipulating the oxygen availability within soil environment. Under unsaturated conditions, ~60% of N₂O came from nitrification, while denitrification contributed ~85–90% under saturated conditions (Mathieu et al. 2006). Conditions of WFPS have an exponential effect on the denitrifying activity of soils (Henault et al. 1998). The WFPS value of well-aerated soils ranges between 40 and 60%. The low N₂O production rate from nitrification at <40% WFPS increases rapidly with increasing

moisture content (up to 55–65% WFPS). Above 60–70% WFPS, an increase in water content often hinders aeration (limits O_2 diffusion), promotes denitrification, and releases both N_2O and N_2 . External supply of elemental O_2 inhibits N_2O reductase activity (Firestone et al. 1980). At high moisture (>80–90% WFPS), reduced oxygenation favors gaseous N loss denitrification. Under anaerobic environment, where the N substrate supply is non-limiting, the activity of denitrifying enzymes can vary from soil to soil. The reduction of N_2O to N_2 occurs in air-dry soils (1–2% soil moisture) with 0.03–21% initial O_2 concentrations (Singurindy et al. 2009). But the N_2O/N_2 ratio decreases as the soil water content exceeds 75% WFPS (Weier et al. 1993; Dalal et al. 2003). Well-drained sandy loam soil with low soil moisture (25–50% WFPS) under rainy conditions is often conducive to persistent net N_2O uptake from the atmosphere (Wu et al. 2013).

 N_2O concentrations in the surface soil (up to 30 cm) increase with the increase in the soil moisture (Nosalewicz et al. 2013). High soil moisture content also strongly decreases gas diffusion through soil and supports denitrification process under anoxic environment, therefore increasing N_2O concentrations in soil environment (Singurindy et al. 2009). Even under well-aerated condition (60–70% WFPS), denitrification losses occur due to the presence of anaerobic microsites in soil aggregates (Müller et al. 2004). Decreasing soil aeration (by increasing the WFPS %) may increase the cumulative denitrification as well as cumulative N_2O emissions. The soil N_2O uptake often increases with decreasing WFPS. Rewetting dry soil promotes denitrification and often generates short-term N_2O pulses with variable N_2O/N_2 ratios (Rusera et al. 2006). Alternate wet and dry cycles stimulate N mineralization from organic matter, promote NO_3^- accumulation during the dry period, and increase N_2O production during the wet period as long as the soil does not get waterlogged (Dalal et al. 2003).

4.3.3.9 Soil Organic Matter

Peat soils may have higher N₂O emissions than sand and clay soils due to their higher denitrification potential and higher groundwater level (excessive wet conditions) (Velthof and Oenema 1995). In the soils rich in organic matter, denitrification often dominates over the nitrification activity mostly due to more substrate availability under anoxic environment and the sensitivity of nitrifying bacteria to the humic acids as well as low pH (De Boer and Kowalchuk 2001). Denitrifiers often use organic C compounds as electron donors. Therefore, denitrification is dependent on the availability of carbon and mineral nitrogen (preferably NO₃⁻). Generally, organic peatland soil produces and emits more N₂O than the mineral agricultural soils by a factor varying from 2 to 10 (Odlare et al. 2012). Low pH of organic soils further facilitates the N₂O emission. High concentration of NO₃⁻ and organic material promotes the nitrification and denitrification processes, respectively, and increases the net N₂O emission from organic matter-rich soils. The ratio of N₂O emission factor varies as follows: sand: clay: peat = 1 (reference):1.5:2 (Lesschen et al. 2011).

4.3.3.10 Water Table Depth

Higher soil water tables often inhibit N₂O effluxes (Yang et al. 2013). Lowering the water table only increases emission rates if new layers with easily decomposable material or low C/N ratios are exposed (Berglund and Berglund 2011). More oxygenated soil under lower soil water table promotes the N₂O emission to the atmosphere. Excessive soil wetness may reduce the N₂O produced by denitrification into N₂ and thus reduce the emission even under high water table (Krausea et al. 2013).

4.3.3.11 Soil Salinity

High salinity often inhibits both nitrification and denitrification (Inubushi et al. 1999). The salt susceptibility of N₂O reductase (EC > 56 dS m⁻¹) often results in N₂O accumulation from denitrification under saline soil conditions (Menyailo et al. 1997). N₂O production from nitrification is promoted by increased salt concentration in the soil solution (Low et al. 1997). In addition, increasing soil salinity also ensures ample supply of NO₃⁻, the electron acceptor for denitrifiers. The activity of NO₂⁻ reductase decreases with increased soil EC. Therefore, increasing soil salinity increases cumulative N₂O losses from anaerobic soils as well as the N₂O/N₂ ratios by increasing N₂O emission with subsequent reduction in N₂ emission (Reddy and Crohn 2014).

4.3.3.12 Nature of Added Organic Manure

Nature of organic manure often determines the magnitude of emitted N₂O. Organic matter provides the sources of carbon and energy for heterotrophic denitrifying organisms. Pig slurry emits more N2O as compared to cattle slurry due to higher proportion of ammonium present in total N content of the pig slurries (Chadwick et al. 2000). Application of easily degradable C with manures increases potential denitrification and thereby the risk of greater N₂O production and emission from soil (Lesschen et al. 2011). But the N_2O/N_2 ratio of denitrification products decreases with increasing available C supply (Weier et al. 1993). In addition, the population of denitrifiers is often determined by the amount of different volatile fatty acids present in different animal manures as effective C sources for denitrification. Solid manure application emits less the slurry application. The magnitude of N_2O emission factor from different organic manures varies in the following order: pig slurry > cattle slurry > poultry manure (at about ~ 3:2:1 ratio) (Chadwick et al. 2000; Velthof et al. 2003; Lesschen et al. 2011). The productions of N_2O often ranged from 44 to 404 mg N kg⁻¹ dependent on the kind of organic material, added to soil (Yang et al. 2002). However, the N₂O emission factor of different animal manures is considered to be the function of land-use dynamics (discussed later).

4.3.3.13 Earthworm Activity

Earthworms may contribute ~ 33% of the total emissions of N₂O from soil (Matthies et al. 1999). The gut-associated denitrifying bacteria of earthworm are responsible for N₂O emissions (Drake and Horn 2006). Earthworm activity may increase the soil N₂O emissions from crop residues by 18 times (Rizhiya et al. 2007). However, in

well-aerated soil, sufficient supply of NO_3^- may enhance nitrification by the bacterial community present in the earthworm gut (Contreras-Ramos et al. 2009).

4.3.3.14 Land Use

Grassland soils experienced no-tillage and continuous supply of fresh organic matter via root exudates and other organic matter addition. Grassland soil have greater potential denitrification rate than arable land due to their greater C availability (Bijay-Singh et al. 1988). Therefore, addition of manure has less impact on N_2O emission from grassland as compare to arable land (Velthof et al. 1997). In addition, there is a lag phase between grassland and arable crops, for the utilization of N applied through manure material. A major fraction of applied N is utilized immediately after application, either by immobilization or crop uptake by the extensive rooting system of the grass species. Thus the scope of nitrification process of added fertilizer N is much limited for grassland soils. For arable field crops, manure applied before sowing operation is utilized by the crop after a considerable period of time, i.e., during crop establishment. This enhances the scope of nitrification of applied fertilizer N material. As a result, the N₂O emission factor from manure is substantially high for the soils under arable crops (1.5 times) than grassland soils. For fertilizer N material, the mechanism slightly differs. More reduced condition prevails in the organic matter-rich grassland soils that facilitate the N2O emission more readily than arable croplands. Thus the N_2O emission factor is set at, respectively, 0.5 and 0.8 times of grassland soils for nitrate and ammonium-containing fertilizer material, respectively (Lesschen et al. 2011). During the conversion of grasslands to cropland, mineral N liberated by mineralization of soil organic matter and plant remains can be regarded as a comparable potential source of N_2O emission (Lobe et al. 2001).

4.3.3.15 Fertilizer N Application

External application of mineral fertilizer (N) is the most significant anthropogenic source of N₂O emission in agriculture. The risk of N₂O emissions increases, whenever the amount of applied N is above the crop requirement or available N exceeds crop uptake with better availability of soil moisture (Oenema et al. 2005). Under high soil moisture condition (WFPS value of 70% or more), N fertilization often increases N₂O emission considerably (Rusera et al. 2006). Fertilizer N addition increased soil N₂O emissions (Kim et al. 2012) due to increased soil N availability (in forms of NO_3^{-}) for microbial nitrification and denitrification (Wrage et al. 2001). Prolonged waterlogging may impede the N₂O diffusion from well below the soil surface to atmosphere and further reduced to N2 by the process of anaerobic denitrification via increased N₂O reductase activity (Krausea et al. 2013). Application of urea- or NH4⁺-containing or NH4⁺-forming fertilizers in aerobic soils in upland crops (Velthof et al. 2003) and NO₃⁻-based fertilizers in low land crops emits more N₂O especially during wet conditions (Pathak and Nedwell 2001). In submerged paddy soils, the oxidizing and reducing layers are developed in the cultivated layer simultaneously. Application of NH4⁺-N-containing fertilizer promotes nitrification process in the oxidized layer, at the water-soil interface, forming NO_3^- that further moves downward to the underground saturated layer (Chatterjee et al. 2018b). In that reduced zone, NO_3^- gets denitrified to produce N_2O and emits into the atmosphere along with evaporative flux (Xing et al. 2009).

When synthetic mineral N fertilizers are added to the soil in combination with organic crop residues, soil N_2O emissions are depressed as compared to sole synthetic N fertilizers application. The effect of slower decomposition rates of the added straw materials (higher C/N ratio) dominates over the fertilizer N addition effect and promotes the immobilization of plant-available form of N (NO₃⁻) that ultimately inhibits the N₂O release from soil (Yao et al. 2013). However, the application of readily decomposable organic manures in arable land often accelerates soil N₂O emissions than synthetic mineral fertilizer application (van Groenigen et al. 2004).

4.3.3.16 Crop Residue Management

Addition of crop residue to the mineral soils is often aimed to manipulate the organic matter content of the soil. Crop residue additions are often negatively correlated with the C/N ratio of the incorporated residues (Millar et al. 2004; Toma and Hatano 2007). Incorporation of N-rich crop residue (low C/N ratio) can increase N_2O emissions in soil (Baggs et al. 2000; Millar and Baggs 2005). But it is the land-use type factor that determines the nature of interaction between crop residue incorporation and N₂O emissions. Residue applied for fallow land and upland promotes N₂O emission from soil, whereas N₂O emission is suppressed in submerged paddy (Shan and Yan 2013). When residues are applied as straw mulch for fallow land, they conserved soil moisture and supplied sufficient organic substrates for denitrification, thus resulting in higher N₂O emission (Jacinthe and Lal 2003). For upland soils, crop residue application often resulted in higher soil temperature and moisture content, which stimulated the activity of nitrifier and denitrifiers, leading to more anaerobic conditions. Therefore, the denitrification process is promoted with enhancing production and subsequent emission of N_2O from soil environment (Ma et al. 2010; Shan and Yan 2013).

In contrast, addition of crop residues (preferably cereal straw materials; high C/N ratio) in lowland paddy fields inhibits the N₂O release (Shan and Yan 2013), indicating net immobilization of plant-available N that results in reduced N availability with increasing C/N ratio. N₂O production is suppressed due to the lower availability of nitrogen substrates (Yao et al. 2013). The residual inhibitory effect on N₂O emissions remains for another crop season. It is often argued that the high lignin content of the crop residues determines the soil N₂O emission rate rather than the C/N ratio of the crop residue (Muhammad et al. 2011).

4.3.3.17 Crop Rotation

Crop rotation practices (i.e., N_2 fixing green manure and catch crop) often reduce soil N availability (via immobilization) that constrains soil N_2O emissions (Askegaard et al. 2005). Inclusion of legumes in cereal-based cropping system can reduce the N_2O emission by curtailing the fertilizer N application rates (Delgado et al. 2007)

and promoting the additional source of biologically fixed N (less available for nitrification and denitrification process) (Parkin and Kaspar 2006). Catch crops control NO₃⁻leaching (restricted drainage losses) and extract the unutilized plant-available N (NO₃⁻) forms after harvesting of main crop. Thus the excess soil NO₃⁻ is reduced as well as the N₂O emissions from the soil environment (Feyereisen et al. 2006). But the suppressing effect of legume inclusion on soil N₂O emissions may be minimized if the litter decomposition rate is higher under restricted soil aeration (Chirinda et al. 2010).

4.3.3.18 Tillage

Any type of soil disturbance either via tillage or intercultural operations generally promotes soil aeration. The external oxygen entry into the soil environment modifies transport processes which can give the generated N_2O a better chance of escaping before being denitrified to N_2 and promotes the N_2O release from soil (Majumdar 2003). But different tillage systems (conventional, conservation/minimum, and no-tillage) have no significant effect on total soil N2O emissions over the total crop growth period due to their least influence on the size of denitrifier populations and their denitrification capacity (Tellez-Rio et al. 2015). The beneficial effect of tillage is attributed to changes in soil structure, which in turn affects the soil aeration (Plaza-Bonilla et al. 2013). In conventionally tilled soil, the disturbance during crop harvest followed by turnover of crop residues through subsequent tillage operation promotes the mineralization of crop residues and accumulation of NO₃⁻resulting to more N_2O emissions from the soil to atmosphere (Millar et al. 2004). Lower N_2O production from the no-tillage soil system is attributed to lower volume of anaerobic microsites and reduced diffusion coefficient along with more N2O consumption in the upper soil layer in long-term no-tillage soil system, as compared to the soils under conventional and minimum tillage system (van Kessel et al. 2013). In general, long-term adaptation of conservation/no-tillage practice may give the benefit of reduced N₂O emission in the long run due to increase in SOM storage, improved soil structure, enhanced aeration, and reduced soil bulk density. No-tillage promotes more anoxic reduced sites in the poorly aerated soils (due to restrict drainage) with high clay content under wet and humid condition that may alter the microbial population and increase N_2O emissions due to enhanced denitrification (Yao et al. 2013; Tellez-Rio et al. 2015).

4.3.3.19 Changes in Atmospheric Composition

Under elevated CO₂, sufficient supply of available N in the soil environment stimulates canopy photosynthesis, and photosynthate supply to roots stimulates root exudation that is expected to promote denitrification in flooded rice soils (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013a, b). In addition, increases in soil water content due to dramatic reduction in canopy transpiration and labile soil C pools may further stimulate the N₂O efflux under elevated CO₂ (Arnone and Bohlen 1998). However, the effect of increasing substrate availability to promote denitrification is often limited by lower N availability (Carter et al. 2011; Pereira et al. 2013). The cumulative seasonal N₂O emissions from rice decrease in response to elevated atmospheric

	Most likely effect on N ₂ O	Confidence
Factors	emission	level
Continuous flooding	\downarrow	Low
Alternate drying and wetting	↑	High
High water table	\downarrow	High
Organic matter addition	↑	Low
Fertilizer N application	\uparrow	High
Crop residue management	\downarrow	Low
Increasing soil salinity	\uparrow	High
Increasing soil acidity	\downarrow	High
Catch crops/crop rotation with	\downarrow	Low
legumes		
Conventional tillage	↑	High
Conservation tillage	\downarrow	Low
Elevated CO ₂	\uparrow	High
Elevated temperature	\uparrow	High
Elevated O ₃		High

Table 4.7 Factors and their most likely effect on N₂O emission with confidence level

 O_3 concentration (Bhatia et al. 2011), due to the decreased activity of nitrifying and denitrifying bacteria with reduced available N content in soil under elevated ozone environment (Kou et al. 2014). Factors and their most likely effect on N₂O emission with confidence level are tabulated in Table 4.7.

4.4 Impact of the Projected Changing Environment on Nutrient Transformation in Soil and Its Plant Availability Dynamics

The changing environmental variables will most likely impact on nutrient transformation in soil and also alter its plant availability dynamics. The nutrients like C and N are controlled by biological cycles and may show a different reaction to the changing climatic variables than the elements with cycles controlled both by geological and biological processes, such as P, S, and K, or elements with predominantly geologically controlled cycles, such as K, Ca, Mg, S, or micronutrients (Lukac et al. 2010). In this section we will confer how the climate change alters the processes of the cycling and availability of these nutrients.

4.4.1 Carbon

The decomposition of resistant soil organic matter is more temperature-sensitive than labile organic matter (Leifeld and Fuhrer 2005). However, a report concludes, both in 2-year and 10-year experimental warming, a little effect on the MBC, MBN,

and MBP and the contribution of microbial biomass to soil nutrient pools (Wang et al. 2014).

Among the different carbon pools, total organic carbon (TOC) in root exudates increases by 29% under elevated CO_2 than ambient (Bhattacharyyaa et al. 2014). Again, elevated CO_2 increases plant photosynthesis and biomass accumulation and thus increases the rhizodeposition (Kim et al. 2001), which is the key contributor to belowground C allocation and enriches soil labile C pools (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013b). Among the different fractions of soil organic matter in soils, microbial biomass carbon (MBC) is the most labile fraction and plays a pivotal role in soil nutrient cycling (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013a). All the labile carbon pools (like MBC) are increased under elevated CO_2 (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013a). In general, MBC in soil grown with rice doubled at elevated CO_2 compared to ambient (both in open field and in OTC) (Manna et al. 2013).

The conjoint effect of both CO_2 and elevated temperature significantly increases the soil labile carbon, MBC, and β -glucosidase activity which is a carbontransforming enzyme in soil (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013b). Under elevated CO_2 and temperature, the water-soluble carbohydrate carbon increases due to enhanced microbial activities (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013b). This parameter mostly represents the free sugars and microbial polysaccharides present in the soil (Manna et al. 2005).

4.4.2 Nitrogen

Increase in temperature is likely to impact N availability in soil through stimulation in decomposition and mineralization of SOM. However, the effect of elevated temperature on nitrogen depends upon the ecosystem and season (Lukac et al. 2010). The enzymes controlling the N cycle will be more active under the elevated temperature. The highest increase in enzyme activities is observed during the winter when temperature is lesser than other season or in the spring because of the maximum root and microbial activity (Beier et al. 2008). The NH₄ content decreases in spring in concomitance with the increase in N uptake by plants, whereas NO₃ content is increased at the same time, due to an increase in nitrification activity (Beier et al. 2008). Studies shows the soil warming can increase net N mineralization and nitrogen loss through nitrate leaching (Pendall et al. 2004). On the contrary, nitrogen mineralization was reported to be unresponsive to the temperature but mostly affected by alteration in soil moisture (Beier et al. 2008). The enzyme activities involved in N cycling increased in response to elevated temperature have also been reported in the presence of sufficient moisture (Sardans et al. 2008).

Due to the strong link between C and N cycles, N is the most limiting element likely to hinder plant growth in a future high-CO₂ world (Reich et al. 2006). Under the increasing level of elevated atmospheric CO₂, photosynthetic C assimilation is expected to be stimulated (especially in C₃ crop species) with increased belowground C allocation through root exudation and turnover, which probably lead to the modification in soil microbial activity (Rillig et al. 2001). Enhancing input of C under elevated CO₂ was reported to stimulate either microbial N immobilization (Zak et al. 2000) or mineralization due to priming effect (Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov 2008), depending on the limitation of C or N in microbial communities and on the C/N ratio of the decomposing substrate (Hodge et al. 2000). If there is more immobilization of soil N, then the plant's ability to respond to the increase in the atmospheric CO_2 concentration will be reduced, ultimately resulting in a decrease in yield of the crops (Hu et al. 2001). The leaf N content per unit leaf area will decline under elevated CO_2 (Ellsworth et al. 2004). In perennial trees, the process of N retranslocation from leaves to woody parts before their abscission will be slightly increased by elevated CO_2 ; thus more N will be immobilized in woody tissues (Calfapietra et al. 2007). Immobilization of N occurs not only in plant parts but also in soil too. For instance, in inceptisols rice and wheat were grown at increased CO₂ concentration (550 ppm) as well as in ambient CO₂ condition (380 ppm). The microbial biomass carbon (MBC) was significantly higher under increased CO₂ than ambient, while NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N were higher in the ambient plots due to N immobilization in both the crops. Soil organic carbon (SOC) did not show much change with high-CO₂ treatment (Chakrabarti et al. 2012).

4.4.3 Phosphorus

Soil temperature influences the supply and uptake of phosphorus (P) by plants; hence understanding its dynamics under climate change scenario is of utmost importance. Availability of soil phosphorus under 2 °C elevated temperature than ambient significantly decreased the soil available P content by 18.8% at jointing stage of wheat in China (Zhang et al. 2014). On the contrary, another report from the same country says the soil warming at 0.8-1.1 °C above the control in short-term (2 years) and long-term (10 years) experiments does not significantly affect soil pH; bulk density; total carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus; organic carbon; available phosphorus; NO₃-N; microbial biomass C, N, and P; and cellulase, catalase, and phosphatase activities (Wang et al. 2014).

The effect of elevated CO_2 on P availability is likely to be indirectly related and mediated by the response of biological components of the soil ecosystem. Phosphorus availability is driven by the action of ectoenzymes produced by roots, mycorrhizal hyphae, and soil microorganisms (Read et al. 2004; Chatterjee et al. 2014, 2015). It is observed that production of such enzymes increases under elevated atmospheric CO_2 (Lagomarsino et al. 2008), which reflects an increase in demand for P by microorganism or plant or by both. Moreover, tree roots and mycorrhizas also contribute to mineral weathering and successive release of P (Dijkstra et al. 2003). Therefore, increases in belowground carbon availability under elevated CO_2 may lead to increased P mineralization and release of P from the soil mineral fraction. Due to widespread deficiency of available P in Indian soils, it is expected to become a critical nutrient to facilitate the crop responses toward the rising atmospheric CO_2 level (Kumar et al. 2011). Elevated CO_2 significantly increased soil available P content by 14.3% in the jointing stage of wheat in China (Zhang et al. 2014). In India, Bhattacharyyaa et al. (2014) show that available P under elevated CO_2 is significantly increased by 25.8, 23.3, and 28.7% over open-top chamber control in three consecutive *kharif* rice cultivations. Also, soil available P in three *kharif* seasons in elevated CO₂ has increased by 23% over ambient. The reason of such increase may be attributed to the increase in organic acid in root exudates by 41% in elevated CO₂ than ambient. They also show an increase in microbial biomass P and phosphatase activity in elevated CO₂ by 35.1 and 32%, respectively. The P uptake in shoot, root, and grain increases by 29, 28, and 22%, respectively, under elevated CO₂ (650 ppm) and a decrease under elevated temperature (+3 °C), with an overall increase of 17.4% under elevated CO₂ and temperature in *Typic* Haplustept of New Delhi under subtropical India.

4.4.4 Potassium, Secondary Nutrients, and Micronutrients

The effects of climatic variabilities on potassium, secondary nutrients, and micronutrients are not much studied. Nutrient availability in soil is based on the cation-exchange capacity (CEC), which may be strongly affected by elevated CO_2 . An increase in base cation availability (Ca and Mg), along with an overall increase in CEC, was found under elevated CO_2 (Lukac et al. 2010). Under elevated CO_2 , rates of K⁺, Ca²⁺, and Mg²⁺ uptake are increased (Delaire et al. 2005). Liu et al. (2007) reported a decrease in S and B concentrations, increase in K and P concentrations, and no effects on other elements (Mg, Ca, Mn,Cu, Zn) in aspen and birch leaf litter under elevated CO_2 . At the same site, nutrient input of N, P, S, P, Ca, Mg, Cu, and Zn to soil through leaf litter decomposition under elevated CO_2 increased, but the return of Mn was reduced.

4.5 Impact of Environmental Modifications on Soil Biological Environment

Microorganisms play a significant role in the soil ecological processes. They are involved in global nutrient cycling, decomposition of plant and animal residues, and production and consumption of greenhouse gases, and thus they are very important in the context of climate change. The complexity of soil microbial communities and their association with their surroundings make it difficult to identify the feedback responses that soil microbes may have to global warming (Amendolara 2011–12). The effects of climate change are mainly visible on the macroscopic life, but the microbial world is also altered. Soil microorganisms are involved in the production and consumption of greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (N₂O). Human activities such as waste disposal and agriculture stimulate the GHG production by soil microbes (Amendolara 2011– 12). As concentrations of these GHGs are ever increasing due to anthropogenic emission, soil microbes may have differential feedback responses that may speed up or slow down the global warming, but the extent of these effects is a researchable issue till now. Understanding the role of soil microbes, as they have a definite role in both contribution and mitigation of GHGs, can help to determine whether they can be managed to curtail emissions. Microbial processes are often reliant on environmental factors like soil moisture, temperature, enzyme activity, and availability of essential nutrients, all of which are likely to be affected by climate change (IPCC 2007a, b; Bradford 2013; French et al. 2009). Hence understanding the effect of climatic variables (temperature, carbon dioxide, moisture, etc.) on soil microbial biodiversity (structure, function, and abundance) and soil enzymatic activities under the modified climatic situation may provide significant feedback effects of climate change and global warming.

4.5.1 Soil Microbial Biodiversity, Population, and Biomass

Biodiversity is defined as "the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine, and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species (genetic diversity), between species (species diversity) and of ecosystems" (Heywood and Watson 1995; Mandal and Neenu 2012). The biological role of species or groups of species in an ecosystem is described by functional diversity. The soil contains a diversified group of macro- and microorganisms. Broadly, they are classified into two groups, viz., soil flora and soil fauna. Based on the body size, soil flora is again subdivided into microflora (e.g., bacteria, fungi, actinomycetes, and microalgae like blue green algae) and macroflora (e.g., protozoa, nematodes), mesofauna (e.g., acari, springtails, and enchytraeids), and macrofauna (e.g., insects, earthworms) (Swift et al. 1979).

The diversity and composition of the aboveground plant community influences the soil microbial community through the supply, timing, and composition of residues and exudates (Bever et al. 2012; Kardol et al. 2007; Scherber et al. 2010). There are many reports showing the evidence that environmental modifications (increasing in temperature, elevated carbon dioxide, drought, excess moisture, etc.) significantly impact on the abundance, diversity, and activity of soil biota (de Vries and Bardgett 2014; Procter et al. 2014; Lipson et al. 2014).

4.5.1.1 Effect of Elevated Temperature

Increase in temperature may influence the ecosystem functioning by changing the physiology of the affected species, once it exceeds the physiological tolerance of species and/or disturbs their functional relationships with other species. Under such situations species may become extinct and thus the ecosystem's biodiversity may be reduced (Kappelle et al. 1999). Elevated temperature hastens up the microbial decomposition and soil respiration; thus it increases CO₂ emission and produces a positive feedback to global warming (Allison et al. 2010). Increased temperature generally increases the decomposition of organic matter (Wallenstein et al. 2012), and such effect is more on "recalcitrant" SOM than "labile" SOM (Bauer et al. 2008)

because warming helps to rise above the critical activation energy (Ea) needed for decomposing the resistant compounds (Dungait et al. 2012). This may allow soil microorganisms to access older soil C stocks under climate warming and release more C into the atmosphere. Increased temperature may help to:

- Increase the microbial biomass initially as a direct response to the supplied heat but may decrease over time as microbial growth efficiency is altered (Schimel et al. 2007; Slaughter 2012). Increased catabolic response to sucrose and cellulose due to warming treatments is also observed (Slaughter 2012).
- Favor fungal and bacterial abundance (Castro et al. 2010; de Vries and Bardgett 2014). But, the bacterial abundance is more responsive to the interactive effect of CO_2 and temperature due to a lack of labile substrates under elevated temperature alone, which favors fungal over bacterial community members (Castro et al. 2010).
- Enhance population density of nematode in arctic soils but reduce the species number, richness, and diversity and maturity index (Ruess et al. 1999). Fungal feeders are more responsive to an increase in temperature than the bacterial feeders (Ruess et al. 1999).
- Increase most of the soil faunal groups (de Vries and Bardgett 2014). Developmental rate of collembolan, mesostigmatid, and oribatid mites is temperaturedependent. Fecundity and sex ratio in the populations of collembolans are altered (Lindberg 2003).
- Change the structure of the soil food web (de Vries and Bardgett 2014).

4.5.1.2 Effect of Increased CO₂

Impact of increasing atmospheric CO_2 is mainly because of the changes in the organic C dynamics due to alteration in plant photosynthesis. As the most of soil organisms are heterotrophic and dependent on the organic C input, the microbial activity will largely be influenced by changes in CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere (Drigo et al. 2008). Elevated atmospheric CO_2 influences on soil microorganism indirectly by increasing plant metabolism and root secretion of C_3 plants (Willey et al. 2009). These metabolites and secretions promote the mycorrhizae, bacteria, and fungi growth in the rhizosphere. Thus, the impact of elevated CO_2 on soil microbial population is characterized as follows:

- Increase in microbial biomass, species richness, and abundance of fungi (Procter et al. 2014; de Vries and Bardgett 2014; Lipson et al. 2014).
- Increase in abundance of certain bacterial phylogenetic groups like *Acidobacteria*, *Chloroflexi*, *Nitrospirae*, *Planctomycetes*, and *Proteobacteria* (Castro et al. 2010) and also an increase in bacterial biomass (Hu et al. 2001). Another report says under elevated CO₂, the bacterial biomass, richness, and community composition have been varied between ecosystems, resulting in no common trends, except a 3.5-fold decrease in the relative abundance of *Acidobacteria* group 1 bacteria (Dunbar et al. 2012).

- Shift in community composition of *Pseudomonas* spp. (Marilley et al. 1999) and *Rhizobium* species (Montealegre et al. 2000). The HCN-producing *Pseudomonas* strains are considered as potential inhibitors of root parasitic fungi. The proportion of HCN-producing *Pseudomonas* reduced when the plants were grown at elevated CO₂ (Tarnawski and Aragno 2006).
- Increase in mycorrhizal colonization due to increase in plant demand for nutrients, coupled with increased carbon assimilation rates (Johnson and Gehring 2007).
- Increase in the abundance and body size of most faunal groups (de Vries and Bardgett 2014).
- Shift in the nematode community structure, increasing the bacterivores and decreasing fungivores (Neher et al. 2004; Drigo et al. 2008).
- Increase in the activities of the grazers (like protozoa and microarthropods) of soil bacteria and fungi (Williams et al. 2000).
- Change in the structure of the soil food web (Phillips et al. 2006a, b; de Vries and Bardgett 2014).
- It does not predictably alter microbial biomass (Lipson et al. 2006; Zak et al. 2000).

4.5.1.3 Effect of Change in Soil Moisture Regime

Precipitations alter soil moisture regimes and regulate the decomposition during the period of moisture excess, i.e., anoxia, or moisture stress, i.e., drought. Less is known about the variable and complex soil microbial community response to alterations in precipitation or moisture than that of temperature or increased atmospheric CO_2 (Balser et al. 2010). Microbial communities are able to adapt to the inherent moisture regime of the soil and also respond to drying or wetting in different ways. This complexity of response does not allow to provide a generalized remark about the microbial response to soil moisture (Balser et al. 2010; Evans and Wallenstein 2012). Changes in soil moisture do not always lead to predictable or significant changes in bacterial and fungal abundance (Williams 2007). Nevertheless, a few examples are jotted down showing the effect of moisture regime:

- The ratio of precipitation and evaporation affects the soil microbial biomass (Insam 1990).
- Grassland ecosystems dominated by fungal-based soil food webs have shown resilience and adaptability to drought, compared to bacteria dominated wheat soils (de Vries et al. 2012).
- Microbial fatty acid abundance is affected by soil moisture (Bardgett et al. 1999).
- Precipitation influences the relative abundance of bacterial phyla. A shift in relative abundance of *Proteobacteria* and *Acidobacteria* is observed. The relative abundance of *Proteobacteria* is higher in the wet treatments, whereas *Acidobacteria* abundance is higher in dry treatments (Castro et al. 2010).
- Drought increases the abundance of fungi relative to bacteria (de Vries and Bardgett 2014).

• Drought decreases the biomass and abundance of most microbial and soil faunal groups (de Vries and Bardgett 2014).

4.5.1.4 Interaction of Temperature, Carbon Dioxide, and Soil Moisture Regime

Changes in climatic variables such as increased atmospheric CO₂, altered temperature, or precipitation regimes are unlikely to act individually, as often they will be varying simultaneously (Slaughter 2012). The interactive (e.g., additive, subtractive, or multiplicative) effects of these conditions are powerful drivers of soil microbial responses (Paul and Clark 1996; Slaughter 2012). Some examples of such interaction are as follows:

- Plentiful soil moisture in combination with increased temperature used to speed up the decomposition due to increased microbial activity and efficiency (Bontti et al. 2009). In case of limited soil moisture, elevated temperature is likely to inhibit microbial function (Bontti et al. 2009; Butenschoen et al. 2011).
- Interaction between soil moisture and elevated CO₂ is the main factor explaining variations in microbial community structure (Guenet et al. 2012).
- The effect of rise in temperature and frequency of precipitation in summer is statistically insignificant for most microfaunal groups, except amoebae. The seasonal increase in abundance of amoebae is reduced with combined effect of temperature and precipitation as compared to either of the treatments alone (Darby et al. 2011).
- A few studies show the effect of increased atmospheric CO₂, temperature, and precipitation together. A study by Castro et al. (2010) showed that the bacterial abundance increased in elevated temperature with elevated atmospheric CO₂, but decreased in in elevated temperature with ambient atmospheric CO₂. The relative abundance of certain bacterial groups responded strongly to the precipitation.

4.5.2 Soil Enzymatic Activity

Soil enzymatic activities explain the rate at which soil microbes obtain energy from organic and inorganic compounds in the environment since they use extracellular enzymes to catalyze metabolic reactions (Fuhrmann 2005). Extracellular enzymes are released outside the microbial cell to catalyze the reactions that decompose polymeric compounds which are too large to pass through the cellular membrane. Soil enzymes enhance the decomposition of soil organic substrates, release plant nutrients, and can determine whether soil organic carbon is sequestrated or depleted (Fansler et al. 2005). Extracellular enzymes like phosphatase and dehydrogenase also participate in the decomposition of SOM (Bell et al. 2010).

Production and activity of a specific enzyme mainly depend on the concentration of relevant compounds or substrates. The in situ enzyme activity is sensitive to temperature and moisture (Steinweg et al. 2012), but it is also controlled by quantity

of substrate. Rates of production and turnover of soil enzyme are influenced by temperature and moisture and thus affected by change in climatic variables (Steinweg et al. 2013). Changes in the soil microclimate by the climatic variables affect the enzyme pool sizes. In response to increased activity of the existing enzyme pool, microbes may allocate less resources to enzyme production if microbial biomass remains unchanged (Allison and Vitousek 2005).

4.5.2.1 Effect of Elevated Temperature

- Increasing temperature is generally known to increase the enzyme activities (Koch et al. 2007).
- Long-term warming could induce changes in plant species composition, which can significantly affect soil microbial production of extracellular enzyme activity (Henry 2012).
- N-degrading enzymes have lower temperature sensitivities than C-degrading enzymes (Stone et al. 2012). Under increasing N limitation in soils at elevated temperature, spurring of microbes may occur to increase the production of N-degrading enzymes and decrease the production of C-degrading enzymes.
- The activities of enzymes like β -glucosidase, cellobiohydrolase, xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase, N-acetylglucosaminidase, and leucine aminopeptidase increase with increasing temperature at 0–5 cm soil depth. β -glucosidase and acid phosphomonoesterase show the highest activity under warmer climate (Steinweg et al. 2013).

4.5.2.2 Effect of Increased CO₂

- Soil alkaline phosphatase increased linearly with CO₂ in the sandy loam type of soil (Kelley et al. 2011; Fay et al. 2012).
- Elevated CO₂ increased acid phosphatase activity (Guenet et al. 2012).
- N-degrading enzyme activity increased with elevated CO₂ in the black clay (Kelley et al. 2011; Moore-Kucera et al. 2008; Brooks et al. 2011).
- Significant increase in invertase, xylanase, urease, protease, and alkaline phosphomonoesterase activities under elevated CO₂ (Drissner et al. 2007).

4.5.2.3 Effect of Change in Soil Moisture Regime

- Soil moisture affects the diffusion of substrates, enzymes, and products of enzymes, and thus it may impose diffusion limitations on enzymes and its substrates (Allison 2005).
- Drought may decrease enzyme production as biomass accumulation declines or increase production to satisfy nutrient requirements of the biomass in oxisol (Allison and Vitousek 2005).
- Stable potential enzyme activities may also be observed under drought, but this does not necessarily indicate that these enzymes are active in dry soils (Steinweg et al. 2013). Actually, microbial uptake is more sensitive to soil moisture than enzyme activity (Suseela et al. 2012).

• In contrast, a study revealed soil organic C, microbial biomass N, dehydrogenase, phosphatase, and different pools of arylsulfatase activities decrease significantly with increasing soil aridity in desert (Li and Sarah 2003a, b).

4.6 Effect of Environmental Modification on Soil Physical Properties

At present, very few reports are available around the world, studying the impact of different environmental modification on soil physical properties. Any environmental modifications are expected to have the potential to alter soil aggregation. But the types of shifts altering the aggregate stability and magnitude of change in factors (such as root biomass and fungal length) to alter aggregate stability along with the mechanism are uncertain and yet to be studied extensively under long-term CO₂ and O₃ exposure/atmospheric warming experiments. Continuous four years of exposure to enriched level of atmospheric CO₂ have no effect on water-stable aggregates, but it influenced labile C and belowground root biomass of five annual grassland species (Eviner and Chapin 2002), without affecting the aggregate size distribution classes (Dorodnikov et al. 2009; Saha et al. 2011). In contrast, the enriched level of atmospheric CO_2 has the potential to increase the soil aggregation due to enhanced root growth (Rogers et al. 1998; Sillen and Dieleman 2012). The enhanced root carbon inputs help to stabilize the soil microaggregates via enmeshment (Jastrow et al. 2005). On the other hand, the by-products of microbial activity, such as extracellular polysaccharides of bacteria or glycoprotein glomalin of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, can form, with the surrounding mineral particles, an organomineral sheath around the cells that leads to an increase in macroaggregates as an indirect additional effect. This mechanism supports the reported increase in water stability and size distribution of aggregates in serpentine field plots for three ecosystems after long-term exposure to elevated atmospheric CO₂ (Rilling et al. 1999; Rillig et al. 2002). Earthworms have the potential to promote the stabilization of increased labile carbon inputs in soil via soil aggregate formation, resulting from elevated level of atmospheric CO₂ enrichment (Sánchez-de León et al. 2014).

4.7 Case Studies: A Special Reference to India

Case Study I: (Kant et al. 2007).

Soil type: *Typic* Haplustept (old alluvium) at Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi

Crop: Wheat (HD 2687)

Treatments: (i) Ambient $CO_2(\sim 370 \text{ }\mu\text{mol mol}^{-1})$ in open-top chambers (OTC); (ii) Elevated CO_2 (600 $\mu\text{mol mol}^{-1})$ in open-top chambers (OTC).

Results: Pot experimentation showed a significant gain in all the active C fractions with elevated atmospheric CO_2 exposure over initial status. The order of average increase in these active carbon pools was dissolved organic C (49%)

>microbial biomass C (19%) >labile C (15.7%) >carbohydrate C (0.83%). The higher microbial activity in the wheat rhizosphere soil often concentrated during crown root initiation and anthesis stages, but reduced at crop maturity.

Case Study II: (Saha et al. 2011)

Soil type: *Typic* Haplustept at Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi Crop: Pigeon pea (PUSA 992 and PS 2009)

Treatments: (i) Ambient $CO_2(\sim 390 \text{ }\mu\text{mol mol}^{-1})$ in open-top chambers (OTC), (ii) elevated $CO_2(580 \text{ }\mu\text{mol mol}^{-1})$ in open-top chambers (OTC).

Results: At the end of crop season, a 3.2-fold increase in microbial biomass C was recorded with concomitant increase in labile C (20%) and carbohydrate C (71%) fractions under elevated CO₂. A significant rise in dehydrogenase activity and FDA hydrolysis activity further confirmed the increased microbial activity under elevated CO₂ treatment with no significant change in soil physical properties. Enrichment of atmospheric CO₂ resulted in more biologically active rhizosphere soil in pigeon pea without any genotypic variation. That ultimately resulted in greater soil CO₂ concentration and increased soil CO₂ flux possibly due to enhanced microbial respiration.

Case Study III: (Manna et al. 2013)

Soil type: Inceptisol of the Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi Crop: Rice

Treatments: (i) Ambient CO₂ outdoor (~390 μ mol mol⁻¹), (ii) ambient CO₂ (~390 μ mol mol⁻¹) in open-top chambers (OTC), and (iii) elevated CO₂ (580 ± 20 μ mol mol⁻¹) in open-top chambers (OTC). A broad-spectrum, systemic, and soil-applied fungicide "azoxystrobin" was applied to each pot at recommended dose (375 g a.i.ha⁻¹).

Results: Both elevated CO_2 and azoxystrobin, alone or in combination, have no impact on the soil dehydrogenase activity. Slight increase (1.8–2 °C) in temperature inside OTC shows similar microbial activities as in rice grown in outdoors and in OTC at ambient CO_2 . Elevated CO_2 enhances soil microbial biomass (MBC) and alkaline phosphatase activity of soil. On the contrary, elevated CO_2 does not affect fluorescein diacetate and acid phosphatase activity. Authors suggest for a long-term study under varying levels of CO_2 to get the real effect of climate change on pesticide degradation.

Case Study IV: (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013a)

Soil type: Tropical alluvial soil (Aeric Endoaquept)

Crop and variety: Rice (cv. Naveen)

Treatments: The experiments were conducted in open-top chambers (OTCs). The four treatments were (i) UC, unchambered field $(394 \pm 10 \ \mu\text{mol} \ \text{mol}^{-1} \ \text{CO}_2)$; (ii) CC, ambient control chamber $(394 \pm 10 \ \mu\text{mol} \ \text{mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2)$; (iii) CEC, chamber with elevated CO₂ (550 ± 30 \ \mu\text{mol} \ \text{mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2); and (iv) CECT, chamber with elevated CO₂ (550 ± 30 \ \mu\text{mol} \ \text{mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2) and elevated temperature associated with 2 °C higher temperature compared to ambient chamber.

Results: The soil enzymatic activities are significantly influenced by the exposure of elevated CO_2 and temperature throughout the plant growth stages. Dehydrogenase activity increases significantly under CEC and CECT. The highest dehydrogenase

activity (1444 µg TPF g⁻¹ day⁻¹) is seen in CECT treatment. Similar trend is observed in fluorescein diacetate (FDA) hydrolysis activities. The β -glucosidase activity increased with plant growth up to panicle initiation stage. The maximum activity (488.7 µg urea hydrolyzed g⁻¹ h⁻¹) of urease was noted under CEC at the panicle initiation stage.

Case Study V: (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013b)

Soil type: Tropical rice soil (Aeric Endoaquept)

Crop and variety: Rice plants (cv. Naveen)

Treatments: The experiments were conducted in open-top chambers (OTCs). The four treatments were (i) UC, unchambered field $(370 \pm 20 \ \mu\text{mol mol}^{-1} \ \text{CO}_2)$; (ii) CC, ambient control chamber $(370 \pm 20 \ \mu\text{mol mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2)$; (iii) CEC, chamber with elevated CO₂ ($550 \pm 30 \ \mu\text{mol mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2$); and (iv) CECT, chamber with elevated CO₂ ($550 \pm 30 \ \mu\text{mol mol}^{-1}\text{CO}_2$) and elevated temperature associated with 2 °C higher temperature compared to ambient chamber.

Results: The enzyme activities in soil are affected by exposure to elevated CO_2 and also by the interactive effect of the elevated CO_2 and temperature throughout the plant growth stages. Maximum dehydrogenase activities are observed at the panicle initiation stage, which declined sharply at maturity. Throughout the cropping period, the dehydrogenase activity is significantly higher under CECT. The FDA activity is recorded at its maximum under CECT treatment (14.67 µg fluorescein g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) in panicle initiation stage. The β -glucosidase activities increased with plant growth and are the highest at panicle initiation stage compared to the other growth stages irrespective of treatments.

4.8 Adaptation Strategies

The most important challenge for agriculture in the twenty-first century is the need to feed increasing numbers of people – most of whom are in developing countries like us – while, at the same time, conserve the local and global environment in the face of limited soil and water resources and growing pressures associated with socioeconomic development and climate change (Tubiello 2012). To feed more mouths, somehow, mankind will face a certain effect of climate change. However, adaptation will be needed to protect livelihoods and food security under climate change situation. Proposed measures for adaptation of climate change are as follows (Howden et al. 2007):

- Modifying inputs (fertilizer, irrigation, etc.) and varieties (altering the timing or location of cropping activities) for increased resistance to heat, drought, flood, and salinization
- (ii) Efficient irrigation services, avoiding waterlogging, nutrient leaching and erosion, promoting water harvesting, and soil moisture conservation
- (iii) Integrated farming such as livestock raising and fish production in rice paddies with less environmental footprint
- (iv) Promoting integrated pest and disease management, using resistant varieties

- (v) Increasing use of climate forecasting to reduce production risk
- (vi) Balance in livestock keeping with pasture production, pasture rotation, adjustment of grazing times, and change of forage and animal breeds
- (vii) Improved forest management, including hardwood/softwood species mix, shifting to species or areas more productive under new climatic conditions, planning landscapes to minimize fire and insect damage, etc.
- (viii) Introducing forest conservation, agroforestry, and forest-based enterprises for diversification of rural incomes
 - (ix) Altering the catch size and effort and improving the environment where breeding occurs, as well as reducing the level of fishing in order to sustain yields of fish stocks

4.9 Mitigation Options

Reducing emission of GHGs, enhancing removals, and avoiding emissions are the three pillars of mitigation strategy for climate change.

- (i) For carbon dioxide:
 - Aggregation: Increase in stable microaggregates through the formation of organo-mineral complexes encapsulates C and protects it against microbial activities.
 - Humification: To sequester C in humus, addition of N, P, and S is needed.
 - Translocation into the subsoil: Translocation of SOC into the subsoil.
 - Formation of secondary carbonates: CaCO₃ and MgCO₃.
 - Burial of SOC-laden sediments: Transport of SOC-enriched sediments to depressed sites and/or aquatic ecosystems.
 - Plantation of deep-rooted plants: Horticulture and agroforestry.
 - Restoration of degraded lands: Adoption of conservation tillage and mulch farming techniques, soil and water conservation, and use of suitable crop rotations.
 - Reduced tillage: C may sequester under no-tillage.
 - Application of biochar: Organic material used up slowly under limited oxygen. Highly stable, porous, active surfaces.
 - Mineralogical control of soil carbon (Chatterjee et al. 2013).
 - Establishment of bioenergy plantation with a large potential for biomass production.
 - · Afforestation of agriculturally marginal soil.
 - Growing species containing cellulose and other resistant materials.
 - Soil fertility management: Integrated use of fertilizer and manures, addition of compost and biosolids which stimulates soil biological activity and humification efficiency, and improving soil structure leading to increase in SOC sequestration and water management through irrigation can drastically increase SOC content.

(ii) For methane:

- Upgrading the equipment used to produce, store, and transport oil and gas can reduce many of the leaks that contribute to CH₄ emissions. Methane from coal mines can also be captured and used for energy.
- Reducing methane emission from rice field: Alternate wetting and drying, efficient rice variety, application of organic inputs under aerobic condition, crop rotation, and application of Mn, Fe, S, fertilizers.
- Integrated rice and livestock systems: Use a highly digestible feed for livestock.
- Better irrigation water efficiency.
- Integrating animal manure waste management systems, including biogas capture and utilization.
- Capture landfill CH₄.
- (iii) For nitrous oxide:
 - Water management: Drainage increases the emission of N2O.
 - Judicious application of N fertilizer (Pathak et al. 2016).
 - Application of nitrification inhibitors and slow-release fertilizers.
 - Integrating animal manure waste management systems.
 - Restoring land by controlled grazing.

4.10 Conclusion

It is evident that the positive feedback of the ever-increasing atmospheric GHGs often accounts for hastening the atmospheric warming rate even in a greater magnitude than the available model predictions. The impact of this global environmental change is expected to have a marked influence on the belowground soil processes. Unlike plant systems, the response of soil toward this environmental change is expected to be limited due to strong buffering capacity of the soil. The experimental reports based on short-term exposure of environmental modifications often ignore this fact. Short-term elevated atmospheric CO2 enhances C accumulation on potential and belowground translocation of photosynthates toward the roots of different C₃ crop species by stimulating photosynthesis. For C₄ crop species, the scope is often limited. But, the overall C sequestration potential of any C_3 -dominated ecosystem is often limited under sufficient moisture availability due to increased labile C fractions and enhanced soil microbial respiration with greater substrate availability from rhizodeposition. For long-term CO_2 exposure, the phenomenon is expected to be limited due to photosynthetic acclimatization as well as the soil buffering capacity. At present, such investigations are highly suffering from limited report availability for conducting long-term elevated CO₂ exposure impact experimentation on soilplant-atmosphere continuum in India. Some reports are available under the temperate climate conditions of the European countries. But such reports have limited applicability for the tropical environmental condition in India. In addition, the modulating impacts of elevated temperature and other GHGs in conjunction to elevated atmospheric CO₂ levels are not yet widely studied. Majority of such available interaction studies are often confined into control chamber experimentation due to poor infrastructure facility, which is available to conduct such expensive research experimentation in India. Studies on GHG emissions have fetched immense popularity due to their increasing role in policy-making at national and international domain. In contrast, the GHG impact studies have no such direct impact on the policy formulation. But such impact studies often constitute the most essential tool to understand the ecosystem physiology that is useful to develop the prediction models of our future environment as well as different soil processes. It will be also useful to curve out the climate change adaption and mitigation strategies for our near future. The treasures of long-term impact research inventory on carbon stock and nutrient availability are yet to unveil in relation to our future crop productivity. Therefore, we have to realize the need to focus our future research thrust on the long-term impact studies of the environmental change on the belowground soil environment.

References

- Abbasi MK, Müller C (2011) Trace gas fluxes of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O in a permanent grassland soil exposed to elevated CO₂ in the Giessen FACE study. Atmos Chem Phys 11:4199–4227
- Al-Kaisi MM, Kruse ML, Sawyer JE (2008) Effect of nitrogen fertilizer application on growing season soil carbon dioxide emission in a corn-soybean rotation. J Environ Qual 37:325–332
- Allison SD (2005) Cheaters, diffusion and nutrients constrain decomposition by microbial enzymes in spatially structured environments. Ecol Lett 8:626–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.14610248. 2005.00756.x
- Allison SD, Vitousek PM (2005) Responses of extracellular enzymes to simple and complex nutrient inputs. Soil Biol Biochem 37:937–944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.09.014
- Allison SD, Wallenstein MD, Bradford MA (2010) Soil-carbon response to warming dependent on microbial physiology. Nat Geosci 3:336–340
- Amendolara T (2011–12) Soil microorganisms and global climate change. Verge 8, p 8. http:// www.goucher.edu/Documents/verge/papers8/Soil Microorganisms And Global Climate Change.pdf
- Anand S, Dahiya RP, Talyan V, Vrat P (2005) Investigations of methane emissions from rice cultivation in Indian context. Environ Int 31:469–482
- Arnone JA III, Bohlen PJ (1998) Stimulated N₂O flux from intact grassland monoliths after two growing seasons under elevated atmospheric CO₂. Oecologia 116:331–335
- Askegaard M, Olesen JE, Kristensen K (2005) Nitrate leaching from organic arable crop rotations: effects of location, manure and catch crop. Soil Use Manage 21(2):181–188
- Baggs EM, Rees RM, Smith KA, Vinten AJA (2000) Nitrous oxide emission from soils after incorporating crop residues. Soil Use Manage 16(2):82–87
- Balser TC, Gutknecht JLM, Liang C (2010) How will climate change impact soil microbial communities? In: Dixon GR, Tilston E (eds) Soil microbiology and sustainable crop. University of Reading Press, Reading, pp 373–397
- Bandyopadhyay KK (2012) Carbon sequestration: global and Indian scenario. In: Singh AK, Ngachan SV, Munda GC, Mohapatra KP, Choudhury BU, Das A, Rao CS, Patel DP, Rajkhowa DJ, Ramkrushna GI, Panwar AS (eds) Carbon management in agriculture for mitigating Greenhouse Effect. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya, India, pp 27–42
- Bardgett RD, Kandeler E, Tscherko D, Hobbs PJ, Bezemer TM, Jones TH, Thompson LJ (1999) Below-ground microbial community development in a high temperature world. Oikos 85(2):193–203

- Bauer J, Kirschbaum MUF, Weihermüller L, Huisman JA, Herbst M, Vereecken H (2008) Temperature response of wheat decomposition is more complex than the common approaches of most multi-pool models. Soil Biol Biochem 40:2780–2786
- Beier C, Emmett BA, Penuelas J et al (2008) Carbon and nitrogen cycles in European ecosystems respond differently to global warming. Sci Total Environ 407:692–697
- Bell TH, Klironomos JN, Henry HAL (2010) Seasonal responses of extracellular enzyme activity and microbial to warming and nitrogen addition. Soil Sci Soc Am J 74:820–828
- Berglund Ö, Berglund K (2011) Influence of water table level and soil properties on emissions of greenhouse gases from cultivated peat soil. Soil Biol Biochem 43(5):923–931
- Bever JD, Platt TG, Morton ER (2012) Microbial population and community dynamics on plant roots and their feedbacks on plant communities. Annu Rev Microbiol 66:265–283
- Bhaduri D, Mandal A, Chakraborty K, Chatterjee D, Dey R (2017) Interlinked chemical-biological processes in anoxic waterlogged soil-a review. Indian J Agr Sci 87(12):1587–1599
- Bhatia A, Ghosh A, Kumar V, Tomer R, Singh SD, Pathak H (2011) Effect of elevated tropospheric ozone on methane and nitrous oxide emission from rice soil in North India. Agric Ecosyst Environ 144:21–28
- Bhattacharyya P, Manna MC (2014) Soil organic pools and climate change feedback. In: Shahid M, Bhattacharyya P, Nayak AK (eds) Advanced techniques for assessment of soil health, GHG emissions and carbon sequestration in rice under changing climatic scenario and mitigation strategies. Compendium from winter school. Crop Production Division, CRRI, Cuttack, Odisha, India, 11th November to 1st December, 2014, pp 41–46
- Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS, Neogi S, Dash PK, Nayak AK, Mohanty S, Baig MJ, Sarkar RK, Rao KS (2013a) Impact of elevated CO₂ and temperature on soil C and N dynamics in relation to CH₄ and N₂O emissions from tropical flooded rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Sci Total Environ 461–462:601–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.035
- Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS, Neogi S, Manna MC, Adhya TK, Rao KS, Nayak AK (2013b) Influence of elevated carbon dioxide and temperature on belowground carbon allocation and enzyme activities in tropical flooded soil planted with rice. Environ Monit Assess 185:8659–8671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-013-3202-7
- Bhattacharyyaa P, Roy KS, Dash PK, Neogi S, Shahid M, Nayak AK, Raja R, Karthikeyan S, Balachandar D, Rao KS (2014) Effect of elevated carbon dioxide and temperature on phosphorus uptake in tropical flooded rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Eur J Agron 53:28–37
- Bijay-Singh, Ryden JC, Whitchead DC (1988) Some relationships between denitrification potential and fractions of organic carbon in air-dried and field-moist soils. Soil Biol Biochem 20 (5):737–741
- Blagodatskaya E, Kuzyakov Y (2008) Mechanisms of real and apparent priming effects and their dependence on soil microbial biomass and community structure: critical review. Biol Fertil Soils 45:115–131
- Bontti EA, Decant JP, Munson SM, Gathany MA, Przeszlowska A, Haddix ML, Owens S, Burke IC, Parton WJ, Harmon ME (2009) Litter decomposition in grasslands of Central North America (US Great Plains). Glob Chang Biol 15:1356–1363
- Bouma J, Kai LN, David ME, Jonathan PL (1997) Estimating respiration of roots in soil: interactions with soil CO₂, soil temperature and soil water content. Plant Soil 195:221–232
- Bradford MA (2013) Thermal adaptation of decomposer communities in warming soils. Front Microbiol 4:333. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00333
- Brooks D, Chan R, Starks E, Grayston S, Jones M (2011) Ectomycorrhizal hyphae structure components of the soil bacterial community for decreased phosphatase production. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 76:245–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.15746941.2011.01060.x
- Butenschoen O, Scheu S, Eisenhauer N (2011) Interactive effects of warming, soil humidity and plant diversity on litter decomposition and microbial activity. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1902–1907
- Butterbach-Bahl K, Baggs EM, Dannenmann M, Kiese R, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? Philos Trans R Soc B 368:20130122

- Calfapietra C, De Angelis P, Gielen B et al (2007) Increased nitrogen use efficiency of a shortrotation poplar plantation in elevated CO₂ concentration. Tree Physiol 27:1153–1163
- Carpenter-Boggs L, Pikul JL Jr, Vigil MF, Riedell WE (2000) Soil nitrogen mineralization influenced by crop rotation fertilization. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:2038–2045
- Carter MS, Ambus P, Albert KR, Larsen KS, Andersson M, Priemé A, van der Linden L, Beier C (2011) Effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂, prolonged summer drought and temperature increase on N₂O and CH₄ fluxes in a temperate heathland. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1660–1670
- Cassman KG, Dobermann A, Walters DT, Haishun Y (2003) Meeting cereal demand while protecting natural resources and improving environmental quality. Annu Rev Environ Resour 28:315–358
- Castro HF, Classen AT, Austin EE, Norby RJ, Schadt CW (2010) Soil microbial community responses to multiple experimental climate change drivers. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02874-09
- Chadwick DR, Pain BF, Brookman SKE (2000) Nitrous oxide and methane emissions following application of animal manures to grassland. J Environ Qual 29(1):277–287
- Chakrabarti B, Jain N, Bhatia A, Gupta SK, Pathak H (2012) Impact of climate change on soil fertility. In: Pathak H, Aggarwal PK, Singh SD (eds) Climate change impact, adaptation and mitigation in agriculture: methodology for assessment and applications. Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, pp 105–110
- Chatterjee D, Saha S (2015) Climate change and agriculture: a multidimensional perspective. In: Chatterjee D, Sangma CBK, Kikon ZJ, Ray SK, Chowdhury P, Bordoloi LJ, Deka BC (eds) Resource conservation technologies in the context of climate change. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Nagaland Centre, Jharnapani, Medziphema, pp 1–8
- Chatterjee D, Datta SC, Manjaiah KM (2013) Clay carbon pools and their relationship with shortrange order minerals: avenues to mitigate climate change? Curr Sci 25:1404–1410
- Chatterjee D, Datta SC, Manjaiah KM (2014) Fractions, uptake and fixation capacity of phosphorus and potassium in three contrasting soil orders. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 14(3):640–656
- Chatterjee D, Datta SC, Manjaiah KM (2015) Effect of citric acid treatment on release of phosphorus, aluminium and iron from three dissimilar soils of India. Arch Agron Soil Sci 61(1):105–117
- Chatterjee D, Mohanty S, Guru PK, Swain CK, Tripathi R, Shahid M, Kumar U, Kumar A, Bhattacharyya P, Gautam P, Lal B (2018a) Comparative assessment of urea briquette applicators on greenhouse gas emission, nitrogen loss and soil enzymatic activities in tropical lowland rice. Agric Ecosyst Environ 252:178–190
- Chatterjee D, Tripathi R, Chatterjee S, Debnath M, Shahid M, Bhattacharyya P, Swain CK, Tripathy R, Bhattacharya BK, Nayak AK (2018b) Characterization of land surface energy fluxes in a tropical lowland rice paddy. Theor Appl Climatol:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-018-2472-y
- Chirinda N, Carter MS, Albert KR, Ambus P, Olesen JE, Porter JR, Petersen SO (2010) Emissions of nitrous oxide from arable organic and conventional cropping systems on two soil types. Agric Ecosyst Environ 136(3–4):199–208
- Conrad R (1989) Control of methane production in terrestrial ecosystems. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (eds) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. Wiley, Chichester, pp 39–58
- Conrad R, Rothfuss F (1991) Methane oxidation in the soil surface layer of a flooded rice field and the effect of ammonium. Biol Fertil Soils 12(1):28–32
- Contreras-Ramos SM, lvarez-Bernal DA, Montes-Molina JA, Cleemput OV, Dendooven L (2009) Emission of nitrous oxide from hydrocarbon contaminated soil amended with waste water sludge and earthworms. Appl Soil Ecol 41(1):69–76
- Corsi S, Friedrich T, Kassam A, Pisante M, Sà JDM (2012) Soil organic carbon accumulation and greenhouse gas emission reductions from conservation agriculture: a literature review. In: Integrated crop management, vol. 16. Plant Production and Protection Division, Food and Agriculture Organization, United Nations, p 89

- Crutzen PJ, Ehhalt DH (1977) Effects of nitrogen fertilizers and combustion on the stratospheric ozone layer. Ambio 6(2/3):112–117
- Dalal RC, Wang W, Robertson GP, Parton WJ (2003) Nitrous oxide emission from Australian agricultural lands and mitigation options: a review. Aust J Soil Res 41(2):165–195
- Darby BJ, Neher DA, Housman DC, Belnap J (2011) Few apparent short-term effects of elevated soil temperature and increased frequency of summer precipitation on the abundance and taxonomic diversity of desert soil micro- and meso-fauna. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1474–1481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.020
- Davidson EA, Verchot LV (2000) Testing the hole-in-the-pipe model of nitric and nitrous oxide emissions from soils using the TRAGNET database. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 14 (4):1035–1043
- De Boer W, Kowalchuk GA (2001) Nitrification in acid soils: microorganisms and mechanisms. Soil Biol Biochem 33(7–8):853–866
- de Vries FT, Liiri ME, Bjørnlund L, Bowker MA, Christensen S, Setälä HM, Bardgett RD (2012) Land use alters the resistance and resilience of soil food webs to drought. Nat Clim Chang 2:276–280
- de Vries FT, Bardgett RD (2014) Climate change effects on soil biota in the UK. Biodiversity Report Card 2014–15, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. http://www.manchester. ac.uk/research
- Delaire M, Frak E, Sigogne M, Adam B, Beaujard F, Le Roux X (2005) Sudden increase in atmospheric CO₂ concentration reveals strong coupling between shoot carbon uptake and root nutrient uptake in young walnut trees. Tree Physiol 25:229–235
- Delgado JA, Dillon MA, Sparks RT, Essah SYC (2007) A decade of advances in cover crops. J Soil Water Conserv 62(5):110A–117A
- Dijkstra FA, Breemen NV, Jongmans AG, Davies GR, Likens GE (2003) Calcium weathering in forested soils and the effect of different tree species. Biogeochemistry 62:253–275
- Ding WX, Cai Y, Cai ZC, Yagi K, Zheng XH (2007) Nitrous oxide emissions from an intensively cultivated maize wheat rotation soil in the North China plain. Sci Total Environ 373 (2–3):501–511
- Doran JW, Mielke LN, Powe JF (1990) Microbial activity as regulated by soil water filled pore space. In: Transactions of the 14th International Congress on soil science, vol 3, pp 94–99
- Dorodnikov M, Blagodatskaya E, Blagodatsky S, Marhan S, Fangmeier A, Kuzyakov Y (2009) Stimulation of microbial extracellular enzyme activities by elevated CO₂ depends on soil aggregate size. Glob Chang Biol 15:1603–1614
- Drake HL, Horn MA (2006) Earthworms as a transient heaven for terrestrial denitrifying microbes: a review. Eng Life Sci 6(3):261–265
- Drewitt GB, Black TA, Nesic Z, Humphreys ER, Jork EM, Swanson R, Ethier GJ, Griffis T, Morgenstern K (2002) Measuring forest floor CO₂ fluxes in a Douglas-fir forest. Agric For Meteorol 110:299–317
- Drigo B, Kowalchuk GA, van Veen JA (2008) Climate change goes underground: effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂ on microbial community structure and activities in the rhizosphere. Biol Fertil Soils 44:667–679. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-008-0277-3
- Drissner D, Blum H, Tscherko D, Kandeler E (2007) Nine years of enriched CO₂ changes the function and structural diversity of soil microorganisms in a grassland. Eur J Soil Sci 58:260–269
- Dunbar J, Eichorst SA, Gallegos-Graves L, Silva S, Xie G, Hengartner NW, Evans RD, Hungate BA, Jackson RB, Megonigal JP, Schadt CW, Vilgalys R, Zak DR, Kuske CR (2012) Common bacterial responses in six ecosystems exposed to 10 years of elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide. Environ Microbiol 14:1145–1158
- Dungait JAJ, Hopkins DW, Gregory AS, Whitmore AP (2012) Soil organic matter is governed by accessibility not recalcitrance. Glob Chang Biol 18:1781–1796
- EIA (2008) Emissions of greenhouse gases in the United States 2008. www.eia.gov/oiaf/1605/ ggrpt/pdf/0573(2008).pdf

- Ellsworth D, Reich P, Naumburg E, Koch G, Kubiske M, Smith S (2004) Photosynthesis, carboxylation and leaf nitrogen responses of 16 species to elevated pCO₂ across four free-air CO₂ enrichment experiments in forest, grassland and desert. Glob Chang Biol 10:2121–2138
- Evans SE, Wallenstein MD (2012) Soil microbial community response to drying and rewetting stress: does historical precipitation regime matter? Biogeochemistry 109:101–116
- Eviner VT, Chapin FS (2002) The influence of plant species, fertilization and elevated CO₂ on soil aggregate stability. Plant Soil 246:211
- Fang C, Moncrieff JB (2001) The dependence of soil CO₂ efflux on temperature. Soil Biol Biochem 33:155–165
- Fansler SJ, Smith JL, Bolton H, Baily VL (2005) Distribution of two C cycle enzymes in soil aggregates of a prairie. Biol Fertil Soils 42:17–23
- Fay P, Jin V, Way D, Potter K, Gill R, Jackson R, Polley H (2012) Soil-mediated effects of subambient to increased carbon dioxide on grassland productivity. Nat Clim Chang 2:742–746. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1573
- Feyereisen GW, Wilson BN, Sands GR, Strock JS, Porter PM (2006) Potential for a rye cover crop to reduce nitrate loss in south western Minnesota. Agron J 98(6):1416–1426
- Firestone MK, Firestone RB, Tiedje JM (1980) Nitrous oxide from soil denitrification: factors controlling its biological production. Science 208(4445):749–751
- Focht DD, Verstraete W (1977) Biochemical ecology of nitrification and denitrification. In: Alexander M (ed) Advances in microbial ecology. Plenum Press, New York, pp 135–214
- French S, Levy-Booth D, Samarajeewa A, Shannon KE, Smith J, Trevors JT (2009) Elevated temperatures and carbon dioxide concentrations: effects on selected microbial activities in temperate agricultural soils. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:1887–1900. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11274-009-0107-2
- Fuhrmann JF (2005) Microbial metabolism. In: Sylvia DM, Hartel PG, Fuhrmann JJ, Zuberer DA (eds) Principles and applications of soil microbiology, 2nd edn. Pearson Prentice Hall, pp 54–83
- García-Marco DM, Ravella SR, Chadwick D, Vallejo A, Gregory AS, Cárdenas LM (2014) Ranking factors affecting emissions of GHG from incubated agricultural soils. Eur J Soil Sci 65:573–583
- Godfray HCJ, Beddington JR, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D, Muir JF, Pretty J, Robinson S, Thomas SM, Toulmin C (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327:812–818
- Grieve IC (2001) Human impacts on soil properties and their implications for the sensitivity of soil systems in Scotland. Catena 42:361–374
- Groffman PM, Gold AJ, Kellogg DQ, Addy K (2002) Nitrous oxide emissions derived from N leaching. In: Petersen SO, Olesen JE (eds) DIAS report, Plant production no. 81. Greenhouse gas inventories for agriculture in the Nordic countries. Danish Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, pp 143–155
- Guenet B, Lenhart K, Leloup J, Giusti-Miller S, Pouteau V, Mora P, Nunan N, Abbadie L (2012) The impact of long-term CO₂ enrichment and moisture levels on soil microbial community structure and enzyme activities. Geoderma 170:331–336
- Hayatsu M, Tago K, Saito M (2008) Various players in the nitrogen cycle: diversity and functions of the microorganisms involved in nitrification and denitrification. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 54 (1):33–45
- Henault C, Devis X, Page S, Justes E, Reau R, Germon JC (1998) Nitrous oxide emissions under different soil and land management conditions. Biol Fertil Soils 26(3):199–207
- Henry HAL (2012) Soil extracellular enzyme dynamics in a changing climate. Soil Biol Biochem 47:53–59
- Heywood VH, Watson RT (eds) (1995) Global biodiversity assessment. UNEP, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Hodge A, Robinson D, Fitter A (2000) Are microorganisms more effective than plants at competing for nitrogen? Trends Plant Sci 5:304–308

- Hou X, Chen GX, Wang ZP, Van Cleemput O, Patrick WH (1998) Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from a rice field in relation to soil redox and microbiological processes. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64(6):2180–2186
- Howden M, Soussana JF, Tubiello FN (2007) Adaptation strategies for climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:19691–19698
- Hu S, Chapin FS, Firestone MK, Field CB, Chiariello NR (2001) Nitrogen limitation of microbial decomposition in a grassland under elevated CO₂. Nature 409:188–191
- Hulme M, Jenkins GJ (1998) Climate change scenarios for the U.K.: scientific report. UKCIP technical report no. l. Climate Research Unit, Norwich
- Insam H (1990) Are the soil microbial biomass and basal respiration governed by the climatic regime? Soil Biol Biochem 22:525–532
- Inubushi K, Barahona MA, Yamakawa K (1999) Effects of salts and moisture content on N₂O emission and nitrogen dynamics in yellow soil and Andosol in model experiments. Biol Fertil Soils 29(4):401–407
- IPCC (2007a) Climate Change 2007: the physical science basis, contribution of working group I to the Fourth Assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- IPCC (2007b) Climate change 2007: synthesis report. Available at http://www.ipcc.ch/ publications_and_data/publications_ipcc_fourth_assessment_report_synthesis_report.htm
- Jacinthe P, Lal R (2003) Nitrogen fertilization of wheat residues affecting nitrous oxide and methane emission from a Central Ohio Luvisol. Biol Fertil Soils 37(6):338–347
- Jastrow JD, Miller RM, Matamala R, Norby RJ, Boutton TW, Rice CW, Owensby CE (2005) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ increases soil carbon. Glob Chang Biol 11:2057–2064
- Jenkinson DJ, Raynor JH (1977) The turnover of soil organicmatter in some of the Rothamsted classical experiments. Soil Sci 123:298–305
- Jensen BB, Burris RH (1986) N₂O as a substrate and as a competitive inhibitor of nitrogenase. Biochemistry 25(5):1083–1088
- Jha P, Biswas AK, Rao AS (2012) Carbon sequestration in agricultural soils: Evolving concepts, issues and strategies. In: Singh AK, Ngachan SV, Munda GC, Mohapatra KP, Choudhury BU, Das A, Rao CS, Patel DP, Rajkhowa DJ, Ramkrushna GI, Panwar AS (eds) Carbon management in agriculture for mitigating greenhouse effect. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya, India, pp 17–26
- Johnson NC, Gehring CA (2007) Mycorrhizas: symbiotic mediators of rhizosphere and ecosystem processes. In: Cardon ZG, Whitbeck JL (eds) The rhizosphere: an ecological perspective. Elsevier Academic Press, London, pp 31–56
- Kalbitz K, Solinger S, Park J-H, Michalzik B, Matzner E (2000) Controls on the dynamics of dissolved organic matter in soils: a review. Soil Sci 165:277–304
- Kant PCB, Bhadraray S, Purakayastha TJ, Jain V, Pal M, Datta SC (2007) Active carbon-pools in rhizosphere of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) grown under elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration in a *Typic* Haplustept in sub-tropical India. Environ Pollut 147:273–281
- Kappelle M, van Vuuren MMI, Baas P (1999) Effects of climate change on biodiversity: a review and identification of key research issues. Biodivers Conserv 8:1383–1397
- Kardol P, Cornips NJ, van Kempen MML, Bakx-Schotman JMT, van der Putten WH (2007) Microbe-mediated plant-soil feedback causes historical contingency effects in plant community assembly. Ecol Monogr 77:147–162
- Kelley A, Fay P, Polley H, Gill R, Jackson R (2011) Atmospheric CO₂ and soil extracellular enzyme activity: a meta-analysis and CO₂ gradient experiment. Ecosphere 2(8):96. https://doi. org/10.1890/ES11-00117.1
- Kim HY, Lieffering M, Miura S, Kobayashi K, Okada M (2001) Growth and nitrogen uptake of CO₂-enriched rice under field conditions. New Phytol 150:223–229
- Kim YS, Imori M, Watanabe M, Hatano R, Yi MJ, Koike T (2012) Simulated nitrogen inputs influence methane and nitrous oxide fluxes from a young larch plantation in northern Japan. Atmos Environ 46:36–44

- Koch O, Tscherko D, Kandeler E (2007) Temperature sensitivity of microbial respiration, nitrogen mineralization, and potential soil enzyme activities in organic alpine soils. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 21:GB4017
- Kool DM, Wrage N, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S, Pfeffer M, Brus D, Oenema O, Van Groenigen J-W (2010) Nitrifier denitrification can be a source of N₂O from soil: a revised approach to the dual isotope labelling method. Eur J Soil Sci 61:759–772
- Kou TJ, Wang LR, Zhu JG, Xie ZB, Wang YL (2014) Ozone pollution influences soil carbon and nitrogen sequestration and aggregate composition in paddy soils. Plant Soil 380:305–313
- Kowalenko CG, Ivarson KC (1978) Effect of moisture content, temperature and nitrogen fertilization on carbon dioxide evolution from field soils. Soil Biol Biochem 10:417–423
- Krausea K, Niklausc PA, Schleppia P (2013) Soil-atmosphere fluxes of the greenhouse gases CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O in a mountain spruce forest subjected to long term N addition and to tree girdling. Agric For Meteorol 181:61–68
- Krüger M, Eller G, Conrad R, Frenzel P (2002) Seasonal variation in pathways of CH₄ production and in CH₄ oxidation in rice fields determined by stable carbon isotopes and specific inhibitors. Glob Chang Biol 8:265–280
- Kumar M, Swarup A, Patra AK, Purakayastha TJ, Manjaiah KM, Rakshit R (2011) Elevated CO₂ and temperature effects on phosphorus dynamics in rhizosphere of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) grown in a Typic Haplustept of subtropical India. Agrochimica 55:14–31
- Kumar M, Swarup A, Patra AK, Chandrakala JU, Manjaiah KM (2012) Effect of elevated CO₂ and temperature on phosphorus efficiency of wheat grown in an Inceptisol of subtropical India. Plant Soil Environ 58:230–235
- Kuzyakov Y (2006) Sources of CO₂ efflux from soil and review of partitioning methods. Soil Biol Biochem 38:425–448
- Laegried M, Aastveit AH (2002) Nitrous oxide emissions from field-applied fertilizers. In: Petersen SO, Olesen JE (eds) DIAS report, Plant production no. 81, October 2002. Greenhouse Gas inventories for agriculture in the Nordic countries. Danish Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, pp 122–134
- Lagomarsino A, Moscatelli MC, Hoosbeek MR, Angelis PD, Grego S (2008) Assessment of soil nitrogen and phosphorous availability under elevated CO₂ and N-fertilization in a short rotation poplar plantation. Plant Soil 308:131–147
- Lal R (2004) Soil carbon sequestration in India. Clim Chang 65:277-296
- Lal R (2008) Sequestration of atmospheric CO₂ in global carbon pools. Energy Environ Sci 1:86–100. https://doi.org/10.1039/B809492F
- Le Mer J, Roger P (2001) Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: a review. Eur J Soil Biol 37:25–50
- Lee J, Hopmans JW, van Kessel C, King AP, Jeannie Evatt K, Louie D, Rolston DE, Six J (2009) Tillage and seasonal emissions of CO₂, N₂O and NO across a seed bed and at the field scale in a Mediterranean climate. Agric Ecosyst Environ 129:378–390
- Leifeld J, Fuhrer J (2005) The temperature response of CO₂ production from bulk soils and soil fractions is related to soil organic matter quality. Biogeochemistry 75:433–453
- Lesschen JP, Velthof GL, de Vries W, Kros J (2011) Differentiation of nitrous oxide emission factors for agricultural soils. Environ Pollut 159(11):3215–3222
- Li XZ, Sarah P (2003a) Arylsulfatase activity of soil microbial biomass along a Mediterranean-arid transect. Soil Biol Biochem 35:925–934
- Li XZ, Sarah P (2003b) Enzyme activities along a climatic transect in the Judean Desert. Catena 53:349–363
- Lindberg N (2003) Soil fauna and global change: responses to experimental drought, irrigation, fertilisation and soil warming. A doctoral thesis submitted to Department of Ecology and Environmental Research, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala
- Lipson DA, Blair M, Barron-Gafford G, Grieve K, Murthy R (2006) Relationships between microbial community structure and soil processes under elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide. Microb Ecol 51:302–314

- Lipson DA, Kuske CR, Gallegos-Graves LV, Oechel WC (2014) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ stimulates soil fungal diversity through increased fine root production in a semiarid shrubland ecosystem. Glob Chang Biol 20:2555–2565
- Liu LL, King JS, Giardina CP (2007) Effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂ and tropospheric O₃ on nutrient dynamics: decomposition of leaf litter in trembling aspen and paper birch communities. Plant Soil 299:65–82
- Livesley SJ, Grover S, Hutley LB, Jamali H, Butterbach-Bahld K, Fest B, Beringer J, Arndt SK (2011) Seasonal variation and fire effects on CH₄, N₂O and CO₂ exchange in savanna soils of northern Australia. Agric For Meteorol 151(11):1440–1452
- Lloyd D, Thomas KL, Benstead J, Davies KL, Lloyd SH, Arah JRM, Stephen KD (1998) Methanogenesis and CO₂ exchange in an ombrotrophic peat bog. Atmos Environ 32:3229–3238
- Lobe I, Amelung A, Du Preez CC (2001) Losses of carbon and nitrogen with prolonged arable cropping from sandy soils of the south African Highveld. Eur J Soil Sci 52(1):93–101
- Low AP, Stark JM, Dudley LM (1997) Effects of soil osmotic potential on nitrification, ammonification, N-assimilation, and nitrous oxide production. Soil Sci 162(1):16–27
- Lukac M, Calfapietra C, Lagomarsino A, Loreto F (2010) Global climate change and tree nutrition: effects of elevated CO₂ and temperature. Tree Physiol 30:1209–1220. https://doi.org/10.1093/ treephys/tpq040
- Ma ED, Zhang GB, Ma J, Xu H, Cai ZC, Yagi K (2010) Effects of rice straw returning methods on N₂O emission during wheat-growing season. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 88(3):463–469
- Maag M, Vinther FP (1996) Nitrous oxide emissions by nitrification and denitrification in different soil types and at different soil moisture contents and temperatures. Appl Soil Ecol 4(1):5–14
- Majumdar D (2003) Methane and nitrous oxide emission from irrigated rice fields: proposed mitigation strategies. Curr Sci 84(10):1317–1327
- Majumdar D, Pathak H, Kumar S, Jain MC (2002) Nitrous oxide emission from a sandy loam Inceptisol under irrigated wheat in India as influenced by different nitrification inhibitors. Agric Ecosyst Environ 91(1–3):283–293
- Mandal A, Neenu S (2012) Impact of climate change on soil biodiversity- a review. Agric Rev 33:283–292
- Manna MC, Swarup A, Wanjari RH, Ravankar HN, Mishra B, Saha MN et al (2005) Long-term effect of fertilizer and manure application on soil organic carbon storage, soil quality and yield sustainability under sub-humid and semi-arid tropical India. Field Crops Res 93:264–280
- Manna S, Singh N, Singh VP (2013) Effect of elevated CO₂ on degradation of azoxystrobin and soil microbial activity in rice soil. Environ Monit Assess 185:2951–2960. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10661-012-2763-1
- Marilley L, Hartwig UA, Aragno M (1999) Influence of an elevated atmospheric CO₂ content on soil and rhizosphere bacterial communities beneath *Lolium perenne* and *Trifolium repens* under field conditions. Microb Ecol 38:39–49
- Masscheleyn PH, DeLaune RD, Patrick WH Jr (1993) Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from laboratory measurements of rice soil suspension: effect of soil oxidation-reduction status. Chemosphere 26(1–4):251–260
- Mathieu O, Hénault C, Lévêque J, Baujard E, Milloux M-J, Andreux F (2006) Quantifying the contribution of nitrification and denitrification to the nitrous oxide flux using ¹⁵N tracers. Environ Pollut 144:933–940
- Matthies C, Griesshammer A, Schmittroth M, Drake HL (1999) Evidence for involvement of gut-associated denitrifying bacteria in emission of nitrous oxide (N₂O) by earthworms obtained from garden and forest soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(8):3599–3604
- Menyailo OV, Stepanov AL, Umarov MM (1997) The transformation of nitrous oxide by denitrifying bacteria in Solonchaks. Pochvovedenie 30(2):213–215
- Millar N, Baggs EM (2005) Relationships between N₂O emissions and water soluble C and N contents of agroforestry residues after their addition to soil. Soil Biol Biochem 37(3):605–608
- Millar N, Ndufa JK, Cadisch G, Baggs EM (2004) Nitrous oxide emissions following incorporation of improved-fallow residues in the humid tropics. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 18(1):GB1032

- Montealegre CM, Van Kessel C, Blumenthal JM, Hur H-G, Hartwig UA, Sadowsky MJ (2000) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ alters microbial population structure in a pasture ecosystem. Glob Chang Biol 6:475–482
- Moore-Kucera J, Azarenko A, Brutcher L, Chozinski A (2008) In search of key soil functions to assess soil community management for sustainable sweet cherry orchards. Hortic Sci 43:38–44 Mosier AR (1998) Soil processes and global warming. Biol Fertil Soils 27:221–229
- Mosier AR, Morgan JA, King JY, LeCain D, Milchunas DG (2002) Soil-atmosphere exchange of CH₄, CO₂, NOx, and N₂O in the Colorado shortgrass steppe under elevated CO₂. Plant Soil 240:201–211
- Muhammad W, Vaughan S, Dalal R, Menzies N (2011) Crop residues and fertilizer nitrogen influence residue decomposition and nitrous oxide emission from a vertisol. Biol Fertil Soils 47(1):15–23
- Müller C, Abbasi MK, Kammann C, Clough TJ, Sherlock RR, Stevens RJ, Jäger HJ (2004) Soil respiratory quotient determined via barometric process separation combined with nitrogen-15 labeling. Soil Sci Soc Am J 68(5):1610–1615
- Munda S, Bhaduri D, Mohanty S, Chatterjee D, Tripathi R, Shahid M, Kumar U, Bhattacharyya P, Kumar A, Adak T, Jangde HK (2018) Dynamics of soil organic carbon mineralization and C fractions in paddy soil on application of rice husk biochar. Biomass Bioenergy 115:1–9
- Nayak AK, Shahid M, Shukla AK, Kumar A, Raja R, Tripathi R, Panda BB (2012) Soil organic carbon sequestration in agriculture: Issues and priorities. In: Bhattacharyya P, Nayak AK, Raja R, Rao KS (eds) Climate change: greenhouse gas emission in rice farming and mitigation options. Central Rice Research Institute, Cuttack, Odisha, India, ISBN 81-88409-12-X, pp 17–32
- Neher DA, Weicht TR, Moorhead DL, Sinsabaugh RL (2004) Elevated CO₂ alters functional attributes of nematode communities in forest soils. Funct Ecol 18:584–591
- Neogi S, Bhattacharyya P, Roy KS, Panda BB, Nayak AK, Rao KS, Manna MC (2014) Soil respiration, labile carbon pools, and enzyme activities as affected by tillage practices in a tropical rice-maize-cowpea cropping system. Environ Monit Assess (7):4223–4236. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10661-014-3693-x
- Nosalewicz M, Stêpniewska Z, Nosalewicz A (2013) Effect of soil moisture and temperature on N₂O and CO₂ concentrations in soil irrigated with purified wastewater. Int J Agrophys 27:299–304
- Odlare M, Abubaker J, Lindmark J, Pell M, Thorin E, Nehrenheim E (2012) Emissions of N_2O and CH_4 from agricultural soils amended with two types of biogas residues. Biomass Bioenergy 44:112–116
- Oenema O, Wrage N, Velthof GL, van Groenigen JW, Dolfing J, Kuikman PJ (2005) Trends in global nitrous oxide emissions from animal production systems. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 72 (1):51–65
- Olsson L, Ye S, Yu X, Wei M, Krauss KW, Brix H (2015) Factors influencing CO₂ and CH₄ emissions from coastal wetlands in the Liaohe Delta, Northeast China. Biogeosci Discuss 12:3469–3503
- Overstreet LF, DeJong-Huges J (2015) The importance of soil organic matter in cropping systems of the Northern Great Plains. University of Minnesota Extension. Available at: http://www.extension.umn.edu/agriculture/tillage/importance-of-soil-organic-matter/
- Pare T, Dinel H, Moulin AP, Townley- Smith L (1999) Organic matter quality and structural stability of a black Cherno zemic soil under different manure and tillage practices. Geoderma 91:311–326
- Parkin TB, Kaspar TC (2006) Nitrous oxide emissions from corn-soybean systems in the Midwest. J Environ Qual 35(4):1496–1506
- Parton WJ, Schimel DS, Cole CV, Ojima DS (1987) Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in great plains grasslands. Soil Sci Soc Am J 51:1173–1179
- Pathak H, Nedwell DB (2001) Nitrous oxide emission from soil with different fertilizers, water levels and nitrification inhibitors. Water Air Soil Pollut 129(1):217–228

- Pathak H, Rao DLN (1998) Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from added organic matter in saline and alkali soils. Soil Biol Biochem 30:695–702
- Pathak H, Prasad S, Bhatia A, Singh S, Kumar S, Singh J, Jain MC (2003) Methane emission from rice–wheat cropping system in the Indo-Gangetic plain in relation to irrigation, farmyard manure and dicyandiamide application. Agric Ecosyst Environ 97:309–316
- Pathak H, Jain N, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Chatterjee D (2016) Improved nitrogen management: a key to climate change adaptation and mitigation. Indian J Fertil 12(11):151–162
- Paul EA, Clark FE (1996) Soil as a habitat for organisms and their reactions. In: Soil microbiology and biochemistry, 2nd edn. Academic Press, New York, pp 11–33
- Paul EA, Morris SJ, Bohm S (2001) The determination of soil C pool sizes and turnover rates: biophysical fractionation and tracers. In: Lal R, Kimble JM, Follett RF, Stewart BA (eds) Assessment methods for soil carbon. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, pp 193–206
- Pendall E, Bridgham S, Hanson PJ, Hungate B, Kicklighter DW, Jhonson DW, Law BE, Luo Y, Megonigal JP, Olsrud M, Ryan MG, Wan S (2004) Below-ground process responses to elevated CO₂ and temperature: a discussion of observations, measurement methods, and models. New Phytol 162:311–322
- Pereira J, Figueiredo N, Goufo P, Carneiro J, Morais R, Carranca C, Coutinho J, Trindade H (2013) Effects of elevated temperature and atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration on the emissions of methane and nitrous oxide from Portuguese flooded rice fields. Atmos Environ 80:464–471
- Phillips DA, Fox TC, Six J (2006a) Root exudation (net efflux of amino acids) may increase rhizodeposition under elevated CO₂. Glob Chang Biol 12:561–567
- Phillips DA, Fox TC, Ferris H, Moore JC (2006b) The influence of elevated CO₂ on diversity, activity and biogeochemical function of rhizosphere and soil bacterial communities. In: Nösberger J, Long SP, Norby RJ et al (eds) Managed ecosystems and CO₂- case studies, processes and perspectives. Ecological studies serie, vol 187. Springer, Berlin, pp 413–428
- Plaza-Bonilla D, Cantero-Martínez C, Viñas P, Alvaro-Fuentes J (2013) Soil aggregation and organic carbon protection in a no-tillage chronosequence under Mediterranean conditions. Geoderma 193–194:76–82
- Prather M, Derwent R, Ehhalt D, Fraser P, Sanhueza E, Zhou X (1995) Other trace gases and atmospheric chemistry. In: Houghton JT, Meira Filho LG, Bruce J, Lee H, Callender BA, Haites E et al (eds) Climate change 1994: radiative forcing of climate change and an evaluation of the IPCC IS92 emission scenarios. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 73–126
- Procter AC, Ellis JC, Fay PA, Polley HW, Jackson RB (2014) Fungal community responses to past and future atmospheric CO₂ differ by soil type. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:7364–7377. https:// doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02083-14
- Rastogi M, Singh S, Pathak H (2002) Emission of carbon dioxide from soil. Curr Sci 82(5):510-517
- Ravishankara AR, Daniel JS, Portmann RW (2009) Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozonedepleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326(5949):123–125
- Read DJ, Leake JR, Perez-Moreno J (2004) Mycorrhizal fungi as drivers of ecosystem processes in heathland and boreal forest biomes. Can J Bot 82:1243–1263
- Reddy N, Crohn DM (2014) Effects of soil salinity and carbon availability from organic amendments on nitrous oxide emissions. Geoderma 235–236:363–371
- Reich PB, Hobbie SE, Lee T, Ellsworth DS, West JB, Tilman D, Knops JMH, Naeem S, Trost J (2006) Nitrogen limitation constrains sustainability of ecosystem response to CO₂. Nature 440:922–925
- Rillig MC, Wright SF, Kimball BA, Leavitt SW (2001) Elevated carbon dioxide and irrigation effects on water stable aggregates in a Sorghum field: a possible role for arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Glob Chang Biol 7:333–337
- Rillig M, Wright S, Eviner V (2002) The role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and glomalin in soil aggregation: comparing effects of five plant species. Plant Soil 238:325–333
- Rilling MC, Wright SF, Allen MF, Field CB (1999) Rise in carbon dioxide changes soil structure. Nature 400:628

- Rizhiya E, Bertora C, Van Vliet PCJ, Kuikman PJ, Faber JH, Van Groenigen JW (2007) Earthworm activity as a determinant for N₂O emission from crop residue. Soil Biol Biochem 39 (8):2058–2069
- Rochette P, Desjardins RL, Pattey E (1991) Spatial and temporal variability of soil respiration in agricultural fields. Can J Soil Sci 71:189–196
- Rogers A, Fischer BU, Bryant J, Frehner M, Blum H, Raines CA, Long SP (1998) Acclimation of photosynthesis to elevated CO₂ under low-nitrogen nutrition is affected by the capacity for assimilate utilization-perennial ryegrass under free-air CO₂ enrichment. Plant Physiol 118:683–689
- Rosenkranz P, Bruggemann N, Papen H, Xu Z, Seufert G, Butterbach-Bahl K (2006) N₂O NO and CH₄ exchange, and microbial N turnover over a Mediterranean pine forest soil. Biogeosciences 3(2):121–133
- Ruess L, Michelsen A, Schmidt IK, Jonasson S (1999) Simulated climate change affecting microorganisms, nematode density and biodiversity in subarctic soils. Plant Soil 212:63–73
- Rusera R, Flessa H, Russow R, Schmidt G, Buegger F, Munch JC (2006) Emission of N₂O, N₂ and CO₂ from soil fertilized with nitrate: effect of compaction, soil moisture and rewetting. Soil Biol Biochem 38(2):263–274
- Saha S, Chakraborty D, Lata, Pal M, Nagarajan S (2011) Impact of elevated CO₂ on utilization of soil moisture and associated soil biophysical parameters in pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan* L.). Agric Ecosyst Environ 142:213–221
- Saha S, Chakraborty D, Sehgal VK, Pal M (2015) Rising atmospheric CO₂: potential impacts on chickpea seed qualityAgric. Ecosyst Environ 203:140–146
- Sanchez ML, Ozores MI, Colle R, Lopez MJ, De Torre B, Garcia MA, Perez I (2002) Fluxes in cereal land use of the Spanish plateau: influence of conventional and reduced tillage practices. Chemosphere 47:837–844
- Sánchez-de León Y, Lugo-Pérez J, Wise DH, Jastrowe JD, González-Meler MA (2014) Aggregate formation and carbon sequestration by earthworms in soil from a temperate forest exposed to elevated atmospheric CO₂: a microcosm experiment. Soil Biol Biochem 68:223–230
- Sardans J, Penuelas J, Estiarte M (2008) Changes in soil enzymes related to C and N cycle and in soil C and N content under prolonged warming and drought in a Mediterranean shrubland. Appl Soil Ecol 39:223–235
- Sato A, Seto M (1999) Relationship between rate of carbon dioxide evolution, microbial biomass carbon, and amount of dissolved organic carbon as affected by temperature and water content of a forest and an arable soil. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 30:2593–2605
- Scherber C, Eisenhauer N, Weisser WW, Schmid B, Voigt W, Fischer M, Schulze ED, Roscher C, Weigelt A, Allan E, Bessler H, Bonkowski M, Buchmann N, Buscot F, Clement LW, Ebeling A, Engels C, Halle S, Kertscher I, Klein AM, Koller R, König S, Kowalski E, Kummer V, Kuu A, Lange M, Lauterbach D, Middelhoff C, Migunova VD, Milcu A, Müller R, Partsch S, Petermann JS, Renker C, Rottstock T, Sabais A, Scheu S, Schumacher J, Temperton VM, Tscharntke T (2010) Bottom-up effects of plant diversity on multitrophic interactions in a biodiversity experiment. Nature 468:553–556
- Schimel J, Balser TC, Wallenstein M (2007) Microbial stress-response physiology and its implications for ecosystem function. Ecology 88:1386–1394
- Schnitzer M (1991) Soil organic matter-the next 75 years. Soil Sci 151:41-58
- Sehy U, Ruser R, Munch JC (2003) Nitrous oxide fluxes from maize fields: relationship to yield, site-specific fertilization, and soil conditions. Agric Ecosyst Environ 99(1–3):97–111
- Shan J, Yan X (2013) Effects of crop residue returning on nitrous oxide emissions in agricultural soils. Atmos Environ 71:170–175
- Sillen WMA, Dieleman WIJ (2012) Root biomass responses to elevated CO₂ limit soil C sequestration in managed grasslands. Biogeosci Discuss 9:357–386
- Singh S, Singh JS, Kashyap AK (1999) Methane flux from irrigated rice fields in relation to crop growth and N-fertilization. Soil Biol Biochem 31:1219–1228

- Singurindy O, Molodovskaya M, Richards BK, Steenhuis TS (2009) Nitrous oxide emission at low temperatures from manure-amended soils under corn (Zea mays L.). Agric Ecosyst Environ 132 (1–2):74–81
- Skinner C, Gattinger A, Muller A, M\u00e4der P, Flie\u00dfbach A, Stolze M, Ruser R, Niggli U (2014) Greenhouse gas fluxes from agricultural soils under organic and non-organic management – a global meta-analysis. Sci Total Environ 468–469:553–563
- Slaughter LC (2012) Soil microbial community response to climate change: esults from a temperate kentucky pasture. Theses and dissertations-Plant soil sciences. Paper 8. http://uknowledge.uky. edu/pss_etds/8
- Sollins P, Homann P, Caldwell BA (1996) Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74:65–105
- Steinweg JM, Dukes JS, Wallenstein MD (2012) Modeling the effects of temperature and moisture on soil enzyme activity: linking laboratory assays to continuous field data. Soil Biol Biochem 55:85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.06.015
- Steinweg JM, Dukes JS, Paul EA, Wallenstein MD (2013) Microbial responses to multi-factor climate change: effects on soil enzymes. Front Microbiol 4:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb. 2013.00146
- Stone MM, Weiss MS, Goodale CL, Adams MB, Fernandez IJ, German DP et al (2012) Temperature sensitivity of soil enzyme kinetics under N- fertilization in two temperate forests. Glob Chang Biol 18:1173–1184. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652486.2011.02545.x
- Subbarao GV, Ito O, Sahrawat KL, Berry WL, Nakahara K, Ishikawa T, Watanabe T, Suenaga K, Rondon M, Rao IM (2006) Scope and strategies for regulation of nitrification in agricultural systems-challenges and opportunities. Crit Rev Plant Sci 25:303–335
- Sugihara S, Funakawa S, Kilasara M, Kosaki T (2012) Effects of land management on CO2 flux and soil C stock in two Tanzanian croplands with contrasting soil texture. Soil Biol Biochem 46:1–9
- Suseela V, Conant RT, Wallenstein MD, Dukes JS (2012) Effects of soil moisture on the temperature sensitivity of heterotrophic respiration vary seasonally in an old-field climate change experiment. Glob Chang Biol 18:336–348. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652486.2011.02516.x
- Swain CK, Bhattacharyya P, Nayak AK, Singh NR, Chatterjee D, Dash PK, Neogi S, Pathak H (2018a) Temporal variation of energy fluxes during dry season in tropical lowland rice. MAPAN-Journal of Metrology Society of India. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12647-018-0260-x.
- Swain CK, Nayak AK, Bhattacharyya P, Chatterjee D, Chatterjee S, Tripathi R, Singh NR, Dhal B (2018b) Greenhouse gas emissions and energy exchange in wet and dry season rice: eddy covariance-based approach. Environ Monit Assess 190(7): 423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-018-6805-1
- Swift MJ, Heal OW, Anderson JM (1979) Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems-studies ecology, 5th volume. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford
- Tarnawski S, Aragno M (2006) The influence of elevated CO₂ on diversity, activity and biogeochemical function of rhizosphere and soil bacterial communities. In: Nösberger J, Long SP, Norby RJ et al (eds) Managed ecosystems and CO₂-case studies, processes and perspectives, Ecological studies series, vol 187. Springer, Berlin, pp 393–409
- Tellez-Rio A, García-Marco S, Navas M, López-Solanilla E, Luis J, Tenorio JL, Vallejo A (2015) N₂O and CH₄ emissions from a fallow–wheat rotation with low N input in conservation and conventional tillage under a Mediterranean agroecosystem. Sci Total Environ 508:85–94
- Tisdale SL, Nelson WL (1970) Soil fertility and fertilizers, 2nd edn. Macmillan, New York
- Toma Y, Hatano R (2007) Effect of crop residue C: N ratio on N₂O emissions fromGray lowland soil in Mikasa, Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 53:198–205
- Topp E, Pattey E (1997) Soil as a source and sinks of atmospheric methane. Can J Soil Sci 77:167–178
- Tubiello F (2012) Climate change adaptation and mitigation: challenges and opportunities in the food sector. Natural Resources Management and Environment Department, FAO, Rome. Prepared for the High-level conference on world food security: the challenges of climate change and bio energy, Rome, 3–5 June 2008

- United Nations (2008) World population prospects-the 2008 revision. Executive summary. ST/ESA/SER.A/287/ES. New York
- Ussiri D, Lal R (2013) Formation and release of nitrous oxide from terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, soil emission of nitrous oxide and its mitigation. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 63–96
- van den Heuvel RN, Bakker SE, Jetten MSM, Hefting MM (2011) Decreased N₂O reduction by low soil pH causes high N₂O emissions in a riparian ecosystem. Geobiology 9(3):294–300
- van Groenigen JW, Kasper GJ, Velthof GL, van den Pol-van Dasselaar A, Kuikman PJ (2004) Nitrous oxide emissions from silage maize fields under different mineral nitrogen fertilizer and slurry applications. Plant Soil 263(1):101–111
- van Groenigen KJ, Qi X, Osenberg CW, Luo Y, Hungate BA (2014) Faster decomposition under increased atmospheric CO₂ limits soil carbon storage. Science 344(6183):508–509. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1249534
- van Kessel C, Venterea R, Six J, Adviento-Borbe MA, Linquist B, van Groenigen KJ (2013) Climate duration, and N placement determine N₂O emissions in reduced tillage systems: a metaanalysis. Glob Chang Biol 19:33–44
- Velthof GL, Oenema O (1995) Nitrous oxide fluxes from grassland in the Netherlands: II. Effects of soil type, nitrogen fertilizer application and grazing. Eur J Soil Sci 46:541–549
- Velthof GL, Oenema O, Postma R, Beusichem ML (1997) Effects of type and amount of applied nitrogen fertilizer on nitrous oxide fluxes from intensively managed grassland. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 46(3):257–267
- Velthof GL, Kuikman PJ, Oenema O (2003) Nitrous oxide emission from animal manures applied to soil under controlled conditions. Biol Fertil Soils 37(4):221–230
- Venterea RT, Rolston DE, Cardon ZG (2005) Effects of soil moisture, physical, and chemical characteristics on abiotic nitric oxide production. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 72(1):27–40
- von Lützow M, Kögel-Knabner I, Ekschmitt K, Matzner E, Guggenberger G, Marschner B, Flessa H (2006) Stabilization of organic matter in temperate soils: mechanisms and their relevance under different soil conditions. Eur J Soil Sci 57:426–445
- Wallenstein MD, Haddix ML, Lee DD, Conant RT, Paul EA (2012) A litter-slurry technique elucidates the key role of enzyme production and microbial dynamics in temperature sensitivity of organic matter decomposition. Soil Biol Biochem 47:18–26
- Wander M (2004) Soil organic matter fractions and their relevance to soil function. In: Magdoff F, Ray RW (eds) Soil organic matter in sustainable agriculture. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, pp 67–102
- Wang WC, Yung YL, Lacis AA, Mo T, Hansen JE (1976) Greenhouse effects due to man-made perturbations of trace gases. Science 194:685–690
- Wang X, Shikui D, Gao Q, Zhou H, Liu S, Su X, Li Y (2014) Effects of short-term and long-term warming on soil nutrients, microbial biomass and enzyme activities in an alpine meadow on the Qinghai-Tibet plateau of China. Soil Biol Biochem 76:140–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. soilbio.2014.05.014
- Wardle DA, Parkinson D (1990) Interactions between microclimatic variables and the soil microbial biomass. Biol Fertil Soils 9:273–280
- Weier KL, Doran JW, Power JF, Walters DT (1993) Denitrification and the dinitrogen/nitrous oxide ratio as affected by soil water, available carbon, and nitrate. Soil Sci Soc Am J 57(1):66–72
- West TO, Marland G (2002) A synthesis of carbon sequestration, carbon emissions, and net carbon flux in agriculture: comparing tillage practices in the United States. Agric Ecosyst Environ 91:217–232
- Weston NB, Vile MA, Neubauer SC, Velinsky DJ (2011) Accelerated microbial organic matter mineralization following salt-water intrusion into tidal freshwater marsh soils. Biogeochemistry 102:135–151
- Whalen SC (2005) Biogeochemistry of methane exchange between natural wetlands and the atmosphere. Environ Eng Sci 22:73–94
- Willey JM, Sherwood LM, Woolverton CJ (2009) Prescott's principles of microbiology. McGraw-Hill, New York

- Williams MA (2007) Response of microbial communities to water stress in irrigated and droughtprone tallgrass prairie soils. Soil Biol Biochem 39:2750–2757
- Williams MAC, Rice W, Owensby WE (2000) C dynamics and microbial activity in tallgrass prairie exposed to elevated CO₂ for 8 years. Plant Soil 227:127–137
- Włodarczyk T (2000) N₂O emission and absorption against a background of CO₂ in *Eutric* Cambisol under different oxidation- reduction conditions. Acta Agrophysica 28:39–89
- World Meteorological Organization (2011) The state of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere based on global observations through 2010. World Meteorological Organization greenhouse gases bulletin no. 7. World Meteorological Organization. http://www.wmo.int/gaw
- Wrage N, Velthof GL, van Beusichem KL (2001) Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide. Soil Biol Biochem 33(12–13):1723–1732
- Wu D, Dong W, Oenema O, Wang Y, Trebs I, Hua C (2013) N₂O consumption by low-nitrogen soil and its regulation by water and oxygen. Soil Biol Biochem 60:165–172
- Xing G, Zhao X, Xiong Z, Yan X, Xu H, Xie Y, Shi S (2009) Nitrous oxide emission from paddy fields in China. Acta Ecol Sin 29:45–50
- Xu H, Cai ZC, Tsuruta H (2003) Soil moisture between rice-growing seasons affects methane emission, production, and oxidation. Soil Sci Soc Am J 67:1147–1157
- Yang XM, Drury CF, Reynolds WD, McKenney DJ, Tan CS, Zhang TQ, Fleming RJ (2002) Influence of compost and liquid pig manure on CO₂ and N₂O emissions from a clay loam soil. Can J Soil Sci 82(4):395–401
- Yang J, Liu J, Hu X, Li X, Wang Y, Li H (2013) Effect of water table level on CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O emissions in a freshwater marsh of Northeast China. Soil Biol Biochem 61:52–60
- Yao Z, Zheng X, Wang R, Xie B, Butterbach-Bahl K, Zhu J (2013) Nitrous oxide and methane fluxes from a rice–wheat crop rotation under wheat residue incorporation and no-tillage practices. Atmos Environ 79:641–649
- Zak DR, Pregitzer KS, King JS, Holmes WE (2000) Elevated atmospheric CO₂, fine roots and the response of soil microorganisms: a review and hypothesis. New Phytol 147:201–222
- Zhang J, Han X (2008) N_2O emission from the semi-arid ecosystem under mineral fertilizer (urea and superphosphate) and increased precipitation in northern China. Atmos Environ 42 (2):291–302
- Zhang Y, Chen X, Zhang C, Pan G, Zhang X (2014) Availability of soil nitrogen and phosphorus under elevated [CO₂] and temperature in the Taihu Lake region. China J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 177:343–348. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201200526
- Zhou M, Zhu B, Butterbach-Bahl K, Zheng X, Wang T, Wang Y (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching from a rainfed wheat-maize rotation in the Sichuan Basin. China Plant Soil 362(1–2):149–159


Altitude Regulates Accumulation of Organic Carbon in Soil: Case Studies from the Hilly Ecosystem of Northeastern Region of India

Burhan U. Choudhury, B. C. Verma, T. Ramesh, and S. Hazarika

Abstract

A number of factors govern the accumulation and concentration of organic carbon in soil: land use management, the type of farming, vegetation, and climate (mainly temperature and rainfall); these determine the rate of carbon accumulation in and loss through soil. These governing factors are mainly associated with altitude, and in most cases, at low altitudes and at comparable altitudinal gradients, land use systems and land use management practices were dominant factors that altered variations in the accumulation of organic carbon in soil. However, at higher altitudes and in locations with considerable variation in altitudinal gradients, which may cause significant variation in climatic factors, rainfall and temperature were the dominant factors in determining organic carbon accumulation in soil. In general, land use systems (including phyto-biomass management) can mask the effects of altitudinal gradients (either significant or insignificant) on organic carbon accumulation in or loss through soil. In the northeastern region of India, it can be concluded that organic carbon (concentration and stock) in soil increases consistently with increase in elevation. The processes of carbon accumulation and loss involve complex interactions of multiple factors, which are reviewed in this chapter.

Keywords

Soil · Organic carbon · Altitude · Hill ecosystem

B. U. Choudhury $(\boxtimes) \cdot$ B. C. Verma \cdot T. Ramesh \cdot S. Hazarika

Division of NRM, ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Megalaya, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_5

5.1 Northeastern Region of India: At a Glance

The northeastern region of India is a large biodiversity hot spot (Nandy 2006) and comprises 26.1 million ha. The region receives, on average, more than 2200 mm of rainfall annually and is home to the world's wettest place (Cherrapunji plateau, in Meghalaya), with mean annual rainfall of over 11,000 mm during the monsoon season (June to September). In grasslands and dense forests at higher elevations (>2500 meter above mean sea level [MAMSL]), mean annual rainfall exceeds 3500 mm (Choudhury et al. 2016). Similarly, mean annual air temperature varies significantly across the region, from >22.0 °C at lower elevations (<250 MAMSL) to 13.0 °C at higher elevations (>2500 MAMSL); there are a few exceptions, however, such as subzero temperatures during winter in the Himalayan range (Sikkim peak) to temperatures as high as 38 °C in the plains and valleys of Tripura and Assam. As a result of this complimentary climate (mainly large amounts of rainfall and low temperatures), and by virtue of its geographical location within a hot spot of biodiversity, phyto-biomass is abundant in the region.

Nearly two-thirds of the total geographical area (TGA; 26.1 million ha) of the region has a predominantly undulating topography (mostly hills), and the steepness of the slopes varies from an imperceptible slope (in the Assam Valley and the Tripura plain) to extreme steepness (in Arunachal Pradesh, Meghalaya, Manipur, Nagaland, and Sikkim). Altitudinal gradient varies from as low as 6 MAMSL (Tura, Garo Hills) to as high as 8000 MAMSL (in Sikkim) (Choudhury et al. 2016) (Fig. 5.1). As a result, pedogenic processes, including soil formation, in the region are strongly influenced by interactional effects of climate, vegetation, and topography. In the valleys, soils are composed of transported materials (shale and recent alluvium deposits). In the hills, soils are derived mainly from sandstone, ferruginous sandstone, siltstone, mottled clay, sand, shale, thin seams of coal, and coal beds (Shillong Plateau, Jaintia Hills). The soils of the region are dominated by inceptisols, followed by entisols and ultisols. Other soil orders-alfisols and mollisols-also are found. The depth of soil across the study area varies considerably because of physiographic positions and slopes. Soils are deep in the valleys and moderately deep to deep in the hills, whereas soils are shallow (<20 cm deep) on degraded hills with steep slopes (Patiram and Ramesh 2008).

5.2 Land Uses and Land Cover in the Northeastern Region of India

Land uses and land cover in the northeastern region of India are distinctly different from those in the rest of the country (Table 5.1, Fig. 5.2). Nearly 60% of the geographical area in the region is forested (both dense and open forests). Because hilly topography prevails in two-thirds of the area, only 15.7% (4.1 million ha) of the TGA (26.1 million ha)—both uplands and lowlands—is under settled agricultural practices; shifting cultivation is practiced across nearly 3% of the TGA. Grasslands occupy a significant amount (> 6.0%) of the TGA. Wastelands and water occupy



Fig. 5.1 Digital elevation map of the northeastern region of India at 30-m intervals. Derived by the authors from the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer Global Digital Elevation Model). (Data from https://www.nrsc.gov.in/ [NRSC 2011])

nearly 6.5% and 4.5% of the TGA, respectively. In the Himalayan region of Sikkim, nearly 4% of the TGA remains under permanent snow cover (Choudhury 2014).

5.3 Distribution of Organic Carbon Concentration and Stock in Soil

The organic carbon (OC) concentration, as calculated through the use of the Walkley-Black method, is very high in surface soils in the northeastern Himalayan states (excluding Arunachal Pradesh and Mizoram), and both carbon concentration and carbon stock vary considerably, as presented in Tables 5.2 and 5.3. Of soils across the TGA (15.61 million ha) mapped by Choudhury et al. (2013), more than 98% had an OC concentration greater than 1%. Similarly, soil in more than 56% of the GA had an OC concentration of 1.5-3.5%, whereas OC was 3.5-5.5% in soil in 1.0% of the GA (Table 5.2). Among the six states mapped, soils from Sikkim were relatively rich in OC. Nearly 98% of the GA of Sikkim had an OC concentration. Overall, soils from Tripura and Assam contained relatively little OC (1.0–1.5%),

	States in northeast Ind	ia							
	Arunachal Pradesh	Assam	Manipur	Meghalaya	Mizoram	Nagaland	Sikkim	Tripura	Total
GA (million hectares)	8.30	7.79	2.22	2.24	2.10	1.65	0.70	1.02	26.0
Land use (% of GA)									
Crops	2.93	37.27	7.78	8.93	4.41	11.5	9.78	17.6	15.7
Built up	0.46	0.71	1.69	3.73	0.82	2.23	0.24	8.22	1.37
Grassland	6.41	5.53	6.66	0.84	16.5	0.14	7.64	4.57	6.06
Dense forest	58.0	15.8	28.9	25.0	19.8	26.7	26.0	46.0	33.5
Open forest	14.9	24.4	35.6	42.5	44.4	37.6	10.4	9.24	25.4
Hd	0.02	0.16	0.01	0.05	0.40	0.42	0.33	5.88	0.36
SC	1.83	0.30	2.79	3.33	12.5	9.08	0.00	2.44	2.88
Snow	9.51	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	36.7	0.00	3.98
Wasteland	3.92	4.58	14.5	13.9	0.19	11.0	8.04	4.89	6.22
Water	1.94	11.25	1.92	1.56	1.08	1.15	0.79	1.09	4.53
		. a 0.5							

ia
Ind
1 of
region
northeastern
the
Ξ.
patterns
use
Land
5.1
able
-

GA geographical area, PH plantation and horticulture, SC shifting cultivation Adapted from Choudhury (2014)

B. U. Choudhury et al.



Fig. 5.2 Map of land use–land cover in the northeastern region of India, derived from data from multiple dates from the Indian Remote Sensing Satellite IRS-P6 LISS-III (2005–2006). (Source: https://www.nrsc.gov.in/ [NRSC 2011] and partly modified by the authors)

	Geographical area	OC conce	ntration (%) in soil		
State	(million hectares)	0.5-1.0	1.0-1.5	1.5-2.5	2.5-3.5	3.5-5.5
Assam	7.79	1.74	62.83	34.59	0.84	0.00
Manipur	2.22	0.00	2.93	71.63	21.80	3.64
Meghalaya	2.24	0.07	19.90	62.86	15.39	1.78
Nagaland	1.65	0.81	4.18	61.56	33.32	0.14
Sikkim	0.70	0.00	0.00	1.70	93.88	4.42
Tripura	1.02	7.55	89.03	3.42	0.00	0.00
Total	15.61	1.46	40.85	43.25	13.44	1.00

Table 5.2 Distribution of organic carbon (%) in soil^a across the northeastern region of India

Data are the percentage of geographical area unless otherwise indicated ^aCalculated using the Walkley-Black method *OC* organic carbon

Adapted from Choudhury et al. (2013)

	Geographical area	OC den	sity in soi	l (Mg/ha)			
State	(million hectares)	10-20	20-30	30-40	40–50	50-60	60-80
Assam	7.79	19.40	65.31	13.26	1.86	0.17	0.0
Manipur	2.22	0.0	49.39	36.51	13.03	1.07	0.0
Meghalaya	2.24	1.42	49.51	42.56	4.06	1.72	0.73
Nagaland	1.65	1.71	40.43	57.51	0.35	0.0	0.0
Sikkim	0.70	0.0	0.0	7.17	81.98	10.86	0.0
Tripura	1.02	81.80	18.20	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total	7.79	15.39	52.16	24.30	7.07	0.97	0.13

Table 5.3 Spatial distribution of organic carbon density in soils across the northeastern region of India

Data are the percentage of geographical area unless otherwise indicated *OC* organic carbon

Adapted from Choudhury et al. (2013)

whereas a significant amount of the soils in Nagaland, Manipur, and Meghalaya had an OC concentration of 1.5% or more. On the basis of percentage of GA with high OC concentration in soil, Sikkim had the most, followed by Nagaland, Manipur, Meghalaya, and Assam, with Tripura having the least (Table 5.2).

Similar to OC concentration, OC density in soil among the northeastern states follows the same order: Sikkim > Nagaland > Manipur > Meghalaya > Assam > Tripura (Table 5.3). Only Sikkim had a considerable amount of soil (>10%) with very high OC density (50–60 Mg/ha), whereas Tripura recorded the highest percentage of soil (81.8%) with relatively low OC density (10–20 Mg/ha) (Choudhury et al. 2013) (Table 5.3). Half of the GA in the region had OC density of 20–30 Mg/ha in soil, whereas one-fourth of the area had OC density of 30–40 Mg/ha in soil. Nearly 8.2% of the region (excluding Arunachal Pradesh and Mizoram) had OC density greater than 40 Mg/ha in soil.

5.4 Effect of Altitudinal Gradients on OC Concentration and Stock in Soil in the Northeastern Region of India

5.4.1 Case Studies from Northeastern States

5.4.1.1 Manipur

While studying the effect of secondary forest in shifting cultivated areas in the northeastern state of Manipur, Sarkar et al. (2015) recorded a significant effect of altitudinal gradient (821–1435 MAMSL) on OC concentration and stock in profile soils (0–45 cm deep) (Table 5.4). Climatic factors increased with an increase in altitude from 821 to 1434 MAMSL: rainfall increased by more than 400 mm, whereas temperature decreased by nearly 1 °C. As a result, OC concentration in soil increased significantly (P < 0.05) from 1.71% (at an altitude of 821 m) to 3.19% (at 1434 m) across areas of jhum cultivation with different fallow ages (from fresh jhum to stabilized jhum land left fallow for 5–33 years). Despite shallow soils with a

Parameter	Chandanpokpi	Monsangpantha	Hengkot
Altitude (MAMSL)	821	1044	1434
Mean temperature (°C)	19.5	20.1	18.4
Rainfall (mm)	1089	1138	1506
Vegetation	Subtropical pine	Subtropical broad- leaf	Subtropical broad- leaf
Soils	Deep	Deep	Moderately shallow
Textural class	Clay like surface	Clay like surface	Loamy surface

Table 5.4 Agro-physical parameters at a sit of shifting cultivation in Manipur State, India

MAMSL meters above mean sea level

Adapted from Sarkar et al. (2015)



Fig. 5.3 Altitudinal variation on organic carbon concentration in soil left fallow for different periods under shifting cultivation in Manipur, India. (Adopted from Sarkar et al. 2015, modified by authors)

relatively coarse texture (loamy surface) and broad-leaf vegetation at a higher altitude in Hengkot (1434 MAMSL), OC concentration in soil was 1.66- to 2.0-fold higher than that in the relatively fine soil (clay like surface) at a low altitude (821 MAMSL) in Chandanpokpi (1.39–2.15%) across fresh and stabilized jhum with fallow periods ranging from 5 to 9, 18 to 20, and 28 to 33 years (Fig. 5.3).



Fig. 5.4 Effect of altitudinal variation in organic carbon concentration in soil in Arunachal Pradesh

5.4.1.2 Arunachal Pradesh

Study of surface soils (0–15 cm deep) across different lands in the northeastern state of Arunachal Pradesh also revealed a consistent increase in OC concentration (from 1.32% to 5.8%) along altitudinal gradients (1500 to 3600 MAMSL). With an increase in elevation from 1500 (1.32% OC in soil) to 2000 MAMSL, OC concentration in soil increased more than 2.8 times, and with further increases in elevation by 250 up to 2500 MAMSL, OC concentration in soil increased by another 13–19%. At higher altitudes (>3000 MAMSL), OC concentration in the soil exceeded 5.5%, and the rate of increase was more than four times that of the baseline elevation (1500 MAMSL) (Fig. 5.4).

5.4.1.3 Mizoram

In another study in Mizoram State in northeastern India, we observed an irregular increase in OC concentration in soil as we moved from an elevation of 700 to one of 1800 MAMSL, across which land uses differed (e.g., agriculture, horticulture, shifting cultivation, grasslands) (Fig. 5.5a). At mid-altitudes (1200–1300 MAMSL), higher OC concentration was observed in soil than that at relatively higher altitudes (>1600 MAMSL). Similarly, clay content also reflected a strong positive correlation (r = +0.68) with OC concentration in soil along the altitudinal gradient (Fig. 5.5b).

5.4.1.4 Meghalaya

In a case study to assess and map surface soils within a 0.2×0.2 km area (at a 1:10,000–12,500 scale) in select districts of northeastern India (the South Garo Hills of Meghalaya and the Dhalai district of Tripura, Northeast India), Choudhury (2014)



Fig. 5.5 Variation of (a) organic carbon concentration and (b) clay content in soils along an altitudinal gradient in Mizoram

observed a marginal decreasing trend in OC concentration in soil along an altitudinal gradient ranging from 6 to 120 MAMSL (Figs. 5.6a and 5.7a). Among soil properties, clay content strongly influences OC concentration in soil (Choudhury et al. 2016). In their study, Choudhury et al. observed that clay content also marginally decreases with an increase in altitudinal gradient (Figs. 5.6b and 5.7b).

Major reasons for this reverse trend were the masking effects of land uses and the marginal variation in altitudinal gradient (6–120 m), which does not sufficiently influence climatic parameters (rainfall and temperature). Lowland paddy fields and



Fig. 5.6 Variation of (a) organic carbon concentration and (b) clay content in soils along an altitudinal gradient in Sibbari, Tura, Meghalaya



Fig. 5.7 Variation of (a) organic carbon concentration and (b) clay content in soils along an altitudinal gradient in Dhalai, Tripura

pond beds are the dominant land uses at lower altitudes (<20 MAMSL), whereas upland agriculture (maize and upland rice), horticulture (vegetables), and some plantation crops are the predominant land uses at relatively higher elevations (40–120 MAMSL). In addition to deposition from underground biomass (roots) in paddy fields, prevailing anaerobic conditions in paddy fields and pond bed soils cause the rate of decomposition of OC in soil to be slow. In contrast, low-input

intensive cultivation of upland agriculture and horticulture crops at altitudes >40 MAMSL causes aerobic conditions, which favor relatively less accumulation of OC because of the faster rate of decomposition. Another important reason is that because of the effect of relatively lower altitudinal gradient (6–120 m) in this study than in other reported studies (6–3500 m) on increases in OC concentration in soil (Choudhury et al. 2016), important climatic parameters that are responsible for higher phyto-biomass production (rainfall) and decreases in the rate of mineralization/decomposition (temperature) are comparable across the study area. As a result, the influence of insufficient altitudinal gradient (6–120 m) cannot mask the prominent effect of land use on OC concentration in soil, and thus these concentrations along the altitudinal gradient showed a marginal decreasing trend in both the South Garo Hills in Meghalaya and the Dhalai district of Tripura.

In another case study, Basaiawmoit et al. (2015) reported an irregular increase in OC concentration and carbon stock in soil with an increase in elevation from mean sea level (880–1880 m) for both surface (0–15 cm deep) and subsurface (15–30 cm deep) soils in agricultural fields with different nutrient management practices in the northeastern state of Meghalaya (Fig. 5.8a, b). This variation in OC concentration and stock in soil suggests the partial effect of altitudinal gradient on climatic factors (mainly rainfall and temperature). As a result, in addition to differences in agricultural and nutrient management practices, mineralization and accumulation of OC concentration in soil were affected by the variation in climatic factors, and thus OC concentration and carbon stock in soil also vary along the altitudinal gradient.

5.4.1.5 Assam

Choudhury (2016) studied the spatial variability of OC concentration and stock in soil (at a scale of 1:50,000) for surface and profile soils (56–225 cm depth) in Barak Valley, Assam. Analysis of the OC concentration in soil samples collected from an altitudinal gradient of 7-140 MAMSL revealed that OC concentration in both surface and profile soils (weighted mean) decreased marginally along the altitudinal gradient (Fig. 5.9 a, b). Most of the soils at low altitudes (<30 MAMSL) were collected from lowland paddy fields or fallow fields, whereas soils at higher altitudes (>70 MAMSL) were collected from uplands (fallow fields, crops, trees). Low-input intensive cultivation prevails in the uplands and in lowland paddy fields, but relatively anaerobic conditions in the lowland paddy fields favor accumulation of more OC in soil than do the aerobic conditions of the uplands. Climatic variables (rainfall and temperature) along the altitudinal gradient did not vary significantly and were comparable across the study area. As a result, altitudinal gradient does not influence the OC concentration in surface and profile soils with comparable land management practices across the study area, and thus OC concentration in soil marginally decreased as elevation increased.



Fig. 5.8 Variation of (**a**) organic carbon stock and (**b**) Total Organic Carbon (TOC) stock in soils along an altitudinal gradient in Ri-Bhoi and East Khasi Hills, Meghalaya



Fig. 5.9 Variation of organic carbon concentration in (**a**) surface soils and (**b**) profile soils along an altitudinal gradient in Barak Valley, Assam

References

- Basaiawmoit F, Singh NJ, Choudhury BU, Singh AK, Ray LIP (2015) Impact of land use management on soil organic carbon content at varying slope gradients of North East India. Int J Ecol Environ Sci 41(1–2):1–9
- Choudhury BU (ed) (2014) Landuse land cover change detection, soil health assessment and socioeconomy in Northeast India: a remote sensing and GIS approach. Research Bulletin, NAIP publication no. 7. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam-793 103, Meghalaya, India, p 53. ISBN No. 13-978-81-920769-7-3
- Choudhury BU, Das PT, Ngachan SV, Rajkhowa DJ, Mohapatra KP, Nongkhlaw L, Goswami C (2016) Spatial database on natural resources of Barak Valley, Assam. ICAR Research Complex for NEH Region, Umiam, Meghalaya, India, p 181. ISBN-978-93-5-267-252-3
- Choudhury BU, Mahapatra KP, Nongkhlaw L, Ngachan SV, Hazarika S, Rajkhowa DJ, Munda GC (2013) Spatial variability in distribution of organic carbon stocks in the soils of North East India. Curr Sci 104:604–614
- Choudhury BU, Fiyaz AR, Mohapatra KP et al (2016) Impact of land use systems, agro-physical parameters and altitudinal variation in soil organic carbon content of Northeastern Himalayan Region of India. Land Degrad Dev 27(4):1163–1174. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2338.
- Nandy SN (ed) (2006) Resource information database of the Indian Himalaya. Environmental information system on Himalayan ecology. ENVIS Monograph 3. ISSN 0972–1819. Uttarakhand, India
- NRSC (2011) Landuse land cover atlas of India (Based on multi-temporal satellite data of 2005–06). National Remote Sensing Centre, Hyderabad
- Patiram, Ramesh T (2008) Technologies for soil and soil fertility management of North Eastern Region. ICAR Research Complex foe NEH Region, Umroi road, Umiam-793 103. Meghalaya. p 103
- Sarkar D, Meitei CB, Baishya LK, Das A, Ghosh S, Chongloi KL, Rajkhowa D (2015) Potential of fallow chronosequence in shifting cultivation to conserve soil organic carbon in northeast India. Catena 135:321–327

Part II

Making Interaction Favourable Through Management Interventions



6

Managing Photothermal Environment for Improving Crop Productivity

Santanu Kumar Bal, Kiran Pandurang Bhagat, Arnab Roy Chowdhury, Nilesh More, Shruti Suman, and Harpreet Singh

Abstract

The difference between the energy absorbed by the earth's surface from direct incoming solar radiation and the energy reradiating back to the space as reflected solar radiation from soil and leaf surfaces will contribute to "radiative forcing" and creates a typical "photothermal" environment in the atmosphere. This photothermal environment is gradually changing due to several anthropogenic and natural causes leading to increase in aerosols and other air pollutants coupled with frequent occurrence of extreme temperature events. This change in the photothermal environment is being manifested through decreased photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) received at earth's surface by more than 6% and nearly doubling in the rate of increase in atmospheric temperature in the last 50 years. Consequently, crops' response to fluctuations in the magnitude and distribution of these two weather elements, i.e., light/radiation and temperature play an important role in determining its growth and development. Besides, response of the crops to these extremes also depends on the genetic constitution, physiological make-up (C3, C4, and CAM plants; light sensitivity) and stages of growth of different crop species. Therefore, in view of the above facts, the target

S. K. Bal (🖂)

A. R. Chowdhury · S. Suman Bihar Agricultural University, Sabour, Bihar, India

N. More ICAR-National Institute of Abiotic Stress Management, Pune, India

H. Singh Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

ICAR-Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA), Hyderabad, Telangana, India e-mail: santanu.bal@icar.gov.in

K. P. Bhagat ICAR-Directorate of Onion and Garlic Research, Pune, India

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_6

to improve crop productivity to cater the demand of ever-growing population can only be achieved by taking adaptation measures through various management interventions including manipulating the photothermal environment. This chapter describes the aspects of solar radiation, radiative forcing, low and high temperatures, photothermal quotient, etc., which have direct and indirect impacts on crop production and also the possible photothermal-related management strategies for enhancing crop productivity.

Keywords

Photothermal · PAR · Temperature · Radiative-forcing · Crop · Productivity

6.1 Introduction

Soil, water and solar energy are the basic resources required for crop production in general, and now it is a concern for utilizing plant structural (or morphological) and plant functional (or physiological) responses with soil and climatic conditions to produce higher yield per unit land area. Initially studies on climate change and its potential impact on agriculture mainly focused on increasing levels CO_2 (Curry et al. 1990), but later on it was reported that changes in solar radiation and temperature need to be studied to evaluate their impacts on crop productivity (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b). For example, rice and wheat yields are significantly reduced/affected due to solar radiation and temperature variations (Ahmed et al. 2010; Bal et al. 2004; Mallick et al. 2007; Li et al. 2010) and even to the tune of 0.6–8.9% reduction per 1 °C rise in temperature has been recorded (Lobell and Field 2007).

Solar radiation influences crop yield by exerting its impact on gross and net assimilation and ultimately biomass production. Irradiation emitting from sun and reaching the Earth's surface invading different layers of atmosphere forms a typical photoenvironment which governs the photosynthetic process (Monteith 1973). Besides, it also creates a thermal environment of atmosphere that supplies the required heat units indispensable for phonological advancement of crops. Therefore, it can be said that this photo- and thermal environment of the atmosphere is directed by global solar radiation which influences gross photosynthesis, tissue respiration and thereby net photosynthesis. Cumulative effect of photo- and thermal environment can be measured through different indices like photothermal unit (PTU) and photothermal quotient (PTQ). It has been generalized by different researchers that a higher solar irradiance coupled with lower atmospheric temperatures can satisfy the congenial condition for higher net photosynthesis by increasing gross photosynthesis and lowering sink respiration, ultimately leading to higher yield (Mukherjee et al. 2014). Instead of that, crops are increasingly getting exposed to the reverse situation (lower solar irradiance and higher ambient temperature) due to climate change scenario (Bal and Minhas 2017).

Temperature is another key determinants for the rate of plant development. The developmental stages of the determinate crops shorten due to warmer temperature

are responsible for reduction in crop yield (Craufurd and Wheeler 2009). Crop productivity can negatively be influenced by higher temperature indirectly through phenological acceleration (Menzel et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2008; Lobell et al. 2011) with less time for accumulating biomass (Menzel et al. 2006). As immense attention on climate change impacts on crop production has been received over the last decades (Parry et al. 2004; Tao et al. 2008), understanding the relationship between climate and crop yield is thus fundamental to identify possible impacts of future climate and to develop adaptation measures. The global average temperature has increased by about 0.13 °C per decade since 1950 (IPCC 2007a). Significant warming trends in the Himalayan and Tibetan regions, generally higher than the global average, are reported in the literature (Hu et al. 2013). Furthermore, the rate of warming is generally larger at the higher elevation (Sharma et al. 2009). Such warming trends in the world's largest and highest mountain system will obviously influence the glacier and snow dynamics, leading to changes in water resources availability, particularly during spring and autumn (Maskey et al. 2011). At the Koshi river basin, Bhatt et al. (2013) observed significant impact of growing season temperature and precipitation on crop production in rice, maize and wheat. There were warming trends in growing season mean temperatures of rice, maize and wheat over the last few decades with clear evidence of negative impacts on yields. However, at some high-elevation areas, positive impacts of warming are also observed on rice and maize yields. If the observed trends in temperature continue in future, the impact is likely to be mostly negative on crop production in the basin.

Considering the important roles of solar radiation and temperature on growth and development of plants under changing climate, it is indespensible to understand the likely effects of each of these factors, deviating from their optimum levels in order to frame suitable strategy for sustaining crop production. Therefore, specific genetic factors with known physiological effects can be tied directly and quantitatively to create variation in phenology. With such a mechanistic understanding, scientists can better predict phenological responses to novel seasonal climates. As extreme climatic events are becoming more frequent and unpredictable, understanding crop responses to these events is also essential to cope up with anticipated changes in climate. The ultimate aim is to insulate future farming and food production system from a range of abiotic stresses to make the system more resilient to the direct and indirect consequences of a progressively changing climate.

6.2 Effect of Solar Radiation on Crop Production

Solar radiation is radiant (electromagnetic) energy emitted by the sun. When sunlight reaches the Earth, it is distributed unevenly in different regions due to reflection, scattering and absorption. At noontime, solar radiation reaches the ground almost vertically in the tropical zone (0°–23.5° N/S) due to which this region is very warm and evaporates more water. The air of this zone is often moist resulting in dense and frequent cloud covers which reduce the effect of solar radiation on ground temperature. The highest solar radiation receives in summer with relatively thin cloud cover at subtropics zone (23.5°–40° N/S). These regions receive lower moisture that's why

the effect of solar radiation increases. This is the reason that why in this zone, most of the deserts in the world are situated. The solar radiation in these regions increases significantly, and it can momentarily be moist and very cool during winter season. The radiation reaches with a smaller angle in temperate zone $(40^\circ-60^\circ \text{ N/S})$, and hence, the average temperature is much cooler than on the subtropics. The polar area (cold zone at $60^\circ-90^\circ \text{ N/S}$) receives less heat through solar radiation.

The solar radiation provides light and heat for the Earth and energy for photosynthesis. This radiation consists of ultraviolet, visible and infrared bands with 8.3, 42.3 and 49.4% contribution, respectively. This radiant energy is necessary for the metabolism of environment and its inhabitants. Each of these bands has a different impact on the environment. The bands range between 400 and 700 nm best suited for photosynthesis and are also known as photosynthetically active radiation (PAR). Varlet-Grancher et al. (1993) reported that plant is employed around 50% of incident radiation to perform photosynthesis. The photosynthesis majorly occurred in leaves. and it depends on the amount of solar radiation intercepted by plant canopy. Further, this is influenced by a number of factors, viz. reflection of light from surface of the leaf, chlorophyll concentration and thickness of the leaf, angle of the leaf, elevation of the sun and distribution pattern of direct and diffused radiation. Both types of radiations have received at the upper surface of leaves, whereas a small portion of direct solar radiation has intercepted at lower leaves. The reflected and transmitted solar radiation from leaves and surface of the soil indicated more significance of diffused solar radiation in the lower leaves (Matloobi 2012).

The light intensity (Ali et al. 2005), duration (Starr et al. 2000) and quality (Wassink and Stolwijk 1956) of solar radiation are important for plant processes. The site of latitude is an important and integrative environmental driver, and it is associated with variations in temperature regimes, photoperiod and radiation intensity, all of which determine growth and development (Craufurd and Wheeler 2009) and ultimately productivity. In the last five decades, air pollutants, aerosols and population density increased dramatically, and, as a result, solar irradiance decreased by more than 6% per decade (Li et al. 2005; Che et al. 2007) and photosynthetic active radiation by 1.3% (IPCC 2007a, b). The global radiation has been reduced by 1.4–2.7% per decade at places between 25 and 45°N (Ramanathan and Feng 2009). Hume and Cattle (1990) also reported that the solar radiation received at the surface will be variable geographically, and on an average, it is expected to decrease slightly by about 1%.

In many parts of the world including India, growth of infrastructure sector, vehicular pollution, agricultural residue burning have caused significant solar dimming (Ohmura 2006). This solar dimming (decrease in global radiation) has become a major challenge to crop production in many parts of the world (Mu et al. 2010). Aerosols influence the solar radiation both directly and indirectly through their various sizes and thus their different optical and physical properties. The reduction in light causes leaf senescence and negative association with grain yield (Talukder et al. 2014). The effects of low solar radiation on crop production are described in Table 6.1.

Crop	Light	Effects on plant	Pafarancas
Crop	Intensity		References
Potato	Low	Increased the leaf area in potato	Singh (1988)
Rice	Low	Plant height increased by 31%	Jadhav (1987)
	Low	Reduced dry matter and yield	Singh et al. (1988)
	Low	Sterile and defective caryopses	Borah and Bakuah (1995)
	Low	Enzymatic activities of starch are suppressed, and amylase, sucrose and starch contents in caryopsis are decreased	Li et al. (2006), Liu et al. (2006), Wang et al. (2013a, b)
	Low	Affects grain nitrogen and amino acid metabolism, increase levels of protein in caryopsis	Ren et al. (2003)
	Low	Reduction in chloroplast ribulose-1,5- bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCo) activity	Shi et al. (2006)
	Low	Decrease in photosynthetic assimilates and dry matter translocation. Higher chlorophyll b and lower chlorophyll a/b content in leaves	Zhu et al. (2008)
Soybean	Low	Decreased shoot dry weight, grain yield	Kakiuchi and Kobata (2004, 2006)
	Low	Decreased photosynthesis, grain yield in determinate genotypes compared to semi-/indeterminate genotypes	Bhagat et al. (2017)
	Low	Grain yield significantly decreased under the low light intensity	Polthanee et al. (2011)
Cotton	Low	Adaptation of leaves to the low light environment to intercept more light energy	Zhao and Oosterhuis (1998)
Wheat	Low	Increased chlorophyll and lutein contents but decrease in net photosynthetic rate (Pn)	Zheng et al. (2011)
	Low	Accelerate carbon remobilization from vegetative tissues to the grains, leading to an acceleration of the grain-filling rate	Li et al. (2010)
Tobacco	Low	Increased plant height, contents of free water, chlorophyll, total nitrogen, and protein in leaves while stem circumference, dry weight/fresh weight ratio, leaf thickness, specific leaf weight, and dry matter accumulation decreased	Yang et al. (2007)
Chrysanthemum	Low	Increased plant height	Wang et al. (2009)
Peanut	Low	Leaf chlorophyll content, actual PSII photochemical efficiency and maximum PS II photochemical efficiency (Fv/Fm) was increased, while the Chl a/b ratio and photosynthetic rate (Pn) decreased	Zhang et al. (2009)
Sugarcane	Low	Reducing tons of cane and sugar per hectare	Gilbert et al. (2004)

Table 6.1 Effects of low solar radiation on different crop production

6.3 Climate Change and Radiative Forcing

Climate change can be defined as potential shifts in long run means and extremes of climatic variables like atmospheric temperature, precipitation, solar radiation etc. The potential impact of changing climate on photothermal environment can be judged by a unique index known as radiative forcing. Radiative forcing is a measure of the influence factor in altering the balance of incoming and outgoing energy in the Earth-atmosphere system and is an index of the importance of the factor as a potential climate change mechanism (IPCC 2007a, b). Radiative forcing is expressed in watt per metre square (W/m^2) . Ramaswamy et al. (2001) define it as the change in net (down minus up) irradiance (solar plus longwave, in W/m²) at the tropopause after allowing for stratospheric temperatures to readjust to radiative equilibrium but with surface and tropospheric temperatures and state held fixed at the unperturbed values. The components which contribute to radiative forcing are long-lived greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, halocarbons etc.), ozone, stratospheric water vapour, surface albedo, total aerosol and solar irradiance. Radiative forcing can be related through a linear relationship to the global mean equilibrium temperature change at the surface (ΔT_s): $\Delta T_s = \lambda RF$, where λ is the climate sensitivity parameter (Ramaswamy et al. 2001).

Due to higher atmospheric temperature, evaporation from the water bodies increases causing increased water vapour content in the atmosphere. The Third Assessment Report of IPCC (2001) revealed long-term increase in stratospheric water vapour content and claimed to have substantial radiative effect. This water vapour forms a part of aerosol and poses positive radiative forcing impact by warming the atmosphere. Presently, there are 14 years data of global stratospheric water vapour measurements from Halogen Occultation Experiment (HALOE), and continued balloon-based measurements are available suggesting a sustained long-term increase in stratospheric water vapour content of around 0.05 ppm/year from 1980 to 2000. Forster and Shine (2002) and Smith et al. (2001) estimated a + 0.12 to +0.2 W/m² per decade range for the RF from the change in stratospheric water vapour, using HALOE satellite data. Besides its impact on aerosol formation and positive radiative forcing, stratospheric water vapour also plays a key role in governing cloud cover percentage and thus influencing total solar irradiance (TSI) (Fig. 6.1).

6.4 Effects of Temperature on Crop Production

The changes in global environment has become faster due to increase in human interference. Its effect on increase in greenhouse gases, related increase in atmospheric temperature and loss of natural habitats has led to further changes in ecosystems of the world. The primary cause of global warming is the emissions of higher levels of CO_2 and other heat-trapping gases in the atmosphere (Jones and Briffa 1992). Hingane and his team (1985) noticed that during the twentieth century until the 1980s, there was increase in mean annual temperature by 0.4 °C per 100 years in



Fig. 6.1 Summary of the principal components of the radiative forcing of climate change. The values represent the forcing in 2011 relative to the start of the industrial era (about 1750). Human activities cause significant changes in long-lived gases, ozone, water vapour, surface albedo, aerosols and contrails. The only increase in natural forcing of any significance between 1750 and 2011 occurred in solar irradiance. Positive forcing leads to warming of climate, and negative forcing leads to a cooling. The thin black line attached to each coloured bar represents the range of uncertainty for the respective value (IPCC 2011)

relation to the Indian context. Similarly, the rise in mean annual temperature over the last century is 0.5 °C (Kothawale and Rupa 2002). The increase and decrease in temperature have major effects on plant growth and development.

Plants exposed to high and low temperature experience stress. There are many physiological injuries which have been observed under the exposure of high temperature, viz. inhibition of root or shoot growth or damages in fruit, leaf abscission and senescence and scorching of leaves and stems, which consequently escort the reduction in plant production and productivity (Vollenweider and Günthardt-Goerg 2005). Plant fertility is significantly reduced due to increase in temperature as reproductive development stage is more receptive to higher temperatures as compared to the vegetative stage (McKee and Richards 1998). In general if seedling and reproductive stages are exposed to high and low temperatures, crop production gets affected. Table 6.2 has shown that the C_3 , C_4 and CAM plants suffer from high and low temperature stress at different stages of crop growth.

	esponse on C3, C4	and CAM prants to mgn and low	v temperature suess containons		
	High				
Crop	stress	Low temperature stress	Affected growth stage	Effects on plant	References
C_3 plants					
Rice		13 °C for 15 days	Flowering stage	Reduction in the number of panicles, length of panicle, and the number of full emoty and total orains	Ghadirnezhad and Fallah (2014)
		Above 12 °C	Early stage of crop growth	Breakdown of tissue and appearance of tissues as water soaked, desiccation, lesions, wilting, necrosis,	Wen et al. (2002)
		15/10 °C (D/N) for 2 weeks	Seedling stage	50% reduction in total chlorophyll content	Aghaee et al. (2011)
		At 11 °C	Reproductive stage	Sterile and malformed spikelet, incomplete panicle emergence, spikelet degeneration symptom, delayed heading, abnormality in panicle initiation	Nahar et al. (2009a, b)
	Above 33.7 °C		Reproductive stage	Induce sterility	
	39 °C/30 °C (day/night)		Microspore stage	Reduced spikelet fertility	Endo et al. (2009)
Soybean	Above 30–35 °C (day)		Flowering times	Seed set on male sterile, female fertile plants decreased	Wiebbecke et al. (2012)
	37/27 °C (day/night)		Flowering stage	Lower pod setting	Kitano et al. (2006)

Table 6.2 Response of C₃, C₄ and CAM plants to high and low temperature stress conditions

e	Above 22 °C		Reproduction phase	Increases the fruit size and soluble solids but decreases firmness	Warrington et al. (1999)
	Above 30 °C		Reproduction phase	Increased fruit drop	Cole and McCloud (1985)
	Above 33 °C		Fruit development	Reduction in brix (sugar content), acid content, and fruit size	Hutton and Landsberg (2000)
	Above 36 °C for 1 day		Fruit development	Reduced fruit set	Prasad et al. (2001)
	Above 32/22 °C (day/night)		Reproduction phase	Poor pollen viability causes lower seed setup, and decrease in seed growth rates causes smaller seed size and decrease in shelling percentages	Prasad et al. (2003)
	Above 32/26 ° C (day/night)		Flowering phase	Germination of pollen grains was lowered	Sato et al. (2000)
	Above 32 °C		Boll development	Boll growth decreases significantly, and fruit was dropped 3–5 days after blossoming	Reddy et al. (2000)
		Below 20 °C	Germination stage	Reduced germination percentages	Krzyzanowski and Delouche (2011)
	Above 20 °C at night		Reproduction phase	Decreased spikelet fertility, grains per spike, and grain size	Prasad et al. (2008)
	Very HT 45 °C		Germination stage	Embryo damage and cell death causes not adequate germination rate	Essemine et al. (2010)
	At 31.9 °C (night)		Grain filling stage	Decrease in photosynthetic rate (by 22%) and chlorophyll content (by 8%)	Prasad et al. (2011)
					(continued)

Table 6.2 (c	ontinued)				
Crop	High temperature stress	Low temperature stress	Affected growth stage	Effects on plant	References
		Below 8–10 °C	Germination stage	Germination is drastically hampered	Zabihi-e- mahmoodabad et al. (2011)
		3 °C for 48 h and 72 h	Vegetative stage	Decreased levels of Chl, CO ₂ assimilation and transpiration rates	Yordanova and Popova (2007)
Mung bean	40/30 and 45/35 °C (day and Night)		Vegetative stage	Reduction of shoot and root growth	Kumar et al. (2011)
Barley	30 °C /25 °C (day and Night)		At five leaf stage	Decrease in anther and exogenous auxin restored male sterility	Sakata et al. (2010)
Strawberry	30/25 °C (day and Night)		Reproduction phase	Reduction in quantity of inflorescences, flowers, and fruits	Ledesma et al. (2008)
	24–32 °C		Reproduction phase	Reduces flower formation and fruit quality	Klamkowski and Treder (2008)
Coffee		Reduction in temperature of $0.5 \degree C \text{ day}^{-1}$, from 25/20 $\degree C$ to 13/8 $\degree C$	Vegetative stage (for 24 days)	Increase in zeaxanthin; reduction in chlorophyll content, lutein content, α / β -carotene ratio	Partelli et al. (2009)
Apple	Above 22 °C		Reproduction phase	Increases the fruit size and soluble solids but decreases firmness as a quality parameter	Warrington et al. (1999)
Chickpea	32/20 °C (day and Night)		Flowering stage	Decrease of sugars in anther	Kaushal et al. (2013)

C ₄ plants					
Maize	Above 35 °C		Pollination stage	Pollen viability decreases	Dupuis and Dumas (1990)
	Above 35 °C		Endosperm division phase	Kernel growth rate was reduced along with final kernel size	Jones et al. (1984)
	Above 30 °C		Grain filling	Damaged cell division, amyloplast replication and reduced the size of sink	Commuri and Jones (2001)
Sorghum	Above 36/26 °C (day/night)		Reproductive phase	Decreased pollen production, pollen viability, seed set	Jain et al. (2007a, b)
	40/30 °C (day/night)		Reproductive phase	Decreased seed yield	Prasad et al. (2006) Djanaguiraman et al. (2010)
Mustard		Below 10 °C	Germination stage	Reduce germination percentage, growth and premature stem elongation, seed diameter. Extensive white patches, white reticulation, red-brown pigmentation and folded seed	Angadi et al. (2000)
CAM plants					
Pincapple	Above 32 °C	Below 15 °C	Damage canopy, delay maturity and cause the fruit more acidic	Fruit development and retard growth	SweteKelly and Bartholomew (1993) Malezieux et al. (1994)
Cactus (<i>Opuntia</i> <i>bigelovii</i>)	44 °C	-4 °C		50% inhibition of nocturnal acid accumulation	Nobel (1983)

6.5 Climate Change and Photothermal Quotient

There is a direct impact of photothermal quotient (PTO) on crop production. The PTO can be defined as the ratio of total solar radiation in MJ $m^{-2} day^{-1}$ to the mean daily temperature minus a base temperature (4.5 °C for spring wheat). Nalley et al. (2009) identified PTQ to improve the explanatory power of statistical regression models on grains per metre square (GM), grain weight (GW) and yield under climate change scenario. The assessment of climatic variables such as PTQ, solar radiation and temperature could be done to see their impact on crop life cycle, and quantitative relationship could be developed between climatic variables and crop production. Development of models as new adaptation and mitigation strategies by understanding the biophysical impact of climate change on wheat crop growth kinetics has been found to be significant for attaining yield sustainability. Loomis and Amthor (1996) concluded that photosynthesis is the source through which crop growth and its production were derived and the photosynthesis dependent on receipt and capture of solar radiation only in the form of direct or diffused. Therefore, to establish relation between solar radiation and PTO in wheat crop growth and yield, based on the original field data, the development of regression model is essential. Yield is directly proportional to the PTO with the condition that rests of all the resources are available at optimum. Since, PTQ fulfilled the crop light, temperature and solar radiation requirement, so it is the main limiting factor which determines the crop adaptation under specific environments. According to the varying climate of experimental site, the management such as Planting Windows option may be a tactical measure for the adjustment of PTOs. Adaptability of wheat genotype based upon its relationship with PTQ knowledge for a particular climate zone can be recommended to minimize losses in the yield due to extreme climatic events (Ahmed et al. 2011a, b).

Demotes and Jeuffroy (2001) used three variations of PTQ: 45 days before to 0 days after 50% anthesis, 30 days before to 0 days after 50% anthesis and 20 days before to 10 days after 50% anthesis. They concluded that PTQ accumulated between 45 days before and 0 days after 50% anthesis was superior to PTQ accumulated between 30 days before and 0 days after 50% anthesis, which was again superior to 20 days before to 10 days after 50% anthesis. Ahmed et al. (2011a, b) studied the effect of photothermal exposure on spring wheat in terms of PTQ calculated in daily basis by the formula as stated above and adding the daily PTO from germination to anthesis and maturity to get the PTO1 and PTO2, respectively. They observed that grain number per m² is highly correlated ($R^2 = 0.88$) with PTQ1. GM2 increased from 5000 to around 20,000 linearly with an increase of PTQ1 (PTQ accumulated from germination to anthesis) from 110 MJ/m²/day/°C to 160 MJ/m²/ day/°C. The same trend was noticed for PTQ2 (PTQ accumulated from germination to maturity). Similarly, Tubiello et al. (2002) predicted that early planting of winter wheat and irrigated maize in Fargo, ND, and Glasgow by 2-3 weeks will yield similar as current level of production and thus can avoid adverse effect of high temperature during post-anthesis period. Likewise, early planting of different crops

like sugar beet, potato, etc. (Donatelli et al. 2002) has been shown as an adaptation for minimizing ill effects of climate change in crop production.

6.6 Management of Photothermal Environment

It is evident that photothermal conditions of the atmosphere are changing gradually due to climate change. Therefore, to cope up with this condition, some crop production strategies have to be formed out which will show resilience to the changing photothermal scenario.

6.6.1 Adjustment of Date of Sowing or Planting

Decision regarding when to plant a crop should be made according to availability of soil moisture, likely occurrence of temperature extremes, distribution of rainfall and of course radiation scenarios of the atmosphere. Thermo-sensitive crops like wheat respond well to the photo- and thermal environment to which they have been exposed. A number of field studies indicated that higher number of grains per metre square in wheat is associated with higher solar radiation and lower atmospheric temperature prior to anthesis period. This combined effect of solar radiation and atmospheric temperature can be better explained by an index called photothermal quotient (PTQ). The autumn sown irrigated spring wheat attains its highest theoretical sink capacity if the crop is planted at time which ensures its anthesis when the highest PTQ prevails. This results in higher grain number per m² due to exposure to higher radiation during pre-anthesis period (Ortiz-Monasterio et al. 1994).

6.6.2 Choice of Crops and Varieties

In the context of global climate change, C_4 crops should be preferred over C_3 crops because of less photorespiration and more photosynthetic efficiency. Instead of rice and wheat, maize should be preferred owing to its C_4 physiology (Edwards and Walker 1983). In crop simulation study using APSIM model, Dimes et al. (2008) concluded that sorghum and pigeon pea have better resilience to climate change as compared to maize and chickpea mainly due to improved harvest index and improved water use efficiency, respectively. Moreover, short-duration, high-temperature and drought-tolerant varieties should be preferred to increase the elasticity of the production system. Further, the choice of varieties can be narrowed based upon the specific situation. For instance, in low rainfall area, focus should be given on early maturing drought-tolerant varieties to avoid drought stress at sensitive crop growth stage, whereas the choice of long duration variety is judicious in case where moisture regimes exhibit little change. This is because warmer temperatures tend to speed up development and results in lower yields (Lobell and Burke 2008). Various crop model outputs have suggested that in the northern and southern parts of India where the detrimental effect of climate change is due to increased atmospheric temperature, farmers should go for heat-tolerant long duration variety which fit well in the period of available water. But in cooler region where the ill effect of climate change is due to increased atmospheric CO_2 , farmers should grow crops and varieties having better harvest index. But under dryland conditions, where low moisture availability is the main problem and which is likely to be worsen further under climate change, it will be judicious to go for short duration crops having early maturity period. Cooper et al. (2009) simulated yield of long duration Sorghum variety (Brandes) through DSSAT model and suggested that it will mature in 119 days under present condition at Aurangabad but can mature only in 103 days under warmer climate change scenario (+3 °C temperature). They also predicted that this long duration variety can maintain its current production level even under warmer climate under present management practices. The rice cultivars which flower earlier maintain high number of spikelets per panicle when grown in warm environments (Singh et al. 2010). Similarly, in wheat, a positive correlation between grain yield and canopy temperature depression (CTD) has been reported and recommended as a useful trait for selecting high temperature-tolerant genotypes (Pradhan et al. 2012).

6.6.3 Change in Land Use

Reallocation of different crops based on the availability of bright sunshine hours and atmospheric temperature can offset the adverse effect of climate change. Parry et al. (1988) reported an "optimal land use" for Europe under climate change scenarios which increased the area cultivated with winter wheat, maize and vegetables, while allocation for spring wheat, barley and potato will be decreased. Rainfed areas of India have derived direct benefit by bringing more area under irrigation, high value crops and rehabilitation of degraded lands through watershed management programme (Wani et al. 2003, 2007). But we should be aware about the projections in areas where replacement of current land use pattern with some different crops and varieties may increase the vulnerability of that area to climate change. For example, Lorenzoni et al. (2001) projected that in the UK, there are certain areas where replacement of current land use under pastures with heat-tolerant crops like maize may increase the vulnerability of that areas to climate change leading to further worsening of the situation. But at the same time, there are researches to show that if the degraded fallow lands can be brought under afforestation with efficient species, it will help to increase the carbon stock of the agroecosystem which will help to decrease radiative forcing caused by anthropogenic factors. The list of some efficient agroforestry species is given below which can efficiently increase the carbon stock of the agroecosystem (Table 6.3).

			Soil	
Agraforestry systems/species	Location	Age	depth (cm)	Soil C (Mgha $^{-1}$)
Mixed stands (Eucalyptus + Casuarina (C), C + Leucaena (L), Eucalyptus + L)	Puerto Rico	4	0-40	61.9, 56.6 and 61.7
Agroforest [<i>Pseudotsuga menziesii</i> (Mirb.) Franco + <i>Trifolium subterraneum</i> L.]	Western Oregon, USA	11	0–45	95.9
Agrisilviculture (<i>Gmelina arborea</i> Roxb. + eight field crops)	Chhattisgarh, Central India	5	0–60	27.4
Tree-based intercropping: hybrid poplar + barley	Ontario, Canada	13	0–20	78.5
Silvopastoral system: Acacia mangium Willd. + Arachis pintoi Krapov. & W. C. Gregg	Pocora, Costa Rica	10–16	0–100	173
Alley cropping Leucaena – 4 m wide rows	Western Nigeria	5	0–10	13.6
Alley cropping: hybrid poplar + wheat, soybeans, and maize rotation	Southern Canada	13	0-40	125
Alley cropping: <i>Erythrina poeppigiana</i> (Walp.) O.F. Cook + maize & bean (<i>Phaseolus vulgaris</i> L.)	Costa Rica	19	0-40	162
Shaded coffee: <i>Coffea robusta</i> L. Linden + <i>Albizia</i> spp.	Southwestern Togo	13	0–40	97.3
Sivopasture: slash pine (<i>Pinus elliottii</i> Engelm.) + bahiagrass (<i>Paspalum notatum</i> Flugge)	Florida, USA	8–40	0–125	6.9–24.2
Home gardens: multipurpose trees (<i>Acacia mangium</i>) fruit/nut trees/latex yielding trees (arecanut, coconut, Tamarind, Sapota, etc.) and crops (banana, cassava, colocasia, black pepper, etc.)	Kerala, India	35+	0–100	101–126
Shaded cacao systems: cacao (<i>Theobroma cacao</i>) with Laurel (<i>Cordia alliodora</i>) or Poro (<i>Erythrina poeppigiana</i>)	Bahia, Brazil	30	0–100	302

$\mathbf{T} \mathbf{u} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} v$	Table 6.3	Soil organic carbon	(SOC) s	stock of some	agroforestry	systems
--	-----------	---------------------	---------	---------------	--------------	---------

Source: Adapted from Nair et al. (2010)

6.6.4 Irrigation and Nutrient Management

Under changing photothermal scenario due to climate change, it is expected that there will be a differential photosynthetic response of C_3 and C_4 crops. Though C_4 crops are more tolerant to heat and drought as expected due to climate change, they are less photosynthetically efficient under elevated CO_2 condition which is evident through positive radiative forcing projections in the coming decades. But, most C_4 species have their origin in warmer tropical region. So, under this situation C_4 species show higher photosynthetic efficiency and growth rates due to gains in water, carbon and nitrogen use efficiency. So, to meet up the increased demand of water and nutrients of C_4 crops, there is a need for effective management of irrigation and fertilization practices. The growth response of plants under elevated CO_2 is directly influenced by water and nutrient availability (Cambell and Sage 2002). It is also projected that the robust growth of crops under elevated CO_2 level demands more nitrogen.

Agustin (2006) reported that under positive radiative forcing due to elevated CO_2 concentration optimal planting dates with higher dose of nitrogen will increase the yield of maize by 14, 23 and 31% for 2020, 2050 and 2080,under SRES (Special Report on Emission Scenario)-A2 and 11, 15 and 21% under SRES-B2, respectively, over the same period. However, the supplemental irrigation strongly reverted the situation. They also reported the higher yield of soybean under higher nitrogen dose in both the emission scenarios.

There is a critical role of mineral nutrition to be played for enhancing the plant resistance to environmental stresses (Marschner 1995). Firstly, nitric oxide (NO) which is one of the nitrogen forms is highly reactive, and a broad spectrum of regulatory functions to pass free radical through semipermeable membrane is desirable in many physiological processes, viz. seed germination, leaf expansion, stomatal closure, ethylene emission, cell senescence and programmed cell death and a signal molecular mediating responses to biotic as well as abiotic stresses (Crawford and Guo 2005; Yang et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2006; Zhao et al. 2007). Kato et al. (2003) reported that plants grown with higher nitrogen supply under high light intensity had greater tolerance to the damage caused by photo-oxidation and also enhances the photosynthetic capacity. The frost or chilling causes an oxidative damages which can be protected by providing higher dose of potassium to the plants (Waraich et al. 2011). Kafkafi (1990) reported that low temperature causes stem damage in carnation plants which can be protected by supplying higher dose of potassium in irrigation water to the plants. Hakerlerler et al. (1997) also reported that supply of potassium (depending on the source of potassium fertilizer) enhanced the total plant production in pepper (190%), eggplant (170%) and tomato (240%). Calcium has a very prominent role to maintain the cell structure and also plays a role as calmodulin which controls the plant metabolic activities, and under low temperature stress condition, enhancing plant growth (Waraich et al. 2011). The release of apoplastic or internal guard cell of Ca²⁺ partially mediated to ABA-induced stomatal closure (Wilkinson et al. 2001). Boron and magnesium stimulate the translocation of carbohydrates by enhancing phloem export and reducing ROS generation and damage due to photo-oxidation for maintaining the structure of chloroplast under high or low temperature conditions (Waraich et al. 2011). Under temperature stress condition, the enzymatic activities and antioxidant compounds are enhanced by manganese (Aktas et al. 2005; Turhan et al. 2006; Aloni et al. 2008). Djanaguiraman et al. (2005) reported that foliar spray of selenium decreases the ROS content and membrane damage where as increases the anti-oxidant enzyme activity in soybean.

6.6.5 Solar Radiation Management

The GHGs trap solar radiations and warm the Earth surface. The principal atmospheric gases like water vapour and clouds (36-72%), carbon dioxide (9-26%), methane (4-9%) and ozone (3-7%) participated in direct contribution to the greenhouse effect (Kiehl et al. 1997). To reduces these climate change effects, reduction in carbon intensity of the world through new low-carbon technologies and adopting them globally must be the priority. Solar radiation management proposals aim to reduce global warming by reducing the amount of light received on the Earth and by its atmosphere. It includes several techniques like space solar reflectors, stratospheric injection of aerosols, seeding tropospheric clouds by salt aerosols or ice nucleation to make them whiter and also surface albedo change (urban, rural or atmospheric approaches). When insufficient natural light is present in a greenhouse, LED lights are used to improve light conditions for optimizing phytochemical concentrations in vegetables (Samuoliene et al. 2012).

6.6.6 Managing GHGs Through Agricultural Adaptations

Agriculture contributes about half of the global emissions of two of the most potent non-carbon dioxide greenhouse gases: nitrous oxide and methane. The emissions of carbon dioxide from changes in agricultural land use can be reduced by slowing deforestation. The application of biochar with soil test-based balanced fertilizer enhanced the fertilizer use efficiency and reduced the prime greenhouse gas emission by increasing carbon sequestration. Other promising approaches are changes in agricultural land management (conservation tillage, intercropping/mixed cropping, agroforestry and rehabilitation of degraded crop and pasture land), overall improvement of nutrition and genetics of ruminant livestock, storage and capture technologies for manure and conversions of emissions into biogas. Some of these inventions have win-win outcomes in higher productivity, promotes better management of natural resources and production of valuable by-products, such as bioenergy. Others require substantial investment at the global level, such as the development of low-emission rice varieties and livestock breeds.

6.6.7 Biochemical and Molecular Tools Used to Mitigate Climate Change Effects on Crops

Sugarcane stubble buds may be protected from an oxidative damage by higher peroxidise and catalase activities, whereas accumulation of proline occurs to act as an osmoprotectant (Jain et al. 2007a, b). During freezing tolerance and cold acclimation, the confirmation for accumulation of proline is reported by several researchers (Paquin and Pelletier 1981; Koster and Lynch 1992; Dorffling et al. 1998). Under cold stress condition, higher level of acid invertase and reducing sugars were reported in sprouting of sugarcane buds during many studies (Jain and Madan 1999; Solomon et al. 1988; Solomon and Kumar 1987; Kanwar and Kaur

1977; Shrivastava et al. 2006). The lipid phase of the thylakoid membranes is photoprotected and stabilized by xanthophylls and terpenoids like isoprene or tocopherol (Velikova et al. 2005; Camejo et al. 2006). The thermotolerance in maize is induced by plant hormone ABA (Musatenko et al. 2003). Biosynthesis of major HSPs confers induction of high temperature stress tolerance in *Arabidopsis*, brassinosteroids and tomato (Ogweno et al. 2008; Bajguz and Hayat 2009). Similarly, higher HSPs synthesis and rapid continuation of protein synthesis due to heat stress epibrassinolide treatment which modulates the translational machinery in rapeseed and *Arabidopsis* under heat stress condition (Kagale et al. 2007).

To protect from heat stress condition, late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins, dehydrins and ubiquitin have found to play imperative roles (Willits and Peet 1998). To understand tolerance mechanism is one way to detect adaptive QTLs for high temperature tolerance. Genetic markers related to different environmental stress conditions have already identified several studies (Roy et al. 2011). The revealing of genetic basis for plant stress tolerance in some crops has led to the release of plants with enhanced tolerance to abiotic stress condition, in which marker-assisted selection approaches have significantly contributed its key role (Lopes and Reynolds 2010; Thomson et al. 2010).

6.7 Steps Involved in Management Strategies

The application of technologies is likely to be a more successive process rather than an on and off activity. After modification of some steps, Stalker (2006) suggested the four main steps to be followed for implementation of the technologies successively (Fig. 6.2).



Fig. 6.2 Steps in planned adaptation to cope with changing photothermal environment resulting from climate change (modified from Stalker 2006)

6.8 Way Forward

Photothermal environment of the atmosphere is changing gradually due to several anthropogenic and natural causes as evidenced from their respective contributory positive radiative forcing values. This situation can be managed in a better way through climate resilient diversified crop production and land use systems. In this regard, few potential, farmer-friendly options are sowing a thermo-sensitive crop like wheat at a time which can ensure a congenial exposure of higher solar radiation and lower atmospheric temperature and by preferring high temperature tolerant and lower water demanding crops like maize, sorghum (C_4 cereals) etc. which are at the same time photosynthetically more efficient. Likewise, short duration hardy pulses like horse gram, kidney bean, black gram etc. can be promoted instead of chickpea and lentil. Sowing climate resilient varieties of these crops is also a noble option for tackling the situation. Using higher dose of fertilizer and giving frequent light irrigation can also be thought as some procedure in harnessing a good yield in the changing photothermal scenario. Moreover, increasing carbon stock in the soil through region-specific suitable agroforestry systems can reduce the positive values of radiative forcing and make the photothermal environment more favourable for crop production. The use of some molecular and biological tools helps for increasing crop tolerance. Genetic research and screens can also be used to explore the loci and pathways that underlie these environmental sensitivities. None of these options will work alone. It is highly required to integrate all these options based on local and regional requirements and availability of resources. Management strategies such as crop rotation, land use planning, use of improved crop varieties, managing sowing date and integrated nutrient and water management are expected to help minimize the risk associated with yield variability under future climatic conditions.

References

- Aghaee A, Moradi F, Zare-maivan H, Zarinkamar F, Irandoost HP, Sharifi P (2011) Physiological responses of two rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) genotypes to chilling stress at seedling stage. Afr J Biotechnol 10:617–7621
- Agustin G (2006) Climate change and variability in the mixed crop/livestock production systems of the Argentinean, Brazilian and Uruguayan pampas. In: A final report submitted to Assessment of Impacts and Adaptations to Climate Change (AIACC), Project no. LA-27 published by the international START Secretariat 2000 Florida Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20009 USA
- Ahmed M, Fayyaz-ul-Hassan, Asim M, Aslam MA, Akram MN (2010) Correlation of photothermal quotient with spring wheat yield. Afr J Biotechnol 9(46):7852–7869
- Ahmed M, Hassan F, AqeelAslam M, Akram MN, Akmal M (2011a) Regression model for the study of sole and cumulative effect of temperature and solar radiation on wheat yield. Afr J Biotechnol 10(45):9114–9121
- Ahmed M, Hassan F, Razzaq A, Akram MN, Aslam M, Ahmad S, Haq M (2011b) Is photothermal quotient determinant factor for spring wheat yield. Pak J Bot 43(3):1621–1627
- Aktas H, Karni L, Chang DC, Turhan E, Bar-Tal A, Aloni B (2005) The suppression of salinity; associated oxygen radicals production, in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) fruit, by manganese, zinc and calcium in relation to its sensitivity to blossom end rot. Physiol Plant 123:67–74

- Ali MB, Hahn EJ, Paek KY (2005) Effects of light intensities on antioxidant enzymes and malondialdehyde content during short-term acclimatization on micropropagated Phalaenopsis plantlet. Environ Exp Bot 54:109–120
- Aloni B, Karni L, Deventurero G, Turhan E, Aktas H (2008) Changes in ascorbic acid concentration, ascorbate oxidase activity, and apoplastic pH in relation to fruit development in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) and the occurrence of blossomend rot. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 83:100–105
- Angadi SV, Cutforth HW, McConkey (2000) Seeding management to reduce temperature stress in Brassica species. In: Saskatchewan soils and crops proceedings, Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, Saskatchewan. http://www.usask.ca/soilsncrops/conference-proceedings/pre vious_years/Files/2000/2000docs/435.pdf
- Bajguz A, Hayat S (2009) Effects of brassinosteroids on the plant responses to environmental stresses. Plant Physiol Biochem 47:1–8
- Bal SK, Minhas PS (2017) Atmospheric stressors: challenges and coping strategies. In: Minhas PS et al (eds) Abiotic stress management for resilient agriculture. Springer, Singapore, pp 9–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5744-1_2
- Bal SK, Mukherjee J, Mallick K, Hundal SS (2004) Wheat yield forecasting models for Ludhiana district of Punjab state. J Agrometeorol 6(Spl. Issue):161–165
- Bhagat KP, Bal SK, Singh Y, Potekar SV, Saha S, Ratnakumar P, Wakchaure GC, Minhas PS (2017) Effect of reduced PAR on growth and photosynthetic efficiency of soybean genotypes. J Agrometeorol 19(1):1–9
- Bhatt D, Maskey S, Babel MS, Uhlenbrook S, Prasad KC (2013) Climate trends and impacts on crop production in the Koshi River basin of Nepal. Reg Environ Chang 14:1291–1301
- Borah RC, Bakuah AM (1995) Effect of light stress on chlorophyll, starch, protein content and grain yield in rice. Ind J Plant Physiol 38:320–321
- Cambell CD, Sage RF (2002) Interaction between atmospheric CO₂ concentration and phosphorous nutrition on the formation of proteoid roots in wheat lupin. Plant Cell Environ 25(8):1051–1059
- Camejo D, Jiménez A, Alarcón JJ, Torres W, Gómez JM, Sevilla F (2006) Changes in photosynthetic parameters and antioxidant activities following heat-shock treatment in tomato plants. Funct Plant Biol 33:177–187
- Che HZ, Shi GY, Zhang XY (2007) Analysis of sky conditions using 40 year records of solar radiation data in China. Theor Appl Climatol 89:83–93
- Cole P, McCloud P (1985) Salinity and climatic effects on the yields of citrus. Aust J Exp Agric 25:711–717
- Commuri PD, Jones RD (2001) High temperatures during endosperm cell division in maize: a genotypic comparison under in vitro and field conditions. Crop Sci 41:1122–1130
- Cooper P, Rao KPC, Singh P, Dimes J, Traore PS, Rao K, Dixit P, Twomlow S (2009) Farming with current and future climate risk: advancing a 'Hypothesis of Hope' for rain-fed agriculture in the semi-arid tropics. SATe J 7:1–19
- Craufurd PQ, Wheeler TR (2009) Climate change and the flowering time of annual crops. J Exp Bot 60(9):2529–2539
- Crawford NM, Guo FQ (2005) New insights into nitric oxide metabolism and regulatory functions. Trends Plant Sci 10:195–200
- Curry RB, Peart RM, Jones JW (1990) Response of crop yield to predicted changes in climate and atmospheric CO₂ using simulation. Trans ASAE 33:1383–1390
- Demotes MS, Jeuffroy MH (2001) Incorporating radiation and nitrogen nutrition into a model of kernel number in wheat. Crop Sci 41:415–423
- DeMott PJ, Sassen K, Poellot MR, Baumgardner D, Rogers DC, Brooks SD, Prenni AJ, Kreidenweis SM (2003) African dust aerosols as atmospheric ice nuclei. Geophy Res Lett 30:1732
- Dimes J, Cooper P, Rao KPC (2008) Climate change impact on crop productivity in the semi-arid tropics of Zimbabwe in the 21st century. In: Proceedings of the workshop on increasing the

productivity and sustainability of Rainfed cropping systems of poor, smallholder farmers, Tamale, Ghana, 22–25 September, 2008, pp 189–198

- Djanaguiraman M, Shanker AK, Sheeba JA, Devi DD, Bangarusamy U (2005) Selenium an antioxidative protectant in soybean during senescence. Plant Soil 272:77–86
- Djanaguiraman M, Prasad PVV, Seppanen M (2010) Selenium protects sorghum leaves from oxidative damage under high temperature stress by enhancing antioxidant defense system. Plant Physiol Biochem 48:999–1007
- Donatelli M, Tubiello FN, Peruch U, Rosenzweig C (2002) Impacts of climate change and elevated CO₂ on sugar beet production in northern and Central Italy. Ital J Agron 6:133–142
- Dorffling K, Abromeit M, Bradersen U, Dorffling H, Melz G (1998) Involvement of abscisic acid and proline in cold acclimation of winter wheat. In: Li PH, Chen THH (eds) Plant cold hardiness. Plenum Press, New York, pp 283–292
- Dupuis L, Dumas C (1990) Influence of temperature stress on *in vitro* fertilization and heat shock protein synthesis in maize (Zea mays L.) reproductive systems. Plant Physiol 94:665–670
- Edwards GE, Walker DA (eds) (1983) C3, C4: mechanisms, and cellular and environmental regulation of photosynthesis. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford
- Endo M, Tsuchiya T, Hamada K, Kawamura S, Yano K, Ohshima M, Higashitani A, Watanabe M, Kawagishi-Kobayashi M (2009) High temperatures cause male sterility in rice plants with transcriptional alterations during pollen development. Plant Cell Physiol 50:1911–1922
- Essemine J, Ammar S, Bouzid S (2010) Impact of heat stress on germination and growth in higher plants: physiological, biochemical and molecular repercussions and mechanisms of defence. J Biol Sci 10:565–572
- Forster PMF, Shine KP (2002) Assessing the climate impact of trends in stratospheric water vapor. Geophys Res Lett 29(6):101–104
- Ghadirnezhad R, Fallah A (2014) Temperature effect on yield and yield components of different Rice cultivars in flowering stage. Int J Agron 2014:1–4. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/846707
- Gilbert RA, Shine JM Jr, Miller JD, Rice RW, Rainbolt CR (2004) The effect of year, cultivar, and time of harvest on sugarcane yields in Florida. J Am Soc Sugarcane Technol 24:165–184
- Hakerlerler H, Oktay M, Eryüce N, Yagmur B (1997) Effect of potassium sources on the chilling tolerance of some vegetable seedlings grown in hotbeds. In: Johnston AE (ed) Food security in the WANA Region, the essential need for balanced fertilization. International Potash Institute, Basel, pp 317–327
- Hingane LS, Rupa Kumar K, Ramanamurty BV (1985) Long term trends of surface air temperature in India. J Climatol 5:521–528
- Hu Y, Maskey S, Uhlenbrook S (2013) Expected changes in future temperature extremes and their elevation dependency over the Yellow River source region. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 17:2501–2514
- Hume CJ, Cattle H (1990) The greenhouse effect: meteorological mechanisms and methods. Outlook Agric 19:17-23
- Hutton RJ, Landsberg JJ (2000) Temperature sums experienced before harvest partially determine the post-maturation juicing quality of oranges grown in the Murrumbidgee Irrigation Areas (MIA) of New South Wales. J Sci Food Agric 80:275–283
- IPCC (2001) Climate change 2001: the scientific basis. In: Houghton JT et al (eds) Contribution of working group I to the third assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York, p 881
- IPCC (2007a) Climate change: the physical science basis. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- IPCC (2007b) Climate change: synthesis report. In: Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK, Reisinger A (eds) Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental panel on Climate Change. IPCC, Geneva, p 104

- IPCC (2011) Renewable energy sources and climate change mitigation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York, 1075 pp
- Jadhav BB (1987) Effect of partial shading on the yield of rice. Ind J Agric Sci 57:515-516
- Jain R, Madan VK (1999) Effect of thiourea on sprouting, growth and biochemical changes of sugarcane. Indian J Sugarcane Technol 14:41–46
- Jain M, Prasad PVV, Boote KJ, Hartwell JAL, Chourey PS (2007a) Effects of season-long high temperature growth conditions on sugar to starch metabolism in developing microspores of grain sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench). Planta 227:67–79
- Jain R, Shrivastava AK, Solomon S, Yadav RL (2007b) Low temperature stress-induced biochemical changes affect stubble bud sprouting in sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp. hybrid). Plant Growth Reg 53(1):17–23
- Jones PD, Briffa KR (1992) Global surface air temperature variations during the twentieth century: part 1, spatial, temporal and seasonal details. The Holocene 2:165–179
- Jones RJ, Ouattar S, Crookston RK (1984) Thermal environment during endosperm cell division and grain filling in maize: effects on kernel growth and development in vitro. Crop Sci 24:133–137
- Kafkafi U (1990) Impact of potassium in relieving plants from climatic and soil-induced stresses. In: Johnston AE (ed) Food security in the WANA region, the essential need for balanced fertilization. International Potash Institute, Basel, pp 317–327
- Kagale S, Divi UK, Krochko JE, Keller WA, Krishna P (2007) Brassinosteroid confers tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana and Brassica napus to a range of abiotic stresses. Planta 225:353–364
- Kakiuchi J, Kobata T (2004) Shading and thinning effects on seed and shoot dry matter increase in determinate soybean during the seed-filling period. Agron J 96:398–405
- Kakiuchi J, Kobata T (2006) The relationship between dry matter increase of seed and shoot during the seed-filling period in three kinds of soybeans with different growth habits subjected to shading and thinning. Plant Prod Sci 9:20–27
- Kanwar RS, Kaur H (1977) Improving sprouting of stubble crop in low temperatures. In: Reis FS (eds) Proceedings of 16th congress of international society of sugarcane technologists, Sao Paulo
- Kato MC, Hikosaka K, Hirotsu N, Makin A, Hirose T (2003) The excess light energy that is neither utilized in photosynthesis nor dissipated by photo protective mechanisms determines the rate of photo inactivation in photosystem II. Plant Cell Physiol 44:318–325
- Kaushal N, Awasthi R, Gupta K, Gaur P, Siddique KHM, Nayyar H (2013) Heat stress induced reproductive failures in chickpea (*Cicer arientinum*) are associated with impaired sucrose metabolism in leaves and anthers. Funct Plant Biol 40:1334–1349
- kiehl et al (1997) Earth's annual global mean energy budget. Bull Am Meteorol Soc 78(2):197-208
- Kitano M, Saitoh K, Kuroda T (2006) Effect of high temperature on flowering and pod set in soybean. Sci Rep 95:49–55
- Klamkowski K, Treder W (2008) Response to drought stress of three strawberry cultivars grown under greenhouse conditions. J Fruit and Orn Plant Res 16:179–188
- Koster KL, Lynch DV (1992) Solute accumulation and compartmentation during the cold acclimation of Puma rye. Plant Physiol 98:108–113
- Kothawale DR, Rupa Kumar K (2002) Tropospheric temperature variation over India and links with the Indian summer monsoon: 1971-2000. Mausam 53:289–308
- Krzyzanowski FC, Delouche JC (2011) Germination of cotton seed in relation to temperature. Revista Brasileira de Sementes 33:543–548
- Kumar S, Kaur R, Kaur N, Bhandhari K, Kaushal N, Gupta K, Bains TS, Nayyar H (2011) Heatstress induced inhibition in growth and chlorosis in mungbean (*Phaseolus aureus* Roxb.) is partly mitigated by ascorbic acid application and is related to reduction in oxidative stress. Acta Physiol Plant 33:2091–2101
- Ledesma NA, Nakata M, Sugiyama N (2008) Effect of high temperature stress on the reproductive growth of strawberry cultivars 'Nyoho' and 'Toyonoka. Scientia Hort 116:186–193
- Li YG, Yu ZW, Liang XF, Zhao JY, Qiu XB (2005) Response of wheat yields and quality to low light intensity at different grain filling stages. Acta Phytoecol 29:807–813
- Li T, Ohsugi R, Yamagishi T, Sasaki H (2006) Effects of weak light on starch accumulation and starch synthesis enzyme activities in rice at the grain filling stage. Rice Sci 13(1):51–58
- Li HW, Jiang D, Wollenweber B, Dai TB, Jing Q, Cao WX (2010) Effect of shading on morphology, physiology and grain yield of winter wheat. Eur J Agron 33:267–275
- Liu QH, Li T, Zhang JJ (2006) Effects of early stage shading on function leaf growth at grain-filling stage and on grain quality of rice. Chin J Ecol 25:1167–1172 in Chinese with English abstract
- Lobell DB, Burke MB (2008) Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. Sci 319(5863):607–610
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2007) Global scale climate–crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming. Environ Res Lett 2:014002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/2/1/014002
- Lobell DB, Schlenker W, Costa-Roberts J (2011) Climate trends and global crop production since 1980. Sci 333:616–620
- Loomis RS, Amthor JS (1996) Limits to yield revisited. In: Reynolds MP, Rajaram S, McNAB A (eds) Increasing yield potential in wheat: breaking the barriers. CIMMYT, Mexico, pp 76–89
- Lopes MS, Reynolds MP (2010) Partitioning of assimilates to deeper roots is associated with cooler canopies and increased yield under drought in wheat. Funct Plant Biol 37:147–156
- Lorenzoni I, Jorden A, FavisMortlock DT, Viner D, Hall J (2001) Developing sustainable practices to adopt to the impact of climate change: a case study of agricultural systems in eastern England. Reg Environ Chang 2:106–117
- Mahowald NM, Kiehl LM (2003) Mineral aerosol and cloud interactions. Geophys Res Lett 30:1475
- Malezieux E, Zhang J, Sinclair E, Bartholomew DP (1994) Predicting pineapple harvest date in different environments, using a computer simulation model. Agron J 86:609–617
- Mallick K, Mukherjee J, Bal SK, Bhalla SS, Hundal SS (2007) Real time rice yield forecasting over Central Punjab region using crop weather regression model. J Agrometeorol 9(2):158–166
- Marschner H (1995) Mineral nutrition of higher plants, 2nd edn. Academic Press, New York
- Maskey S, Uhlenbrook S, Ojha S (2011) An analysis of snow cover changes in the Himalayan region using MODIS snow products and in situ temperature data. Clim Chang 108:391–400
- Matloobi M (2012) Light harvesting and photosynthesis by canopy. In: Advances in photosynthesis fundamental aspects, pp 235–256
- McKee J, Richards AJ (1998) The effect of temperature on reproduction in five *Primula* species. Ann Bot 82:359–374
- Menzel A, Sparks T, Estrella N et al (2006) European phenological response to climate change matches the warming pattern. Glob Change Biol 12:1969–1976
- Monteith (1973) Principles of environmental physics. Arnold, London, p 241
- Mu H, Jiang D, Wollenweber B, Dai T, Jing Q, Cao W (2010) Long-term low radiation decreases leaf photosynthesis, photochemical efficiency and grain yield in winter wheat. Crop Sci J 196:38–47
- Mukherjee J, Singh G, Bal SK (2014) Radiation use efficiency and instantaneous photosynthesis at different growth stages of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) in semi-arid ecosystem of Central Punjab. India J Agrometeorol 16(1):69–77
- Musatenko L, Vedenicheva N, Vasyuk V, Generalova V, Martyn G, Sytnik K (2003) Phytohormones in seedlings of maize hybrids differing in their tolerance to high temperatures. Russ J Plant Physiol 50:444–448
- Nahar K, Hasanuzzaman M, Majumder RR (2009a) Effect of low temperature stress in transplanted Aman Rice varieties mediated by different transplanting dates. Acad J Plant Sci 2:132–138
- Nahar K, Biswas JK, Shamsuzzaman AMM, Hasanuzzaman M, Barman HN (2009b) Screening of indica rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) genotypes against low temperature stress. Botany Res Int 2:295–303
- Nair PKR, Nair VD, Kumar BM, Showalter JM (2010) Carbon sequestration in agroforestry systems. Adv Agron 108:238–284

- Nalley LL, Rew PB, Sayre K (2009) Photothermal quotient specifications to improve wheat cultivar yield component models. Agron J 101:556–563
- Nobel PS (1983) Low and high temperature influences on cacti. In: Marcelle R, Clijsters H, van Poucke H (eds) Effects of stress on photosynthesis, Advances in agricultural biotechnology, vol 3, pp 165–174
- Ogweno JO, Song XS, Shi K, Hu WH, Mao WH, Zhou YH et al (2008) Brassinosteroids alleviate heat-induced inhibition of photosynthesis by increasing carboxylation efficiency and enhancing antioxidant systems in *Lycopersicon esculentum*. J Plant Growth Regul 27:49–57
- Ohmura A (2006) Observed long-term variations of solar irradiance at the earth's surface. Space Sci Rev 125(1–4):111–128
- Ortiz-Monasterio RJI, Dhilon SS, Fischer RA (1994) Date of sowing effects on grain yield and yield components of irrigated spring wheat cultivars and relationship with radiation and temperature in Ludhiana. India Field Crop Res 37:169–184
- Paquin R, Pelletier G (1981) Acclimation naturelle de la luzerne (*Medicago media* Pers.) au froid.
 I. Variations de la teneuren prolinelibre de feuilleset des collets. Physiol Veg 19:103–117
- Parry ML, Carter TR, Knoijin NT (eds) (1988) The impact of climate variations on agriculture. Kluwer, Dordrecht
- Parry ML, Rosenzweig C, Iglesias A, Livermore M, Fischer G (2004) Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socio-economic scenarios. Glob Environ Chang 14:53–67
- Partelli FL, Vieira HD, Viana AP, Batista-Santos P, Rodrigues AP, Leitão AE, Ramalho JC (2009) Low temperature impact on photosynthetic parameters of coffee geno-types. Pesqu Agropecu Bras 44:1404–1415
- Polthanee A, Promsaena K, Laoken A (2011) Influence of low light intensity on growth and yield of four soybean cultivars during wet and dry seasons of Northeast Thailand. Agric Sci 2(2):61–67
- Pradhan GP, Prasad PVV, Fritz AK, Kirkham MB, Gill BS (2012) High temperature tolerance in Aegilops species and its potential transfer to wheat. Crop Sci 52:292–304
- Prasad PVV, Craufurd PQ, Kakani VG, Wheeler TR, Boote KJ (2001) Influence of high temperature during pre- and post-anthesis stages of floral development on fruit-set and pollen germination in peanut. Aust J Plant Physiol 28:233–240
- Prasad PVV, Boote KJ, Allen LH Jr, Thomas JMG (2003) Super-optimal temperatures are detrimental to peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) reproductive processes and yield at both ambient and elevated carbon dioxide. Glob Change Biol 9:1775–1178
- Prasad PVV, Boote KJ, Allen LH Jr (2006) Adverse high temperature effects on pollen viability, seed-set, seed yield and harvest index of grain-sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] are more severe at elevated carbon dioxide due to higher tissue temperatures. Agric For Meteorol 139:237–251
- Prasad PVV, Pisipatia SR, Risticb Z, Bukovnika U, Fritza AK (2008) Impact of night-time temperature on physiology and growth of spring wheat. Crop Sci 48(6):2372–2380
- Prasad PVV, Pisipati SR, Momcilovic I, Ristic Z (2011) Independent and combined effects of high temperature and drought stress during grain filling on plant yield and chloroplast EF-Tu expression in spring wheat. J Agron 197:430–441
- Ramanathan V, Feng Y (2009) Air pollution, greenhouse gases and climate change: global and regional perspectives. Atmos Environ 43(1):37–50
- Ramaswamy VO, Boucher J, Haigh D, Hauglustaine J, Haywood G, Myhre T, Nakajima GY Solomon S (2001) Radiative forcing of climate change. In: Houghton JT et al (eds) Climate change 2001: the scientific basis. Contribution of working group I to the third assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York, pp 349–416
- Reddy KR, Hodges HF, Kimball BA (2000) Crop ecosystems and climate change: cotton. In: Reddy KR, Hodges HF (eds) Climate change and global crop productivity. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, pp 161–180

- Ren WJ, Yang WY, Xu J, Fan GQ, Ma JH (2003) Effect of low light on grains growth and quality in rice. Chin J Acta Agron Sin 29:785–790
- Roy SJ, Tucker EJ, Tester M (2011) Genetic analysis of abiotic stress tolerance in crops. Curr Opin Plant Biol 14:232–239
- Sakata T, Oshino T, Miura S, Tomabechi M, Tsunaga Y, Higashitani N, Miyazawa Y, Takahashi H, Watanabe M, Higashitani A (2010) Auxins reverse plant male sterility caused by high temperature. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:8569–8574
- Samuoliene G, Brazaityte A, Sirtautas R, Novickovas A, Duchovskis P (2012) The effect of supplementary LED lighting on the antioxidant and nutritional properties of lettuce. Acta Hortic 952:835–841
- Sassen K (2002) Indirect climate forcing over the western US from Asian dust storms. Geophys Res Lett 29:1465
- Sato S, Peet MM, Thomas JF (2000) Physiological factors limit fruit-set of tomato (*Lycopersicon* esculentum Mill) under chronic and mild heat stress. Plant Cell Environ 23:719–726
- Sharma E, Chettri N, Tse-ring K, Shrestha AB, Fang J, Mool P, Eriksson M (2009) Climate change impacts and vulnerability in the eastern Himalayas. ICIMOD, Kathmandu
- Shi XD, Wen ZQ, Liu YF, Wang WW (2006) Research on the effect of different light stresses on crop growth. J Anhui Agric Sci 34(17):4216–4218 in Chinese with English abstract
- Shrivastava AK, Solomon S, Singh P, Rai RK, Jain R, Singh I, Kumar R (2006) Improving sprouting of stubble buds in sugarcane under sub-optimal temperatures by pre-harvest foliar application of ethrel. In: Li Y, Solomon S (eds) Technologies to improve sugar productivity in developing countries. China Agricultural Press, Beijing, pp 495–499
- Singh L (1988) Adaptation and yield of potato under low light intensity. Indian J Plant Physiol 31:114–116
- Singh VP, Dey SK, Murthy KS (1988) Effect of low light stress on growth and yield of rice. Indian J Plant Physiol 31:84–91
- Singh RK, Redoña E, Refuerzo L (2010) Varietal improvement for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants: special reference to salinity in rice. In: Gonzalez Fontes A (ed) Abiotic stress adaptation in plants. Studium Press, Houston, pp 387–415
- Smith CA, Haigh JD, Toumi R (2001) Radiative forcing due to trends in stratospheric water vapour. Geophys Res Lett 28(1):179–182
- Solomon S, Kumar A (1987) Status of β -fructofuranosidase during germination of sugarcane setts. Indian J Sugarcane Technol 4:11–16
- Solomon S, Singh K, Srivastava KK, Madan VK (1988) Germination of sugarcane-a physiological and biochemical approach. Indian J Biol Res 6:7–25
- Stalker P (ed) (2006) Technologies for adaptation to Climate Change. UNFCCC, Bonn
- Starr G, Oberbauer SF, Pop EW (2000) Effects of lengthened growing season and soil warming on the phenology and physiology of Polygonum bistorta. Glob Change Biol 6:357–369
- Stith JL, Ramanathan V, Cooper WA, Roberts GC, DeMott PJ, Carmichael G, Hatch CD, Adhikary B, Twohy CH, Rogers DC, Baumgardner D, Prenni AJ, Campos T, Gao R, Anderson J, Feng Y (2009) An overview of aircraft observations from the Pacific dust experiment campaign. J Geophys Res Atmos:114
- SweteKelly D, Bartholomew DP (1993) Pineapple pests and disorders. In: Broadley RH, Wassman RC, Sinclair E (eds) Other disorders. QDPI, Brisbane
- Talukder A, McDonald GK, Gill GS (2014) Effect of short-term heat stress prior to flowering and early grain set on the grain yield of wheat. Field Crops Res 160:54–63
- Tao F, Yokozawa M, Liu J, Zhang Z (2008) Climate-crop yield relationship at provincial scales in China and the impact of recent climate trends. Clim Res 38:83–94
- Thomson MJ, de Ocampo M, Egdane J, Rahman MA, Sajise AG, Adorada DL, Raiz ET, Blumwald E, Seraj ZI, Singh RK, Gregorio GB, Ismail AM (2010) Characterizing the Saltol quantitative trait locus for salinity tolerance in rice. Rice 3:148–160

- Tubiello FN, Rosenzweig C, Goldberg RA, Jagtap S, Jones JW (2002) Effects of climate change on US crop production: simulation results using two different GCM scenarios. Part I: wheat, potato, maize and citrus. Clim Res 20(3):259–270
- Turhan E, Karni L, Aktas H, Deventurero G, Chang DC, Bar-Tal A, Aloni B (2006) Apoplastic antioxidants in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) fruit and their relationship to blossom-end rot. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 81:661–667
- Twohy CH, Kreidenweis SM, Eidhammer T, Browell EV, Heymsfield AJ, Bansemer AR, Anderson BE, Chen G, Ismail S, DeMott PJ, Van den Heever SC (2009) Saharan dust particles nucleate droplets in eastern Atlantic clouds. Geophys Res Lett 36:L01807

Varlet-Grancher C, Bonhomme R, Sinoquet H (1993) Crop structure and light microclimate, p 518

- Velikova V, Pinelli P, Pasqualini S, Reale L, Ferranti F, Loreto F (2005) Isoprene decreases the concentration of nitric oxide in leaves exposed to elevated ozone. New Phytol 166:419–426
- Vollenweider P, Günthardt-Goerg MS (2005) Diagnosis of abiotic and biotic stress factors using the visible symptoms in foliage. Environ Pollut 137:455–465
- Wang Y, Guo Q, Jin M (2009) Effects of light intensity on growth and photosynthetic characteristics of Chrysanthemum morifolium. Zhongguo Zhongyao Zazhi 34:1633–1635
- Wang E, Yu Q, Wu D, Xia J (2008) Climate, agricultural production and hydrological balance in the North China plain. Int J Climatol 28:1959–1970
- Wang J, Wang E, Feng L, Yin H, Yu W (2013a) Pheno-logical trends of winter wheat in response to varietal and temperature changes in the North China plain. Field Crops Res 144:135–144
- Wang L, Deng F, Ren WJ, Yang WY (2013b) Effects of shading on starch pasting characteristics of indica hybrid rice (*Oryza sativa* L). PLoS One 8:e68220
- Wani SP, Pathak P, Jangawad LS, Eswaran H, Singh P (2003) Improved management of vertisols in the semi-arid tropics for increased productivity and soil carbon sequestration. Soil Use Manage 19:217–222
- Wani SP, Sahrawat KL, Sreedevi TK, Bhattacharya T (2007) Carbon sequestration in the semi –arid tropics for improving livelihoods. Int J Environ Stud 64(6):719–727
- Waraich EA, Ahmad R, Ashraf MY, Saifullah AM (2011) Improving agricultural water use efficiency by nutrient management in crop plants. Acta Agric Scand Sect B Plant Soil Sci 61 (4):291–304
- Warrington IJ, Fulton TA, Halligan EA, de Silva HN (1999) Apple fruit growth and maturity are affected by early season temperatures. J Am Soc Hortic Sci 124:468–447
- Wassink EC, Stolwijk JAJ (1956) Effects of light quality on plant growth. Annu Rev Plant Phys 7:373–400
- Wen JQ, Oono K, Imai R (2002) Two novel mitogen-activated protein signaling components, OsMEK1 and OsMAP1, are involved in a moderate low-temperature signaling pathway in Rice. Plant Physiol 129:1880–1891
- Wiebbecke CF, Graham MA, Cianzio SR, Palmer RG (2012) Day temperature influences the malesterile locus ms9 in soybean. Crop Sci 52:1503–1510
- Wilkinson S, Clephan AL, Davies WJ (2001) Rapid low temperature-induced stomatal closure occurs in cold-tolerant *Commelina communis* leaves but not in cold-sensitive tobacco leaves, via a mechanism that involves Apoplastic calcium but not Abscisic acid. Plant Physiol 126 (4):1566–1578
- Willits DH, Peet MM (1998) The effect of night temperature on greenhouse grown tomato yields in warm climates. Agric For Meteorol 92:191–202
- Yang JD, Yun JY, Zhang TH, Zhao HL (2006) Presoaking with nitric oxide donor SNP alleviates heat shock damages in mung bean leaf discs. Bot Stud 47:129–136
- Yang XY, Ye XF, Liu GS, Wei HQ, Wang Y (2007) Effects of light intensity on morphological and physiological characteristics of tobacco seedlings. Chin J Appl Ecol 18:2642–2645
- Yordanova R, Popova L (2007) Effect of exogenous treatment with salicylic acid on photosynthetic activity and antioxidant capacity of chilled wheat plants. General App Plant Physiol 33:155–170
- Zabihi-e-mahmoodabad R, Jamaati-e-somarin S, Khayatnezhad M, Gholamin R (2011) Effect of cold stress on germination and growth of wheat cultivars. Adv Environ Biol 5:94–97

- Zhang YY, Wang LL, Liu YL, Zhang Q, Wei QP, Zhang WH (2006) Nitric oxide enhances salt tolerance in maize seedlings through increasing activities of proton-pump and Na1/H1 anti-port in the tonoplast. Planta 224:545–555
- Zhang K, Wan YS, Liu FZ, Zhang EQ, Wang S (2009) Response of photosynthetic characteristics of peanut seedlings leaves to low light. Ying Yong Sheng Tai XueBao 20(12):2989–2995
- Zhao D, Oosterhuis D (1998) Cotton responses to shade at different growth stages: non-structural carbohydrate composition. Crop Sci 38:1196–1203
- Zhao MG, Tian QY, Zhang WH (2007) Nitric oxide synthase-dependent nitric oxide production is associated with salt tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 144:206–217
- Zheng YF, Ni YL, Mai BR, Wu RJ, Feng Y, Sun J, Li J, Xu JX (2011) Effects of reduced solar radiation on winter wheat flag leaf net photosynthetic rate. Ying Yong Sheng Tai XueBao 22 (6):1457–1464
- Zhu P, Yang SM, Ma J, Li SX, Chen Y (2008) Effect of shading on the photosynthetic characteristics and yield at later growth stage of hybrid rice combination. Acta Agron Sin 34 (11):2003–2009



Heat Stress in Field Crops: Impact and Management Approaches

S. S. Sandhu, Jagdish Singh, Prabhjyot Kaur, and K. K. Gill

Abstract

The concentration of greenhouse gases has been increasing year by year leading to global warming. The concentrations of CO_2 and other greenhouse gases may rise up to 500–1000 ppm by the end of this century that can trap heat radiated from the earth leading to an increase in global mean temperature by 1–3 °C. The increasing temperature will affect the crop production by affecting the duration and phenology of crop, distribution pattern of a particular crop, etc. In this chapter the studies on the impact of heat stress on plant growth, development, and yield and various options to escape or tolerate heat stress have been reviewed. The various agronomic options discussed include selection of cultivar, sowing date, sowing method, and irrigation scheduling. The chemicals available for mitigating the effect of heat stress are osmoprotectants (proline), phytohormones (salicylic acid, abscisic acid), signaling molecules (nitric oxide), trace elements (calcium), and plant nutrients (N, P, K, Bo, Zn, etc.).

Keywords

Heat Stress · Wheat · Rice · Temperature · Management · Physiology · Phenology

J. Singh

K. K. Gill Centre for Communication and International Linkages, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, India e-mail: kkgill@pau.edu

7

S. S. Sandhu (⊠) · P. Kaur
 Department of Climate Change and Agricultural Meteorology, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, India
 e-mail: ssandhu@pau.edu; pksidhu@pau.edu

Punjab Agricultural University Regional Research Station, Gurdaspur, India e-mail: jagdishsigh@pau.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_7

7.1 Introduction

The concentrations of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) has been rising consistently, from 315 ppm (1959) to 385 ppm (2008), 392.6 ppm (2014), and 403.95 ppm (July 2017) (Keeling et al. 2009, IPCC 2014 and ESRL 2017) (Fig. 7.1). Current projections showed that by the end of this century, the concentrations of CO₂ will continue to rise and may reach 500–1000 ppm (IPCC 2007a). The global mean temperature has increased due to increase in concentration of greenhouse gases (GHG) as they trap heat radiated from the earth. The mean global temperature may rise by 0.3 °C per decade (Jones et al. 1999) with an uncertainty of 0.2–0.5% (Houghton et al. 1990) and would rise higher by 1 °C and 3 °C above the present temperature by the years 2025 and 2100, respectively, ultimately causing global warming. This higher temperature may alter distribution and growing season of crops by affecting the threshold temperatures for life processes (Porter 2005). Worldwide, high ambient temperature is regarded as a serious threat to crop production (Bal and Minhas 2017; Hall 2001; Lobell and Asner 2003).

High temperature stress or heat stress may be defined as the period in which ambient air temperature remains high for a sufficient period to harm the plant functions and/or its development in an irreversible manner. Plants can be damaged by either high day or high night temperatures or by either high air or soil temperatures. Fischer and Byerlee (1991) defined continuous high temperature stress for wheat as when the mean average temperature of the coolest month is greater than 17.5 °C. The temperatures range of 30–40 °C can be termed as moderately high temperatures for some plant species in which such high temperatures can cause reversible inhibition of metabolism (moderate heat stress). The temperature of plant usually remains just above the air temperature. The threshold temperature refers to a



Fig. 7.1 Change in major greenhouse gases

value of daily mean temperature at which reduction in growth is detectable. The information of threshold temperatures is important in research on crop physiology and production. The base threshold temperatures may vary with plant species.

Worldwide, crop production is limited by high temperature stress. In the tropical and subtropical climates, the high temperature sensitivity is more important and is becoming the major limiting factor for production of field crops. Almost 90% of the water that enters a plant system is used for cooling itself under warm conditions. The important weather parameters like temperature, humidity, intensity, and duration of light and speed of wind influence the quantity of water lost by plant for its cooling. During grain filling stage, if the plants are exposed to high temperature, it can accelerate senescence and reduce the individual grain weight and ultimately productivity (Siddique et al. 1999). It is also predicted that the crops may experience more thermal stresses in the coming times, due to predicted temperature increase of about 2 °C by the middle of twenty-first century (Karttenberg et al. 1995).

7.2 Extent of Damage

The damage due to high temperature stress is serious when it occur parallel to the reproductive period. According to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the global food supply is threatened by heat stress (IPCC 2007b). The extent of damage from heat stress is determined by the environmental factors like intensity, duration, and rate of change in temperature and plant factors like its stage of development and growing conditions before exposure to high temperature.

At global level wheat, maize, and barley productivity responded negatively to rising temperature during 1981–2002, costing an estimated loss of \$5 billion per year (Lobell and Field 2007). In the United States, during the period of 1976 to 2006, the northern corn belt was adversely affected by rising temperatures during growing season of maize and soybean; as a result their production was affected (Kucharik and Serbin 2008). In the IPCC scenario with the slowest warming trend, it has been predicted that maize and soybean yield would decrease by 30-46% before the end of the century (Schlenker and Roberts 2009). In the year 2003, Europe experienced a heat wave in the month of July, where temperatures rose by $6 \,^{\circ}C$ above average and annual precipitation was below average by 50% and resulted in record crop yield reduction (Ciais et al. 2005). During March 2004, Indo-Gangetic Plains in India experienced higher temperatures by 3-6 °C which advanced the crop maturity by10–20 days and accompanied by four million tonnes reduction in wheat production (Aggarwal 2008). During 2008–2009 wheat experienced heat stress in Ludhiana district of Punjab (India) which reduced the productivity to 4.4 t ha⁻¹, whereas the average productivity during the years having normal temperature was 4.8 t ha⁻¹. An increase of 2 °C in temperature from normal reduced the potential grain yield of wheat at most of the places in India (Aggarwal and Sinha 1993). A field experiment was conducted at Ludhiana during 2013-2014 on wheat by artificially increasing (3 °C higher than ambient) temperature (heat stress) inside the small polyhouses. It



Fig. 7.2 Maximum temperature (7-day moving average) at Ludhiana during heat wave crop years

was observed that the temperature increase during first week of February caused the grain yield reduction by 3.2%. In the second and third week, the decrease was 12.8 and 20.1%, respectively, as compared to yield obtained under ambient temperature conditions (Anonymous 2014a).

Bal et al. (2004) reported significant association between various weather parameters including maximum and minimum temperature on the long-term wheat productivity at Ludhiana Punjab after removing the increase in productivity due to technological upgrade factor. An experiment on rice was conducted at Ludhiana, India during 2013 in which heat stress (3 °C higher than ambient) was applied by placing the pots inside the polyhouse. The reduction (31.7%) in grain yield was maximum if heat stress was applied at anthesis, and it was 17.3% in heat stress during grain development stage (Anonymous 2014b).

The temperature variation during 2 heat wave and 2 cold wave years at Ludhiana is presented in Figs. 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, and 7.5. Maximum temperature during 2003–2004 (Fig. 7.2) remained higher during some days in November and December and then continuously higher than normal after mid-February. While, in the year 2008–2009, the maximum temperature remained higher than normal during the end November to first week of December and later on continuously higher during January to April. Similarly, the minimum temperature (Fig. 7.3) remained higher than normal for most of the time during the crop growth period during the 2 years (2003–2004 and 2008–2009) that resulted in a reduced crop yield of 4747 and 4392 kg/ha during these years, respectively.

The temperature variation during 2 cold wave years at Ludhiana is presented in Figs. 7.4 and 7.5. Maximum temperature during 2010–2011 (Fig. 7.4) remained near normal during November and December, considerably lower during the first few



Fig. 7.3 Minimum temperature (7-day moving average) at Ludhiana during heat wave crop years



Fig. 7.4 Maximum temperature (7-day moving average) at Ludhiana during cold wave crop years

days of January and during mid-February to mid-March and then during start of April. While during the year 2011–2012, maximum temperature continuously remained lower than normal during mid-January to end of March, while minimum temperature remained lower than normal during mid-January to start of February and during end February to mid-March. However, during 2011–2012, minimum temperature remained lower than normal during mid-December to the first week of January and then contentiously lower from end of January to end of March except for



Fig. 7.5 Minimum temperature (7-day moving average) at Ludhiana during cold wave crop years

few day when it was higher than normal. These lower temperatures resulted in higher productivity of 4942 and 5342 kg/ha during 2010–2011 and 2011–2012, respectively.

7.3 Plant's Defense Mechanism Against Heat Stress

The plants reduces the quantity of incident radiation absorbed by increasing the reflectance of its surface by the means of leaf hairs and scales, which scatter the incident radiation, thus reducing the energy available over the leaf surface. Some plants deposit a layer of wax on the epidermis that increases reflectance in addition to reducing water loss. Plants have various mechanisms for surviving under heat stress such as long-term evolutionary adaptations in phenological and morphological characters and short-term avoidance or acclimation mechanisms like adjusting leaf orientation, cooling through transpiration, or change in lipid compositions of membranes. Srivastava et al. (2012) observed closure of stomata, increased stomatal and trichomatous densities, and larger xylem vessels when plant was exposed to heat. Plants regulate their energy budget to escape excessive heat. The plant reduces quantity of solar radiation intercepted through specialized leaf and canopy arrangements. In case of eucalyptus, it rearranges its leaves vertically and canopy architecture so as to minimize the canopy exposure to direct sun. Some plants reduce heat load by moving, rolling, and/or adjusting orientation of leaves so that the leaf surfaces are not perpendicular to the sun rays and leaf moments are commonly observed in legumes (Angus et al. 2010).

The another mechanism adapted by plant species is production of smaller leaves that increases heat loss as the divided leaves decrease the boundary layer resistance thereby increasing convective cooling as well as transpiration. The leaf also losses heat by transpiration of water molecules from its surface also termed as transpiration cooling. Transpiration cooling can reduce leaf temperatures to 5 °C below ambient air temperature. In cultivated crops, high temperatures and water deficit, generally does not occur simultaneously. Therefore, the cultivars having high stomatal conductance are found to be more resistant to high temperature (Angus et al. 2010). The ability of plants to withstand extreme temperatures is mainly determined by environmental and genetic factors. The stability of life processes mostly ranges from some degrees above zero to around 35 °C (Zróbek-sokolnik 2012).

7.4 Effects of Heat Stress

7.4.1 Effect of Heat Stress on Plant Physiology

Photosynthesis depends on the ability of the crop canopy to intercept light, duration of light capture, photosynthetic capacity, and efficiency of the canopy. Photosynthesis is less sensitive to temperature increase as compared to respiration process and has the similar declining pattern as that of respiration. Xu et al. (1995) found that due to heat stress, structure and function of chloroplasts get disrupted and chlorophyll content reduced which ultimately reduces photosynthesis. Respiration increases rapidly with temperature and drops significantly at further higher temperature. Heat stress induces changes in photosynthesis and respiration which results in shortening of life cycle and reduced plant productivity (Barnabas et al. 2008). With every 10 °C rise in temperature, the average rate of enzymatic reactions increases twofold within the range up to 50 °C. The enzymes are permanently denatured and inactivated if temperatures rise above 60 °C except in thermopiles. The critical or lethal temperature is unique for each life process when it rises above that particularly it causes irreversible damage to cell structures and may result in death of the plant (Zróbek-sokolnik 2012).

Prasad et al. (2011) reported that chlorophyll content of wheat and its photosynthetic rate decreased by 8 and 22%, respectively, due to high nighttime temperature (31.9 °C/27.8 °C) as compared to optimum nighttime temperature. Almeselmani et al. (2012) observed that the leaf chlorophyll content of wheat cultivar PBW 343 and C306 was significantly reduced by high temperature (35/25 °C day/night) at any stages of growth. The leaf chlorophyll content of wheat cultivar C306 was reduced at anthesis and 15 days after anthesis by 23 and 48%, respectively, while in PBW343, corresponding reduction was 29 and 61%. Shah and Paulsen (2003) reported that during reproductive stage of wheat, if temperature increases it will result in enhanced rate of decline of photosynthesis and leaf area coupled with decreases in shoot and grain mass, sugar content of grains, and water-use efficiency.

Table 7.1 Ranges of temperature for seed germination of different crops (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2013)		Temperature (°	Temperature (°C)		
	Crop	Minimum	Maximum	Optimum	
	Rice	10	45	20-35	
	Wheat	20	40	25-30	
	Maize	10	40	25-30	
	Soybean	10	35	25-30	
	Tomato	11	30	15–27	
	Cucumber	18	30	25-30	
	Peeper	15	35	20-30	
	Carrot	11	30	15-25	
	Cabbage	8	35	15-30	

7.4.2 Effect of Heat Stress on Seed Germination

Good seed germination is one of the key requirements to get good and uniform crop stand and subsequently high yield of the crop. The germination of seeds is dependent on soil temperature, soil moisture, and soil aeration. The temperature ranges for germination of various crops have been given in the Table 7.1. The temperature affects the seed germination of plants by determining the rate of deterioration of seed, rate of loss of dormancy, and the rate of germination (Roberts 1988).

Prasad et al. (2006) found that the increase in seed-zone temperature between base temperature and optimum temperature resulted in increased germination rate; however, further rise in seed-zone temperature above optimum or maximum threshold temperature resulted in reduction in seed germination. Essemine et al. (2010) observed that the rate of germination of wheat was not optimum under very high temperature (45 °C) due to death of cells and damage to embryo during the early stage of crop development, indicating that the temperature above 45 °C did not allow establishment of new seedlings. Essemine et al. (2010) further reported that wheat plants grown under high temperature produced low-quality seeds having poor germination rate and vigor. Reduction in germination rate, plant emergence, poor vigor of seedling, abnormal seedlings, reduced radicle, and plumule growth in geminated seedlings due to heat stress have been reported in many plant species (Toh et al. 2008; Essemine et al. 2010; Piramila et al. 2012).

7.4.3 Effect of Heat Stress on Growth and Development

The most important effect of heat stress on plants is the reduction in the growth rate; however, coupled effect of heat and drought stress has more detrimental effects on growth and productivity of crops as compared to the effect of the individual stress (Prasad et al. 2008). The exposure of plant to heat stress significantly affects cell division and elongation rates that affect the size of leaf and dry matter yield of the plants. Ahamed et al. (2010) reported that a number of tillers and plant height of four different genotypes of wheat were negatively affected due to heat stress. Al-Busaidi

et al. (2012) observed that the exposure of high atmospheric temperature resulted in the significant water loss that negatively affected the growth and dry matter production in Jatropha curcas. Wahid (2007) documented that high temperature exposure of sugarcane plants will decrease shoot dry weight, net assimilation rate (NAR), and relative growth rate (RGR). Wahid (2007) observed that exposure of plants to high temperature stress resulted in reduced cell size and closure of stomata resulting in reduced water loss, increased stomatal and trichomatous densities, and increased size of xylem vessels in stem and roots. Wahid et al. (2007) highlighted that the pre- and postharvest damages as a result of high temperature can be due to scorching of leaves and twigs, sun burning of leaves, branches and stems, leaf senescence and abscission, inhibition of shoot and root growth, fruit discoloration, and damage. Johkan et al. (2011) found that the exposure of wheat plant to the high nighttime temperature resulted in decrease in number of tillers but enhanced shoot elongation. Schöffl et al. (1999) reported that high temperature negatively affects plants and results in severe injury at cellular level that was attributed to collapse of cellular organization, ultimately leading to death of cell. Zhang et al. (2009) concluded that the heattolerant rice cultivar has flag leaves with tightly packed mesophyll cells, welldeveloped vascular bundles, and a few closed stomata, while heat-sensitive rice cultivar lacked such features.

The plant growth rate increases with rise in temperature up to a certain point and then starts declining with further rise in temperature. The respiration activities increase up to some extent with rise in temperature and thereafter decline with further increase in temperature. Respiration rate increases with increase in growth rate and declines with decline in growth rate. The photosynthesis process is relatively less sensitive to temperature as compared to respiration process; however, the declining trend in photosynthesis process is like respiration (Fitter and Hay 2002).

7.4.4 Effect of Heat Stress on Fertilization

Sakata and Higashitani (2008) and Wassmann et al. (2009) reported that male sterility and impairment of pollen development as a result of heat stress are the main reasons for reduced yield. The yield reduction in response to elevated temperatures due to low pollen viability and germination was observed by many researches (Gross and Kigel 1994; Sato et al. 2000; Prasad et al. 2001; Kozai et al. 2004). In *Phaseolus vulgaris* heat stress at pre-anthesis stage resulted in abnormalities in pollen and anther development (Porch and Jahn 2001). Peng et al. (2004) observed that high night temperature causes reduction in rice yield and also figured that a number of fertile spikelets in rice and nighttime temperatures have a strong negative linear relationship.

7.4.5 Effect of Heat Stress on Dry Matter Production and Yield

The exposure of plant to high temperature negatively affects establishment, growth, dry matter partitioning, photosynthesis, and reproductive growth and ultimately affects the crop yield. The reduction in crop yield as a result of exposure to high temperature varies with the duration of exposure; degree of heat and crop genotype has been reported by several authors (Rahman et al. 2009; Islam 2011; Lin et al. 2010; Mohammed and Tarpley 2010; Kim and Lee 2011; Prasad et al. 2011). In Brassica oilseeds, Mendham and Salsbury (1995) found that the reduction in crop yield in response to high temperature was due to disturbance of relationship of source and sink for assimilation of photosynthates. Djanaguiraman et al. (2010) compared the yield attributes and yield of sorghum plants grown under normal (32/22 °C) and high temperature (40/30 °C) and concluded significant yield reduction in plants exposed to high temperature as compared to plants grown under normal temperature. The plants exposed to high temperature for 45 days showed a reduction of 22, 14, 53, and 36% in plant height, leaf dry weight, grain weight, and total dry weight, respectively. Monjardino et al. (2005) observed impaired endosperm cell division and development and reduced grain yield in maize due to high temperature. Altenbach et al. (2003) found that the high temperature shortened the duration of grain filling and decreased the time for apoptosis and maturity resulting in yield reduction. Morita et al. (2005) observed reduction in grain length and width of cereals due to reduction in the average area of endosperm cells in response to high nighttime temperature. Zakaria et al. (2002) concluded that due to high temperature, rate of kernel development increases and duration of dry matter accumulation decrease. Prasad et al. (2006) mentioned 10 and 99% reduction in seed yield of sorghum when temperature increased from 32/22 °C to 36/26 °C and 40/30 °C, respectively. Johkan et al. (2011) observed reduced yield in T. aestivum due to immature grains because of dark respiration under high temperature.

7.5 Heat Stress in Wheat

Globally, wheat is grown on an area of about 221.70 million hectares in a wide range of environment, with an annual production of about 655.80 million tonnes. India is the second largest wheat-producing nation with area of 30.23 million hectares and production of 93.50 million tonnes and average yield of 3.09 tonnes per hectare during 2015–2016. Wheat is the most sensitive crop to high temperature, at the reproductive growth, especially during grain filling. The heat stress in wheat focusing on the period of grain filling has been extensively studied by several workers (Borghi et al. 1995; Corbellini et al. 1997; Corbellini et al. 1998; Stone and Nicolas 1998) and concluded two typical heat stresses during the wheat grain filling, i.e., heat shock and chronic heat stress. "Heat shock" is characterized by sudden, extremely high temperatures (>32 °C) for a shorter duration (3–5 days), while "chronic heat stress" is characterized by moderately high maximum temperatures (20–30 °C) for a longer duration. Sharma (2000) reported that the best temperature regime for

optimum growth and yield of wheat crop is 20–22 °C at sowing, 16–22 °C at tilling to grain filling, and slow rise of temperature to 40 °C at harvesting. However, Farooq et al. (2011) reported that the optimum temperature for wheat at anthesis and grain filling ranges from 12 to 22 °C. An average optimum temperature of 15 °C for grain filling stage is also reported by Chowdhary and Wardlaw (1978). The important constraint to wheat production is the occurrence of high temperatures during kernel development (Rane et al. 2000) which drastically reduces the grain filling period, particularly under late sown conditions (Sharma 1992). Harrison et al. (2000) reported that high temperature during November sown wheat accelerates its growth resulting in earlier jointing stage which reduces tillering period. Studies (Blum et al. 2001; Laghari et al. 2012) had reported that exposure to heat stress in wheat crop accelerates the development stages to such a degree that necessary supply of environmental inputs (radiation, water, and nutrient) is not met. Ford et al. (1975) found that heat stress after flowering accelerates leaf senescence, thus reducing grain filling stage resulting in grain yield reduction.

Almeselmani et al. (2012) found negative effect of high temperature (35 °C) on chlorophyll content, net photosynthesis, and RuBisCO activity in wheat. Demirevska-Kepova et al. (2005) also observed adverse effect of high temperature (40 °C) on chlorophyll content of wheat, while Law and Crafts-Brandner (1999) reported that high temperature (45 °C) in wheat could significantly reduce net photosynthesis and increase respiration.

Exposure to above optimum temperatures can significantly reduce productivity (Macas et al. 2000; Tewolde et al. 2006). Some studies (Gibson and Paulsen 1999; Mian et al. 2007) have reported that average daily temperature above 15 °C during grain filling period caused a reduction in grain yield. Dias and Lidon (2009) concluded that high temperature during grain filling increases the rate of grain filling but shortened its duration. Yin et al. (2009) observed that the grain filling duration was shortened by 12 days in wheat crop with 5 °C increase in temperature above 20 °C which led to an increase in rate of grain filling and reduced the grain yield.

The temperature sensitivity of wheat at different growth stages (Table 7.2) was reported by Slafer and Rawson (1994). Heat stress at anthesis stage increases floret abortion (Wardlaw and Wrigley 1994). Saini and Aspinall (1982) reported that in wheat, at floret formation stage, temperatures above 30 °C may cause complete sterility. Heat stress during the reproductive stage resulted in pollen sterility, tissue dehydration, and increased photorespiration. However, high temperatures increase

Table 7.2 Temperature sensitivity of different phenological stages of wheat the sensitivity of different	Phenological stages	Sensitivity to temperature
	Germination	High
	Jointing	High
	Tillering	High
	Spikelet production	Low to moderate
	Spikelet development	Moderate to high
	Grain filling	Moderate to high
	Grain development	Moderate to high

growth (Kase and Catsky 1984), but also reduce the period between successive phonological events, that can never be compensated by the increased growth rate (Zahedi and Jenner 2003). Mohammadi et al. (2012) observed that high temperature reduces time duration between heading and maturity of wheat. The grain filling duration was adversely affected in heated environment. Thousand-kernel weight was highly correlated with canopy temperature in dry land and heat conditions but not in supplemental irrigation environment. They further concluded that the combined heat and drought stress reduced grain yield more than by either stress alone, but not with additive effects.

High temperature affects the grain yield and quality of wheat by affecting its sink strength and source capacity. Rane et al. (2007) reported that delay in sowing of wheat causes reduction in biological yield due to decrease in duration of life cycle as a result of occurrence of terminal heat stress. Moshatati et al. (2012) conducted an experiment in Iran and found that by sowing wheat beyond the optimum window, the crop experiences high temperatures during grain filling period, consequently there occurs a reduction in yield components and grain yield. Several studies (Gibson and Paulsen 1999; Aveneh et al. 2002; Irfag et al. 2005) reported that heat stress causes a reduction in crop stand, duration of life cycle, number of tillers, crop biomass, fertilization and grain development, size of ear, number of spikes per ear, and grain yield. Prasad et al. (2011) reported that the spring wheat plants grown under high temperature (31/18 °C) showed reduction of 50, 20, and 39% in a number of grains per spike, dry weight, and grain yield, respectively, as compared to that under optimum temperature (24/14 °C). Prasad et al. (2008) highlighted that high temperature stress in late sown wheat resulted in reduced ear length, number of spikelet per main stem, and number of fertile floret per main stem $^{-1}$ which ultimately caused a reduction in grain yield. Rahman et al. (2009) exposed wheat to $37/28 \,^{\circ}$ C (day/night) temperature for 20 days at grain filling and maturity stage and found shortened grain filling duration and maturity period and reduced kernel weight and finally reduction in grain yield. The exposure of wheat to 30/25 °C day/night temperature from 60 DAS up to maturity resulted in reduction of leaf size, days to booting, heading, anthesis and maturity, severe reduction of number of grains/spike and reduced grain size, and ultimately productivity (Dianaguiraman et al. 2010). Under heat stress conditions, the supply of photoassimilates is limited (Calderini et al. 2006) that resulted in poor yield. Streck (2005) found that in wheat, an increase of every 1°C beyond a temperature of 15-20 °C reduces the duration of grain filling by 2.8 days. Parry and Swaminathan (1992) observed that an increase of 0.5 °C temperature caused a reduction in duration of crop by 7 days along with a yield reduction of 0.5 t ha⁻¹ in North India. Sandhu et al. (2016) concluded from a crop growth simulation modeling study that in central Punjab of India, the same level of heat stress can have different effects on wheat sown on different dates and the same level of heat stress can have positive and negative effects on wheat productivity, but the nature and quantum of effect varies with the timing of the heat stress.

7.6 Heat Stress in Rice

Rice (Oryza sativa L.), with global production of more than 740 million tonnes during 2016 (FAOSTAT 2018), is the staple food for nearly half the world population (Singh and Singh 2017). Development of male gametophyte in rice is extremely susceptible to high temperature, which directly cause grain yield reduction. Zakaria et al. (2002) found that the spikelet fertility of rice was highly sensitive to temperature during night, while degree of sensitivity to nighttime temperature was dependent on the developmental stage of the spikelet. Satake and Yoshida (1978) and Farrell et al. (2006) found that the most susceptible stages to high temperature stress in rice are anthesis, fertilization, and to some extent microsporogenesis (booting). The strong negative linear relationship between increase in nighttime temperatures and the number of fertile spikelets was observed by Peng et al. (2004). Morita et al. (2005) reported a reduction in the average area of endosperm cells in response to high nighttime temperature. Yoshida et al. (1981) observed reduced spikelet fertility in rice due to exposure to night temperature higher than 30 °C. Rice productivity is affected due to altered pollen germination and spikelet fertility as a result of high nighttime temperature (Mohammed and Tarpley 2009).

The higher nighttime temperature increases canopy respiration that negatively affects grain yield (Streck 2005). Sujatha et al. (2008) found that the decrease in photosynthetic rate was linked to the reduction in sucrose-P-synthase (SPS) activity under high temperature stress in rice. Scafaro et al. (2010) reported negative effect of high temperature (45 °C) on the Ferredoxin-NADP(H) oxidoreductase thiamine concentration in rice plants. Mohammed and Tarpley (2010) observed that the rice crop exposed to 32 °C temperature during night at reproductive stage resulted in increased spikelet sterility; decreased grain size, viz., length, width, and weight; and ultimately reduced yield. Rice plant grown under 25–42.5 °C temperature at vegetative growth stage resulted in decrease in the carbon dioxide assimilation rate.

Seshu and Cady (1984) observed that rice yield reduces by 41 gm⁻² with an increase in average minimum temperature by 1.0 °C from 22 to 23 °C. Kanno and Makino (2010) reported that in rice during the vegetative stage, if night temperature increases up to 27 °C, it causes an increase in specific leaf area, leaf area, and leaf weight ratio; however, cool night temperature increases the grain yield and biomass. Peng et al. (2004) observed a decrease in grain yield of rice up to 10% with an increase in minimum temperature by 1 °C, and the reduction in grain yield was mainly due to the decrease in number of spikelets per plant. Welch et al. (2010) concluded from a database obtained from 227 intensively managed irrigated rice farms spread over 6 important rice-producing countries that higher minimum temperature reduces, while higher maximum temperature increases the grain yield.

7.7 Mitigating the Impact of Heat Stress

7.7.1 Agronomic/Crop Management Options

High temperature stress could be avoided by agronomic/crop management practices discussed below.

7.7.1.1 Selection of Proper Tillage/Sowing Methods

The selection of type of tillage and planting methods plays an important role in emergence and crop growth. However, the sowing of crop using different tillage options mostly depends on soil type, sowing time, water availability, etc. The methods of planting may affect the plants tolerance against heat stress through the soil moisture. The presence of crop residues/mulch on the soil surface protects the crop from high temperature during its initial growth period and keeps soil temperature lower than ambient during the day and higher at night and also conserves soil moisture (Geiger et al. 1992). The availability of optimum soil moisture increases transpiration process thereby reducing the canopy temperature and thus may protect the crop from probable yield decline by overcoming the heat stress. The tillage options such as zero tillage, bed planting, and conventional tillage with residue mulching produce higher grain yield and may help in mitigating the adverse impacts of high temperature during growth period of a crop.

7.7.1.2 Choice of Sowing Date and Cultivars

The selection of cultivar with respect to date of sowing and expected temperature rise during the crop growth period is important to get a better yield under high temperature stress conditions. In wheat, periods of elevated temperature may or may not occur during the growing season of the crop, but during grain filling, seasonal temperatures are mostly increasing. Loss and Siddique (1994) indicated that early planting of wheat may coincide grain filling with cooler temperatures thus avoiding terminal heat stress and leading to better yield. Gouachea et al. (2012) explored the effects of different agronomic practices such as earlier sowing, use of earlier maturing cultivars, and heat stress-tolerant cultivars using simulation approaches in France. The results showed earlier sowing dates were less efficient in yield enhancement as compared to earlier heading cultivars. As per the Directorate of Wheat Research Perspective Plan Vision-2025, varieties like PBW-373 and Kaushambi (HW-2045) possess terminal heat stress tolerance, and Naina (K-9533) and Parbhani-51 are heat-tolerant varieties which can overcome the adverse effect of heat stress on wheat crop. Selecting optimum sowing time helps in avoiding high temperature stress during anthesis and grain filling; thus crop escapes from hot and desiccating wind during grain filling period.

7.7.1.3 Water Management

Water management is critical from the point of view of damage due to high temperature stress, as high temperature is mostly associated with water stress. Plants can tolerate heat stress until crop can transpire freely. Continuous supply of water to heat-stressed crop may help sustain grain filling rate, duration, and size of grain (Dupont et al. 2006). Irrigation scheduling, according to critical stages of crop growth, soil type, and prevailing environmental conditions, helps the crop in mitigating high temperature stress and achieving optimum growth. Irrigation of wheat crop at the time of grain filling was found beneficial if temperature rose during that period (PAU 2015). Water-stressed plants close their stomata in order to conserve water; as a result cooling due to transpiration diminishes, and leaf temperatures might increase to lethal levels resulting in breakdown of plant processes. Proper irrigation methods based on soil type and availability of irrigation water and irrigation scheduling according to growth stages and weather may help in mitigating the effects of heat stress on crop. Supply of sufficient water can help in withstanding the air temperatures of 40 °C in field crops otherwise if water is limiting, 40 °C may kill the leaves (CIMMYT 2018).

7.7.2 Applications of Protectants/Chemicals/Nutrients

Certain chemicals may protect the plants against ill effects of high temperature. Literature available on the effect and use of such chemicals is being summarized in the following sections.

7.7.2.1 Osmoprotectants

Proline is membrane protectant, with low-molecular weight, and helps in maintaining the structure of enzymes and proteins, membrane integrity, and scavenges reactive oxygen species (Hameed et al. 2012). Under stress conditions proline accumulates in high concentrations in the cell cytoplasm without interfering with cellular structure and metabolism. Rasheed et al. (2011) applied exogenous proline (20 mm) to sugarcane nodal buds and observed desirable changes in anatomical and physiological parameters leading to mitigation of the adverse effects of heat stress. The application of proline considerably reduces the hydrogen peroxide production, improves the accumulation of soluble sugars, and protects the developing tissues from high temperature stress. Kaushal et al. (2011) observed that exogenous proline provides the protection to important enzymes of antioxidant and carbon metabolism thus providing tolerance in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) to heat stress. They further reported that application of proline to plants under high temperature stress (45/40 °C) reduced injury to membranes and had improved chlorophyll and water content due to enhanced levels of antioxidants. Cai et al. (2014) observed that indole acetic acid, gibberellic acid, and abscisic acid significantly improved the grain yield in wheat under high temperature stress.

7.7.2.2 Phytohormones

Salicylic acid improved the efficiency of photosynthesis in maize thereby, improving the plant growth and yield (Khan et al. 2003). Salicylic acid increases the protein levels in plants (Apostolova et al. 2008), whereas application of 1 mm SA reduces transpiration (Azizi 2010). The salicylic acid acts as an antioxidant, neutralizes free

radical damage due to oxidation and degradation of protein structure, and thus increases protein content (Keshavarz 2010). Iqbal et al. (2013) reported that application of 0.5 mm SA reduced the loss of chlorophyll, rubisco activity and showed maximum protection from heat stress by lowering ethylene formation through the decrease in ACS (1-aminocyclopropane carboxylic acid synthase) activity. Dat et al. (1998) found that foliar application of salicylic acid in lower concentration to mustard increased the H_2O_2 level and reduced the catalase which amplifies the potential of plants to withstand the heat stress.

Farooq et al. (2008) reported application of α -tocopherol and SA decreased consumption of photosynthates and increased membrane stability which aided in transport of photosynthates, thereby increased yield. Rao et al. (1997) concluded that SA acts as a prooxidant and phytotoxin if applied at concentration more than 1 mmol/L. Abscisic acid (ABA) as a plant growth hormone regulates stomatal opening and root hydraulic conductivity (Hartung et al. 1998; Hose et al. 2000, 2001) and also induces tolerance to abiotic stresses such as temperature, drought, and salinity (Giraudat et al. 1994).

7.7.2.3 Signaling Molecules

Nitric oxide (NO) acts as a signaling molecule for many physiological processes and plays an important role in plant's tolerance to high temperature (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2012; Waraich et al. 2012). Hossain et al. (2010) reported that excessive NO production under high temperature resulted in the thermoinhibition of seed germination in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The exogenous application of NO-protected seedlings of wheat from high temperature induced oxidative stress by upregulating antioxidant defense and glyoxalase system (Waraich et al. 2012; Hasanuzzaman et al. 2012).

7.7.2.4 Trace Elements

Selenium serves as a stress protectant to various environmental stresses including high temperature. Djanaguiraman et al. (2010) reported that the foliar application of selenium (at 75 mg L⁻¹) decreased membrane damage by enhancing antioxidant defense resulting in higher grain yield. Selenium application significantly increased stomatal conductance, photosynthetic and transpiration rate by 12, 13, and 8%, respectively, compared with the unsprayed control. Waraich et al. (2012) reviewed various approaches of micronutrient application in plants and concluded that low concentration application of plant nutrients provides tolerance against high temperature stress.

7.7.2.5 Nutrients

Application of essential nutrients like nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium improves plant vigor under moderate heat stress (Dupont et al. 2006). Nitrogen in the form of nitric oxide (NO) protects the plant from high temperature stress by directly acting as an antioxidant and as scavenger of reactive oxygen species formed due to high temperature (Wendehenne et al. 2001). Song et al. (2006) revealed that NO acts as a signal molecule to activate active oxygen-scavenging enzymes which induce thermotolerance in plant. Under high temperature stress, foliar application of thiourea promotes root growth by enhancing assimilate partitioning to root at seedling and pre-anthesis growth stages resulting in increase in number of grains per spike, 100 grain weight, and crop yield (Anjum et al. 2011).

Under stress conditions potassium is involved in several physiological processes, like photosynthesis, translocation of photosynthates, turgidity maintenance, and enzyme activation (Marschner 1995; Mengel and Kirkby 2001), and the deficiency of potassium resulted in decrease in photosynthetic rate, improper partitioning, and utilization of photosynthates. Potassium nitrate has been extensively used to mitigate the effect of heat stress in wheat. Application of zinc can also help to improve heat tolerance in wheat (Graham and McDonald 2001).

Calcium (Ca) as secondary nutrient plays a vital role in preserving the structural and functional integrity (Coria et al. 1998) and stability of cell membranes and regulates ion transport as well as enzyme activities (Marschner 1995; Rengel 1992; Yang and Poovaiah 2002). Ca²⁺ directly activates some antioxidant enzymes (Brookes et al. 2004 and Farooq et al. 2008). Several studies (Knight and Knight 1992; Nayyar 2003; Bhattacharjee 2008) proved involvement of calcium in enhancing the plants ability to withstand various stresses including heat. Increased cytosolic calcium content under heat stress helps plant cells to survive (Wang and Li 1999). Calcium is involved in signal transduction involving new gene expression under oxidative and temperature stress (Trofimova et al. 1999). Calcium was also found to control guard cell turgor and hence stomatal aperture (Mansfield et al. 1990; Webb et al. 1996). The foliar application of potassic fertilizer, urea, and zinc may help in improving crop yield by alleviating the ill effects of high temperature.

References

- Aggarwal PK (2008) Global climate change and Indian agriculture: impacts, adaptation and mitigation. Indian J Agric Sci 78(10):911–919
- Aggarwal PK, Sinha SK (1993) Effect of probable increase in carbon dioxide and temperature on wheat yields in India. J Agromeorol 48:811–814
- Ahamed KU, Nahar K, Fujita M, Hasanuzzaman M (2010) Variation in plant growth, tiller dynamics and yield components of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L) due to high temperature stress. Adv Agric Bot 2:213–224
- Al-busaidi A, Ahmed M, Chikara J (2012) The impact of heat and water stress conditions on the growth of the biofuel plant *Jatropha curcas*. Int J Environ Stud 69:273–288
- Almeselmani M, Deshmukh PS, Chinnusamy V (2012) Effects of prolonged high temperature stress on respiration, photosynthesis and gene expression in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) varieties differing in their thermotolerance. Plant Stress 1:25–32
- Altenbach SB, DuPont F, Kothari K, Chand R, Johnson E, Lieu D (2003) Temperature, water and fertilizer influence the timing of key events during grain development in US spring wheat. J Cereal Sci 37:9–20
- Angus J, Atkin O, Brummell D, Farrell A, Gorsuch P, Hewett EW, Hurry V, Rawson H (2010) Temperature and acclimation. In: Munns R, Schmidt S, Beveridge C (eds) Plants in action (Online book), available at http://www.asps.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Chapter-14-Tempera ture-and-acclimation-for-PDF.pdf. Cited on 8-2-2018

- Anjum F, Wahid A, Farooq M, Javed F (2011) Potential of foliar applied thiourea in improving salt and high temperature tolerance of bread wheat. Int J Agric Biol 13:251–256
- Anonymous (2014a) Annual report (2013–14). All India Coordinated Research Project on Agrometeorology, Ludhiana Centre, p 114
- Anonymous (2014b) Annual report (2013–14). All India Coordinated Research Project on Agrometeorology, Ludhiana Centre, p 111
- Apostolova P, Yardnova R, Popova L (2008) Response of anti-oxidative defense system to low temperature stress in two wheat cultivar. General App Plant Physiol 34(3–4):281–294
- Ayeneh A, Van-Ginkel M, Reynolds MP, Ammar K (2002) Comparison of leaf, spike, peduncle and canopy temperature depression in wheat under heat stress. Field Crops Res 79:73–184
- Azizi M (2010) The use of a variety of grape seed Acid salicylic on quality and storage life of white MSc thesis, University of Agriculture, Karaj Branch, Iran
- Bal SK, Minhas PS (2017) Atmospheric stressors: challenges and coping strategies. In: Minhas PS et al (eds) Abiotic stress management for resilient agriculture. Springer, Singapore, pp 9–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5744-1_2
- Bal SK, Mukherjee J, Mallick K, Hundal SS (2004) Wheat yield forecasting models for Ludhiana district of Punjab state. J Agrometeorol 6(Spl. Issue):161–165
- Barnabas B, Jager K, Feher A (2008) The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. Plant Cell Environ 31:11–38
- Bhattacharjee S (2008) Calcium-dependent signaling pathway in the heat-induced oxidative injury in *Amaranthus lividus*. Plant Biol 52:137–140
- Blum A, Klueva N, Nguyen H (2001) Wheat cellular thermo-tolerance is related to yield under heat stress. Euphytica 117:117–123
- Borghi B, Corbellini M, Ciaffi M, Lafiandra D, De Stefanis E, Sgrulletta D, Boggini G, Di Fonzo N (1995) Effect of heat shock during grain filling on grain quality of bread and durum wheats. Aust J Agric Res 46:1365–1380
- Brookes PS, Yoon Y, Robotham JL, Anders MW, Sheu SS (2004) Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287:817–833
- Cai T, Xu H, Peng D, Yin Y, Yang W, Ni Y, Chen X, Xu C, Yang D, Cui Z, Wang Z (2014) Exogenous hormonal application improves grain yield of wheat by optimizing tiller productivity. Field Crops Res 155:172–183
- Calderini DF, Reynolds MP, Slafer GA (2006) Source–sink effects on grain weight of bread wheat, durum wheat and triticale at different locations. Aust J Agric Res 57:227–233
- Chowdhary SI, Wardlaw IF (1978) The effect of temperature on kernel development in cereals. Aust J Agric Res 29:205–223
- Ciais P, Reichstein M, Viovy N, Granier A, Ogée J, Allard V, Aubinet M, Buchmann N, Chr B, Carrara A, Chevallier F, De Noblet N, Friend AD, Friedlingstein P, Grünwald T, Heinesch B, Keronen P, Knohl A, Krinner G, Loustau D, Manca G, Matteucci G, Miglietta F, Ourcival JM, Papale D, Pilegaard K, Rambal S, Seufert G, Soussana JF, Sanz MJ, Schulze ED, Vesala T, Valentini R (2005) Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. Nature 437:529–533
- CIMMYT (2018) High temperature. Available at http://wheatdoctor.org/high-temperature. Cited on 2-2-2018
- Corbellini M, Canevar MG, Mazza L, Ciaffi M, Lafiandra D, Borghi B (1997) Effect of the duration and intensity of heat shock during grain filling on dry matter and protein accumulation, technological quality and protein composition in bread and durum wheat. Funct Plant Biol 24:245–260
- Corbellini M, Mazza L, Ciaffi M, Lafiandra D, Borghi B (1998) Effect of heat shock during grain filling on protein composition and technological quality of wheats. Euphytica 100:147–154
- Coria NA, Sarquis JI, Penalosa I, Urzua M (1998) Heat-induced damage in potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) tubes: membrane stability, tissue viability, and accumulation of glycoalkaloids. J Agric Food Chem 46:4524–4528

- Dat JF, Lopez-Delgado H, Foye CH, Scott IM (1998) Parallel changes in H₂O₂ and catalase during thermotolerance induced by salicylic acid or heat acclimation in mustard seedlings. Plant Physiol 116:1351–1357
- Demirevska-Kepova K, Hölzer R, Simova-Stoilova L, Feller U (2005) Heat stress effects on ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase, Rubisco binding protein and Rubisco activase in wheat leaves. Biol Plant 49:521–525
- Dias AS, Lidon FC (2009) Evaluation of grain filling rate and duration in bread and durum wheat under heat stress after anthesis. J Agron Crop Sci 195:137–147
- Djanaguiraman M, Prasad PVV, Seppanen M (2010) Selenium protects sorghum leaves from oxidative damage under high temperature stress by enhancing antioxidant defense system. Plant Physiol Biochem 48:999–1007
- Dupont FM, Hurkman WJ, Vensel WH, Tanaka C, Kothari KM, Chung OK, Altenbach SB (2006) Protein accumulation and composition in wheat grains: effects of mineral nutrients and high temperature. Eur J Agron 25:96–107
- ESRL (2017) Trends in atmospheric carbon dioxide. Cited on 23-10-2017 from https://www.esrlnoaagov/gmd/ccgg/trends/globalhtml
- Essemine J, Ammar S, Bouzid S (2010) Impact of heat stress on germination and growth in higher plants: physiological, biochemical and molecular repercussions and mechanisms of defense. J Biol Sci 10:565–572
- FAOSTAT (2018) http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC. Cited on 9-2-2018
- Farooq M, Basra SMA, Rehman H, Saleem BA (2008) Seed priming enhances the performance of late sown wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) by improving chilling tolerance. J Agron Crop Sci 194:55–60
- Farooq M, Bramley H, Palta JA, Siddique KHM (2011) Heat stress in wheat during reproductive and grain-filling phases. Critical Rev Plant Sci 30:491–507
- Farrell TC, Fox KM, Williams RL Fukai S (2006) Genotypic variation for cold tolerance during reproductive development in rice: screening with cold air and cold water. Field Crops Res 98:178–194
- Fischer RA, Byerlee DB (1991) Trends of wheat production in the warmer areas: Major issues and economic consideration. In: Wheat for the nontraditional warm areas. Proceedings Conference, Iguazu, Brazil 29 July-3 Aug 1990, CIMMYT, Mexico DF, pp 3–27
- Fitter AH, Hay RKM (2002) Environmental physiology of plants, 3rd edn. Academic Press, London
- Ford MA, Pearman I, Thorne GN (1975) Effects of variation in ear temperature on growth and yieldof spring wheat. Ann Appl Biol 82:317–333
- Geiger SC, Manu A, Bationo A (1992) Changes in a sandy Sahelian soil following crop residue and fertilizer additions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 56(1):172–177
- Gibson LR, Paulsen GM (1999) Yield components of wheat grown under high temperature stress during reproductive growth. Crop Sci 39:1841–1846
- Giraudat J, Parcy F, Bertauche N, Gosti F, Leug J, Morris PC, Bouvier-Durand M, Vartanian N (1994) Current advances in abscisic acid action and signaling. Plant Mol Biol 26:1557–1577
- Gouachea D, Bris XL, Bogard M, Deudon O, Pagé C, Gate P (2012) Evaluating agronomic adaptation options to increasing heat stress under climate change during wheat grain filling in France. Eur J Agron 39:62–70
- Graham AW, McDonald GK (2001) Effect of zinc on photosynthesis and yield of wheat under heat stress In: Proceedings of the 10th Australian agronomy conference Hobart, January 29– February 1, 2001, Australian Society of Agronomy, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia Available at: http://www.regionalorgau/au/asa/2001/2/c/grahamhtm
- Gross Y, Kigel J (1994) Differential sensitivity to high temperature of stages in the reproductive development of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L). Field Crops Res 36:201–212
- Hall AE (2001) Crop responses to the environment. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Hameed A, Goher M, Iqbal N (2012) Heat stress induced cell death, changes in antioxidants, lipid peroxidation and protease activity in wheat leaves. J Plant Growth Reg 31:283–291

- Harrison PA, Porter JR, Downing TE (2000) Scaling-up the AFRC WHEAT 2 model to assess phenological development for wheat in Europe. Agric For Meteorol 101:167–186
- Hartung W, Wilkinson S, Davies W (1998) Factors that regulate abscisic acid concentrations at the primary site of action at the guard cell. J Exp Bot 49:361–367
- Hasanuzzaman M, Nahar K, Alam MM, Fujita M (2012) Exogenous nitric oxide alleviates high temperature induced oxidative stress in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L) seedlings by modulating the antioxidant defense and glyoxalase system. Aust J Crop Sci 6:1314–1323
- Hasanuzzaman M, Nahar K, Fujita M (2013) Extreme temperature response, oxidative stress and antioxidant defense in plants. Available at https://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs-wm/43317.pdf. Cited on 8-2-2018
- Hose E, Steudle E, Hartung W (2000) Abscisic acid and hydraulic conductivity of maize roots a root-and cell pressure probe study. Planta 211:874–882
- Hose E, Clarkson DT, Steudle E, Schreiber L, Hartung W (2001) The exodermis a variable apoplastic barrier. Environ Exp Biol 52:2245–2264
- Hossain KK, Itoh RD, Yoshimura G, Tokuda G, Oku H, Cohen MF, Yamasaki H (2010) Effects of nitric oxide scavengers on thermoinhibition of seed germination in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Russ J Plant Physiol 57:222–232
- Houghton JT, Collander BA, Ephraums JJ (1990) Climate change–the IPCC scientific assessment. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p 135
- IPCC (2007a) Fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change: the impacts, adaptation and vulnerability (working group III). Cambridge University Press, New York
- IPCC (2007b) Climate Change 2007: working group i: the physical ScienceBasis. http://www. ipccch/publicationsanddata/ar4/wg1 (Accessed on 05-10-2015)
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel Climate Change) (2014) Mitigation of climate change contribution of working group III. In: Edenhofer O, Pichs-Madruga R, Sokona Y, Farahani E, Kadner S, Seyboth K, Adler A, Baum I, Brunner S, Eickemeier P, Kriemann B, Savolainen J, Schlömer S, Von Stechow C, Zwickel T, Minx JC (eds) The fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York
- Iqbal M, Khan R, Iqbal N, Masood A, Per TS, Khan AN (2013) Salicylic acid alleviates adverse effects of heat stress on photosynthesis through changes in proline production and ethylene formation. Plant Signal Behav 8(11):e26374. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.26374
- Irfaq M, Muhammad T, Masood A, Jabbar A (2005) Performance of yield and other agronomic characters on four wheat cultivars under natural heat stress. Int J Bot 1:124–127
- Islam MT (2011) Effect of temperature on photosynthesis, yield attributes and yield of aromatic rice genotypes. Int J Sust Crop Prod 6:14–16
- Johkan M, Oda M, Maruo T, Shinohara Y (2011) Crop production and global warming. In: Casalegno S (ed) Global warming impacts- case studies on the economy, human health, and on urban and natural environments. InTech, Rijeka, pp 139–152
- Jones PD, New M, Parker DE, Martin S, Rigor IG (1999) Surface air temperature and its changes over the past 150 years. Rev Geophys 37:173–199
- Kanno K, Makino A (2010) Increased grain yield and biomass allocation in rice under cool night temperature. Soil Sci Plant Nutri 56:412–417
- Karttenberg AF, Giorgi H, Grassl GA, Meehl JFB, Mitchll RJ, Stouffer T, Tokioka A, Weaver J, Wigley TML (1995) Climate models-projection of future climate. In: Houghton JT (ed) The science of climate change. Contribution of working group I to the second assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University, Cambridge, pp 289–357
- Kase M, Catsky J (1984) Maintenance and growth components of dark respiration rate in leaves of C3 and C4 plants as affected by leaf temperature. Biol Plant 26:461–470
- Kaushal N, Gupta K, Bhandhari K, Kumar S, Thakur P, Nayyar H (2011) Proline induces heat tolerance in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) plants by protecting vital enzymes of carbon and antioxidative metabolism. Physiol Mol Biol Plant 17:203–213

- Keeling RF, Piper SC, Bollenbacher AF, Walker JS (2009) Atmospheric CO2 records from sites in the SIO air sampling network. In: Trends: a compendium of data on global change. Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, US Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN
- Keshavarz H (2010) Physiological and anatomical responses of two cultivars of rapeseed (sensitive and resistant to cold) to salicylic acid foliar applications, M.Sc. thesis of Agriculture – Agriculture, Tarbiat Modarres University, Iran
- Khan NM, Qasim F, Ahmed R, Khan AK, Khan B (2003) Effects of sowing date on yield of maize under agro climatic condition of Kaghan Valley. Asia J Plant Sci 1(2):140–147
- Kim YG, Lee BW (2011) Relationship between grain filling duration and leaf senescence of temperate rice under high temperature. Field Crops Res 122:207–213
- Knight H, Knight MR (1992) Calcium signaling in plants responding to stress. In: Smallward MF, Calvert CM, Bowles DJ (eds) Plant responds to environmental stress. Bios Scientific Publishers, Oxford
- Kozai N, Beppu K, Mochioka R, Boonprakob U, Subhadrabandhu S, Kataoka I (2004) Adverse effects of high temperature on the development of reproductive organs in 'Hakuho' peach trees. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 79:533–537
- Kucharik CJ, Serbin SP (2008) Impacts of recent climate change on Wisconsin corn and soybean yield trends. Environ Res Lett 3:034003
- Laghari KA, Sial MA, Arain MA (2012) Effect of high temperature stress on grain yield and yield components of wheat. Sci Tech Dev 31(2):83–90
- Law RD, Crafts-Brandner SJ (1999) Inhibition and acclimation of photosynthesis to heat stress is closely correlated with activation of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase. Plant Physiol 120:173–181
- Lin C, Li C, Lin S, Yang F, Huang J, Liu Y, Lur H (2010) Influence of high temperature during grain filling on the accumulation of storage proteins and grain quality in rice (*Oryza sativa* L). J Agric Food Chem 58:10545–10552
- Lobell DB, Asner GP (2003) Climate and management contributions to recent trends in US agricultural yields. Science 299:1032–11032. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1078475
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2007) Global scale climate-crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming. Environ Res Lett 2:014002
- Loss SP, Siddique KHM (1994) Morphological and physiological traits associated with wheat yield increases in Mediterranean environments. Adv Agron 52:229–276
- Macas B, Gomes MC, Dias AS, Coutinho J (2000) The tolerance of durum wheat to high temperatures during grain filling. In: Royo C (ed) Durum wheat improvement in the Mediterranean region: new challenges. CIHEAM, Zaragoza, pp 257–261
- Mansfield T, Hetherington AM, Atkinson CJ (1990) Some current aspects of stomatal physiology. Ann Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 41:55–75
- Marschner H (1995) Mineral nutrition of higher plants, 2nd edn. Academic Press, New York
- Mendham NJ, Salsbury PA (1995) Physiology, crop development, growth and yield. In: Kimber DS, McGregor DI (eds) *Brassica* oilseeds: production and utilization. CABI, London, pp 11–64
- Mengel K, Kirkby EA (2001) Principles of plant nutrition, 5th edn. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht
- Mian MA, Mahmood A, Ihsan M, Cheema NM (2007) Response of different wheat cultivars to post anthesis temperature stress. J Agric Res 45:269–277
- Mohammadi M, Karimizadeh R, Sabaghnia N, Shefazadeh MK (2012) Effective application of canopy temperature for wheat genotypes screening under different water availability in warm environments. Bulgarian J Agric Sci 18:934–941
- Mohammed AR, Tarpley L (2009) High nighttime temperatures affect rice productivity through altered pollen germination and spikelet fertility. Agric For Meteorol 14:999–1008
- Mohammed AR, Tarpley L (2010) Effects of high night temperature and spikelet position on yieldrelated parameters of rice (*Oryza sativa* L) plants. Eur J Agron 33:117–123

- Monjardino P, Smith AG, Jones RJ (2005) Heat stress effects on protein accumulation of maize endosperm. Crop Sci 45:1203–1210
- Morita S, Yonermaru J, Takahashi J (2005) Grain growth and endosperm cell size under high night temperature in rice (*Oryza sativa* L). Ann Bot 95:695–701
- Moshatati A, Siadat SA, Saeid Khan A, Bakhshandeh AM, Jalal Kamali MR (2012) Effect of terminal heat stress on yield and yield components of spring bread wheat cultivars in Ahwaz, Iran. Int J Agric Res Rev 2(6):844–849
- Nayyar H (2003) Calcium as environmental sensor in plant. Curr Sci 84:893-902
- Parry ML, Swaminathan MS (1992) Climate on food production. In: Mintzer (ed) Confronting climate change- risk, implication and responses. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 113–125
- PAU (2015) Package of practices for crops of Punjab: Rabi 2015–16. Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana 32(2):1–20
- Peng S, Huang J, Sheehy JE, Laza RC, Visperas RM, Zhong X (2004) Rice yields decline with higher night temperature from global warming. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:9971–9975
- Piramila BHM, Prabha AL, Nandagopalan V, Stanley AL (2012) Effect of heat treatment on germination, seedling growth and some biochemical parameters of dry seeds of black gram. Int J Pharma Phytopharmaco Res 1:194–202
- Porch TG, Jahn M (2001) Effects of high temperature stress on microsporogenesis in heat sensitive and heat-tolerant genotypes of *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Plant Cell Environ 24:723–731
- Porter JR (2005) Rising temperature are likely to reduce crop yields. Nature 436:174. https://doi. org/10.1038/436174b
- Prasad PVV, Craufurd PQ, Kakani VG, Wheeler TR, Boote KT (2001) Influence of high temperature during pre- and post-anthesis stages of floral development on fruit-set and pollen germination in peanut. Aust J Plant Physiol 28:233–240
- Prasad PVV, Boote KJ, Allen LH Jr (2006) Adverse high temperature effects on pollen viability, seed-set, seed yield and harvest index of grain-sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L) Moench] are more severe at elevated carbon dioxide due to higher tissue temperatures. Agric For Meteorol 39:237–251
- Prasad PVV, Staggenborg SA, Ristic Z (2008) Impacts of drought and/or heat stress on physiological, developmental, growth, and yield processes of crop plants. In: Ahuja LH, Saseendran SA (eds) Response of crops to limited water: understanding and modeling water stress effects on plant growth processes. Advances in agricultural systems modeling series 1 ASA-CSSA. Madison, Wisconsin, pp 301–355
- Prasad PVV, Pisipati SR, Momčilović I, Ristic Z (2011) Independent and combined effects of high temperature and drought stress during grain filling on plant yield and chloroplast EF-Tu expression in spring wheat. J Agron Crop Sci 197:430–441
- Rahman MA, Chikushi J, Yoshida S, Karim AJMS (2009) Growth and yield components of wheat genotypes exposed to high temperature stress under control environment. Bangladesh J Agric Res 34:361–372
- Rane J, Shoran J, Nagarajan S (2000) Heat stress environments and impact on heat productivity in India: guestimate of losses. Indian Wheat Newslett 6:5–6
- Rane J, Pannu RK, Sohu VS, Saini RS, Mishra B, Shoran J, Crossa J, Vargas M, Joshi K (2007) Performance of yield and stability of advanced wheat cultivar under heat stress environments of the Indo-gangetic plains. Crop Sci 47:1561–1572
- Rao MV, Paliyath G, Ormrod DP, Murr DP, Watkins CB (1997) Influence of salicylic acid on H₂O₂ production, oxidative stress and H₂O₂-metabolizing enzymes: salicylic acid mediated oxidative damage requires H₂O₂. Plant Physiol 115:137–149
- Rasheed R, Wahid A, Farooq M, Hussain I, Basra SMA (2011) Role of proline and glycinebetaine pretreatments in improving heat tolerance of sprouting sugarcane (*Saccharum* sp.) buds. Plant Growth Regul 65:35–45
- Rengel Z (1992) The role of calcium in salt toxicity. Plant Cell Environ 15:625-632
- Roberts EH (1988) Temperature and seed germination In: Long SP, Woodward FI (eds) Plants and temperature. Symposia of the Society of Experimental Biology, Company of Biologists, Cambridge, pp 109–132

- Saini HS, Aspinall D (1982) Abnormal sporogenesis in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L) induced by short periods of high temperature. Ann Bot 49:835–846
- Sakata T, Higashitani A (2008) Male sterility accompanied with abnormal anther development in plants–genes and environmental stresses with special reference to high temperature injury. Int J Plant Dev Bio 2:42–51
- Sandhu SS, Prabhjyot Kaur, Tripathi P, Patel SR, Prasad R, Solanki NS, Kumar R, Singh CB, Dubey AP, Rao VUM (2016) Effect of rise in intra-seasonal temperature at major wheat growing location in India: a study using CERES-wheat model. J Agrometeorol 18(2):222–233
- Satake T, Yoshida S (1978) High temperature induced sterility in indica Rices at flowering. Jpn J Crop Sci 47:6–17
- Sato S, Peet MM, Thomas JF (2000) Physiological factors limit fruit set of tomato (*Lycopersicon* esculentum Mill) under chronic, mild heat stress. Plant Cell Environ 23:719–726
- Scafaro AP, Haynes PA, Atwell BJ (2010) Physiological and molecular changes in Oryza meridionalis Ng, a heat-tolerant species of wild rice. J Exp Bot 61:191–202
- Schlenker W, Roberts MJ (2009) Nonlinear temperature effects indicate severe damages to US crop yields under climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:15594–15598
- Schöffl F, Prandl R, Reindl A (1999) Molecular responses to heat stress. In: Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (eds) Molecular responses to cold, drought, heat and salt stress in higher plants. RG Landes, Austin, pp 81–98
- Seshu DV, Cady FB (1984) Response of rice to solar radiation and temperature estimated from international yield traits. Crop Sci 24:649–654
- Shah N, Paulsen G (2003) Interaction of drought and high temperature on photosynthesis and grainfilling of wheat. Plant Soil 257:219–226. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026237816578
- Sharma RC (1992) Duration of the vegetative and reproductive period in relation to yield performance of spring wheat. Eur J Agron 1:133–137
- Sharma SN (2000) Wheat. In: Rathore PS (ed) Techniques and management of field crop production. Agrobios, India. ISBN: 978817754175517:171-126
- Siddique KHM, Loss SP, Regan KL, Jettner RL (1999) Adaptation and seed yield of cool season grain legumes in Mediterranean environments of South-Western Australia. Aust J Agric Res 50:375–388
- Singh B, Singh VK (2017) Fertilizer Management in Rice. In: Chauhan BS, Jabran K, Mahajan G (eds) Rice production worldwide, pp 217–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-47516-5_10
- Slafer GA, Rawson HM (1994) Sensitivity of wheat phasic development to major environmental factors: a re-examination of some assumptions made by physiologists and modelers. Aust J Plant Physiol 21:393–426
- Song L, Ding W, Zhao M, Sun B, Zhang L (2006) Nitric oxide protects against oxidative stress under heat stress in the calluses from two ecotypes of reed. Plant Sci 171:449–458
- Srivastava S, Pathak AD, Gupta PS, Shrivastava AK, Srivastava AK (2012) Hydrogen peroxidescavenging enzymes impart tolerance to high temperature induced oxidative stress in sugarcane. J Environ Biol 33:657–661
- Stone PJ, Nicolas ME (1998) Comparison of sudden heat stress with gradual exposure to high temperature during grain-filling in two wheat varieties difference in heat tolerance II fractional protein accumulation. Aust J Plant Physiol 25:1–11
- Streck NA (2005) Climate change and agroecosystems: the effect of elevated CO₂ and temperature on crop growth, development, and yield. Ciência Rural 35:730–740
- Sujatha KB, Uprety DC, Rao N Rao PR, Dwivedi N (2008) Upregulation of photosynthesis and sucrose-P synthase in rice under elevated carbon dioxide and temperature conditions. Plant Soil Environ 54:155–162
- Tewolde H, Fernandez CJ, Erickson CA (2006) Wheat cultivars adapted to post-heading high temperature stress. J Agron Crop Sci 192:111–120
- Toh S, Imamura A, Watanabe A, Nakabayashi K, Okamot M, Jikumaru Y, Hanada A, Aso Y, Ishiyama K, Tamura N, Iuchi S, Kobayashi M, Yamaguchi S, Kamiya Y, Nambara E,

Kawakami N (2008) High temperature-induced abscisic acid biosynthesis and its role in the inhibition of gibberellin action in *Arabidopsis* seeds. Plant Physiol 146:1368–1385

- Trofimova MS, Andreev IM, Kuznetsov VV (1999) Calcium is involved in regulation of the synthesis of HSPs in suspension cultured sugar beet cells under hyperthermia. Physiol Plant 105:67–73
- Wahid A (2007) Physiological implications of metabolites biosynthesis in net assimilation and heat stress tolerance of sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum*) sprouts. J Plant Res 120:219–228
- Wahid A, Gelani S, Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Heat tolerance in plants: an overview. Environ Exp Bot 61:199–223
- Wang JB, Li RQ (1999) Changes of Ca²⁺ distribution in mesophyll cells of pepper under heat stress. Acta Horti Sinica 26:57–58
- Waraich EA, Ahmad R, Halim A, Aziz T (2012) Alleviation of temperature stress by nutrient management in crop plants: a review. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 12:221–244
- Wardlaw I, Wrigley C (1994) Heat tolerance in temperate cereals: an overview. Funct Plant Biol 21:695–703
- Wassmann R, Jagadish S, Sumfleth K, Pathak H, Howell G, Ismail A, Serraj R, Redona E, Singh RK, Heuer S (2009) Regional vulnerability of climate change impacts on Asian rice production and scope for adaptation. Adv Agron 102:91–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(09) 01003-7
- Webb AAR, McAinsh MR, Taylor JE, Hetherington AM (1996) Calcium ions as intercellular second messengers in higher plants. Adv Bot Res 22:45–96
- Welch RJ, Vincent JR, Auffhammer M, Moya FP, Dobermann A, Dawe D (2010) Rice yields in tropical/subtropical Asia exhibit large but opposing sensitivities to minimum and maximum temperature. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107(33):4562–4567
- Wendehenne DA, Klessig D, Durner J (2001) Nitric oxide: comparative synthesis and signaling in animal and plant cells. Trends Plant Sci 6:177–183
- Xu Q, Paulsen AQ, Guikema JA, Paulsen GM (1995) Functional and ultrastructural injury to photosynthesis in wheat by high temperature during maturation. Environ Exp Biol 35:43–54
- Yang T, Poovaiah BW (2002) Hydrogen peroxide homeostasis: activation of plant catalase by calcium/calmodulin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:4097–4102
- Yin X, Guo W, Spiertz JH (2009) A quantitative approach to characterize sink–source relationships during grain filling in contrasting wheat genotypes. Field Crops Res 114:119–126
- Yoshida S, Satake T, Mackill DJ (1981) High temperature stress in rice IRRI, Los Baños, Philippines IRRI. Res Paper Series 67
- Zahedi M, Jenner CF (2003) Analysis of effects in wheat of high temperature on grain filling attributes estimated from mathematical models of grain filling. J Agric Sci 141:203–212
- Zakaria S, Matsuda T, Tajima S, Nitta Y (2002) Effect of high temperature at ripening stage on the reserve accumulation in seed in some rice cultivars. Plant Prod Sci 5:60–168
- Zhang GL, Chen LY, Zhang ST, Zheng H, Liu GH (2009) Effects of high temperature stress on microscopic and ultrastructural characteristics of mesophyll cells in flag leaves of rice. Rice Sci 16:65–71
- Zróbek-sokolnik A (2012) Temperature stress and responses of plants. In: Ahmad P, Prasad MNV (eds) Environmental adaptations and stress tolerance of plants in the era of climate change. Springer, New York, pp 113–134



Identifying Suitable Soil Health Indicators Under Variable Climate Scenarios: A Ready Reckoner for Soil Management 8

Joydeep Mukherjee, Nilimesh Mridha, Surajit Mondal, Debasish Chakraborty, and Amit Kumar

Abstract

The increase of greenhouse gas emissions due to anthropogenic activities is continuously changing the climate. The soil is the important factor for the global food production and also responsible for three important greenhouse gases, viz. carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. These gases are highly contributing in the global warming, which directly affects the soil health. The change in physical, chemical and biological properties of soil system changes the organic carbon content, nitrogen mineralization, availability of essential nutrients and soil hydrological properties, along with the soil aggregate changes. Increased soil temperature is also enhancing the microbial activities in the soil and ultimately causes the decrease in the soil organic carbon and increase the gaseous carbon emission. In the present chapter, the maintenance of the soil health and soil quality in the variable climate are discussed, and the agricultural practices such as maintaining permanent vegetative cover on the soil surface, crop residue incorporation and lowest disturbed soil are recommended to protect the soil surface. These methods also support to mitigate the greenhouse gas emission from the agriculture soil.

Keywords

Soil health · Climate change · Greenhouse gas · Global Warming and CO2

J. Mukherjee (🖂) · N. Mridha · S. Mondal · D. Chakraborty

Division of Agricultural Physics, ICAR- Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, India A. Kumar

Department of Botany, Dayalbagh Educational Institute, Agra, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_8

8.1 Introduction

Climate change is the apparent and long-term shift in the weather conditions at a place over a time segment that ranges from decade to thousands of years. The continuous and rigorous efforts by the scientists from various streams and the studies carried out by them throughout the world have resulted in the identification of multitude of factors that possess ability to influence the climate in one way or another. In fact historical studies have revealed that climate change has been found to be related to, if not the cause behind ancient civilization collapse, human migration and ever-changing faces of agriculture. The World Meteorological Organization and the UN Environment Programme in 1988 urged to set up international scientific body to provide an objective and unbiased source of information on climate change. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which encompasses more than 1300 scientists from different countries, releases periodic assessment reports that are critically assessed and approved by experts and governments. IPCC's Assessment Report (IPCC 2007) showed that the developing countries will be the worst sufferers due to impacts of climate change which will threaten the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals, poverty reduction and food security. IPCC forecasts about 2.5–10 °F rise in temperature over the next century.

A big challenge to the agricultural production is to meet the burden of growing global population, and a big share of development aid goes to the agricultural sector which contributes largely to greenhouse gas emission and climate change. Advancement of remote sensing techniques is now capable to foresee the climatic situations in the future using satellite data and by assimilating various types of information about our planet and its climate on a global scale over the periods. The results of climate data analysis over many years show the indications of a changing climate.

Different factors such as variations in solar radiation, deviations in the Earth's orbit, mountain-building and continental drift and changes in greenhouse gas concentrations which affect climate significantly are often called climate forcing. The anthropological factors are the influence of human activity to environmental and climatic changes. It has been agreed by scientific community that human activity is causing the Earth to get hotter rapidly over the past several decades. Anthropogenic factors like fossil fuel burning followed by aerosols (of which particulate matter is the biggest threat) and cement production contribute significantly in rising CO_2 levels. Besides, ozone depletion, land use, deforestation and animal agriculture are also affecting climate individually or concurrently.

8.2 The Future Consequences of Global Climatic Change

The adverse consequences of climate change are projected to happen globally in the future in the form of lengthier drought periods; an increase in the number, duration and intensity of tropical storms; and frequent wildfires and various other forms that have already started with discernible effects on the environment. Some of these greatest threats that we are experiencing include sea level rise; loss of sea ice;

shrunken glaciers; longer, more intense heat waves; shifting of plant and animal species; and early flowering.

A strong and compelling forecast made by scientists with high confidence is that global temperatures will continue to increase for the coming decades, basically due to greenhouse gases produced by anthropogenic activities. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which includes more than 1300 scientists all over the world, makes prediction of temperature rise by 2.5-10 °F over the next century. According to the IPCC, the regional impact due to climate change will vary depending on the capability of social and environmental conditions to adapt the extent of climate change effects and mitigation measures adopted. Forecast given by IPCC also indicates that the beneficial effects will be observed in some regions and damaging ones in other regions if the rise in global mean temperature remains less than 1.8–5.4 °F above 1990 levels. Over the periods, the rise in global temperatures will increase net annual costs.

The regional effects of global climate change forecast by the IPCC are:

- By 2050, it is projected that the freshwater availability will decline mostly in southern, central and south-eastern part of Asia.
- Increased death rate from diseases linked to flood and drought in some regions.
- Studies of 69 model-based outputs exhibit some trends in cereal yield variation in spite of having wide range of variability of yield due to changes in temperature and CO₂ fertilization. Temperature rise up to three degrees results in increased yields in mid- to high latitudes but shows diminishing impact when temperature changes are greater than 3 degrees (Easterling et al. 2007).
- Stronger yield-diminishing impacts are found in tropical and subtropical regions for all crops, which reflect a lower growing temperature threshold capacity in these areas. Also, it has been found that global agricultural production capacity is anticipated to decline by 16% without CO₂ fertilization and by 3% if it is considered with overall reduction by 9–21% in developing countries due to global warming (Cline 2007). But the industrialized countries will gain 8% increase or will lose by up to 6%, depending on carbon fertilization and without considering the effects of increased losses due to more frequent extreme weather events (droughts or floods), increased problem of water shortage and insect pests.
- Increased risk in coastal areas due to frequent flooding.

8.3 Global Climate Change and Agriculture Sector

Developing countries will be affected much more economically due to climate change as economic development of these countries predominantly depends on agriculture which shares a large part of gross domestic production and employment. The agriculture sector which involves indiscriminate fertilizer use (Fagodiya et al. 2017a; Pathak et al. 2016), paddy cultivation (Malyan et al. 2016a, b; Gupta et al. 2016a, b), livestock rearing and related land clearing along with land-use change acts as a prominent source of global greenhouse gas emissions in the atmosphere and

influences carbon sequestration and storage (Bhatia et al. 2013a). So, the fearing threat of enduring climatic change to the agricultural production itself serves as opportunities for reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. The constant accumulation of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere is warning shifts in climate throughout the globe that will disturb growing conditions and agroecological environment.

A study conducted by Kumar et al. (2001a, b) revealed the effect of climate change on crop yields, welfare and GDP of India. They estimated that yield losses for rice and wheat would vary between 32% and 40% and 41% and 52%, respectively, without CO₂ fertilization based on the projected range of temperature rise of 2.5–4.9 °C for India, and GDP would fall between 1.8% and 3.4%. However losses would be slightly smaller without CO₂ fertilization. Their study also revealed that even with farm-level adaptations, climate change would significantly affect the Indian agriculture. As per the estimation, a fall of 9% in farm-level total net revenue with a concurrent change of temperature by +2 °C and precipitation by +7% would occur, whereas the fall in farm-level total net revenue would be nearly 25% with a concurrent change of temperature by +3.5 °C and precipitation by +15%.

8.3.1 Climate Change Forecast for the Indian Subcontinent

Studies on climate change forecast showed that semiarid regions of western India may receive a higher amount of rainfall over normal due to temperature rise, while a decline of 10–20% in winter rainfall is expected over central India by the 2050s (Aggarwal et al. 2005).

The following are the forecasts of Indian agriculture as affected by the changing global climate:

- The impact of increase or decrease of rainfall as well as shifts in the rainfall timing will affect the agricultural sector adversely.
- The coastal areas of Gujarat and Maharashtra will be worst affected as fertile and cultivated soils are very much prone to salinization as well as waterlogging due to cyclonic activity.
- A high chance of reduction in pearl millet production by 10–15% with an increase of 2 °C in temperature over Rajasthan.
- Climate change will also affect the Indian agriculture by altering the population of pests or weeds and soil properties like soil moisture which is controlled by rainfall, evaporation and runoff.

8.4 Studying the Interrelation of Global Climate Change and Agriculture

Climate change is the consequence of a rise in the greenhouse gas (GHG) concentration like carbon dioxide (CO₂), nitrous oxide (N₂O) and methane (CH₄). About 11% of total greenhouse gases are emitted by the agriculture sector. In the coming



Source: Drawn from data represented in USEPA (2006)

Fig. 8.1 Emission of GHG from the agriculture sector as source of global climate change

decades, these emissions in developing countries are expected to rise due to population and income growth, among other factors. Within the agricultural sector, manure and livestock management, fertilizer application, rice cultivation and residue burning are the major sources of emissions (Gupta et al. 2015). Agriculture can play a decisive role in the mitigation of greenhouse gases in developing countries, but the economic potential for mitigation is inhibited by poor incentives to invest in this area. Developing countries are accounted for three fourths of global technical potential, with Asia accounting 40%, Africa 18% and Latin America and the Caribbean 15% (Smith et al. 2007).

Four principle subsectors contribute maximum share of emissions in agriculture. These are wetland rice cultivation, agricultural soils, manure and livestock management and burning of crop residues and deforestation (Fig. 8.1).

Nitrous oxide (N_2O) is considered as a major source of GHG emissions in agriculture, accounting for about 38% of the global total. N_2O gets produced naturally in soils through nitrification and denitrification processes (Kumar et al. 2016). Agricultural activity involves addition of nitrogen to soils either directly or indirectly. Direct additions occur through application of nitrogen fertilizer, addition of livestock manure and sewage sludge, growing of N-fixing crops and forages, crop residue retention and cultivation of soils (Bhatia et al. 2013b) that have higher organic matter content (Fagodiya et al. 2017a). Volatilization and subsequent atmospheric deposition of applied nitrogen, surface runoff and leaching of nitrogen into groundwater and surface water are considered as indirect additions (Pathak et al. 2016). Rise in use of N-containing fertilizer, both synthetic and organic, for higher

crop yield will likely to play a key role in growth of N_2O emissions (Fagodiya et al. 2017b; Kumar et al. 2016). It is predicted that the sharpest increase in fertilizer application will occur in developing countries and they are likely to use 36 million tons more fertilizer than developed countries by 2020 (Bumb and Baanante 1996).

8.5 Indicator of Global Climate Change

Natural ecosystems believed to be more vulnerable to changing climate than managed ones. Additionally, natural ecosystems may not only be affected by climate change but by subsequent stresses resulting from human responses to those changes, like increased irrigation, expanded tillage or grazing and diversion of water from streams. Besides, improper management in forestry and agriculture could make even some managed ecosystem vulnerable to climate change. There are wide variations in climate change vulnerability, and how a system will respond to changing climate is difficult to predict. For detecting stress in a natural resource system, soil moisture monitoring may be a best indicator.

Soil moisture is generally more important for vegetation than total precipitation (Pathak et al. 2014), and it may decrease for two reasons. Firstly, with increase in temperature, the rate of evapotranspiration increases. This increased evaporation rates may deplete the soil moisture at a faster rate than is supplied by the higher precipitation during summer months. Secondly, the changing runoff patterns due to increased precipitation can also affect the soil moisture storage. Every soil has limits to absorb moisture and is called water holding capacity. For example, sandy soils due to their porous nature transmit water relatively quickly through soil column to surface or groundwater system. However, clay soils have very low percolation rates. If increased precipitation is not evenly well distributed over the year and comes in a few large storms, then more of it may be lost as runoff rather than remaining in the soil. Therefore, increases in annual precipitation may not result in higher soil moisture but rather could be accompanied by drier conditions.

Simulation studies conducted in the United States (Halpin 1993) projected soil moisture based on the climate changes by two general circular models (GCM): (i) the Goddard Institute of Space Studies (GISS) scenario and (ii) Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory (GFDL) scenario. A soil moisture index was calculated as the ratio of moisture available to potential moisture demand (calculated as the ratio of actual to potential evapotranspiration). White areas in the maps show regions of non-significant change in the moisture index, while dark shading indicates areas of drying, and lighter shading depicts relatively wetter areas. The Goddard Institute of Space Studies (GISS) scenario gives a mixed result, with considerable areas of moderate drying with patches of wetting particularly in the Southeast and Northern Rocky Mountain States. The Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory (GFDL) scenario produces the most extreme result

for North America, with significant drying in the eastern and central United States and along the Pacific Coast.

According to GFDL (Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory) scenario, except tundra and deserts, all other existing ecosystems are shifting towards drier regimes of climate. Under this scenario, major portion of agricultural lands (about 80%) in the United States are facing drying. However, the GISS scenario produces a natural cover with a mix of wet and dry areas and also produces some noticeable drying in the wetlands.

8.6 Global Climate Change and Soils

According to a report by the European Commission in April 2010, poor soil management could aggravate the effect of climate change. Soil is considered both as a sink and source of greenhouse gases, and it contains twice the amount of carbon in the atmosphere and thrice the amount in vegetation, globally. If stored carbon is released from the soil to the atmosphere, and if nitrous oxide and methane emission increases, then climate change will be aggravated. Contrary to the above, if more carbon is sequestered in soil and the emission of greenhouse gases decreases, climate change will be delayed.

World's soils, containing about 73–79 billion tonnes of carbon, acts as a major carbon reservoir. A 0.1% loss of soil carbon in Europe can create havoc to atmosphere and equals to the emission from 100 million extra cars. Current soil degradation rate needs to be contained or reversed with sustainable management practices to boost carbon sequestration as a means of slowing climate change. An enormous quantity of carbon from the atmosphere can be absorbed to the soil through proper management and gives us valuable time to reduce greenhouse gas emission and move towards sustainability. Conversion of grassland, forest or native vegetation to cropland results into emission of stored carbon as carbon dioxide to the atmosphere. Due to world population growth more areas are being converted to cropland and if continues then in one soil will be source rather than sink. Agricultural practices like maintaining permanent vegetative cover on the soil surface, application of crop residues and minimum disturbance of soil can effectively protect the soil surface from water and rain and facilitate carbon retention by soil.

There is lack of documented evidence regarding the positive or negative impacts of climate change on terrestrial carbon stock. There is no strong and clear evidence for either an overall or combined positive or negative impact of climate change (raised atmospheric CO_2 concentration, temperature, precipitation) on terrestrial carbon stocks. Soil C is affected by almost all the factors of climate change either directly or indirectly. Increased CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere can enhance soil C stocks through higher photosynthesis rate (Jastrow et al. 2005) and can lower down the C content by increased temperature (Rustad et al. 2001).
8.7 Soil System and Factors Affecting Climate Change

8.7.1 Human-Induced Climatic Change

Human activities are adverse affecting climate change and also accelerating the pace of the global warming. These factors are known as anthropogenic factors of climate change. Sometimes, these factors are direct and cannot be avoided (like the effects of irrigation on humidity), while some other factors have complex relation with climate change. Different theories have been hypothesized and debated by many researchers over the years. It is now believed that human activities are the likely cause of increased global average temperature over the last decades. Now the main concern is how the human impact can be reduced and to find ways to adopt in the changing environment. CO₂ released from soil system due to clearing of forest land and improper use of land needs to be contained to check the rate of climate change. Improper agricultural practices include overuse of chemical fertilizers and pesticides and increase cultivation of grain crops which are great miner of soil nutrients. Deforestation, draining of wetlands and cultivation of prairie and forest lands are causing oxidation of trapped organic matter and releasing a significant amount of CO_2 into the atmosphere Therefore global average temperature is likely to increase for the next several decades, and significant human intervention is needed to reduce the rate of increase (IPCC 2014; Mina et al. 2017).

8.7.2 Soil System and Soil Properties Critical to Climate Change

Soil system which plays a major role in balancing all the three major greenhouse gases is facing unique challenges due to climate change. Soil stores more carbon than the combined pool of atmospheric carbon dioxide and animals and plants. Soil is the largest source of nitrous oxide and also an important source of methane. Emissions of these gases are largely controlled by the complex interaction of water regime of land and soil biota. Therefore, these biotic processes need to be understood before applying any effective control measures.

Key conditions of soil are getting affected by global climate change resulting in profound land-use changes which in turn lead to degradation of soil resources due to decline in biotic and abiotic parameters. Therefore it is necessary to secure or maintain soil quality under global climate change scenario. Among the soil quality indicators, soil organic carbon is the most important parameter, and it plays a vital role in soil fertility and protects soil from physical degradation (Fig. 8.2) across various ecosystems (Burke et al. 1989; Dalal and Chan 2001). Organic matter in soil acts as a food for soil microbes, acts as cementing agents and plays a major role in aggregate formation and also supplies essential plant nutrients like nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium. Cation/anion exchange capacity, i.e. ability of a soil to retain ions and nutrients, is also enhanced due to presence of organic matter (Muckel and Mausbach 1996). Thus climate change may shift the equilibrium of many soil processes either directly or indirectly. These processes include oxidation of soil



Fig. 8.2 Vital components and processes in soil system

organic matter, nitrogen and carbon cycling, erosion, acidification, salinization and all those processes which ultimately affect the soil health. A few important key factors that have great potential to get affected by global climate change are presented below:

8.7.3 Soil Organic Carbon

Soil organic matter is defined by Brady and Weil (2004) as the organic fraction of the soil that includes plant and animal residues at various stages of decomposition, cells and tissues of soil organisms and substances synthesized by the soil population. The organic fraction due to its colloidal nature has significant impact on the chemical and physical properties of soil. About one third of the cation exchange capacity of surface soils is contributed by organic fraction of soil, and it is the most important factor for aggregate stability.

The soil carbon pools are fairly well buffered due to their larger size and slow turnover rate, and therefore short-term effects that do not involve removal of carbon from landscape have no immediate effects on soil carbon pools. Any management practices usually take 5–10 years to produce any measurable increase in soil carbon, fertility and tilth. However, losses can be at a faster rate due to improper management. It is very difficult to accurately measure changes in soil carbon over a few years due to its highly variable spatial distribution and larger size of pools. The increased concentration of greenhouse gases and its subsequent effects on global

warming are the most debated issues. Kyoto Protocol suggested two ways for reducing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere: one way by removing atmospheric CO_2 through fixation and another way by decreasing the emissions. Therefore, the probability of using terrestrial vegetation or ecosystem as carbon sinks has been established as one of the most important strategies to reduce the CO_2 concentration from the atmosphere. Considering the size of the pools, it is highly relevant for reducing the pace of climate change and soil physical degradation. A small change in such large pool can have dramatic impacts on atmospheric CO_2 .

The processes of storage and loss of soil carbon are dependent on climate. Therefore, soil might have important feedback to the changing climate. If the entrapped carbon is released from soil as CO_2 or there is increased emission of CH_4 or nitrous oxide, then climate change will be accelerated. On the other hand, if more carbon is accumulated in soil through various processes, then climate change will be retarded.

Agricultural land and forest can be taken as potential carbon sink as mentioned in Kyoto Protocol. However, carbon sequestration is a highly debatable issue due to the size of the sink, sustainability of the stored carbon and overall its accounting. It is highly relevant across Europe due to the susceptibility of soil to desertification (like Spain, Italy) and peat and muck soils with large amount of organic matter in the north (like Finland, Scotland) or the major agricultural areas that are managed intensively (France, Germany, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom). The organic matter status of those areas is expected and anticipated to further decrease.

Land use affects the balances of carbon between soil and atmosphere (Fig. 8.3). A land-use change induces change in the balances. For example, afforestation of a degraded land could result in sequestration of atmospheric carbon, and similarly,



ill-managed agricultural soil may release either sequestered soil carbon to the atmosphere. Therefore, land use can play a decisive role in carbon cycle and can be used as a successful strategy to counteract the bad effects of climate change. It can mitigate the climate change if more carbon is accumulated or emission is reduced.

8.7.4 The Properties of Clay Surfaces and Structural Stability of Soils

The clay content and structural stability of a soil have profound impact in its buffering capacity, i.e. ability to resist against the adversities of climate change. There are three broad categories of soil based on clay content and structural properties.

- A. Ferralsols and Nitisols: These types of soil occupy large areas of tropics and naturally have high structural stability. The former soils are predominantly found in the northern side of South America, while the latter are mostly abundant in East Africa. The clay particles are generally covered by iron and aluminium oxides or hydroxides, but the composition of clay portion may be different. The oxides or hydroxide surfaces could be from high iron and aluminium-containing parent material under prolonged hydrolysis by water (containing CO_2).
- B. Contrary to the above, at the other extreme, there are soils of very low structural stability and are prone to failure under load or stress (like quick clays). The clay minerals are usually covered by a gel-like amorphous material with high amount of silica (McKyes et al. 1974). These types of soils are presumed to be developed in earlier periods through the process of reverse weathering from strongly saline parent materials. Quick clays of the Champlain Sea sediments in Ontario and Quebec are examples of such soils. Lands that have high proportion of these types of soil are likely to produce higher runoff and suspended sediments and also liable to mudflows in sloppy topography. Andosols, derived from volcanic parent materials, have low stability and are prone to thixotropy.
- C. The above two extreme types encompass most of the soils, while vertisols have medium to low structural stability and have small amorphous coating on the clay surfaces. When Planosols originated through the process of ferrolysis have low cation exchange capacity and swell shrink potential due to presence of smectite and illite interlayered with aluminium hydroxides polymers. Some amount of iron oxides also leached out during the ferrolysis process, reducing its structural stability. Global climate change may have more impact in regions that have these kinds of soils (like central parts of India, the black cotton soils).

8.7.5 Soil and Atmospheric Gas Flux Equilibrium

Depending on the management and local conditions, a soil may act as a sink or a source of greenhouse gases. The balance between this two is very delicate. Soils

globally not only contain twice the amount of atmospheric carbon, but also the flux between soil and atmosphere is considerably large and about ten times the flux of CO_2 from fossil fuels. Permafrost and water-logged soils hold a major portion of carbon stocks, but these types of soils are also important emitters of CH_4 and N_2O .

About 25% of the global greenhouse gas is contributed by farming activities and agriculture. Currently agriculture practices adversely affecting soil/air/water ecosystem (Batjes 1996; Janzen 2004) lead to imbalance. Soil organic C content is reducing day by day, while increase in CO_2 concentration has been detected in agriculture. Carbon content of soil can be maintained or increased, and non- CO_2 greenhouses gas emission can be reduced by appropriate soil management practices and by using decomposed organic matter like manure, vermicompost, etc. These practices influence C and N cycles, nutrient content and population of microbes in soil, which play crucial role in the emission of CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O (Huang et al. 2004; Paillat et al. 2005). Therefore, it is crucial to assess such activities as to its effectiveness and adverse or harmful environmental effects.

8.8 Global Climate Change and Anticipated Change in Soil System

The interaction of various factors of climate change with the crucial soil dynamics and processes has potential to change many of its properties in a number of ways. The changes in soil microbiological, chemical and physical properties are mostly influenced by the perturbation in the air temperature, rainfall and CO₂ concentration. It is a well-known fact that soils are formed due to the interaction of five main factors, namely, parent material, topography and relief, organisms, climate and time. Due to the change in climate, the main soil-forming factor, the process of soil formation has been influenced a lot. Changes in climatic variables such as temperature and rainfall have influenced the soil temperature and moisture regime directly, which in turn have influenced the habitat of soil organisms. The modification of the distribution of soil microorganism would influence the soil organic matter decomposition. Increased temperature would speed up the activities of the soil microorganism which may benefit the soils of humid and subhumid regions by the gradual improvements in its fertility. Poleward retreat of the permafrost boundary would be one of the major changes in the future (Goryachkin and Targulian 1990). The other radical changes in soil would be related to the rate unlike the type mentioned above. As a result of the changes, certain soils may face widespread changes from one major soil-forming process to another, such as tropical soils in the Amazon region which are having low physical-chemical activity (Sombroek 1990).

Before studying the detailed effects of the changing climate on soil health, let us observe the key processes in soil systems which are sensitive to altering climatic conditions. The study of climate-sensitive soil processes is very important at this stage. Effect of climate change on vital pedogenic processes is presented in the following section.

8.8.1 Soil-Forming Processes

It is generally found that the normal processes of soil formation are maintained. But under some specific condition, with mostly fragile soils, even a little change in external conditions may invite a major change in the dominant soil-forming process. Sombroek (1990) illustrated these changes with the four examples such as a change from hydrolysis to cheluviation (ferralsols to podzols); irreversible hardening of the subsoil; clay illuviation forming dense subsoil in originally homogeneous, porous ferralsols; and salinization. The soils with significant amount of weatherable minerals may benefit from the positive effects of increased rate of weathering.

8.8.2 Soil Organic Carbon

Soil carbon pools are greatly influenced by climate change as it affects almost all the processes of C cycle, namely, assimilation of C through photosynthesis, respiration, falling of litter and its decomposition and erosion from surface along with the hydrological transport. Soil and atmosphere always share a large gross exchange of CO₂. As soil has a large stock of carbon and due to the extent of the exchange, a relatively little change in the exchange fluxes of CO_2 may affect both the atmosphere and soil in a great way. Hence proper management of these fluxes can considerably add to the climate change mitigation potential. The activities that add more carbon to the soil and trap them are called carbon sequestration mechanisms. These include conservation agriculture practices or activities which slow the rate of release of trapped carbon into the atmosphere through burning, tillage and soil erosion. In this way the trapped or sequestered carbon resides in the soil as soil organic carbon (SOC). It is estimated that soil carbon sequestration accounts for about 89% of the technical mitigation potential in agriculture, compared to 11% for emissions abatement (Smith et al. 2007). Several agricultural practices are reported to increase the SOC content in the soil, to name a few like zero/minimum/no tillage practices, crop rotation and diversification, restoration of degraded soil, improved management of pasture and grazing land, proper irrigation and nutrient management, etc. SOC present in the terrestrial biosphere can act in both directions, i.e. sometimes as source and sometimes as sink of atmospheric CO_2 based on land management, thus contributing towards acceleration or mitigation of greenhouse effect (Lal et al. 2004).

Elevated CO_2 experiments, both in chamber-type or free-air enrichment, have reported rapid enhancement in SOM dynamics along with increased soil microorganism activity which may cause temporary competition for plant nutrients. Occasionally, these are reported as negative effects of elevated CO_2 on plant response. However, enhancement in soil organic matter content and its dynamics along with the microbial activity are going to help plants by increasing the amount of available nutrients in the soil in the long run.

8.8.3 Influence on the Soil Chemical Properties and Nutrient Supplying Capacity of the Soil

Climate change will increase the rate of reaction in the soil. There will be increase in the rate of mineralization. Hence lots of salts and cations will be available in the soil solution. These could be either taken up by the plant or leached out of the root zone due to heavy rainfall or move upward and cause salinization if rainfall is less or evapotranspiration is high. The following are some possible effects of climate change on the soil chemical properties:

- 1. High-intensity rainfall events in places having low vegetation cover can leach out the salts created in the soil in some well-drained sites, result into heavy runoff under poor drainage and ultimately deposit all these salts in the area where depression is present, causing salinization.
- 2. Soils having adequate cation exchange capacity and anion sorption to minimize the loss of nutrients during leaching and highly stable and strong heterogeneous network of interconnected macropores to maximize the bypass flow may be resilient under climate change condition.
- 3. Increased temperatures, mainly in arid climate, cause a higher evaporative demand. In case of ample abundance of soil moisture, e.g. irrigated areas, enhanced evaporative demand could lead to soil salinization if proper water management or irrigation scheduling or drainage is not followed. Some recent experiments by the Salinity Laboratory, Riverside, California, reported the increased salt tolerance of crops under high atmospheric CO₂ conditions (Maas 1986; Bowman and Strain 1987).
- 4. Transient salinity may increase in sodic soils as capillary rise plays the predominant role bringing salts to the root zone. As in these soils, the surface crust or sealing is found; hence the possibility of desalinization by periodic rainfall is also very low. Moreover, enhanced drying of subsoil builds the salt concentration in the soil solution.

8.8.4 Physical Properties and Structural Stability of the Soil

Generally little change is seen in the mineral composition of clay and coarser fractions over the centuries. Though few exceptions such as perennially moist volcanic soils subject to drying would contain transformed halloysite mineral developed from X-ray amorphous material. Sometimes soils which are exposed to higher temperature or severe drying might have haematite developed from gradual dehydration of goethite. Surface properties of the clay might change at much faster rate than general change in crystal structure or bulk composition. These changes may have pivotal effect on chemical and physical properties of soils (Brinkman 1985, 1990).

The following points are about those transformation processes which are responsible for bringing the changes in the surface of clay minerals or composition of it (Brinkman 1982). The climate change can accelerate or inhibit each of them.

- 1. Water dissolved with carbon dioxide may hydrolyse the soil, removing its basic cations and silica.
- Cheluviation, in which aluminium and iron may get dissolved and removed by chelating with organic acids.
- 3. Ferrolysis, a cyclic process of clay transformation and dissolution mediated by alternating iron reduction and oxidation, which decreases the cation exchange capacity by aluminium interlayering in swelling clay minerals.
- 4. Strong mineral acids may dissolute clay minerals, generating acidic salts of aluminium and amorphous silica.
- 5. Reverse weathering may end up producing minerals such as, e.g. montmorillonite, palygorskite or analcime, under neutral to strongly alkaline conditions due to clay formation and transformation.

Among these processes, hydrolysis and cheluviation may get accelerated by increased leaching rates. In a warmer condition in the future, soils subjected to reduction and leaching along with oxidation may evidence ferrolysis, which may extend to a larger region in high latitudes and monsoon-dominated climate. Dissolution is possible to occur in the coastal plain with good drainage as strong acids may form in these areas provided sulphidic materials are present in ample quantity, though this may not be possible due to the rise in sea level. The arid region or region which may become dry due to climate change may face reverse weathering. The envisaged changes as consequence of climate change would take centuries time to take place which may influence the surface properties of clay fraction. On the contrary, direct human intervention may lead to much acceleration of these processes, for example, acid rain severely affected the sandy soils of some parts of Europe (Van Breemen 1990), or those soils which remain seasonally inundated by water evidence extreme rapid ferrolysis such as the Volta Lake in Ghana (Amatekpor 1989).

Comparatively weak aggregates which are unable to withstand influence of the rapid water uptake show the signs of slaking. The process can be resulted from processes such as disparity in the swelling of clay, trapped and escaping air in the pores of soil, heat release occurring rapidly while wetting process and most importantly the mechanical effects of the flowing water. Slaking gets affected by factors like the rate of wetting, water content of soil, soil texture, clay type and organic matter. It gets enhanced due to fast wetting rates, especially in case of initially dry soils. Continuous and repetitive tillage activities cause loss of organic matter in the soil and breakdown of the aggregates. The loss of organic matter indirectly leads to the increased slaking by reducing the stability of soil aggregates.

An important but a bit slower process is the reddening of brown soils, which experience increased duration of high temperature during summer along with dryness. Here, the haematite would become more stable over the goethite, the presently dominant one. This mineralogical change might be able to decrease the phosphate fixation intensity and amount. Buol et al. (1990) have given an overview of such changes, with emphasis on temperate climate zones.

8.8.5 Soil Biological Properties

Soil biological properties will be influenced a lot by the climate change. The increase in duration of above optimum soil temperature will increase microbial activity and hence lower the organic matter content which may not be compensated by the possible increase in net primary productivity. The increase in heavy rainfall events may lead to water-saturated soil condition which will subject the soils to reduced condition.

- 1. Soil biological properties in general and microbial populations in particular might undergo a massive change with elevated CO₂ coupled with changed moisture and thermal temperature regimes. Dynamics of nutrient and many soil-borne diseases will change due to the change in its drivers.
- 2. Microbial activity enhancement owing to the availability of higher CO_2 and temperature produces polysaccharides and other soil stabilizers in greater amounts. Higher vegetative growth of crops will increase the litter or crop residues, root, etc., increasing the amount of organic matter content which will again stimulate the activity of soil macrofauna, including earthworms. It will create stable bio-pores, improving the infiltration rate and bypass flow. Enhanced soil stability and better infiltration make the soil resilient from water erosion. Greater proportion of bypass flow also decreases the leaching loss of nutrients due to heavy rainfall.
- 3. As the microbial activity tends to increase, it will lead to faster recycling of plant nutrients through soil organisms. Higher CO₂ concentration leads to increased production of root material (without the temperature increase), increasing the soil organic matter content, which also undergoes a temporary immobilization followed by cycling of larger amount of plant nutrients. But some researchers have reported higher C/N ratios in litter under high CO₂ conditions, which would cause lower rate of decomposition and mineralization of the plant nutrients from the litter. The increase in "stable" portion of soil organic matter content might be counteracted by higher soil temperatures, but it will surely boost the microbial activity.

8.8.6 Soil Hydrological Properties

Soils are most resilient against the effects of such increasing aridity, and rainfall variability would have a high structural stability and a strongly heterogeneous system of continuous macropores (the same as in the tropics), hence a rapid infiltration rate, as well as a large available water capacity and a deep groundwater table. In

boreal climates, the gradual disappearance of large extents of permafrost and the reduction of frost periods in extensive belts adjoining former permafrost are expected to improve the internal drainage of soils in vast areas, with probable increases in leaching rates.

The change in temperature and rainfall factors has direct effects on the soil water dynamics. In the humid tropics and monsoon climates, increased intensities of rainfall events and increased rainfall totals would increase leaching rates in welldrained soils with high infiltration rates and would cause temporary flooding or water saturation and hence reduced organic matter decomposition, in many soils in level or depressional sites. They would also give rise to greater amounts and frequency of runoff on soils in sloping terrain, with sedimentation downslope and, worse, downstream. Locally, there would be increased chances of mass movement in the form of landslides or mudflows in certain soft sedimentary materials. Soils most resilient against such changes would have adequate cation exchange capacity and anion sorption to minimize nutrient loss during leaching flows and have a high structural stability and a strongly heterogeneous system of continuous macropores to maximize infiltration and rapid bypass flow through the soil during high-intensity rainfall. In temperate climates, minor increases in rainfall totals would be expected to be largely taken up by increased evapotranspiration of vegetation or crops at the expected higher temperatures, so that net hydrologic or chemical effects on the soils might be small.

8.8.7 Soil and Air Gas Exchange

If the partial pressure of CO_2 in the soil air would rise, and that of O_2 decrease to levels impairing root function, part of the benefits indicated would not materialize. The improved gas exchange with the atmosphere through increased numbers of stable biopores would tend to keep CO_2 and O_2 in the soil at "safe" levels, at least in naturally or artificially well-drained soils. Wetland crops such as rice or jute have their own gas exchange mechanisms and would not be affected, neither would natural wetland vegetation.

8.8.8 Soil Productivity

In subtropical and other subhumid or semiarid areas, the increased productivity and water-use efficiency due to higher CO_2 would tend to increase ground cover, counteracting the effects of higher temperatures. If there would be locally much less rainfall and increasing intra- and interannual variability, these could lead to less dry matter production and hence, in due course, lower soil organic matter contents. The negative effect on soil organic matter contents of a temperature rise might be more than compensated by the greater organic matter supply from vegetation or crops growing more vigorously because of the higher photosynthesis, the greater

potential evapotranspiration and the higher water-use efficiency in a high-CO₂ atmosphere. The temperate zone would thus be likely to have the smallest changes in soils, even in poorly buffered ones, directly caused by the effects of global change.

8.8.9 Effect of Climate Change Plant Physiology and Vegetative Intensity

In general, plants grow faster in warmer climates, which could be good news for some farmers, especially in temperate and cold areas. But this applies only up to a point. When it gets too warm, crops tend to mature too early, and under extreme conditions, high temperatures can kill crops. Although different varieties are bred to withstand certain conditions, each crop ultimately has a limited temperature range. Plants are also affected by the amount of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere. Yields of some crops, such as soybeans and wheat, increase with higher levels of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere, while yields of others, such as sugarcane and corn, do not. Unfortunately some pest plants and weeds grow faster and produce more irritant when atmospheric carbon dioxide is higher.

Higher atmospheric CO₂ concentration increases growth rates (Tomer et al. 2014; Bhatia et al. 2013c) and water-use efficiency of crops and natural vegetation in so far as other factors do not become limiting. The higher temperature optima of some plants under increased CO₂ would tend to counteract adverse effects of temperature rise, such as increased nighttime respiration. The shortened growth cycle of a given species because of higher CO₂ and temperature would be compensated for in natural vegetation by adjustments in species composition or dominance. In agroecosystems the choice of longer-duration cultivars or changes in cropping pattern could eliminate unproductive periods that might arise because of the shorter growth cycle of the main crop.

There will be adequate time to adjust to the changes since these are expected to occur over decades, rather than years or days as in all present experimental situations. The increased productivity is generally accompanied by more litter or crop residues, a greater total root mass and root exudation, increased mycorrhizal colonization and activity of other rhizosphere or soil microorganisms, including symbiotic and root-zone N fixers. The latter would have a positive effect on N supply to crops or vegetation. The increased microbial and root activity in the soil would entail higher CO_2 partial pressure in soil air and CO_2 activity in soil water and hence increased rates of plant nutrient release (e.g. K, Mg, micronutrients) from weathering of soil minerals. Similarly, the mycorrhizal activity would lead to better phosphate uptake. These effects would be in synergy with better nutrient uptake by the more intensive root system due to higher atmospheric CO_2 concentration. These changes increased intensity, seasonality or variability of rainfall, as well as against some of the unfavourable changes in rate or direction of soil-forming processes.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) suggests the following changes in farming practice to take the control of the situation resulting due to change in global climatic conditions:

- 1. Altering inputs such as varieties/species to those with more appropriate thermal time and vernalization requirements and/or with increased resistance to heat shock and drought, altering fertilizer rates to maintain grain or fruit quality consistent with the prevailing climate, altering amounts and timing of irrigation and other water management
- 2. Wider use of technologies to "harvest" water, conserve soil moisture (e.g. crop residue retention) and use and transport water more effectively where rainfall decreases
- 3. Managing water to prevent water logging, erosion and nutrient leaching where rainfall increases
- 4. Altering the timing or location of cropping activities
- 5. Diversifying income through altering integration with other farming activities such as livestock raising
- 6. Improving the effectiveness of pest, disease and weed management practices through wider use of integrated pest and pathogen management, development and use of varieties and species resistant to pests and diseases and maintaining or improving quarantine capabilities and monitoring programs
- 7. Using climate forecasting to reduce production risk

8.9 Global Climate Change and Soil Horizon

The changes in the soil horizon as affected by the global climate change are being studied throughout the world by the various researchers. The following paragraphs summarize the broader overview of the probable alterations in the soil profile and properties as influenced by the changing climate conditions. These results present case studies in different parts of the world emphasizing the most expected changes in the soil profile properties due to change of climate conditions:

- 1. The yellowish sandy ferralsols and ferralic arenosols of Eastern Amazonia, Kalimantan and the Zaire basin may rapidly change into podzols or albic arenosols (giant podzols) with even small increases in total rainfall or stronger seasonality, or increased input of acidic ("poor") organic matter. An increase in effective rainfall due to climate change may cause a major increase in the extent of podzols formed from present-day yellowish sandy ferralsols where, presently, podzols occur in patches within the ferralsol area (Lucas et al. 1987; Dubroeucq and Volkoff 1988).
- 2. The imperfectly drained loamy Plinthosols on the flat interfluves of Western Amazonia would change into shallow, droughty soils with an irreversibly hardened subsoil if subject to drying out with climate change.

- 3. The deep reddish, porous loamy to clayey ferralsols of the transition zones between forest and savanna in Eastern Africa, stable under the present vegetation, may be leached so far that a denser subsoil with washed-in clay is formed below an unstable topsoil with little organic matter, as already observed where the land was cleared several decades ago; the same may happen over more extensive areas under a sparser vegetation brought about by a somewhat drier climate.
- 4. The silty Fluvisols in the broad river valleys of the Sudano-Sahelian zone of West Africa, such as the interior delta of the Niger River, may become saline or sodic upon even minimal change in precipitation and flooding regimes as exemplified by current human actions with the same soil hydrological implications (Sombroek and Zonneveld 1971).

8.10 Conclusion

Soil quality is the capacity of soils within landscapes to sustain biological productivity, maintain environmental quality and promote plant and animal health, whereas soil health is the condition of the soil in relation to its inherent, or potential, capability to sustain biological productivity, maintain environmental quality and promote plant and animal health.

One major essential component of good soil health is undoubtedly soil organic matter. Organic matter present in soil is vital because it supports many soil processes that are associated with fertility and physical stability of soil across the various ecosystem services. In particular organic matter provides an energy source for microbes; structurally stabilizes soil particles; stores and supplied plant essential nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus and sulphur; and provides cation/anion exchange for retention of ions and nutrients. The unanimous approaches to deal with the present scenario of climatic change seem to lie in the ideas of mitigation and adaption. The former approach pays emphasis on decreasing the release of stored carbon and other greenhouse gases. There are opportunities for mitigation in the agricultural sector to help reduce the impact of climate change, and there is significant room for promoting mitigation methods. The adaptation approach on the other hand uses the idea of modification of present agricultural practices as a method to adjust to the erratic climatic pattern.

References

- Aggarwal PK, Nagarajan S, Shibu ME, Ramakrishna YS (2005) Impacts of climate change scenarios on Indian agriculture. Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Amatekpor JK (1989) The effect of seasonal flooding on the clay mineralogy of a soil series in the Volta lake drawdown area, Ghana. Land Degrad Rehabil 1:89–100

Batjes NH (1996) Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. Eur J Soil 47:151-163

Bhatia A, Kumar A, Kumar V, Jain N (2013a) Low carbon option for sustainable agriculture. Ind Farming 63(2):18–22

- Bhatia A, Kumar AK, Das TK, Singh J, Jain N, Pathak H (2013b) Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from soils under direct seeded rice. Int J Agri Sci Statist 9(2):729–736
- Bhatia A, Kumar V, Kumar A, Tomer R, Singh B, Singh SD (2013c) Effect of elevated ozone and carbon dioxide interaction on growth and yield of maize. Maydica 58:291–229
- Bowman WD, Strain BR (1987) Interaction between CO₂ enrichment and salinity stress in the C4 non-halophyte *Andropogon glomeratus* (Walter) BSP. Plant Cell Environ 10:267–270
- Brady NC, Weil RR (2004) Elements of the nature and properties of soils, 2nd edn. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River
- Brinkman R (1982) Clay transformations: aspects of equilibrium and kinetics. In: Bolt GH (ed) Soil chemistry B physicochemical models developments in soil science 5B, 2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 33–458
- Brinkman R (1985) Mineralogy and surface properties of the clay fraction affecting soil behavior and management. In: Woodhead T (ed) Soil physics and rice. International Rice Research Institute, Los Baños, pp 161–182
- Brinkman R (1990) Resilience against climate change? Soil minerals, transformations and surface properties, Eh, pH. In: Scharpenseel HW, Schomaker M, Ayoub A (eds) Soils on a warmer earth. Elsevier, London, pp 51–60
- Bumb B, Baanante C (1996) World trends in fertilizer use and projections to 2020. 2020 brief #38. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC
- Buol SW, Sanchez PA, Kimble JM, Weed SB (1990) Predicted impact of climatic warming on soil properties and use. Ame Soc Agron Special Publ 53:71–82
- Burke IC, Yonker CM, Parton WJ, Cole CV, Flach K, Schimel DS (1989) Texture, climate, and cultivation effects on soil organic matter content in U.S. grassland soils. Soil Sci Soc Ame J 53:800–805
- Cline W (2007) Global warming and agriculture: impact estimates by country. Center for global development, Washington DC, p 250
- Dalal R, Chan KY (2001) Soil organic matter in rainfed cropping systems of the Australian cereal belt. Austral J Soil Res 39:435–464
- Dubroeucq D, Volkoff B (1988) Evolution des couverturespédologiquessableuses à podzolsgéantsd' Amazonie (Bassin du haut Rio Negro). Cahiers ORSTOM, Série Pédologie 24(3):191–214
- Easterling WE, Aggarwal PK, Batima P, Brander KM, Erda L, Howden SM, Kirilenko A, Morton J, Soussana JF, Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN (2007) Food, fibre and forest products. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Climate change: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 273–313
- Fagodiya RK, Pathak H, Kumar A, Bhatia A, Jain N (2017a) Global temperature change potential of nitrogen use in agriculture: a 50-year assessment. Sci Rep 7:44928
- Fagodiya RK, Pathak H, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Singh SD, Jain N, Harith R (2017b) Simulation of maize (Zea mays L.) yield under alternative nitrogen fertilization using Infocrop-maize model. Biochem Cell Arch 17(1):65–71
- Goryachkin SV, Targulian VO (1990) Climate-induced changes of the boreal and sub-polar soil. In: Scharpenseel HW, Schomaker M, Ayoub A (eds) Soil on a warmer earth. Institute of Geography USSR Academy of Science, Moscow, pp 191–209
- Gupta DK, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Chakrabati B, Jain N, Pathak H (2015) Global warming potential of rice (*Oryza sativa*)-wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cropping system of the Indo-Gangetic plains. Ind J Agri Sci 85(6):807–816
- Gupta DK, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Das TK, Jain N, Tomer R, Fagodiya RK, Dubey R, Malyan SK, Pathak H (2016a) Mitigation of greenhouse gas emission from rice wheat system of the Indo Gangetic plains: through tillage, irrigation and fertilizer management. Agric Ecosyst Environ 230:1–9

- Gupta DK, Bhatia A, Das TK, Singh P, Kumar A, Jain N, Pathak H (2016b) Economic analysis of different greenhouse gas mitigation technologies in rice–wheat cropping system of the Indo-Gangetic plains. Curr Sci 110(5):867–873
- Halpin PN (1993) Ecosystems at risk to potential climate change. Contractor report prepared for the office of technology assessment
- Huang HP, Newman M, Seager R, Kushnir Y, Participating CMIP2+ Modeling Groups (2004) Relationship between tropical pacific SST and global atmospheric angular momentum in coupled models, LDEO Report, Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory of Columbia University, Palisades, New York, USA, p 43
- IPCC (2007) Summary for policy makers climate change 2007: synthesis report impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 273–313
- IPCC (2014) Climate change 2014. The physical science basis. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner M, Tignor SK, Allen J, Boschung A, Nauels Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds) Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York, p 1535
- Janzen HH (2004) Carbon cycling in earth systems a soil science perspective. Agric Ecosyst Environ 104:399–417
- Jastrow JD, Miller RM, Matamala R, Norby RJ, Boutton TW, Rice CW, Owensby CE (2005) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ increases soil carbon. Glob Chang Biol 11:2057–2064
- Kumar K, Kavi S, Parikh J (2001a) Socio-economic impacts of climate change on Indian agriculture. Inter Rev Environ Strate 2(2):277–293
- Kumar K, Kavi S, Parikh J (2001b) Indian agriculture and climate sensitivity. Glob Environ Chang 11:147–154
- Kumar A, Tomer R, Bhatia A, Jain N, Pathak H (2016) Greenhouse gas mitigation in Indian agriculture. In: Pathak H, Chakrabarti B (eds) Climate change and agriculture technologies for enhancing resilience. ICAR-IARI, New Delhi, pp 137–149
- Lal R, Griffin M, Apt J, Lave L, Morgan MG (2004) Managing soil carbon science using soybean and sunflower. Nat Resour Res 14(1):65–76
- Lucas Y, Boulet R, Chauvel A, Veillon L (1987) Systèmes sols ferrallitiquespodzolsenrégionamazonienne. In: Righi D, Chauvel A (eds) Podzolsetpodzolisation. AFES-INRA, Paris, pp 53–68
- Maas EV (1986) Salt tolerance of plants. Appl Agric Res 1:12-26
- Malyan SK, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Singh R, Kumar SS, Tomer R, Kumar O, Gupta DK, Jain N (2016a) Methane production, oxidation and mitigation: a mechanistic understanding and comprehensive evaluation of influencing factors. Sci Total Environ 572(1):874–896
- Malyan SK, Kumar A, Kumar J, Smita Kumar S (2016b) Water management tool in rice to combat two major environmental issues: global warming and water scarcity. In: Kumar S, Beg MA (eds) Environmental concerns of 21st century: Indian and global context. Book Age publication, New Delhi, pp 46–58
- McKyes E, Sethi A, Yong RN (1974) Amorphous coatings on particles of sensitive clay soils. Clay Clay Miner 22:427–433
- Mina U, Kumar R, Gogoi R, Bhatia A, Harit RC, Singh D, Kumar A, Kumar A (2017) Effect of elevated temperature and carbon dioxide on maize genotypes health index. Ecol Indic. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.08.060R
- Muckel GB, Mausbach MJ (1996) Soil quality information sheets. In: Doran JW, Jones AJ (eds) Methods for assessing soil quality. Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Wisconsin
- Paillat JM, Robin P, Hassouna M, Leterme P (2005) Predicting ammonia and carbon dioxide emissions from carbon and nitrogen biodegradability during animal waste composting. Atmos Environ 39:6833–6842
- Pathak H, Pramanik P, Khanna M, Kumar A (2014) Climate change and water availability in Indian agriculture: impacts and adaptation Ind. J Agric Sci 84(6):671–679

- Pathak H, Jain N, Bhatia A, Kumar A, Chatterjee D (2016) Improved nitrogen management: a key to climate change adaptation and mitigation. Ind J Fert 12:151–162
- Rustad LE, Campbell JL, Marion GM, Norby RJ, Mitchell MJ, Hartley AE, Cornelissen JHC, Gurevitch J (2001) A meta-analysis of the response of soil respiration, net N mineralization and above-ground plant growth to experimental ecosystem warming. Oecologica 126:543–562
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, McCarl B, Ogle S, O'Mara F, Rice C, Scholes B, Sirotenko O (2007) Agriculture. In: Metz B, Davidson OR, Bosch PR, Dave R, Meyer LA (eds) Climate change 2007: mitigation. contribution of working group III to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York
- Sombroek WG (1990) Soils on a warmer earth: the tropical regions. In: Scharpenseel HW, Schomaker M, Ayoub A (eds) Soil on a warmer earth. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 157–174
- Sombroek, WG, Zonneveld LS (1971) Ancient dune fields and fluviatile deposits in the Rima-Sokoto river basin (NW Nigeria) Stiboka (Staring Centre) Soil Survey Paper 5, p 109
- Tomer R, Bhatia A, Kumar V, Kumar A, Singh R, Singh B, Singh SD (2014) Impact of elevated ozone on growth, yield and nutritional quality of two wheat species in northern India. Aerosol Air Qual Res 15:329–240
- Van Breemen N (1990) Impact of anthropogenic atmospheric pollution on soils. In: Climate change and soil processes. UNEP, Nairobi, pp 137–144



9

Organic Agriculture: Potentials in Managing Abiotic Stresses in Crop Production

K. A. Gopinath, V. Visha Kumari, G. Venkatesh, M. Jayalakshmi, P. S. Prabhamani, and G. Ravindra Chary

Abstract

Organic agriculture is gaining prominence world over, and about 57.8 Mha were organically managed in 2016. Agriculture can contribute to mitigate climate change by (a) reducing emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) and (b) by carbon sequestration in the soil. The potential of organic agriculture for both these effects is reported to be high. In organic production systems, the nitrogen input to soils and hence the nitrous oxide emissions are low. Application of organic inputs such as animal manure, compost and green manures increases soil carbon levels substantially. Many field experiments worldwide show that organic fertilization compared to mineral fertilization results in higher soil organic carbon and thus sequesters large amounts of CO_2 from the atmosphere to the soil. Furthermore, soils in organic agriculture capture and store more water than soils of conventional agriculture. Soils under organic agriculture are also less prone to erosion. Hence, organic agriculture to extreme weather conditions such as drought and flooding.

Keywords

Climate change · Mitigation potential · Adaptation · Organic farming

M. Jayalakshmi KVK-Banavasi, Acharya NG Ranga Agricultural University, Banavasi, Andhra Pradesh, India

K. A. Gopinath (\boxtimes) · V. Visha Kumari · G. Venkatesh · P. S. Prabhamani · G. Ravindra Chary ICAR-Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA), Hyderabad, Telangana, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_9

9.1 Introduction

Climate change and variability is one of the potential threats to sustainable development of agriculture and food security. Climate change phenomenon is now a global reality. Although climate change is of extreme concern for all countries, India is one of the most vulnerable countries because of both the magnitude and multitude of effects climate change will have on Indian food security. It may further be affected by relentless land degradation, land fragmentation, labour scarcity, over-exploitation of natural resources, etc. Agriculture is a major contributor to emissions of methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O) and carbon dioxide (CO₂). India's CO₂ emissions have swiftly caught up with the levels of developed countries; however, per capita emissions remain significantly below than those in developed countries. According to the Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (2016), the world per capita average levels were 36.20 billion tonnes (4.9 tonnes per capita), while India emitted 2.47 billion tonnes (1.9 tonnes per capita), respectively. According to the Human Development Report, India contributes only 5% of global emissions despite representing 18% of the world's population, but its share is projected to increase to 12% by 2050 in the absence of mitigation policy (UN 2008). GHGs (greenhouse gases) attributed to agriculture by the IPCC include emissions from soils, enteric fermentation (GHG emissions from the digestion process of ruminant animals), rice production, biomass burning and manure management (Smith et al. 2007). There are other 'indirect' sources of GHG emissions that are not accounted for by the IPCC under agriculture such as those generated from land-use changes, use of fossil fuels for mechanization, transport and agrochemical and fertilizer production (IFOAM 2009).

Climate change and variability pose a major threat to farming communities, particularly in India. This threat includes the increase of temperature, extreme weather conditions like floods, heat wave, cold wave, increased water stress and drought. Crop growth, development, water use and yield under normal conditions are largely determined by weather during the growing season. Hence, seasonal variations in weather events pose risks to agricultural systems either due to water constraints (drought) or surplus of water (floods) and erosion. In this regard, soil stability is crucial to store water in the soil profile, resist extreme weather events and minimize soil erosion. Climate change is no longer a distant projection but a contemporary reality demanding immediate attention. These changes will bring new challenges to farmers. Farmers need new technological options to help them adapt to climate change and variability. Organic farming is one such option which is reported to have both climate change mitigation and adaptation potential particularly in rain-fed agriculture.

9.2 Potential of Organic Farming to Mitigate Climate Change

There is considerable worldwide support from results of long-term experiments in advocating organic agriculture for climate change mitigation (Kotschi and Müller-Sämann 2004; Niggli 2007; IFOAM 2008; Goh 2011; Wani et al. 2013). The potential of organic agriculture in climate change mitigation depends on its ability to reduce emissions of GHGs (nitrous oxide, carbon dioxide and methane), increase soil carbon sequestration and enhance effects of organic production technologies which favour the above two processes (Goh 2011).

9.2.1 Reduction of GHG Emissions

The global warming potential of conventional agriculture is strongly affected by the use of mineral nitrogen fertilizers and by high nitrogen concentrations in soils. However, organic farming systems avoid the use of mineral fertilizers and rely on organic inputs such as green manures, crop rotation with legumes, efficient recycling of residues and the use of organic manures. In addition, these systems avoid the use of synthetic/chemical pesticides and rely on practices such as crop rotations, use of biopesticides and beneficial insects for pest management. These restrictions on fossil fuel-based fertilizer and pesticide inputs can significantly reduce the overall GHG footprint of organic agriculture vis-a-vis conventional agriculture (Sreejith and Sherief 2011). Many experimental results suggest that organic agriculture can significantly reduce GHG emissions (Table 9.1).

9.2.1.1 Reduction of Nitrous Oxide (N₂O) Emissions

N₂O emissions are the major source of agricultural emissions accounting for about 38% of agricultural GHG emissions (Smith et al. 2007). The IPCC attributes a default value of 1% to applied fertilizer nitrogen as direct N₂O emissions (Eggleston et al. 2006). Similarly, emission factors of up to 3-5 kg N₂O-N per 100 kg N-input have been reported by Crutzen et al. (2007). These higher values for global N_2O budget are due to the consideration of both direct and indirect emissions, including livestock production, ammonia (NH₃) and nitrate (NO₃) emissions, nitrogen leakage into rivers and coastal zones, etc. (Scialabba and Lindenlauf 2010). N₂O emissions are directly linked to the concentration of available mineral N (ammonium and nitrate) in soils arising from the nitrification and denitrification of available soil and added fertilizer N (Firestone and Davidson 1989; Wrage et al. 2001). Organic farming involves cover and intercrop which extract plant available nitrogen unused by the preceding crop and keep it to the system reducing the level of reactive nitrogen in the topsoil (Ruser et al. 2001). High emission rates are detected directly after mineral fertilizer additions and are very variable (Bouwman 1995). A study comparing 13 organically and conventionally managed farms showed lower levels of soluble nitrogen in the organically managed soils (Diepeningen et al. 2006).

In organic systems, the nitrogen input to soils and hence the potential nitrous oxide emissions are reduced. The share of reactive nitrogen that is emitted as N_2O

+++	-	+			
+	-	+			
+	-	-			
++	-	+			
++	+	-			
++	-	-			
2. Use of manure and waste					
++	-	+			
-	++	-			
3. Animal husbandry					
-	++	+			
-	+	+			
+	+	-			
4. Management of fertilizers					
++	-	++			
+	-	+			
++	-	+			
5. Change of consumer behaviour					
+++	-	-			
+	++	-			
	+++ + + ++ ++ ++ ++ - - - + + + ++ ++ + + ++ +	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			

Table 9.1 Direct and indirect reduction on GHG emissions arising from the principles of organic agriculture

++ high, + low, - no potential

Source: Adapted from Coleman et al. (1997), Sauerbeck (2001), and FAO (2002)

depends on different soil and weather conditions and management practices, which could partly foil the positive effect of lower nitrogen levels in topsoil (Scialabba and Lindenlauf 2010). In a study by Petersen et al. (2006), lower emission rates for organic compared to conventional agriculture were found for five European countries. However, another study reported no significant differences in N₂O emissions between mineral and organic fertilization (Dambreville et al. 2007). In a long-term study in southern Germany, Flessa et al. (2002) found reduced N₂O emission rates in the organic farm, although yield-related emissions were not reduced. Tuomisto et al. (2012) reported that N₂O emissions were about 30% lower in organic systems than in conventional farming systems.

On the other hand, comparisons between soils receiving manure and synthetic fertilizers found higher N_2O emissions after manure application compared to synthetic fertilizer applications, but not for all soil types (Van Groeningen et al. 2004; Rochette et al. 2008). The higher N_2O emissions after application of manure and plant residues may be due to the higher oxygen demand for decomposition of the organic matter (Flessa and Beese 2000). Furthermore, there are indications that mineral fertilizer applications adversely affect soil organic carbon levels (IFOAM EU 2015). As there is high uncertainty in N_2O emission factors, further research is needed.

9.2.1.2 Reduction of Methane (CH₄) Emissions

The reduction or prevention of CH_4 emissions is of greater importance in global warming from the agricultural sector because two-thirds of global CH_4 emissions are of anthropogenic origin, mainly from enteric ruminant fermentation in animals (FAO 2006) and in rice production (Smith and Conan 2004). Hence, minimization of CH_4 emissions of anthropogenic origin and especially of agricultural origin is of particular importance for mitigation. In general, the CH_4 emissions from ruminants and rice production are reportedly not significantly different between organic and conventional agriculture. Differences are due largely to the extent and intensity of various farming practices and their improvement used within different forms of agriculture.

Although research on CH₄ emissions in organic and conventional paddy rice production is still in its infancy (Goh 2011), employing better rice production techniques such as using low CH_4 -emitting varieties (Yagi et al. 1997; Aulakh et al. 2001) composted manures with low C/N ratio (Singh et al. 2003), adjusting the timing of organic input applications (Xu et al. 2000; Cai and Xu 2004) and avoiding continuous flooding have been shown to reduce CH_4 emissions (Smith and Conan 2004). The methods employed for storage and treatment of organic inputs such as manure can also have a very significant effect on GHG emissions. Since composting of manure is used in organic agriculture including biodynamic agriculture, it can reduce N₂O emissions by 50% and CH₄ emissions by 70% (Muller et al. 2016). On the other hand, composting of manure can increase ammonia emissions resulting in 50–120% higher indirect N_2O emissions (Pardo et al. 2015). However, viewed across the whole life cycle from production to application, composting of manure has the potential to reduce the GHG emissions associated with manure management. Further, as herbicides are not used in organic systems, growth of aquatic weeds tends to be higher in organic rice fields, and weeds are reported to have an additional decreasing effect on methane emissions (Inubushi et al. 2001). In organic farming systems, cropping depends on nutrient supply mostly from livestock, and an appropriate combination of cropping and livestock provides an efficient means of minimizing GHG emissions particularly CH₄ (Goh 2011). Efficient and direct recycling of manure and slurry on the farm also helps to reduce GHG emissions as these practices avoid long-distance transport of organic inputs like manures (Niggli 2007).

Methane and N₂O emissions from organic manures account for about 7% of the total GHG emissions from agriculture sector. Methane emissions largely occur in liquid manure systems, whereas higher N₂O emissions occur in solid manure systems and on pastures (Smith et al. 2007). However, there is a very high inconsistency for both CH₄ and N₂O emissions, depending on composition, coverage, temperature and moisture content of the manure. Storing manure in solid form through composting can minimize CH₄ emissions but may lead to more N₂O emissions (Paustian et al. 2004).

9.2.1.3 Reduction of Carbon Dioxide (CO₂) Emissions

Synthetic external inputs like fertilizers and pesticides are not permitted in organic farming. The energy used for the chemical synthesis of nitrogen fertilizers represents

up to 0.4–0.6 Gt of CO_2 emissions (EFMA 2005; Williams et al. 2006; FAOSTAT 2009). This is about 10% of direct global emissions from agricultural sector and around 1% of total anthropogenic GHG emissions. CO_2 emissions are reported to be about 40–60% lower in organic agriculture than conventional agriculture, mainly because of non-use of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers which require large amounts of energy in their production and are associated with emissions of the powerful N₂O (Sayre 2003; BFA 2007).

9.3 Soil Carbon Sequestration

Soil carbon sequestration is an important strategy and is a win-win option of producing more food per unit area besides mitigation of climate change (Lal 2004). Although soils of the tropical regions have low carbon sequestration rate because of high temperatures, adoption of appropriate management practices can lead to higher rates particularly in high rainfall regions (Srinivasarao et al. 2012). Soil carbon sequestration at a global scale is considered as the means responsible for the maximum mitigation potential within the agricultural sector, with about 90% contribution to the potential of what is technically feasible (Smith et al. 2007, 2008). However, global soil carbon stocks of agricultural lands have decreased historically and continue to decline (Lal 2004). Hence, improved agronomic practices that lead to less carbon losses or even higher soil carbon storage are necessary (Gattinger et al. 2012).

Soil carbon sequestration can be increased through agricultural management practices like application of organic manures, use of intercrops and green manures, agroforestry systems, perennial grasslands and trees or hedges, etc., which promote greater soil organic matter and soil organic carbon content and improve soil physical properties (Niggli et al. 2008a; Muller 2009). Though organic matter application and cultivation of legume crops are major features of organic farming, crop rotation can also increase soil organic carbon stocks by about 0.8 t CO₂-eq per ha per year, compared to monoculture practices (Muller et al. 2011). There is strong scientific evidence that organic farming generally results in higher soil carbon levels in cultivated soils compared to chemical fertilizer-based agriculture (Table 9.2).Some rough estimates suggest that the global mitigation potential of organic agriculture amounts to 3.5–4.8 Gt CO₂ from carbon sequestration (about 55–80% of total global GHG emissions from agriculture) and a reduction of N₂O by two-thirds (Niggli et al. 2008a). The potential of carbon sequestration rate by organic farming for European agricultural soils has been estimated at 0-0.5 t C per ha per year (Freibauer et al. 2004). IPCC has also indicated increasing soil organic carbon content in agricultural systems as an important mitigation option (IPCC 2007). Similarly, several field studies have confirmed that organic farming practices significantly improve soil carbon pools (Pimentel et al. 2005; Fließbach et al. 2007; Kustermann et al. 2008). In the USA, a field study showed that the carbon sequestration increased by five times in the organic system (1218 kg C per ha per year) as compared with conventional system (Pimentel et al. 2005). Leifeld and Fuhrer (2010) found an average

Trial	Variant	Result	References
DOC trial, Switzerland, data	Biodynamic with composted	Level of soil organic manure remains stable	Fließbach et al. (2007)
for 1978–1998 farmyard manure		Decrease in soil organic matter: 191 kg per ha compared to the biodynamic variant	
Bavarian organic farms, Germany		Sequestration rates of 110–396 kg per ha and year. Fields managed with integrated pest management: Loss of 249 and 55 kg carbon, respectively	Küstermann et al. (2007)
Rodale experiment, USA	Manure-based organic system	Soil carbon increase 981 kg per ha	Pimentel et al. (2005)
	Legume-based organic system	Soil carbon increase 574 kg per ha	
Nine farming system trials in the USA		Soil organic carbon concentrations 14% higher in organic than in conventional systems	Marriott and Wander (2006)

 Table 9.2
 Carbon sequestration rates on organic farms

annual increase of the soil organic carbon (SOC) concentration in organic systems by 2.2%, whereas in conventional systems, SOC did not change significantly. Based on meta-analysis of datasets from 74 studies from pair-wise comparisons of organic vs. nonorganic farming systems, Gattinger et al. (2012) found significant differences and higher values for organically farmed soils of $0.18 \pm 0.06\%$ points (mean $\pm 95\%$ confidence interval) for SOC concentrations, 3.50 ± 1.08 t C per ha for stocks and 0.45 ± 0.21 t C per ha per year for sequestration rates compared with conventional management. Liu et al. (2013) reported soil carbon up to 2–3 times higher in organic matter content and consequent reduction in the carbon emission to the atmosphere. All these studies prove that organic agricultural systems have an inherent potential to both reduce GHG emissions and to enhance carbon sequestration in the soil (Table 9.3).

9.4 Organic Agriculture as an Adaptation Strategy

Adaptation in agriculture is not new. Historically, farmers have developed several methods to adapt to changing climate including aberrant weather. However, the adaptation needs to occur at a much faster rate due to impending climate change. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPPC) defines adaptation to climate change as 'adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities' (IPCC 2001). Long-term crop yield stability and the ability to buffer yields through climatic extremes are critical factors in agriculture's ability to support society in the future (Lotter et al. 2003). Several researchers have reported that

Source of GHG	Share of total GHG emissions (%)	Impacts of organic management	Remarks			
Direct emissions from agriculture	10-12					
N ₂ O from soils	4.2	Reduction effect	No synthetic fertilizers are used and higher nitrogen use efficiency			
CH ₄ from enteric fermentation	3.5	Opposed effect	Reduced by lower replacement rate and multi-use breeds			
Biomass burning	1.3	Reduction effect	Burning avoided as per organic standards			
Paddy rice	1.2	Opposed effect	Increased by organic amendments but lowered by drainage and aquatic weeds			
Manure handling	0.8	Equal effect	Reduced methane emissions but no effect on N_2O emissions			
Carbon sequestration						
Arable lands	-	Enhanced effect	Increased soil organic matter			
Grasslands	-	Enhanced effect	Increased soil organic matter			

Table 9.3 Potential of organic agriculture to mitigate climate change

Source: Adapted from Scialabba and Lindenlauf (2010)

organic farming systems perform superior than their conventional counterparts during climate extremes including drought and excessive rainfall.

First of all, organic farming is reported to be low-risk farming as it involves reduced input cost, therefore more adaptive to extreme weather events in the wake of climate change and variability (Eyhorn et al. 2007). Organic agriculture systems have a strong potential for building resilient food systems in the face of climate change and variability, through farm diversification and building soil fertility with organic matter (Scialabba and Lindenlauf 2010). Several mechanisms may increase drought or flood tolerance of organic cropping systems. Soil organic matter has positive effects on the water-capturing capacity of the soil. Several studies have shown soil organic carbon to be higher in organically managed systems (Reganold 1995; Clark et al. 1998; Liebig and Doran 1999; Gopinath et al. 2008, 2011). As a result, organically managed soils have high water holding capacity (Liebig and Doran 1999; Wells et al. 2000), and it was observed that water holding capacity of soil's organic plots was twice as high as in conventional plots during torrential rains reducing soil erosion (Lotter et al. 2003). Similarly, Pimentel et al. (2005) reported that the amount of water percolating through the top 36 cm was 15-20% higher in the plots under organic systems compared to conventional systems. The organic soils held 816,000 litres per ha in the upper 15 cm of soil. This was the possible reason for higher yields of corn and soybean particularly in dry years. In India, most of the organic cotton farmers stated that the capacity of their soils to absorb and retain water was increased after conversion to organic management (Eyhorn et al. 2009). Many farmers also said that they needed less rounds of irrigation and the crops could sustain longer periods of drought. In Central America, farmers using organic and sustainable farming methods reported significantly lower economic losses, and 90% of the neighbours of the study farms indicated a desire to adopt their neighbours' methods after observing the environmental stress tolerance of the organic/sustainable farms (Holt-Gimenez 2002). In the 21-year Rodale Farming Systems Trial involving comparison of two organic and a conventional crop rotation, the organic cropping systems performed significantly better in 4 out of 5 years of moderate drought. In the severe drought year of 1999, three out of the four crop comparisons resulted in significantly better yields in the organic systems than the conventional (Lotter et al. 2003). Furthermore, plant's water uptake and ability to withstand moisture stress were significantly improved by mycorrhizal associations (Syliva and Williams 1992). Mycorrhizae have been shown to be more abundant in the roots of crops from organically managed systems compared to those of conventionally managed crops (Eason et al. 1999; Mader et al. 2000). This suggests both a physicochemical and biological basis for the increased drought tolerance of organic cropping systems (Lotter et al. 2003).

The reduction of runoff, soil erosion and crop losses as a result of high-intensity rainfall is also improved in organic farming systems (Lotter et al. 2003). Organic management of soils results in improved soil stability, infiltration, water holding capacity and resistance to water erosion compared to conventionally managed soils, due to higher soil C content and improved soil aggregation (Reganold 1995; Clark et al. 1998; Liebig and Doran 1999), permeability (Reganold et al. 2001) and lower bulk density as well as higher resistance to wind erosion (Jaenicke 1998). Lockeretz et al. (1981) reported that the erosion from Midwest organic farms was one-third less compared to conventional farms. Many studies have also reported that crops under organic management have outyielded conventionally managed crops under flood conditions, due to higher levels of water-stable aggregates in organic soils and associated reduced soil compaction after tillage (Denison 1996; Lotter et al. 2003). Hence, organic production technologies including application of organic manures, green manuring, crop rotation and cultivation of legume crops will be a valuable resource for adaptation to climate change and climatic variability, providing soil and crop characteristics that can better buffer environmental extremes.

Organic farming is reported to have few weaknesses too. The main constraints being reported are low productivity and yield loss in some crops and high dependency on nutrients derived from livestock. Such issues need research. Each country can allot some research budget for this in order to improve the performance and in longer run to have more positive impact on climate change. In spite of these weaknesses, organic agriculture is reported to be the most promising approach for



Fig. 9.1 Comparative performance of organic agriculture vis-a-vis conventional agriculture in the context of climate change. (Source: Adapted from Niggli et al. 2008b)

mitigation and adaptation to climate change (Fig. 9.1). It can serve as a benchmark for allocating development resources to climate change adaptation or to measure progress in implementing climate-related multilateral environmental agreements (Niggli et al. 2008b).

9.5 Summary

Organic farming systems have an inherent potential to both mitigate climate change through reduced GHG emissions and higher carbon sequestration in the soil and adapt to climate change through higher soil stability, reduced runoff and erosion. Farming practices such as organic agriculture that lead to improved soil fertility and increase organic matter in soils are better placed to maintain productivity in the event of drought, irregular rainfall events with floods and rising temperatures. Soils in organic agriculture capture and store more water than soils of conventional cultivation. Therefore, organic agriculture is one of the adaptation strategies that can be targeted at improving the livelihoods of rural populations that are especially vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change and variability.

References

- Aulakh MS, Wassmann R, Rennenberg H (2001) Methane emissions from rice fields quantification, mechanisms, role of management, and mitigation options. Adv Agron 70:247–251
- BFA (2007) Soil makes the carbon cut BFA press release 13th December 2007, Biological farmers of Australia. http://www.bfa.com.au/. Accessed 23 Nov 2017
- Bouwman AF (1995) Uncertainties in the global source distribution of nitrous oxide. J Geophys Res 100:2785–2800
- Cai ZC, Xu H (2004) Options for mitigating CH_4 from rice fields in China. J Geophys Res 105:17231–17232
- Clark MS, Ferris H, Klonsky K, Lanini WT, van Bruggen AHC, Zalom FG (1998) Agronomic, economic, and environmental comparison of pest management in conventional and alternative tomato and corn systems in northern California. Agric Ecosyst Environ 68(1–2):51–71
- Coleman K, Jenkinson DS, Crocker GJ, Grace PR, Klir J, Korschens M, Poulton PR, Richter DD (1997) Simulating trends in soil organic carbon in long-term experiments using RothC-26.3. Geoderma 81:29–44. Available on line at: orgprints.org/13414/3/niggli-etal-2008-itc-climatechange.pdf
- Crutzen PJ, Mosier AR, Smith KA, Winiwarter W (2007) N₂O release from agro-biofuel production negates global warming reduction by replacing fossil fuels. Atmos Chem Phys Discuss 7:11191–11205
- Dambreville C, Morvan T, German JC (2007) N₂O emission in maize crops fertilized with pig slurry, matured pig manure or ammonia nitrate in Brittany. Agric Ecosyst Environ 123:201–210
- Denison RF (1996) Organic matters. The LTRAS century, 4 (March): Long Term Research on Agricultural Systems (LTRAS). College of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of California, Davis
- Diepeningen AD, de Vos OJ, Korthals GW, van Bruggen AHC (2006) Effects of organic versus conventional management on chemical and biological parameters in agricultural soils. Appl Soil Ecol 31:120–135
- Eason WR, Scullion J, Scott EP (1999) Soil parameters and plant responses associated with arbuscular mycorrhizas from contrasting grassland management regimes. Agric Ecosyst Environ 73(3):245–255
- Eggleston S, Buendia L, Miwa K et al (eds) (2006) IPCC guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 4: agriculture, forestry and other land use. Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme (IGES), Hayama, Japan
- European Fertilizer Manufactures Association (2005) Understanding nitrogen and its use in agriculture. Brussels, Belgium
- Eyhorn F, Ramakrishnan R, Mäder P (2007) The viability of cotton-based organic farming systems in India. Int J Agric Sustain 5(1):25–38
- Eyhorn F, Mader P, Ramakrishnan M (2009) The impact of organic cotton farming on the livelihoods of smallholders: evidence from the Maikaalbio Re project in Central India. Org Farming Newslett 5(1):19–21
- FAO (2002) Organic agriculture, environment and food security. Environment and natural resources series 4, Rome, Italy
- FAO (2006) Livestock's long shadow-environmental issues and options. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome
- FAOSTAT (2009) FAO statistical database domain on fertilizers: resource STAT-fertilizers. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Rome
- Firestone MK, Davidson (1989) Microbial basis of NO and N₂O production and consumption in soil. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (eds) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. Wiley, New York, pp 2–21

- Flessa H, Beese F (2000) Laboratory estimates of trace gas emissions following surface application and injection of cattle slurry. J Environ Qual 29:262–268
- Flessa H, Ruser R, Dorsch P, Kamp T, Jimenez MA, Munch JC, Beese F (2002) Integrated evaluation of greenhouse gas emissions (CO₂, CH₄, N₂O) from two farming systems in Southern Germany. Agric Ecosyst Environ 91:175–189
- Freibauer A, Rounsevell MDA, Smith P, Verhagen J (2004) Carbon sequestration in the agricultural soils of Europe. Geoderma 122:1–23
- Gattinger A, Muller A, Haeni M, Skinner C, Fließbach A, Buchmann N, M\u00e4der P, Stolze M, Smith P, Scialabba NE-H, Niggli U (2012) Enhanced top soil carbon stocks under organic farming. PANS 109(44):18226–18231
- Goh KM (2011) Greater mitigation of climate change by organic than conventional agriculture: a review. Biol Agric Hortic 27(2):205–229
- Gopinath KA, Saha S, Mina BL, Kundu S, Pande H, Gupta HS (2008) Influence of organic amendments on growth, yield and quality of wheat and on soil properties during transition to organic production. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 82:51–60
- Gopinath KA, Saha S, Mina BL (2011) Effects of organic amendments on productivity and profitability of bell pepper-french bean-garden pea system and on soil properties during transition to organic production. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 42(21):2572–2585
- Holt-Gimenez E (2002) Measuring farmers' agroecological resistance after Hurricane Mitch in Nicaragua: a case study in participatory, sustainable land management impact monitoring. Agric Ecosyst Environ 93:87–105
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2001) Climate change 2001 synthesis report: a summary for policymakers. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Wembley. Available at www.ipcc.ch/pub/un/syreng/spm.pdf. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007) Climate change 2007: synthesis report. United Nations Environment Programme Ch 5, 8, and 10
- International Federation of Organic Agricultural Movements (2008) FAO workshop on organic agriculture and climate change. Workshop at the 6th IFOAM Organic World Congress, Modena, Italy, June 18, 2008
- International Federation of Organic Agricultural Movements (2009) The contribution of organic agriculture to climate change mitigation. Available online at http://classic.ifoam.org/growing_organic/1_arguments_for_oa/environmentalbenefits/pdfs/IFOAM-CC-Mitigation-Web.pdf. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- International Federation of Organic Agricultural Movements European Union (2015) IFOAM EU at COP21 – Industrial farming leads to soil degradation, not to soil carbon sequestration [Online]. Available: http://www.ifoam-eu.org/en/news/2015/12/02/ifoam-eu-cop21-industrialfarming-leads-soil-degradationnot-soil-carbon. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Inubushi K, Sugii H, Nishino S, Nishino E (2001) Effect of aquatic weeds on methane emission from submerged paddy soil. Am J Bot 88(6):975–979
- Jaenicke EC (1998) From the ground up: exploring soil quality's contribution to environmental health. Policy studies report no. 10. Henry A. Wallace Center for Agricultural and Environmental Policy
- Kotschi J, Müller-Sämann K (2004) The Role of organic agriculture in mitigating climate change. International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements (IFOAM), Bonn, p 64
- Küstermann B, Wenske K, Hülsbergen KJ (2007) Modellierungbetrieblicher C-und N-Flüsseals Grundlageeiner Emissions in ventur [Modelling carbon and nitrogenfluxes for a farm based emissions inventory]. Paper presented at Zwischen Tradition und Globalisierung – 9. Wissenschaftstagung Ökologischer Landbau, Universität Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Deutschland, 20–23 Mar 2007. Archived at http://orgprints.org/9654/
- Kustermann B, Kainz M, Hulsbergen KJ (2008) Modelling carbon cycles and estimation of greenhouse gas emissions from organic and conventional farming systems. Renew Agric Food Syst 23:38–52

- Lal R (2004) Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science 304:1623–1627
- Leifeld J, Fuhrer J (2010) Organic farming and soil carbon sequestration: what do we really know about the benefits? Ambio 39:585–599
- Liebig MA, Doran JW (1999) Impact of organic production practices on soil quality indicators. J Environ Qual 28(5):1601–1609
- Liu R, Xu JM, Clapp CE (2013) Carbon sequestration in organic farming. In: Xu J, Wu J, He Y (eds) Functions of natural organic matter in changing environment. Springer, Dordrecht
- Lockeretz W, Shearer G, Kohl DH (1981) Organic farming in the corn belt. Science 211:540-546
- Lotter D, Seidel R, Liebhardt W (2003) The performance of organic and conventional cropping systems in an extreme climate year. Am J Altern Agric 18:146–154
- Mader P, Edenhofer S, Boller T et al (2000) Arbuscular mycorrhizae in a long-term field trial comparing low-input (organic, biological) and high-input (conventional) farming systems in a crop rotation. Biol Fertil Soils 31(2):150–156
- Marriott EE, Wander MM (2006) Total and labile soil organic matter in organic and conventional farming systems. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:950–959
- Muller A (2009) Benefits of organic agriculture as a climate change adaptation and mitigation strategy for developing countries. EfD Discussion Paper 09, p 19
- Muller A, Jawtusch J, Gattinger A, Gölthenboth F, Olesen J (2011) Mitigating greenhouse gases in agriculture – a challenge and opportunity for agricultural policies. Available at: orgprints.org/ 19989/1/gatti.pdf. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Muller A, Bautze L, Meier M, Gattinger A. (2016) Organic farming, climate change mitigation and beyond. IFOAM EU. Available: www.ifoameu.org/sites/default/.../ ifoameu_advocacy_climate_change_report_2016. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency 2016. Trends in global CO₂ emissions: 2016 report. Downloaded from http://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Niggli U (2007) Organic farming and climate change. Available at www.intracen.org/Organics/ documents/Organic_Farming_and_Climate_Change.pdf. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Niggli U, Fließbach A, Hepperly P, Scialabba N (2008a) Low greenhouse gas agriculture: mitigation and adaptation potential of sustainable farming systems. FAO, Rome
- Niggli U, Schmid H, Fließbach A (2008b) Organic farming and climate change. Technical paper. Research Institute of Organic Agriculture FiBL, Frick, Switzerland
- Pardo G, Moral R, Aguilera E, Del Prado A (2015) Gaseous emissions from management of solid waste: a systematic review. Glob Chang Biol 21:1313–1327
- Paustian K, Babcock BA, Hatfield J, Lal R, McCarl BA, McLaughlin C, Mosier A, Rice C, Robertson GP, Rosenberg NJ, Rosenzweig C, Schlesinger WH, Zilberman D (2004) Agricultural mitigation of greenhouse gases: Science and policy options. CAST (Council on Agricultural Science and Technology) Report R141. Ames, IA, USA
- Petersen SO, Regina K, Pollinger A, Rigler E, Valli L, Yamulki S, Esala M, Fabbri C, Syviisalo E, Vinther FP (2006) Nitrous oxide emissions from organic and conventional crop rotations in five European countries. Agric Ecosyst Environ 112:200–206
- Pimentel D, Hepperly P, Hanson J, Douds D, Seidel R (2005) Environmental, energetic and economic comparison of organic and conventional farming systems. Bioscience 55:573–582
- Reganold JP (1995) Soil quality and profitability of biodynamic and conventional farming systems: a review. Am J Altern Agric 10(1):36–46
- Reganold JP, Glover JD, Andrews PK, Hinman HR (2001) Sustainability of three apple production systems. Nature 410(6831):926–930
- Rochette P, Angers DA, Chantigny MH, Gagnon B, Bertrand N (2008) N₂O fluxes in soils of contrasting textures fertilized with liquid and solid dairy cattle manure. Can J Soil Sci 88:175–187

- Ruser R, Flessa H, Schilling R, Beese F, Munch JC (2001) Effects of crop-specific field management and N fertilization and N₂O emissions from a fine-loamy soil. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 59:177–191
- Sauerbeck D (2001) CO₂ emission en und Kohlenstoff-Senkenim Landbau Möglichkeiten und Grenzenihrer Beeinflussung. In: Rosenkrantz D, Bachmann G, König W, Einsele G (eds) Bodenschutz 2, 4130, Berlin, 31 S
- Sayre L (2003) Organic farming combats global warming big time, Rodale Institute. http://www.rodaleinstitute.org/ob_31. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Scialabba NEH, Lindenlauf MM (2010) Organic agriculture and climate change. Renew Agric Food Syst 25(2):158–169
- Singh SN, Verma A, Tyagi L (2003) Investigating options for attenuating methane emission from Indian rice fields. Environ Int 29:547–553
- Smith KA, Conan F (2004) Impacts of land management on fluxes of trace greenhouse gases. Soil Use Manag 20:255–263
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, McCarl B, Ogle S, O'Mara F, Rice C, Scholes B, Sirotenko O (2007) Agriculture. In: Metz B, Davidson OR, Bosch PR, Dave R, Meyer LA (eds) Climate change 2007: mitigation, contribution of working group III to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 497–450
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, McCarl B, Ogle S, O'Mara F, Rice C, Scholes B, Sirotenko O, Howden M, McAllister T, Pan G, Romanenkov V, Schneider U, Towprayoon S, Wattenbach M, Smith J (2008) Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 363:789–813
- Sreejith A, Sherief AK (2011) The wanted change against climate change: assessing the role of organic farming as an adaptation strategy. In: Prasad Rao GSLHV (ed) Climate change adaptation strategies in agriculture and allied sectors. Scientific Publishers, New Delhi, pp 193–200
- Srinivasarao C, Venkateswarlu B, Lal R, Singh AK, Vittal KPR, Kundu S, Singh SR, Singh SP (2012) Long-term effects of soil fertility management on carbon sequestration in a rice-lentil cropping system of the Indo-Gangetic plains. Soil Sci Soc Am J 76(1):168–178
- Syliva DM, Williams SE (1992) Vesicular-arbuscularmycorrhizae and environmental stress. In: Bethenfalvay GJ, Linderman RG (eds) Mycorrhizae in sustainable agriculture, Proceedings of a symposium, 31 October 1991. Am Soci Agron, Crop Sci Soci Am and Soil Sci Soci Am, Madison Wisconsin, pp 101–124
- Tuomisto HL, Hodge ID, Riordan P, Macdonald DW (2012) Does organic farming reduce environmental impacts? – a meta-analysis of European research. J Environ Manag 112:309–320
- United Nations (2008) Human development report 2007/2008. Fighting climate change: human solidarity in a divided world. Accessed from http://hdr.undp.org/en/. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017
- Van Groeningen JW, Kasper GJ, Velthof GL, van den P, van Dasselaar A, Kuikman PJ (2004) Nitrous oxide emissions from silage maize fields under different mineral fertilizer and slurry application. Plant Soil 263:101–111
- Wani SA, Chand S, Najar GR, Teli MA (2013) Organic farming: as a climate change adaptation and mitigation strategy. Curr Agric Res 1(1):45–50
- Wells AT, Chan KY, Cornish PS (2000) Comparison of conventional and alternative vegetable farming systems on the properties of a yellow earth in New South Wales. Agric Ecosyst Environ 80(1–2):47–60
- Williams AG, Audsley E, Sandars DL (2006) Determining the environmental burdens and resource use in the production of agricultural and horticultural commodities. Main report. Defra research project IS0205. Cranfield University, Bedford, and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) of the United Kingdom Government, London. Available online at http:// www.silsoe.cranfield.ac.uk, and www.defra.gov.uk. Accessed on 23 Nov 2017

- Wrage NGL, Velthop GL, van Beusichem ML, Oenema O (2001) Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide. Soil Biol Biochem 33:1723–1732
- Xu H, Cai ZC, Jia ZJ, Tsuruta H (2000) Effect of land management in winter crop season on CH₄ emission during the following flooded and rice growing period. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 58:327–332
- Yagi K, Tsuruta H, Minami K (1997) Possible options for mitigating methane emission from rice cultivation. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 49:213–220



Plant-Associated Microbial Interactions in the Soil Environment: Role of Endophytes in Imparting Abiotic Stress Tolerance to Crops

Venkadasamy Govindasamy, Priya George, Susheel Kumar Raina, Mahesh Kumar, Jagadish Rane, and Kannepalli Annapurna

Abstract

Plant-associated microbial interactions involve the great array of root/shoot dynamic environments known as the rhizosphere (in soil) and phyllosphere (plant aerial parts). Here, microbial communities are under multi-prolonged interactions within themselves as well as with plants to improve plant adaptation and tolerance to environmental constraints. Among the different kinds of plantassociated microbial interactions, beneficial "endophytic interactions" occur in rhizosphere as well as in phyllosphere habitats, wherein diverse group of bacterial and fungal communities colonizes plant inter- and intracellular spaces. Structural composition of endophytic microbial communities with respect to few bacterial groups and fungal species has been characterized. Identity of their large diversity and ecological functions of large majority of microbial species in the plant endophytic microbiome are remaining unknown. A variety of distinct abiotic stresses in the soil environment is known to occur singly or in combinations, causing both general and specific detrimental effects on plant growth and development. In addition to the direct negative impact on growth of the plants, abiotic stresses known to affect the rhizosphere soil as well as plant-associated beneficial microbial interactions (symbiotic and endophytic interactions) and thereby crop yield in agriculture. The so-called term induced systemic tolerance (IST) has been put forward to explain different possible mechanisms exerted by the rhizo-/ endophytic bacterial and fungal- or microbe-mediated systemic tolerance against abiotic stresses in plants. Hence, there is a necessity for redefining as well as

V. Govindasamy (🖂) · K. Annapurna

Division of Microbiology, ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, India

P. George · M. Kumar · J. Rane

School of Drought Stress Management, ICAR-National Institute of Abiotic Stress Management, Baramati, Pune, India

S. K. Raina

ICAR-National Bureau of Plant Genetic Resources, Regional Station, Srinagar, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_10

rethinking of modern agronomic practices with our current perceptive of the significance of plant-associated beneficial microbial communities (rhizosphere, symbiotic, and endophytic interactions) for plant productivity and health under abiotically stressed environments. In this present chapter, we converse the impact of abiotic stresses upon soil and plant-microbial beneficial interactions; diversity exists in the endophytic microbial interactions (rhizobacterial endophytes, Archaea, fungal endophytes, and beneficial viruses) and their possible mechanisms including habitat-adapted symbiosis involved in promoting growth, development, and tolerance to abiotic stresses in crop plants.

Keywords

Plant microbiome \cdot Plant \cdot Microbe interactions \cdot Endophytes \cdot Stress tolerance \cdot Abiotic stresses

10.1 Introduction

Growth of crop plants is under the influence of various complexities occurring in the soil environmental systems. These complexities are mainly determined as a result of various interactions which are numerous and dynamic in nature. These diverse interactions happen among the components of soil including physical, chemical, and biological, as adapted by the changes occurring in prevailing environmental conditions (Buscot and Varma 2005). Among the different components of soil, the vast guilds of microbial populations have a unique genetic potential as well as varied functional activities. Microbial interactions have a significant impact on soil functions and plant growth (Lynch 1990). Because of the fact that microbes are the major driving force for many soil fundamental metabolic processes which involve specific enzyme activities (Nannipieri et al. 2003). The important environmental processes like biogeochemical cycling, mineralization and immobilization of nutrients, maintenance of plant health and soil quality, etc. are regulated by microbial interactions specifically by their chemical molecules which elicit signals (Pace 1997; Nannipieri et al. 2003; Barea et al. 2004). Many studies have confirmed that root-soil interface is the site where soil microorganisms interact with plant roots and soil constituents (Lynch 1990; Linderman 1992; Glick 1995; Kennedy 1998; Bowen and Rovira 1999). These interactions by root-soil and microbes resulted in the development of an active area/zone known as the rhizosphere, where the microbial communities also interact with each other (Kennedy 1998; Bowen and Rovira 1999). Diverse and metabolically active microorganisms exist in the rhizosphere soil as compared to bulk soil. This is mainly due to the changes in physical, chemical, and biological quality of the root-associated soil (Kennedy 1998; Nannipieri et al. 2003; Barea et al. 2004).

Environmental constraints play a major role in the distribution of plant species across different types of environments and represent the most limiting factors for agricultural productivity. Apart from biotic stresses caused by insects, soil nematodes, plant pathogens, and parasitic plants, there is a variety of distinct abiotic stresses such as water and nutrient deficiency, soil salinity/ alkalinity, and heavy metal toxicity, which occur singly or in combination, causing both general and specific detrimental impact on growth and development of plants and finally reduction in crop yield (ICAR-NIASM Annual report, 2010, 2011). In addition to genetic makeup and physiological adaptations of the plants exposed to stresses, the tolerance of crop plants to above abiotic stress has been observed to be dependent partly on interactions with diverse metabolic activities of rhizosphere-colonizing microorganisms belonging to different biotic groups (Govindasamy et al. 2008). Dense population of microbial groups colonizes the root zone otherwise called as rhizosphere of plants due to large availability of organic carbon compounds synthesized in the plant roots as root exudates. The quality and quantity of root exudates and existing soil conditions play an important role in the specificity of these plant-microbe interactions. Likewise the rhizosphere, the aboveground of the plants called phyllosphere also hosts diverse groups of microorganisms. The role of majority of these microbes to the plant or vice versa has not yet been discovered. The study at the metabolome level revealed to some extent that the specific alternation of sugars occurs by the epiphytic leaf colonization by Sphingomonas melonis, an organoheterotroph, and *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato, a phytopathogen, but only a slight alteration was reported by Methylobacterium extorquens, a methylotroph (Ryffel et al. 2016). Also, arginine metabolism and phytoalexins biosynthesis was found to be altered in the presence of other commensalistic bacterial interactions (Ryffel et al. 2016). Various plant-associated microbial interactions and their significance in imparting biotic stress resistance and abiotic stress tolerance in plants are given as schematic diagram (Fig. 10.1). In this chapter, we discuss the impact of abiotic stresses on soil and plant-microbial beneficial interactions; diversity exists in the endophytic microbial interactions and their possible mechanisms involved in promoting abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants.

10.2 Abiotic Stresses and Its Impact on Soil and Plant-Microbial Beneficial Interactions

The direct impact of abiotic stresses on soil microbial composition and its function have been studied, and this research area is much focused in recent years (Manzoni et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2014). For example, the relative abundance of soil bacteria and bacterial to fungal ratio of the community in a temperate forest soil is found to be altered by an increase of 5 °C (DeAngelis et al. 2015). Unlike other biological systems, microbial communities respond quickly to warming and other perturbations through resistance. As soon as the stress has been removed, the microbial community returns to an initial/original composition and this is enabled by microbial trait plasticity or its resilience (Allison and Martiny 2008; DeAngelis et al. 2015). Relative shifts in microbial community composition likely lead to changes in ecosystem function when soil organisms differ in their functional traits or control a rate-limiting or fate-controlling step (Schimel and Schaeffer 2012; Chen et al. 2014).



Fig. 10.1 Schematic diagrams showing significance of rhizosphere and phyllosphere microbial interactions imparting biotic stress resistance and abiotic stress tolerance in plants. (Adapted with modifications from Govindasamy et al. 2010)

For example, specific microbial groups regulating ecosystem functions such as nitrogen fixation, nitrification (Isobe et al. 2011), denitrification (Bakken et al. 2012; Salles et al. 2012), and methanogenesis (Bodelier et al. 2000) can have a direct impact on the rate of these processes (Chen et al. 2014). Abiotic stresses like drought and high temperature are directly influencing microbial soil respiration rates because soil microorganisms, and the processes they mediate, are highly sensitive to environmental temperature conditions (Frey et al. 2013; Hagerty et al. 2014). The role of elevated temperature conditions on microbial metabolism has received considerable recent attention especially the processes such as decomposition of soil organic matter, soil respiration, and accumulation of soil microbial biomass (Frey et al. 2013; Hagerty et al. 2014; Karhu et al. 2014). In general, increasing soil temperature is coupled with changes in soil moisture conditions, which may explain to some extent for the inconsistent results from experiments exploring how microbial communities respond to climatic change (Zak et al. 1999;

Bell et al. 2008). For example, diversity and rates of microbial activity at increased temperatures can be limited by diffusion and microbial contact with available substrate (Zak et al. 1999). Bacterial communities may respond very rapidly to moisture regimes, while the slower-growing fungal community may lag behind in their response (Bell et al. 2008; Cregger et al. 2012, 2014). Drought situation magnifies the differential temperature sensitivity of fungal and bacterial groups in soil (Briones et al. 2014). For even with small changes in soil moisture availability (<30% reduction in water holding capacity), soil fungal communities may shift from one dominant member/group to another. However, the bacterial communities may remain constant (Briones et al. 2014). These patterns indicate higher fungal than bacterial plasticity during non-extreme conditions of soil wet-dry cycles (Kaisermann et al. 2015). Soil microbial communities which adapted to low soilwater availability or repeated wet-dry cycles in soil may elicit less of a compositional or functional shift to changing water regimes (Evans et al. 2011; Kaisermann et al. 2015). Multiple interactions among microbes, its growing temperature, and moisture regimes in any given location have a high influence on microbial composition and its function. However, there are still many questions on the impact of high temperature and low moisture in soil and their interaction to be answered; Like, how do these affect specific soil microbial functional groups like methanogens within a soil

community? What are the effects soil microbial community changes have on microbial functions like decomposition of new and old soil organic matter? Further, which mechanisms drive the net ecosystem response of soil microbial activities to different abiotic stresses?

impacts of changes in beneficial plant-microbial Similar interactions (microorganisms which are known to support plant growth and to increase plant tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses) will occur due to increased abiotic stress constraints in soil. These microorganisms include plant growth-promoting fungi (PGPF) such as arbuscular mycorrhizae, ectomycorrhizae, and other endophytic fungi; bacteria like rhizobia are involved in legume symbiosis as well as other plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) or plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB). Here, the changes in environmental conditions due to abiotic stresses are likely to modify changes in plant physiology and root exudation patterns. One of these stresses like elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentrations particularly in many cases leads to increased carbon allocation to the root zone which may potentially lead to altered composition of root exudates (Haase et al. 2007). These alterations might include changes in the availability of chemotactic attractants or signaling compounds as well as a different C/N ratio or nutrient availability to the rhizosphere beneficial microorganisms (Kandeler et al. 2006; Haase et al. 2008). Relative to aboveground plant structures, soils too have a buffering capacity to changes in temperature and precipitation and possibly to extreme events like frost and others (Durán et al. 2014). Belowground plant-associated microbial communities are, therefore, structured according to changes occurring in the aboveground plant physiology and biochemical mechanisms by different environmental conditions. Increased temperature and drought induce similar changes, and together they are likely to change the composition, abundance, or activity of root-associated microbial
communities (Durán et al. 2014). Climate change-induced abiotic stresses may thus substantially impact the diversity of such plant-associated microbial communities, their interactions, and activities (Drigo et al. 2008). As a result, microorganisms known for their beneficial effects on plant growth or health might also be impaired, in terms of exhibiting their desirable properties/traits, colonization capacity, and symbiotic potential under certain environmental conditions. For instance, root symbionts such as rhizobia bacteria and mycorrhizal fungi may impact on plant productivity by altering plant nutrient status. The impact of specific strains of rhizobia on other plant traits may be equally important under abiotic stress conditions. For example, when a common rhizobia strain was present in nitrogenfixing mutualisms, plant specific leaf area and carbon assimilation rate get increased (Harris et al. 1985). Similar to rhizobia, mycorrhizal fungi exchange nutrients for plant carbon, thus influencing plant carbon to nutrient ratios and subsequently plant productivity (Smith and Read 2008). Specific mycorrhizal strains can alter plant reproduction (Streitwolf-Engel et al. 2001), tiller production, root biomass production, rooting depth, and herbivory rates (Bennett and Bever 2007; Roger et al. 2013). However, the interactions between mycorrhizal strain identity and plant hosts are not always symbiotic and can change with environmental factors or even plant under abiotic stresses (Johnson et al. 1997; Treseder 2004). However, a detailed understanding on how exactly root-associated microbial communities are influenced either directly by altered environmental conditions or indirectly by altered plant physiology due to abiotic stresses and how this affects plant performance and finally ecosystem functioning is still not understood. For this understanding, the main questions lie on how climate change-induced abiotic stresses force to change the direction of plantroot microbe interactions from positive to negative or vice versa and whether climatic change-induced abiotic stresses will change interactions between plants and their myriad of symbionts in tandem, possibly having additive/synergistic effects on ecosystem function. Similar to the impact on symbiotic microorganisms, specific recruitments/selection of endophytic microbial communities and their beneficial interactions with plants growing under altered environmental/ abiotic stress conditions is largely an unknown area of research in plant science.

10.3 Habitats of Endophytes and Their Diversity in Interactions

Microbes can make its own habitat wherever it gets food and protection. It inhabits almost all part of a plant including roots (Govindasamy et al. 2017; Santos et al. 2017), stems (Imazaki and Kadota 2015), leaves (Navarro-Torre et al. 2017; Romero et al. 2014), flowers (Tanapichatsakul et al. 2017), seeds (Shearin et al. 2018), and fruits (Glassner et al. 2015). In addition to these, nodule-forming legumes accommodate some endophytic bacteria (Kong et al. 2017) with the symbiotic rhizobia in the root nodules. De Meyer et al. (2015) termed these endophytes as non-rhizobial root nodule endophytes (NRE). The whole system including plant hosts and its associated endophytic microbiome is termed as holobiont (Zilber-Rosenberg and Rosenberg 2008). The plant-associated microbiome may help the plants to overcome

the challenges they face to acquire sufficient nutrients from a given site, defend against herbivores and pathogens, and manage abiotic stresses including drought, salinity, and pollutants (Doty 2017). The plant parts can be divided into above-ground and belowground portions. The aboveground plant portions which act as habitat for microorganisms collectively called phyllosphere include stems (caulosphere), leaves (phylloplane), flowers (anthosphere), and fruits (carposphere). The belowground portions comprise the rhizosphere and rhizoplane area. It is possible that a microbe can originally colonize a part of the plant such as roots and then translocates to other internal plant tissues such as stems and leaves and vice versa in the natural habitat (Chen et al. 2017). All of the three domains of life, viz., Bacteria, Archaea, and Eukarya, are reported to form endophytic association with different plant portions under different climatic conditions and provide protection to the plants from various abiotic stresses.

10.3.1 Rhizobacteria and Bacterial Endophytes

As compared to soil fungi, bacteria inhabiting the rhizosphere called rhizobacteria respond well to root exudates toward nutrient acquisition, and their metabolic activities tend to modulate beneficially the plant growth and development. Root zone bacteria that are found to have beneficial effects on various plants include species of the genera *Pseudomonas*, *Bacillus*, *Enterobacter*, *Serratia*, *Arthrobacter*, Azotobacter, Azospirillum (Gray and Smith 2005), and Streptomyces (Tokala et al. 2002; Dimkpa et al. 2008, 2009). Many of these rhizobacteria colonizing the root surroundings and the surface of the root (exo-root) also penetrate into the root cortex (endo-root) and have been found to possess plant growth-promoting properties as endophytes (Kloepper and Beauchamp 1992; Sessitsch et al. 2004; Long et al. 2008). Bacillus, Pseudomonas, Enterobacter, Klebsiella, Serratia, and Streptomyces are some of the major genera of endophytic bacteria from different crop plants. In a sequence-based study conducted by Hardoim et al. (2015), endophytic bacteria belonged to Proteobacteria (54%), Actinobacteria (20%), Firmicutes (16%), and Bacteroidetes (6%). They also reported the presence of endophytic Archaea as endophytes based on their meta-analysis. Another study based on 16S-rRNA pyrosequencing demonstrated that the major part (90%) of the endophytic bacterial communities in tomato leaves (Solanum lycopersicum) were Proteobacteria, followed by other phyla like Actinobacteria (1.5%), Planctomycetes (1.4%), Verrucomicrobia (1.1%), and Acidobacteria (0.5%) (Romero et al. 2014). Partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing of non-rhizobial root nodule endophytes isolated from indigenous and exotic legume plants in Flanders (Belgium) revealed a large diversity of different taxa from the classes Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Firmibacteria, Flavobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, and Sphingobacteria (De Meyer et al. 2015). Cultivation-independent approach like fluorescence in situ hybridization technique revealed the presence of endophytes comprising Proteobacteria (alpha, beta, gamma), Firmicutes, and Actinobacteria in fruits of *Cucumis melo* (Glassner et al. 2015). Phylogenetic analyses of 73 putative endophytes isolated from Marama bean seed were assigned into 14 phyla including *Proteobacteria*, *Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria*, and *Bacteroidetes* (Chimwamurombe et al. 2016). Recently, we isolated root endophytes from drought-tolerant cultivars of sorghum *(Sorghum bicolor L. Moench)* and found them in different phylogenetic groups, viz., α -proteobacteria, γ -proteobacteria, *Firmicutes*, and *Actinobacteria*, which were widespread in sorghum endorhizosphere with the dominance of phylum *Firmicutes* (Govindasamy et al. 2017). *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Firmicutes* were located inside the grapevine epidermis, xylem of ovary, flower ovules, and berries as well (Compant et al. 2011).

Proteobacteria Proteobacteria is the largest and most diverse group of bacteria and thought to have arisen from a common phylogenetic ancestor. It is divided into five classes α -, β -, γ -, δ -, and ε -proteobacteria. In the earlier reports, the phylum *Proteobacteria* includes α -, β -, and γ -proteobacteria, having the most number of endophytic populations in plants. The well-known symbiont of plants, root noduleforming bacteria (rhizobia), belongs to the class of α - proteobacteria of this phylum. In addition to the symbiotic rhizobia, legumes have an inherent ability to contain endophytic bacteria within the root nodules. Both the host and the rhizobium have been found to contribute in accommodating endophyte in nodules and form mixed colonized nodules in Lotus japonicus (Zgadzaj et al. 2015). Mesorhizobium loti, the natural symbiont of Lotus, selectively guided the endophytic bacteria which β -proteobacteria belonged to (Herbaspirillum frisingense GSF30 and Herbaspirillum sp. B501) toward the nodule primordia through infection thread. Both the strains then multiply and colonize the nodule together with the nitrogenfixing symbiotic partner (Zgadzaj et al. 2015). Another plant growth-promoting nodule endophyte Pseudomonas isolated from Medicago lupulina nodules is found to be effective on growth, nodulation, and metal uptake under copper stress (Kong et al. 2017). Co-inoculation of Mesorhizobium lupulina with Sinorhizobium meliloti and Pseudomonas brassicacearum Zy-2-1 improved plant growth, nitrogen nutrition, and metal extraction potential. The proteobacterial genera of Rhizobium (α), Massilia (β), Kosakonia (γ), Pseudorhodoferax (β), Caulobacter (α), Pantoea (γ) , Sphingomonas (α) , Burkholderia (β) , and Methylobacterium (α) were isolated and identified in the Marama bean seeds (Chimwamurombe et al. 2016). Pseudomonas (γ), Variovorax (β), Rhizobium (α), and Caulobacter (α) that belonged to Proteobacteria were detected in the roots of Lavandula dentata (Pereira et al. 2016). Also, the presence of *Pseudomonas* and *Xanthomonas* (γ) were confirmed in the shoots of the same plant. De Meyer et al. (2015) isolated and identified many root nodule endophytes, viz., Ancylobacter, Bosea, Caulobacter, Inquilinus, Novosphingobium, Paracoccus, Phyllobacterium, and Sphingomonas belonging to α -proteobacteria; Herbaspirillum, Massilia, Roseateles, and Variovorax of β -proteobacteria; and Acinetobacter, Buttiauxella, Enhydrobacter, Erwinia, Pantoea, Pseudomonas, Rahnella, Stenotrophomonas, and Xanthomonas of γ -proteobacteria. All these studies indicate the endophytic population of proteobacteria were restricted to the classes α -, β -, and γ -proteobacteria. There is an exception that *Desulfovibrio* and *Geobacter* from the class δ -proteobacteria with diverse metabolic traits were reported from flooded rice roots based on *nif* H libraries obtained by cloning and 454 pyrosequencing studies (Ferrando and Fernandez Scavino 2015).

Firmicutes Firmicutes (means strong skin) are phylum of bacteria with low G + Ccontent and gram-positive cell wall structures. Many of them are endospore producers and are resistant to desiccation and can grow and survive under extreme conditions. Bacillus is the most observed endophytes of the phylum Firmicutes in different plant parts (Compant et al. 2011). Zhao et al. 2016 isolated and identified some root endophytes from salt-accumulating halophyte Salicornia europaea grown under extreme salinity including Bacillus endophyticus and Bacillus tequilensis and found to enhance plant growth under saline stress conditions. Planococcus rifietoensis, Variovorax paradoxus, and Arthrobacter agilis could be re-isolated as other bacterial endophytes from the host plant interior tissues, *Bacillus* spp., the Firmicutes, with low G + C content group were located within the berries, intercellular spaces of pulp cells, xylem of pulp, and also inside the parts of seed cell wall (Compant et al. 2011). The endophytic *Firmicutes* including *Bacillus*, *Brevibacillus*, Cohnella, Exigobacterium, Lysinibacillus, Paenibacillus, and Staphylococcus were identified from the root nodule of native legumes (De Meyer et al. 2015). The genus Bacillus was found to be the major as well as dominant endophyte in the fruits of Cucurbitaceae (Glassner et al. 2015). Bacillus and Paenibacillus were detected in the roots and Bacillus spp. in the shoots of Lavandula dentata plants (Pereira et al. 2016). Effectual colonization of roots and shoots of clover by two *Clostridium* strains was reported. It is shown that C. botulinum can colonize in various forms, viz., individual cells, cell clusters, and microcolonies in various locations of clover plants, namely, rhizosphere, lateral roots, and within the root tissue (Zeiller et al. 2015). Clover plants further showed significant growth when it is co-inoculated with the strain 2301 of C. botulinum and Rhizobia compared to control plants that were inoculated with only *Rhizobia* (Zeiller et al. 2015). Among the *Firmicutes*, diverse Bacillus spp. and Paenibacillus spp. were reported as potential PGPRs in agriculture for increasing the crop production and management of biotic stresses (Govindasamy et al. 2010). However, there were limited reports on their role in imparting abiotic stress tolerance in crops.

Actinobacteria Actinobacteria commonly referred to as "actinomycetes" are a group of gram-positive bacteria with a high G + C content in their DNA/genome. They belong to the phylum Actinobacteria, one of the largest phyla within the prokaryotes. The actinobacteria represent a large portion of the rhizospheric microbial soil community. Endophytic lifestyle is found to be distributed in a number of actinobacterial genera (other than *Frankia*) within the class 1. Actinobacteria belong to the phylum XXVI: the Actinobacteria (Govindasamy et al. 2014). This phylum comprises 6 classes, 23 orders, 50 families, and 221 genera (Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology, Volume 5, Part A; second edition, 2012). Recent studies have revealed a diverse group of actinobacterial species with multiple functions from various plant species as endophytes. In general, *Streptomyces* spp. were reported as

the most predominant species of Actinobacteria. Arthrobacter, Microbispora, Micromonospora, Nocardioides, Nocardia, Actinomyces, and Streptosporangium are other common genera of endophytic Actinobacteria isolated from different terrestrial plants. Recent reports showed the endophytic lifestyle in many rare genera of known description and also nine more new actinobacterial genera, viz., Jatrophihabitans, Herbiconiux. Jishengella, Koreibacter. Phytohabitans. Phytomonospora, Flindersiella, Actinophytocola, and Allonocardiopsis, from different ecological niches (Govindasamy et al. 2014). Actinobacteria are known to exhibit diverse physiological and metabolic properties, such as production of extracellular enzymes and formation of a wide variety of secondary metabolites. In recent years, endophytic actinobacterial study has received special attention mainly because of their many other plant growth-promoting properties and industrial applications. Endophytic Actinobacteria have functional relevance for the plants growing in respective abiotically stressed environments, which is still poorly understood. Arthrobacter spp. such as A. agilis of the phylum Actinobacteria that is commonly found in soil and in the roots of halophyte Salicornia europaea have grown under extreme salinity (Zhao et al. 2016). All species in this genus are grampositive obligate aerobes that are rods during exponential growth and cocci in their stationary phase. Actinobacteria isolated from the surface-sterilized nodules of different legumes were related to Actinoplanes, Aeromicrobium, Arthrobacter, Brevibacterium. Corvnebacterium, Curtobacterium. Kocuria. Leifsonia, Mycobacterium, Oerskovia, Microbacterium, Moraxella, Plantibacter, Promicromonospora, Rhodococcus, Schumanella, and Streptomyces (De meyer et al. 2015).

10.3.2 Archaeal Endophytes

Archaea, unique domain under prokaryotes, were initially classified as bacteria, hence receiving the name archaebacteria. Archaeal cells have unique properties separating them from the other two domains of biological life forms, Bacteria and Eukaryota (Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology, Volume 1, second edition, 2001). The recent prokaryotic classification systems aim to organize archaea into groups of organisms that share structural features and common ancestors. These classifications mainly rely on the use of the sequence of ribosomal RNA genes to reveal evolutionary relationships between organisms called molecular phylogenetic system. Most of the laboratory culture-based and well-investigated species of archaea belong to the members of two main phyla, the Euryarchaeota and Crenarchaeota. Other groups have been tentatively created (Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology, Volume 1, second edition, 2001), for example, the unusual species called *Nanoarchaeum equitans*, which was discovered in 2003 and has been classified into its own phylum, the *Nanoarchaeota* (Huber et al. 2002). Similarly, a new phylum *Korarchaeota* has also been proposed as separate. It constitutes all small groups of unusual thermophilic species that share features of both of the main phyla but is most closely related to Crenarchaeota (Elkins et al. 2008). Many other recently detected species of archaea are only indistinctly related to any of these groups, such as the archaeal Richmond Mine acidophilic nanoorganisms (ARMAN which comprise *Micrarchaeota* and *Parvarchaeota*), which were discovered in 2006 and are some of the smallest organisms known (Baker et al. 2010). A superphylum called TACK has been proposed that includes *Thaumarchaeota*, *Aigarchaeota*, Crenarchaeota, and Korarchaeota (Guy and Ettema 2011). This superphylum may be related to the eukaryotic of origin. More recently, the superphylum ASGARD has been named and proposed to be more closely related to the original eukaryote and a sister group to TACK (Zaremba-Niedzwiedzka et al. 2017). All these (archaeal) prokaryotic domains are already known for their extremophilic nature. Still the study on archaeal endophytic diversity is very limited. The culture-independent studies by few authors reported the presence of endophytic Archaea in some plants, viz., cherries of Coffea arabica (Oliveira et al. 2013), roots of Zea mays (Chelius and Triplett 2001), and roots, stems, and leaves of the common reed, *Phragmites australis* (Ma et al. 2013). The presence of many archaeal signatures belonging to the phyla *Thaumarchaeota*, *Crenarchaeota*, and *Euryarchaeota* as endophytic microbial communities from olive leaves was reported recently (Müller et al. 2015). But none of them could be cultivated in laboratory and applied as bio-inoculants into the plants for abiotic stress tolerance studies.

10.3.3 Mycorrhizal Fungi and Endophytic Fungi

The most studied and widespread mutualistic plant-microbe interactions that established by arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi in the roots of higher plants are still an important topic for the current agricultural and environmental challenges. Almost all (95%) of the terrestrial plants, including most agricultural and horticultural crop species, are able to establish this type of symbiosis with fungi from the phylum Glomeromycota. The fungus supplies the autotrophic host with mineral nutrients and water, thereby promoting plant growth. In return, the host plant provides sugar photosynthates to the heterotrophic symbiont. These mutual exchanges, ensuring benefits for both partners, primarily take place at the symbiotic interface between the plant and the fungus, termed arbuscules (Garcia et al. 2016). *Glomeromycota* is one of the eight currently recognized divisions within the kingdom Fungi (Hibbett et al. 2007) with approximately 230 described species. Currently, AMF are divided in 4 orders (Archaeosporales, Diversisporales, Glomerales, and Paraglomerales), 11 families (Acaulosporaceae, Ambisporaceae, Archaeosporaceae, Claroideoglomeraceae, Diversisporaceae, Geosiphonaceae, Gigasporaceae, Glomeraceae, Pacisporaceae, Paraglomeraceae, and Sacculosporaceae), 25 (Acaulospora, genera Ambispora, Archaeospora, *Cetraspora*, Claroideoglomus, Corymbiglomus, Dentiscutata, Diversispora, Funneliformis, Geosiphon, Gigaspora, Glomus, Intraornatospora, Otospora, Pacispora, Paradentiscutata, Paraglomus, Racocetra, Redeckera, Rhizophagus, Sacculospora, Sclerocystis, Scutellospora, Septoglomus, and Tricispora), and more than 200 species (Oehl et al. 2011).

Another plant beneficial endophytic fungus, *Piriformospora indica*, that belongs to basidiomycete has symbiotic relations with plants similar to that of mycorrhizal

symbiosis. *Piriformospora* is a fungal genus belonging to the order *Sebacinales* and family *Sebacinaceae*. It consists of cultivable single genus, containing the single endophytic root-colonizing species *Piriformospora indica*. After its discovery in 1998 from mycorrhizal spores obtained from the rhizosphere of *Prosopis juliflora and Ziziphus nummularia* in the sandy desert soils of Rajasthan, India (Verma et al. 1998), more than hundreds of authors reported its presence and effect in various plants all over the world (Li et al. 2017; Abdelaziz et al. 2017). *P. indica* has proved to be a highly beneficial endophyte with high efficacy in the field. Singhal et al. (2017) in a recent review described the journey of *P. indica* from laboratory to field and finally toward industrialization. A formulation "Rootonic" has been prepared by mixing *P. indica* biomass in magnesium sulfite (raw talcum powder), and the quantity of formulation has been standardized for field trials of various crops.

In addition to the above fungal symbiosis, there are different groups of plant beneficial/mutualistic fungal endophytes that have been identified, which reside entirely within plants, capable of colonizing root, stem, and leaf tissues. Endophytic fungi mainly consist of members of Ascomvcota or their mitosporic fungi, as well as some taxa of Basidiomycota, Zygomycota, and Oomycota which can produce various bioactive chemicals, promote host growth and resistance to environmental stress, and decompose litter (Sun and Guo 2012). Rodriguez et al. (2009) described different functional groups of endophytic fungi based on their phylogenetic characteristics and life-cycle history traits. Class 1 endophytes are defined as the clavicipitaceous endophytes (including Balansia spp. and Epichloë spp.), and classes 2, 3, and 4 are included in the non-clavicipitaceous types. The diverse class 2 endophytes encompass fungi from Ascomycota and a few more fungi belong to Basidiomycota (Dikarya). The most distinctive feature is their ability to colonize plant roots, stems, and leaves and the formation of extensive plant-fungal infections (Rodriguez et al. 2009). Endophytes from class 3 are extremely diverse and form highly localized infections particularly in aboveground tissues, such as in the leaves of tropical trees, nonvascular and vascular plants (Rodriguez et al. 2009). Class 4 endophytes are also referred to as the dark septate endophytes (DSEs) (Rodriguez et al. 2009). These facultative biotrophic fungi colonize plant roots and have the distinguishing features of having melanized, dark colored, and septate hyphae (Jumpponen and Trappe 1998; Jumpponen 2001). Dark septate endophytes (DSEs), a group of ascomycetous anamorphic fungi, are broadly classified as conidial and sterile septate fungal endophytes with diverse morphological features such as dark septate hyphae and microsclerotia dominantly colonizing root tissues intracellularly and intercellularly from the tropics to arctic and alpine habitats (Jumpponen and Trappe 1998). They have been reported for nearly 600 plant species representing about 320 genera and 100 families (Jumpponen and Trappe 1998). Lugtenberg et al. (2016) recommended an additional class among fungi to recognize the endophytic and entomo-pathogenic fungi as symptomless endophytes of plants that have a unique ability to infect and colonize plants. Marsh bluegrass (Poa leptocoma) commonly hosts a vertically transmitted fungal endophyte (Epichloë sp.) and naturally grows in wetter conditions than does nodding bluegrass (Poa reflexa), which lacks an epichloid endophyte. Epichloë is a genus of ascomycete fungi of the family Clavicipitaceae forming an endophytic symbiosis with grasses. Fungal genus *Epichloë* is able to grow in the intercellular space of many different parts, stems, leaves, inflorescences, and seeds of the grass plant without incurring symptoms of disease. Seven genera of fungal endophytes from the flowers of the medicinal plant *Melodorum fruticosum* were identified as *Alternaria, Aspergillus, Colletotrichum, Diaporthe, Fusarium, Greeneria*, and *Nigrospora* (Tanapichatsakul et al. 2017). Endophytic fungal isolates were also identified from the seeds of invasive, non-native *Phragmites australis* that included *Alternaria* spp. representing 54% of all isolates followed by *Phoma* sp. (21%) and *Penicillium corylophilum* (12%) (Shearin et al. 2018). The research study on 310 basidiomycetous endophytes isolated from wild and planted populations of the rubber tree genus, *Hevea*, revealed an unexpected diversity of endophytes including *Bjerkandera*, *Ceriporia*, *Phanerochaete, Phlebia, Rigidoporus, Tinctoporellus, Trametes* (*Polyporales*), *Peniophora, Stereum* (*Russulales*), and *Coprinellus* (*Agaricales*) in sapwood and leaves (Martin et al. 2015).

10.4 Endophyte-Induced Systemic Tolerance

In addition to nutrient management and plant growth promotion, the systemic abiotic stress tolerance in plants can also be induced by some of these rhizosphere and endorhizosphere colonizing bacterial and fungal species. Similar to induced systemic resistance (ISR) against biotic stresses, the term induced systemic tolerance (IST) has been proposed recently for rhizobacteria-induced physical and chemical changes in plants that result in enhanced tolerance to various abiotic stresses (Yang et al. 2009). Schematic diagram showing different plant habitats of microbial interactions and their corresponding mechanisms involved in induced systemic tolerance (IST) against various abiotic stresses is given in the Fig. 10.2. Recent reports of these mechanisms employed by the rhizobacterial endophytes, endophytic fungi, and beneficial virus interactions in alleviation of various abiotic stresses in plants are listed in Table 10.1.

10.4.1 Possible Mechanisms of IST by Rhizobacterial Endophytes

Some of the possible mechanisms have been speculated for the rhizo-/endophytic bacterial interactions inducing systemic tolerance in plants against abiotic stresses (Fig. 10.3). In general, common adaptation mechanisms of plants showing abiotic stresses, such as water and nutrient deficiency or heavy metal toxicity, comprise changes in root morphology, a process in which plant phytohormones are known to play a key role of defense (Potters et al. 2007). Interestingly, rhizo-/endophytic bacteria can also influence such modifications in root growth by the production of phytohormones such as auxins, cytokinins, gibberellins, abscisic acid (ABA), and ethylene (Stajner et al. 1997; Patten and Glick 1996; Long et al. 2008). For example, the majority of root-associated bacteria have been shown to produce IAA, and



Fig. 10.2 Schematic diagram showing different plant habitats of microbial interactions and their corresponding mechanisms involved in induced systemic tolerance (IST) against various abiotic stresses

inoculation of various plant species with such bacteria has resulted in increased root growth and/or enhanced formation of lateral roots and root hairs (Patten and Glick 1996; Rajkumar et al. 2005; Chakraborty et al. 2006; Long et al. 2008). Increased

	anoion motini to t					
Domain/strain/isolates	Phylum (class/ subclass)	Source of the plant/family	Test crop	Abiotic stress target	Effect of inoculation with the traits possessed by microbes	References
Bacteria						
Pantoea alhagi	Proteobacteria (γ)	Leaves of Alhagi sparsifolia (Leguminosae)	Wheat (Triticum aestivum)	Drought	Osmotolerant and salt- tolerant bacteria; increased accumulation of soluble sugars; decreased accumulation of proline and malondialdehyde (MDA); decreased degradation of chlorophyll in the leaves	Chen et al. (2017)
Sphingomonas sp.	Proteobacteria (α)	Leaves of <i>Tephrosia</i> <i>apollinea</i> (Papilionaceae)	Tomato (<i>Solanum</i> lycopersicum)	Salinity	Regulation of excessive salt ions by activating catalase, peroxidase, and glutathione reductase	Halo et al. (2015)
<i>Burkholderia</i> <i>phytofirmans</i> strain PsJN Enterobacter sp. FD17	Proteobacteria (β) Proteobacteria (γ)	Glomus vesiculiferum- infected roots of onion Roots of maize	Maize (Zea mays)	Drought	Increased shoot biomass, root biomass, leaf area, leaf relative water content, chlorophyll content,	Naveed et al. (2014)
		_		_	4	(continued)

- -

Table 10.1 (continued)						
Domain/strain/isolates	Phylum (class/ subclass)	Source of the plant/family	Test crop	Abiotic stress target	Effect of inoculation with the traits possessed by microbes	References
					efficiency of PS-II and photosynthesis	
Enterobacter sp. SA187	$Proteobacteria$ (γ)	Root nodules of the indigenous desert plant	Arabidopsis thaliana	Salt stress (NaCl)	Different metabolic pathways were identified that	Andrés-Barrao et al. (2017)
		Indigofera argentea			potentially contribute to plant growth promotion	
Pseudomonas azotoformans ASS1	Proteobacteria (γ)	Leaves of Alyssum serpyllifolium grown in	Trifolium grass (Trifolium arvense)	Multiple metal (Cu, Zn, and Ni)-	Plant growth- promoting (PGP)	Ma et al. (2017)
		serpentine soils		contaminated	enhanced chlorophyll	
				soils under drought stress	content, growth, and Cu, Zn, Ni uptake;	
					enhanced proline and	
					in plants	
Bacillus subtilis strain B26	Firmicutes	Leaves of switch grass cultivar	Brachypodium distachyon	Drought	Upregulation of expression of several	Gagné-Bourque et al. (2015)
		Cave-in-Rock			drought-responsive	
		grown under field			genes and the	
		conditions			modulation of the DNA methylation	
					process	

260

Bacillus spp.	Firmicutes	Leaves of the halophyte Arthrocnemum macrostachyum growing in saline soils	Arthrocnemum macrostachyum	Salt stress	Enhanced plant adaptation, sodium phytoextraction, and restoration of salt- degraded soils	Navarro-Torre et al. (2017)
Pseudomonas brassicacearum Zy-2- 1 (co-inoculation with Sinorhizobium meliloti)	Proteobacteria (y)	Nodules of Medicago lupulina	Black medick (Medicago lupulina)	Copper (Cu) stress	Capable of producing IAA and siderophores; ACC deaminase activity, with ability to grow in the presence of high concentration of Cu ²⁺	Kong et al. (2017)
Pseudomonas sp. Ps 2–3and Pseudomonas fluorescens Ps 7–12	Proteobacteria (γ)	Rhizosphere soil of Indian mustard	Wheat (Triticum aestivum)	Cadmium (Cd) stress	ACC deaminase activity: reduction in the endogenous stress ethylene levels; improved root length and plant growth	Govindasamy et al. (2015)
Sphingomonas sp. pp01, Pantoea sp. pp02, Enterobacter sp. pp06, and Bacillus sp. pp04	Proteobacteria (α, γ) and Firmicutes	Roots of elephant grass (Pennisetum purpureum)	Hybrid <i>Pennisetum</i>	Salt stress	Solubilization of insoluble phosphate; fixation of nitrogen; production of indole acetic acid (IAA) and ammonia	Li et al. (2016)
Acimetobacter sp. ACMS25 and Bacillus sp. PVMX4	Proteobacteria and Firmicutes	Roots of Phyllanthus amarus	Medicinal herb (Phyllanthus amarus)	Salt stress	Promotion of higher vigor index and % germination; increased plant biomass, P content and plant phenolic	Joe et al. (2016)
						(continued)

Table 10.1 (continued)						
Domain/strain/isolates	Phylum (class/ subclass)	Source of the plant/family	Test crop	Abiotic stress target	Effect of inoculation with the traits possessed by microbes	References
					content; improved radical scavenging and antioxidative activity	
Streptomyces sp. KLBMP 5084	Actinobacteria	Halophyte (<i>Limonium</i> sinense)	Limonium sinense	Salt stress	Significantly lower leaf malondialdehyde (MDA) content and significantly more antioxidant enzymes; lower accumulation of Na ⁺ in both leaves and roots	Qin et al. (2017)
Fungi			-	-		
Trichoderma harzianum TSTh	Ascomycota	Roots of dandelion (<i>Taraxacum</i> <i>officinale</i>) grown on barren coarse tailings (CT)	Tomato (<i>Solanum</i> <i>lycopersicum</i>) and wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i>)	Nutrient poor and petrochemical- contaminated soils	Increased germination and biomass accumulation; improved plant water use efficiency and drought recovery; secretion of twice the level of peroxidase into CT	Repas et al. (2017)

Greater plant height, Zhang et al. collar diameter, shoot (2017) dry weight, net photosynthetic rate (Pn), stomatal conductance (gs), transpiration rate (E), maximal photochemical efficiency of PS-II and photosynthesis	Decreased oxidative Santos et al. stress and decrease in (2017) antioxidant enzyme activity	Decreased lipidBerthelot et al.ionperoxidation;(2017)increasedchlorophyll, K, and Pconcentrations in theshootsshootsshoots	um Increased the maize He et al. (2017) growth, kept more cd in roots, and decreased cd content in shoots; improved the photosynthesis and induced notable changes on phytohormones	d salt Higher root and shoot Azad and biomass; better water Kaminsky use efficiency; higher (2016) photosynthetic efficiency
Drought	Drought	TE contaminat in soil	Soil cadmi stress	Drought an stress
Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor)	Rice (Oryza sativa)	Betula pendula and Populus tremula x alba	Maize (Zea mays)	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum)
Roots	Roots of wild rice (<i>Oryza</i> glumaepatula) in the Brazilian Amazon	Trace element (TE)-enriched soils	Roots	Plants growing in salinized soil
Ascomycota	Ascomycetes	Ascomycetes	Ascomycetes	1
<i>Exophiala pisciphila</i> GM25 (DSE strain)	Dark septate fungal endophytes and conidial spores	DSE strains (Phialophora mustea Pr27, Leptodontidium Pr30, Cadophora Fe06)	DSE strain (<i>Exophiala pisciphila</i>)	Systemic (also called class 2) fungal endophytes

Table 10.1 (continued)						
Domain/strain/isolates	Phylum (class/ subclass)	Source of the plant/family	Test crop	Abiotic stress target	Effect of inoculation with the traits possessed by microbes	References
Cladosporium cladosporioides E-162	Ascomycetes	Wild Nicotiana plants growing in arid parts of northern Australia	Tobacco (Nicotiana benthamiana)	Drought	Increased shoot length and biomass accumulation	Dastogeer et al. (2017b)
Rhizophagus irregularis strain EEZ 58	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Digitaria eriantha subspecies eriantha	Cold, drought, and salinity	Regulation in the production of antioxidants [high catalase (CAT) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity] and jasmonates [increased endogenous levels of cis-12- oxophytodienoc acid (OPDA), jasmonic acid (JA), and 12-OH- JA]	Pedranzani et al. (2016)
Rhizophagus irregularis strain EEZ 58	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) and lettuce (Lactuca sativa)	Drought	Induced strigolactone biosynthesis in plants	Ruiz-Lozano et al. (2016)
Funneliformis mosseae and Rhizophagus irregularis	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Arundo donax	Salt stress	Increase in proline accumulation; higher isoprene emission; higher H ₂ O ₂ production	Pollastri et al. (2017)

Rhizophagus irregularis strain EEZ 58	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Maize (Zea mays)	Drought stress	Broader regulation of host plant aquaporins	Quiroga et al. (2017)
Rhizophagus intraradices and Furmeliformis mosseae	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Pelargonium graveolens L.	Drought stress	Improvement in the growth parameters as well as the phytochemical and physiological characteristics; increased antioxidant activity, total flavonoids, and phenolics	Amiri et al. (2017)
Furmeltjormis mosseae	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Trifoliate orange (Poncirus trifoliata L. Raf.)	Drought stress	Exhibited significantly higher leaf water potential; modulation of root phytohormones and root morphology	Liu et al. (2016)
Glomus clarum	Glomeromycota	Rhizosphere soil	Basil (Ocimum basilicum var. odoratus)	Salinity	Enhanced the biomass production and accumulation of nutrients, reducing sugars, total soluble carbohydrates, photosynthetic pigments, proline, and protein by reducing Na	Elhindi et al. (2016)
						(continued)

Table 10.1 (continued)						
Domain/strain/isolates	Phylum (class/ subclass)	Source of the plant/family	Test crop	Abiotic stress target	Effect of inoculation with the traits possessed by microbes	References
Piriformospora indica	Basidiomycota	1	Barrel clover (Medicago truncatula)	Salinity	Improved antioxidant enzymes activities and hyphae density in roots; reduced malondialdehyde (MDA) activity, Na ⁺ content and relative electrolyte conductivity (REC); accumulation of proline; upregulation of defense-related genes	Li et al. (2017)
Piriformospora indica	Basidiomycota	1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Salt stress	Enhanced transcript levels of the genes encoding the high- affinity potassium transporter 1 (HKT1) and the inward- rectifying K+ channels KAT1 and KAT2	Abdelaziz et al. (2017)
Piriformospora indica	Basidiomycota	1	Wheat (Triticum aestivum)	Drought and mechanical stress	Lower CAT activity and less oxidative damage	Hosseini et al. (2017)

Viruses						
<i>Curvularia</i> thermal tolerance virus (CThTV)	dsRNA fungal viruses	Fungus Curvularia protuberata from the plant Dichanthelium lanueinosum	Dichanthelium lanuginosum	Heat stress	Complex tripartite symbioses and interactions	Marquez et al. (2007)
Brome mosaic virus (BMV), Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), Tobacco mosaic virus, and Tobacco rattle virus	ssRNA viruses	0	Beet (Beta vulgaris), pepper (Capsicum amum), watermelon (Cucumis tanatus), cucumber (Cucumis sativus), tomato (Solanum lycopersicum), Solanum habrochaites, rice (Oryza sativa), and zucchini (Cucurbita pepo)	Drought	Conditional mutualistic relationships with their plant hosts	Xu et al. (2008)



Fig. 10.3 Schematic diagrams showing some of the possible mechanisms of microbial and rhizobacterial endophytes mediated induced systemic tolerance (IST) against abiotic stresses in plants

plant root growth architecture results in a larger root surface, which can, therefore, have positive effects on root water acquisition and plant nutrient uptake under stressful conditions. Some rhizo-/endophytic bacterial strains produce cytokinin and antioxidants, which results in accumulation of abscisic acid (ABA) and degradation of reactive oxygen species leading to oxidative stress tolerance.

Another widespread plant beneficial characteristic found among the endophytic and rhizosphere-colonizing bacteria is ACC deaminase activity. Rhizobacterial species possessing this enzyme can hydrolyze ethylene precursor ACC leading to a decrease in plant interior ethylene hormone level. This in turn resulted in increased root growth architecture (Glick et al. 1998; Burd et al. 2000; Belimov et al. 2007, 2009; Long et al. 2008). Inoculation with ACC deaminase-containing bacteria induces longer roots which might be helpful in the uptake of relatively more water from deep soil under drought stress conditions. Thus, ultimately resulting in increasing water use efficiency of the plants growing under soil water-limited or drought conditions (Zahir et al. 2008). Inoculation of Achromobacter piechaudii ARV8 which produced 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase conferred IST against drought and salt tolerance in pepper and tomato (Mayak et al. 2004). It has been reported that inoculation of rhizobacteria, Pseudomonas fluorescens TDK1 possessing ACC deaminase activity enhances the salinity resistance in groundnut by lowering stress-induced ethylene level and showes the significant improvement in root elongation, plant growth parameters, and yield of groundnut (Saravanakumar and Samiyappan 2007). However, decreasing the level of hormone ethylene inside the plants alters the general stress status of the plant under different abiotic stresses, as gaseous hormone ethylene plays a key role in stress-related signal transduction pathways.

Under drought and salinity stress, most of the rhizobacteria and bacterial endophytes induce synthesis of osmoprotectants (such as K+, glutamate, trehalose, proline, glycine betaine, proline betaine, ectoine, etc.) in plants to adjust cytoplasmic osmotic potential through free radical scavenging and subcellular structure stabilization (Talibart et al. 1994). For example, proline synthesis has been shown to be increased in abiotically stressed plants in the presence of beneficial rhizobacteria such as *Burkholderia* (Barka et al. 2006) as well as *Arthrobacter* and *Bacillus* (Chen et al. 2007; Sziderics et al. 2007). Increased production of proline along with decreased electrolyte leakage, maintenance of relative water content of leaves, and selective uptake of K+ ions resulted in salt tolerance in *Zea mays* inoculated with *Rhizobium* and *Pseudomonas* (Bano and Fatima 2009).

Certain rhizobacteria such as Pseudomonas survive under drought and nutrient conditions the production of exopolysaccharides stress bv (EPS). Exopolysaccharides possess unique water holding and cementing properties and thus play a vital role in the formation and stabilization of soil aggregates and regulation of nutrients and water flow across plant roots. Plants inoculated with exopolysaccharides producing rhizobacteria can display increased resistance to water stress due to improved soil physical structure (Sandhya et al. 2009). Exopolysaccharides can also bind to several cations including Na⁺ thus making it unavailable to plants under salt stress conditions.

Under high-temperature conditions, thermotolerant rhizobacteria and thermophilic bacterial endophytes reported to show quick response to a sudden increase in temperature through inducing the synthesis of a specific group of polypeptides known as heat shock proteins (HSPs) (Forrieter and Nover 1998). HSPs consist of molecular chaperons such as GroEL, DnaK, DnaJ, GroES, ClpB, ClpA, ClpX, small heat shock proteins (sHSP), and proteases (Kawashima et al. 2000). These chaperons are involved in the proper folding of denatured proteins. Enzymes like proteases are responsible for the degradation of irreversibly damaged proteins in the cell under high-temperature stress (Martin and Hartl 1997; Munchbach et al. 1999). In addition to their own adaptation to high temperature, few of the reports have shown that thermotolerant rhizobacteria also induce tolerance of plants to high-temperature stress. Plant inoculation of a thermotolerant Pseudomonas sp. strain AMK-P6 induces high-temperature tolerance in sorghum seedlings due to synthesis of high molecular weight protein in their leaves. In addition, rhizobacteria also improve plant biomass as well as biochemical status in terms of accumulation of proline, sugar, amino acid, and chlorophyll content (Ali et al. 2009).

Similarly under low-temperature conditions, cold-tolerant bacteria colonizing rhizosphere, rhizoplane, and endorhizosphere show quick response to a decrease in temperature conditions by induced synthesis of cryoprotective proteins (Koda et al. 2001). Inoculation of these bacteria induces cold stress tolerance in crop plants. Cold-tolerant *Serratia marcescens* strain SRM and *Pantoea dispersa* strain 1A display plant growth-promoting characteristics such as IAA production, P-solubilization, HCN, and siderophores production at 15 °C and 4 °C. Seed

inoculations with these strains significantly improved biomass and nutrient uptake of wheat seedlings grown in cold temperature conditions (Selvakumar et al. 2008a, b).

10.4.2 IST by Mycorrhizal Symbiosis and Fungal Endophytes

Crop plants are not an exception and respond favorably to external inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi, especially under P deficiency and other abiotic stresses. The arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis is often known to improve plant tolerance to water deficit and drought stress through the modification of plant physiology. AM symbiosis also changes the expression of plant genes in addition to extending the effective root surface area, which is involved in higher water uptake and water circulation. Thus, AM plants generally show an improved ability for nutrient uptake and tolerance against biotic and abiotic stresses especially drought. Glomus sp., Gigaspora sp., and Funneliformis sp. are some of the mycorrhizae frequently used for this kind of studies. There are several reports of AM-induced increase in drought tolerance, involving both increased dehydration and dehydration tolerance in plants. AM fungi inoculation enhances activities of free radical scavenging enzymes such as superoxide dismutases (SOD), peroxidase (POD), and catalase (CAT). This results in improved drought tolerance and osmotic adjustment through improved levels of nonstructural carbohydrates, proline K^+ , Ca^+ , and Mg^{2+} , consequential in the enhancement of tolerance to salinity (Wu and Xia 2006). Evelin et al. (2009) reviewed the fundamental physiological processes by which AM fungi can improve salt stress tolerance of the host plant. These included enhanced nutrient acquisition (P, N, Mg, and Ca), maintenance of the K⁺:Na⁺ ratio, biochemical changes (accumulation of proline, betaines, polyamines, carbohydrates, and antioxidants), physiological changes (photosynthetic efficiency, relative permeability, water status, abscisic acid accumulation, nodulation, and nitrogen fixation), molecular changes (the expression of genes: PIP, Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, Lsnced, Lslea, and LsP5CS), and ultrastructural changes.

AM fungi which can alleviate effects of abiotic stress by improving host plant stress tolerance to drought, salt, and cold was well demonstrated by many authors (Pedranzani et al. 2016; Ruiz-Lozano et al. 2016; Pollastri et al. 2017; Quiroga et al. 2017; Amiri et al. 2017). Millar and Bennett (2016) studied the influence of abiotic stress on AM fungi and proposed the stress exclusion and stress adaptation hypothesis. The "stress exclusion hypothesis" predicts that AM fungal abundance and diversity will decrease with persistent abiotic stress, and the mycorrhizal "stress adaptation hypothesis" predicts that AM fungi will evolve in response to abiotic stress to maintain their fitness. AM fungal communities identified from areas that repeatedly or continuously experience abiotic stress factors such as drought, salinity, heavy metal pollution, nutrient deposition, and extremes of temperature will contain species that are adapted specifically to their environment. These stress adapted AM fungal species may benefit their hosts more under abiotic stress conditions than nonadapted AM fungal ecotypes (Appoloni et al. 2008; Macek et al. 2011). AM

and N uptake, and leads to greater nitrogen use efficiency in wheat plants grown at elevated CO₂ (Zhu et al. 2016). Classification of mycorrhiza association, structural diversity, and functions and major mechanisms of AMF in plant tolerance to major abiotic stresses including salinity, drought, temperature regimes (cold and heat), nutrient deficiency, and metal/metalloids are recently reviewed in detail by Latef et al. (2016). Recently, results from different research studies suggest that mycorrhizal symbioses act on host plant aquaporins. This alters both plant water relations and plant physiology in order to cope better with stressful environmental conditions such as drought. The fungal aquaporins have been related to water transport in the fungal mycelium to vascular plants in the internal exchange membranes at the symbiotic interface. Indeed, it is generally observed that mycorrhizal plants display higher osmotic and hydrostatic root hydraulic conductance under drought stress conditions. These effects are likely to be the result of the combined action of different aquaporins regulated by the mycorrhizal symbiosis (including PIPs, TIPs, NIPs, and SIPs). Thereby it is influencing the transport of water and, most probably, also of other solutes of physiological importance for the plant growing under drought stress conditions (Ruiz-Lozano and Aroca 2017). However, the symbiotic benefits of AM fungi inducing stress tolerance should be further studied in field conditions with appropriate abiotic stress factors.

Another plant beneficial endophytic fungus, *Piriformospora indica* that belongs to basidiomycete, shown to enhance plant tolerance to various abiotic stresses (Waller et al. 2005). In the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*, inoculation of *Piriformospora indica* enhanced the drought tolerance through upregulation of many of the drought stress-related genes in plants (Sheremati et al. 2009). *Piriformospora indica* is also shown inducing salt tolerance through activation of glutathione-ascorbate cycle involved in scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the inoculated barley plants. Endophytic *P. indica* that imparts abiotic stress tolerance should further be extended from the model plants to crop plants.

Other than mycorrhizal fungi, some endophytic fungi are reported to impart drought tolerance in plants. These fungal endophytes are also known to confer tolerance to different abiotic stressors such as drought, heat, and salt (Rodriguez et al. 2008; Hubbard et al. 2012). Clavicipitaceous fungal endophytes (*Neotyphodium* spp.), which colonize the aerial portion of cool season grasses, are vertically transmitted from parents to offsprings and can increase host tolerance to drought (Kane 2011). The tropical panic grass like Dichanthelium lanuginosum, found growing in geothermal soils in Yellowstone National Park, forms a mutualistic symbiotic interaction with the class 2 endophyte called *Curvularia protuberata*, which confers heat stress tolerance (Redman et al. 2002). Another group of endophytic ascomycetes fungi, commonly referred to as "dark septate endophytes" (DSEs), resides in below- and aboveground tissues of their host plants and are transmitted horizontally between host plants and contributes to abiotic stress tolerance either during seed germination (mycovitality) or in mature plants (mycoheterotrophy). A growing body of substantiation suggests that plant rootassociated fungi such as dark septate endophytes (DSE) can help plants overcome many biotic and abiotic stresses. Of the greatest interest is by DSE on plant metal

tolerance and alleviation capabilities in the metal-contaminated soils (Wang et al. 2016). The positive effects of DSE identified through meta-analysis study were increased total shoot and root biomass and shoot nitrogen (N) and phosphorus contents in various crops. Inoculation with the DSE *Phialocephala fortinii* was found to increase shoot and root biomass, shoot P concentration, and shoot N content by 44–116%, relative to uninoculated controls (Newsham 2011).

Another endophytic fungus Curvularia protuberate carries a dsRNA virus, which confers thermal tolerance in host plants and also in inoculated tomato plants (Marquez et al. 2007). Poplar roots were colonized by three isolates belonging to the Helotiales (P02, P06), and the Serendipita vermifera species (P04) in addition to mycorrhizal fungi were highly tolerant to metals (Cd, Zn, Pb, and Cu), and the species were determined by ITS molecular analyses (Lacercat-Didier et al. 2016). Many fungal endophytes have been shown to confer drought tolerance in a number of crops by improved morphological and biochemical mechanisms such as higher water use efficiency and photosynthetic rate (Azad and Kaminskyj 2016; Repas et al. 2017), decreasing antioxidant enzyme activity (Santos et al. 2017), induction of osmoprotectants or compatible solutes (Dastogeer et al. 2017a), improving the nutritional status and root growth (Malinowski and Belesky 2000), and driving the expression of genes implied in homeostasis (Estrada et al. 2013; Molina-Montenegro et al. 2016). The use of fungal endophytes from different ecosystems currently subjected to severe drought conditions could improve the ecophysiological performance and quantum yield of crops exposed to drought stress. Molina-Montenegro et al. (2016) suggested that the presence of fungal endophytes which was isolated from Antarctic growing plants could minimize the negative effect of drought by enhancing drought tolerance through biochemical mechanisms and improving plant nutritional status. They found that higher net photosynthetic rate and maintenance of higher water use efficiency in endophytes colonized plants under drought conditions. This was often correlated with greater fresh and dry biomass production as well as greater root system development in plants. In addition, the presence of fungal endophytes was linked with a higher proline concentration, lower peroxidation of lipids, and up-/downregulation of ion homeostasis. Adams et al. (2017) reported the novel hypothesis that endophyte symbiosis by fungi *Epihole* promotes host fitness under flooded conditions, thereby contributing to niche differentiation between the two bluegrass species. They provide several benefits to their plant hosts, including the production of different herbivore-deterring alkaloid compounds, increased stress tolerance, and growth promotion.

10.5 Habitat-Adapted Symbiosis and Plant Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Recently, the concept of habitat-adapted symbiosis of bacterial microbiome and fungal endophytes promoting abiotic stress tolerance in host plants has been proposed. The plants growing in many stress environments/habitats have shown to select specific microbiome, and isolated bacterial/fungal endophytes of them reportedly induce abiotic stress tolerance in both host and other crop plants (Redman et al. 2011; Marasco et al. 2012). Rodriguez et al. (2008) for the first time defined this ecological phenomenon as habitat-adapted symbiosis and determined that fungal endophytes (Fusarium culmorum as dominant) from coastal and geothermal habitats confer plant habitat-specific stress tolerance. The same fungal species isolated from plants in habitats devoid of salt or heat stress did not confer these stress tolerances. Rodriguez et al. (2005) suggested three important classes of fungal symbionts: (1) the well-studied mycorrhizal fungi, (2) class 1 endophytes, and (3) the lesser defined class 2 endophytes. Studies have shown that class 2 endophytes confer stress tolerance to host plant species. Fungal endophytic association plays a significant role in the survival of at least some plants in high-temperature stress environments (Rodriguez et al. 2004). Coleman-Derr and Tringe (2014) highlighted many of the advantages of fungal symbiont-based approaches. This explained in favor of the broader recognition of crop species as ecological niches for a diverse community of microorganisms that function in concert with their plant hosts and each other to thrive under fluctuating environmental conditions (Coleman-Derr and Tringe 2014). Firstly, many microbial symbionts are frequently capable of conferring stress tolerance to a wide variety of diverse plant hosts. Many plant growth-promoting microorganisms (PGPM) can confer benefits to both monocots and dicot crop species. Secondly, PGPM frequently confers more than one type of abiotic and/or biotic stress tolerance, and thirdly, plant-associated microbial species represent a vast reservoir of genetic information that has coevolved with their plant hosts under natural environmental conditions. The bacterium Achromobacter piechaudii, isolated from dry riverbeds of southern Israel, was capable of increasing salt and drought resistance in both pepper and tomato (Mayak et al. 2004). The knowledge about the assemblage of microbiome structure in the continuous different compartments (endosphere, rhizoplane, and rhizosphere) would assist in predicting a subset of core or minimal microbiome structure and thus facilitate synthetic reconstruction of microbial communities, and their functional complementarity contributes to synergistic effects (Qin et al. 2017). It was demonstrated that habitat-adapted symbiosis may be a common non-Darwinian phenomenon in plant biology and is a significant component of plant adaptation to various environmental stresses (Rodriguez et al. 2008). However, many fundamental questions in plant biology with respect to habitat-adapted symbiosis by the bacterial and fungal endophytes need to be investigated in the future.

10.6 Beneficial Viruses and Plant Abiotic Stress Tolerance

Beneficial viruses are defined as viruses that provide a trait to crop plants that increases their value or growth potential or decreases the need for the use of chemical fertilizers or pesticides. These beneficial plant viruses include several acute viruses (*Brome mosaic virus*, family *Bromoviridae*; *Cucumber mosaic virus*, family *Bromoviridae*; *Tobacco rattle virus*, family *Virgaviridae*; and *Tobacco mosaic virus*, family *Virgaviridae*; family *Virgaviridae*, which confer tolerance to drought and freezing temperatures in several different crops (Roossinck 2011). When plant root zones

were heated up to 65 $^{\circ}$ C, symbiotic plants infected with the endophytes reportedly tolerate and survive more under the heat stress. But separately to grow both, neither the fungus nor the plant alone was capable of growing at a soil temperature above 38 $^{\circ}$ C (Marquez et al. 2007). This relationship however is more complex as it was discovered that the endophyte harbors a virus in a tripartite mutualistic symbiosis and that the virus is an essential partner for bestowing heat tolerance to host plants, whereas virus-free endophytes were incapable of conferring this trait (Marquez et al. 2007). Much of the research work on beneficial plant viruses and their endophytic interactions which contribute for inducing abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants is still in progress.

10.7 Future Prospects

Plant-associated microbial species with plant growth-promoting capabilities are reported in numerous plant system and characterization of their beneficial role is very important in agriculture as bio-inoculants. A considerable fraction of endophytes isolated from crops appear to have measurable effects on host plant fitness under abiotic stresses or otherwise called environmental stress conditions. Identification of microbial endophytes for different applications has been challenging in the past due to the frequent lack of understanding on plant-host symptoms, localized colonization, intimate integration with plant cellular structures, and lack of cultivability, recent advances in genomic technologies have helped make this process faster and easier. Root-colonizing bacteria (rhizo- and endophytic bacteria/ fungi) and fungal species have been shown to mediate the increased tolerance to abiotic stresses in host plants. Future research should be more focused on rhizo-/ endophytic bacterial species that are already reported as known species, to be investigated further for their capability to mitigate abiotic stresses in various crops. For example, many Bacillus and Pseudomonas species are the well-known rhizosphere and endosphere colonizers and have been shown to afford protection against a range of biotic stresses. However, research on Bacillus- and Pseudomonas-mediated tolerance to abiotic stresses in several crop plants is not fully explored. In addition to this, specific identification and characterization of rhizo-/endophytic bacterial and fungal strains are associated with different abiotic stress tolerant crop plants; rhizo-/ endophytic bacterial and fungal strains that have the potential of simultaneously providing cross-protection against multiple stress factors would be highly important.

Substantial research progress has been made in understanding the morphological, physiological, and molecular mechanisms original to bacterially (rhizo- and endo-phytic bacteria) mediated resistance to biotic stresses than tolerance to abiotic stresses. So, it is essential to investigate in more detail if and how mechanisms triggering IST by rhizobacteria/endophytes including AM fungi and other fungal endophytes will be very helpful in decoding signaling cascades and those leading to improved tolerance against abiotic stresses. Recently defined ecological phenomenon called habitat-adapted symbiosis by the fungal endophytes allows their host plants to establish in high stress environmental habitats.

Viruses are most often studied as pathogens, but many are beneficial to their hosts by providing essential functions and fitness against abiotic stresses. Studies to understand the mechanisms of these beneficial plant-virus interactions are in the beginning stage. Further, investigations of the mechanisms by which these endophytes can confer abiotic stress tolerance to their plant hosts is another avenue for identifying targets for direct manipulation of stress responses in these crops. Current large-scale agricultural systems rely heavily on monoculture cropping systems, in many cases without between-season or crop rotations, which have been shown to lead to the buildup of specialized plant pathogens, increased disease incidence, and decreased yield. Crop diversification, use of specific cover crops, and crop rotations with legumes can be followed to endorse and maintain a beneficial microbiome between growing seasons for important crop species which helps to maintain sustainable productivity in agriculture. Hence, there is a necessity for redefining as well as rethinking of modern agronomic practices with our current perceptives of the significance of plant-associated beneficial microbial communities (rhizosphere, symbiotic and endophytic interactions) for plant productivity and health under abiotically stressed environments.

References

- Abdelaziz ME, Kim D, Ali S, Fedoroff NV, Al-Babili S (2017) The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* enhances *Arabidopsis thaliana* growth and modulates Na+/K+ homeostasis under salt stress conditions. Plant Sci 263:107–115
- Adams AE, Kazenel MR, Rudgers JA (2017) Does a foliar endophyte improve plant fitness under flooding? Plant Ecol 218(6):711–723
- Ali SZ, Sandhya V, Grover M, Kishore N, Rao LV, Venkateswarlu B (2009) *Pseudomonas* sp. strain AKM-P6 enhances tolerance of sorghum seedlings to elevated temperatures. Biol Fertil Soil 46(1):45–55
- Allison SD, Martiny JBH (2008) Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:11512–11519
- Amiri R, Nikbakht A, Rahimmalek M, Hosseini H (2017) Variation in the essential oil composition, antioxidant capacity, and physiological characteristics of *Pelargonium graveolens* L. inoculated with two species of Mycorrhizal fungi under water deficit conditions. J Plant Growth Regul 36 (2):502–515
- Andrés-Barrao C, Lafi FF, Alam I, Zélicourt AD, Eida AA, Bokhari A, Alzubaidy HS, Bajic VB, Hirt H, Saad M (2017) Complete genome sequence analysis of *Enterobacter* sp. SA187, a plant multi-stress tolerance promoting endophytic bacterium. Front Microbiol 8:2023
- Appoloni S, Lekberg Y, Tercek MT et al (2008) Molecular community analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in roots of geothermal soils in Yellowstone National Park (USA). Microb Ecol 56:649–659
- Azad K, Kaminskyj S (2016) A fungal endophyte strategy for mitigating the effect of salt and drought stress on plant growth. Symbiosis 68(1-3):73-78
- Baker BJ et al (2010) Enigmatic, ultrasmall, uncultivated Archaea. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107 (19):8806–8811
- Bakken LR, Bergaust L, Liu B, Frostegard A (2012) Regulation of denitrification at the cellular level: a clue to the understanding of N_2O emissions from soils. Philos Trans R Soc B 367:1226–1234

- Bano A, Fatima M (2009) Salt tolerance in Zea mays (L.) following inoculation with Rhizobium and Pseudomonas. Biol Fertil Soil 46(1):45–55
- Barea JM, Azco'n R, Azco'n-Aguilar C (2004) Mycorrhizal fungi and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria. In: Varma A, Abbott L, Werner D, Hampp R (eds) Plant surface microbiology. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 351–371
- Barka EA, Nowak J, Clément C (2006) Enhancement of chilling resistance of inoculated grapevine plantlets with a plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium, *Burkholderia phytofirmans* strain PsJN. Appl Environ Microbiol 72(11):7246–7252
- Belimov AA, Dodd IC, Hontzeas N, Theobald JC, Safronova VI, Davies WJ (2009) Rhizosphere bacteria containing 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase increase yield of plants grown in drying soil via both local and systemic hormone signalling. New Phytol 181:413–423
- Belimov AA, Dodd IC, Safronova VI, Hontzeas N, Davies WJ (2007) *Pseudomonas* brassicacearum strain Am3 containing 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase can show both pathogenic and growth-promoting properties in its interaction with tomato. J Exp Bot 58:1485–1495
- Bell C, McIntyre N, Cox S, Tissue D, Zak J (2008) Soil microbial responses to temporal variations of moisture and temperature in a Chihuahuan Desert grassland. Microbial Ecol 56:153–167
- Bennett AE, Bever JD (2007) Mycorrhizal species differentially alter plant growth and response to herbivory. Ecology 88:210–218
- Berthelot C, Blaudez D, Leyval C (2017) Differential growth promotion of poplar and birch inoculated with three dark septate endophytes in two trace element-contaminated soils. Int J Phytoremediation 19(12):1118–1125
- Bodelier PLE, Roslev P, Henckel T, Frenzel P (2000) Stimulation by ammonium-based fertilizers of methane oxidation in soil around rice roots. Nature 403:421–424
- Bowen GD, Rovira AD (1999) The rhizosphere and its management to improve plant growth. Adv Agron 66:1–102
- Briones MJI, McNamara NP, Poskitt J, Crow SE, Ostle NJ (2014) Interactive biotic and abiotic regulators of soil carbon cycling: evidence from controlled climate experiments on peatland and boreal soils. Glob Chang Biol 20:2971–2982
- Burd GI, Dixon DG, Glick BR (2000) Plant growth-promoting bacteria that decrease heavy metal toxicity in plants. Can J Microbiol 46:237–245
- Buscot F, Varma A (2005) Microorganisms in soils: roles in genesis and functions. Springer, Heidelberg
- Chakraborty U, Chakraborty B, Basnet M (2006) Plant growth promotion and induction of resistance in *Camellia sinensis* by *Bacillus megaterium*. J Basic Microbiol 46:186–195
- Chelius MK, Triplett EW (2001) The diversity of archaea and bacteria in association with the roots of Zea mays L. Microbial Ecol 41(3):252–263
- Chen C, Xin K, Liu H, Cheng J, Shen X, Wang Y, Zhang L (2017) *Pantoea alhagi*, a novel endophytic bacterium with ability to improve growth and drought tolerance in wheat. Sci Rep 7:41564
- Chen S, Zou J, Hu Z, Chen H, Lu Y (2014) Global annual soil respiration in relation to climate, soil properties and vegetation characteristics: summary of available data. Agric For Meteorol 198:335–346
- Chen M, Wei H, Cao J, Liu R, Wang Y, Zheng C (2007) Expression of *Bacillus subtilis* proAB genes and reduction of feedback inhibition of proline synthesis increases proline production and confers osmotolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. J Biochem Mol Biol 40:396–403
- Chimwamurombe PM, Grönemeyer JL, Reinhold-Hurek B (2016) Isolation and characterization of culturable seed-associated bacterial endophytes from gnotobiotically grown *Marama* bean seedlings. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 92(6):fiw083
- Coleman-Derr D, Tringe SG (2014) Building the crops of tomorrow: advantages of symbiont-based approaches to improving abiotic stress tolerance. Front Microbiol 5:283

- Compant S, Mitter B, Colli-Mull JG, Gangl H, Sessitsch A (2011) Endophytes of grapevine flowers, berries, and seeds: identification of cultivable bacteria, comparison with other plant parts, and visualization of niches of colonization. Microbiol Ecol 62(1):188–197
- Cregger MA, Schadt CW, McDowell NG, Pockman WT, Classen AT (2012) Response of the soil microbial community to changes in precipitation in a semiarid ecosystem. Appl Environ Microbiol 78(24):8587–8594
- Cregger MA, Sanders NJ, Dunn RR, Classen AT (2014) Microbial communities respond to experimental warming, but site matters. Peer J 2:e358
- Dastogeer KM, Li H, Sivasithamparam K, Jones MG, Du X, Ren Y, Wylie SJ (2017a) Metabolic responses of endophytic *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants experiencing water stress. Environ Exp Bot 143:59–71
- Dastogeer KM, Li H, Sivasithamparam K, Jones MG, Wylie SJ (2017b) A simple and rapid in vitro test for large-scale screening of fungal endophytes from drought-adapted Australian wild plants for conferring water deprivation tolerance and growth promotion in *Nicotiana benthamiana* seedlings. Arch Microbiol 21:1–4
- De Meyer SE, De Beuf K, Vekeman B, Willems A (2015) A large diversity of non-rhizobial endophytes found in legume root nodules in Flanders (Belgium). Soil Biol Biochem 83:1–1
- DeAngelis KM, Pold G, Topcuoglu BD, van Diepen LTA, Varney RM, Blanchard JL, Melillo J, Frey SD (2015) Long-term forest soil warming alters microbial communities in temperate forest soils. Front Microbiol 6:104
- Dimkpa C, Svatoš A, Merten D, Büchel G, Kothe E (2008) Hydroxamate siderophores produced by *Streptomyces acidiscabies* E13 bind nickel and promote growth in cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.) under nickel stress. Can J Microbiol 54(3):163–172
- Dimkpa CO, Merten D, Svatoš A, Büchel G, Kothe E (2009) Siderophores mediate reduced and increased uptake of cadmium by *Streptomyces tendae* F4 and sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*), respectively. J Appl Microbiol 107(5):1687–1696
- Doty SL (2017) Functional importance of the plant endophytic microbiome: implications for agriculture, forestry, and bioenergy. In: Functional importance of the plant microbiome. Springer, Cham, pp 1–5
- Drigo B, Kowalchuk GA, van Veen JA (2008) Climate change goes underground: effects of elevated atmospheric CO2 on microbial community structure and activities in the rhizosphere. Biol Fertil Soils 44:667–679
- Durán J, Morse JL, Groffman PM, Campbell JL, Christenson LM, Driscoll CT, Fahey TJ, Fisk MC, Mitchell MJ, Templer PH (2014) Winter climate change affects growing-season soil microbial biomass and activity in northern hardwood forests. Glob Chang Biol 20(11):3568–3577
- Elhindi K, Sharaf El Din A, Abdel-Salam E, Elgorban A (2016) Amelioration of salinity stress in different basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) varieties by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Acta Agric Scand B-S P 66(7):583–592
- Elkins JG, Podar M, Graham DE, Makarova KS, Wolf Y, Randau L, Hedlund BP, Brochier-Armanet C, Kunin V, Anderson I, Lapidus A (2008) A korarchaeal genome reveals new insights into the evolution of the Archaea. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:8102–8107
- Estrada B, Aroca R, Maathuis FJ, Barea JM, Ruiz-Lozano JU (2013) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi native from a Mediterranean saline area enhance maize tolerance to salinity through improved ion homeostasis. Plant Cell Environ 36(10):1771–1782
- Evans SE, Byrne KM, Lauenroth WK, Burke IC (2011) Defining the limit to resistance in a drought-tolerant grassland: long-term severe drought significantly reduces the dominant species and increases ruderals. J Ecol 99(6):1500–1507
- Evelin H, Kapoor R, Giri B (2009) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in alleviation of salt stress: a review. Ann Bot 104(7):1263–1280
- Ferrando L, Fernández Scavino A (2015) Strong shift in the diazotrophic endophytic bacterial community inhabiting rice (*Oryza sativa*) plants after flooding. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 91(9): fiv104

- Forreiter C, Nover L (1998) Heat induced stress proteins and the concept of molecular chaperones. J Biosci 23(4):287–302
- Frey SD, Lee J, Melillo JM, Six J (2013) The temperature response of soil microbial efficiency and its feedback to climate. Nat Clim Chang 3(4):395–398
- Gagné-Bourque F, Mayer BF, Charron JB, Vali H, Bertrand A, Jabaji S (2015) Accelerated growth rate and increased drought stress resilience of the model grass *Brachypodium distachyon* colonized by *Bacillus subtilis* B26. PLoS One 10(6):e0130456
- Garcia K, Doidy J, Zimmermann SD, Wipf D, Courty PE (2016) Take a trip through the plant and fungal transportome of mycorrhiza. Trends Plant Sci 21(11):937–950
- Glassner H, Zchori-Fein E, Compant S, Sessitsch A, Katzir N, Portnoy V, Yaron S (2015) Characterization of endophytic bacteria from cucurbit fruits with potential benefits to agriculture in melons (*Cucumis melo* L.). FEMS Microbiol Ecol 91(7):fiv074
- Glick BR (1995) The enhancement of plant growth by free-living bacteria. Can J Microbio 41:109–117
- Glick BR, Penrose DM, Li JP (1998) A model for the lowering of plant ethylene concentrations by plant growth-promoting bacteria. J Theor Biol 190:63–68
- Govindasamy V, Senthilkumar M, Annapurna K (2015) Effect of mustard rhizobacteria on wheat growth promotion under cadmium stress: characterization of *acdS* gene coding ACC deaminase. Ann Microbiol 65(3):1679–1687
- Govindasamy V, Senthilkumar M, Gaikwad K, Annapurna K (2008) Isolation and characterization of ACC deaminase gene from two plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Curr Microbiol 57 (4):312–317
- Govindasamy V, Senthilkumar M, Magheshwaran V, Kumar U, Bose P, Sharma V, Annapurna K (2010) *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* spp.: potential PGPR for sustainable agriculture. In: Plant growth and health promoting bacteria. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 333–364
- Govindasamy V, Franco CM, Gupta VV (2014) Endophytic actinobacteria: diversity and ecology. In: Advances in endophytic research. Springer, New Delhi, pp 27–59
- Govindasamy V, Raina SK, George P, Kumar M, Rane J, Minhas PS, Vittal KP (2017) Functional and phylogenetic diversity of cultivable rhizobacterial endophytes of sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Antonie van Leeuwenhoekr 28:1–9
- Gray EJ, Smith DL (2005) Intracellular and extracellular PGPR: commonalities and distinctions in the plant-bacterium signaling processes. Soil Biol Biochem 37(3):395–412
- Guy L, Ettema TJ (2011) The archaeal 'TACK'superphylum and the origin of eukaryotes. Trends Microbiol 19(12):580–587
- Haase S, Neumann G, Kania A, Kuzyakov Y, Römheld V, Kandeler E (2007) Elevation of atmospheric CO2 and N-nutritional status modify nodulation, nodule-carbon supply, and root exudation of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Soil Biol Biochem 39:2208–2221
- Haase S, Philippot L, Neumann G, Marhan S, Kandeler E (2008) Local response of bacterial densities and enzyme activities toelevated atmospheric CO2 and different N supply in therhizosphere of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Soil Biol Biochem 40:1225–1234
- Hagerty SB, Van Groenigen KJ, Allison SD, Hungate BA, Schwartz E, Koch GW, Kolka RK, Dijkstra P (2014) Accelerated microbial turnover but constant growth efficiency with warming in soil. Nat Clim Chang 4(10):903–906
- Halo BA, Khan AL, Waqas M, Al-Harrasi A, Hussain J, Ali L, Adnan M, Lee IJ (2015) Endophytic bacteria (*Sphingomonas* sp. LK11) and gibberellin can improve *Solanum lycopersicum* growth and oxidative stress under salinity. J Plant Interact 10(1):117–125
- Hardoim PR, Van Overbeek LS, Berg G, Pirttilä AM, Compant S, Campisano A, Döring M, Sessitsch A (2015) The hidden world within plants: ecological and evolutionary considerations for defining functioning of microbial endophytes. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 79(3):293–320
- Harris D, Pacovsky RS, Paul EA (1985) Carbon economy of soybean-Rhizobium-Glomus associations. New Phytol 101(3):427-440

- He Y, Yang Z, Li M, Jiang M, Zhan F, Zu Y, Li T, Zhao Z (2017) Effects of a dark septate endophyte (DSE) on growth, cadmium content, and physiology in maize under cadmium stress. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:18494–18504
- Hibbett DS et al (2007) A higher level phylogenetic classification of the Fungi. Mycol Res 111:509–547
- Hosseini F, Mosaddeghi MR, Dexter AR (2017) Effect of the fungus *Piriformospora indica* on physiological characteristics and root morphology of wheat under combined drought and mechanical stresses. Plant Physiol Biochem 118:107–120
- Hubbard M, Germida J, Vujanovic V (2012) Fungal endophytes improve wheat seed germination under heat and drought stress. Botany 90(2):137–149
- Huber H, Hohn MJ, Rachel R, Fuchs T, Wimmer VC, Stetter KO (2002) A new phylum of *Archaea* represented by a nanosized hyperthermophilic symbiont. Nature 417(6884):63–67
- Imazaki I, Kadota I (2015) Molecular phylogeny and diversity of *Fusarium* endophytes isolated from tomato stems. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 91(9):fiv098
- Isobe K, Koba K, Otsuka S, Senoo K (2011) Nitrification and nitrifying microbial communities in forest soils. J For Res 16(5):351
- Joe MM, Devaraj S, Benson A, Sa T (2016) Isolation of phosphate solubilizing endophytic bacteria from *Phyllanthus amarus* Schum & Thonn: evaluation of plant growth promotion and antioxidant activity under salt stress. J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants 3(2):71–77
- Johnson NC, Graham JH, Smith FA (1997) Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism-parasitism continuum. New Phytol 135(4):575–585
- Jumpponen ARI, Trappe JM (1998) Dark septate endophytes: a review of facultative biotrophic root-colonizing fungi. New Phytol 140:295–310
- Jumpponen A (2001) Dark septate endophytes are they mycorrhizal? Mycorrhiza 11:207-211
- Kaisermann A, Maron PA, Beaumelle L, Lata JC (2015) Fungal communities are more sensitive indicators to non-extreme soil moisture variations than bacterial communities. Appl Soil Ecol 186:158–164
- Kandeler E, Mosier AR, Morgan JA, Milchunas DG, King JY, Rudolph S, Tscherko D (2006) Response of soil microbial biomass and enzyme activities to the transient elevation of carbon dioxide in a semi-arid grassland. Soil Biol Biochem 38:2448–2460
- Kane KH (2011) Effects of endophyte infection on drought stress tolerance of *Lolium perenne* accessions from the Mediterranean region. Environ Exp Bot 71(3):337–344
- Karhu K, Auffret MD, Dungait JA, Hopkins DW, Prosser JI, Singh BK, Subke JA, Wookey PA, Ågren GI, Sebastia MT, Gouriveau F (2014) Temperature sensitivity of soil respiration rates enhanced by microbial community response. Nature 513(7516):81–84
- Kawashima T, Amano N, Koike H, Makino SI, Higuchi S, Kawashima-Ohya Y et al (2000) Archaeal adaptation to higher temperatures revealed by genomic sequence of *Thermoplasma* volcanium. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97(26):14257–14262
- Kennedy AC (1998) The rhizosphere and spermosphere. In: Sylvia DM, Fuhrmann JJ, Hartel PG, Zuberer DA (eds) Principles and applications of soil microbiology. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, pp 389–407
- Kloepper JW, Beauchamp CJ (1992) A review of issues related to measuring colonization of plant roots by bacteria. Can J Microbiol 38:1219–1232
- Koda N, Asaeda T, Yamade K, Kawahara H, Obata H (2001) A novel cryoprotective protein (CRP) with high activity from the ice-nucleating bacterium, *Pantoeaagglomerans* IFO12686. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 65(4):888–894
- Kong Z, Deng Z, Glick BR, Wei G, Chou M (2017) A nodule endophytic plant growth-promoting *Pseudomonas* and its effects on growth, nodulation and metal uptake in *Medicago lupulina* under copper stress. Ann Microbiol 67(1):49–58
- Lacercat-Didier L, Berthelot C, Foulon J, Errard A, Martino E, Chalot M, Blaudez D (2016) New mutualistic fungal endophytes isolated from poplar roots display high metal tolerance. Mycorrhiza 26(7):657–671

- Latef AA, Hashem A, Rasool S, Abd_Allah EF, Alqarawi AA, Egamberdieva D, Jan S, Anjum NA, Ahmad P (2016) Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and abiotic stress in plants: a review. J Plant Biol 59(5):407–426
- Li L, Li L, Wang X, Zhu P, Wu H, Qi S (2017) Plant growth-promoting endophyte Piriformospora indica alleviates salinity stress in *Medicago truncatula*. Plant Physiol Biochem 119:211–223
- Li X, Geng X, Xie R, Fu L, Jiang J, Gao L, Sun J (2016) The endophytic bacteria isolated from elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum* Schumach) promote plant growth and enhance salt tolerance of Hybrid *Pennisetum*. Biotechnol Biofuels 9(1):190
- Linderman RG (1992) Vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil microbial interactions. In: Bethlenfalvay GJ, Linderman RG (eds) Mycorrhizae in sustainable agriculture. ASA Special Publication, Madison, pp 45–70
- Liu J, Guo C, Chen ZL, He JD, Zou YN (2016) Mycorrhizal inoculation modulates root morphology and root phytohormone responses in trifoliate orange under drought stress. Emir J Food Agric 28(4):251–256
- Long HH, Schmidt DD, Baldwin IT (2008) Native bacterial endophytes promote host growth in a species-specific manner; phytohormone manipulations do not result in common growth responses. PLoS One 3(7):e2702
- Lugtenberg BJ, Caradus JR, Johnson LJ (2016) Fungal endophytes for sustainable crop production. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 92(12):fiw194
- Lynch JM (1990) The rhizosphere. Wiley, Chichester, pp 1-10
- Ma B, Lv X, Warren A, Gong J (2013) Shifts in diversity and community structure of endophytic bacteria and archaea across root, stem and leaf tissues in the common reed, *Phragmites australis*, along a salinity gradient in a marine tidal wetland of northern China. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 104(5):759–768
- Ma Y, Rajkumar M, Moreno A, Zhang C, Freitas H (2017) Serpentine endophytic bacterium *Pseudomonas azotoformans* ASS1 accelerates phytoremediation of soil metals under drought stress. Chemosphere 185:75–85
- Maček I, Dumbrell AJ, Nelson M et al (2011) Local adaptation to soil hypoxia determines the structure of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community in roots from natural CO₂springs. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:4770–4777
- Malinowski DP, Belesky DP (2000) Adaptations of endophyte-infected cool-season grasses to environmental stresses: mechanisms of drought and mineral stress tolerance. Crop Sci 40 (4):923–940
- Manzoni S, Schimel JP, Porporato A (2012) Responses of soil microbial communities to waterstress: results from a meta-analysis. Ecology 93:930–938
- Marasco R, Rolli E, Ettoumi B, Vigani G, Mapelli F, Borin S, Abou-Hadid AF, El-Behairy UA, Sorlini C, Cherif A, Zocchi G, Daffonchio D (2012) A drought resistance-promoting microbiome is selected by root system under desert farming. PLoS One 7:e48479–e48493
- Márquez LM, Redman RS, Rodriguez RJ, Roossinck MJ (2007) A virus in a fungus in a plant: three-way symbiosis required for thermal tolerance. Science 315(5135):513–515
- Martin J, Ulrich Hartl F (1997) Chaperone-assisted protein folding. Curr Opin Struct Biol 7 (1):41–52
- Martin R, Gazis R, Skaltsas D, Chaverri P, Hibbett D (2015) Unexpected diversity of basidiomycetous endophytes in sapwood and leaves of *Hevea*. Mycologia 107(2):284–297
- Mayak S, Tirosh T, Glick BR (2004) Plant growth-promoting bacteria that confer resistance to water stress in tomatoes and peppers. Plant Sci 166:525–530
- Millar NS, Bennett AE (2016) Stressed out symbiotes: hypotheses for the influence of abiotic stress on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Oecologia 182(3):625–641
- Molina-Montenegro MA, Oses R, Torres-Díaz C, Atala C, Zurita-Silva A, Ruiz-Lara S (2016) Root-endophytes improve the ecophysiological performance and production of an agricultural species under drought condition. AoB Plants 8:plw062

- Müller H, Berg C, Landa BB, Auerbach A, Moissl-Eichinger C, Berg G (2015) Plant genotypespecific archaeal and bacterial endophytes but similar *Bacillus* antagonists colonize Mediterranean olive trees. Front Microbiol 6:138
- Münchbach M, Nocker A, Narberhaus F (1999) Multiple small heat shock proteins in rhizobia. J Bacteriol 181(1):83–90
- Nannipieri P, Ascher J, Ceccherini M, Landi L, Pietramellara G, Renella G (2003) Microbial diversity and soil functions. Eur J Soil Sci 54(4):655–670
- Navarro-Torre S, Barcia-Piedras JM, Mateos-Naranjo E, Redondo-Gómez S, Camacho M, Caviedes MA, Pajuelo E, ID R-L (2017) Assessing the role of endophytic bacteria in the halophyte Arthrocnemum macrostachyum salt tolerance. Plant Biol 9(2):249–256
- Naveed M, Mitter B, Reichenauer TG, Wieczorek K, Sessitsch A (2014) Increased drought stress resilience of maize through endophytic colonization by *Burkholderia phytofirmans* PsJN and *Enterobacter* sp. FD17. Environ Exp Bot 97:30–39
- Newsham KK (2011) A meta-analysis of plant responses to dark septate root endophytes. New Phytol 190(3):783–793
- Oehl F, Sieverding E, Palenzuela J, Ineichen K (2011) Advances in *Glomeromycota* taxonomy and classification. IMA Fungus 2:191–199
- Oliveira MN, Santos TM, Vale HM, Delvaux JC, Cordero AP, Ferreira AB, Miguel PS, Tótola MR, Costa MD, Moraes CA, Borges AC (2013) Endophytic microbial diversity in coffee cherries of *Coffea arabica* from southeastern Brazil. Can J Microbiol 59(4):221–230
- Pace NR (1997) A molecular view of microbial diversity in the biosphere. Science 276:734–740
- Patten CL, Glick BR (1996) Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid. Can J Microbiol 42 (3):207–220
- Pedranzani H, Rodríguez-Rivera M, Gutiérrez M, Porcel R, Hause B, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2016) Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis regulates physiology and performance of *Digitaria eriantha* plants subjected to abiotic stresses by modulating antioxidant and jasmonate levels. Mycorrhiza 26(2):141–152
- Pereira SI, Monteiro C, Vega AL, Castro PM (2016) Endophytic culturable bacteria colonizing Lavandula dentata L. plants: isolation, characterization and evaluation of their plant growthpromoting activities. Ecol Eng 87:91–97
- Pollastri S, Savvides A, Pesando M, Lumini E, Volpe MG, Ozudogru EA, Faccio A, De Cunzo F, Michelozzi M, Lambardi M, Fotopoulos V (2017) Impact of two arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on *Arundo donax* L. response to salt stress. Planta 9:1–3
- Potters G, Pasternak TP, Guisez Y, Palme KJ, Jansen MA (2007) Stress-induced morphogenic responses: growing out of trouble? Trends Plant Sci 12(3):98–105
- Qin S, Feng WW, Wang TT, Ding P, Xing K, Jiang JH (2017) Plant growth-promoting effect and genomic analysis of the beneficial endophyte *Streptomyces* sp. KLBMP 5084 isolated from halophyte *Limonium sinense*. Plant Soil 416:117–132
- Quiroga G, Erice G, Aroca R, Chaumont F, Ruiz-Lozano JM (2017) Enhanced drought stress tolerance by the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in a drought-sensitive maize cultivar is related to a broader and differential regulation of host plant aquaporins than in a droughttolerant cultivar. Front Plant Sci 8:1056
- Rajkumar M, Lee KJ, Lee WH, Banu JR (2005) Growth of *Brassica juncea* under chromium stress: influence of siderophores and indole 3 acetic acid producing rhizosphere bacteria. J Environ Biol 26:693–699
- Redman RS, Kim YO, Woodward CJDA, Greer C, Espino L et al (2011) Increased fitness of rice plants to abiotic stress via habitat adapted symbiosis: a strategy for mitigating impacts of climate change. PLoS One 6:e14823–e14823
- Redman RS, Sheehan KB, Stout RG, Rodriguez RJ, Henson JM (2002) Thermotolerance generated by plant/fungal symbiosis. Science 298(5598):1581
- Repas TS, Gillis DM, Boubakir Z, Bao X, Samuels GJ, Kaminskyj SG (2017) Growing plants on oily, nutrient-poor soil using a native symbiotic fungus. PLoS One 12(10):e0186704

- Rodriguez RJ, Redman RS, Henson JM (2005) Symbiotic lifestyle expression by fungal endophytes and the adaptation of plants to stress: unraveling the complexities of intimacy. In: Dighton J, Oudemans P, White J (eds) The fungal community: its organization and role in the ecosystem. Taylor & Francis/CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 683–696
- Rodriguez RJ, Redman RS, Henson JM (2004) The role of fungal symbioses in the adaptation of plants to high stress environments. Mitig Adapt Strat Gl 9:261–272
- Rodriguez RJ, Henson J, Van Volkenburgh E (2008) Stress tolerance in plants via habitat-adapted symbiosis. ISME J 2:40416
- Rodriguez RJ, White JF, Arnold AE, Redman AR (2009) Fungal endophytes: diversity and functional roles. New Phytol 182:314–330
- Roger A, Colard A, Angelard C, Sanders IR (2013) Relatedness among arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi drives plant growth and intraspecific fungal coexistence. ISME J 7(11):2137–2146
- Romero FM, Marina M, Pieckenstain FL (2014) The communities of tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) leaf endophytic bacteria, analyzed by 16S-ribosomal RNA gene pyrosequencing. FEMS Microbiol Lett 351(2):187–194
- Roossinck MJ (2011) The good viruses: viral mutualistic symbioses. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:99-108
- Ruiz-Lozano JM, Aroca R (2017) Plant Aquaporins and Mycorrhizae: their regulation and involvement in plant physiology and performance. In: Chaumont F, Tyerman S (eds) Plant Aquaporins. Springer, Cham, pp 333–353
- Ruiz-Lozano JM, Aroca R, Zamarreño ÁM, Molina S, Andreo-Jiménez B, Porcel R, García-Mina JM, Ruyter-Spira C, López-Ráez JA (2016) Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis induces strigolactone biosynthesis under drought and improves drought tolerance in lettuce and tomato. Plant Cell Environ 39(2):441–452
- Ryffel F, Helfrich EJ, Kiefer P, Peyriga L, Portais JC, Piel J, Vorholt JA (2016) Metabolic footprint of epiphytic bacteria on *Arabidopsis thaliana* leaves. ISME J 10(3):632–643
- Salles JF, Le Roux X, Poly F (2012) Relating phylogenetic and functional diversity among denitrifiers and quantifying their capacity to predict community functioning. Front Microbiol 3:209
- Sandhya V, Grover M, Reddy G, Venkateswarlu B (2009) Alleviation of drought stress effects in sunflower seedlings by the exopolysaccharides producing *Pseudomonas putida* strain GAP-P45. Biol Fertil Soil 46(1):17–26
- Santos SG, Silva PR, Garcia AC, Zilli JE, Berbara RL (2017) Dark septate endophyte decreases stress on rice plants. Braz J Microbiol 48(2):333–341
- Saravanakumar D, Samiyappan R (2007) ACC deaminase from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* mediated saline resistance in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea*) plants. J Appl Microbiol 102:1283–1292
- Schimel JP, Schaeffer SM (2012) Microbial control over carbon cycling in soil. Front Microbiol 3:348
- Selvakumar G, Kundu S, Joshi P, Nazim S, Gupta AD, Mishra PK, Gupta HS (2008a) Characterization of a cold-tolerant plant growth-promoting bacterium *Pantoeadispersa* 1A isolated from a sub-alpine soil in the North Western Indian Himalayas. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 24 (7):955–960
- Selvakumar G, Mohan M, Kundu S, Gupta AD, Joshi P, Nazim S, Gupta HS (2008b) Cold tolerance and plant growth promotion potential of *Serratia marcescens* strain SRM (MTCC 8708) isolated from flowers of summer squash (*Cucurbita pepo*). Lett Appl Microbiol 46 (2):171–175
- Sessitsch A, Reiter B, Berg B (2004) Endophytic bacterial communities of field grown potato plants and their plant growth promoting and antagonistic abilities. Can J Microbiol 50:239–349
- Shearin ZR, Filipek M, Desai R, Bickford WA, Kowalski KP, Clay K (2018) Fungal endophytes from seeds of invasive, non-native Phragmites australis and their potential role in germination and seedling growth. Plant Soil 422(1–2):183–194
- Sherameti I, Tripathi S, Varma A, Oelmüller R (2009) The root-colonizing endophyte *pirifomospora indica* confers drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* by stimulating the expression of drought stress–related genes in leaves. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 21:799–807

- Singhal U, Attri MK, Varma A (2017) Mass cultivation of mycorrhiza-like fungus *Piriformospora indica* (*Serendipita indica*) by batch in bioreactor. In: Mycorrhiza-function, diversity, state of the art 2017. Springer, Cham, pp 365–384
- Smith SE, Read DJ (2008) Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 3rd edn. Academic, New York/London/ Burlington/San Diego
- Stajner D, Kevreaan S, Gasaic O, Mimica-Dudic N, Zongli H (1997) Nitrogen and *Azotobacter chroococcum* enhance oxidative stress tolerance in sugar beet. Biol Plant 39:441–445
- Streitwolf-Engel R, Van der Heijden MG, Wiemken A, Sanders IR (2001) The ecological significance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal effects on clonal reproduction in plants. Ecology 82 (10):2846–2859
- Sun X, Guo LD (2012) Endophytic fungal diversity: review of traditional and molecular techniques. Mycology 3(1):65–76
- Sziderics AH, Rasche F, Trognitz F, Sessitsch A, Wilhelm E (2007) Bacterial endophytes contribute to abiotic stress adaptation in pepper plants (*Capsicum annuum* L.). Can J Microbiol 53:1195–1202
- Talibart R, Jebbar M, Gouesbet G, Himdi-Kabbab S, Wroblewski H, Blanco C, Bernard T (1994) Osmoadaptation in rhizobia: ectoine-induced salt tolerance. J Bacteriol 176(17):5210–5217
- Tanapichatsakul C, Monggoot S, Gentekaki E, Pripdeevech P (2017) Antibacterial and antioxidant metabolites of Diaporthe spp. isolated from flowers of *Melodorum fruticosum*. Curr Microbiol 20:1–8
- Tokala RK, Strap JL, Jung CM, Crawford DL, Salove MH, Deobald LA et al (2002) Novel plantmicrobe rhizosphere interaction involving *Streptomyceslydicus* WYEC108 and the pea plant (*Pisum sativum*). Appl Environ Microbiol 68(5):2161–2171
- Treseder KK (2004) A meta-analysis of mycorrhizal responses to nitrogen, phosphorus, and atmospheric CO2 in field studies. New Phytol 164(2):347–355
- Verma S, Varma A, Rexer KH, Hassel A, Kost G, Sarbhoy A, Bisen P, Bütehorn B, Franken P (1998) *Piriformospora indica*, gen. et sp. nov., a new root-colonizing fungus. Mycologia 90 (5):896–903. https://doi.org/10.2307/3761331
- Waller F, Achatz B, Baltruschat H, Fodor J, Becker K, Fischer M et al (2005) The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica*reprograms barley to salt-stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:13386–13391
- Wang JL, Li T, Liu GY, Smith JM, Zhao ZW (2016) Unraveling the role of dark septate endophyte (DSE) colonizing maize (*Zea mays*) under cadmium stress: physiological, cytological and genic aspects. Sci Rep 6:22028
- Wu S, Xia RX (2006) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence growth, osmotic adjustment and photosynthesis of citrus under well-watered and water stress conditions. J Plant Physiol 163:417–425
- Xu P, Chen F, Mannas JP, Feldman T, Sumner LW, Roossinck MJ (2008) Virus infection improves drought tolerance. New Phytol 180(4):911–921
- Yang J, Kloepper JW, Ryu CM (2009) Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. Trends Plant Sci 14(1):1–4
- Zahir ZA, Munir A, Asghar HN, Shaharoona B, Arshad M (2008) Effectiveness of rhizobacteria containing ACC deaminase for growth promotion of peas (*Pisum sativum*) under drought conditions. J Microbiol Biotechnol 18(5):958–963
- Zak DR, Holmes WE, MacDonald NW, Pregitzer KS (1999) Soil temperature, matric potential, and the kinetics of microbial respiration and nitrogen mineralization. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63 (3):575–584
- Zaremba-Niedzwiedzka K, Caceres EF, Saw JH, Bäckström D, Juzokaite L, Vancaester E, Seitz KW, Anantharaman K, Starnawski P, Kjeldsen KU, Stott MB (2017) Asgard archaea illuminate the origin of eukaryotic cellular complexity. Nature 541(7637):353–358
- Zeiller M, Rothballer M, Iwobi AN, Böhnel H, Gessler F, Hartmann A, Schmid M (2015) Systemic colonization of clover (*Trifolium repens*) by *Clostridium botulinum* strain 2301. Front Microbiol 6:1207

- Zgadzaj R, James EK, Kelly S, Kawaharada Y, de Jonge N, Jensen DB, Madsen LH, Radutoiu S (2015) A legume genetic framework controls infection of nodules by symbiotic and endophytic bacteria. PLoS Genet 11(6):e1005280
- Zhang Q, Gong M, Yuan J, Hou Y, Zhang H, Wang Y, Hou X (2017) Dark septate endophyte improves drought tolerance in sorghum. Int J Agric Biol 19(1):53–60
- Zhao S, Zhou N, Zhao ZY, Zhang K, Wu GH, Tian CY (2016) Isolation of endophytic plant growth-promoting bacteria associated with the halophyte Salicornia europaea and evaluation of their promoting activity under salt stress. Curr Microbiol 73(4):574–581
- Zhu X, Song F, Liu S, Liu F (2016) Arbuscular mycorrhiza improve growth, nitrogen uptake, and nitrogen use efficiency in wheat grown under elevated CO2. Mycorrhiza 26(2):133–140
- Zilber-Rosenberg I, Rosenberg E (2008) Role of microorganisms in the evolution of animals and plants: the hologenome theory of evolution. FEMS Microbiol Rev 32(5):723–735

Part III

Scientific Approaches for Assessing Stress Impacts on Crops


Field Crop Response to Water Deficit Stress: 1 Assessment Through Crop Models

Rajkumar Dhakar, M. A. Sarath Chandran, Shivani Nagar, V. Visha Kumari, A. V. M. Subbarao, Santanu Kumar Bal, and P. Vijaya Kumar

Abstract

Improving water productivity is a major concern globally and more problematic in arid and semiarid regions. Decision support system based on crop simulation models can be a handy tool for improving water use efficiency. In this chapter, we have described and compared how water stress factor is quantified in seven widely used crop models, viz. DSSAT, APSIM, FAO-AquaCrop, InfoCrop, CropSyst, STICS and WOFOST. In general, these models use either threshold of soil water availability or ratio of actual to potential transpiration approaches as a measure of water stress. Further, the mechanisms by which these models account for effect of water stress on crop phenology, leaf/canopy growth, dry matter production and its partitioning are discussed. The chapter ends with reviews of crop model intercomparison for simulating crop performance under water deficit conditions. Achieving enhanced water use efficiency by optimizing crop water use through crop simulation models is a challenging task. Inaccurate and oversimplified quantification of crop water stress and its effect on growth and development of crop is a major reason for poor performance of current crop models under water-limited environments. However, incorporation of the improved understanding of physiological effects of water deficit stress on crop growth and development in the current crop growth models has the potential to adequately simulate the crop water productivity under water-shortage environments.

S. Nagar

R. Dhakar $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$. A. Sarath Chandran \cdot V. Visha Kumari \cdot A. V. M. Subbarao \cdot S. K. Bal P. Vijaya Kumar

ICAR-Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA), Hyderabad, Telangana, India e-mail: raj.dhakar@icar.gov.in; ma.sarath@icar.gov.in; v.visha@icar.gov.in; avms.rao@icar.gov.in; santanu.bal@icar.gov.in; pv.kumar@icar.gov.in

ICAR-Indian Institute of Soybean Research, Indore, Madhya Pradesh, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_11

Keywords

 $\label{eq:stress} Phenology \cdot Abiotic \ stress \cdot Simulation \cdot Growth \ and \ development \cdot Intercomparison$

11.1 Introduction

Global food production is negatively affected by various biotic and abiotic stresses. Agricultural research around the globe is focused to minimize the production losses due to biotic and abiotic stresses, especially in this era of climate change. Abiotic stresses include drought, salinity, elevated temperature, nutrient deficiencies, frost, etc. Among several environmental factors, water is the major factor limiting crop production at global level. Crops experience water stress when the demand for water is not met by the supply through soil (either by rainfall or irrigation). Plenty of literature is available on the effect of crop water stress on growth and yield of different crops across the world. With advances in science, our understanding of crop water stress and processes through which it affects growth and yield of crops has improved.

Advances in crop physiology and molecular biology have enabled us with a better understanding of the processes through which water stress affects crop growth and yield. Another approach to study the crop ecosystem is with the use of crop simulation models. Crop models are widely used to understand the effect of weather parameters, soil properties and crop management practices on yield, yield prediction, irrigation scheduling, etc. Dynamic crop simulation models are process based, and they employ various established theories and processes in the model to simulate the effect of weather, soil and crop components on growth and yield of crops. Different models rely on different concepts of crop water stress to account its effect on crop production. Though it is easy to define crop water stress, accurate quantification of crop water stress and its representation in crop models is still a challenge in cropping system modelling (Anapalli et al. 2008). This chapter is mainly focused on how different crop models account for crop water stress and how they simulate effect of crop water stress on different growth parameters and yield. Differences in the principles followed by different crop models in quantifying crop water stress may result in varied effects on growth parameters and yield, which points out the necessity for having ensemble of crop models for systems modelling.

This chapter will provide an insight into the quantification of crop water stress in seven crop simulation models, viz. DSSAT, APSIM, AquaCrop, WOFOST, CropSyst, InfoCrop and STICS, and simulation of the impact of water stress on growth and yield in these models. The chapter also includes review on comparison of multiple crop modelling studies in simulating effect of crop water stress on growth parameters and yield.

11.2 Physiology of Water Stress on Growth and Development in Crop Plants

Water deficit stress can be defined as a situation in which plant water potential and turgor are reduced enough to interfere with normal functions. A simplified representation of comparative sensitivity of water deficit stress to phenological development (Fig. 11.1) showed that cereals are more sensitive to water deficit at or just before anthesis (Fischer 1973) and it affects yield by reducing the number of grains per ear rather than ear number or grain size. Drought stress at early growth stage causes impaired germination and poor crop stand (Harris et al. 2002). Drought stress occurring during vegetative stage reduces the rate of tiller appearance in cereals, but as a consequence of compensatory response of re-watering, contrasting effects were reported with more number of tillers in barley (Aspinall et al. 1964) and no-tiller in wheat (Armstrong et al. 1996).



Fig. 11.1 Schematic representation showing relative sensitivity (in terms of bandwidth) of developmental phases to water deficit stress in cereals. (Adopted from Brian et al. 1999)



Fig. 11.2 Flow chart explaining possible mechanism of diminished growth under water deficit stress (Adopted from Farooq et al. 2009)

Growth in terms of cell division and cell elongation is one of the most water deficit-sensitive physiological processes caused by reduction in turgor pressure and impaired mitosis (Fig. 11.2). As a consequence, decreased plant height, leaf area and crop growth occur under drought (Hussain et al. 2008, Farooq et al. 2009).

Timing, severity and duration of water deficit stress alter the initiation and length of development phases. Water stress during pre-anthesis in *triticale* genotypes caused reduction in anthesis time, while at post-anthesis it shortened the grain filling period (Estrada-Campuzano et al. 2008). Drought stress during panicle development inhibits the conversion of vegetative to reproductive phase and makes the plants to remain in the vegetative phase until the stress is relieved. Panicle initiation in sorghum was delayed by as many as 2–25 days and flowering by 1–59 days under drought stress, with more severe effects when drought was imposed both at early and late stage of panicle development (Craufurd et al. 1993). In maize, water stress reduced yield by delaying silking, thus increasing the anthesis-to-silking interval. This trait was highly correlated with grain yield, specifically ear and kernel number per plant (Cattivelli et al. 2008). Prevailing drought reduces plant growth and development, leading to hampered flower production and grain filling and thus smaller and fewer grains. A reduction in grain filling occurs due to a reduction in the assimilate partitioning and activities of sucrose and starch synthesis enzymes. Water deficit reduces leaf expansion rates (Barlow 1986). In wheat and maize, drought stress can also reduce the rate of leaf appearance (Abrecht and Carberry 1993, Armstrong et al. 1996). Therefore, stressed crops have lower leaf area indices and intercept less radiation. This is the major reason for reduced crop growth during vegetative growth. Drought stress causes considerable reduction in relative water content, leaf water potential and transpiration rate, with an associated increase in leaf



temperature (Siddique et al. 2000). Abbate et al. (2004) reported higher water use efficiency under water deficit stress condition, compared to no-water stress condition in wheat.

Reduction in photosynthesis due to drought is mainly caused by decrease in leaf expansion, damaged photosynthetic machinery, premature leaf senescence and associated decrease in food production (Wahid et al. 2005). Drought induces stomatal closure which limits the CO_2 supply and disturbs the balance between reactive oxygen species and antidefense system causing oxidative stress. These collective responses of water stress cause metabolic changes, reduction in photosynthesis and overall decrease in growth rate of the plant (Fig. 11.3).

Drought stress also alters the assimilate partitioning. Drought stress frequently enhances allocation of dry matter to the roots, which can enhance water uptake (Leport et al. 1999). The rate of export of non-reducing sugar (sucrose) from source to sink organs relies upon the current rate of photo-assimilation and level of sugar in the leaves (Komor 2000). Along with limitation of source, sink strength of reproductive organs is also affected by drought, which regulates the fruit/grain setting (Zinselmeier et al. 1999).

11.3 Water Stress Factor in Different Crop Simulation Models

This section discusses the various approaches by which effect of water stress is accounted in crop simulation models, viz. DSSAT, APSIM, InfoCrop, FAO-AquaCrop, STICS, CropSyst, DAISY and WOFOST.

WOFOST WOFOST stands for WOrld FOod STudies, and it is mainly used for quantitative analysis of growth and production of annual field crops (Boogaard et al. 1998). The water stress factor is included in estimation of actual transpiration rate. The excess or shortage of water in the root zone is measured as soil water content and not as soil water potential (Eitzinger et al. 2004). The transpiration reduction factor (R_{ws}) during water stress period is represented as

$$R_{\rm ws} = \frac{\left(\theta_{\rm t} - \theta_{\rm wp}\right)}{\left(\theta_{\rm ws} - \theta_{\rm wp}\right)}$$

where ' θ_t ' is the actual soil moisture content, ' θ_{wp} ' is the soil moisture content at permanent wilting point and ' θ_{ws} ' is the critical soil moisture content. Critical soil moisture is defined as the soil water content below which root water uptake is affected and the stomata is closed. The value of R_{ws} ranges from zero to one; the lowest water stress is represented by one, and highest water stress is represented by zero.

STICS The STICS model calculates three water stress indices, which acts on transpiration and radiation use efficiency (*swfac*), above-ground growth (*turfac*) (Brisson et al. 2009) and leaf senescence (*senfac*). These water stress indices are fractions ranging between 0 and 1. STICS assumes that the effect of water stress on *swfac*, *turfac* and *senfac* is different.

These three stress indices depend on available water content in the root zone (TETA) according to bilinear laws (Fig. 11.4) and are activated by different



Fig. 11.4 Water stress indices as a function of the available water content in the root zone (TETA). (Adapted from Brisson et al. 2009)

thresholds (TETSTOMATE, TETURG and TETSEN). Brisson et al. (2009) also contains the equations for calculating TURFAC and SWFAC as explained below:

if TETA (I) < TETURG, TURFAC =
$$\frac{\text{TETA (I)}}{\text{TETURG}}$$

and

$$\label{eq:if_teta} \begin{split} \text{if } \mathsf{TETA}(I) < \mathsf{TETSTOMATE}, \mathsf{SWFAC} &= \frac{\mathsf{TETA}\ (I)}{\mathsf{TETSTOMATE}}, \\ \text{if } \mathsf{TETA}(I) \geq \mathsf{TETURG}, \mathsf{TURFAC} = 1 \quad \text{if } \mathsf{TETA}(I) \\ &\geq \mathsf{TETSTOMATE}, \mathsf{SWFAC} = 1 \end{split}$$

where TETURG is the threshold of TETA below which TURFAC decreases (cm⁻³ cm⁻³) and TETSTOMATE is the threshold of TETA below which SWFAC decreases (cm⁻³ cm⁻³).

Effect of water stress on leaf growth is expressed as

$$II DELTAI = \left(\frac{DLAIMAX}{[1 + emp 5.5(2.2 - ULAI)]}\right) * (TCULT - TCMIN)$$
$$* min (TURFAC, INNS) EFDENSITE * DENSITE$$

where DELTAI is the net leaf growth, DLAIMAX is the maximum rate of setting up of LAI, ULAI is the physiological time unit for calculation of LAI between day of seedling emergence and the first day of maximum LAI, TCULT is the crop temperature (assumed to be the arithmetic mean of maximum crop temperature and minimum crop temperature), TCMIN is the minimum temperature of growth, INNS is the nitrogen stress factor, EFDENSITE is the planting density effect and DENSITE is the plant density.

Effect of water stress on above-ground biomass is represented as

$$DLTAMS * 100 = [EBMAX * RAINT - 0.0815 * RAINT2]$$
$$* f(TCULT) * SWFAC * INNS$$

where DLTAMS is the daily growth rate, EBMAX is the maximum radiation use efficiency, RAINT is the solar radiation intercepted by the crop, TCULT is explained before, SWFAC is the water stress factor and INNS is the nitrogen stress factor.

FAO AquaCrop FAO has developed AquaCrop model to simulate attainable yield under water-limiting conditions. AquaCrop uses ground cover of canopy in place of leaf area index. The model accounts for effect of water stress on canopy expansion, canopy senescence, stomatal conductance and harvest index. Other crop simulation models discussed in this chapter are mainly focused on effect of water stress on photosynthesis. But AquaCrop has focused on effect of water stress on canopy expansion and senescence. AquaCrop segregates the effect of water stress on canopy cover in to three components, viz. (a) reduction in expansion rate, (b) reduction in stomatal conductance and (c) acceleration of senescence (Steduto et al. 2009). A water stress coefficient (K_s) is used to quantify the effect of water stress, which ranges from one (no stress) to zero (maximum stress). Stress occurs as a result of depletion in relative soil water content of root zone approaching an upper threshold value, p, which ranges between zero and one. When the threshold value is reached, water stress factor (K_s) is computed using the equation (Steduto et al. 2009):

$$K_{\mathrm{s}} = 1 - rac{\left(e^{D_{\mathrm{rel}} * f_{\mathrm{shape}}} - 1
ight)}{\left(e^{f_{\mathrm{shape}}} - 1
ight)}$$

where D_{rel} is the relative depletion of root zone soil water content and the parameter f_{shape} influences the shape of the function K_s .

CropSyst CropSyst is a multi-year, multi-crop, daily/hourly time step cropping system simulation model developed to serve as an analytical tool to study the effects of climate, soils and management on cropping systems (Stockle et al. 1994, 2003, 2010). An overall stress index is determined using the following as 'one minus ratio of actual to overall potential biomass growth for each day of the growing season'. Overall potential growth is defined as the growth calculated from potential transpiration substituted for actual transpiration. The overall stress index is divided into different stress indices, viz. light, temperature, water and nitrogen, and their values indicate the plant response to environmental conditions. The value of all these indices ranges from zero to one, where zero denotes no stress and one represents maximum stress.

Water stress factor (SWSF) is defined as (Anapalli et al. 2008):

$$SWSF = \frac{AT}{PT}$$

where AT is the actual transpiration and PT is the potential transpiration.

APSIM Soil deficit factors account for the effects of soil water stress on different plant growth processes. Sensitivity of photosynthesis, phenology, leaf expansion and nitrogen fixation to water stress is accounted by four water deficit factors that are calculated (https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/Model,CropandSoil/CropModuleDocumentation/Plant.aspx).

Water availability ratio is calculated using the following formula:

Water availability ratio =
$$\frac{(sw - ll)}{(dul - ll)}$$

where 'sw' is soil moisture content on volume basis, 'll' is equivalent to permanent wilting point, and 'dul' is equivalent to field capacity of soil. The value of stress factor ranges from zero to one, in which zero represents complete stress and one represents no stress. **InfoCrop** InfoCrop model is a generic model designed to simulate the effects of weather, soils, agronomic management (including planting, nitrogen, residues and irrigation) and major pests on crop yield and its associated environmental impacts (Aggarwal et al. 2006). It accounts for crop production under water-limited conditions with soil water balance and effect of water stress factors on crop growth and phenology. Water stress factor is defined as

Water stress factor = $\frac{\text{Actual water uptake}}{\text{Potential transpiration}}$

The value of water stress factor ranges from zero (maximum water stress) under depleted soil water conditions to one (no water stress) when actual water uptake is equal to potential transpiration. Aggarwal et al. (2006) have discussed that the effect of water stress during sowing is simulated indirectly by increasing the thermal time, thereby reducing the rate of germination.

DSSAT Decision Support System for Agro-technology Transfer (DSSAT) consists of various crop models executed under a single umbrella (Tsuji et al. 1994). There are two types of crop models, viz. CERES for cereal crops and CROPGRO for legumes. The soil water balance in DSSAT is based on Ritchie's model which uses a one-dimensional 'tipping bucket' soil water balance approach (Ritchie 1972, Ritchie 1981a, b). The fundamental aspect of estimating water stress in DSSAT is the comparison between potential transpiration (demand) and potential root water uptake (plant extractable soil water) (Anapalli et al. 2008). DSSAT accounts for the effect of water stress by two stress factors, viz. TURFAC and SWFAC. Under conditions where water is not a limitation, maximum root water uptake will be higher than potential transpiration. As the soil water content decreases due to uptake, maximum root water uptake decreases. At a critical stage, TURFAC is activated (Fig. 11.5).

TURFAC restricts the expansive growth of crops and is calculated using the formula (Anapalli et al. 2008):

$TURFAC = \frac{TRWUP}{RWUEP1 * EP0}$

where TRWUP is potential root water uptake and RWUEP1 is a species-specific parameter which was given a value of 1.5 for all crops included in DSSAT and EP_0 is the potential transpiration. The second stress factor called SWFAC affects crop phenology, growth and biomass-related processes. It is activated when potential transpiration demand equals or exceeds potential root water uptake, and it is defined as



Fig. 11.5 Relationship used to calculate water stress factors TURFAC SWFAC in DSSAT. (Ritchie 1998)

$$SWFAC = \frac{TRWUP}{EP0}$$

The value of both stress factors ranges from zero to one, where one represents no stress and zero represents maximum stress.

11.4 Effect of Water Stress on Plant Growth and Development

This section explains how different crop models simulate the effect of water stress on plant growth and physiological processes like phenology, leaf expansion and canopy growth, dry matter production and its partitioning. This section also discusses the studies on evaluation of different crop models for water-limited condition through practical field experiments.

Parent and Tardieu (2014) divided the current crop models into two classes, i.e. (a) in parallel and (b) in series, for distinguishing the effect of water stress on leaf area and biomass (Fig. 11.6). Models of 'in parallel' class simulate the processes independent to each other, but their feedbacks coordinate them. However, models of 'in series' class simulate the processes in such a way that one process affects the others via a cascade of events.

11.5 Effect of Water Stress on Phenology

DSSAT In DSSAT-CERES models, phenology of crops is solely influenced by temperature or thermal time, whereas generic CROPGRO module accounts the effect of stresses (water, nitrogen, phosphorus) as a modifier on the basic



Fig. 11.6 Flowchart explaining the responses to water deficit stress on leaf expansion and biomass accumulation in the two classes of current crop models. (Adapted from Parent and Tardieu 2014)

temperature and photoperiod influence on phenology. During planting to emergence phase, only water content in top 10 cm layer has the influence on phenology. During first development phase, SWFEM function is used as a measure to calculate relative rate modifier for the water stress. SWFEM is a measure of how close soil water is to the field capacity. The value of SWFEM between 20 and 100 would not affect the development progress; it means extreme dry or extreme wet would delay or stop development progress. During later phases, water stress factor for photosynthesis (SWFAC) with a scale factor WSENP (-1 to +1) is used to influence the development progress. When SWFAC is 0.0 (maximum stress), a value of -1.0 WSENP would slow development progress by a factor of 2.0 (Hoogenboom et al. 2003).

APSIM: Generic Plant Module Between emergence and flowering stages, the calculated 'daily_thermal_time' is moderated by water or nitrogen stresses, causing delayed phenology under stress. Sowing to germination is reliant on soil moisture status only. If seed is sown under sufficient soil moisture condition (specified by pesw_germ), the germination would happen 1 day after sowing (https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/



Fig. 11.7 Effect of soil water stress factor on phenology (fW.pheno) and the ratio of available soil water (esw_a/esw_p) in APSIM-wheat. (Source: https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/Model, CropandSoil/CropModule Documentation/Wheat.aspx)

Model, CropandSoil/CropModuleDocumentation/Plant.aspx). For each crop growth stage, simulated daily thermal time (TT') is governed by following expression:

$$TT' = \sum \left[\Delta TT * \min(fD, fV) * \min(fW.pheno, fN.pheno, fP.pheno) \right]$$

where Δ TT is daily thermal time, fD is photoperiod factor, fV is vernalization factor and fW.pheno, fN.pheno and fP.phenology are water stress factor, nitrogen stress factor and phosphorus stress factor for phenology, respectively.

Effect of soil water stress on crop phenology is determined by the soil water stress:

$$f_{w.pheno} = h_{w.pheno} \left(\frac{esw_a}{esw_p} \right)$$

where 'esw_a' is the root zone soil water that is actually extractable by plants, 'esw_p' is the root zone soil water that is potentially extractable by plants, and 'h_w. _{pheno} is a function of soil water available ratio and soil water stress, which is defined by parameters 'x_sw_avail_ratio' and 'y_swdef_pheno' in '.xml' and linearly interpolated by APSIM. In the current version of APSIM-wheat module, no soil water stress for phenology is applied (Fig. 11.7).

Sensitivity of phenology and nitrogen fixation to water deficit stress is shown in Fig. 11.8. It shows that nitrogen fixation is sensitive to even mild water stress, while phenology is influenced by severe water stress.



AquaCrop Phenology of crop in AquaCrop is dependent only on user-defined species-specific thermal time. It does not consider the effect of any stresses on phenology (Steduto et al. 2009).

InfoCrop Phenology is calculated by integrating the temperature-driven developmental rates of different phases. During sowing to seedling emergence, water stress delays emergence in many crop plants. The thermal time can be increased depending upon the available water fraction in the surface soil layer. During vegetative and reproductive stages, rate of development is modulated by water and nitrogen stress-dependent temporary function, MAXSTD (Aggarwal et al. 2006).

The rate of development during vegetative stage (DRV) is calculated as

$$DRV = (HUVG*DAYLC*MAXSTD)/TTVG$$

The rate of development during reproductive stage (DRR) is calculated as

$$DRR = (AMIN1(TPOPT, TPAV) - TGBD) * MAXSTD/TTGF$$

where HUVG is the daily increment in heat units, DAYLC is the day length (photoperiod) correction factor, TPOT is the optimum temperature, TPAV is the daily mean temperature and TTVG and TTGF are the thermal time requirements to complete vegetative and grain filling phases, respectively.

CropSyst Simulation of phenology is based on accumulation of thermal time which is accelerated by water stress. This was conceptualized as canopy temperature increases with the increasing severity of water stress (Stockle et al. 2003).

STICS Emergence of crop depends upon the temperature and water status of seedbed as well as sowing depth. Thermal time in STICS can be calculated by using both air temperature and crop temperature; the latter accounts the effect of water stress on accelerated phenology. STICS also simulate the effect of early stress in delaying the flowering, which is accounted by multiplying maximum of stress

factor for water and nitrogen to developmental unit up to onset of filling of harvested organ (DRP) stage (Brisson et al. 2003).

WOFOST Phenological development in WOFOST, which is calculated by thermal time concept and modified by the photoperiod, does not take in to account the effect of water stress on phenological development (Boogaard et al. 2014).

11.6 Effect of Water Stress on Leaf or Canopy Growth

DSSAT Leaf weight growth and specific leaf area are the two parameters which influence the leaf area expansion, and the latter (specific leaf area) is modified by temperature, light and water deficit. In DSSAT-CSM, the turgor factor TURFAC (SWDF2) is initiated after a certain threshold of soil dryness, and it modulates expansive growth (Hoogenboom et al. 2003). Since leaf expansion is more sensitive to water stress compared to photosynthesis or accumulation of dry matter, the cropspecific parameter (RWUEP1) is set as 1.5 which facilitates the decrease in turgor pressure in leaves before reducing photosynthesis (Fig. 11.9).

APSIM: Generic Plant Module Water stress factor for leaf expansion is determined as follows:



Fig. 11.9 Effect of water stress factors on leaf/canopy growth and photosynthesis in DSSAT



Fig. 11.10 Influence of soil water stress factor on leaf expansion (fW,expan) and soil water supply: demand ratio (We/Wd) in APSIM. (Source: https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/Model,CropandSoil/CropModuleDocumentation/Plant.aspx)

$$f_{W.expan} = h_{W.expan} \left(\frac{W_u}{W_d} \right)$$

where ' W_u ' is the crop water uptake, ' W_d ' is the crop water demand, and ' $h_{w.expan}$ ' is a function of soil water content and stress and is defined by parameters '**x_sw_demand_ratio'** and '**y_swdef_leaf'** in the '.xml', which is linearly interpolated by APSIM (Fig. 11.10).

The relationship between the stress factor for leaf expansion and photosynthesis with water availability ratio is shown in Fig. 11.11. It shows that leaf expansion is more sensitive process to deficit of water stress than photosynthesis.

AquaCrop Canopy growth in AquaCrop is simulated in terms of canopy cover (CC), as it is the most crucial feature of AquaCrop and determines expansion, ageing, conductance and senescence. AquaCrop does not simulate the leaf area index (LAI). It is an established fact that leaf expansion is the most sensitive processes to water deficit stress in comparison to senescence and stomatal conductance (Steduto et al. 2009). The same principle is followed in the AquaCrop model. It can be seen from Fig. 11.12 that lower threshold for leaf expansion (b) is set substantially at p value less than one, while lower threshold for stomatal conductance and senescence is set at p value of one (i.e. at PWP).

During the crop development stage (when CC is between 10% to maximum CC), leaf growth through adjustment of canopy growth coefficient (CGC) is modulated by water stress coefficient of expansive growth (K_{Sexp}) by the following expression:



Fig. 11.12 Relationship between stress coefficients (Ks) for leaf expansion (exp), stomatal conductance (sto) and canopy senescence (sen) and relative availability of soil water. (Steduto et al. 2009)

$$CGC_{adi} = Ks_{exp} * CGC$$

As Ks_{exp} ranges from 1 to 0, the rate of canopy growth starts to decline from its potential rate when depletion of soil water reaches the upper threshold and stops completely when the depletion reaches the lower threshold. AquaCrop permits growth of canopy cover up to 50% flowering, especially in determinant crops, water stress during this period prevents the canopy cover to reach its maximum

resulting in smaller canopy size. If water stress becomes severe, it can also trigger the canopy senescence during its development phase.

Senescence of the canopy can be accelerated by severe water stress any time during the life cycle. This is estimated by adjusting canopy death coefficient (CDC) through the water stress coefficient for the acceleration of senescence (Ks_{sen}), with the following equation:

$$CDC_{adj} = (1 - Ks_{sen}) * CGC$$

InfoCrop In the initial stage of development (when LAI is less than 0.75), leaf growth rate is mainly influenced by temperature and moderated by nitrogen stress and not by water stress. Thereafter, growth rate in LAI (RLAI) is calculated based on initial LAI (LAII), leaf area growth rate (GLAI), death rate of LAI (DLAI) and net loss of LAI due to pests (LALOSS) and transplanting (Aggarwal et al. 2004).

$$RLAI = LAII + GLAI - DLAI - LAI * (1 - PLTR) - LALOSS$$

Simulation of senescence (DLAI) is based on several empirical constants relating to shading, ageing, nitrogen mobilization, temperature, water stress and death due to pests and diseases. The water stress accelerates senescence depending upon its severity.

CropSyst The increase of leaf area during the vegetative period, expressed as leaf area per unit soil area (leaf area index, LAI), is calculated as a function of biomass accumulation, specific leaf area and a partitioning coefficient. Leaf area duration, specified in terms of thermal time and modulated by water stress, determines canopy senescence (Stockle et al. 2003).

STICS Leaf growth in STICS is simulated in various ways. The standard option has the net balance of growth and senescence. The option of simulating effect of stresses (water and nitrogen) on senescence is also available in STICS. The concept of lifetime (in degree days) is applied to above-ground biomass production, taking into account the senescence induced by water stress and nitrogen stress. The effect of severe water, nitrogen and low temperature stresses on leaf area is simulated through setting a threshold (0.7 for the minimum of water stress and nitrogen stress indices) which causes reduction in accumulation of biomass induced by senescence. It is also assumed that this loss in biomass cannot be compensated by the growth of new leaves (Brisson et al. 2003).

Effect of water stress on leaf growth is expressed as

$$ll DELTAI = \left(\frac{DLAIMAX}{[1 + emp 5.5(2.2 - ULAI)]}\right) * (TCULT - TCMIN)$$
$$* min(TURFAC, INNS) EFDENSITE * DENSITE$$

where DELTAI is the net leaf growth, DLAIMAX is the maximum rate of setting up of LAI, ULAI is the physiological time unit for calculation of LAI between day of seedling emergence and the first day of maximum LAI, TCULT is the canopy temperature (assumed to be the average of maximum canopy temperature and minimum canopy temperature), TCMIN is the minimum temperature of growth, INNS is the nitrogen stress factor, EFDENSITE is the planting density effect and DENSITE is the plant density.

WOFOST Leaf growth is driven by the increase in leaf biomass, and its conversion to leaf area is done by specific leaf area (m^2/g of dry biomass). Thus, water stress does not affect leaf growth directly, rather affected via effect on leaf biomass. However, leaf senescence may be induced by drought stress (Boogaard et al. 2014).

11.7 Effect of Water Stress on Dry Matter Production

DSSAT CERES model uses the radiation efficiency approach to calculate daily plant growth rate. In this model, potential growth rate is modified by the stresses like temperature; water deficit and surplus; nutrient deficiency, mainly nitrogen; and soil fertility. The daily plant growth rate (per plant basis) is calculated as

$$PCARB = \frac{RUE*PAR}{PLTPOP} \left(1 - e^{(-k*LAI)}\right) * CO_2$$

where PCARB = potential growth rate (g/plant), RUE = radiation use efficiency (g/MJ), PAR = photosynthetically active radiation (MJ/m²/day), PLTPOP = plant population (plants/m²), k = light extinction factor, LAI = leaf area index and $CO_2 = CO_2$ modification factor.

PCARB is modified by the stresses (varies from 0 to 1) and follows the law of limiting factor. It means PCARB is modified by the most limiting stress among all accounted stresses. The actual growth rate (CARBO) is calculated as

where PRFT = temperature effect, SWFAC = water deficit effect, NSTRES = nitrogen stress effect, SATFAC = water surplus (waterlogging) effect and PGFAC3 = soil fertility factor effect.

APSIM: Generic Plant Module Effect of soil water stress on biomass accumulation $(f_{w,photo})$ is accounted as follows (Source: https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/Model,CropandSoil/CropModuleDocumentation/Plant.aspx):

$$f_{w.photo} = \frac{W_u}{W_d}$$

where ' W_u ' is the total daily water uptake from root system and ' W_d ' is the soil water demand of leaf and reproductive parts.

Water-limited biomass production (ΔQ_w) is restricted by water uptake when ' W_u ' is less than ' W_d ' (i.e. $f_{w,photo} < 1$).

AquaCrop AquaCrop model computes the daily above-ground biomass (B) by multiplying the normalized water productivity (WP*) with ratio of daily transpiration (Tr) to daily evaporative demand of the atmosphere (ETo) and expressed as follows:

$$B = WP^* \left\{ \frac{Tr}{ETo} \right\}$$

Thus, water stress affects the biomass production in AquaCrop by influencing the transpiration. The reduction in transpiration due to water shortage is simulated by multiplying transpiration under well-watered condition (Tr_x) with water stress coefficient for stomatal closure (Ks_{sto}).

$$Tr = Ks_{sto} * Tr_X$$

InfoCrop InfoCrop utilizes the radiation use efficiency (RUE)-based approach for dry matter production. The RUE of plant is affected by abiotic (temperature, CO_2 , nitrogen stress and water stress) and biotic factors. Water stress reduces RUE almost in proportion to severity.

CropSyst CropSyst calculates the daily potential biomass production using two approaches, i.e. based on crop potential transpiration (B_{PT}) and on crop-intercepted PAR (B_{IPAR}) . The potential biomass production for the day (B_P) is taken as the minimum of B_{PT} and B_{IPAR} . This potential growth is then corrected by water and nitrogen limitations, if any. The transpiration-limited biomass production (B_T) is calculated by multiplying B_{PT} with water stress index, i.e. ratio of actual transpiration to potential transpiration.

STICS STICS utilizes the RUE approach to calculate daily dry matter production. Species and phenology-dependent maximal RUE is reduced by abiotic stresses, i.e. temperature, CO_2 , water and nitrogen stresses.

Effect of water stress on above-ground biomass is represented as

DLTAMS * 100 =
$$[EBMAX * RAINT - 0.0815 * RAINT^{2}] * f(TCULT)$$

* SWFAC * INNS

where DLTAMS is the daily growth rate, EBMAX is the maximum radiation use efficiency, RAINT is the solar radiation intercepted by the crop, TCULT is explained before, SWFAC is the water stress factor and INNS is the nitrogen stress factor.

WOFOST WOFOST calculates dry matter production as a function of gross canopy photosynthesis, depending upon the detailed calculations of the distribution of light within the canopies. Crop responds to water stress with closure of stomata, as a consequence, CO_2 supply diminishes, and photosynthesis is reduced. This is quantified through product of water stress factor [ratio of actual transpiration rate (Ta) to potential transpiration (Tp)] and potential assimilation rate (Ap).

$$A = \frac{Ta}{Tp} * Ap$$

where A is the actual assimilation rate.

11.8 Effect of Water Stress on Dry Matter Partitioning

DSSAT In both CERES and CROPGRO module of DSSAT, allocation of photosynthates into different organs, viz. leaf, stem, root and storage organ, at different growth stages depend upon the assimilate availability. Above-ground biomass has priority for assimilates; the remaining assimilates at the end of day are diverted to roots. Until reproductive stage, all assimilate goes to vegetative tissues; thereafter, storage organ progressively receives the priority. But under water stress condition, the partitioning of photosynthates or assimilates shifts towards roots (Anapalli et al. 2008). In CROPGRO module, partitioning of assimilates during vegetative stage is governed by the following formula:

$$Xi * E(Pg - Rm)$$

where Xi represents partitioning factors for leaves, stem and roots, E is the conversion efficiency for photosynthates, Pg is gross photosynthesis rate (g $CH_2O Day^{-1} m^{-2}$) and Rm is the maintenance respiration rate.

The following expression in CROPGRO model adjusts biomass allocation to root under water stress:

$$FRRT = FRRT + ATOP * (1.0 - (AMIN(SWDF1, NSTRES) * (1.0 - FRRT)))$$

where FRRT is fraction of photosynthate that goes to roots on a day and ATOP is maximum fraction change in biomass allocation from shoot to root; if water or nitrogen stresses occur, NSTRES is nitrogen stress factor. As TURFAC drops below 1.0, a certain fraction (ATOP) of assimilate normally partitioned to leaves and stems is diverted to roots.



Fig. 11.13 Rules followed for biomass partition in the APSIM-Wheat module. Texts in the parentheses are partitioning methods for different plant parts. (Source: https://www.apsim.info/Documentation/Model,CropAndSoil/CropModuleDocumentation/Plant.aspx)

During reproductive stage, kernel number per plant and kernel growth are also influenced by water stress in CERES model. But in CROPGRO module water stress does not affect grain growth directly, it affects via photosynthesis.

APSIM: Generic Plant Module In APSIM, allocation of dry matter to root is based on the root to shoot ratio. The above-ground biomass is then partitioned to head part depending upon the demand from pod and grain. The fraction of remaining dry matter is first allocated to the leaf and then to the stem. Re-translocation of assimilates from stem to head part may occur during grain filling, if sufficient assimilate is not available (Fig. 11.13). Water stress does not influence the partitioning of dry matter directly; it is affected through influence on photosynthesis.

AquaCrop The AquaCrop does not simulate the partitioning of biomass into different organs like root, stem, leaf, etc. It does the partitioning of biomass (B) into yield (Y) only by means of actual harvest index.

$$Y = f_{HI} * HI_O * B$$

'HI_o' is the reference harvest index under nonlimiting condition, which is modulated by stress factor ($f_{\rm HI}$). The effect of magnitude and period of water or temperature stress on harvest index is simulated through a factor ' $f_{\rm HI}$ ' in AquaCrop. Generally water stress has inhibitory effect on HI, but it can have reverse effect on HI, by restricting vegetative growth, thus ensuring higher allocation of assimilates to grain or fruits. Thus the value of $f_{\rm HI}$ can vary between a crop-specific maximum (up to 1.6) and zero (complete failure) (Vanuytrecht et al. 2014). In the event of mild water stress during grain formation, which reduces canopy expansion, but not enough to cause closure of stomata and retard photosynthesis, $f_{\rm HI}$ is modelled to rise above 1. So $f_{\rm HI}$ is a function of stress coefficient of expansion (Ksexp) and stomatal closure (Kssto). There are different stress coefficients for temperature and water stresses, which affects the pollination which results in a ' $f_{\rm HI}$ ' smaller than 1. As a consequence of reduction in grain filling period due to stress-induced early senescence, $f_{\rm HI}$ and HI will be reduced.

InfoCrop Based on developmental stage-dependent crop-specific functions, dry matter available for crop growth is partitioned into roots, leaves, stems and storage organ. Roots get the priority for allocation, and it gets increased allocation of assimilates in case the crop experiences water or nitrogen stress. The remaining dry matter is allocated to above-ground shoot, from which a fraction is allocated to leaves and stems. The balanced dry matter is automatically allocated to the storage organ. The number of storage organ and grain filling rate is not directly influenced by water stress, as it influences the effect of water stress on dry matter production.

CropSyst CropSyst simulates the partitioning of dry matter to yield component only, which is based on harvest index. The harvest index is determined using the unstressed harvest index as base, a required crop input parameter, modified according to crop stress (water and nitrogen) intensity and sensitivity during flowering and grain filling.

STICS STICS simulates the total biomass of the plant and separately accounts for structural biomass of stem, green leaves and dead leaves and the reserves of the plant, which are not localized between organs (Strullu et al. 2014). The total biomass of leaves consist of biomass of green leaves and yellow leaves. Biomass of green leaves depends upon the LAI and maximum specific leaf area index (SLAMAX). The difference between actual specific leaf area and SLAMAX corresponds to remobilized leaf carbon. Biomass of yellow leaves is calculated in the senescence module. Water stress affects the portioning of dry matter to leaves by affecting LAI and senescence processes. Partitioning of biomass to structural component of stem is calculated as a constant proportion of total mass of leaves, i.e. green leaves plus yellow leaves. The harvested organ calculation depends upon the grain to shoot biomass ratio as a function of development stage. The reserve components are calculated as the difference between the total biomass and accumulated biomass of leaves, stem and harvested organ.

WOFOST WOFOST simulates the developmental stage-dependent dry matter partitioning through partition tables. The fraction of assimilates is allocated to the root first; the remaining fraction is distributed to above-ground portion, i.e. leaves, stems and storage organs. Water stress affect the partitioning of dry matter by affecting the availability of assimilates.

11.9 Intercomparison of System Model Output: Case Studies for Water Stress Management

Todorovic et al. (2009) compared the performance of AquaCrop, WOFOST and CropSyst models for simulating growth of sunflower under different water regimes in Mediterranean environment. The reason for choosing these three models is that they differ in the level of complexity describing crop development, in the main growth modules driving the biomass simulation and in the number of input parameters. The mechanism of simulation of biomass in AquaCrop is exclusively water driven, while CropSyst is based on both water- and radiation-driven modules, and WOFOST uses the carbon-driven approach for dry matter production. They found that estimation of phenological stages was almost similar for all models because of utilization of same heat unit concept. In the course of development, CropSyst over-predicted LAI development, whereas WOFOST provided convincing results before anthesis. Maximum LAI at anthesis is also over-predicted by CropSyst, whereas WOFOST under-predicted LAI by 2%. However, senescence followed the measured LAI trend in all models. All the models underestimated the yield under severe water stress conditions. Simulation of biomass growth by WOFOST was better than other two models under rainfed and deficit irrigation, because the latter involves simpler physiological sub-models accounting for the impact of water stress on biomass growth and its partitioning to yield. Simulation of water use efficiency (WUE) was better with CropSyst than other models under limited water supply.

Rotter et al. (2012) evaluated the performance of nine system models (APESACE, CROPSYST, DAISY, DSSAT-CERES, FASSET, HERMES, MONICA, STICS and WOFOST) for simulating growth of spring barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) at seven sites in Northern and Central Europe. They reported that models which are predicting well the phenology were not necessarily better predictors of grain yields. Among the studied models, the grain yield is better estimated by HERMES, MONICA, WOFOST and DAISY than others.

Battisti et al. (2017) studied the performance of five soybean models (FAO – agroecological zone, AquaCrop, DSSAT CSM-CROPGRO-soybean, APSIM Soybean and MONICA) under both rainfed and irrigated conditions in southern Brazil. DSSAT and APSIM were found to be better estimators of phenology, because they accounted for the effect of water stress and nitrogen limitation on crop development rate besides thermal time and photoperiod. Under rainfed condition, APSIM and DSSAT simulated more drastic reduction in LAI due to water deficit during middle to end of crop cycle, while MONICA was found less effective for the same.

Akinseye et al. (2017) compared the performance of DSSAT, APSIM and SAMARA crop models for West African sorghum cultivars. APSIM and SAMARA could simulate phenology (anthesis and physiological maturity) with the lowest value of RMSE (<7 days) compared to DSSAT, for all the studied cultivars, except cv. IS15401 (highly photosensitive). The error in prediction of grain yield and biomass was comparatively higher during calibration and validation. The highest error was observed in SAMARA, followed by DSSAT and least for APSIM. Being

more mechanistic APSIM and SAMARA crop models have a higher sensitivity of the adjustment of key parameters, especially specific leaf area for APSIM in low photoperiod-sensitive varieties, while SAMARA shows a higher response to changes in parameters for high photoperiod-sensitive varieties.

The capability of CSM-CROPGRO-peanut model to simulate growth and development of peanut was studied by Soler et al. (2013). Apart from simulating growth and development, they determined the relationship between yield and the two cumulative drought stress indices simulated by the peanut model at Griffin, USA. The cropping system model (CSM)-CROPGRO-peanut model was able to accurately simulate growth and development of peanut grown under different irrigation treatments as compared to the observed data. We found an inverse relationship between the two simulated total cumulative drought stress indices for leaf growth (expansion), photosynthesis and simulated pod yield.

Jin et al. (2016) assessed the heat and drought stress algorithm of 16 major models of maize by integrating into APSIM with its ensemble simulations. There was a wide variation in water shortage patterns simulated by different algorithms over the growing season. However, all the algorithm predicted the reduction in annual yield due to water stress. They found that sensitivity of reduction in yield to heat and drought stress was more in case of latter than that of former for the US Midwest since the1980s.

Eitzinger et al. (2004) compared the performance of CERES, WOFOST and SWAP models in simulating soil water content during growing season in Austria under different soils (chernozem, sandy chernozem and fluvisol) with a 2 m profile depth. In contrary to WOFOST, CERES and SWAP could simulate the grain yield of barley and wheat better. There was no distinct difference in simulating soil profile water content by all three models. The uncertainty in the simulation of soil water content varied with model and soil type; root mean square error (RMSE) of soil water content ranged from 0.71 to 4.67% for barley and 2.32 to 6.77% for wheat. It was also observed that all the three models overestimated soil water depletion pattern. Both CERES and SWAP models simulated the soil water content dynamics well in the surface soil (up to 30 cm). The study highlighted the superiority of multiple layer approach models like SWAP and CERES with more advanced estimation methods for root growth and soil water extraction over WOFOST.

WOFOST model failed to simulate the real field conditions, which may be attributed to the fact that it considers soil water content in the entire root zone is homogeneous. This assumption fails in soils with irregular drying and wetting cycles with various amounts of water as detailed by van den Berg et al. (2002).

O'Leary in 2000 had reviewed the performance of APSIM and DSSAT (CANEGRO) with sugarcane under water stress conditions for prediction of sucrose yield. He has discussed that APSIM-sugarcane failed to accurately simulate sucrose yield under significant water stress. It is also mentioned that the likely reason for this may be the fact that effect of water stress on sucrose partitioning are much more complex than the effect of stress accounted in APSIM-sugarcane (stalk partitioning,

biomass accumulation and leaf area). Major difference between APSIM-sugarcane and CANEGRO in the method by which carbon is fixed into biomass is also pointed out.

11.10 Discussion on Approaches Used for Modelling Crop Growth Processes

Crop growth models differ in basic principles of crop growth process involved, parameterization and their sensitivity. Table 11.1 provides an overview of basic modelling approaches with emphasis on water stress effect on growth and development. All the crop models employ either capacity model (tipping bucket approach) or solution of Richard's equation to describe the water movement through soil. Among the seven models discussed in this chapter, only CropSyst has both the options, and all other six crop models followed capacity model approach. There were mainly two approaches used for quantifying water stress factor – defining a critical limit of soil moisture value and ratio of actual to potential transpiration (AT/PT). CropSyst and InfoCrop followed the AT/PT concept, and all other five crop models followed the former concept. The value of water stress factor ranged from zero to

Model ^a	WO	ST	AQ	CR	AP	DS	IN
Soil water movement ¹	С	С	С	C/R	С	С	C
Stresses involved ²	W, N	W, N	W, N	W, N	W, N, P	W, N, P	W, N
Water stress factor ³	Ct- SM	Ct-SM	Ct- SM	AT/PT	Ct-SM	Ct-SM	AT/PT
Crop phenology ⁴	f (T, PP)	f (T, PP)	f (T)	f (T, PP, V)	f (T, PP, V)	CERES: f(T) CROPGRO: f(T, PP, V)	f(T, PP, V)
Dry matter production ⁵	CD	RD	WD	WD & RD	RD	CERES: RD CROPGRO: CD	RD
Yield formation ⁶	Y (Prt, Bm)	Y (HI (Gn), Bm)	Y (HI, Bm)	Y(HI, Bm)	Y(HI, Bm)	Y[HI (Gn), Bm]	Y(Prt)

Table 11.1 Comparison of different principles and characteristics of crop simulation models
 discussed in this chapter regarding soil water balance and water stress factor

^aModel abbreviations: *WO* WOFOST, *ST* STICS, *AQ* AquaCrop, *CR* CROPSYST, *AP* APSIM, *IN* INFOCROP

 ^{1}C capacity approach, *R* Richard's equation

 ^{2}W water, N nitrogen, P phosphorus

³Ct-SM critical threshold of soil moisture, AT/PT ratio of actual to potential transpiration

⁴*T* temperature, *PP* photoperiod, *V* vernalization

⁵CD carbon driven, RD radiation driven, WD water driven

⁶Prt partitioning after anthesis, Bm above-ground biomass, HI fixed harvest index, Gn grain number

one in all the seven crop models, where zero represented maximum stress and one represented no stress, except CropSyst, where the converse was true.

All the models use the thermal time concept to simulate the phenological development, and other factors like photoperiod, vernalization factors, water stress, nitrogen stress, etc. act as modifier on it. Except DSSAT-CERES and AquaCrop, all studied models account the effect of water stress on phenology. Phenological development in DSSAT-CERES and AquaCrop is based on temperature only.

In all models, leaf expansion is considered to be most sensitive process for water deficit stress. The sensitivity of water stress for different physiological processes like leaf expansion, senescence, nitrogen fixation, photosynthesis, etc. is explained by linear interpolation between stress factors and soil water availability. However, this relationship in AquaCrop is convex in nature which is the result of adjustments by the crop to cope with the developing water stress that improve with time its resistance to stress (Steduto et al. 2009). Except AquaCrop, all models simulate the leaf area index. Canopy cover is a distinctive feature of AquaCrop because expansion, ageing, senescence, amount of transpiration and biomass are determined through it.

Simulation of dry matter production in most of crop models is based on three concepts, i.e. water driven, radiation driven and carbon driven (Steduto 2003). DSSAT-CERES, APSIM, InfoCrop and STICS models use the radiation-driven approach for dry matter production, while AquaCrop uses the water-driven approach. However, CropSyst model utilizes both water- and radiation-driven approaches for calculating daily dry matter production. WOFOST and DSSAT-CROPGRO are based on carbon-driven approach. Water stress reduces the dry matter production in all models by multiplying stress factor to it. AquaCrop and CropSyst simulate the partitioning of dry matter to only yield part through harvest index (HI), rather than to different organs like the root, stem and leaf. Water stress in these models affects the partitioning by influencing the harvest index. Except DSSAT, all models provide the priority for allocation of dry matter to root first, and then the remaining part is allocated to other organs. During water stress, partitioning of dry matter shifts towards the root.

Simulating drought stress timing and severity requires the accurate estimation of soil water holding capacity and daily plant water use. Errors in simulating leaf dry weight and leaf area accumulation will have magnifying effect through affecting dry matter production, and its partitioning resulted into inaccurate simulation of water stress impact on overall growth and development (Prasad et al. 2008). Previous studies have shown that crop models were not able to adequately simulate water use efficiency, particularly under water deficit stress conditions (Todorovic et al. 2009, Evett and Tolk 2009). Increasing water use efficiency of crops will be a top research priority across the globe at large and rainfed areas in particular. Application of crop models to address this issue will depend upon understanding the processes involved in a more detailed manner and representing the concepts effectively in the models.

11.11 Summary

The crop models were initially designed to see the impact of crop management and weather on yield. With the improvement in our understanding about complexity of processes involved, new-generation crop models with range of applications like impact of climate change on crop production, crop phenotyping for drought or temperature stress, etc. were developed. Still many processes are not quantified satisfactorily in crop models under stress environments like water, nutrients and extreme temperature, causing uncertainty in growth and yield simulations, and need to be improved (Antle et al. 2017). Among the abiotic stresses, water deficit is considered to be the most limiting factor. In present context, our chapter started with brief critical overview of effect of water deficit on plant physiological processes of growth and development. Subsequently, we have presented the approaches which describe the quantitative measure of water stress accounted by seven widely used crop models, viz. DSSAT, APSIM, AquaCrop, WOFOST, CropSyst, InfoCrop and STICS. Further, we attempted to provide information on how these crop models simulate the impact of water stress on phenological development, leaf expansion and canopy growth, dry matter production and its partitioning. The chapter was concluded with case studies on intercomparison of models evaluation under water deficit stress conditions.

References

- Abbate PE, Dardanelli JL, Cantarero MG, Maturano M, Melchiori RJM, Suero EE (2004) Climatic and water availability effects on water-use efficiency in wheat. Crop Sci 44(2):474–483
- Abrecht DG, Carberry PS (1993) The influence of water deficit prior to tassel initiation on maize growth development and yield. Field Crops Res 31(1–2):55–69
- Aggarwal PK, Kalra N, Chander S, Pathak H (2006) InfoCrop: a dynamic simulation model for the assessment of crop yields, losses due to pests, and environmental impact of agro-ecosystems in tropical environments. I. Model description. Agric Syst 89:1–25
- Akinseye FM, Adamb M, Agele SO, Hoffmann MP, Traore PCS, Whitbread AM (2017) Assessing crop model improvements through comparison of sorghum (sorghum bicolor L. moench) simulation models: a case study of West African varieties. Field Crops Res 201:19–31
- Anapalli SS, Ahuja LR, Ma L, Timlin DJ, Stockle CO, Boote KJ, Hoogenboom G (2008) Current water deficit stress simulations in selected agricultural system simulation models. In: Ahuja LR, Reddy VR, Saseendran SA, Yu Q (eds) Response of crops to limited water: understanding and modeling water stress effects on plant growth processes. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp 1–38
- Antle JM, Basso B, Conant RT, Godfray HCJ, Jones JW, Herrero M, Tittonell P (2017) Towards a new generation of agricultural system data, models and knowledge products: design and improvement. Agric Syst 155:255–268
- Armstrong LJ, Abrecht DG, Anderson WK, Belford RK (1996) The effect of non-lethal water deficits during establishment on the growth of wheat crops. In: Proceedings of the 8th Australian agronomy conference, Toowoomba, QLD pp 80–83
- Aspinall D, Nicholls PB, May LH (1964) Effect of soil moisture stress on the growth of barley.I. Vegetative development and grain yield. Aust J Agric Res 15:729–745
- Barlow EWR (1986) Water relations of expanding leaves. Funct Plant Biol 13(1):45-58

- Battisti R, Sentelhas PC, Boote KJ (2017) Inter-comparison of performance of soybean crop simulation models and their ensemble in southern Brazil. Field Crops Res 200:28–37
- Boogaard HL, van Diepen CA, Roetter RP, Cabrera JMCA, Laar HHV (1998) WOFOST 7.1: user's guide for the WOFOST 7.1 crop growth simulation model and WOFOST control center 1.5. Technical document / DLO Winand staring Centre: 52. DLO Winand Staring Centre, Wageningen
- Boogaard HL, De Wit AJW, TeRoller JA, Van Diepen CA (2014) WOFOST control Centre 2.1: User's guide for the WOFOST control Centre 2.1 and the crop growth simulation model WOFOST 7.1. 7. Alterra, Wageningen
- Brian JA, Paul EK, Colin GNT (1999) Water: a limiting factor (chapter 15). In: Plants in action: adaptation in nature, performance in cultivation. Macmillan Education AU, pp 459–500
- Brisson N, Gary C, Justes E, Roche R, Mary B, Ripoche D, Zimmer D, Sierra J, Bertuzzi P, Burger P, Bussiere F, Cabidoche YM, Cellier P, Debaeke P, Gaudillere JP, Hénault C, Maraux F, Seguin B, Sinoquet H (2003) An overview of the crop model STICS. Eur J Agron 18(3):309–332
- Brisson N, Launay M, Mary B, Beaudoin N (2009) Conceptual basis, formalisations and parameterization of the Stics crop model. Editions quae, p 304
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck FW, Mazzucotelli E, Mastrangelo AM, Francia E, Marè C, Tondelli A, Stanca AM (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: an integrated view from breeding to genomics. Field Crops Res 105:1):1–1)14
- Craufurd PQ, Flower DJ, Peacock JM (1993) Effect of heat and drought stress on sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). I. Panicle development and leaf appearance. Exp Agric 29(1):61–76
- Eitzinger J, Trnka M, Hösch J, Žalud Z, Dubrovský M (2004) Comparison of CERES, WOFOST and SWAP models in simulating soil water content during growing season under different soil conditions. Ecol Model 171:223–246
- Estrada-Campuzano G, Miralles DJ, Slafer GA (2008) Genotypic variability and response to water stress of pre-and post-anthesis phases in triticale. Eur J Agron 28(3):171–177
- Evett SR, Tolk JA (2009) Introduction: can water use efficiency be modeled well enough to impact crop management? Agron J 101(3):423–425
- Farooq M, Wahid A, Kobayashi N, Fujita D, Basra SMA (2009) Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. Agron Sustain Dev 29(1):185–212
- Fischer RA (1973) The effect of water stress at various stages of development on yield processes in wheat. In: Slatyer RO (ed) Plant response to climatic factors. UNESCO, Paris, pp 233–241
- Harris D, Tripathi RS, Joshi A (2002) On-farm seed priming to improve crop establishment and yield in dry direct-seeded rice. In: Direct seeding: research strategies and opportunities. International Research Institute, Manila, pp 231–240
- Hoogenboom G, Jones JW, Porter CH, Wilkens PW, Boote KJ, Batchelor WD, Hunt LA, Tsuji GY (eds) (2003) Decision Support System for Agro Technology Transfer Version 4.0.Volume 1: Overview. University of Hawaii, Honolulu
- Hussain M, Malik MA, Farooq M, Ashraf MY, Cheema MA (2008) Improving drought tolerance by exogenous application of glycinebetaine and salicylic acid in sunflower. J Agron Crop Sci 194(3):193–199
- Jin Z, Zhuang Q, Tan Z, Dukes JS, Zheng B, Melillo JM (2016) Do maize models capture the impacts of heat and drought stresses on yield? Using algorithm ensembles to identify successful approaches. Glob Chang Biol 22(9):3112–3126
- Komor E (2000) Source physiology and assimilate transport: the interaction of sucrose metabolism, starch storage and phloem export in source leaves and the effects on sugar status in phloem. Funct Plant Biol 27(6):497–505
- Leport L, Turner NC, French RJ, Barr MD, Duda R, Davies SL, Tennant D, Siddique KHM (1999) Physiological responses of chickpea genotypes to terminal drought in a Mediterranean-type environment. Eur J Agron 11(3):279–291
- O' Leary G (2000) A review of three sugarcane simulation models with respect to their prediction of sucrose yield. Field Crops Res 68:97–111

- Osakabe Y, Osakabe K, Shinozaki K, Tran LSP (2014) Response of plants to water stress. Front Plant Sci 5(86). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00086
- Parent B, Tardieu F (2014) Can current crop models be used in the phenol typing era for predicting the genetic variability of yield of plants subjected to drought or high temperature? J Exp Bot 65 (21):6179–6189
- Prasad PVV, Pisipati SR, Ristic Z, Bukovnik U, Fritz AK (2008) Impact of nighttime temperature on physiology and growth of spring wheat. Crop Sci 48(6):2372–2380
- Ritchie JT (1972) A model for predicting evaporation from a row crop with incomplete cover. Water Res Res 8:1204–1213
- Ritchie JT (1981a) Water dynamics in the soil-plant atmosphere. Plants Soil 58:81-96
- Ritchie JT (1981b) Soil water availability. Plants Soil 58:327-338
- Ritchie JT (1998) Soil water balance and plant water stress. In: Understanding options for agricultural production. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 41–54
- Rötter RP, Palosuo T, Kersebaum KC, Angulo C, Bindi M, Ewert F, Ferrise R, Hlavinka P, Moriondo M, Nendel C, Olesen JE (2012) Simulation of spring barley yield in different climatic zones of Northern and Central Europe: a comparison of nine crop models. Field Crops Res 133:23–36
- Siddique MRB, Hamid A, Islam MS (2000) Drought stress effects on water relations of wheat. Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica:41
- Soler CMT, Suleiman A, Anothai J, Flitcroft I, Hoogenboom G (2013) Scheduling irrigation with a dynamic crop growth model and determining the relation between simulated drought stress and yield for peanut. Irrig Sci 31:889–901
- Steduto P (2003) Biomass water-productivity.Comparing the growth-Engines of Crop Models. FAO expert consultation on crop water productivity under deficient water supply. pp 26–28
- Steduto P, Raes D, Hsiao TC, Ferers E, Heng LK, Howell TA, Evett SR, Rojas-Lara BA, Farahani HJ, Izzi G, Oweis TY, Wani SP, Hoogeveen J, Geerts S (2009) Concepts and applications of AquaCrop: the FAO crop water productivity model. In: Cao W, White JW, Wang E (eds) Crop modeling and decision support. Springer, Berlin, pp 175–191
- Stöckle CO, Martin S, Campbell GS (1994) CropSyst a cropping systems model: water/nitrogen budgets and crop yield. Agric Syst 46:335–359
- Stöckle CO, Donatelli M, Nelson R (2003) CropSyst a cropping systems simulation model. Eur J Agron 18:289–307
- Stöckle CO, Nelson RL, Higgins S, Brunner J, Grove G, Boydston R, Whiting M, Kruger C (2010) Assessment of climate change impact on eastern Washington agriculture. Climate Change 102 (1–2):77–102
- Strullu L, Beaudoin N, de Cortàzar Atauri IG, Mary B (2014) Simulation of biomass and nitrogen dynamics in perennial organs and shoots of miscanthus × giganteus using the STICS model. Bio Energy Res 7(4):1253–1269
- Todorovic M, Albrizio R, Zivotic L, Saab MTA, Stöckle C, Steduto P (2009) Assessment of AquaCrop, crop syst and WOFOST models in the simulation of sunflower growth under different water regimes. Agron J 101(3):509–521
- Tsuji GT, Uehara G, Salas S (eds) (1994) DSSAT v 3.0. University of Hawaii, Honolulu
- Van den Berg M, Driessen PM, Rabbinge R (2002) Water uptake in crop growth models for land use systems analysis. II. Ecol Model 148:233–250
- Vanuytrecht E, Raes D, Steduto P, Hsiao TC, Fereres E, Heng LK, Vila MG, Moreno PM (2014) AquaCrop: FAO's crop water productivity and yield response model. Environ Model Softw 62:351–360
- Wahid A, Rasul E, Rao RA, Iqbal RM (2005) Photosynthesis in leaf, stem, flower and fruit. In Handbook of photosynthesis, vol 2, pp 479–497
- Zinselmeier C, Jeong BR, Boyer JS (1999) Starch and the control of kernel number in maize at low water potentials. Plant Physiol 121(1):25–36



Hyperspectral Remote Sensing: Use 12 in Detecting Abiotic Stresses in Agriculture

Bappa Das, Gopal R. Mahajan, and Ronald Singh

Abstract

Abiotic stresses are one of the major factors affecting crop production in many parts of the globe. The need of the hour is to reduce the yield losses due to these abiotic stresses. In this connection, early detection and corrective measures can help to reduce the impact of stresses on crop growth and yield. The recent developments in remote sensing particularly hyperspectral remote sensing hold a major key in early detection of abiotic stress over a larger area with less involvement of cost, time and labour. The works relevant to abiotic stress characterization particularly water and nutrient stress based on plant spectral reflectance are dealt in this chapter. The research work done previously elucidates that the water and nutrient monitoring through remote sensing is possible. The remote sensing-based techniques can lead to the development of real-time management of water and nutrient stress, thereby reducing the yield losses due these stresses.

Keywords

Abiotic stress \cdot Hyperspectral remote sensing \cdot Water-deficit stress \cdot Nutrient stress \cdot Crops

R. Singh National Remote Sensing Centre, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

B. Das (🖂) · G. R. Mahajan

ICAR-Central Coastal Agricultural Research Institute, Old Goa, India e-mail: bappa.das@icar.gov.in; gopal.mahajan@icar.gov.in

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_12

12.1 Introduction

Abiotic stresses are the major factors affecting crop yield in addition to biotic factors. The abiotic stressors like temperature (high/low), water (drought, flooding/hypoxia), radiation (UV, ionizing radiation), chemicals and salinity are responsible for the major reduction in agricultural production. According to world estimates on an average, 71% yield losses in agricultural crops are caused by abiotic factors (Boyer 1982). These comprise mostly of high temperature (40%), salinity (20%), drought (17%), low temperature (15%) and other forms of stresses (Ashraf et al. 2008). Biotic stress, on the other hand, is caused by living organisms, such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, insects, herbivores and other plants; competition is an additional challenge inducing a strong pressure on plants (Strauss and Zangerl 2002; Maron and Crone 2006. The other plants/weed competition causes the highest potential yield loss to the tune of 34% (Oerke 2006). Loss due to diseases range from 20% to 30%; in case of severe infection, the total crop may be lost, whereas estimated global loss due to insect pests is 18% (Oerke 2006). The impact of stresses imposed on a plant depends on climate, host plant and its resistance to particular stresses. The effect of biotic and abiotic stress on crop growth is usually detected only after it becomes visually apparent. Sometimes the detection can be too late to avoid crop yield loss. So, monitoring agricultural crop conditions throughout the growing season will help in accurate and timely assessment of yield loss caused by biotic and abiotic stresses which are very critical for countries where the economy is dependent on the agriculture. Early assessment of yield reductions will also help in strategic planning and avoiding disastrous situation (Doraiswamy et al. 2003). Fieldscale assessment of continuous crop condition is time-consuming, laborious and location specific. Remote sensing, on the other hand, may provide an effective substitute to field sampling for crop condition monitoring. Moreover, it can give continuous coverage of a large area (Sepulcre-Cantó et al. 2006; Ullah et al. 2012). Non-destructiveness is another advantage of remote sensing techniques (Sepulcre-Cantó et al. 2006; Ullah et al. 2012). However, previous findings have revealed that considerable limitations exist when using images taken by multispectral satellite sensor to detect biotic and abiotic stresses (Hunt Jr and Rock 1989), whereas airborne or ground spectrometers having greater spatial, as well as spectral, resolution were able to detect spectral changes corresponding to changes in crop condition with more accuracy (Goetz et al. 1985). Arial hyperspectral sensors and field spectrometers have the ability to capture the electromagnetic spectrum at very narrow contiguous wavebands. This feature permits the remote detection and characterization of crop conditions from canopy reflectance as the latter change with the former (Peñuelas et al. 1997; Ustin et al. 1998; Stimson et al. 2005).

12.2 Remote Sensing for Detection of Stresses

Remote sensing is a science-art and technology for gathering information about an object without coming into physical contact with it (Jensen 2009). Thus it is a useful technique for visualizing, diagnosing and quantifying vegetation stress. Vegetation stress can be detected using three types of remote sensing which are as follows:

- 1. Thermography
- 2. Fluorescence
- 3. Reflectance

Thermography or thermal remote sensing is utilized to study water-deficit stress (Guilioni et al. 2008), while fluorescence imaging is used to monitor photosynthetic efficiency of the plant (Chaerle et al. 2002). Fluorescence emission from a healthy leaf when excited by UV-A radiation consists of blue (440 nm), green (520 nm), red (690 nm) and far-red (740 nm) wavelengths. In reflectance-based remote sensing, the electromagnetic signal reflected off the plant leaves is the recorded data. The parameter monitored in reflectance-based remote sensing for plant stress is change in leaf constituents.

12.3 Effect of Stress on Plant's Spectral Signature

The prime objective of remote sensing is to separately recognize an object or feature from its surroundings. This can only be done by knowing the characteristic spectral properties of the object which are popularly known as signatures. If this is achieved through the reflectance measurements, then it is called as spectral reflectance. The spectral reflectance of the vegetation varies with the wavelength, and it can be divided into three main broad regions in the wavelength region 400–2700 nm (Gates et al. 1965).

- 1. In the visible spectrum (400–700 nm), the pigmentation of leaf, namely, chlorophyll, carotene and xanthophylls, dominates the response. This region is characterized by low reflectance and high absorbance, especially at blue and red wavelengths.
- 2. The response in the near-infrared (NIR) spectrum (700–1300 nm) is determined by the internal structure of the leaf. The discontinuity in the refractive index between the airspace and spongy mesophyll of the cell causes total internal reflection of the incident solar radiation resulting in very high reflectance



Fig. 12.1 Typical spectral reflectance pattern of leaf. Source: Jensen (2009)

(Gausman 1974). The NIR region has two weak water absorption features at wavelengths 950–970 and 1150–1260, respectively (Sims and Gamon 2002).

3. The response in the shortwave infrared (SWIR) spectrum (1300–2700 nm) is influenced to some extent by the internal structure of the leaves but is mostly influenced by the water content of the same due to the presence of the three major water absorption bands at 1400 nm, 1900 nm and 2700 nm in this region and other leaf biochemicals. Retrieving leaf water content based on remotely sensed data has been widely studied in the visible-near-infrared (VNIR) and SWIR spectra (Ceccato et al. 2002; Cheng et al. 2011). Water molecules present in leaves weakly absorb radiation in the NIR (720–1000 nm) region and strongly absorb in the SWIR (1400–1900 nm) region (Datt 1999). So, SWIR region is more sensitive and efficient in measuring leaf water content than NIR region (Datt 1999). Many studies reported strong correlation of leaf water content with reflectance and derivative spectra at wavelengths between 1400 and 1900 nm (Ceccato et al. 2001, 2002; Champagne et al. 2003). Due to biotic and abiotic stresses if the chlorophyll content is reduced, the reflectance in the visible region is increased. If disease or pest damages the leaves, the reflectance in the NIR region of the electromagnetic spectrum will be low. The typical spectral reflectance pattern of leaf is depicted in Fig. 12.1.

12.4 Abiotic Stress Monitoring

12.4.1 Water-Deficit Stress Monitoring

Water resources have faced continued pressure to meet the increasing demand of mankind (McGwire et al. 2000). This everlasting situation begs for more judicious use of irrigation water to avoid environmental problems like groundwater pollution, runoff, etc. along with minimizing expenses in affording such an invaluable input. Thus, ways to achieve this goal must be searched for. A promising approach could be timely application of just adequate amount of water so as to avoid crop stress as well as putting less pressure on water resources. In this regard, appropriate assessment of water-deficit stress is very much important. For this, several ways with varying extent of accuracy and applicability have been tried so far, for instance, measuring the water content of soil or plant, contents of pigments or nitrogen, dry matter and leaf area index (LAI) (Carter 1993; Peñuelas et al. 1994) which may act as bioindicators of water-deficit stress (Zarco-Tejada et al. 2004). Till date, most workers have used soil moisture sensors to detect water-deficit stress of crop plants. Though these sensors can fairly assess the imposed water-deficit stress, they fail to represent in most cases the level of water-deficit stress originally experienced by the plants (Sinclair and Ludlow 1985). Moreover such measurements are timeconsuming and not that easy to employ at field level limiting their scale applicability. Contrarily, assessing the leaf water content may provide a better picture of plant's physiological response under differing extent of soil moisture scarcity and consequent water-deficit stress actually experienced by plants. Leaf water content can effectively indicate health and vigour of a plant along with its photosynthetic efficiency (Harry 2006). Apart from these, precise estimates of plant water content as a whole can be used for drought risk assessment (Bauer et al. 1986), selection of suitable genotypes in breeding for water-deficit stress tolerance (Munjal and Dhanda 2005), providing advanced prediction of wildfire and monitoring the physiological status of any vegetation (Peñuelas and Filella 1998) or biomass (Mutanga et al. 2005; Cho et al. 2007; Ullah et al. 2012). In agriculture, it can help in irrigation scheduling and crop yields estimation (Peñuelas et al. 1993, 1997).

Plant water-deficit stress or drought stress is one of the major limiting factors affecting yield and is usually detected only after it becomes visually apparent. So an accurate estimation of plant water status or relative water content (RWC) is a major factor in the decision-making process regarding general land use, crop irrigation and drought assessment (Peñuelas et al. 1997). RWC can be defined as the ratio of volume of water present in a leaf to the water volume of leaf at fully turgid condition (Hunt and Rock 1989). Assessment of water-deficit stress can be done by taking plant canopy or leaf level reflectance measurements, as they show change in response with changing RWC of the plant (Gutierrez et al. 2010). Different species may exhibit different symptoms of water-deficit stress; however, one of the common effects of water-deficit stress across all the species is the change in plant's spectral

response changes with increase in moisture deficit (Peñuelas et al. 1993). The water absorption bands can be of good use in the estimation of the plant's RWC. Reflectance of plant leaf or canopy particularly beyond visible spectral range is mostly governed by leaf water content. Therefore, it can indirectly be used for non-destructive in situ evaluation of plant water status. Canopy reflectance obtained from hyperspectral sensors besides offering quick and easy measurements also enables estimation of some additional parameters through a series of different spectral indices (e.g. chlorophyll content, LAI, intercepted radiation and photosynthetic capacity) (Araus et al. 2001). For its versatile nature, canopy reflectance is a very useful tool for high-throughput phenotyping (Montes et al. 2007; Chapman 2008).

12.4.1.1 Spectral Indices for Characterizing Stress

The vegetation indices (VIs) are combinations of spectral responses in different wavebands which emphasize a particular feature of the vegetation. The indices are ideally a sum, difference, ratio or other linear combination of reflectance factors or radiance observation from two or more wavelengths/wavelength intervals (Wiegand et al. 1991). These composite indices are more sensitive than individual spectral bands for the detection of plants biophysical and biochemical properties as affected by biotic and abiotic stresses (Asrar et al. 1984). The indices also try to standardize the representation of the crop spectral responses which helps in region-to-region and year-to-year comparison and reduce the dimensionality of the multispectral/ hyperspectral data (Malingreau 1989). Minimizing the variability in reflectance caused by illumination condition, instrument noise, atmospheric condition and soil background is the sole of using VIs (van Leeuwen and Huete 1996).

The water index (WI, R_{970}/R_{900}) introduced by Peñuelas et al. (1993) has been widely used to assess water status in different crops (El-Shikha et al. 2007). Based on WI, Babar et al. (2006) suggested two normalized water indices, viz. NWI-1 = $[R_{970} R_{900}$]/ $[R_{970} + R_{900}]$ and NWI-2 = $[R_{970} - R_{850}]/[R_{970} + R_{850}]$, to screen grain yield of spring wheat genotypes under well-irrigated and water-deficit conditions. Under rainfed conditions, two additional normalized water indices with slightly different wavelengths (NWI-3 = $[R_{970} - R_{880}]/[R_{970} + R_{880}]$ and NWI-4 = $[R_{970} - R_{920}]/[R_{970} - R_{920}]/[R_{970}$ $[R_{970} + R_{920}]$) were used for screening the grain yield of advanced winter wheat lines (Prasad et al. 2007). These five water indices (WI and four NWIs) could explain a huge portion of variability in grain yield and could be used as alternative approach for selecting high-yielding wheat varieties for different environments (Babar et al. 2006; Prasad et al. 2007). The underlying hypothesis of WI is that the NIR wavelengths (970 nm) have deeper penetrability into the canopy, thus giving accurate estimates of water content (Babar et al. 2006; Prasad et al. 2007; Gutierrez et al. 2010). Stimson et al. (2005) found significant correlation ($r^2 = 0.44 - 0.71$) of leaf water content and water potential with normalized difference water index (NDWI; $[R_{860} - R_{1240}]/[R_{860} + R_{1240}]$) and normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI; $[R_{900} - R_{680}]/[R_{900} + R_{680}]$) in two conifer species (*Pinus edulis* and Juniperus monosperma).

The NDWI was developed for assessing water status from the airborne hyperspectral imagery having comparatively higher spatial resolution (Gao 1996). Being less sensitive to atmospheric scattering due to water vapours, NDWI is a fairly good indicator for vegetation water content. It can also function using the 1640 nm (NDWI₁₆₄₀; [NIR₈₅₈ - SWIR₁₆₄₀]/[NIR₈₅₈ + SWIR₁₆₄₀]) and 2130 nm (NDWI₂₁₃₀; [NIR₈₅₈ - SWIR₂₁₃₀]/[NIR₈₅₈ + SWIR₂₁₃₀]) water absorption bands (Chen et al. 2005). The Moisture Stress Index (MSI; R_{1600}/R_{820}) developed from ratio of Landsat Thematic Mapper band 5 to band 4 has also been found sensitive to changes in leaf water status (Hunt and Rock 1989). The correlation between MSI and the RWC of the tree species, such as *Picea* spp., A. deserti, Q. agrifolia, L. styraciflua and G. max, was found to be linear. Simple ratio water index (SRWI; R₈₆₀/R₁₂₄₀) was found to be suitable for estimating plant water content relative to LAI, equivalent water thickness (EWT) and leaf biomass (Zarco-Tejada et al. 2003). The other spectral-based water indices which have been developed are normalized difference infrared index (NDII; $[R_{820} - R_{1600}]/[R_{820} + R_{1600}]$) (Hardisky et al. 1983), normalized multiband drought index (NMDI; $[R_{860} - (R_{1640} - R_{2130})]/$ $R_{860} + (R_{1640} + R_{2130})$ (Wang and Qu 2007), etc.

Application of narrowband VIs in estimating vegetation parameters has also been a success (Mutanga and Skidmore 2004; Darvishzadeh et al. 2008). The VIs (i.e. simple ratio, normalized difference indices) are based upon the difference in the reflectance spectra of two spectral bands (Rouse et al. 1974). To detect changes in plant water content, spectral indices, such as WI or NDWI, utilize simple ratios of the reflectance at a wavelength located within the water absorption bands, and another wavelength from outside the water absorption bands ideally used as a control (Sims and Gamon 2002). With declining plant water content, the decrease in energy absorption by water is more distinct for wavelengths inside the water absorption band leading to a change in the reflectance ratio. Indices like the normalized differential vegetation index (NDVI) and the red edge inflexion point (REIP) utilize wavelengths that are affected by changes in the cellular structure and/or pigment content of leaves (Horler et al. 1983). Unlike NDWI and WI, these indices account for spectral variances resulting from changes in leaf physiological properties which might be the indirect effect of changes in plant water content.

Most of the presently used indices, such as NDWI and WI, utilize wavelengths falling in the near-infrared (NIR, 700–1300 nm) region. Though multiple studies have shown the existent of significant relationships between these indices and plant water status (Peñuelas et al. 1997; Serrano et al. 2002; Pu et al. 2003; Asner and Martin 2008), many have criticized them based on the relative insensitivity of the employed wavelengths to changes in plant water content (Ceccato et al. 2002). It has been argued that wavelengths in the SWIR could better represent variations in plant water status than those in NIR (Tucker 1980). The SWIR wavebands located in the range of 1500–1750 nm have been identified as useful for monitoring plant water content (Ceccato et al. 2002; Chen et al. 2005; Eitel et al. 2006), fuel moisture content (Chuvieco et al. 2002) and other plant biochemical parameters (e.g. lignin and nitrogen) (Serrano et al. 2002).
12.4.1.2 Multivariate Modelling for Characterization of Plant Stress

However, the spectral indices mentioned above only make use of a limited number of bands. More information on crop water status may be extracted by investigating the entire spectrum. But the use of the entire spectrum of hyperspectral data has an associated problem of high degree of dimensionality and collinearity of the contiguous bands (Vaiphasa et al. 2005). Multiple linear regression (MLR) models developed from hyperspectral data generally suffer from multicollinearity and overfitting as in most of the cases, the number of predictors are equal or more than observations leading to a high R² (Curran 1989). Partial least square regression (PLSR), on the contrary, is the combination of principal component analysis (PCA) and MLR. It can effectively curb the problems of multicollinearity and overfitting (Cho et al. 2007). Thomas and Haaland (1990) reported PLSR as a robust technique for predicting leaf biochemical from hyperspectral datasets that simultaneously minimizes multicollinearity and model overfitting. PLSR simultaneously uses all spectral bands and selects uncorrelated variables from a set of explanatory variables (Geladi and Kowalski 1986), and by doing so it edges the problem of multicollinearity. For this reason, use of PLSR in remote sensing is continuously increasing (Li et al. 2005; Darvishzadeh et al. 2008; Asner and Martin 2008; Ramoelo et al. 2012; Li et al. 2014). Asner and Martin (2008) used PLSR analysis of leaf spectral and chemical data to determine strength of the relationship between foliar properties and canopy reflectance under diverse canopy structures. Johansson et al. (2003) introduced PLSR to formulate multivariate models for plant moisture content prediction. Ji et al. (2007) established quantitative estimation models for chlorophyll and water content in wheat leaves via PLSR. Some researchers have studied the feature selection in PLSR modelling. Darvishzadeh et al. (2008) reported that the retrieval accuracy of PLSR increased when some feature selection was applied to the data before running the PLSR while estimating LAI and leaf chlorophyll content from field spectral measurements. A number of leaf biochemicals have been successfully estimated by this technique (Huang et al. 2004; Asner and Martin 2008; Ramoelo et al. 2012; Das et al. 2018). Ullah et al. (2014) used the PLSR to estimate leaf water content from the reflectance spectra in VNIR-SWIR, MIR and TIR. Das et al. (2017) used MLR, multivariate adaptive regression spline (MARS), PLSR, random forest (RF) and support vector machine regression (SVR) model to estimate plant RWC. They reported PLSR as the best model for prediction of RWC ($R_c^2 = 0.96$ and $R_{v}^{2} = 0.91$, respectively).

12.4.1.3 Characterization of Stresses through Plant Pigment Assessment

Leaf chlorophyll content decreases under stress condition, leading to a reduction in the overall absorption of light in the visible region (Zarco-Tejada et al. 2001). These changes affect the spectral reflectance signatures of plants through a reduction in green reflection and an increase in red and blue reflections resulting in changes in the normal spectral reflectance pattern of plant. When chlorophyll content is used as a measure of plant water-deficit stress, the placement and shape of the spectral red edge are important indicators of plant water status (Horler et al. 1983; Blackburn 2007). This relationship is used to explain the movement of the red edge to shorter wavelengths during expressions of plant water-deficit stress, such as senescence or stress-induced chlorosis which is known as blue shift (Carter 1993; Campbell et al. 2007). An approach like this can not only help in developing simple hand-held field instruments but also in studying the digital airborne or satellite images so as to assist the stakeholders in making informed decisions about crop management.

VIs have also been used to estimate chlorophyll content as affected by biotic and abiotic stresses. Datt (1999) proposed the $(R_{850} - R_{710})/(R_{850} - R_{680})$ index using leaf reflectance of 21 Eucalyptus species. Sims and Gamon (2002) developed some indices using a large database containing a wide range of functional types, leaf structure and development stage (nearly 400 leaves) and compared those with commonly used ones. They found that indices mSR705 and mND705 were much superior to others in respect of correlation with chlorophyll content. Broge and Leblanc (2001) made an evaluation among different indices developed from canopy scale simulated database. However, this model-based comparison did not have any relation to experimental spectra, and hardly any related study at leaf scale exists. Gitelson and Merzlyak (1994) observed that the highest sensitivity of reflectance corresponds to the highest absorption of light by chlorophyll-a at 670 nm. They inferred that 550–560 nm and 700–710 nm wavebands were most sensitive to chlorophyll-a content. For pigment estimation Blackburn (1999) identified the optimal individual wavebands, e.g. 680, 635 and 470 nm for chlorophyll-a, chlorophyll-b and carotenoids, respectively. Concentrations of both chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b in bracken (Pteridium aquilinum) were found to be best correlated with 676 nm (Blackburn 1998). In the same study, chlorophyll-a showed the highest correlation with 680 nm wavelength at senescence. Two indices, viz. R_{NIR}/R₇₀₀ and R_{NIR}/R_{550} , have been formulated for chlorophyll assessment from the reflectance spectra of tobacco, maple and chestnut (Gitelson and Merzlyak 1994; Lichtenthaler et al. 1996; Gitelson et al. 1996). Gitelson and Merzlyak (1997) achieved error of less than 4.2 μ g cm⁻², while predicting leaf chemicals through algorithm developed from the leaf optics validated over nine species in the chlorophyll content range of 0.27–62.9 $\mu g \text{ cm}^{-2}$. Increase in canopy chlorophyll, either by leaf chlorophyll content or LAI, is expected to result in widening of major chlorophyll absorption at around 680 nm in reflectance spectra of any vegetation (Gitelson et al. 1996).

Steele et al. (2008) established a relation between chlorophyll content and the red edge chlorophyll index, described as CI_{red} edge = $[(R_{NIR}/R_{red} edge) -1]$ in the red edge (710–720 nm) and NIR (755–765 nm) spectral regions. The CI_{red} edge, argued to be an accurate measure of grape leaf chlorophyll, is capable of predicting leaf chlorophyll in 3–515 mg m⁻² range with a root mean square error (RMSE) of less than 28 mg m⁻². This relationship, validated using independent datasets including Edelweiss, Saint Croix and De Chaunac grape cultivars, was very accurate in chlorophyll prediction. Das et al. (2015) compared thirty VIs, namely, simple ratio, normalized and three-band indices for estimation of chlorophyll in wheat as affected by water-deficit stress. They have concluded that satisfactory prediction of chlorophyll can be obtained using VIs.

12.4.1.4 Thermal Hyperspectral Remote Sensing for Stress Characterization

Until recently vegetation spectra in the mid- and thermal-infrared region (MIR: 2.5-6.0 µm and TIR: 8.0-14.0 µm) have been considered as featureless. Most spectral features of plant leaves in the TIR domain have been overlooked due to lack of equipment, poor signal-to-noise ratio and the complex nature of the spectral characteristics of vegetation (Ribeiro da Luz and Crowley 2007). However, recent advances in TIR application lead to the discovery that the spectral signatures of fresh plants are dominated by epidermal materials of leaves (i.e. cell wall and cuticle; Salisbury 1986). The reflectance spectra of green leaves taken by high-resolution sensors in the TIR region revealed a broad range of distinctive spectral features (Salisbury 1986; Salisbury and Milton 1988). The spectral response of fresh and completely dried leaves measured in mid- to thermal-infrared region revealed significant variation in the mid-infrared spectral response, emphasizing the potential use of mid-infrared for leaf water content quantification (Gerber et al. 2011). Remotely sensed data using TIR radiation has been successfully used to detect water-deficit stress even before visual symptoms of the same appeared (Möller et al. 2006).

Fresh leaves showed the lowest MIR and TIR reflectance, and with decrease in leaf water content, reflectance increased. In the MIR, the variation in reflectance was more prominent between 2.5 and 3.0 μ m (maximum reflectance of about 30%) and 3.5–5.8 μ m (maximum reflectance of about 16%). The absorption characteristics at 3.05 μ m and 4.65 μ m are related to the leaf water content (Ribeiro da Luz 2006; Fabre et al. 2011). The water absorption feature at 4.65 μ m became feebler with decreasing leaf water content, while the cellulose and lignin maxima at 4.00 μ m and 5.52 μ m became conspicuous (Fabre et al. 2011). Cheng et al. (2011) reported better retrieval of leaf water content retrieval from the MIR to TIR spectra ($R^2 = 0.88$) than that obtained from VNIR to SWIR spectra ($R^2 = 0.77$). The correlation between leaf water content and spectral response over the entire MIR region was reported to be negative (Ullah et al. 2013).

12.4.2 Nutrient Status Monitoring

One of the major challenges in front of the scientific community is to increase input use efficiency, and this compels us to implement competent techniques and farm technologies which are economically feasible and environmentally suitable. There are mainly two techniques namely soil and plant/leaf/tissue testing for rational fertilizer management. Among two approaches, the latter is more suited for monitoring the nutrient status and making decisions related to fertilizer nutrient application in standing crop. The traditional methods for leaf or tissue analysis need a thorough and comprehensive sampling, time and expensive laboratory biochemical analysis, which it practically not possible on a large scale, e.g. farmer's field. It is also very much applicable to tree crops, where crop nutrient status is truly reflected by leaf than the soil testing. The nutrient stress already disrupts the plant processes by the time the plant leaves express its deficiency symptoms, and the nutrient deficiency is diagnosed through the chemical analysis in the laboratory (Zhao et al. 2003).

Spectral features to determine biochemical nutrient concentration of different types of crops have been widely investigated and are becoming popular (Chen et al. 2011). The hyperspectral remote sensing data can be processed as in two ways, viz. narrow band or hyperspectral VIs and multivariate data analysis (Mulla 2013). Until recently research on remote sensing in agriculture was limited to developing red and NIR band-based VIs for nutrient stress monitoring (Hatfield et al. 2008). However, research has shown a remarkable improvement in retrieving information about crop through multivariate analysis of remotely sensed data over the traditional broadband VIs (Hansen and Schjoerring 2003; Nguyen and Lee 2006; Pimstein et al. 2007). N monitoring using remote sensing is a very well-developed area of research; however only a few attempts have been made in few crop plants on nutrients other than N (Samborski et al. 2009; Cohen et al. 2010; Herrmann et al. 2010).

Several indices (like NDVI) based on different diagnostic wavelengths have been developed for monitoring N in plants. The variation in spectral reflectance pattern of a wheat crop at different phenostages for different N stress levels has been studied (Ranjan et al. 2012). The findings revealed that the spectral reflectance pattern at the booting stage was most distinct for varying N stress level. A canopy reflectance-based ratio of data difference index (RDDI) was the best to predict the N in canopy of litchi at autumn shoot maturation stage, flower spike stage, fruit maturation stage and flowering stage with an accuracy of $R^2 > 0.5$ and RMSE<0.14. This implies the applicability of the canopy reflectance to estimate the litchi leaf N concentration, provided growth stage-specific models are used (Li et al. 2016). Under controlled environment, the macronutrient deficiency had exhibited effect on spectral reflectance pattern (Ponzoni et al. 1999; Araus et al. 2001). Latest research in this area demonstrated successfully monitoring of plant macronutrient using hyperspectral remote sensing (Chen et al. 2011; Pimstein et al. 2011; Knox et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2013).

The concentration of P in plants is around 0.1–0.5%. Energy transfer and storage are the most important functions of P in plants. It is an essential component of adenosine di- and triphosphates (ADP and ATP). So, deficiency of P majorly disrupts energy-requiring processes, like membrane transport, photosynthesis, nucleic acid synthesis, biosynthesis of protein and phospholipids, etc. P deficiency-induced sugar accumulation enhances formation of a purple pigment anthocyanin in plants (Havlin et al. 2005). Osborne et al. (2002) developed stage- and time-specific MLR models of reflectance at selected wavelengths to predict P concentration in corn plants. At sixth leaf expansion growth stage (denoted as V6), linear model of 730 and 930 nm predicted P concentration in leaves significantly. Pimstein et al. (2011) used linear correlation analysis technique to identify P and K responsive wavelengths in wheat; they proposed the use of 1400–1500 nm and 1900–2100 nm as a potential region for developing P-based VIs. They found significant wheat canopy P prediction using proposed VI N_1645_1715 ((R₁₆₄₅ - R₁₇₁₅)/(R₁₆₄₅ - R₁₇₁₅)) in wheat canopy. One of the advantages of

using these wavelengths is that they are located out of water absorption region and are usually included among the spectral bands of airborne hyperspectral images (Pimstein et al. 2011). Non-linear PLSR yielded the highest grass N and P estimation $(R^2 = 0.81, RMSE = 0.08 \text{ and } R^2 = 0.81, RMSE = 0.08, respectively)$ compared to conventional PLSR and remote sensing variables only (Ramoelo et al. 2013). Models having ancillary (geology, soil, fire, slope, aspect, altitude, etc.) and absorption variables had the highest N, P and fibre predictive capability $(R^2_{adj} = 0.49-0.74)$ (Knox et al. 2012). Least square support vector machine (LS-SVM) model $(R_p = 0.88)$ and PLSR model $(R_p = 0.75)$ got the best prediction performance for determination of N, P and K content in grape leaves, respectively (Zhang et al. 2013). Pimstein et al. (2011) reported significant levels of accuracy of prediction in the retrieval of K and P in wheat plant using PLSR models.

Like P, concentration of S in plants ranges from 0.1% to 0.5%. S is an important component of S-containing amino acids - methionine, cystine and cysteine; these constitute about 90% of the total S in plants. Although S is not essential, it is a requisite for the chlorophyll synthesis. The deficiency symptoms of S appear first on younger leaves, which are many a time incorrectly diagnosed with N deficiency symptoms. S deficiency in plants leads to accumulation nonprotein N; this makes N: S ratio an important indicator of S status in plants (Havlin et al. 2005). The deficiency or sufficiency of P and S results differences in colouration and production of various chemical compounds which make their remote monitoring possible using remote sensing. One of the important functions of S is formation of disulphide bond (-S-S-) bond between polypeptide chains which determines structure and configuration of proteins. A characteristic absorption feature of disulphide bond is present in VIS region (500-600 nm). Pagani and Echeverría (2011) estimated S in upper and middle leaves of corn using leaf greenness under controlled S stressed condition. This is one of the earliest reports on S prediction using remote sensing in corn. They recorded significantly positive relationship between sulphur sufficiency index (SSI) and chlorophyll metre reading (CMR).

Ferwerda and Skidmore (2007) studied the ability of the hyperspectral remote sensing to predict the status of the nutrients (N, P, Ca, K, Na and Mg) in four wood plants: willow, mopane, olive and heather. In wheat crop, a proposed VI $(P_{1080}_{1460} = (R_{1080} - R_{1460})/(R_{1080} + R_{1460}))$ could predict the P status with significantly high accuracy (r = 0.42 and RMSE = 0.180 g m⁻²). The proposed S VI $(S_{660}_{1080} = (R_{1080} - R_{660})/(R_{1080} + R_{660}))$ to retrieve S status had higher prediction accuracies than the traditional VIs (Mahajan et al. 2014). Similarly in rice, two VIs, i.e. NDVI hyper and NDVI broadbands, could predict canopy N with higher accuracy but failed to do so for P and S. The prediction accuracy of the VNIRand SWIR-based VI NRI1510 ((R1510 - R660)/(R1510 + R660)) was the highest (r = 0.81, p < 0.01) for predicting canopy N status. New VIs were proposed based on the linear correlation analysis for remote detection of P and S. Proposed VI $P_{670} = \frac{1260}{(R1260 - R670)} (R1260 + R670)$ predicted the canopy P status with highest accuracy (r = 0.67, p < 0.01), whereas the highest prediction accuracy for canopy S (r = 0.58, p < 0.01) was recorded using the VI S_670_1090 ((R1090 -R(670)/(R(1090 + R(670))) (Mahajan et al. 2016). They suggest that the proposed

spectral algorithms could be used for real-time and site-specific N, P and S management in rice and wheat crop and for developing relatively low-cost hand-held sensors. Yanli et al. (2015) attempted to predict the N and P status of the citrus leaves using the hyperspectral remote sensing data. The results of their experiment revealed that Savitzky-Golay and PLSR methods were the best to predict N (Rp = 0.90, RMSEP = 0.1041) and P (Rp = 0.92, RMSEP = 0.0514). In a study by Galvez-Sola et al. (2015), NIR spectroscopy-based analysis and subsequent nutrient estimations for N, K, Ca, Mg, B, Fe, Cu, Mn, and Zn concentration were done using 217 leaf samples of different citrus trees species. The PLSR and different preprocessing treatments were used to carry out the best estimation against the current best practice techniques. It was verified a high proficiency in the estimation of N and Ca as well as achieving acceptable estimation for K, Mg, Fe and Zn. The calibrations for B, Cu and Mn were unsuccessful. Thus, research work done elucidates that the macro- and micronutrient monitoring through remote sensing is possible. This technique is real-time and rapid, non-destructive, cost-effective and environmentally friendly.

References

- Araus JL, Casadesus J, Bort J (2001) Recent tools for the screening of physiological traits determining yield. In: Reynolds MP, Ortiz-Monasterio JI, McNab A (eds) Application of physiology in wheat breeding. CIMMYT, Mexico
- Ashraf M, Athar HR, Harris PJC, Kwon TR (2008) Some prospective strategies for improving crop salt tolerance. Adv Agron 97:45–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(07)00002-8
- Asner GP, Martin RE (2008) Spectral and chemical analysis of tropical forests: scaling from leaf to canopy levels. Remote Sens Environ 112:3958–3970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.07.003
- Asrar GQ, Fuchs M, Kanemasu ET, Hatfield JL (1984) Estimating absorbed photosynthetic radiation and leaf area index from spectral reflectance in wheat 1. Agron J 76:300–306
- Babar MA, Reynolds MP, Van Ginkel M et al (2006) Spectral reflectance indices as a potential indirect selection criteria for wheat yield under irrigation. Crop Sci 46:578–588. https://doi.org/ 10.2135/cropsci2005.0059
- Bauer ME, Daughtry CST, Biehl LL et al (1986) Field spectroscopy of agricultural crops. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens GE-24:65–75. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.1986.289589
- Blackburn GA (1998) Spectral indices for estimating photosynthetic pigment concentrations: a test using senescent tree leaves. Int J Remote Sens 19:657–675. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 014311698215919
- Blackburn GA (1999) Relationships between spectral reflectance and pigment concentrations in stacks of deciduous broadleaves. Remote Sens Environ 70:224–237
- Blackburn GA (2007) Wavelet decomposition of hyperspectral data: a novel approach to quantifying pigment concentrations in vegetation. Int J Remote Sens 28:2831–2855
- Boyer JS (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Science 218:443–448. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.218.4571.443
- Broge NH, Leblanc E (2001) Comparing prediction power and stability of broadband and hyperspectral vegetation indices for estimation of green leaf area index and canopy chlorophyll density. Remote Sens Environ 76:156–172
- Campbell PKE, Middleton EM, McMurtrey JE, Chappelle EW (2007) Assessment of vegetation stress using reflectance or fluorescence measurements. J Environ Qual 36:832–845
- Carter GA (1993) Responses of leaf spectral reflectance to plant stress. Am J Bot 80:239-243

- Ceccato P, Flasse S, Tarantola S et al (2001) Detecting vegetation leaf water content using reflectance in the optical domain. Remote Sens Environ 77:22–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0034-4257(01)00191-2
- Ceccato P, Flasse S, Grégoire J-M (2002) Designing a spectral index to estimate vegetation water content from remote sensing data. Remote Sens Environ 82:198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0034-4257(02)00036-6
- Chaerle L, De Boever F, Van Der Straeten D (2002) Infrared detection of early biotic and wound stress in plants. Thermol Int 12:100–106
- Champagne CM, Staenz K, Bannari A et al (2003) Validation of a hyperspectral curve-fitting model for the estimation of plant water content of agricultural canopies. Remote Sens Environ 87:148–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00137-8
- Chapman SC (2008) Use of crop models to understand genotype by environment interactions for drought in real-world and simulated plant breeding trials. Euphytica 161:195–208
- Chen X, Vierling L, Deering D (2005) A simple and effective radiometric correction method to improve landscape change detection across sensors and across time. Remote Sens Environ 98:63–79
- Chen S, Li D, Wang Y et al (2011) Spectral characterization and prediction of nutrient content in winter leaves of litchi during flower bud differentiation in southern China. Precis Agric 12:682–698
- Cheng T, Rivard B, Sánchez-Azofeifa A (2011) Spectroscopic determination of leaf water content using continuous wavelet analysis. Remote Sens Environ 115:659–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.rse.2010.11.001
- Cho MA, Skidmore A, Corsi F et al (2007) Estimation of green grass/herb biomass from airborne hyperspectral imagery using spectral indices and partial least squares regression. Int J Appl Earth Obs Geoinf 9:414–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2007.02.001
- Chuvieco E, Riaño D, Aguado I, Cocero D (2002) Estimation of fuel moisture content from multitemporal analysis of landsat thematic mapper reflectance data: applications in fire danger assessment. Int J Remote Sens 23:2145–2162. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160110069818
- Cohen Y, Alchanatis V, Zusman Y et al (2010) Leaf nitrogen estimation in potato based on spectral data and on simulated bands of the VENµS satellite. Precis Agric 11:520–537
- Curran PJ (1989) Remote sensing of foliar chemistry. Remote Sens Environ 30:271–278. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(89)90069-2
- Darvishzadeh R, Skidmore A, Schlerf M et al (2008) LAI and chlorophyll estimation for a heterogeneous grassland using hyperspectral measurements. ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens 63:409–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2008.01.001
- Das B, Sahoo RN, Pargal S et al (2015) Spectral based non-invasive estimation of plant chlorophyll content. J Agric Phys 15:88–102
- Das B, Sahoo RN, Pargal S et al (2017) Comparison of different uni- and multi-variate techniques for monitoring leaf water status as an indicator of water-deficit stress in wheat through spectroscopy. Biosyst Eng 160:69–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.05.007
- Das B, Sahoo RN, Pargal S et al (2018) Quantitative monitoring of sucrose, reducing sugar and total sugar dynamics for phenotyping of water-deficit stress tolerance in rice through spectroscopy and chemometrics. Spectrochim Acta Part A Mol Biomol Spectrosc 192:41–51. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.saa.2017.10.076
- Datt B (1999) Remote sensing of water content in eucalyptus leaves. Aust J Bot 47:909. https://doi. org/10.1071/BT98042
- Doraiswamy PC, Moulin S, Cook PW, Stern A (2003) Crop yield assessment from remote sensing. Photogramm Eng Remote Sens 69:665–674. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.69.6.665
- Eitel JUH, Gessler PE, Smith AMS, Robberecht R (2006) Suitability of existing and novel spectral indices to remotely detect water stress in Populus spp. For Ecol Manag 229:170–182. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.03.027

- El-Shikha DM, Waller P, Hunsaker D et al (2007) Ground-based remote sensing for assessing water and nitrogen status of broccoli. Agric Water Manag 92:183–193
- Fabre S, Lesaignoux A, Olioso A, Briottet X (2011) Influence of water content on spectral reflectance of leaves in the 3–15- μm domain. IEEE Geosci Remote Sens Lett 8:143–147. https://doi.org/10.1109/LGRS.2010.2053518
- Ferwerda JG, Skidmore AK (2007) Can nutrient status of four woody plant species be predicted using field spectrometry? ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens 62:406–414
- Galvez-Sola L, García-Sánchez F, Pérez-Pérez JG et al (2015) Rapid estimation of nutritional elements on citrus leaves by near infrared reflectance spectroscopy. Front Plant Sci 6:1–8
- Gao B-C (1996) NDWI—A normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. Remote Sens Environ 58:257–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00067-3
- Gates DM, Keegan HJ, Schleter JC, Weidner VR (1965) Spectral properties of plants. Appl Opt 4:11–20
- Gausman HW (1974) Leaf reflectance of near-infrared. Photogramm Eng 40:183-191
- Geladi P, Kowalski BR (1986) Partial least-squares regression: a tutorial. Anal Chim Acta 185:1-17
- Gerber F, Marion R, Olioso A et al (2011) Modeling directional–hemispherical reflectance and transmittance of fresh and dry leaves from 0.4µm to 5.7µm with the PROSPECT-VISIR model. Remote Sens Environ 115:404–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2010.09.011
- Gitelson A, Merzlyak MN (1994) Spectral reflectance changes associated with autumn senescence of Aesculus hippocastanum L. and Acer platanoides L. leaves. Spectral features and relation to chlorophyll estimation. J Plant Physiol 143:286–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176-1617(11) 81633-0
- Gitelson AA, Merzlyak MN (1997) Remote estimation of chlorophyll content in higher plant leaves. Int J Remote Sens 18:2691–2697
- Gitelson AA, Kaufman YJ, Merzlyak MN (1996) Use of a green channel in remote sensing of global vegetation from EOS-MODIS. Remote Sens Environ 58:289–298. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0034-4257(96)00072-7
- Goetz AFH, Vane G, Solomon JE, Rock BN (1985) Imaging spectrometry for earth remote sensing. Science 228:1147–1153. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.228.4704.1147
- Guilioni L, Jones HG, Leinonen I, Lhomme JP (2008) On the relationships between stomatal resistance and leaf temperatures in thermography. Agric For Meteorol 148:1908–1912. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.07.009
- Gutierrez M, Reynolds MP, Klatt AR (2010) Association of water spectral indices with plant and soil water relations in contrasting wheat genotypes. J Exp Bot 61:3291–3303
- Hansen PM, Schjoerring JK (2003) Reflectance measurement of canopy biomass and nitrogen status in wheat crops using normalized difference vegetation indices and partial least squares regression. Remote Sens Environ 86:542–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00131-7
- Hardisky MA, Klemas V, Smart RM (1983) The influence of soil salinity, growth form, and leaf moisture on the spectral radiance of Spartina alterniflora canopies. Photogramm Eng Remote Sensing 49:77–83
- Harry V (2006) Principles of soil and plant water relations. Geoderma 133:478
- Hatfield JL, Gitelson AA, Schepers JS, Walthall CL (2008) Application of spectral remote sensing for agronomic decisions. Agron J 100:S–117
- Havlin JL, Beaton JD, Tisdale SL, Nelson WL (2005) Soil fertility and fertilizers: an introduction to nutrient management. Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River
- Herrmann I, Karnieli A, Bonfil DJ et al (2010) SWIR-based spectral indices for assessing nitrogen content in potato fields. Int J Remote Sens 31:5127–5143
- Horler DNH, Docray M, Barber J (1983) The red edge of plant leaf reflectance. Int J Remote Sens 4:273–288. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431168308948546
- Huang Z, Turner BJ, Dury SJ et al (2004) Estimating foliage nitrogen concentration from HYMAP data using continuum removal analysis. Remote Sens Environ 93:18–29. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.rse.2004.06.008

- Hunt ER Jr, Rock BN (1989) Detection of changes in leaf water content using near-and middleinfrared reflectances. Remote Sens Environ 30:43–54
- Hunt ERJ, Rock BN (1989) Detection of changes in leaf water content using near- and middleinfrared reflectances. Remote Sens Environ 30:43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(89) 90046-1
- Jensen JR (2009) Remote sensing of the environment: an earth resource perspective 2/e. Pearson Education India, Chennai
- Ji HY, Wang PX, Yan TL (2007) [Estimations of chlorophyll and water contents in live leaf of winter wheat with reflectance spectroscopy]. Guang pu xue yu guang pu fen xi = Guang pu 27:514–516
- Johansson J, Hagman O, Fjellner B-A (2003) Predicting moisture content and density distribution of Scots pine by microwave scanning of sawn timber. J Wood Sci 49:312–316. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10086-002-0493-7
- Knox NM, Skidmore AK, Prins HHT et al (2012) Remote sensing of forage nutrients: combining ecological and spectral absorption feature data. ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens 72:27–35
- Li L, Ustin SL, Lay M (2005) Application of multiple endmember spectral mixture analysis (MESMA) to AVIRIS imagery for coastal salt marsh mapping: a case study in China Camp, CA. USA Int J Remote Sens 26:5193–5207. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160500218911
- Li F, Mistele B, Hu Y et al (2014) Reflectance estimation of canopy nitrogen content in winter wheat using optimised hyperspectral spectral indices and partial least squares regression. Eur J Agron 52:198–209
- Li D, Wang C, Liu W et al (2016) Estimation of litchi (Litchi chinensis Sonn.) leaf nitrogen content at different growth stages using canopy reflectance spectra. Eur J Agron 80:182–194
- Lichtenthaler HK, Gitelson A, Lang M (1996) Non-destructive determination of chlorophyll content of leaves of a green and an aurea mutant of tobacco by reflectance measurements. J Plant Physiol 148:483–493
- Mahajan GR, Sahoo RN, Pandey RN et al (2014) Using hyperspectral remote sensing techniques to monitor nitrogen, phosphorus, sulphur and potassium in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Precis Agric 15:499–522
- Mahajan GR, Pandey RN, Sahoo RN et al (2016) Monitoring nitrogen, phosphorus and sulphur in hybrid rice (Oryza sativa L.) using hyperspectral remote sensing. Precis Agric 15:499–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11119-016-9485-2
- Malingreau JP (1989) The vegetation index and the study of vegetation dynamics. In: Toselli F (ed) Applications of remote sensing to agrometeorology. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 285–303
- Maron JL, Crone E (2006) Herbivory: effects on plant abundance, distribution and population growth. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 273:2575–2584. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3587
- McGwire K, Minor T, Fenstermaker L (2000) Hyperspectral mixture modeling for quantifying sparse vegetation cover in arid environments. Remote Sens Environ 72:360–374
- Möller M, Alchanatis V, Cohen Y et al (2006) Use of thermal and visible imagery for estimating crop water status of irrigated grapevine. J Exp Bot 58:827–838
- Montes JM, Melchinger AE, Reif JC (2007) Novel throughput phenotyping platforms in plant genetic studies. Trends Plant Sci 12:433–436
- Mulla DJ (2013) Twenty five years of remote sensing in precision agriculture: key advances and remaining knowledge gaps. Biosyst Eng 114:358–371
- Munjal R, Dhanda SS (2005) Physiological evaluation of wheat (Triticum aestivum L) genotypes for drought resistance. Indian J Genet Plant Breed 65:307–308
- Mutanga O, Skidmore AK (2004) Hyperspectral band depth analysis for a better estimation of grass biomass (Cenchrus ciliaris) measured under controlled laboratory conditions. Int J Appl Earth Obs Geoinf 5:87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2004.01.001
- Mutanga O, Skidmore AK, Kumar L, Ferwerda J (2005) Estimating tropical pasture quality at canopy level using band depth analysis with continuum removal in the visible domain. Int J Remote Sens 26:1093–1108. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160512331326738

- Nguyen HT, Lee B-W (2006) Assessment of rice leaf growth and nitrogen status by hyperspectral canopy reflectance and partial least square regression. Eur J Agron 24:349–356. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eja.2006.01.001
- Oerke E-C (2006) Crop losses to pests. J Agric Sci 144:31. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0021859605005708
- Osborne SL, Schepers JS, Francis DD, Schlemmer MR (2002) Detection of phosphorus and nitrogen deficiencies in corn using spectral radiance measurements. Agron J 94:1215–1221
- Pagani A, Echeverría HE (2011) Performance of sulfur diagnostic methods for corn. Agron J 103:413–421
- Peñuelas J, Filella I (1998) Visible and near-infrared reflectance techniques for diagnosing plant physiological status. Trends Plant Sci 3:151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(98) 01213-8
- Peñuelas J, Gamon JA, Griffin KL, Field CB (1993) Assessing community type, plant biomass, pigment composition, and photosynthetic efficiency of aquatic vegetation from spectral reflectance. Remote Sens Environ 46:110–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(93)90088-F
- Peñuelas J, Gamon JA, Fredeen AL et al (1994) Reflectance indices associated with physiological changes in nitrogen- and water-limited sunflower leaves. Remote Sens Environ 48:135–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(94)90136-8
- Peñuelas J, Pinol J, Ogaya R, Filella I (1997) Estimation of plant water concentration by the reflectance Water Index WI (R900/R970). Int J Remote Sens 18:2869–2875. https://doi.org/10. 1080/014311697217396
- Pimstein A, Karnieli A, Bonfil D (2007) Wheat and maize monitoring based on ground spectral measurements and multivariate data analysis. J Appl Remote Sens 1:13530
- Pimstein A, Karnieli A, Bansal SK, Bonfil DJ (2011) Exploring remotely sensed technologies for monitoring wheat potassium and phosphorus using field spectroscopy. F Crop Res 121:125–135
- Ponzoni FJ, De JL, Goncalves M (1999) Spectral features associated with nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium deficiencies in Eucalyptus saligna seedling leaves. Int J Remote Sens 20:2249–2264
- Prasad B, Carver BF, Stone ML et al (2007) Genetic analysis of indirect selection for winter wheat grain yield using spectral reflectance indices. Crop Sci 47:1416–1425. https://doi.org/10.2135/ cropsci2006.08.0546
- Pu R, Ge S, Kelly NM, Gong P (2003) Spectral absorption features as indicators of water status in coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia) leaves. Int J Remote Sens 24:1799–1810. https://doi.org/10. 1080/01431160210155965
- Ramoelo A, Skidmore AK, Cho MA et al (2012) Regional estimation of savanna grass nitrogen using the red-edge band of the spaceborne RapidEye sensor. Int J Appl Earth Obs Geoinf 19:151–162
- Ramoelo A, Skidmore AK, Cho MA et al (2013) Non-linear partial least square regression increases the estimation accuracy of grass nitrogen and phosphorus using in situ hyperspectral and environmental data. ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens 82:27–40
- Ranjan R, Chopra UK, Sahoo RN et al (2012) Assessment of plant nitrogen stress in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) through hyperspectral indices. Int J Remote Sens 33:6342–6360. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2012.687473
- Ribeiro da Luz B (2006) Attenuated total reflectance spectroscopy of plant leaves: a tool for ecological and botanical studies. New Phytol 172:305–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01823.x
- Ribeiro da Luz B, Crowley JK (2007) Spectral reflectance and emissivity features of broad leaf plants: prospects for remote sensing in the thermal infrared (8.0–14.0 μm). Remote Sens Environ 109:393–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.01.008
- Rouse JW, Haas RH, Schell JA et al (1974) Monitoring the vernal advancements and retrogradation. Texas A M Univ, Texas
- Salisbury JW (1986) Preliminary measurements of leaf spectral reflectance in the 8-14 μm region. Int J Remote Sens 7:1879–1886

- Salisbury JW, Milton NM (1988) Thermal infrared (2.5-to 13.5-µm) directional hemispherical reflectance of leaves. Photogramm Eng Remote Sensing 54:1301–1304
- Samborski SM, Tremblay N, Fallon E (2009) Strategies to make use of plant sensors-based diagnostic information for nitrogen recommendations. Agron J 101:800–816
- Sepulcre-Cantó G, Zarco-Tejada PJ, Jiménez-Muñoz JC et al (2006) Detection of water stress in an olive orchard with thermal remote sensing imagery. Agric For Meteorol 136:31–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.01.008
- Serrano L, Peñuelas J, Ustin SL (2002) Remote sensing of nitrogen and lignin in Mediterranean vegetation from AVIRIS data. Remote Sens Environ 81:355–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0034-4257(02)00011-1
- Sims DA, Gamon JA (2002) Relationships between leaf pigment content and spectral reflectance across a wide range of species, leaf structures and developmental stages. Remote Sens Environ 81:337–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00010-X
- Sinclair TR, Ludlow MM (1985) Who taught plants thermodynamics? The unfulfilled potential of plant water potential. Funct Plant Biol 12:213–217
- Steele M, Gitelson AA, Rundquist D (2008) Nondestructive estimation of leaf chlorophyll content in grapes. Am J Enol Vitic 59:299–305
- Stimson HC, Breshears DD, Ustin SL, Kefauver SC (2005) Spectral sensing of foliar water conditions in two co-occurring conifer species: Pinus edulis and Juniperus monosperma. Remote Sens Environ 96:108–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2004.12.007
- Strauss SY, Zangerl AR (2002) Plant-insect interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. Plant-animal interactions: an evolutionary approach 77–106
- Thomas EV, Haaland DM (1990) Comparison of multivariate calibration methods for quantitative spectral analysis. Anal Chem 62:1091–1099. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac00209a024
- Tucker CJ (1980) Remote sensing of leaf water content in the near infrared. Remote Sens Environ 10:23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(80)90096-6
- Ullah S, Skidmore AK, Naeem M, Schlerf M (2012) An accurate retrieval of leaf water content from mid to thermal infrared spectra using continuous wavelet analysis. Sci Total Environ 437:145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.08.025
- Ullah S, Skidmore AK, Groen TA, Schlerf M (2013) Evaluation of three proposed indices for the retrieval of leaf water content from the mid-wave infrared (2–6μm) spectra. Agric For Meteorol 171–172:65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.11.014
- Ullah S, Skidmore AK, Ramoelo A et al (2014) Retrieval of leaf water content spanning the visible to thermal infrared spectra. ISPRS J Photogramm Remote Sens 93:56–64. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.isprsjprs.2014.04.005
- Ustin SL, Roberts DA, Pinzón J et al (1998) Estimating canopy water content of chaparral shrubs using optical methods. Remote Sens Environ 65:280–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257 (98)00038-8
- Vaiphasa C, Ongsomwang S, Vaiphasa T, Skidmore AK (2005) Tropical mangrove species discrimination using hyperspectral data: a laboratory study. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 65:371–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2005.06.014
- van Leeuwen WJD, Huete AR (1996) Effects of standing litter on the biophysical interpretation of plant canopies with spectral indices. Remote Sens Environ 55:123–138
- Wang L, Qu JJ (2007) NMDI: a normalized multi-band drought index for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture with satellite remote sensing. Geophys Res Lett 34:1–5
- Wiegand CL, Richardson AJ, Escobar DE, Gerbermann AH (1991) Vegetation indices in crop assessments. Remote Sens Environ 35:105–119
- Yanli L, Qiang L, Shaolan H et al (2015) Prediction of nitrogen and phosphorus contents in citrus leaves based on hyperspectral imaging. Int J Agric Biol Eng 8:80
- Zarco-Tejada PJ, Miller JR, Noland TL et al (2001) Scaling-up and model inversion methods with narrowband optical indices for chlorophyll content estimation in closed forest canopies with hyperspectral data. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens 39:1491–1507. https://doi.org/10.1109/36. 934080

- Zarco-Tejada PJ, Rueda CA, Ustin SL (2003) Water content estimation in vegetation with MODIS reflectance data and model inversion methods. Remote Sens Environ 85:109–124
- Zarco-Tejada PJ, Miller JR, Morales A et al (2004) Hyperspectral indices and model simulation for chlorophyll estimation in open-canopy tree crops. Remote Sens Environ 90:463–476
- Zhang X, Liu F, He Y, Gong X (2013) Detecting macronutrients content and distribution in oilseed rape leaves based on hyperspectral imaging. Biosyst Eng 115:56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biosystemseng.2013.02.007
- Zhao D, Raja Reddy K, Kakani VG et al (2003) Corn (Zea mays L.) growth, leaf pigment concentration, photosynthesis and leaf hyperspectral reflectance properties as affected by nitrogen supply. Plant Soil 257:205–218. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026233732507



Understanding the Crop-Climate 13 Interaction Using Process-Based Simulation Models

Lalu Das

Abstract

Nowadays, outputs of the global climate models (GCMs) are extensively used as inputs for the crop simulation models (CSMs) to assess the impact of climate change on different agricultural crops. As the skills of GCMs and CSMs are not at per for decision-making at local scale, particularly in distract level due to the coarser resolution of GCMs and limited ability of representing the regional scenarios through crop models, so GCMs have to be evaluated to test its ability for reproducing the local scale climatic mean features and crop model has to be calibrated and validated with local scale experimental data before its application for climate change studies. The present chapter describes how the combined influence of climate and crop models are able to provide useful information for policy-making at subregional or local scale. First part, the centennial scale (1901–2000) district-wise rainfall change over West Bengal state for four distinct seasons and annual scale has been quantified using station data as well as GCM simulation. Based on the ability of GCMs to simulate observed rainfall, a group of better performing models is identified for North and South Bengal districts separately for using an input for any decision-making research. Percentage change (with respect to 1971-2000) of future annual monsoon and pre-monsoon season rainfall in different short-term (30 year) and long-term (100 year) periods revealed a decreasing trend of rainfall by 16-25% over South Bengal and 1-15% over North Bengal districts, while the winter and post-monsoon rainfall were projected to be increased by 60-117% and 1-15%, respectively, over North Bengal. Future temperature is always showing increasing trends in different time periods in different parts of the world as well as in Indian subcontinent. An attempt has been taken to investigate how the increasing trends of temperature, increasing/decreasing patterns of rainfall as well as

L. Das (🖂)

Department of Agricultural Meteorology and Physics, Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Mohanpur, Nadia, West Bengal, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_13

elevated CO_2 can alter the productivity of rice crop over the Gangetic West Bengal region through a crop simulation model of rice, popularly known as 'ORYZA2000'. It is revealed that rice production decreases by about 10% with only 1 °C rise in temperature and current CO_2 level, while it increases by 10% under 1 °C rise of temperature and doubling CO_2 concentration. It is further noticed that productivity of rice will fall by 30% with a rise of temperature by 2 °C and doubling CO_2 level.

Keywords

West Bengal · Rainfall · ORYZA2000 · Future projection · GCM · RCP

13.1 Introduction

Climate scientists as well as agro-meteorologists are facing great difficulties to adequately estimate the amount of food grain requirement under the context of warming climate and increasing trends of global population. The climate scientists are struggling to provide reliable climate projection, as the model-based future projections are full of uncertainty. To quantify the actual production in the future, we must have prerequisite ideas of how much climate is going to be changed and how the different crop environments will respond in different changing environment particularly in the elevated temperature and CO_2 level. The agricultural system is considered as a complex system due to the exhibition of multiple interactions among climate, crop, and soil properties. Therefore, more focus is needed to understand how different climatic processes are influencing the growth and developmental of crops over different phenological stages. These detailed understanding of complex interaction between climate and crop in different growth stages may provide useful robust strategies for the policy-makers to implement suitable adaptation and mitigation options at district or local scale to combat climate change. Therefore, the whole chapter has been described into two different parts. The first part focuses the past climate change scenarios as well as its future projection over all districts of West Bengal state using the observational station data along with the simulations from GCMs, the second part demonstrates on estimating how the changing patterns of temperature, rainfall and CO_2 concentrations have impacted the growth and development of crops and hence amount of final productivity or yields.

Climate change emerged as one of the most important environmental burning issue, attracts global attention and needs to be addressed seriously to save the our environment. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has quantified the degree of climate change and its vulnerabilities over different scales. IPCC provides climate information in terms of different assessment reports published in different time interval. The recent two assessment reports are assessment report 4 (AR4) of 2007 and assessment report 5 (AR5) of 2013, where it was pointed out that developing countries are expected to be more vulnerable under

climate change. Assessing the past and future scale climate change information at global scale using the GCMs is quite reasonable but comparatively smaller area; it is debatable due to their coarser resolution, so using GCM simulations for generating climatic information at local scale as well as using its simulations as an input for the crop simulation models to investigate the change of crop productivity may attract criticism. So as a case study, the present chapter has attempted to see how presentgeneration GCMs (CMIP5) are able to reproduce the observed seasonal rainfall over different North and South Bengal districts of West Bengal state. Based on their abilities, a group of better performing GCMs can be recommended to use as the inputs for the ORYZA2000 model for projecting rice yield variability under changing environment. On the basis of amount of rainfall received in different months, there are four major seasons in India: winter (December to February), pre-monsoon (March to May), monsoon (June to September) and post-monsoon (October and November). A major component of Asian summer monsoon is the Indian summer monsoon (ISM) that has a significant effect on the lives of more than 60% of the world's population (Wang and LinHo 2002). Almost 80% of the total annual rainfall in India is received by the ISM. Therefore, any alteration of the magnitudes of ISM may have strong effect on agricultural, hydrological and ecological systems resulting in stressed conditions of health and food security.

Over India, the annual and monsoon rainfall has shown decreasing trends, while an opposite sign was noticed in case of winter, pre-monsoon and post-monsoon seasons. The trend analysis of rainfall over West Bengal (WB) state of India indicated a significant increasing trend (91.0 mm/100 year) over Gangetic West Bengal (South Bengal) while over the sub-Himalayan WB (North Bengal) has shown a non-significant increasing trend (57.2 mm/100 year) during the period 1901–2003 (Guhathakurta and Rajeevan 2008). A similar type of study by Naidu et al. (2009) shows that the South Bengal has an increasing trend, while sub-Himalayan WB has as a decreasing trend of monsoon rainfall during the period 1871–2005. Sadhukhan et al. (2000) reported that there were no long-term trends found for the pre-monsoon rainfall over Gangetic WB and its neighbourhood during the period 1901–1992. On the other hand, Guhathakurta and Rajeevan (2008) reported a decreasing trend (non-significant) of 6.7 mm/100 year of pre-monsoon rainfall over South Bengal, whereas sub-Himalayan WB has shown an increasing trend of 10.5 mm/100 year. During the winter and post-monsoon seasons, the same study has reported a non-significant decreasing trend of rainfall for sub-Himalayan WB, whereas South Bengal has shown increasing trend in post-monsoon and decreasing trend in winter. Similarly, Chakraborty and Das (2016) reported that there is an increasing rainfall in post-monsoon season during 1901–2005 for most of the stations (except Krishnanagar, -47.67 mm), whereas a negative change of winter rainfall was estimated during the same period (except Alipore and Berhampur stations). The total annual rainfall over the state has an overall non-significant increasing trend (Das et al. 2018).

Seasonal rainfall distribution over WB shows that winter is the driest season of the year which contributes only 1-3.5% of the average annual rainfall. The hottest pre-monsoon season receives 8-17% of average annual rainfall, which is mostly

associated with the pre-monsoon thunderstorm or 'Norwester' also popularly known as 'Kalbaisakhi'. Bay of Bengal branch of the Indian Ocean monsoon brings 73–80% monsoon rain to the state from June to September. Monsoon rainfall has played a vital role in the last three decades during 1970–2000, there has been a significant increase in productivity of food grains over the state of WB, and the state now has a surplus of food (Raychaudhuri and Das 2005). The post-monsoon season shares 5–15% of average annual rainfall.

How crop production is sensitive to climate and its variability at regional and local level can be evaluated through crop models popularly known as crop-weather models. Crop-weather model is basically the relationship between crop variables with weather variables. This relationship is established through mathematical expression having independent parameters and response parameters (dependent). Crop-weather models can be classified into two broad categories. The first category is the statistical model, where a relationship can be established between crop data (LAI, yield, etc.) and weather data (rainfall, temperature, radiation, etc.) for the same common periods using statistical techniques such as regression that is known as empirical statistical model. The second category is the dynamical process-based model, which is known as crop simulation models (CSMs). CSMs establish a dynamical relationship between crop growth processes (photosynthesis, respiration or translocation) and environmental and management components (climate, soils and cultivation practices). Akponikpea et al. (2011) mentioned that CSMs can also be used to assess the impact of climate change and its variability on crop productivity and also provide some options for coping with this variability. In spite of huge application to explore many options, the available current crop models also attracted criticism due to inadequate representation of complex crop features in the extreme changing climate, incidence of new types of pest and diseases under changing climate, appearance of new modern crop varieties and innovative management practices. Another limitation of crop model is its inherent uncertainty to simulate the experimental yield leading to huge overestimation/underestimation, meaning excessive biases which resulted in its reliability to apply for decision-making and policy-making. Normally multi-level stakeholders or impact analysts want to see whether the models are able to reproduce the observable features adequately meaning the models are less erratic. But current-generation crop models unable to provide improved comprehensive idea about the model to the end users and policy-makers. Different models use different input processes to simulate their target parameter, providing different results, so any single model may not provide reliable information. So, multi-model ensemble techniques using large numbers of models may be able to provide more reliable future crop productivity under different future climate change scenarios. One example is using crop model under changing environment which is presented by Dias et al. (2016) where future yields of two varieties At362 and Bg357 over Mapalana region were assessed under extreme climate change scenario from RCP 8.5. The study revealed that grain yields of both varieties are expected to be decreased by 25%-35%, respectively, under the increasing temperature and solar radiation and decreasing rainfall. Another study by Swain and Yadav (2009) applied CERES-Rice model to investigate the higher yield variability of the long-duration (140 days) variety 'Swarna' as compared to the medium-duration (120 days) varieties (IR 36 and Lalat) under rain-fed condition of Kharagpur, India, using past 27 years (1974–2000) weather data. This study also showed an increased grain yield of up to 6% with increase in atmospheric CO_2 level by 100 ppm, while increase in average air temperature resulted in a decline in yield. Boling et al. (2004) used the rice growth model ORYZA2000 to analyse yield gaps and explore improved management options. It is to be mentioned that the ORYZA200 model has been extensively tested to predict crop performance under different environment and future climate change scenarios. Das et al. (2007) applied the ORYZA2000 model developed by Bouman (2001) over Gangetic West Bengal region of India and reported that only increase in temperature resulted in decreasing productivity but combined influence of elevated CO₂ and enhanced temperature can slow down the decreasing nature of productivity as CO_2 enrichment leading to increasing productivity. There has been a plenty of studies (Das and Lohar 2005; Rupa Kumar et al. 2002; Lohar and Pal 1995) based on the distribution of rainfall over the whole of WB and its neighbourhood in different seasons. During the last century, the climate of Gangetic West Bengal region has changed extensively. As for example, a study by Das and Lohar (2005) reported that the rainfall during postmonsoon season (October and November) has increased by 82% and winter (December to February) by 58% between the periods 1901–1930 and 1961–1990. The initial attempt to judge the performance of ORYZA2000 over Gangetic West Bengal region under different management conditions particularly under different nitrogen doses by Das et al. (2007) and under different irrigation regime by Majumder and Das (2018) was investigated. In both cases the model overestimated the rice yields. But there is a scattered picture of exact rainfall distribution and amount of rainfall change at district level. This study has been attempted to address the statistical distribution of rainfall over different districts of WB in annual and seasonal scale for a better understanding of the stakeholders, scientific community and for the general public. Integrating the climatic information from climate simulation on rice production through crop simulation model is also assessed through simulation model through increasing the temperature, increasing the level of CO_2 and combined effect on elevated temperature as well as elevated CO₂ to see the sensitivity of rice productivity for a particular variety, IET-4786, using ORYZA2000 over new alluvial zones of West Bengal.

13.2 Description of GCMs and CSMs

The present chapter deals with two components. The first component is to construct climate change scenarios using the sophisticated tool of recent-generation global climate models (GCMs), and the second part is to assess the crop production using the processed-based crop simulation models under the changing environment as generated by the GCMs, and finally it has been applied over the West Bengal state as a case study.

13.2.1 Description of GCMs

The definition and some limitations of GCMs have been discussed in this section. Global climate models are also called as general circulation models. Both are abbreviated as GCMs. In general GCMs are comprised of fundamental concepts (laws) of climate systems leading to general circulation of a planetary atmosphere or ocean. It is a numerical model representing the physical processes of the earth, atmosphere and ocean. It is a modern tool used to investigate the response of elevated greenhouse gases in the atmosphere that can alter earth's weather and climate system. How water vapour is contained in the atmosphere, distribution of clouds, change of incoming and outgoing solar radiation, ocean circulation, changes of ice and snow cover on the sea can regulate the earth climate system can also be understood through analysing the GCM data.

The skills of climate models are assessed through its ability to reproduce the observed features of past and recent climate (Randall et al. 2007). The observed local scale past and current features are incorporated into the GCMs through the process of parameterization. Some important sub-grid-scale processes such as cloud formation/ processes, radiative processes and boundary layer processes are represented into the GCMs through mathematical equations within the model grids. Present-generation model resolutions are still to be considered coarser; the limited grids do not resolve many of the small-scale processes adequately. In such a case, the parameterization is needed. Many meteorological parameters like temperature, pressure, wind speed and humidity can be represented by the mathematical equations, which defined the state of the atmosphere. All these mathematical expressions can then be converted to a programming language and finally solve those equations numerically using discrete time step through a computer, which is called numerical weather prediction (NWP). Through the passage of time, the horizontal resolution used in state-of-the-art climate models has improved a lot from the IPCC first assessment report (FAR 1990) to the recent assessment reports published in 2013. How the GCM performance over a smaller region like the Gangetic West Bengal of eastern part of India has improved starting from second assessment report (SAR) of 1995 to fourth assessment report (AR4) has been investigated by Das et al. (2012). It is to be mentioned that earlier-generation (in 1990) GCMs used to have an average horizontal resolution of about 500 km, whereas some has improved manifolds with an average resolution of ~60 km (https://scied.ucar.edu/longcontent/climate-modeling) of some high-resolution models in the recent generation (in 2013). Different models based on different emission scenarios, radiative forcing and different types of parameterization schemes are able to produce different realization of rainfall, temperature and other climatic elements. So estimating current and future climate change information using single GCM may not reflect the true picture at subregional or local scale. Therefore, generation of climate change scenarios using large numbers of GCMs is recommended to avoid inherent biases and affinity to represent some spatial features by each individual GCM. It is also recommended to choose some better performing GCMs and make a multi-model ensemble for future climate projection from the wide range of GCMs available in CMIP5.

The aim of GCMs is to provide the outputs of different climatic parameters like rainfall, temperature, radiation, wind, radiation, etc. at varying horizontal resolution typically ranging 100–200 km with multiple vertical layer (40–60 layers) both in the atmosphere and ocean. It is to be also mentioned that the GCMs also provide their simulations for the impact analysis, policy-makers or multiple level stakeholders with temporal resolution ranging from annual, monthly, daily to a typical time step of 30 min.

13.2.2 Description of CSMs

Similar to climate model, a detailed description and limitation of recent-generation crop model has been discussed in this section. Crop simulation models can help to understand the growth and development of real crop system and also provide some way out how to enhance productivity under different climatic conditions (Penning de Vries 1977). In addition, it is also used to judge the crop performance under stressful environmental conditions. For the purpose of regional development and agricultural planning where efficient human resources or skilled personnel are limited particularly in the developing countries, the crop models can be effectively used (Van Keulen and Wolf 1986) with less amount of natural resources to achieve optimal production. Nowadays availability of land, water and other natural resources for agricultural activities are limited; on the other hand, multi-level stakeholders need to have huge up-to-date agricultural information for local scale decision-making for implementing local scale developmental activities. So in these cases, crop simulation model can provide useful information within a short period of time compared to conventional procedures of getting information which is time-consuming. For example, potential (maximum) crop production of each district can be obtained through crop simulation model using their long-term weather data. Therefore, a decision-maker can easily estimate what is the productivity gap by subtracting the real-time field-level production from the potential production obtained from model. To meet the demand of a policy-maker, the scientists need to develop the decision support system for agrotechnology transfer (DSSAT). A group of international scientists who were cooperating in the International Benchmark Sites Network for Agrotechnology Transfer project (IBSNAT 1993; Tsuji 1998; Uehara 1998; Jones et al. 1998) developed DSSAT model having facility to investigate performance of many agronomic crops (16 different crops). The performance of all 16 different crops was incorporated into packages of practice without source code (programming languages); hence, it is a software having facilities to evaluate its performance in multiple locations with different purposes (Jones et al. 2003).

The output of climate model can be used as an input in crop model to investigate multiple interactions. A common use of crop model is to see the impact of climate change on crop productivity. How different physiological processes of crop respond under different elevated temperature and CO_2 level is also assessed. Which phenological stages of the crops are highly sensitive to which meteorological parameters is also to be judged. Apart, it can also be used to optimize the use of nitrogen, water use

and other agronomic practices like the planning of optimal date of sowing and harvesting, date of irrigation and application of pesticides and herbicides, etc. Although the model is running in point location, it can be scaled up to larger regions. Another group of scientists also used statistical models instead of simulation models. It is to be mentioned that statistical models lag time components and use only the climates and atmospheric conditions of today. Therefore such model cannot be able to investigate the interactions between crop genotype and environmental and management effect which are important for decision-making. Future crop behaviour is heavily dependent on the complex interactions between many crop, soil, weather and management factors. The process-based crop models are always not able to show decreasing trends of productivity under elevated temperature, resulting in simulation of more yields indicating overestimation where the region is experiencing more frequent hot days during the growing season. On the other hand, increasing CO_2 can limit the loss of water through the stomata of plant leaves, meaning transpiration of plants. Less transpiration results in more biomass production indicating more yields.

As mentioned above, DSSAT models have been used over India in different agricultural activity, viz. for crop management (Jintrawet 1995; Alagarswamy et al. 2000; Salam et al. 2001; Singh et al. 1994), for optimizing the fertilizer application (Godwin et al. 1994), for irrigation scheduling (Hundal and Kaur 1997), for pest monitoring (Pinnschmidt et al. 1995; Luo et al. 1997), for studying the impact of climate change (Singh and Godwin 1990; Lal et al. 1998, 1999; Jinghua and Erda 1996; Luo et al. 1995, 1998), for also assessing the impact of climate variability (Gadgil et al. 1999, Alocilja and Ritchie 1990), for yield prediction (Singh et al. 1999; Kaur and Hundal 1999) and for sustainable development (Singh et al. 1999a, b), whereas the lowland rice growth models (ORYZA2000) developed by Bouman (2001) have mainly focused on rice crop which has many components of application to studying the effect of climate change on rice production under increased temperature and CO_2 level.

13.2.3 Multi-model Ensemble Simulation

Based on various forcing of the climate model, different outputs for many meteorological parameters are generated. Single model produces different scenarios of climatic states making confusion to the user which one is suitable for their application. To provide a unique guideline, several studies (Das and Lohar 2005, 2012, 2017; Das et al. 2016; Akhter et al. 2016, 2018; Meher et al. 2017) concluded that it is better to use a group of good performing model instead of using a single model which is technically known as multiple model ensembles.

Different models use different physical and biological processes resulting in different possible outputs. Therefore, through the multi-model ensemble simulations, a wide range of possible outcomes can be generated on the basis of different realization considering the model. This wide range of model simulation basically provides a range of uncertainty of model simulation. On the contrary to climate model, the crop simulation offers a substantially lower computational challenge, so making ensemble using large numbers of models may be easier compared to climate model. As different models produce different outputs, determining multi-model averages is a promising practice than to use a single-model output. It is advisable to use multiple crop models to simulate same predefined field experiment to see how results differ from model to model because of representing the same growth and development processes into the model through different mathematical expressions and assumptions. Undoubtedly, it is to be mentioned that the model results differ from experimental results because of the following reasons: first, all the yield-affecting factors starting from the incident of pest and diseases to different types of stress which arise due to nutrient and water availability in different phenological stages are not adequately represented in the model. Second, all short of input management data required for crop model with adequate quality is not generated at farm level which produces erroneous model results for testing its reliability. Third, models that are run using the data for a point location, when comparing the model results with larger regional scale yield data, may produce error through upscaling interpolation techniques. Fourth, false incorporation of extreme weather data or outlier for observational crop management data may produce mismatching results. Finally, a suitable weather generator from the climate model simulation is required to feed the daily weather inputs required for crop model for all variables. More attention would be paid to the simulation of crop and climate models by the government agency if uncertainty ranges are being provided vis-a-vis the model simulation. It is essential to develop formal protocols for reporting uncertainties in crop model results similar to climate model for better understanding for farming community and stakeholder. Therefore, it seems that we should operate multiple models to simulate the same process to compare the results among each other for providing appropriate recommendations for farming community through which we will be able to deliver more robust and usable information for everyone from farmers to policy-makers with high level of certainty.

13.3 Basic Data Set Requirement for Climate and Crop Models

This section deals with the basic data requirement for running the crop model and analysing the GCM simulation for the purpose of providing input information for any impact assessment model including crop. As the present chapter is focusing on analysing the outputs of GCM simulation towards assessing the impact of climate change on rice production over a location of West Bengal State, we first described the geographical and climatological extent of this state with numbers of districts falling within North or South Bengal. The state is extending from 21.20°N to 27.32° N latitude and 85.50°E to 89.52°E longitudes in the eastern part of India. Six districts from the northern part, namely, Darjeeling, Jalpaiguri, Cooch Behar, North Dinajpur, South Dinajpur and Malda, collectively named as 'North Bengal' and the rest of the 13 districts of southern part, namely, Birbhum, Murshidabad, Bardhaman, Nadia, Purulia, Bankura, Hooghly, North 24 Parganas, West

Midnapore, Howrah, Kolkata, South 24 Parganas and East Midnapore, together termed as 'South Bengal' are considered for the present study. For the purpose of analysis of district-level rainfall change, monthly total rainfall data during the period 1901–2000 for 19 districts of WB state have been collected from the India Meteorological Department (IMD). In this present study, time series analysis is carried out for each district and their regional average (averaged over all available districts) both for North and South Bengal. For quantifying district-level rainfall change trend during 1901–2000, we used Mann Kendall trend test and Sen's slope estimator test.

ORYZA2000 is one of the ecophysiological models which simulates growth and development of rice under lowland, upland and aerobic rice ecosystems. The model works under potential, water-limited, nitrogen-limited and nitrogen-water-limited conditions. It has been calibrated and validated for almost 18 popular rice varieties in 15 locations throughout Asia. Still, it is not reached to it optimal capacity to use it for operational purpose particularly in different homogeneous or agro-climatic zones which demands more trail of testing over different zones with different varieties as per the normal practices in the farm level. One of the most important assumptions for the ORYZA2000 model is its inability to assess its yield variations due to other stresses (occurrence of pest and diseases) apart from moisture and nitrogenous fertilizer. It uses four different types of input data files: (i) experimental management data file, (ii) crop data file, (iii) soil data file and (iv) weather data file. For the purpose of impact study using ORYZA2000 model, the six numbers of weather variables are collected from Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya's (BCKV) observatory, located at Mohanpur campus. Crop management data have also been collected from the experimental farm of BCKV. The details of field experiment which was considered for the model validation and calibration are replication, 3; number of treatment, 15; plot size, 5 m by 3 m; spacing, 20 cm by 10 cm; total number of plot, 45; net plot size, 4 m by 2 m; seed rate, 15 kg ha⁻¹ for hybrid and 60 kg ha⁻¹ for H.Y.V; and number of varieties, 5.

13.4 Historical Rainfall Change Using Station Data

13.4.1 Temporal Rainfall Change

In general rainfall change trends during 1901–1930 period for North Bengal districts except Cooch Behar indicate a positive increasing rainfall, while the South Bengal district like Birbhum, Murshidabad and Purulia districts recorded positive trend, and the remaining ten districts showed the negative trend. The long-term linear trend analysis (1901–2000) of winter rainfall showed all districts of North Bengal, and six districts of South Bengal recorded the positive change, while the remaining seven districts of South Bengal recorded a negative change. It is interesting to note that the monsoon rain during 1901–2000, in the North Bengal Darjeeling, Cooch Behar and Malda districts, recorded an increasing trend in rainfall, whereas Cooch Behar showed maximum rainfall trend (+413.76 mm), and remaining three districts recorded decreasing trend. In South Bengal, only one district Nadia (-38.14 mm)

showed declining trend, whereas in both North and South Bengal, South 24 Parganas recorded maximum increasing trend of rainfall (+487.47 mm).

On the other hand, the annual rainfall during 1901–2000, in the North Bengal Jalpaiguri (-134.28 mm) and South Dinajpur (-59.54 mm) districts, recorded a decreasing trend in rainfall, whereas remaining four districts recorded increasing trend. In the South Bengal, only Bardhaman (-52.18 mm) and Nadia (-161.60 mm) districts showed decline trend, whereas in both North and South Bengal, South 24 Parganas recorded maximum increasing trend of rainfall (+671.73 mm).

13.4.2 Spatial Distribution of Rainfall

Distribution of mean rainfall in different short-term and long-term periods is not uniform. For example, the monsoon rainfall (Fig. 13.1) during 1901–1930 showed a decreasing trend in Birbhum, Murshidabad, Nadia, some part of Darjeeling, Cooch Behar and North Dinajpur districts, while the southern part of Bengal like from Purulia to South 24 Parganas and some part of North 24 Parganas showed the increasing trend (101.5–212.1 mm/30 years). During the long-term period from 1901 to 2000, only two districts, namely, Cooch Behar and a very small part of the South 24 Parganas, showed the highly increasing trend. In Bengal during this time period, all districts showed the increasing trend except Jalpaiguri and some parts of the South Dinajpur, Nadia and Bardhaman districts. The increasing trend of West Midnapore, East Midnapore, Howrah and South 24 Parganas, some part of the North 24 Parganas, Hooghly, Birbhum, Murshidabad, Darjeeling and Jalpaiguri was from 164.1 to 326.6 mm/100 years. Similarly the spatial distributions of annual rainfall change trends during different time periods are shown in Fig. 13.2.

13.5 Evaluation of GCMs Performance

How the 42 numbers of CMIP5 GCMs (whose description was provided in Table 13.1) were able to simulate the observed rainfall features over the whole West Bengal and separately over North and South Bengal was evaluated through four different approaches which are (i) comparison of seasonal cycles, (ii) comparison of long-term trends, (iii) comparison of Taylor plots and (iv) comparison of spatial patterns. Comparison of different statistical measures and trends for different GCMs over North and South Bengal districts was shown in Tables 13.2 and 13.3. Majority of the models were unable to reproduce the observed increasing trends of annual and monsoon season adequately over North and South Bengal regions. Based on long-term trends and values of statistical indices, we have seen that some models overestimated the mean observed seasonal cycles, whereas some underestimate the same, but all models underestimate the magnitudes of annual and monsoon rainfall compared to observation. To select how



Fig. 13.1 Spatial variations of monsoon season mean rainfall in different time periods



Fig. 13.2 Spatial variations of monsoon season mean rainfall in different time periods

				Resolution
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Model	Centre	$(Lon. \times Lat.)$
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1	ACCESS1- 0	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization-Bureau of Meteorology (CSIRO-BOM),	1.88 × 1.25
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	2	ACCESS1.3	Australia	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	3	bcc-csm1-1	Beijing Climate Center, China Meteorological	2.80×2.80
5BNU-ESM Beijing Normal University, China2.80 × 2.806CanESM2Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis $2.80 × 2.80$ 7CCSM4National Centre of Atmospheric Research, USA $1.25 × 0.94$ 8CESM1- BGCCommunity Earth System Model Contributors $1.25 × 0.94$ 9CESM1- CAM5Centro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici CESM $3.75 × 3.71$ 10CMCC- CESMCentro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici $0.75 × 0.75$ $3.75 × 3.71$ 11CMCC- CMSCentro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici $0.75 × 0.75$ $1.40 × 1.40$ 13CNRM- 	4	bcc-csm1-1- m	Administration	1.12 × 1.12
6CanESM2Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis 2.80×2.80 7CCSM4National Center of Atmospheric Research, USA 1.25×0.94 8CESM1- CAM5Community Earth System Model Contributors 1.25×0.94 9CESM1- CAM5Centro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici CESM 3.75×3.71 10CMCC- CESMCentro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici 	5	BNU-ESM	College of Global Change and Earth System Science, Beijing Normal University, China	2.80 × 2.80
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c } \hline $ CCSM4 & National Center of Atmospheric Research, USA & 1.25×0.94 \\ \hline $ CESM1-$$$$ BGC & $$$ Community Earth System Model Contributors & 1.25×0.94 \\ \hline $ BGC & $$$ CCSM1-$$$$$$$$$ CAM5 & $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$	6	CanESM2	Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis	2.80×2.80
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } 8 & CESM1- \\ BGC \\ 9 & CESM1- \\ CAM5 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline 10 & CMCC- \\ CESM \\ \hline 11 & CMCC-CM \\ \hline 11 & CMCC-CM \\ \hline 12 & CMCC- \\ CMS \\ \hline 12 & CMCC- \\ CMS \\ \hline 13 & CNRM- \\ CM5 \\ \hline 13 & CNRM- \\ CM5 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \hline \end{matrix} \\ \hline 14 & CNRM- \\ CM5 \\ \hline 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ 15 & CSIRO- \\ Mk3-6-0 \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ 16 & EC-EARTH \\ EC-EARTH \\ EC-EARTH Consortium \\ \hline \cr \\ 1.13 \times 1.12 \\ 17 & FGOALS- \\ g2 \\ \hline \cr \\ 18 & FGOALS- \\ g2 \\ \hline \cr \\ 18 & FGOALS- \\ s2 \\ \hline \cr \\ 18 & FGOALS- \\ s2 \\ \hline \cr \\ 19 & FIO-ESM \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ The First Institute of Atmospheric Physics, Chinese \\ Academy of Sciences \\ \hline \cr \\ \hline \cr \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ 18 & FGOALS- \\ s2 \\ \hline \cr \\ \hline \cr \\ 19 & FIO-ESM \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ \\ \\ 19 & FIO-ESM \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ 10 & FDL- \\ ESM2G \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ 22 & GFDL- \\ ESM2G \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ \\ \\ 23 & GISS-E2-H \\ \hline \cr \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ 24 & GISS-E2-R \\ \hline \end{aligned} \\ \begin{array}{c} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	7	CCSM4	National Center of Atmospheric Research, USA	1.25×0.94
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	8	CESM1- BGC	Community Earth System Model Contributors	1.25×0.94
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	9	CESM1- CAM5		
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	10	CMCC- CESM	Centro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici	3.75 × 3.71
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c }\hline 12 & CMCC-\\ CMS & \hline 1.88 \times 1.87 \\\hline \hline 13 & CNRM-\\ CM5 & \hline \\ 14 & CNRM-\\ CM5 & \hline \\ 14 & CNRM-\\ CM5-2 & \hline \\ 15 & CSIRO-\\ Mk3-6-0 & \hline \\ Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research \\ Mk3-6-0 & \hline \\ Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research \\ Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of \\ Excellence, Australia & \hline \\ 1.6 & EC-EARTH & EC-EARTH consortium & 1.13 \times 1.12 \\\hline 17 & FGOALS-\\ g2 & Academy of Sciences & \hline \\ 18 & FGOALS-\\ g2 & Academy of Sciences & \hline \\ 19 & FIO-ESM & The First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China & 2.81 \times 2.79 \\\hline \\ 20 & GFDL-CM3 \\\hline \\ 21 & GFDL-\\ ESM2G & \hline \\ 22 & GFDL-\\ ESM2M & \hline \\ 23 & GISS-E2-H \\\hline \\ 23 & GISS-E2-H \\\hline \\ 25 & GISS-E2-R & \hline \\ \end{array} $	11	CMCC-CM	-	0.75×0.75
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline 13 & CNRM-\\ CM5 & \\ \hline 14 & CNRM-\\ CM5-2 & \\ \hline 15 & CSIRO-\\ Mk3-6-0 & \\ \hline 15 & Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research \\ Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of \\ Excellence, Australia & \\ \hline 16 & EC-EARTH & EC-EARTH consortium & \\ \hline 1.13 \times 1.12 & \\ \hline 17 & FGOALS-\\ g2 & \\ Academy of Sciences & \\ \hline 18 & FGOALS-\\ s2 & \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & \\ \hline 10 & First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China & \\ \hline 2.80 \times 1.70 & \\ \hline 20 & GFDL-CM3 & \\ \hline 21 & GFDL-\\ ESM2G & \\ \hline 22 & GFDL-\\ ESM2M & \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H & \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H & \\ \hline 25 & GISS-E2-R & \\ \hline \end{array} $	12	CMCC- CMS	-	1.88 × 1.87
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline 14 & CNRM-\\ CM5-2 & & & & & \\ \hline 15 & CSIRO- & Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of & & & \\ \hline Mk3-6-0 & Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of & & & \\ \hline Excellence, Australia & & & & \\ \hline 16 & EC-EARTH & EC-EARTH consortium & & & & \\ \hline 1.13 \times 1.12 & & \\ \hline 17 & FGOALS- & & & & \\ \hline g2 & & & & & \\ \hline g2 & & & & & \\ \hline 18 & FGOALS- & & & \\ \hline g2 & & & & & \\ \hline 18 & FGOALS- & & & \\ \hline s2 & & & & \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & & \\ \hline 10 & FID-ESM & & \\ \hline 20 & GFDL-CM3 & \\ \hline 21 & GFDL- & & \\ \hline ESM2G & & & \\ \hline 22 & GFDL- & & \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H & \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H & \\ \hline CC & & \\ \hline 25 & GISS-E2-R & & \\ \hline \end{array} $	13	CNRM- CM5	National Centre of Meteorological Research, France	1.40 × 1.40
15CSIRO- Mk3-6-0Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of Excellence, Australia1.80 × 1.8016EC-EARTHEC-EARTH consortium1.13 × 1.1217FGOALS- g2LASG, Institute of Atmospheric Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences2.80 × 2.8018FGOALS- s22.80 × 1.7019FIO-ESMThe First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China2.81 × 2.7920GFDL-CM3 ESM2GNOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA2.50 × 2.0021GFDL- ESM2MGISS-E2-H CCNASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA2.50 × 2.0024GISS-E2-RNASA For Space Studies, USA2.50 × 2.00	14	CNRM- CM5-2		
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline 16 & EC-EARTH & EC-EARTH consortium & 1.13 \times 1.12 \\ \hline 17 & FGOALS- \\ g2 & Academy of Sciences & 2.80 \times 2.80 \\ \hline 2.80 \times 1.70 \\ \hline s2 & 2.80 \times 1.70 \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & The First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China & 2.81 \times 2.79 \\ \hline 20 & GFDL-CM3 & NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA & 2.50 \times 2.00 \\ \hline 21 & GFDL- \\ ESM2G & 2 \\ \hline 22 & GFDL- \\ ESM2M & 2 \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H \\ CC & 2 \\ \hline 25 & GISS-E2-R & NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA & 2.50 \times 2.00 \\ \hline \end{array} $	15	CSIRO- Mk3-6-0	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization Queensland Climate Change Centre of Excellence, Australia	1.80 × 1.80
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline 17 & FGOALS-\\ g2 & Academy of Sciences & Academy of Sciences & 2.80 \times 2.80 \\ \hline 18 & FGOALS-\\ s2 & & & & & & & & \\ \hline 19 & FIO-ESM & The First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China & 2.81 \times 2.79 \\ \hline 20 & GFDL-CM3 & NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA & 2.50 \times 2.00 \\ \hline 21 & GFDL-\\ ESM2G & & & & & & \\ \hline 22 & GFDL-\\ ESM2M & & & & & & \\ \hline 23 & GISS-E2-H & NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA & & & & & \\ \hline 25 & GISS-E2-R & & & & & & \\ \hline \end{array}$	16	EC-EARTH	EC-EARTH consortium	1.13 × 1.12
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	17	FGOALS- g2	LASG, Institute of Atmospheric Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences	2.80×2.80
19 FIO-ESM The First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China 2.81 × 2.79 20 GFDL-CM3 NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA 2.50 × 2.00 21 GFDL- ESM2G ESM2G 2.50 × 2.00 23 GISS-E2-H CC NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00 24 GISS-E2-H CC NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00	18	FGOALS- s2		2.80 × 1.70
20 GFDL-CM3 NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA 2.50 × 2.00 21 GFDL- ESM2G ESM2G 2.50 × 2.00 22 GFDL- ESM2M ESM2M 2.50 × 2.00 23 GISS-E2-H CC NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00 24 GISS-E2-H CC NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00	19	FIO-ESM	The First Institute of Oceanography, SOA, China	2.81 × 2.79
21 GFDL- ESM2G 22 GFDL- ESM2M 23 GISS-E2-H CC 24 GISS-E2-H- CC 25 GISS-E2-R	20	GFDL-CM3	NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory, USA	2.50×2.00
22 GFDL- ESM2M GFDL- ESM2M 23 23 GISS-E2-H NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00 24 GISS-E2-H- CC 25 GISS-E2-R 2.50 × 2.00	21	GFDL- ESM2G		
23 GISS-E2-H NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA 2.50 × 2.00 24 GISS-E2-H- CC 25 GISS-E2-R 25	22	GFDL- ESM2M		
24 GISS-E2-H- CC 25 GISS-E2-R	23	GISS-E2-H	NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA	2.50×2.00
25 GISS-E2-R	24	GISS-E2-H- CC		
	25	GISS-E2-R	1	

 Table 13.1
 All CMIP5 GCMs taken in this study

(continued)

			Resolution
	Model	Centre	$(Lon. \times Lat.)$
26	HadCM3	Met Office Hadley Centre, UK	3.75×2.50
27	HadGEM2- AO		1.88 × 1.25
28	HadGEM2- CC		1.88 × 1.25
29	HadGEM2- ES		1.88 × 1.25
30	INMCM4	Institute for Numerical Mathematics, Russia	2.00×1.50
31	IPSL- CM5A-LR	Institute Pierre Simon Laplace, France	3.75 × 1.80
32	IPSL- CM5A-MR		2.50 × 1.25
33	IPSL- CM5B-LR		3.75 × 1.80
34	MIROC5	Japan Agency for Marine-Earth Science and Technology,	1.40×1.40
35	MIROC- ESM	Atmosphere and Ocean Research Institute (The University of Tokyo) and National Institute for	2.80 × 2.80
36	MIROC- ESM- CHEM	Environmental Studies	2.80 × 2.80
37	MPI-ESM-P	Max Planck Institute for Meteorology, Germany	1.88×1.87
38	MPI-ESM- LR		
39	MPI-ESM- MR		
40	MRI- CGCM3	Meteorological Research Institute, Japan	1.10 × 1.10
41	NorESM1- M	Norwegian Climate Centre, Norway	2.50 × 1.90
42	NorESM1- ME		

Table 13.1 (continued	e 13.1 (continued))
-----------------------	--------------------	---

models are able to simulate seasonally observed rainfall, we calculated the spatial correlation considering the 19 district values during the period 1901–2000, but the results are not shown.

13.5.1 Selection of Better GCMs for North Bengal

On the basis of trends and statistical indices (Table 13.2), we noticed that the 11 models, namely, CCSM4, CESM1-BGC, CESM1-CAM5, CMCC-CM, CMCC-CMS, inmcm4, MIROC5, MPI-ESM-LR, MPI-ESM-MR, NorESM1-M and NorESM1-ME, have shown the high value of agreement and low value error

Table 1:	3.2 Statistical indices betwee	in the seasonal	cycles of ol	oservation and	d model simula	ation along wit	h the linear trer	nds during the	period of 190	1–2000
	ur Donga	Indices from	seasonal cv	cles		Trends (mm/	100 vear) durir	o 1901–2000		
	Model name	d-index	corr	nrmse	pbias	Annual	JJAS	DJF	MAM	NO
	OBS	1	-	0	0	88.4	68.0	6.9	20.5	-6.0
-	ACCESS1-0	0.98	0.98	25.90	-7.60	-101.6	-101.0	-17.3	25.0	-9.0
5	ACCESS1-3	0.92	0.90	46.90	-13.10	-109.8	-144.6	-12.4	52.0	-5.6
3	bcc-csm1-1	0.77	0.85	73.60	-46.00	-6.0	1.0	-23.8	-28.4	43.0
4	bcc-csm1-1-m	0.67	0.97	81.00	-50.70	116.7	40.3	17.2	18.4	41.2
5	BNU-ESM	0.86	0.98	58.00	-40.00	-49.9	-48.2	18.0	-13.2	-5.5
9	CanESM2	0.86	0.95	61.30	-45.20	-130.1	-144.8	8.6	9.7	-2.8
7	CCSM4	0.94	0.97	39.20	-20.70	62.8	39.9	-7.1	-6.0	35.9
8	CESM1-BGC	0.95	0.96	38.40	-19.70	41.9	5.4	-12.8	65.2	-17.2
6	CESM1-CAM5	0.98	0.96	25.60	3.00	40.3	-44.8	16.8	49.2	20.1
10	CMCC-CM	0.96	0.95	36.20	-20.50	35.0	19.3	21.2	4.7	-8.8
11	CMCC-CMS	0.94	0.97	39.90	-25.20	84.3	53.0	-5.3	12.4	22.6
12	CNRM-CM5	0.92	0.99	44.90	-27.00	-201.4	-107.3	-11.0	-55.8	-27.3
13	CSIRO-Mk3-6-0	0.77	0.86	76.10	-52.10	-16.2	-23.0	-4.3	4.2	7.2
14	EC-EARTH	0.83	0.98	62.80	-42.50	135.3	101.6	2.3	9.7	22.0
15	FGOALS_g2	0.62	0.96	92.70	-63.60	106.5	42.7	12.8	35.0	15.7
16	FIO-ESM	0.86	0.94	59.80	-41.00	-21.8	-31.0	3.8	12.6	-6.0
17	GFDL-CM3	0.80	0.97	65.70	-42.00	-166.7	-115.7	14.6	-8.6	-56.2
18	GFDL-ESM2G	0.93	0.98	42.80	-30.20	39.4	73.9	13.1	-21.0	-28.5
19	GFDL-ESM2M	0.95	0.98	36.10	-23.60	-18.1	-62.7	5.6	20.5	18.8
20	GISS-E2-H-1	0.95	0.91	41.50	-4.00	-391.9	-402.5	2.6	4.4	4.6
21	GISS-E2-H-2	0.95	0.90	42.40	-8.80	-468.8	-434.3	-7.8	-4.4	-21.9
22	GISS-E2-H-3	0.93	0.92	59.00	21.70	-311.7	-283.1	-3.7	-22.2	-2.7
23	GISS-E2-H-CC	0.95	0.91	41.30	-12.60	-169.8	-154.2	2.1	-15.5	-4.5

352

24	GISS-E2-R-1	0.77	0.89	72.30	-46.90	-143.3	-159.1	1.7	3.7	9.6
25	GISS-E2-R-2	0.75	0.88	75.60	-49.20	-246.2	-227.8	4.3	1.0	-22.6
26	GISS-E2-R-3	0.88	0.90	56.80	-33.20	-77.0	-98.2	3.9	14.8	2.4
27	GISS-E2-R-CC	0.77	0.90	72.10	-46.90	-69.4	-122.3	4.9	22.9	25.8
28	HadGEM2-AO	0.96	0.98	33.40	-14.20	-94.4	-157.1	-2.2	42.2	24.4
29	HadGEM2-CC	0.97	0.98	30.30	-11.90	-251.8	-191.5	-4.5	-46.3	-6.3
30	HadGEM2-ES	0.96	0.98	32.40	-15.10	-179.5	-152.0	-7.4	-8.5	-12.3
31	inmcm4	0.93	0.98	41.20	-23.40	T.T.	61.0	-3.5	-3.0	24.1
32	IPSL-CM5A-LR	0.63	0.79	91.80	-61.50	-29.9	-17.9	L.T.—	9.4	-13.7
33	IPSL-CM5A-MR	0.63	0.93	92.00	-65.30	-72.5	-45.5	-6.7	-2.5	-19.5
34	IPSL-CM5B-LR	0.55	0.68	104.00	-67.90	-67.8	-102.4	21.4	18.0	-6.3
35	MIROC5	0.98	0.96	28.70	7.70	192.2	118.5	-2.2	60.4	15.4
36	MIROC-ESM	0.81	0.97	65.40	-42.40	-66.4	-48.7	-27.7	30.0	-19.3
37	MIROC-ESM-CHEM	0.80	0.96	66.10	-42.70	23.9	-9.1	0.8	50.2	-18.5
38	MPI-ESM-LR	0.99	0.99	21.80	-15.10	15.4	-37.9	8.0	16.7	28.4
39	MPI-ESM-MR	0.98	0.98	26.80	-18.80	31.2	37.5	-18.7	17.9	-4.4
40	MRI-CGCM3	0.62	0.86	93.90	-65.10	-97.8	-26.8	-22.9	-29.0	-20.5
41	NorESM1-M	0.98	0.97	27.50	-11.70	78.4	58.7	43.2	-8.7	-11.2
42	NorESM1-ME	0.98	0.97	26.90	-10.70	82.1	63.0	-3.1	10.9	15.2

over Sout	h Bengal									
		Indices f	rom seasona	l cycles		Trends (mm/	100 year) durii	ng 1901–2000		
SL	Model name	D	r	nrmse	pbias	Annual	JJAS	DJF	MAM	NO
	OBS			0	0	143.1	136.7	0.9	-13.6	22.6
-	ACCESS1-0	0.91	0.93	71.6	26.7	-10.5	-32.4	0.4	24.6	-4.6
5	ACCESS1-3	0.84	0.76	66.7	-23.4	-12.6	-110.1	38.1	51.6	5.1
3	bcc-csm1-1	0.79	0.90	71.0	-43.2	38.7	66.8	-51.2	-9.4	31.2
4	bcc-csm1-1-m	0.69	0.94	74.0	-33.2	117.1	18.4	41.2	6.7	49.7
5	BNU-ESM	0.83	0.98	63.6	-44.4	83.6	69.7	3.0	-13.8	25.8
6	CanESM2	0.96	0.98	34.1	-22.6	-35.0	-46.1	5.9	-3.1	8.3
L	CCSM4	0.98	0.99	24.2	-8.3	46.2	31.8	-0.1	-10.2	24.6
8	CESM1-BGC	0.98	0.99	25.0	-9.7	57.5	41.3	-11.3	19.2	6.4
6	CESM1-CAM5	0.96	0.98	34.5	-15.7	83.7	30.7	16.7	19.6	16.8
10	CMCC-CM	0.88	0.94	56.3	-37.9	-48.1	-25.2	5.9	-18.2	-10.4
11	CMCC-CMS	0.91	0.95	48.6	-29.6	13.9	6.4	-9.1	9.5	7.0
12	CNRM-CM5	0.97	0.98	27.7	-8.8	-104.9	-23.8	-22.4	-48.0	-11.8
13	CSIRO-Mk3-6-0	0.91	0.84	55.6	-13.2	20.1	22.6	-8.4	1.5	4.2
14	EC-EARTH	0.98	0.96	28.1	-3.6	19.1	-3.3	-0.9	-1.7	25.6
15	FGOALS_g2	0.78	0.96	72.6	-48.7	66.1	32.6	-0.6	19.3	14.4
16	FIO-ESM	0.82	0.97	65.0	-42.4	22.6	30.0	6.4	15.9	-30.0
17	NOAA1	0.99	0.98	17.3	-1.0	-127.2	-103.8	6.1	5.2	-34.1
18	NOAA2	0.95	0.97	40.9	-31.0	-25.4	-28.8	6.4	0.7	-5.9
19	NOAA3	0.92	0.97	48.1	-34.3	-52.7	-73.2	-7.9	4.4	24.1
20	GISS-E2-H-1	0.93	0.89	50.6	-21.7	-78.2	-106.3	3.3	17.9	7.2
21	GISS-E2-H-2	0.92	0.88	53.0	-23.6	-234.0	-223.1	-2.3	7.2	-15.4
22	GISS-E2-H-3	0.92	0.91	65.0	5.6	-131.4	-130.6	-1.4	-0.6	1.2
23	GISS-E2-H-CC	0.91	0.87	55.9	-28.2	-101.6	-109.8	0.7	-2.2	8.9

Table 13.3 Statistical indices between the seasonal cycles of observation and model simulation along with the linear trends during the period of 1901–2000

24	GISS-E2-R-1	0.80	0.84	75.6	-50.5	-95.1	-102.4	0.7	2.6	3.6
25	GISS-E2-R-2	0.78	0.82	78.4	-52.3	-131.8	-116.5	0.1	-0.7	-14.6
26	GISS-E2-R-3	0.89	0.87	59.2	-34.8	-19.4	-36.9	1.0	12.4	3.9
27	GISS-E2-R-CC	0.77	0.84	78.1	-52.6	-46.1	-76.2	-0.3	18.0	12.3
28	HadGEM2-AO	0.92	0.91	63.3	14.2	138.9	51.7	11.1	25.2	52.4
29	HadGEM2-CC	0.94	0.90	49.3	1.4	-39.0	19.3	-4.6	-38.6	-14.3
30	HadGEM2-ES	0.94	0.91	53.4	9.3	-43.1	-59.7	13.7	4.8	-2.4
31	inmcm4	0.97	0.94	32.4	-6.6	45.6	37.7	-11.4	-3.0	23.7
32	IPSL-CM5A-LR	0.74	0.89	80.9	-54.3	-55.8	-42.8	-3.6	3.1	-11.9
33	IPSL-CM5A-MR	0.92	0.92	48.7	-29.5	-87.1	-31.7	-16.0	-3.8	-37.6
34	IPSL-CM5B-LR	0.56	0.66	106.5	-68.6	-22.9	-14.2	1.3	-1.2	-8.7
35	MIROC5	0.90	0.93	72.9	36.4	-89.6	-119.6	2.8	8.7	19.2
36	MIROC-ESM	0.92	0.97	48.1	-35.1	-61.5	-34.5	-21.0	-16.0	9.8
37	MIROC-ESM-CHEM	0.91	0.96	50.7	-35.3	-111.7	-67.4	6.1	-26.4	-23.1
38	MPI-ESM-LR	0.91	0.96	50.4	-33.7	49.0	15.0	3.5	5.1	25.0
39	MPI-ESM-MR	0.90	0.98	50.5	-35.2	4.1	24.5	-12.0	-2.8	-4.7
40	MRI-CGCM3	0.53	0.60	108.5	-67.6	2.7	75.1	-37.9	-9.9	-25.7
41	NorESM1-M	0.92	0.97	47.3	-30.4	47.0	27.9	40.2	15.7	-33.7
42	NorESM1-ME	0.92	0.97	45.6	-29.8	22.0	-18.7	5.3	14.6	19.5

indices over North Bengal region for annual rainfall simulation. So all these 11 GCMs or any suitable combination of these 11 models can be used for the future projection of rainfall over the North Bengal. Similarly, the following GCMs are selected for developing the future projection rainfall change scenarios for any decision-making and long-term developmental plan over the study area:

- 12 GCMs in case of monsoon season, namely, bcc-csm1-1, bcc-csm1-1-m, CCSM4, CESM1-BGC, CMCC-CM, CMCC-CMS, GFDL-CM3, inmcm4, MIROC5, MPI-ESM-MR, NorESM1-M and NorESM1-ME
- 15 GCMs in case of pre-monsoon, namely, CESM1-CAM5, CSIRO-Mk3-6-0, FIO-ESM, GFDL-ESM 2-M, GISS-E2-H-1, GISS-E2-R-1, GISS-E2-R-2, HadGEM2-AO, IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC5, MIROC-ESM, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, NOrESM1-ME, MPI-ESM-LR and MPI-ESM-MR
- 12 GCMs in case of post-monsoon season, namely, FIO-ESM, GFDL-CM3, GFDL-ESM 2G, GISS-E2-H-2, HadGEM2-ES, IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, MRI-CGCM3, NorESM-1, MPI-ESM-MR and IPSL-CM5B-LR
- 4 GCMs in case of winter season, namely, CESM1-CAM5, GFDL-ESM-2G, GFDL-ESM-2 M and NorESM1-ME

Towards selecting the season-wise GCMs, more attention has been given to compare the trends both on observation and model along with values of spatial correlation.

13.5.2 Selection of Better GCMs for South Bengal

Similar to North Bengal, based on the different statistical measures as shown in Table 13.3, the models, namely, CCSM4, CESM1-BGC, CESM1-CAM5, CMCC-CMS, EC-EARTH, inmcm4, MPI-ESM-LR, NorESM1-M and NorESM1-ME have shown better performances through their high values of agreement index and lower values of error indices. Therefore, either all the nine models or any combination of these nine models can be used for creation of future rainfall change scenarios over the South Bengal apart from using those any impact research. The following are selected for future projection of rainfall based on the values of trends and spatial correlations:

- 10 GCMs in case of monsoon season, namely, bcc-csm1-1, bcc-csm1-1-m, CCSM4, CESM1-CAM5, CMCC-CMS, FIO-ESM, HadGEM2-AO, MRI-CGCM3, MPI-ESM-LR and NorESM1-M
- 10 GCMs in case of pre-monsoon, namely, bcc-csm1-1, CCSM4, CNRM-CM5, GISS-E2-H-3, GISS-E2-R-2, IPSL-CM5A-MR, MIROC-ESM, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, MPI-ESM-MR and MRI-CGCM3

- 8 GCMs in case of post-monsoon season, namely, bcc-ccm1-1, CCSM4, CSM1-CAM5, GFDL-ESM 2M, HadGEM2-AO, MIROC5, MIROC-ESM and NorESM1-ME
- 7 GCMs in case of winter, namely, CESM1-CAM5, GFDL-ESM-2G, GFDL-ESM-2M, GISS-E2-H-1, MIROC5, MIROC-ESM-CHEM and NorESM1-ME

13.6 Future Rainfall Projection from Selected GCMs

As all the selected models in different seasons do not provide simulation of all available RCPs, so a multi-model ensemble is proposed to construct the future climate change scenarios. The multi-model ensemble is prepared using simulations from the following GCMs:

- For annual rainfall, CCSM4, CESM1-CAM5, MIROC5, NorESM1-M and NorESM1-ME GCMs
- For monsoon rainfall, bcc-csm1-1, CCSM4, GFDL-ESM 2G, MIROC5, NorESM1-M and NorESM1-ME
- For pre-monsoon rainfall, CESM1-CAM5, CSIRO-Mk3-6-0, FIO-ESM, GFDL-ESM 2M, GISS-E2-H1, GISS-E2-R1, GISS-E2-R2, HadGEM2-AO, IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC5, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, MIROC-ESM and NorESM1-ME
- For post-monsoon rainfall, FIO-ESM, GFDL-CM3, GFDL-ESM 2G, GISS-E2-R2, HadGEM2-ES, IPSL-CM5A-LR, MIROC-ESM, MIROC-ESM-CHEM and NorESM1-M
- For winter rainfall, CESM1-CAM5, GFDL-ESM 2G, GFDL-ESM-2M and NorESM1-ME

All these mentioned GCMs are in different seasons; the simulations for each model are commonly available under all the RCPs. Similar results can be seen over South Bengal which has not been displayed in the present chapter.

13.7 Ensemble Based Future Rainfall Change (in %)

The percentage of annual and seasonal rainfall with respect to the climatological base period of 1971–2000 is also calculated for different climatological periods for the 2020s, 2050s and 2080s, and results are shown in Tables 13.4 and 13.5. The annual rainfall for RCP4.5, RCP6.0 and RCP8.5 has shown increasing trends for 2050 and 2080s, while a slightly decreasing trend is also noticed for RCP2.6 over North Bengal. The winter rainfall has shown 60–117% surplus in future for different RCP scenarios, whereas the post-monsoon has shown a 1–15% surplus of rainfall in future over North Bengal. Similarly, the annual rainfall over South Bengal has

Annual				Monsoor			
RCP26	RCP45	RCP60	RCP85	RCP26	RCP45	RCP60	RCP85
-6.0	-5.3	-4.0	-2.6	-18.9	-17.7	-17.5	-16.6
-5.1	-2.5	-1.3	-3.7	-19.1	-16.3	-16.7	-16.9
-2.5	2.0	-0.1	3.1	-17.3	-15.0	-15.1	-11.1
-1.7	2.1	5.5	10.1	-15.8	-15.0	-10.9	-3.7
-4.3	-1.5	-1.1	0.1	-18.2	-16.2	-15.9	-13.7
-24.9	-23.5	-22.8	-24.0	-34.4	-33.0	-34.3	-34.1
-23.6	-23.8	-22.9	-23.7	-31.1	-30.9	-32.9	-32.2
-23.1	-19.4	-23.0	-17.8	-30.9	-29.8	-28.9	-25.2
-22.1	-17.0	-19.6	-15.9	-32.9	-28.1	-28.3	-22.9
-23.7	-21.7	-22.6	-21.3	-32.2	-30.9	-31.7	-29.7
	Annual RCP26 -6.0 -5.1 -2.5 -1.7 -4.3 -24.9 -23.6 -23.1 -22.1 -23.7	Annual RCP26 RCP45 -6.0 -5.3 -5.1 -2.5 -2.5 2.0 -1.7 2.1 -4.3 -1.5 -24.9 -23.5 -23.6 -23.8 -23.1 -19.4 -22.1 -17.0 -23.7 -21.7	Annual RCP26 RCP45 RCP60 -6.0 -5.3 -4.0 -5.1 -2.5 -1.3 -2.5 2.0 -0.1 -1.7 2.1 5.5 -4.3 -1.5 -1.1 -24.9 -23.5 -22.8 -23.6 -23.8 -22.9 -22.1 -17.0 -19.6 -23.7 -21.7 -22.6	Annual RCP26 RCP45 RCP60 RCP85 -6.0 -5.3 -4.0 -2.6 -5.1 -2.5 -1.3 -3.7 -2.5 2.0 -0.1 3.1 -1.7 2.1 5.5 10.1 -4.3 -1.5 -1.1 0.1	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c } \hline Annual & Monsoon \\ \hline RCP26 & RCP45 & RCP60 & RCP85 & RCP26 & RCP45 \\ \hline \hline RCP26 & RCP45 & RCP45 & RCP26 & RCP45 \\ \hline \hline \\ \hline $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 13.4 Percentage (%) change of rainfall during annual and monsoon season over NorthBengal and South Bengal with respect to 1971–2000

Table 13.5 Percentage (%) change of rainfall during winter and pre-monsoon season over NorthBengal and South Bengal with respect to 1971-2000

	Winter				Pre-mons	soon		
Time period	RCP26	RCP45	RCP60	RCP85	RCP26	RCP45	RCP60	RCP85
North Bengal								
2001-2030	75.5	77.7	98.4	89.9	-30.2	-31.0	-32.8	-29.5
2031-2060	64.4	87.1	74.8	69.3	-26.8	-29.5	-31.1	-29.6
2061-2090	81.3	72.1	67.2	82.5	-28.0	-27.3	-31.5	-22.2
2091-2100	59.4	117.2	69.6	85.2	-28.9	-25.2	-28.7	-19.3
2001-2100	72.3	82.8	79.1	81.0	-28.4	-28.9	-31.5	-26.3
South Bengal								
2001-2030	-24.0	-26.6	-19.3	-16.8	-59.7	-57.9	-57.9	-59.9
2031-2060	-20.9	-22.2	-18.9	-22.6	-59.7	-61.3	-61.3	-57.5
2061-2090	-18.0	-24.2	-27.6	-27.3	-59.5	-54.1	-54.1	-52.8
2091-2100	-23.6	-19.5	-19.2	-23.7	-59.4	-51.2	-51.2	-51.4
2001-2100	-21.2	-23.8	-21.7	-22.4	-59.6	-57.1	-57.1	-56.2

shown decreasing trends by 16–25% under different RCP scenarios and different climatological as well as long-term period, while 3–24% surplus of rainfall is projected for different RCP scenarios in the post-monsoon over South Bengal.

13.8 Application of ORYZA2000: Validation and Impact Study

Potential as well as nitrogen- and water-limited production situations are considered for *Boro* season (2000–2001). The potential production (~10 t ha⁻¹) appears to be more than the highest reported value (~9 t ha⁻¹) in West Bengal conditions. Application of N₂ fertilizer under N₂-limited situation assures more yields (~8–9 t ha⁻¹) up to a limit of 140 kg ha⁻¹. Further increase of N₂ application has less impact on the production, indicating an optimized amount of nitrogen fertilizer as 120–140 kg ha⁻¹. On the other hand, in water-limited situation, predicted yield components are less (~7 t ha⁻¹) (Table 13.6) even with the application of N₂ fertilizer.

Verification study indicates that the model estimation is more than the observed values. Keeping the overestimating nature of the model in view, the model has further been used to test its performance in simulation potential yield under climate change scenarios. How the final yield and different yield components vary under different level of increasing/decreasing temperature are shown in Fig. 13.3.

Simulations have been carried out under both the current value of CO₂ concentration and double CO₂ concentration. Apart from the usual nature of overestimation by the model, the yield gets reduced with the increase in temperature and vice versa. The simulated yield is enhanced by about 10% in case of doubled CO₂ concentration and 1°C temperature increase when compared with the yield at current CO₂ concentration. This is particularly important when a temperature increase of 0.5-2.0 °C has been estimated for the period 2010–2039 over the study area. Similar type of work using ORYZA2000 was carried out by Swain et al. (2007) using a new rice variety named Ranjit, where he obtained high yield of 5.52 Mg ha⁻¹ compared to conventional yield of 4.36 Mg ha⁻¹. He also suggested the highest-grain yield will be achieved if the rice is planted on 15 July during the wet season. Another study of ORYZA2000 over Hyderabad by Sailaja et al. (2013) showed that the simulated dry matter weight and yield values are close to the observation. ORYZA1 and INFOCROP were extensively applied to investigate the yield changes under elevated CO_2 and temperature (Krishnan et al. 2007) over ten locations of eastern India. Both models showed a decreasing amount of yield by -7.20 and -6.66%, respectively, at 1.8 °C of temperature rise with the 380 ppm of current CO₂, while yield increased by 30.73% in ORYZA1 and 56.37% in INFOCROP rice when CO₂ increased to 700 ppm. The ORYZA2000 model was also applied to investigate the variation rice yield under different irrigated regions of Punjab by Arora (2006) and reported a good performance of the model in depicting the observed yields in terms of several yield parameters. Similarly, Yadav et al. (2011) used ORYZA2000 model

	Grain yield	$(t ha^{-1})$ of field	l experiment	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹) simulat	ed by Model
Year	N00	N120	N140	N00	N120	N140
1999–2000	2.1	3.5	4.1	4.6	8.6	8.9
2000-2001	3.9	5.4	7.0	4.8	8.9	9.0

Table 13.6 Comparison between the observed and model simulation yields



Fig. 13.3 Simulated yield components (kg ha⁻¹) for different changing temperature during the crop season 1999–2000 with $1 \times CO_2$ (left panel) and $2 \times CO_2$ (right panel)

to simulate the effects of water management on rice growth, yield and water productivity components over northwest India. Beyond India, ORYZA2000 model was also applied over Chile by Artacho et al. (2011) to explore potential yield and grain yield response to N fertilization under likely weather conditions in the major rice-producing area.

The main advantages of using the ORYZA2000 model are that it provides flexibility and transferability of the data and the programme code. It is expected to provide commercial output in terms of grain yield, fruits, root, biomass for fodder, etc. under varying weather conditions. Crop model can be apply extensively in the following management and operational purpose: (1) strategic planning in which crop models are run prior to planting, (2) practical evaluation in which crop models are run prior to crop growth duration and (3) forecasting crop yield in which models are run prior to during of the crop growth.

A study was conducted by Mukherjee et al. (2011) over Punjab region of India to compare the results for two simulation models, namely, WOFOST and ORYZA2000, using two rice varieties (PR 116 and PR 118) during 2006–2008 where ORYZA2000 model showed better performance compared to WOFOST in simulating the dry weight of leaves, dry weight of stem, aboveground biomass, leaf area index and grain yield. Another crop model named as Aqua crop model used by Singh et al. (2013) over the farm of Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya at Majhian located in Dakshin Dinajpur District of West Bengal, India, indicated that model simulated wheat yield as 4.16tha⁻¹as compared to the actual yield of 4.10 t ha⁻¹ in the year 2008–2009. Further study by Sarkar and Kar (2006) using DSSAT 3.5
model showed that the optimal rice and wheat yield are obtained under the application of 120 kg of nitrogen per hectare, whereas 80 kg of nitrogen per hectare for both rice and wheat is recommended from the literature. A recent study by Singh et al. (2016) using the CERES-Rice model from DSSAT 4.5 during *kharif* season for genetic coefficients of rice cultivars over four locations of India at Jorhat, Kalyani, Ranchi and Bhagalpur showed the potential rice yields are decreasing with the tune of 35.3, 1.9, 48.6 and 17.1 kg ha⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively, under delayed sowing.

13.9 Major Finding of Climate Change and Associated Impact

In general annual rainfall over North Bengal showed a decreasing trend of 134 mm/ 100 years at Jalpaiguri district to increasing trend of 420 mm/100 year over Cooch Behar district during 1901–2000 period, while all South Bengal districts showed increasing trends except Bardhaman and Nadia districts where a slight decreasing trend was observed during the last century. None of the CMIP5 model is able to reproduce mean seasonal cycles over North or South Bengal adequately, but multimodel ensemble using the better performing models does the same quite satisfactorily. Almost 50% of the total 42 models are able to simulate the increasing rainfall trends in annual, monsoon, winter and pre-monsoon seasons over North Bengal district, while the majority of the models indicate decreasing trends over South Bengal in annual and monsoon seasons. It is expected that annual rainfall over North Bengal will increase by 140–348 mm at the end the twenty-first century as per all RCPs, while winter rainfall is projected to decrease by 1–20 mm at the same time. At the end of the twenty-first century, annual rainfall over South Bengal districts is expected to increase by 29–167 mm. In terms of percentage change of rainfall with respect to the climatological base period of 1971–2000, the winter, pre-monsoon and monsoon rainfall will increase both for North and South Bengal as per all RCPs. Further, sensitivity study indicates that optimum use of N₂ is 140 kg ha⁻¹ in this climatic condition with ample supply of water, which assures yield of about 8-9 t ha $^{-1}$. Verification analysis shows that the model overestimates the yield production. It is noticed that production of yield gets reduced with the increase of temperature and vice versa in the current as well as doubling CO₂ conditions. Increased CO₂ in the atmosphere indicates higher yield. Combined effect of CO₂ and temperature indicates less change of rice yield over the study area. It is concluded that the present-generation GCMs do not provide useful information for impact research or any policy-making issues at district or block level due to its courser scale resolution which is unable to capture the detail complexity of earth atmosphere system, but all these information can provide a realization about the past and future climate scenarios. These GCM simulations can be more reliably used for local scale decision-making after developing downscaled scenarios from the raw GCMs simulation. On the other hand, crop model still today cannot be used for operational purpose for day-to-day agricultural practice as it has its inherent biases and limitations to reproduce the crop phenology leading to different yield components adequately.

References

- Akhter J, Das L, Deb A (2016) CMIP5 ensemble-based spatial rainfall projection over homogenous zones of India. Clim Dyn 49:1885. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-016-3409-8
- Akhter J, Das L, Meher JK, Deb A (2018) Uncertainties and time of emergence of multi-model precipitation projection over homogeneous rainfall zones of India. Clim Dyn 50 (9–10):3813–3831
- Akponikpea PBI, Mineta J, Gerardc B, Defournya P, Bieldersa CL (2011) Spatial fields' dispersion as a farmer strategy to reduce agro-climatic risk at the household level in pearl millet-based systems in the Sahel: a modeling perspective. Agric For Meteorol 151:215–227
- Alagarswamy G, Singh P, Hoogenboom G, Wani SP, Pathak P, Virmani SM (2000) Evaluation and application of the CROPGRO-Soybean simulation model in vertic inceptisol. Agric Syst 63:19–32
- Alocilja EC, Ritchie JT (1990) The application of SIMOPT2: RICE to evaluate profit and yield-risk in upland-rice production. Agric Syst 33:315–326
- Arora VK (2006) Application of a rice growth and water balance model in an irrigated semi-arid subtropical environment. Agric Water Manag 83:51–57
- Artacho P, Meza F, Antonio Alcalde J (2011) Evaluation of the Oryza 2000 rice growth model under nitrogen-limited conditions in an irrigated Mediterranean environment. Chile J Agric Res 71(1):23–33
- Boling A, Tuong TP, Jatmiko SY, Burac MA (2004) Yield constraints of rainfed lowland rice in Central Java, Indonesia. Field Crop Res 90:351–360
- Bouman BAM (2001) ORYZA 2000: modeling lowland rice, vol. 1. IRRI
- Chakraborty PK, Das L (2016) Rainfall trend analysis and its future projection over Gangetic West Bengal (GWB) region of India during post-monsoon and winter season. J Appl Natr Sci 8 (3):1152–1156
- Das L, Lohar D (2005) Construction of climate change scenarios for a tropical monsoon region. Clim Res 30(1):39–52
- Das L, Lohar D, Sadhukhan I, Khan SA, Saha A, Sarkar S (2007) Evaluation of the performance of ORYZA2000 and assessing the impact of climate change on rice production in Gangetic West Bengal. J Agrometeorol 9:1–10
- Das L, Annan J, Hargreaves J, Emori S (2012) Improvements over three generations of climate model simulations for eastern India. Clim Res 51:201–216. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01064
- Das L, Meher JK, Dutta M (2016) Construction of rainfall change scenarios over the Chilka lagoon in India. Atmos Res 182:36–45
- Das L, Dutta M, Mezghani A, Benestad RE (2017) Use of observed temperature statistics in ranking CMIP5 model performance over the Western Himalayan region of India. Int J Climatol 38:554. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5193
- Das L, Prasad H, Meher JK (2018) 20th Century District-level Spatio-temporal annual rainfall changes over West Bengal. J Clim Chang 4(2):31–39
- Dias MPNM, Navaratne CM, Weerasinghe KDN, Hettiarachchi RHAN (2016) Application of DSSAT crop simulation model to identify the changes of rice growth and yield in Nilwala river basin for mid-centuries under changing climatic conditions. Procedia Food Sci 6:159–163
- FAR (1990) Report prepared for intergovernmental panel on climate change by working group I. JT Houghton, GJ Jenkins, JJ Ephraums (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/Great Britain/New York/Melbourne, pp 410
- Gadgil S, Seshagiri Rao PR, Sridhar S (1999) Modelling impact of climate variability on rainfed groundnut. Curr Sci 76:557–569
- Godwin DC, Meyer WS, Singh U (1994) Simulation of the effect of chilling injury and nitrogen supply on floret fertility and yield in rice. Aust J Exp Agric 34:921–926
- Guhathakurta P, Rajeevan M (2008) Trends in the rainfall pattern over India. Int J Climatol 28 (11):1453–1470

- Hundal SS, Prabhjyot-Kaur (1997) Application of the CERES-Wheat model to yield predictions in the irrigated plains of the Indian Punjab. J Agric Sci 129:13–18
- IBSNAT (1993) The international benchmark sites network for Agrotechnology transfer decade. Department of Agronomy and Soil Science, College of Tropical Agriculture and Human Resources, University of Hawaii, Honolulu
- Jinghua W, Erda L (1996) The impacts of potential climate change and climate variability on simulated maize production in China. Water Air Soil Poll 92:75–85
- Jintrawet A (1995) A decision support system for rapid assessment of lowland rice-based cropping alternatives in Thailand. Agric Syst 47:245–258
- Jones JW, Tsuji GY, Hoogenboom G, Hunt LA, Thornton PK, Wilkens PW, Imamura DT, Bowen WT, Singh U (1998) Decision support system for agrotechnology transfer; DSSAT v3
- Jones JW, Hoogenboom G, Porter CH, Boote KJ, Batchelor WD, Hunt LA, Wilkens PW, Singh U, Gijsman AJ, Ritchie JT (2003) The DSSAT cropping system model. Eur J Agron 18:235–265
- Kaur P, Hundal SS (1999) Forecasting growth and yield of groundnut (Arachis hypogaea) with a dynamic simulation model 'PNUTGRO' under Punjab conditions. J Agric Sci 133:167–173
- Krishnan P, Swain DK, Chandra Bhaskar B, Nayak SK, Dash RN (2007) Impact of elevated CO₂ and temperature on rice yield and methods of adaptation as evaluated by crop simulation studies. Agric Ecosyst Environ 122:233–242
- Lal M, Singh KK, Rathore LS, Srinivasan G, Saseendran SA (1998) Vulnerability of rice and wheat yields in NW India to future changes in climate. Agric For Meteorol 89:101–114
- Lal M, Singh KK, Srinivasan G, Rathore LS, Naidu D, Tripathi CN (1999) Growth and yield responses of soybean in Madhya Pradesh, India to climate variability and change. Agric For Meteorol 93(1):53–70
- Lohar D, Pal B (1995) The effect of irrigation on pre-monsoon season precipitation over South West Bengal, India. J Clim 8:2567–2570
- Luo Y, Tebeest DO, Teng PS, Fabellar NG (1995) Simulation studies on risk analysis of rice leaf blast epidemics associated with global climate change in several Asian countries. J Biogeogr 22:673–678
- Luo Y, Teng PS, Fabellar NG, TeBeest DO (1998) Risk analysis of yield losses caused by rice leaf blast associated with temperature changes above and below for five Asian countries. Agric Ecosyst Environ 68(3):197–205
- Luo Y, Teng PS, Fabellar NG, Tebeest DO (1997) A rice-leaf blast combined model for simulation of epidemics and yield loss. Agric Syst 53(1):27–39
- Majumder D, Das L (2018) Simulating the yield attributes of Boro rice under nitrogen and irrigation management at Mohanpur, West Bengal using ORYZA 2000. J Agrometeorol 20(1):xxx
- Meher JK, Das L, Akhter J, Benestad RE, Mezghani A (2017) Performance of CMIP3 and CMIP5 GCMs to simulate observed rainfall characteristics over the Western Himalayan region. J Clim 30:7777. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-16-0774.1
- Mukherjee J, Singh G, Bal SK, Singh H, Kaur P (2011) Comparative evaluation of WOFOST and ORYZA2000 models in simulating growth and development of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) in Punjab. J Agrometeorol 13(2):86–91
- Naidu CV, Durgalakshmi K, Muni Krishna K, Ramalingeswara Rao S, Satyanarayana GC, Lakshminarayana P, Malleswara Rao L (2009) Is summer monsoon rainfall decreasing over India in the global warming era? J Geophys Res Atmos 114(D24)
- Penning de Vries FWT (1977) Evaluation of simulation models in agriculture and biology: conclusions of a workshop. Agric Syst 2:99–105
- Pinnschmidt HO, Batchelor WD, Teng PS (1995) Simulation of multiple species pest damage in rice using CERES-rice. Agric Syst 48:193–222
- Randall DA, Wood RA, Bony S, Colman R, Fichefet T, Fyfe J, Kattsov V, Pitman A, Shukla J, Srinivasan J, Stouffer RJ, Sumi A, Taylor KE (2007) Cilmate models and their evaluation. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Climate Change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth

assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK/New York

Raychaudhuri A, Das TK (2005) WB economy: some contemporary issues. Allied Publishers, Ahmedabad

Rupa Kumar K, Kumar KK, Ashrit RG, Patwardhan SK, Pant GB (2002) Climate change in India: observations and model projections. In: Shukla PR, Sharma SK, Ramana PV (eds) Climate change and India: issues, concerns and opportunities. Tata McGraw-Hill, New Delhi, pp 24–75

- Sadhukhan I, Lohar D, Pal DK (2000) Pre-monsoon season rainfall variability over Gangetic WB and its neighbourhood, India. Int J Climatol 20(12):1485–1493
- Sailaja B, Voleti SR, Subrahmanyam D, Nathawat MS, Rao NH (2013) Validation of Oryza2000 model under combined nitrogen and water limited situations. Indian J Plant Physiol 18(1):31–40
- Salam MU, Jones JW, Kobayashi K (2001) Predicting nursery growth and transplanting shock in rice. Exp Agric 37:65–81
- Sarkar R, Kar S (2006) Evaluation of management strategies for sustainable rice–wheat cropping system, using DSSAT seasonal analysis. J Agric Sci 144(5):421–434
- Singh U, Godwin DC (1990) Modelling the impact of climate change on agricultural production in the South Pacific. In: Hughes PJ, McGregor G (eds) Global warming-related effects on agriculture and human health and comfort in the South Pacific. South Pacific Regional Environment Programme, New Guinea, pp 521–537
- Singh P, Boote KJ, Virmani SM (1994) Evaluation of the groundnut model PNUTGRO for crop response to plant population and row spacing. Field Crop Res 39:163–170
- Singh KK, Kumar R, Mall RK, Rathore LS, Sanker U, Gupta BRD (1999) Soybean (Glycine max) yield prediction from current and historical weather data using CROPGRO model. Indian J Agric Sci 69(9):639–643
- Singh P, Alagarswamy G, Hoogenboom G, Pathak P, Wani SP, Virmani SM (1999a) Soybean/ chickpea rotation on vetric inceptisols: 2. Long-term simulation of water balance and crop yields. Field Crop Res 63:225–236
- Singh P, Alagarswamy G, Pathak P, Wani SP, Hoogenboom G, Virmani SM (1999b) Soybean/ chickpea rotation on vertic inceptisols: 1. Effect of soil depth and landform on light interception, water balance and crop yields. Field Crop Res 63:211–224
- Singh A, Saha S, Mondal S (2013) Modelling irrigated wheat production using the FAOaquacrop model in West Bengal, India, for sustainable agriculture. Irrig Drain 62(1):50–56
- Singh PK, Singh KK, Rathore LS, Baxla VS, Gupta A, Gohain GB, Balasubramanian R, Singh RS, Mall RK (2016) Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) yield gap using the CERES-rice model of climate variability for different agroclimatic zones of India. Curr Sci 110(3):406–413
- Swain DK, Yadav A (2009) Simulating the impact of climate change on rice yield using CERES-Rice model. J Environ Inf 13(2):104–110
- Swain DK, Herath S, Bhaskar BC, Krishnan P, Rao KS, Nayak SK, Dash RN (2007) Developing ORYZA 1N for medium-and long-duration rice. Agron J 99(2):428–440
- Tsuji GY (1998) Network management and information dissemination for agrotechnology transfer. In: Tsuji GY, Hoogenboom G, Thornton PK (eds) Understanding options for agricultural production. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 367–381
- Uehara G (1998.) Synthesis) In: Tsuji GY, Hoogenboom G, Thornton PK (eds) Understanding options for agricultural production. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 389–392
- Van Keulen H, Wolf J (eds) (1986) Modelling of agricultural production: weather, soils and crops. Simulation Monographs. PUDOC, Wageningen
- Wang B, LinHo (2002) Rainy season of the Asian-Pacific summer monsoon. J Clim 15(4):386-398
- Yadav S, Li T, Humphreys E, Kukal SS (2011) Evaluation and application of ORYZA2000 for irrigation scheduling of puddled transplanted rice in North West India. Fuel En Abs 122 (2):104–117



Canopy Temperature-Based Water Stress 14 Indices: Potential and Limitations

Manoj Kumar Nanda, Utpal Giri, and Nimai Bera

Abstract

Water stress in plant is associated with reduced availability of soil moisture under higher ambient temperature and wider vapour pressure deficit for a considerable period of time. Instruments like pressure chambers and porometers are being used to quantify crop water stress under field conditions, but their use is limited because of the numerous time-consuming measurements that must be made. The application of thermal indices involving canopy temperature for monitoring crop water stress and irrigation scheduling has been demonstrated by several researchers in the last five decades since the evolution of portable infrared thermometers in the 1960s. As the temperature of plant canopy is a manifestation of canopy energy balance, a water-stressed canopy is hotter than a well-watered one under the same environmental conditions. Infrared thermometer integrates the thermal radiation from all exposed surfaces in the field of view of the instrument that included the plant surface and exposed soil surfaces into a single measurement and converts it into temperature unit applying the principle of Stefan-Boltzmann law. However, different plant physiological as well as microclimatic factors like solar radiation, turbulence, air temperature and humidity must influence the canopy temperature at the time of observation. Hence, stomatal conductance and transpiration rates cannot be estimated by canopy temperature alone. In other words, canopy temperature alone is not enough to make estimates of plant water status. For this reason many researchers have attempted to normalize the canopy temperature to account for the influence of other variable

M. K. Nanda (🖂)

Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Mohanpur, Nadia, West Bengal, India

U. Giri

College of Agriculture, Tripura, Lembucherra, Tripura, India

N. Bera

Regional Research Centre, ICAR-Central Institute of Freshwater Aquaculture, Kalyani, Nadia, West Bengal, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_14

microclimatic parameters like vapour pressure deficit, air temperature, wind speed, solar radiation, etc.

In the past few decades, a number of thermal indices have been applied to estimate crop water stress under field condition. The difference between canopy temperature and air temperature (canopy-air temperature difference, CATD) was the first and one of the most commonly used thermal indices to quantify crop water stress. The summation of CATD over some critical period in the crop's life cycle was termed as stress degree day (SDD). Similarly, the difference between canopy temperature of stressed and non-stressed plants has been used as an index called temperature stress day (TSD). The "canopy temperature variability" (CTV) takes into account the spatial variability of canopy temperature in crop field which was found to be higher in stressed plant than that of non-stressed plant. The temperature-time threshold (TTT) method assumes that the stress is not occurring in the crop until the canopy temperature reaches certain threshold value and calculates the amount of time that canopy temperature is greater than temperature threshold to quantify moisture stress. The crop water stress index (CWSI) further normalizes the canopy-air temperature difference with vapour pressure deficit of air. The calculation of CWSI quantifies the moisture stress of a plant as a comparison of its canopy temperature with that of a non-water-stressed plant and a maximum stressed plant with respect to their differences from the ambient air temperature at a given vapour pressure deficit. Conceptually, CWSI of a non-stressed and fully stressed (non-transpiring) plant is 0 and 1, respectively. The water deficit index (WDI) integrated the percent vegetation coverage and canopy temperature to compensate the effect of soil background that interferes in the remote measurement of canopy temperature through infrared thermometry. The "Biologically Identified Optimal Temperature Interactive Console (BIOTIC)" is an irrigation protocol that provides irrigation scheduling based upon measurements of canopy temperatures and the temperature optimum of the crop species of interest. But some critical issues like impact of rapid fluctuation in radiation and wind speed on crop water stress, crop to crop variability in stress tolerance and the requirement of stress at particular phenophases of some crops have not been duly focused. Thus the canopy temperature-based water stress indices have limited application in irrigation scheduling at field scale. However, with advancement of satellite-based optical and thermal remote sensing in recent years, there is a renewed interest in thermal indices for crop stress monitoring.

Keywords

Infrared thermometry · Canopy air temperature difference (CATD) · Stress degree day (SDD) · Canopy temperature variability (CTV) · Temperature stress day (TSD) · Crop water stress index (CWSI) · Water deficit index (WDI)

14.1 Introduction

Water stress is one of the most common types of plant stress and is often associated with reduced availability water from soil and during periods of high evaporative demand of atmosphere associated with higher ambient temperature and vapour pressure deficit. The negative effects of water stress on crop yield are both cosmopolitan and substantial, reducing yields in all cropping systems and regions worldwide. Generally, the production is adversely affected when a crop undergoes longer period of stress during its life cycle, although some plants may require a period of water stress to initiate reproductive development. An increase in plant water stress (decreasing plant water potential) occurs when an imbalance exists between the amount of water absorbed by the roots and the amount lost through transpiration. The degree of stress that develops is a function of the plant's environment. Popular methods that include pressure chamber and porometer that are being adopted to quantify crop moisture stress under field conditions have relied observations on a single plant or plant part. The pressure chamber measures leaf water potential of sample leaves removed from the growing plant (Correia et al. 2001). Porometer is frequently used for in situ measurement of stomatal conductance using portable chamber system (Turner 1991). Both the methods have potential to characterize crop water stress under field condition. However, these methods require numerous timeconsuming measurements that limit their large-scale field application. However, for small plot research, these and similar methods provide useful information (Reginato 1983). Since the last few decades, the use of canopy temperature has received much attention for characterizing plant water stress with evolution of portable infrared thermometer (Idso 1982; Jackson et al. 1977, 1981).

14.2 Basic Principle

The plant leaves absorb a certain fraction of the incident radiation and partition this energy into three outgoing streams: reradiation, convective heat exchange with the air and evaporation of water or transpiration. In case of plant leaf, the heat conduction is too small to be considered significant, and for steady-state situations, the energy storage term is zero. Whenever water is evaporated from a leaf, the latent heat of evaporation is drawn from the leaf, cooling it down. Under water deficit conditions, stomata of leaves close in response to loss of turgor pressure (Kramer 1983), causing a lowering of transpiration rate. The dissipation of energy through latent heat is reduced leading to a positive energy balance. As the temperature of plant canopy is a manifestation of canopy energy balance, a water-stressed canopy is hotter than a well-watered one under the same environmental conditions. Testi et al. (2008) was of the view that the temperature of a canopy deviates from air temperature, in a way that is strictly dependent on the rate of transpiration under the same environmental conditions.

The energy budget of individual leaf in a plant canopy has been analysed in detail by Gates (1980). The empirical derivation of leaf temperature by Gates showed that for a leaf of characteristic dimension of 0.05 m and an internal resistance to water loss of 200 m s⁻¹ at air temperature 30 °C, wind speed 1 m s⁻¹ and relative humidity 50% the leaf temperature is 26 °C when the radiation absorbed by the leaf is 419 W m⁻². The leaf temperature is increased to 31.3 °C when the radiation absorption is 698 W m⁻², other conditions remaining similar. The non-transpiring leaf under similar conditions would have a temperature of 28.7 and 34.6 °C, respectively. Thus, the empirical analysis of Gates suggests that sunlit leaves would be warmer than air, whereas the lower-shaded leaves would be cooler than air, and transpiration was very important in the energy budget of plants.

14.3 Leaf Temperature Versus Canopy Temperature

The literature concerning leaf temperatures dates back at least to the early part of the eighteenth century. Jackson (1982) made a thorough review of the history of leaf temperature measurement and found that the leaf temperatures were higher than the air temperature in majority of the earlier reports. The earlier measurements involved clamping of sensors to the leaves or wrapping of un-detached leaves around the sensors. The major limitations in those measurements were that the leaves were not true representative of the whole canopy. The leaves were mostly near the top of plant under direct sunlight. As the quantity of absorbed radiation is the most influencing parameter in the energy budget of the leaf, the position of leaf in the plant stand (upper or lower leaf) is an important criterion in measurement of leaf temperature. Secondly, there was no standard location suggested for recording air temperature. Tanner (1963) was among the first researchers who studied canopy temperature with the help of infrared thermometry for monitoring plant water stress. Tanner was of the view that the temperature of individual leaf would fail to represent the status of the plant as a whole. A leaf with the surface normal to incident solar radiation will be at a substantially higher temperature than a leaf that has a large angle of incidence or one that is shaded. Thus, there is no single leaf temperature value that represents the plant to be useful for any given research problem. Nevertheless, the measurement of individual leaf temperature with contact thermometers is cumbersome and tedious. Furthermore, either attaching or inserting thermal sensors may affect the plant temperature that is to be measured. Hence, for studying response of crops to moisture stress, canopy temperature that represents the averaged condition of both sunlit and shaded leaves is a more acceptable parameter than that of leaf temperature.

14.4 Infrared Thermometry

Infrared thermometer integrates the thermal radiation from all exposed surfaces in the field of view (FOV) of the instrument that included the plant surface and exposed soil surfaces into a single measurement and converts it into temperature unit. Tanner

(1963) defined temperature measured with an infrared thermometer as the blackbody temperature that would produce the radiation entering the instrument from plant parts in the field of view. However, the target surface may include soil surface exposed through the layers of vegetation.

14.4.1 Principles of Infrared Thermometry

The principle of infrared thermometer is based on the Stefan-Boltzmann law which states that the total energy radiated per unit surface area of a blackbody across all wavelengths per unit time (also known as the black-body *radiant emittance*) is directly proportional to the fourth power of the blackbody's thermodynamic temperature T:

For blackbody,
$$R_{\text{blackbody}} = \sigma T^4$$
 (14.1)

For greybody,
$$R_{\text{greybody}} = \varepsilon \sigma T^4$$
 (14.2)

The constant of proportionality σ is called the Stefan-Boltzmann constant. The value of the constant is 5.67 x 10⁻⁸ W m⁻² K⁻⁴. A blackbody absorbs all radiation incident upon it, and its emissivity is also maximum. For the blackbody absorptivity, (a) = emissivity (ε) = 1. An object that does not absorb all the incident radiation and emits less energy than a blackbody is known as grey body. These grey bodies are characterized by their emissivity. The conventional IR thermometers work in wavelength range of 8–14 micrometre, the range in which most of the earth objects have high emissivity (ε = 0.94 to 0.98).

14.4.2 Errors Associated with IR Thermometry

There are different types of error associated with the IR thermometry. The first error is due to interference of atmospheric radiation. According to Monteith and Szeicz (1962), the total upward long-wave radiation (R_T) from a surface with emissivity (ϵ) may be written as the sum of thermal infrared radiation emitted by the object and the part of atmospheric radiation reflected by it.

$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{T}} = \varepsilon \, \sigma \, \mathbf{T}_{\mathrm{s}}^{4} + (1 - \varepsilon) \, \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{a}} = \varepsilon \, \sigma \, (\mathbf{T}_{\mathrm{s}}^{*})^{4} \tag{14.3}$$

where T_s is the true temperature of the target surface, R_a is the atmospheric radiation received by the surface and T_s^* is the apparent temperature of the surface assuming $\varepsilon = 1$.

The difference between the true temperature and apparent temperature has been derived by Monteith and Szeicz (1962) as

$$T_{s} - T_{s}^{*} \cong \frac{(R_{T} - R_{s})(1 - \epsilon)}{4 \epsilon \sigma T_{s}^{3}}$$
(14.4)

The apparent radiative temperature was about 0.2 °C less than the true temperature for vegetation and water surface and as high as 1.5 °C less than the true temperature for a bare soil. Another possible source of error is due to the radiative flux divergence or the loss of radiation in the path for the surface to the sensor. Monteith and Szeicz (1962) opined that the surface temperature of turf may be underestimated by about 1 °C during the day and overestimated by about 0.2 °C during night. For bare soil, the difference may reach -2 to -3 °C during the day. The third source of variation of apparent surface temperature might be due to direction of measurement with respect to sun's position and angle of measurement. Here, solar zenith, measurement zenith and azimuth angle influence the measurement. Monteith and Szeicz (1962) studied the influence of measurement geometry and found that in the direction sun (azimuth $= 0^{\circ}$), the radiometer saw patches of grass completely shaded by vertical irregularities of the canopy, whereas at azimuth $= 180^{\circ}$, all visible leaves were fully illuminated and therefore relatively warm as the sunlit part of the canopy is expected to be warmer than the shaded part. The temperature of the surface also decreased at solar zenith $>70^{\circ}$, showing that the grass blades were cooler at their tips than deeper in the cover.

Kimes et al. (1980) opined that the thermal infrared sensor response to emissions from vegetation canopies may deviate significantly from that expected for a Lambertian surface (ideal diffusion surface). They obtained a difference of as great as 13 °C, when going from a viewing zenith angle of 0° to one of 80° for wheat canopy of leaf area index 1.5. The measured difference at different measurement zenith angle was function of vegetation canopy geometry and the vertical temperature distribution of the canopy components.

The errors associated with IR thermometry are appeared to be highly variable with respect to time of measurement (solar angle), measurement geometry (angle, direction and distance of measurement) and field of view (FOV). Kirkham (2005) opined that the overall error generally varied from 0.5 to $1.5 \,^{\circ}$ C. By viewing the target obliquely, one would ensure that maximum amount of vegetation remains within the FOV of the IR sensor. Furthermore, the influence of the sun's angle that would affect the target temperature may be minimized by taking readings from different directions. Jackson et al. (1981) took eight measurements four facing the east and four facing the west between 1340 and 1400 local time at an angle of 30° to represent the canopy temperature of wheat. Kirkham (2005) also preferred the same viewing angle, and they held the thermometer 1.2 m away from the crop (corn) canopy.

14.5 Application of Infrared Thermometry in Stress Monitoring

The energy budget of plant leaf involves three modes of heat transfer, i.e. by radiation, convection and transpiration. Aston and Van Bavel (1972) used infrared thermometry to record an increase in canopy temperature as a result of increased short-wave and long-wave radiant loads on leaf arrays. They compared temperature increase of different surfaces and reported that the surface temperature increased by 2.5, 0.5 and 2.0 °C in dry blotting paper, wet blotting paper and leaves of the southern pea (*Vigna sinensis*), respectively. Such increase in temperature of artificial and real leaves has also been predicted by the leaf energy balance-soil water depletion model with an accuracy of 1 and 5% for the artificial and real leaves, respectively. Gates (1980) gave a detailed account of energy budget of leaf and derived that the leaf temperature is influenced by cooling produced by the evaporation of liquid water to water vapour in the mesophyll and its diffusion through the stomata and across the boundary layer to the free air beyond the leaf. Thus, the canopy temperature that represents the average condition of all the leaves of the plant would indicate the transpiration status of the plant as a whole.

Complications arise while interpreting canopy temperature recorded from field measurement because of plant physiological as well as microclimatic factors like radiation, turbulence, air temperature and humidity that influence the canopy temperature at any particular time of observation in crop field. Thus, the stomatal conductance and transpiration rate that represent plant water status cannot be estimated by measuring the canopy temperature alone. Hence, many researchers attempted to normalize leaf and canopy temperature to account for the influence of the environmental condition during the period of measurement.

14.5.1 Canopy-Air Temperature Difference (CATD) and Stress Degree Day (SDD)

One of the most widely used parameters for normalization of environmental factors in canopy temperature-based stress monitoring approach is air temperature. Erhler (1973) was among the first few researchers who described the relation between leafair temperature difference and plant water stress. He used fine wire thermocouples imbedded in cotton leaves to measure leaf temperature on well-watered plants and concluded that within an irrigation cycle, main long-term changes in cotton (*Gossypium*) are progressive leaf dehydration and consequent stomatal closure. During this drying period, if the leaf continues to absorb the same amount of energy throughout the cycle, it will heat up gradually. Consequently, a long-term measurement of leaf temperature (T_L) is an indirect guide to stomatal aperture and might serve as an indicator of the need for irrigation. A simultaneous measurement of air temperature (T_A) would help computing leaf-air temperature differences ($\Delta T = T_L - T_A$). These differences could be related to soil water depletion. But he also opined that other factors like air temperature, vapour pressure, wind speed, radiation and leaf resistance would be intimately related to transpiration and stomatal aperture and thus could regulate leaf temperature (T_L). It was evident from the study of Linacre (1967) that the leaf and air temperature are highly correlated. He suggested that the plants had an optimum temperature for growth. When the air temperature falls below the optimum temperature, the plant canopy will become warmer than air. If the air temperature is above the optimum value, the plant canopy will be cooler than air. Several authors have referred it as "equality temperature" or "crossover temperature". Blad and Rosenberg (1976) observed that the crossover temperature varies widely under advective conditions in case of alfalfa and corn. The effects of environmental factors on T_L must be determined or held constant before T_L or ΔT data can be used for irrigation scheduling.

Quantification of plant stress through infrared thermometry was first demonstrated by Idso et al. (1977) and Jackson et al. (1977). They proposed that the difference between the temperature of a plant canopy and the temperature of the surrounding air $(T_C - T_A)$ might be an indicator of the water status of wheat, since water stress induces partial closure of stomata and reduces transpiration. This allows sunlit leaves to warm above ambient air temperature as it absorbs energy from the sun. They quantified the crop water stress in terms of stress degree day (SDD) which may be defined as the summation of canopy-air temperature difference $(T_C - T_A)$ over some critical period in the life cycle of crop much like the concept of growing degree day (GDD).

$$SDD = \sum_{n=i}^{N} (T_c - T_c)_i$$
(14.5)

where "*i*" to "*N*" is the period under study. The $T_C - T_A$ should be recorded during mid-afternoon (about 2 p.m.), and the air temperature was defined as the temperature measured at 150 cm above the soil.

Idso et al. (1977, 1978) applied the concept of SDD to yield prediction. They have considered the period between the appearance of heads and awns to the end of plant growth as the critical period for SDD summation for grain crop like wheat, while for a forage crop such as alfalfa, the dry matter production per unit leaf area was a linear function of SDD summed over the entire period of vegetative growth.

Jackson et al. (1977) applied the concept of SDD to irrigation scheduling and provided the framework for possible automation of irrigation scheduling applying the concept of SDD over larger areas by using airborne thermal scanner measurements.

Reginato et al. (1978) successfully applied the concept of stress degree day to alfalfa, for predicting its forage yield as well as grain yield. Walker and Hatfield (1979) obtained an inverse relationship between SDD and final yield of beans. Helyes et al. (2006) also observed that the accumulated SDD during flowering season had inverse relationship with the yield of snap bean. They opined that each 1 degree higher SDD might cause 90–130 kg ha⁻¹ yield loss. All these studies showed that the SDD model illustrated the effect of moisture stress on eventual yield of crop.

Idso et al. (1981) presented $T_C - T_A$ and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) data for several crops and showed that the relationship between $T_C - T_A$ and VPD, for wellwatered crops under clear-sky conditions, was linear. Diaz et al. (1983) noted that evapotranspiration was inversely and linearly related to the cumulative SDD values for a variety of crops grown under water-stressed conditions. Canopy to air temperature difference is also correlated to soil moisture content and stem water potential of peach orchards (Wang and Gartung 2010).

14.5.2 Temperature Stress Day (TSD)

The difference between canopy temperature of stressed and non-stressed plants has also been used as an index to quantify moisture stress. The earlier studies of Tanner (1963) revealed a possible maximum temperature difference of 3 °C between irrigated and unirrigated potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) due to stomatal closure. Gardner et al. (1981a) suggested that a relative measure of plant water status can be obtained from the temperature difference between a well-watered plot and a stressed plot. They referred this temperature difference to as "temperature stress day" (TSD). Irrigations could be initiated when the stress plot reached a predetermined temperature above the well-watered crop. They found parabolic curve between difference in leaf water potential ($\Delta \psi$) and difference in canopy temperature between stressed and non-stressed plant (TSD) of grain sorghum. During initial phases of moisture stress, the transpiration is reduced leading to increase in canopy temperature and thereby increase in TSD up to a value of about 4 °C. Beyond that point, transpiration from the stressed plants is restricted sufficiently to cause a slight increase in the leaf water potential (ψ) , but at the same time, TSD continued to increase because transpiration was restricted and more of the absorbed radiation caused heating of the plant. However, the stress was not always indicated in sorghum whenever the TSD was greater than 0, since the TSD of non-stressed crop varied about mean 0 and standard deviation of 0.3. Clawson and Blad (1982) used TSD values of 1.0–3.0 to initiate irrigation of corn. Gardner et al. (1981b) also correlated corn grain yields with TSD of plants grown under several irrigation regimes and successfully used daily midday TSD values during the pollination and grain-filling stages to predict grain yield with an accuracy of $\pm 10\%$.

The appealing simplicity of the TSD was that it only required simultaneous measurement of canopy temperatures of a stressed and a well-watered field of same crop and soil type. No other measurements of other atmospheric or plant parameters were required to calculate TSD. However, Clawson et al. (1989) suggested that the TSD is not an environmentally independent index, it has strong dependency with the vapour pressure deficit of air, and thus it cannot be universally applied.

14.5.3 Canopy Temperature Variability (CTV)

Studies on canopy temperature have revealed that the spatial variability of canopy temperature in water-stressed crop was higher than that of non-stressed crop (Gardner et al. 1981b; Clawson and Blad 1982; Nielsen and Gardner 1987). This formed the basis of the "canopy temperature variability" (CTV) approach as a tool for determining crop water stress. However, the CTV approach was originally suggested by Aston and Van Bavel (1972). They found that the standard deviations of the canopy temperature were 0.3 °C for well-watered corn plots, while it was about 4.2 °C for water-stressed plots. The large variation in canopy temperature as a result of changing environmental factors (e.g. air temperature and radiation) suggested the use of in-field temperature variations due to differential drying of non-homogeneous soil as an indicator of plant water status.

Gonzalez-Dugo et al. (2006) made a detailed study on applicability of CTV concept to different levels of moisture stress and observed that at low moisture stress CTV in field was relatively small, whereas at moderate stress level, CTV was highly sensitive to water stress. However, at high stress level, assessment of moisture stress from CTV was poor and not recommendable. The major limitation of CTV concept is that the degree of uniformity of the root zone water availability of the field might differ from one another. This makes the application of threshold value (of CTV) or its empirical relationship with other stress indices difficult.

14.5.4 Time-Temperature Threshold (TTT)

The TTT method assumes that stress is not occurring in the crop until it reaches the temperature threshold or $T_{critical}$ and calculates the amount of time that canopy temperature (T_c) is greater than $T_{critical}$. Upchurch et al. (1996) received US patent no. 5,539,637 for an irrigation management system that was based on this optimal leaf temperature for enzyme activity and a climate-dependant time threshold. They termed it as "temperature-time threshold" (TTT) method of irrigation scheduling. In this approach, every minute the canopy temperature exceeds, the threshold temperature is added up to get cumulative value of TTT. An irrigation of a fixed depth is scheduled when the TTT exceeds the time threshold at the end of the day. The TTT approach can be mathematically expressed as

$$TTT = \sum_{h=0}^{24} h, \text{ when } T_c > T_{critical}$$
(14.6)

The TTT approach has been successfully applied as a precision irrigation scheduling tool. The "Biologically Identified Optimal Temperature Interactive Console (BIOTIC)" is an irrigation protocol that provides irrigation scheduling based upon measurements of canopy temperatures and the temperature optimum of the crop species of interest. The BIOTIC protocol has been demonstrated to be an effective irrigation scheduling method for several crop species in both semiarid and humid environments (Mahan et al. 2005). However, it requires real-time monitoring of canopy temperature and judicious selection of critical temperature which is expected to be crop, climate and growth specific. Wanjura et al. (1995) described three methods for the determination of time thresholds: (1) empirical method based on field testing of multiple time thresholds for irrigation and the selection of the threshold that optimized crop performance, (2) empirical analysis of historical crop canopy temperatures for a crop grown under well-watered conditions and (3) theoretical determination of canopy temperatures of well-watered crop from energy balance analysis.

14.5.5 Crop Water Stress Index (CWSI)

The canopy temperature-based variables, namely, CATD (or SDD), CTV or TSD, as discussed earlier are aimed at normalizing canopy temperature with the air temperature. However, the evapotranspirative demand that determines the water stress in crop plant to a considerable extent is regulated by vapour pressure deficit of ambient air. The crop water stress index (CWSI) is a promising tool that further normalizes CATD with vapour pressure deficit (VPD) to quantify crop water stress (Jackson et al. 1981; Idso et al. 1981; Idso 1982; Jackson 1982). The calculation of CWSI is based on two baselines: the non-water-stressed baseline represented by a fully watered crop and the maximum stressed baseline, which corresponds to a non-transpiring crop where the stomata are assumed to be fully closed. The crop water stress index (CWSI) is conceptualized as the ratio of the distance of an actual T_c-T_a data point above the non-stressed baseline to the distance from the baseline to the upper limit, at a given VPD. Thus, a non-stressed plant had a CWSI value equals to 0, while that of a fully stressed non-transpiring crop had a CWSI value of 1.0.



According to Idso's definition (Idso et al. 1981), the CWSI can be expressed as

$$CWSI = \frac{(T_c - T_a) - D_2}{D_1 - D_2}$$
(14.7)

where D_1 is the maximum value of canopy and air temperature difference for a fully stressed crop (the maximum stressed baseline), D_2 the lower limit canopy and air temperature difference for a well-watered crop (the non-water-stressed baseline), T_c the measured canopy surface temperature (°C) and T_a the air temperature (°C).

There are two popular approaches to define non-water-stressed baselines for determination of CWSI. One is the empirical approach given by Idso et al. (1981), in which the empirical relationship between the canopy-air temperature differences $(T_c - T_a)$ and the vapour pressure deficit (VPD) is established from field measurements under different environmental conditions for a well-watered crop. The other approach by Jackson (1982) is based on the theoretically derived relationship between $T_c - T_a$ and VPD following one-layer canopy energy balance model.

14.5.5.1 Empirical Approach

Following Idso's approach, the empirical formula for non-water-stressed baseline is represented as

$$\mathbf{D}_2 = \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}.\mathbf{VPD} \tag{14.8}$$

where VPD is the air vapour pressure deficit (in Pa), A is the intercept and B is the slope of the linear regression equation of the lower limit canopy and air temperature difference and the vapour pressure deficit. Idso (1982) has given the regression coefficients of non-water-stressed baselines for 26 different plant species for clear-sky conditions and for 6 of these plants, including one aquatic species he had also given the regression coefficients under cloudy or shaded conditions.

The water-stressed baseline (D1) is a line plotted parallel to the x-axis with the assumption that the CATD remains unaltered by the changes in VPD under maximum possible stress when the transpiration is completely stopped. It has been observed from VPD vs CATD regression line given by several researchers for different crops that the canopy temperature is equal to the atmospheric temperature when the atmosphere is completely saturated (i.e. VPD = 0) as implied by positive value of the intercepts in the regression lines. This prompted Idso et al. (1981) to assume that even under completely saturated atmospheric condition, a positive vapour pressure gradient will exist between the foliage and the air, and thus, the transpiration from the plant canopy will not be fully suppressed. They have suggested extrapolating the VPD-CATD regression line beyond the atmospheric saturation level into the negative VPD zone until it reaches the point where atmospheric vapour pressure is equal to the canopy vapour pressure. The CATD at that point is referred to as the water-stressed baseline.

14.5.5.2 Theoretical Approach

The computation of CWSI according to Jackson et al. (1981) is based on theoretically derived relationship between Tc – Ta and VPD based on the one-layer canopy energy balance model. Jackson's derivation of CWSI is explained here for detailed understanding.

The energy balance of a crop canopy is explained according to Monteith (1973) as

$$Rn = G + H + \lambda E \tag{14.9}$$

where Rn = net radiation, G = ground heat flux, H = sensible heat flux and E = latent heat flux (all expressed in W m⁻²).

The storage energy is neglected in the present derivation. The flux components H and E can be expressed in simple forms as

$$H = \rho C_p \frac{T_c - T_a}{r_a}$$
(14.10)

$$\lambda E = \frac{\rho C_p}{\gamma} \frac{e_c^* - e_a}{(r_a + r_c)} \tag{14.11}$$

where $\rho = air density (kg m^{-3})$, $C_p = heat capacity of air (J kg^{-1} \circ C^{-1})$, $T_C = surface (canopy) temperature (°C)$, $T_a = air temperature (°C)$, $e_c^* = saturated vapour pressure (Pa) at T_c$, $e_a = vapour pressure (Pa) of air$, $r_a = aerodynamic resistance (s m^{-1}) and r_c = canopy resistance (s m^{-1}) to vapour transport. Combining Eqs. (14.9), (14.10) and (14.11), assuming G is negligible and defining <math>\Delta = slope$ of saturation vapour pressure temperature relation ($e_c^* - e_a^*$)/($T_c - T_a$) expressed in Pa °C⁻¹, the canopy-air temperature difference can be written as

$$T_{c} - T_{a} = \frac{r_{a}Rn}{\rho C_{P}} \cdot \frac{\gamma(1 + r_{c}/r_{a})}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + r_{c}/r_{a})} - \frac{VPD}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + r_{c}/r_{a})}$$
(14.12)

where VPD = vapour pressure deficit of air = saturated vapour pressure (e_a^*) – actual vapour pressure (e_a) of air.

Equation 14.12 relates T_c-T_a to the vapour pressure deficit of air. The upper limit of T_c-T_a (water-stressed baseline) can be obtained from Eq. (14.4) by setting $r_c\to\infty$ as

$$D_1 = \frac{r_a R n}{\rho C_P}.\tag{14.13}$$

The lower limit of $T_c - T_a$ (non-stressed base line) may be defined from Eq. (14.12) by setting $r_c = r_{cp}$. The canopy resistance at potential evapotranspiration (r_{cp}) is probably not zero (van Bavel and Ehrler 1968). Thus the lower limit (non-stressed baseline) is defined as

$$D_2 = \frac{r_a R_n}{\rho. C_p} \cdot \frac{\gamma (1 - r_{cp}/r_a)}{\Delta + \gamma (1 - r_{cp}/r_a)} - \frac{VPD}{\Delta + \gamma (1 - r_{cp}/r_a)}$$
(14.14)

Equation 14.14 represents the linear relation between vapour pressure deficit of air ($e_a^* - e_a$) and canopy-air temperature difference ($T_c - T_a$) under certain values of r_{cp} and r_a . Since Δ appears in intercept and slope, both the terms are temperature dependent. Thus, the lower limit is temperature dependent.

For simplifying the derivation of CWSI, Jackson et al. (1981) used a measure of the ratio of actual to potential evapotranspiration (E/E_p) taking into consideration of the Penman-Monteith equation of potential evapotranspiration (E).

$$\lambda E = \frac{\Delta Rn + \rho C_p (e_a^* - e_a) / r_a}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + r_c / r_a)}$$
(14.15)

The ratio of actual and potential evapotranspiration, thus, can be written as

$$\frac{E}{E_p} = \frac{\Delta + \gamma \left(1 + r_{cp}/r_a\right)}{\Delta + \gamma \left(1 + r_c/r_a\right)}$$
(14.16)

where r_{cp} is canopy resistance at the rate of potential evapotranspiration. The value of E/E_p ratio is assumed to vary from 0 (no available water where $r_c \rightarrow \infty$) to 1 (ample available water where $r_c = r_{cp}$). Thus the CWSI is defined as

$$CWSI = 1 - \frac{E}{E_p} = \frac{\gamma(1 + r_c/r_a) - \gamma(1 + r_{cp}/r_a)}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + r_c/r_a)}$$
(14.17)

Now for calculation of *CWSI*, it is important to quantify the resistance terms r_a , r_c and r_{cp} . The r_a is calculated by the following Monteith (1973) equation when the wind speed is >2 ms⁻¹.

$$r_a = \begin{cases} \frac{\ln\left[(z-d)/z_0\right]/K\}^2}{u} & (14.18) \end{cases}$$

When the winds peed is $\leq 2 \text{ ms}^{-1}$, r_a is calculated following Thom and Oliver (1977) wind function derived for the Penman's evaporation equation.

$$r_a = 4.72 \left[\frac{\ln \left(z - d \right) / z_0 \right]^2}{1 + 0.54u}$$
(14.19)

where z is the reference height (2 m), d the displacement height (m), z_0 the roughness length (m), k the von Karman constant (0.41) and u the wind speed (m s⁻¹). The roughness length and zero plane displacement can be derived as functions of the crop height (h). A convenient value of d and z_0 may be assumed as 0.56 h and 0.13 h, respectively, following Legg and Long (1975).

Equation 14.9 requires the value of r_c/r_a which can be obtained by rearranging Eq. 14.4 as follows:

$$\frac{\mathbf{r}_{c}}{\mathbf{r}_{a}} = \frac{\gamma \mathbf{r}_{a} \mathbf{R} n / (\rho \mathbf{C}_{P}) - (\mathbf{T}_{c} - \mathbf{T}_{a}) (\Delta + \gamma) - \mathbf{V} P \mathbf{D}}{\gamma \left[(\mathbf{T}_{c} - \mathbf{T}_{a}) - \mathbf{r}_{a} \mathbf{R} n / (\rho \mathbf{C}_{P}) \right]}$$
(14.20)

The canopy resistance at potential evapotranspiration (r_{cp}) is approximated by Jackson et al. (1981) iteratively by adjusting r_{cp} until the CWSI value obtained near zero after a fresh irrigation. This was a one-time approximation.

Later on, a baseline was proposed by Alves and Pereira (2000), which evaluated the radiometric surface temperature of fully transpiring crop in Jackson's definition as a "surface wet bulb temperature" and thus avoided the use of the surface resistances of crop. They assumed that the infrared surface temperature of fully transpiring crops can be regarded as a surface wet bulb temperature (T_{sw}) expressed as follows:

$$T_{sw} = \frac{\gamma}{\Delta + \gamma} \cdot \frac{r_a \left(R_n - G\right)}{\rho \cdot C_p} + T_w$$
(14.21)

where T_w is the wet bulb air temperature (°C).

So, the non-water-stressed baseline can be expressed as

$$D_2 = \frac{\gamma}{\Delta + \gamma} \cdot \frac{r_a \left(R_n - G\right)}{\rho \cdot C_p} + T_w - T_a$$
(14.22)

Equation 14.22 can be written as

$$D_{2} = \frac{\gamma}{\Delta + \gamma} \cdot \frac{r_{a} (R_{n} - G)}{\rho \cdot C_{p}} + \frac{VPD}{\Delta + \gamma}$$
(14.23)

Comparing Eq. 14.23 with Eq. 14.14, it can be found that the contribution of ground heat flux (G) is ignored in Jackson's approach and that in Alves' definition, the crop minimum surface resistance (r_{cp}) is set to zero.

14.5.5.3 Field Application of CWSI

The preliminary evaluation of CWSI based on field data of winter wheat (Jackson et al. 1981) showed that after each irrigation, the CWSI gradually increased with time roughly in parallel with the trend of extractable water used. They found that the CWSI did not reach its lowest value immediately after irrigation. Instead, it required 5–6 days for CWSI to reach minimum value implying that the stressed wheat required some time to recover. Again, at the senescence stage, the canopy temperature remained high even though the extractable water used were low.

Hatfield (1983) obtained extremely good fit while studying the relation of accumulated CWSI values with available water extracted by grain sorghum and

concluded that canopy temperature can be correlated with soil-water availability in some circumstances without additional data such as spectral reflectance. Keener and Kircher (1983) studied the relationship of SDD, CWSI (empirical) and CWSI (theoretical) with yield and kernel number of maize and found that in the humid condition, the SDD index showed no relationship with yield, whereas the CWSI (theoretical) gave the best relation with both yield and kernel number.

However, Kelly (1989) found poor correlation of CWSI (theoretical) with the water use by turf grass in the lysimetric study, and he attributed the mismatch to the measurement constraint associated with smaller field of view of the IR thermometer, rapid fluctuation of environmental parameters like net radiation, air temperature, wind speed and VPD and the probable error in estimation of aerodynamic resistance.

Taghvaeian et al. (2012) applied the CWSI model to predict the moisture content of the thin layer of topsoil of irrigated maize and obtained strong relationship between them with a high coefficient of determination. The empirical CWSI approach was accurate in computing crop water use as the physically based and more computationally intense remotely sensed surface energy balance (RSEB) model implemented in this study.

Agam et al. (2013) compared the theoretical and empirical CWSI models in their study on olive tree. The empirical CWSI differentiated between the well-watered and the stressed trees and depicted the water status dynamics both during the drought and recovery periods and on a diurnal scale. In contrast, the theoretically derived CWSI failed to capture the dynamics on both time scales. They attributed the failure of theoretical CWSI to the misrepresentation of the aerodynamic resistance to sensible heat transport in olive.

Alderfasi and Nielsen (2001) demonstrated the application of CWSI (empirical) to irrigation scheduling of wheat. However, they found that the data from a singleday measurement might not be enough to determine non-water-stressed baselines and proposed that for wheat crop, a distinctly different baseline should be used for pre-head and for post-head growth stages.

Çolak et al. (2015) used CWSI for irrigation scheduling of eggplant and concluded that the eggplant should be irrigated at CWSI values between 0.18 and 0.20 for high and good quality yields. They also found significant linear relations between the yield and CWSI under different irrigation treatments.

Colak and Yazar (2017) applied the CWSI approach for irrigation scheduling of grape vine. They determined lower (non-stressed) and upper (stressed) baselines empirically from measurements of Tc, Ta and VPD values and calculated the CWSI for each irrigation treatment. They found significant linear relations between the grapevine yield and CWSI and concluded that grapevine should be irrigated at CWSI values between 0.20 for high- and good-quality yields.

14.5.5.4 Critical Issues in Application of CWSI Approach

The CWSI has been considered as a promising tool for the quantification of crop water stress (Jackson et al. 1981). However, there are some critical issues which must be addressed for successful application of CWSI model at field scale.

14.5.5.4.1 Measurement Complexity

Even though CWSI seems to be scientifically sound, the greatest limitation of its application by any of the approach is the concurrent measurement of air temperature and humidity (in Idso's approach) and additional parameters like wind speed, net radiation (in Jackson or Alves and Pereira approach) and then estimation of the baselines. The whole process is too complex to be applied at farmers' level.

14.5.5.4.2 The Resistance Terms

Jackson's approach requires aerodynamic and canopy resistance among other parameters. Précised estimation of canopy and aerodynamic resistance is difficult. The aerodynamic resistance is highly variable with time and space, and it depends on both wind speed and temperature profile, specifically in a thermally stratified layer. However, for practical purpose, such complexity has been avoided by Alves and Pereira in the modified form of Jackson's approach. Alves and Pereira (2000) have simplified Jackson's approach by assuming crop minimum surface resistance at potential evapotranspiration (r_{cp}) to be zero. Though this assumption seems to be an oversimplification, it helps to avoid the difficulty of estimating the critical parameter r_{cp} .

14.5.5.4.3 Definition of Baseline

Defining water-stressed and non-stressed baseline has been the most critical step in CWSI approach. Alves and Pereira (2000) were of the view that the Idso's baseline has to be determined experimentally, which precludes its applicability to different climatic conditions (other places, other times of the day). Several other workers have recommended that the non-stressed baseline of Idso's empirical approach is specific to crop, growth stage and climate (Alderfasi and Nielsen 2001; DeJonge et al. 2015).

Jackson's approach on the other hand is based on the theoretical relationship among the microclimatic parameters in respect of vapour diffusion at stomata level to transport of vapour in the lower boundary layer, both driven by energy balance and aerodynamic process as well as supply of soil moisture. There are set of parameters either to be measured or estimated or assumed to be constant. Yuan et al. (2004) compared the CWSI computed by Idso's approach with that of Jackson's approach and Alves' approach in their study on winter wheat in China. They are of the view that the empirical CWSI based on Idso's approach may not be always applicable for evaluating water stress of winter wheat as the CWSI showed large fluctuations and frequently recorded the value outside the range of 0.0-1.0. The Jackson's approach was shown to be more reasonable to quantify the crop water stress, while the Alves' approach would be more practical for determining CWSI because it did not require the estimation of the crop canopy surface resistance. Again, because CWSI values based on Jackson's definition were different from that of Alves' definition for the same water stress degree, appropriate threshold CWSI should be considered when they are used for irrigation scheduling.

14.5.5.4.4 Vegetation Fraction and Exposure of Soil Surface

The system of canopy temperature measurement is applied for the crop canopy that fully covered the background soil. However, the soil surface often dries up after few days of irrigation and offers a warmer surface though the sub-surface has abundant moisture to support evapotranspiration at a rate reasonably close to potential evapotranspiration. Thus, the soil background included in surface temperature measurement can lead to false indication of water stress, especially when the surface soil is dried up.

14.5.6 Water Deficit Index (WDI)

To overcome the limitation of CWSI under fractional canopy coverage, Moran et al. (1994) conceptualized water deficit index (WDI) that uses surface-air temperature difference and vegetation index to estimate relative water status of a field. They assumed a trapezoid by taking four vertices as well-watered full canopy-covered crop, wet bare soil, non-transpiring fully covered crop (fully stressed) and dry bare soil in a scattered plot of percentage canopy cover versus surface-air temperature difference. The WDI was computed similar that of CWSI as the ratio of the displacement of CATD of the target plot from fully stressed line to the difference between fully stressed and non-stressed line as demonstrated in the given diagram. The possible error due to exposure of soil background, whose temperature would be different from that of the plant surface, is overcome in WDI approach. The concept of water deficit index is illustrated in the figure.



Canopy-air temperature difference

The WDI concept is being widely used for satellite-based determination of crop water stress, where the vegetation cover is approximated by the remote sensingbased vegetation indices like normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) or soiladjusted vegetation index (SAVI) or surface albedo. Both canopy temperature (land surface temperature, LST) and air temperature can also be derived from thermal remote sensing (Moran et al. 1994; Petropoulos et al. 2009).

14.6 Conclusion

The application of thermal indices involving canopy temperature for monitoring crop water stress and irrigation scheduling has been demonstrated by several researchers in the last four decades since the evolution of portable infrared thermometers in the 1960s. The researchers have developed different scientific tools for normalizing the influence of other variable microclimatic parameters like vapour pressure deficit, air temperature, wind speed, solar radiation, etc. While the simple indices like stress degree day (SDD), temperature stress day (TSD), canopy temperature variability (CTV), etc. provide quick and non-destructive assessment of crop water stress, the crop water stress index (CWSI) has been demonstrated as a promising tool to give crop moisture stress with due consideration of energy balance and evaporative demand of the atmosphere. These indices have shown good correlation with crop yield. The integration of percent vegetation coverage and canopy temperature as demonstrated in water deficit index (WDI) compensates the effect of soil background that interferes in the remote measurement of canopy temperature through infrared thermometry. However, few issues like the requirement of stress at particular phenophases of some crops, crop to crop variability in stress tolerance and rapid fluctuation in radiation and wind speed have limited the large-scale application of these tools in irrigation scheduling. The thermal indices have wide scope of application as precision irrigation scheduling tools. With advancement of satellitebased optical and thermal remote sensing, the importance of thermal indices for stress monitoring has increased in recent years.

References

- Agam N, Cohen Y, Berni JAJ, Alchanatis V, Kool D, Dag A, Yermiyahu U, Ben-Gal A (2013) An insight to the performance of crop water stress index for olive trees. Agric Water Manag 118:79–86
- Alderfasi AA, Nielsen DC (2001) Use of crop water stress index for monitoring water status and scheduling irrigation in wheat. Agric Water Manag 47:69–75
- Alves I, Pereira LS (2000) Non-water-stressed baselines for irrigation scheduling with infrared thermometers: a new approach. Irrig Sci 19:101–106
- Aston AR, Van Bavel CHM (1972) Soil surface water depletion and leaf temperature. Agron J 64 (3):368–373
- Blad BL, Rosenberg NJ (1976) Measurement of crop temperature by leaf thermocouple, infrared thermometry, and remotely sensed thermal imagery. Agron J 68:635–641
- Clawson KL, Blad BL (1981) Infrared thermometry for scheduling irrigation of corn. Agron J 74:313–316
- Clawson KL, Blad BL (1982) Infrared thermometry for scheduling irrigation of corn. Agron J 74:313–316

- Clawson KL, Jackson RD, Pinter PJ Jr (1989) Evaluating plant water stress with canopy temperature differences. Agron J 81:858–863
- Colak YB, Yazar A, Colak I, Akca H, Duraktekin G (2015) Evaluation of Crop Water Stress Index (CWSI) for eggplant under varying irrigation regimes using surface and subsurface drip systems. Agric Agric Sci Procedia 4:372–382
- Çolak YB, Yazarb A (2017) Evaluation of crop water stress index on Royal table grape variety under partial root drying and conventional deficit irrigation regimes in the Mediterranean Region. Sci Hortic 224:384–394
- Correia MJ, Coelho D, David MM (2001) Response to seasonal drought in three cultivars of *Ceratonia siliqua*: leaf growth and water relations. Tree Physiol 21:645–653
- DeJonge KC, Taghvaeian S, Trout TJ, Comas LH (2015) Comparison of canopy temperature-based water stress indices for maize. Agric Water Manag 156:51–62
- Diaz RA, Matthias AD, Hanks RJ (1983) Evapotranspiration and yield estimation of spring wheat from canopy temperature. Agron J 75:805–810
- Ehrler WL, Idso SB, Jackson RD, Reginato RJ (1978) Wheat canopy temperature: relation to plant water potential. Agron J 70:251–256
- Erhler WL (1973) Cotton leaf temperatures as related to soil water depletion and meteorological factors. Agron J 65(3):404-409
- Gardner BR, Blad BL, Garrity DP, Watts DG (1981a) Relationships between crop temperature, grain yield, evapotranspiration and phenological development in two hybrids of moisture stressed sorghum. Irrig Sci 2:213–224
- Gardner BR, Blad BL, Watts DG (1981b) Plant and air temperatures in differentially irrigated corn. Agric Meteorol 25:207–217
- Gates DM (1980) Biophysical ecology. Springer, New York
- González-Dugo MP, Moran MS, Mateos L, Bryant R (2006) Canopy temperature variability as an indicator of crop water stress severity. Irrig Sci 24(4):233–240
- Hatfield JL (1983) The utilization of thermal infrared radiation measurements from grain sorghum as a method of assessing their irrigation requirements. Irrig Sci 3:259–268
- Helyes L, Pek Z, McMichael B (2006) Relationship between the stress degree day index and biomass production and the effect and timing of irrigation in snap bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* var. Nanus) stands: results of a long term experiments. Acta Bot Hungar 48(3–4):311–321
- Idso SB (1982) Non-water-stressed baselines: a key to measuring and interpreting plant water stress. Agric Meteorol 27:59–70
- Idso SB, Jackson RD, Reginato RJ (1977) Remote sensing of crop yields. Science 196:19-25
- Idso SB, Jackson RD, Reginato J (1978) Remote sensing for agricultural water management and crop yield prediction. Agric Water Manag 1:299–310
- Idso SB, Jackson RD, Pinter PJ Jr, Reginato RJ, Hatfield JL (1981) Normalizing the stress degree day for environmental variability. Agric Meteorol 24:45–55
- Jackson RD (1982) Canopy temperature and crop water stress. Adv Irrig 1:43-85
- Jackson RD, Reginto RJ, Idso SB (1977) Wheat canopy temperature: a practical tool for evaluating water requirements. Water Resour Res 13:51–656
- Jackson RD, Pinter Jr PJ, Reginato RJ, Idso SB (1980) Hand-held radiometry. Agricultural Reviews Manuals ARM-W-19, United States Department of Agriculture, Science and Education Administration, Western Region, Oakland
- Jackson RD, Idso SB, Reginato RJ, Pinter PJ Jr (1981) Canopy temperature as a crop water stress indicator. Water Resour Res 17:1133–1138
- Keener ME, Kircher PL (1983) The use of canopy temperature as an indicator of drought stress in humid regions. Agric Meteorol 28:339–349
- Kelly HL (1989) Remote measurement of turf water stress and turf biomass. Dissertation, The University of Arizona
- Kimes DS, Idso SB, Pinter PJ Jr, Reginato RJ, Jackson RD (1980) View angle effects in the Radiometric measurement of plant canopy temperatures. Remote Sens Environ 10:273–284

- Kirkham MB (2005) Principles of soil and plant water relations. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam
- Kramer PJ (1983) Water relations of plants. Academic Press, New York, pp 404-406
- Legg BJ, Long LF (1975) Turbulent diffusion within a wheat canopy: II. Results and interpretation. Q I R Meteorol Soc 101:611–628
- Li L, Nielsen DC, Yu Q, Ma L, Ahuja LR (2010) Evaluating the crop water stress index and its correlation with latent heat and CO2 fluxes over winter wheat and maize in the North China plain. Agric Water Manag 97:1146–1155
- Linacre ET (1967) Further notes on a feature of leaf and air temperature. Arch Meteorol Geophys Bioklimatol Ser B 15:422–426
- Mahan JR, Burke JJ, Wanjura DF, Upchurch DR (2005) Determination of temperature and time thresholds for BIOTIC irrigation of peanut on the Southern High Plains of Texas. Irrig Sci 23:45–152
- Monteith JL, Szeicz G (1962) Radiative temperature in the heat balance of natural surfaces. Q J R Meteorol Soc 88:496–507
- Monteith JL (1973) Principles of environmental physics. Edward Arnold, London
- Moran MS, Clarke TR, Inoue Y, Vidal L (1994) Estimating crop water deficit using relation between surface-air temperature and spectral vegetation index. Remote Sens Environ 49:246–263
- Nielsen DC, Gardner BR (1987) Scheduling irrigations for corn with crop water stress index (CWSI). Appl Agric Res 2(5):295–300
- Petropoulos G, Carlson T, Wooster M, Islam S (2009) A review of Ts/VI remote sensing based methods for the retrieval of land surface energy fluxes and soil surface moisture. Prog Phys Geogr 33:224–250
- Reginato RJ (1983) Field quantification of crop water stress. Trans ASAE 26(3):0772-0775
- Reginato RJ, Idso SB, Jackson RD (1978) Estimating forage crop production: a technique adaptable to remote sensing. Remote Sens Environ 7:77–80
- Taghvaeian S, Chávez JL, Hansen NC (2012) Infrared thermometry to estimate crop water stress index and water use of irrigated maize in northeastern Colorado. Remote Sens Environ 4:3619–3637
- Tanner CB (1963) Plant temperatures. Agron J 55:210
- Testi L, Goldhamer DA, Iniesta F, Salinas M (2008) Crop water stress index is a sensitive water stress indicator in pistachio trees. Irrig Sci 26:395–405
- Thom AS, Oliver HR (1977) On Penman's equation for estimating regional evaporation. Q J R Meteorol Soc 103(436):345–357
- Turner NC (1991) Measurement and influence of environmental factors on stomatal conductance in the field. Agric For Meteorol 54:137–154
- Upchurch DR, Wanjura DF, Burke JJ, Mahan JR (1996) Biologically-identified optimal temperature interactive console (BIOTIC) for managing irrigation. US Patent 5(539):637
- Van Bavel CHM, Ehrler WL (1968) Water loss from a sorghum field and stomatal control. Agron J 60:84–86
- Walker GK, Hatfield JL (1979) Test of the stress-degree-day concept using multiple planting dates of red kidney beans. Agron J 71:967–971
- Wang D, Gartung J (2010) Infrared canopy temperature of early-ripening peach trees under post harvest deficit irrigation. Agric Water Manag 97(11):1787–1794
- Wanjura DF, Upchurch DR, Mahan JR (1995) Control of irrigation scheduling using temperaturetime thresholds. Trans ASAE 38:403–409
- Yuan G, Luo Y, Sun X, Tang D (2004) Evaluation of a crop water stress index for detecting water stress in winter wheat in the North China Plain. Agric Water Manag 64:29–40

Part IV

Stress Impacts on Agricultural Commodities: Few Case Studies



Shift in the Manifestations of Insect Pests Under Predicted Climatic Change Scenarios: Key Challenges and Adaptation Strategies

Babasaheb B. Fand, Henri E. Z. Tonnang, Santanu Kumar Bal, and A. K. Dhawan

Abstract

Climate change is now a scientifically proved, well-established and globally accepted fact. The impacts of climate change have already been observed frequently at many places in the form of rise in atmospheric CO₂ levels, increased temperatures, changing hydrological cycles and frequent occurrence of extreme weather events. The biotic communities may respond to these changes in a variety of ways. The diversity and abundance of insect pests in agroecosystems are very likely to be affected negatively under abiotically stressful environment in changing climate. Vast majority of studies have documented these effects on inhabitant biota, e.g. shift in range of geographical distributions and abundance, changes in phenology and species interactions, etc. Majority of the studies dealing with the impact of climate change on crop-insect pest interactions revealed the predominance of negative impacts of climate change on crop yields over the positive impacts. This may affect seriously the agricultural production and the livelihood of farming communities. This situation is expected to be more pronounced in tropical and subtropical countries of the world where larger proportion of work force is directly depending on climate-sensitive sectors such as agriculture, livestock and forestry. This article highlights the major changes in manifestations of insect pests of agricultural crops and their damaging activities in the context of

B. B. Fand (⊠)

H. E. Z. Tonnang CIMMYT, ICRAF House, United Nation Avenue, Gigiri, Nairobi, Kenya e-mail: h.tonnang@cgiar.org

S. K. Bal

A. K. Dhawan

Former Additional Director of Research, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

ICAR-Central Institute for Cotton Research, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

ICAR-Central Research Institute for Dryland Agriculture (CRIDA), Hyderabad, Telangana, India e-mail: santanu.bal@icar.gov.in

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_15

predicted climatic changes. Besides, discussions were also added on planning and development of adaptive strategies and robust technologies that will be effective in management of the new and emerging pest problems in agroecosystems of future.

Keywords

Abiotic and biotic stresses \cdot Climate change \cdot Climate resilience \cdot Food security \cdot Insect pests \cdot Outbreaks \cdot Sustainability

15.1 Introduction

15.1.1 The Challenge: Climate Change, Agroecosystem Functioning and Species Composition

The climate of planet Earth is changing at rates never before witnessed by its inhabitants. The climatological studies have revealed increase in global temperatures, changes in atmospheric gas composition, greater variability in precipitation and frequent occurrence of extreme weather events (IPCC 2007, 2013). According to fifth assessment report of Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, the mean surface temperature of the Earth system is predicted to rise by 2.7-4.7 °C by the end of the twenty-first century (IPCC 2013). Equally, CO₂ concentration in the atmosphere has increased dramatically from 280 ppm to 370 ppm during the past 100 years and is predicted to double in 2100 (IPCC 2014). The communities of biotic organisms are very likely to respond to these changes in a variety of ways. There exist vast majority of empirical studies documenting these effects on inhabitant biota, e.g. shift in range of geographical distributions and abundance (Parmesan and Yohe 2003; Kelly and Goulden 2008) and changes in phenology and interactions among species (Levine and Paige 2004; Roy et al. 2004; Adams et al. 2009).

The interactions between abiotic and biotic components govern the functioning and species compositions of agroecosystems. The major abiotic factors of concern are temperature, humidity, rainfall, soil factors, pollutants, etc., whereas crop plants, weeds, insect pests, pathogens, nematodes, etc., constitute the major biotic factors (Pedigo 2006; Odum and Barrett 2008). The abiotic factors, mainly the temperature and rainfall, modulate the effects of biotic stresses and are most harmful when occurring in combination (Mittler 2006; Fand et al. 2012), it can greatly influence crop growth and productivity to the extent of 80% (Oerke 2006). Climate change, an outcome of anthropogenic pressures on the environment and manifests by means of changes in hydrological cycles (Rowntree 1990; IPCC 2007, 2013) and temperature regimes (IPCC 2013), may alter the composition of agroecosystems resulting in shift of distributions and ranges of associated animal and plant species (Porter et al. 1991; Sutherst et al. 1991; NACCAP 2008). Assessment of many regional studies covering

a wide range of crops revealed that the negative impacts of climate change on crop yields are predominant than positive impacts (IPCC 2014). Thus, agriculture being a highly climate-sensitive sector, climate change may have drastic consequences for agricultural productivity worldwide through amplification of the already serious challenges like frequent weather vagaries, increased intensity of biotic and abiotic stresses and changes on the geographic distributions of species (Fand et al. 2012).

15.1.2 Insect Pests in the Era of Climate Change

Insect pests of crop plants are the real candidates most affected by global climate change due to their poikilothermic nature and inability to adjust with the changing temperature conditions (Bale et al. 2002; Petzoldt and Seaman 2010). Besides, other factors that affect spatio-temporal abundance and distribution of insects are relative humidity, wind velocity, rainfall and associated dry spells, host plant availability and their nutritional status, etc. The crop plants under abiotic stresses such as increased temperature and drought may be more susceptible to damage by insect herbivores due to biochemical changes like decreased defence compounds and increased nitrogen: carbon ratios in their leaves that result in increased palatability to insects, particularly the phloem sap feeders (White 1984; Fand et al. 2012). In this context, it is highly expected that, major drivers of climate change, i.e. elevated CO₂, increased temperature and depleted soil moisture can impact population dynamics of insect pests that enhance crop losses, significantly (Caulifield and Bunce 1994; Petzoldt and Seaman 2010). Complex physiological effects exerted by an increase of temperature and CO₂ may affect profoundly the interactions between crop plants and insect pests (Hare 1992; Caulifield and Bunce 1994; Roth and Lindroth 1995; Petzoldt and Seaman 2010; Fand et al. 2012). It has been reported that, global climate warming may lead to expansion and/or shift of the geographic ranges of insect pests (Hill and Dymock 1989; Parry and Carter 1989; Elphinstone and Toth 2008; Kroschel et al. 2014; Fand et al. 2014a, b), increased abundance of tropical insect species (Cannon 1998; Patterson et al. 1999; Bale et al. 2002; Diffenbaugh et al. 2008), decrease in the relative proportion of temperature-sensitive insect population (Petzoldt and Seaman 2010; Sharma et al. 2005, 2010), more incidence of insect transmitted plant diseases through range expansion and rapid reproduction of insect vectors (Petzoldt and Seaman 2010), increased overwintering survival due to milder winters (Harrington et al. 2001; Bale et al. 2002; Bale and Hayward 2010), increased number of generations due to accelerated growth rates and shorter generation times (Yamamura and Kiritani 1998; Bale et al. 2002; Ward and Masters 2007; Kroschel et al. 2014; Fand et al. 2014a, 2014b, 2015), increased risk of introducing invasive alien species (Sutherst et al. 1991; Mooney and Hobbs 2000; Ward and Masters 2007), breakdown of host resistance to insect pests due to increased environmental stress and reduced vigour (Rhoades 1985; Kaiser 1996; Hilder and Boulter 1999; Kranti et al. 2005; Sharma et al. 2005) and disruption of synchrony between life cycles of insect pests and their natural enemies leading to failure of biological control (Bale et al. 2002; Gutierrez et al. 2008). Thus, with changing climate it is expected that the growers of crops have to face new and intense pest problems in the years to come.

Insect pest damage is one of the limiting factors to agricultural productivity, which accounts for worldwide average yield losses to the tune of 16–18% (Oerke 2006). Abiotic environmental changes are predicted to benefit herbivorous insects resulting into increase in the number and frequency of outbreaks (Porter et al. 1991; Bale et al. 2002; Ward and Masters 2007). The spread, dispersal and invasion of agricultural pests will also be prone under climate change, and it may lead to high levels of damage to crops resulting in significant yield losses if pest management strategies to cope with the changing situations are not well in place (Estay et al. 2009; Berzitis et al. 2014; Fand et al. 2015). This may have serious consequences for agriculturally dependent economies. This chapter presents a detailed account of climate change associated challenges for crop insect pest management and also suggests the strategies for adaptation to cope with changing situations.

15.2 Predicted Shift in Pest Manifestations Under Potential Climatic Changes

15.2.1 Shift in the Range of Geographic Distribution and Abundance

The spatio-temporal distribution and abundance of organisms in nature are determined mainly by the climatic conditions of the region. Thus, every species has its unique climate envelope essential for its growth, survival and reproduction, which ultimately determines its abundance and distribution (Odum and Barrett 2008; Fand et al. 2012). Therefore, it is obvious that the future distribution and abundance of the species will be largely governed by the key elements of potential climate change, i.e. changing temperature and rainfall patterns, occurrences of frequent droughts, reduced stored soil moisture and certain extreme weather events like cyclones, storms, hailstorms, etc. (NACCAP 2008; IPCC 2013). From this it can be concluded that, the climate change may alter the future suitability of geographical areas for distribution, survival and reproduction of species due to inhospitable climatic conditions. In due course of time, the climate susceptible species may either perish locally or expand their geographical ranges to new suitable areas (Petzoldt and Seaman 2010; Fand et al. 2012).

In addition to the climatic suitability, availability of suitable hosts is the key factor determining seasonal population abundance of insect pests in agricultural ecosystems. Due to shift in cultivation areas of crop plants to higher altitudes with climatic change, the associated insect fauna are likely to be affected significantly (Thomas et al. 2004). Many studies have shown that due to rise in temperature, the insect pests may extend their geographic range from tropics and subtropics to temperate regions along with shifts in cultivation areas of their food plants (Rosenzweig et al. 2001; Parmesan and Yohe 2003; Logan et al. 2003; Elphinstone and Toth 2008; Sharma et al. 2005, 2010), resulting in increased abundance and sudden outbreak of tropical insect species at higher altitudes (Cannon 1998;

Patterson et al. 1999; Bale et al. 2002; Diffenbaugh et al. 2008; Kannan and James 2009). On the other hand, temperature increase in temperate region may affect negatively the temperature-sensitive insect population (Petzoldt and Seaman 2010; Sharma et al. 2005, 2010). Fand et al. (2014a, b, 2015) carried out a detailed analysis of climate change impact on the future distribution and damage potential of *P. solenopsis* affecting cotton in India. The authors reported that the suitability for occurrence of *P. solenopsis* will increase in geographical areas at higher latitudes with marginal increase of its abundance and damage potential. There will be a progressive increase in the abundance and damage related to *P. solenopsis* in the present distribution range, with a significant increase in tropical and subtropical cropping regions (Fig. 15.1).

15.2.2 Shift in Number of Generations per Season or Year

Due to lack of precise thermoregulation mechanisms, the developmental rate in insects is highly contingent upon external temperature conditions. It has experimentally been proved by many studies that the rate of development in insects increases with increase in temperature within the favourable limits, thus leading to reduced developmental times for completing their life cycles (Kroschel et al. 2013; Prasad et al. 2012; Fand et al. 2014a; Khadioli et al. 2014; Fand et al. 2015).

The rates of development, reproduction and survival in insects are expected to be faster under warmer temperatures of future. Thus, the time required for completion of life cycle by any given insect species will be shorter under potential climate warming conditions, enabling it to complete more number of generations than it could do so presently. Ultimately it will result in more crop damage than usually occurs (Yamamura and Kiritani 1998; Bale et al. 2002). Recent studies on temperature-dependent insect phenologies of potato tuber moth *Phthorimaea operculella* (Kroschel et al. 2013), cotton mealybug *Phenacoccus solenopsis* (Fand et al. 2014b), maize stem borer *Chilo partellus* (Khadioli et al. 2014) and common cutworm *Spodoptera litura* (Fand et al. 2015) have predicted that these pests may complete additional (with reference in the year 2000) 1–3 generations per year or season has serious implications for increased number of generations per year or solutions and suroshe 2015).

15.2.3 Shift in Manifestation of Diapause

Insects have limited ability of homeostasis with external temperature changes because of their poikilothermic nature. Hence they have developed a range of strategies for survival under stressful environments such as behavioural avoidance through migration and physiological adaptations like diapause (Bale and Hayward 2010; Fand et al. 2012). During diapause developmental activities remain







Fig. 15.1 Change in establishment and future distribution of *Phenacoccus solenopsis* in cotton production areas worldwide, based on establishment risk index (ERI) for current (**a**) and future (**b**) climatic conditions. (For more details, please see Fand et al. 2014b)

suspended, and the manifestation of diapause is primarily governed by temperature, humidity and photoperiod. Diapause plays important role in seasonal regulation of insect life cycles which enables the insects to survive under harsh environments. In insects, the diapause is of two main types: aestivation and hibernation to sustain life under high and low temperature extremes, respectively (Chapman 1998).

Global warming is occurring considerably in winter than in summer and is greatest at high latitudes, according to most of the climatological studies completed so far (IPCC 2007, 2013; IMD 2010). During past 100 years, warming in India was more pronounced during winter season, and it was the minimum and not the



Fig. 15.2 Change in number of generations per year of *Spodoptera litura* in soybean growing areas of India based on generation index (GI). (a) Current climatic conditions, (b) future climatic conditions and (c) absolute change in GI. (For more details, please see Fand et al. 2015)

maximum temperature where significant increase was observed (IMD 2010). An average temperature increase of 1–5 °C is predicted for India by the end of 2100 (De and Mukhopadhyay 1999; Lal 2003; IPCC 2007, 2013; IMD 2010). This may affect the life cycles of insects which are undergoing a winter diapause as reported by Bale and Hayward (2010). At higher temperatures, the stored nutrients get depleted rapidly due to accelerated metabolic rates which further leads to the shortening of the duration of diapause (Hahn and Denlinger 2007). The temperature warming during winters may delay the onset of diapauses in insect species. On the other hand, if temperature gets warm during summer, it may lead to early termination of diapause in insects, which can then resume their active growth and development before their normal expected timings. Thus, climate warming would increase insect survival due to low winter mortality, increased population built-up and early crop colonizations that may lead to higher crop damage (Coulson et al. 2000; Harrington et al. 2001; Konestabo et al. 2007; Bale and Hayward 2010; Sharma et al. 2005, 2010).

15.2.4 Change in Manifestations of Host Resistance to Insects

Innate ability of crop plants to tolerate the damage due to insect pests without jeopardizing their yield potential is one of the key components of eco-friendly pest management (Painter 1968; Dhaliwal and Dilavari 1993). However, certain environmental factors like temperature, sunlight, soil moisture, air pollution, etc. significantly affect the degree of the host plant resistance. The abiotically stressful environment makes the crop plants more susceptible to damage by insect pests because of weakening of their own defensive system (White 1984). The occurrence of multiple stresses together influences plant physiological processes leading to decreased growth and also changes the allocation of resources and production of secondary metabolites in plants. The morphological and physio-biochemical changes that occur in plants under stress adversely affect in addition to growth and productivity, plants' defence response to insect herbivores feeding on them (White

1984). Plants which are under temperature and drought stress may become more susceptible to attack of insect herbivores due to decreased defensive compounds and widened nitrogen/carbon ratios in their leaves. Indeed, a variability that is seen in herbivore responses to host plant conditions may be species specific and, thus, preclude us from generalizing plant responses to different types of stresses and thus herbivore-plant interactions dependent thereupon. As the insect responses to stressed host plants are largely influenced by the magnitude of stress and feeding guilds exploited by insect herbivores, the future research programmes that focus on exact relationships between level of host plant stress and consequent insect performance are essential (White 1984). While planning for the experiments, we need to take into account the diversity of plant responses to various stresses to which they are exposed and apply different responses of insects with different feeding guilds to the stressed plants.

Breakdown of host plant resistance due to increased temperature and drought stresses has been widely reported (Rhoades 1985; Sharma et al. 2005; Volney and Fleming 2000; Logan et al. 2003). The increased temperature and water stresses have been predicted to intensify the yield losses in sorghum due to increased damage by midge fly *Stenodiplosis sorghicola* (Coq.) and spotted stem borer *Chilo partellus* Swinhoe (Sharma et al. 2005). Insect-resistant transgenic crop plants are the new hope for eco-friendly integrated pest management programmes. However, environmental factors like temperature, soil moisture and plant age influence to a greater extent the expression of insect toxins in transgenic plants (Dhaliwal and Dilavari 1993; Kranti et al. 2005). High temperature is reported affecting negatively the transgene expression in Bt cotton resulting in reduced production of Bt toxins resulting in increased susceptibility to bollworms, viz. *Heliothis virescens* (F.) (Kaiser 1996), *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hubner) and *Helicoverpa punctigera* (Wallen) (Hilder and Boulter 1999).

15.2.5 Shift in Manifestation of Resource Utilization

Insects are highly specific in utilizing plant resources and have adapted themselves to particular host niche exploitation as the host plant characteristics, which have been found to influence profoundly survival, reproduction and thus the population dynamics of herbivorous insects (Ohghushi 2012). The responses of various insects to use wide and heterogeneous plant resources are generally very specific. To illustrate, the insects adapted for exploiting plant foliage can rarely switch on to flowers and pods or fruits. Likewise, insects that are internal feeders like fruit borers, stem borers and gall makers are highly specialized to utilize these plant resources. These insects have synchronized their life cycles with that of the host plants on which they are feeding. Any small change or shift in synchrony of phenological events in insects and their hosts can affect profoundly the survivorship, abundance and population dynamics of insect pests. There exist vast majority of studies investigating the effects of phenological asynchrony on insect survival (Feeny 1976; Thompson and Price 1977; Auerbach and Simberloff 1989).



Fig. 15.3 Spodoptera litura larva feeding on pods of soybean (a) and damaged pods of soybean (b)

The climate change and associated weather extremes have been predicted to cause largely the asynchrony between phenologies of the insect pests and their host plants. Undoubtedly, this may influence the insect survival and abundance. However, chances are there that the insects may also switch on to utilize the available plant resources other than their routine feeding guilds. For example, in recent surveys conducted during kharif season of 2015 in soybean areas of Vidarbha region of Maharashtra state, the first author has found surprisingly the larvae of leafeating caterpillar Spodoptera litura damaging pods of soybean (Fig. 15.3). The pest so-called leaf-eating caterpillar usually feeds on leaves and causes extensive defoliation in many crops of economic importance like tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L.), castor (Ricinus communis L.), cotton (Gossypium sp. L.), soybean (Glycine max L.), groundnut (Arachis hypogea L.), many vegetables and ornamentals (Moussa et al. 1960; Garad et al. 1984; EPPO 2013; CABI 2014). This pest is mainly defoliator and seldom reported to damage potato tubers and groundnut pods (CABI 2014). However, we could not get any published record documenting this pest damaging the pods or fruiting bodies of soybean. The reason for switching on to soybean pods by S. *litura* may be the possible life cycle asynchrony of pest insect and its host plant due to delayed monsoon and intermittent prolonged dry spells.

15.2.6 Increased Incidence of Insect-Vectored Plant Diseases

Sap-sucking insects like the aphids, whiteflies, jassids and thrips are supposed to be the major vectors for plant diseases, especially the viruses, accounting for transmission of about 90% plant virus diseases. The impact of climate change on geographic range distribution, survival and reproduction of insect vectors will ultimately determine the fate of viruses being transmitted (Petzoldt and Seaman 2010; Fand et al. 2012). Early season temperature increase leads to early colonization of aphids in

potato, thereby increasing the risk of incidence of aphid transmitted virus diseases (Robert et al. 2000).

15.2.7 Asynchrony of Natural Biological Control

Biological control involving the use of natural enemies of insect pests such as predators, parasitoids and disease-causing entomopathogens has been important component of the integrated pest management programmes. However, being tiny and delicate, natural enemies of insect pests are more sensitive to climatic extremes like heat, cold, wind and rains. The increased drier conditions under future climate change may affect the performance of entomopathogenic fungi like *Beauveria bassiana*, *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Lecanicillium lecanii*, which requires higher relative humidity for their better activity (Newton et al. 2011). Natural enemy and host insect populations may respond in different ways to changes in climate. Hosts may pass though vulnerable life stages more quickly at higher temperatures, reducing the window of opportunity for parasitism or predation which may give great set back to the survival and multiplication of dependent parasitoids and or predators, thus reducing the effectiveness of the natural biological control (Gutierrez et al. 2008; Petzoldt and Seaman 2010).

15.3 Key Challenges for Crop Growers

15.3.1 Emerging and Re-emerging Pest Problems

The spread of insect pests to new areas will pose a new challenge for the crop growers to deal with. More number of generations, increased population abundance and early crop colonizations due to shorter life cycles and early terminations of diapause under thermally stressed environments may result into increased frequency of insect outbreaks.

15.3.2 Reduced Effectiveness of Pest Management Strategies

Disruption of synchrony between insect pests and their natural enemies may upset the natural biological control of insect pests. The higher temperatures may lead to faster breakdown and dissipation of thermo-unstable chemical insecticides such as pyrethroids, organophosphates and the biopesticides rendering them less or no effective in controlling harmful pest insects. This will further lead to increased applications of insecticides and development of insect resistance.
15.3.3 Threat to Food Security for Mankind

The crop yield losses are expected to be intensified with aggravating pest problems under changing climate. Further, declining entomophilous pollination of field and horticultural crops under future climate warming is another yet important threat to sustaining the crop yields.

15.4 New Research Initiatives Required

15.4.1 Breeding Varieties that Are Resilient to the Climate Change

Development of new cultivars/varieties of crops that could sustain better under abiotically stressed environments and also resist to the attack of insect pests without jeopardizing their yield potentials is the need of hour.

15.4.2 Rescheduling of Crop Calendars

Shrinking of crop growing seasons and early crop colonizations by insect pests are likely to be more evident with the changing climatic conditions. Therefore the growers of the crops have to focus on the pest management strategies that suits better to the new situations.

15.4.3 Mapping of Pest Risks Using Geospatial Techniques

Geographic information system-based predictions and mapping of trends of potential changes in geographical distribution and delineation of agroecological hotspots and future areas of pest risk will serve as a guide to policy makers and pest management authorities in climate change adaptation planning.

15.4.4 Screening of Pesticides with Novel Mode of Actions

Exploring the chemical compounds having multiple roles such as pest control, plant growth promotion and tolerance to water and or temperature stress would be the novel approach for dealing the challenges of climate change and sustaining the crop productivity.

15.4.5 Understanding the Impacts of Climate-Related Extreme Events

Extreme events such as heat and cold waves have direct impacts on temperature values that affect insect development and their progenies. It is well known that temperatures below a certain value favour the development of males only, whereas temperatures surpassing a certain value may favour only females. Thus, changes in the incidence of extreme temperatures (high or low) through time could result in highly skewed population sex ratios. We therefore emphasize to carry out research activities to understand the effects of extreme temperature events in the overall population of insects.

15.5 Adaptation of Agriculture to Changing Pest Scenario Due to Climate

15.5.1 Stakeholder Sensitization

Organization of awareness campaigns, training and capacity building programmes, development of learning material and support guides for different risk scenarios of pest problems may be planned in order to sensitize the different stakeholders of agriculture such as farmers, extension workers, agriculture officers, etc. regarding the possible impacts of climate change on agriculture, its socio-economic consequences and adaption and mitigation strategies for the same.

15.5.2 Enhancing Adaptive Capacity of Stakeholders

The adaptive capacity of farmers could be enhanced by dissemination of knowledge and information regarding the current advances in the provision of weather and climate information and weather-based agro-advisory services for facilitating operational decisions at farm level.

15.5.3 Promotion of Resource Conservation Technologies

Conservation of natural resources can be promoted by giving incentives to the farmers those who are adopting environmental conserving pest controlling activities such as organic farming, biocontrol, integrated pest management, habitat conservation for important insect pollinators, etc.

References

- Adams HD, Guardiola-Claramonte M, Barron-Gafford GA, Villegas JC, Breshears DD, Zou CB, Troch PA, Huxman TE (2009) Temperature sensitivity of drought-induced tree mortality portends increased regional die-off under global-change-type drought. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:7063–7066
- Auerbach M, Simberloff D (1989) Oviposition site preference and larval mortality in a leaf-mining moth. Ecol Entomol 14:131–140
- Bale JS, Hayward SAL (2010) Insect overwintering in a changing climate. J Exp Biol 213:980-994
- Bale J, Masters GJ, Hodkins ID, Awmack C, Bezemer TM, Brown VK, Buterfield J, Buse A, Coulson JC, Farrar J, Good JEG, Harrigton R, Hartley S, Jones TH, Lindroth RL, Press MC, Symrnioudis I, Watt AD, Whittaker JB (2002) Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperature on insect herbivores. Glob Chang Biol 8:1–16
- Berzitis EA, Minigan JN, Hellett RH, Newman JA (2014) Climate and host plant availability impact the future distribution of the bean leaf beetle (*Cerotoma trifurcata*). Glob Chang Biol 20:2778–2792
- CABI (2014) Invasive species compendium: datasheets, maps, images, abstracts and full text on invasive species of the world. Available online at http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/44520. Accessed 28 Apr 2014
- Cannon RJC (1998) The implications of predicted climate change for insect-pests in the UK, with emphasis on non-indigenous species. Glob Chang Biol 4:785–796
- Caulifield F, Bunce JA (1994) Elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration affects interactions between Spodopteraexigua (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) larvae and two host plant species outdoors. Environ Entomol 23:999–1005
- Chapman RF (1998) The insects-structure and function, 4th edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge pp 788
- Coulson SJ, Leinaas HP, Ims RA, Sovik G (2000) Experimental manipulation of the winter surface ice laver: the effects on a High Arctic soil microarthropod community. Ecography 23:299–306
- De US, Mukhopadhyay RK (1999) Severe heat wave over the Indian subcontinent in 1998 in perspective of global climate. Curr Sci 75:1308–1315
- Dhaliwal GS, Dilawari VK (1993) Advances in host resistance to insects. Kalyani Publishers, New Delhi
- Diffenbaugh NS, Krupke CH, White MA, Alexander CE (2008) Global warming presents new challenges for maize pest management. Environ Res Lett 3:1–9
- Elphinstone J, Toth IK (2008) Erwinia chrysanthemi (Dikeya spp.) the facts. Potato Council, Oxford
- EPPO (2013) PQR database: European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization, Paris, France. Available online at http://www.eppo.int/DATABASES/pqr/pqr.htm. Accessed 28 Apr 2014
- Estay S, Lima M, Labra FA (2009) Predicting insect pest status under climate change scenarios: combining experimental data and population dynamics modelling. J Appl Entomol 133:491–499
- Fand BB, Suroshe SS (2015) The invasive mealybug Phenacoccus solenopsis Tinsley, a threat to tropical and subtropical agricultural and horticultural production systems-a review. Crop Prot 69:34–43
- Fand BB, Kamble AL, Kumar M (2012) Will climate change pose serious threat to crop pest management: a critical review? International J Sci Res Pub 2(11):51–65
- Fand BB, Tonnang HEZ, Kumar M, Kamble AL, Bal SK (2014a) A temperature-based phenology model for predicting development, survival and population growth potential of mealybug, *Phenacoccus solenopsis* Tinsley (Hemiptera: Pseudococcidae). Crop Prot 55:98–108
- Fand BB, Tonnang HEZ, Kumar M, Bal SK, Singh NP, Rao DVKN, Kamble AL, Nangare DD, Minhas PS (2014b) Predicting the impact of climate change on regional and seasonal abundance

of the mealybug *Phenacoccus solenopsis* Tinsley (Hemiptera: Pseudococcidae) using temperature-driven phenology model linked to GIS. Ecol Model 288:62–67

- Fand BB, Sul NT, Bal SK, Minhas PS (2015) Temperature impacts the development and survival of common cutworm (*Spodoptera litura*): simulation and visualization of potential population growth in India under warmer temperatures through life cycle modelling and spatial mapping. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124682
- Feeny (1976) Plant apparency and chemical defense. Recent Adv Phytochem 10:1-40
- Garad GP, Shivapuje PR, Bilapate GG (1984) Life fecundity tables of *Spodoptera litura* (F.) on different hosts. Proc Indian Acad Sci 93:29–33
- Gutierrez AP, Pointi L, d'Oultremont T, Ellis CK (2008) Climate change effects on poikilotherms tritrophic interactions. Clim Chang 87:67–92
- Hahn DA, Denlinger DL (2007) Meeting the energetic demands of insect diapause: nutrient storage and utilization. J Insect Physiol 53:760–773
- Hare JD (1992) Effects of plant variation on herbivore-natural enemy interactions. In: Fritz RS, Simms EL (eds) Plant resistance to herbivores and pathogens: ecology, evolution and genetics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp 278–298
- Harrington R, Fleming R, Woiwood IP (2001) Climate change impacts on insect management and conservation in temperate regions: can they be predicted? Agric For Entomol 3:233–240
- Hilder VA, Boulter D (1999) Genetic engineering of crop plants for insect resistance a critical review. Crop Prot 18:177–191
- Hill MG, Dymock JJ (1989) Impact of climate change: agricultural/horticultural systems. DSIR entomology division submission to the New Zealand climate change program. Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, Auckland pp 16
- IMD (2010) Annual climate summary 2010. India Meteorological Department, Pune. Government of India, Ministry of Earth Sciences, pp 27
- IPCC (2007) Climate change- impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge pp 976
- IPCC (2013) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds) Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York pp 1535
- IPCC (2014) Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of working groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK, Meyer, LA (eds)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland. pp 151
- Kaiser J (1996) Pests overwhelm Bt cotton crop. Nature 273:423
- Kannan R, James DA (2009) Effects of climate change on global diversity: a review of key literature. Trop Ecol 50:31–39
- Kelly AE, Goulden ML (2008) Rapid shifts in plant distribution with recent climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:11823–11826
- Khadioli N, Tonnang ZEH, Muchugu E, Ong'amo G, Achia T, Kipchirchir I, Kroschel J, LeRu B (2014) Effect of temperature on the phenology of *Chilopartellus* (Swinhoe) (Lepidoptera, Crambidae): simulation and visualization of the potential future distribution of *C. partellus* in Africa under warmer temperatures through the development of life-table parameters. Bull Entomol Res 104:809–822
- Konestabo HS, Michelsen A, Holmstrup M (2007) Responses of springtail and mite populations to prolonged periods of soil freeze-thaw cycles in a sub-arctic ecosystem. Appl Soil Ecol 36:136–146
- Kranti KR, Naidu S, Dhawad CS, Tatwawadi A, Mate K, Patil E, Bharose AA, Behere GT, Wadaskar RM, Kranti S (2005) Temporal and intraplant variation in Cry1Ac expression of Bt cotton and its influence on the development of cotton bollworm, *Helicovera armigera* (Hubner), (Noctuidae, Lepidoptera). Curr Sci 89:291–298

- Kroschel J, Sporleder M, Tonnang HEZ, Juarez H, Carhuapoma P, Gonzales JC, Simon R (2013) Predicting climate-change- caused changes in global temperature on potato tuber moth Phthorimaea operculella (Zeller) distribution and abundance using phenology modeling and GIS mapping. Agric For Meteorol 15:228–241
- Lal M (2003) Global climate change: India's monsoon and its variability. J Environ Stud Policy 6:1–34
- Levine MT, Paige KN (2004) Direct and indirect effects of drought on compensation following herbivory in scarlet gilia. Ecol 85:3185–3191
- Logan JA, Regniere J, Powell JA (2003) Assessing the impacts of global warming on forest pest dynamics. Front Ecol Environ 1:130–137
- Mittler R (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends Plant Sci 11:15–19
- Mooney HA, Hobbs RJ (eds) (2000) Invasive species in a changing world. Island Press, Washington, DC
- Moussa AM, Zather MA, Kothy F (1960) Abundance of cotton leaf worm, *Prodenia litura* (F) (Lepidoptera: Agrotidae Zanobiinae) in relation to host plants and their effects on biology. Bull Soc Entomol Egypt 44:241–251
- NACCAP (2008) Climate change impacts on pest animals and weeds. In: Communicating climate change. National Agriculture and climate change action plan (NACCAP). Bureau of Meteorology, Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Australian Government, Sydney, Australia, pp 1–6
- Newton AC, Johnson SN, Gregory PJ (2011) Implications of climate change for diseases, crop yields and food security. Euphytica 179:3–18
- Odum EP, Barrett GW (2008) Fundamentals of ecology, 2nd edn. Cengage Learning India Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, pp 1–10
- Oerke EC (2006) Crop losses to pests. J Agric Sci 144:31-43
- Ohgushi T (2012) Resource limitations on herbivorous populations. In: Hunter MD, Ohgushi T, Price PW (eds) Effects of resource distribution on animal plant interactions. Academic Press, Elsevier, San Diego, p 505
- Painter RH (1968) Insect resistance in crop plants. University Press of Kansas, Lawrence
- Parmesan C, Yohe G (2003) A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421:37–42
- Parry ML, Carter TR (1989) An assessment of the effects of climatic change on agriculture. Clim Chang 15:95–116
- Patterson DT, Westbrook JK, Joyce RJV, Lingren PD, Rogasik J (1999) Weeds, insects and disease. Clim Chang 43:711–727
- Pedigo LP (2006) Entomology and pest management, 4th edn. Dorling Kindersley (India) Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, pp 175–210
- Petzoldt C, Seaman A (2010) Climate change effects on insects and pathogens. Climate change and agriculture: promoting practical and profitable responses, pp 6–16 http://www. climateandfarming.org/pdfs/FactSheets/III.2Insects.Pathogens.pdf
- Porter JH, Parry ML, Carter TR (1991) The potential effects of climatic change on agricultural insect-pests. Agric For Meteorol 57:221–240
- Prasad YG, Prabhakar M, Sreedevi G, Ramachandra RG, Venkateswarlu B (2012) Effect of temperature on development, survival and reproduction of the mealybug, Phenacoccus solenopsis Tinsley (Hemiptera: Pseudococcidae) on cotton. Crop Prot 39:81–88
- Rhoades DF (1985) Offensive-defensive interactions between herbivores and plants: their relevance in herbivore population dynamics and ecological theory. Am Nat 125:205–238
- Robert Y, Woodford JAT, Ducray-Bourdin DG (2000) Some epidemiological approaches to the control of aphid-borne virus diseases in seed potato crops in northern Europe. Virus Res 71:33–47
- Rosenzweig C, Iglesias A, Yang XB, Epstein PR, Chivian E (2001) Climate change and extreme weather events. Glob Chang Hum Health 2:90–104

- Roth SK, Lindroth RL (1995) Elevated atmospheric CO2 effects on phytochemistry, insect performance and insect–parasitoid interactions. Glob Chang Biol 1:173–182
- Rowntree PR (1990) Estimate of future climatic change over Britain. Weather 45:79-88
- Roy BA, Gusewell S, Harte J (2004) Response of plant pathogens and herbivores to a warming experiment. Ecology 85:2570–2581
- Sharma HC, Dhillon MK, Kibuka J, Mukuru SZ (2005) Plant defense responses to sorghum spotted stem borer, Chilo partellus under irrigated and drought conditions. Int Sorghum and Millets Newsletter 46:49–52
- Sharma HC, Srivastava CP, Durairaj C, Gowda CLL (2010) Pest management in grain legumes and climate change. In: Yadav SS, DL MN, Redden R, Patil SA (eds) Climate change and Management of Cool Season Grain Legume Crops. Business Media, Springer Science, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 115–140
- Sutherst RW, Maywald GF, Bottomly W (1991) From CLIMEX to PESKY, a generic expert system for risk assessment. EPPO Bull 21:595–608
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE et al (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427:145–148
- Thompson JN, Price PW (1977) Plant plasticity, phenology, and herbivore dispersion: wild parsnip and the parsnip webworm. Ecology 58:1112–1119
- Volney WJA, Fleming RA (2000) Climate change and impacts of boreal forest insects. Agric Ecosyst Environ 82:283–294
- Ward NL, Masters GJ (2007) Linking climate change and species invasion: an illustration using insect herbivores. Glob Chang Biol 13:1605–1615
- White TCR (1984) The abundance of invertebrate herbivores in relation to the availability of nitrogen in stressed food plants. Oecologia 63:90–105
- Yamamura K, Kiritani K (1998) A simple method to estimate the potential increase in the number of generations under global warming in temperate zones. Appl Entomol Zool 33:289–298



Food Chains and Webs: Interaction with Ecosystem

16

Gurminder Singh Chahil, Harsimran Kaur Gill, and Gaurav Goyal

Abstract

The interactions in an ecosystem depend on the characteristics of the interacting species. Species being the smallest unit of interest in an ecosystem, it is important to understand different types of species based on the role they play. The interactions between species can be beneficial or detrimental; positive, negative, or neutral; and horizontal or vertical. Overall community structure depends on the presence of one organism affecting the other. Several factors including taxonomy, morphology, physiology, environment, food, and interacting species shape the food chains and webs within an ecosystem. Most of the studies are done up to tritrophic levels, but the concept of food webs includes multitrophic interactions which are more complex to understand. The study of biotic and abiotic factors including light, moisture, temperature, resources, species, defense barriers, and environmental conditions gives more insight into the occurrence and alterations of the interactions in an ecosystem. Keeping these points in view, the present chapter has been prepared to give an understanding of species, food chains/webs, and ecosystem.

Keywords

Food chain · Food web · Ecosystem interaction · Multitrophic interaction

G. S. Chahil

Manitoba Agriculture, Swan River, MB, Canada e-mail: gurminder.chahil@dal.ca

H. K. Gill (⊠) University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

G. Goyal Monsanto, St. Louis, MO, USA

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), *Advances in Crop Environment Interaction*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_16

16.1 Introduction

Plants are considered as the principal producers in any ecosystem, setting the stage for interactions in a community. For an ecologist, understanding the role of plants as food and habitat is important. The impact of plant characteristics is not only limited to herbivores, but toxins, attractants, and repellants may affect predators', parasites', and mutualists' activities too. These interactions are the building blocks of food chains in communities and ecosystems. A food chain, term coined and defined by Elton (1927), involves "chains of animals linked together by food, and all dependent in the long run upon plants." Food chains can be simple interactions of producerherbivore-predator/parasite, but in real life, this interaction is more complex involving a number of food chains collectively called food webs in a community, which includes intermingling of interacting species at multiple trophic levels. Food webs are progression of communities into larger components of communities where sequences of feeding interactions or food (= energy) transfer takes place from primary producers to top carnivores at different trophic levels. A food web is an interwoven complex of a number of food chains. Food webs are constantly changing in space and time, have different frequencies and interaction intensities, and are ultimately simplified to only major interactions. The study of food webs generally involves the study of simple food webs which leads to oversimplification that may be misleading.

The concept of community can be defined as "an assemblage of populations that coexist in an area" (Root 2001). The concept of community may go beyond local habitat and extend to whole taxa of plants. The smallest unit of interest within a community is generally the species, and at times these are written under different names (foundation species, core species, dominant species, keystone species, structural species, ecosystem engineers), based on particular important role they play in an ecosystem (Ellison et al. 2005).

16.2 Interactions in a Food Web

It is critical to understand the interactions among organisms in a food web since the organisms can be negatively or positively affected by the presence of other organisms in the same environment. The effect on organisms due to the presence of other organisms affects the community structure. Few of such kind of interactions are discussed below:

16.2.1 Plants and Herbivores

Plants' and herbivores' interactions can be understood easily by knowing the concepts of taxonomic and ecological diversity of insect herbivores and their adaptable feeding behaviors and plant's nutritional, structural, and chemical barriers (allelochemicals) to herbivore attack. Such information can be exploited for better

Feeding type	Feeding strategy	Parts of plant	Major insect orders
Chewing	Exophage	Exposed locations: leaves, flowers, pollen, seed heads, and fallen seeds	Lepidoptera (moths and butterflies), Coleoptera (beetles), Orthoptera (grasshoppers), Hymenoptera (sawflies and ants), and Phasmatodea (stick insects)
Chewing	Endophage	Concealed locations: within living, dying, or dead plant tissues	Lepidoptera (leaf tiers, leaf rollers, leaf miners); leaf miners (Coleoptera, Diptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera); Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, and Hymenoptera (stem borers); Coleoptera, Lepidoptera, and Hymenoptera (wood borers); Diptera and Lepidoptera (fruit borers), and Coleoptera, Lepidoptera, and Hymenoptera (seed/pod borers)
Sap feeders	Exophage	Various plant tissues	Hemiptera, Thysanoptera (phloem feeders (phloem feeders, e.g., aphids, planthoppers, treehoppers, leafhoppers, scale insects, and xylem feeders (cicadas, spittlebugs) and epidermis/mesophyll/parenchyma feeders)

Table 16.1 Classification of terrestrial insect orders based on the feeding strategy and parts of plants eaten in exposed or concealed locations

Adapted from Gullen and Cranston (2005)

management of insect pests of agricultural and forest ecosystems which will help in saving crops from herbivore damages worth billions of dollars every year. Herbivores can be categorized on the basis of their host range and number of species attacking same resource (feeding guild) and can be monophagous (specialists; feed on a single plant species or on the same genus), oligophagous (feed on several plants genera, within the same family of plants), or polyphagous (generalists; exploit plants in many families). Different factors such as mouthpart (chewing and piercingsucking), microhabitat (stems, leaves, fruits, seeds bark, dead wood, roots, detritus, and fungi), and manipulations of attacked plant materials (leaf tiers, rolling, galls, shredding, and scraping) ultimately affect feeding guilds (Tables 16.1 and 16.2).

16.2.2 Horizontal Interactions: Competition, Facilitation, and Mutualism

Interactions that occur among individuals feeding at the same trophic level are called horizontal or lateral interactions which in the case of insect herbivores can be negative (competition or amensalism), neutral, or positive (facilitation and mutualism) (Kaplan and Denno 2007). Negative interactions occur when either both species are negatively affected (-, -) as in competition or when one of the interacting

Aquatic insect			
categories	Function	Insect orders	
Shredders	Feed on living or decomposing plant tissues; break up detritus into smaller fragments, making it available for collectors	Plecoptera, Trichoptera, Coleoptera, Diptera	
Collectors	Feed on plant fragments and decomposing bits of organic matter smaller than those usually consumed by shredders		
	Filter feeders: strain minute particles from the water column	Diptera (blackfly larvae), net-building Trichoptera	
	Gatherers: feed on organic matter on the streambed	Ephemeroptera, Coleoptera, Trichoptera, Diptera	
Scrapersi	Graze on surface vegetation or on algae that is attached to submerged substrates	Ephemeroptera, Coleoptera, Trichoptera, Lepidoptera, Diptera	

Table 16.2 Classification of aquatic insect orders based on the feeding strategy and habitat

Adapted from Gullen and Cranston (2005), and Merritt and Cummins (1996)

species suffers but the other remains unaffected (-, 0) as in amensalism. Facilitation in which at least one species benefits from the interaction (+, 0) and mutualism in which both participants benefit (+, +) are types of positive interactions (Bruno et al. 2003). Begon et al. (2006) defined competition as "an interaction among individuals, generated by a shared requirement for a limited resource that leads to reduction in the growth, reproduction or survival of the individuals involved." Competition for inadequate resources such as food, shelter, and oviposition sites ultimately prevents population growth via adverse density-dependent impacts on fecundity and survival, unless limited by other climatic and biotic factors. Intraspecific competition involves interactions over a shared resource within individuals of the same species, while interspecific competition interactions occur among individuals of different species. Nicholson (1954) divided competition into exploitative (scramble) and interference (contest) competition. Exploitative competition can lead to resource depletion and occurs when different individuals have access to a limited resource. Interference competition occurs when some individuals try to access more than their share of resources and in so doing take away access of other individuals by direct killing, production of chemicals, and aggressive displacement. For example, smaller females are deprived off of oviposition sites by the larger females of the gall aphid (Pemphigus betae) on leaves of narrow leaf cottonwood (Populus angustifolia) (Whitham 1979). Quiring and McNeil (1984) also reported density-dependent interference competition in larvae of the alfalfa blotch leaf miner (Agromyza frontella (Rondani)).

Facilitation involves the significant diversity of effects in which one species may improve conditions for the member of same or different species feeding on the same food (Denno and Kaplan 2007). The combined predation rate of ground beetle (*Harpalus pennsylvanicus*) and lady beetle (*Coccinella septempunctata*) was nearly double the sum of their individual predation rates on pea aphid (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*) in a laboratory mesocosm (Losey and Denno 1998). Similarly, increased

group resistance and survivorship was reported in eusocial insects like damp wood termites (*Zootermopsis angusticollis*), when exposed to entomopathogenic fungus (*Metarhizium anisopliae*) (Traniello et al. 2002). This facilitation was attributed to the increased grooming, removal of diseased individuals from colony, and the innate and adaptive immune responses of the members of termite colony.

Mutualism involves association of two species in which both interacting species are benefitted. Such species may live in symbiotic mutualism where close association lasts through much of their lives. Most classical examples include microbial symbionts of insects such as termites and their gut microfauna (protozoan and bacteria). Mutualism is obligate when a compulsory association is required for the survival and reproduction of a species (termites and microbes). Two bacterial symbionts, a *Wolbachia* strain and an unnamed γ -proteobacterium, associated with different strains of the bedbug (*Cimex lectularius*) show obligate nutritional mutualism (Hoshokawa et al. 2010). The bedbugs were reported to have retarded growth and sterility when the symbionts were eliminated from their body. The mutualism is facultative when association is not essential for survival and reproduction. Stick insects (phasmids) and ants in Australia show facultative mutualism in which eggs of stick insect are dropped from the tree canopy to the ground. The ants are attracted to capitula on the eggs, and they carry eggs into their nests to protect them against natural enemies (Hughes and Westoby 1992).

16.2.3 Interactions Among Prey, Predator, and Parasitoid

Consumption of one living organism (the prey) by another organism (the predator) is called predation, and in this process the whole prey is killed and eaten. Usually invertebrate preys are considered as preys, but this term can also extend to plants when they are in seed or seedling stage which can be consumed as a whole. This definition distinguishes predators (e.g., beetles) from parasitoids (small wasps and flies); predators require and eat only one prey item during their life span. However on the other hand, an adult female parasitoid oviposits and is ultimately responsible for mortality of many hosts (more than one unlike predators). Parasitoids lay eggs in or on a host and are free-living as adults. After hatching in the host, larvae live parasitically in or on the host, eventually killing it. Predators are generally kept at functionally distinct levels above the prey (herbivore) but may consume not only the prey but also other predators and/or plant resources. Therefore, generalist predators are also called omnivores or the consumers that feed on multiple trophic levels. For example, generalist predator strawberry seed beetle (*Harpalus rufipes*) is omnivorous and feeds on prey including aphid, lepidopteran eggs and larvae, seeds, pods, and leaves of many plant species. Similarly, fire ants prey upon big eyed bugs (Geocoris spp.) in addition to herbivorous preys. This kind of omnivory where one predator preys upon other predators is known as intraguild predation. Another kind of predation where predators consume members of their own species is called cannibalism. Flour beetles (Tribolium spp.) and cricket (Anabrus simplex) and many other insects are known for cannibalism (Simpson et al. 2006). These

kinds of interactions increase the food webs complexity and complicate the role of predators in community dynamics.

Mostly predators are generalists, but they can also be specialists like larvae of hoverfly (*Parasyrphus nigritarsis*) which get attracted to the noxious volatile larval secretions of two prey species Brassy willow beetle (*Phratora vitellinae*) and Alder leaf beetle (*Linaeidea aenea*) (Kopf et al. 1997). Whether predators are generalists or specialists, they do affect prey populations which can be significant in some cases. Predaceous ladybird beetles (*Rodolia cardinalis*) used for biological control of cottony cushion scale (*Icerya purchasi*), an introduced pest of citrus from Australia which severely threatened the California citrus (*Citrus* spp.) industry in the late 1800s, is a classic example of pest population suppression (Caltagirone and Doutt 1989). Interactions between the predator and prey determine long-term population dynamics of each species. In this example 100 years of the study revealed that specialist predator the clerid beetle (*Thanasimus dubius*) is responsible for decreasing pine beetle (*Dendroctonus frontalis*) population, and ultimately the predator beetle also decreases in a cycle of 10 years. After some time pine beetle population recovers and so the clerid beetle population and cycle go on (Turchin et al. 1999).

16.2.4 Additive, Antagonistic, and Synergistic Interactions

In nature, prey and predators do not interact with each other individually but are nested within complex food webs of interacting species. Different predator species occurring simultaneously, within a community, can affect other interactions in a food web. The effects are additive when there is no impact and prey consumption in this case can be determined by simply adding the number of prey consumed by each predator species when present alone. For example, in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) crop in the USA, pea aphids (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*) are attacked by generalist predators like carabid beetles, bugs (*Nabis* spp. and *Orius* spp.), coccinellid beetles, web-building spiders, and specialist parasitoid wasp (*Aphidius ervi*) (Snyder and Ives 2003). Predation has been reported to have additive effects on reducing population of the aphids.

In a manipulative field experiment in artificial ponds (in the USA) antagonistic impact of larvae of a migratory dragonfly (*Tramea lacerata*) on a native dragonfly species (*Erythemis simplicicollis*), feeding on damselflies was recorded (Wissinger and McGrady 1993). The damselfly consumption by *E. simplicicollis* reduced to half in the presence of *T. lacerate*. Similarly, in a study to infest creeping thistle weed (*Cirsium arvense*), with the rust fungus (*Puccinia punctiformis*), three herbivorous insects, the aphids *Aphis fabae* and *Uroleucon cirsii* and the beetle *Cassida rubiginosa*, were released. The fungus *P. punctiformis* spore material was mechanically transported by all the three insects and also significantly increased rates of infection in healthy thistles. But the interaction between *C. rubiginosa* and the fungus was antagonistic where biomass of adults was significantly reduced and mortality increased when feeding on plants infected with *P. punctiformis* (Kluth et al. 2002).

16.2.5 Host-Parasite Interactions

A parasite can be defined as an organism living in or on another living organism, obtaining its nutrition from that host organism and causing some degree of measurable damage to the host. Parasitoids are organisms that have free-living adults that find insect hosts, on or in which they deposit eggs or living larvae. The larvae develop in a parasitic manner in the living host, whether the host continues to feed or lie in a moribund state, paralyzed by the adult parasitoid. In either case, the host is killed eventually by the parasitic stage. Therefore, the adult parasitoid results in the death of many host insects, and its actions are equivalent to those of a predator. Some of the common definitions of host-parasite/parasitoid interactions defined by Price et al. (2011) are given below:

- 1. *Autoparasite/Adelphoparasite*: Some parasites parasitize other members of the same species, as seen in the hymenopteran (*Coccophagus scutellaris*). The male is an obligate autoparasite of the female (van den Bosch et al. 1982).
- Kleptoparasite: A species that takes away food from other species (social parasitism in insects such as in cuckoo bees). True kleptoparasitism is common in parasitoids, e.g., wasp (*Argochrysis armilla*) (Rosenheim 1987).
- 3. *Hyperparasitoid*: A parasitoid that attacks a host already parasitized by a primary parasitoid and can also parasitize the primary parasitoid, e.g., wasp (*Lysibia nana*) (Harvey et al. 2007).
- Idiobiont: A parasitoid in which the host is permanently paralyzed by the adult parasitoid. The eggs hatch, and the parasitoid feeds on the moribund host, e.g., *Dendrocerus carpenter* (Hymenoptera: Ceraphronidae) (Otto and Mackauer 1998).
- 5. *Koinobiont*: A parasitoid that lives with the living host, when the host continues to feed and to defend itself, e.g., parasitic wasp (*Aphidius colemani*) (Lykouressis et al. 2009).
- 6. Multiparasitism: When host is attacked by more than one species of parasitoid.
- 7. *Parasite*: Insects that live on, or in, and feed on a single living plant or animal for long periods of time, or for most of their lives, sapping energy from the host and causing damage.
- 8. *Parasitoid*: Parasite insects feeding on a single host until maturity and kill the host eventually. Adults are free-living, finding living hosts and laying eggs in, on, or near them.
- 9. *Pathogen*: A species that causes disease in other species, usually applied to viruses, bacteria, protozoa, or fungi, whether they parasitize plants or animals.
- 10. *Superparasitism*: When more eggs are laid on or in a host than can be supported by the resources of that host. Eggs may be from the same or different species.

16.2.6 Multitrophic Interactions

Multitrophic interactions link more than two trophic (T) levels, including plants (T1), herbivores (T2), and predators, parasitoids, or pathogens (T3 and beyond). Most commonly studied interaction levels are tritrophic interactions, when three trophic levels are involved. Food webs typically go beyond three trophic levels, with higher-order predators preying on intermediate predators and hyperparasitoids attacking primary parasitoids, so the term "multitrophic interaction" is used for more complex food web dynamics. Trophic levels represent the hierarchical positioning of organisms in a food chain. Lindeman (1942) originally devised this hierarchical system to group organisms with similar functional roles in a food web, an approach that is commonly employed in ecology. Producers (plants) as base resource represent trophic level one (T1), while primary consumers (herbivores) feeding on producers are second trophic level (T2), secondary consumers (carnivores) eat primary consumers (T3), and this goes on to higher trophic levels. In theory, this linear chain describing who eats whom can extend indefinitely to the tertiary consumers, the fourth trophic level (T4), and beyond, depending on how many consumers exist in a given community. Such concepts of simple linear food chains however suppress the inherent complexity of real communities, the complexity that is largely driven by the presence of omnivores that feed from multiple trophic levels.

16.3 Factors Affecting Interactions in Food Web

A number of factors can affect the interactions in a food web or in an ecosystem. These factors also depend on the sexes, feeding habits, habitats, and life history of an organism. For example, caterpillars are herbivores, but adult butterflies are mostly pollinators; immature mosquitoes are aquatic, while adults are terrestrial, and even male and female mosquitoes have different feeding preferences. In different ecosystems, changes in abiotic and biotic parameters of prey-predator relationships can alter the outcomes of species interactions (Holland et al. 2009). The strength of interaction depends on the proximity, relative densities, motivation, and ability of interacting species to perceive each other. These factors in turn are affected by abiotic conditions such as resource availability and indirect effects of other species.

16.3.1 Abiotic Conditions

Many studies have addressed the effects of abiotic conditions, like temperature, light, and moisture, on species interactions. Changes in temperature may affect interactions at various trophic levels. Increased activity of grasshoppers in hot and sunny places as compared to cold and shade was recorded as compared to its predatory spider which was unaffected by the temperature and sunlight (Logan et al. 2006). Preisser and Strong (2004) reported that variation in soil moisture

directly affected populations of root-feeding ghost moth (*Hepialus californicus*) and its host, yellow bush lupine (*Lupinus arboreus*), and outbreaks were more severe in drought conditions. Plants may benefit from increased exposure to sunlight which can induce production of defensive compounds and ultimately reduce herbivory (Niesenbaum 1992). Abiotic factors may also adversely affect plant defense systems. For example, susceptibility of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum*) to herbivores was reported to increase with drought (Fox et al. 1999). Similarly, other abiotic factors like CO₂, O₃, NO₂, or SO₂ may affect interactions in a food web.

16.3.2 Availability and Distribution of Resource

Resource availability and distribution regulate populations, competition, and predation, within and between different trophic levels. Resource abundance leads to increased consumer population and increase in interspecific competition at intermediate levels of resource availability. Populations increase to a certain level (population outbreak) at which point consumption of available resource is maximum. At this point the resource availability starts decreasing and also reduces populations of competing species. Scarcity in resources supports low population density of related species which leads to search for more suitable resources which in turn limits growth, survival, and reproduction of the related species. Under these conditions, potentially interacting species are parted in time and space which may lead to migration. This minimizes competition and maximizes predator-free space. In contrast, more homogeneous environments facilitate population spread of associated species and maximize the probability of co-occurrence. In East Africa, four termite (order: Isoptera) species that reside on acacia (Acacia drepanolobium) are reported to reside on individual tree with violent interspecific competition for host trees by adjacent colonies (Palmer 2003). The competition was variable relative to distance of termite mounds from the resource (acacia trees). The competitively dominant ant (Crematogaster sjostedti) displaced other acacia ants (Crematogaster mimosae, *Crematogaster nigriceps*, and *Tetraponera penzigi*) near termite mounds, whereas the probability of subordinate species displacing C. sjostedti increased with distance from termite mounds. This variation in the outcome of competition for acacia hosts appeared to result from differential responses among the ant species to resource heterogeneity on the landscape.

16.3.3 Indirect Effects of Other Species

Indirect interactions have received less attention but may be as important as direct interactions. For example, pollinators can augment plant reproduction sufficiently to compensate for herbivory. Bezemer et al. (2005) reported that manipulation of soil nematodes and microorganisms significantly altered the amino acid and phenolic content of plants, thereby altering aphid and parasitoid performance. Because multi-species interactions control rates of energy and nutrient fluxes through ecosystems,

resolution of the extent to which indirect interactions reduce variation in community structure will contribute significantly to our understanding of ecosystem stability. Herbivore-induced defenses can affect interactions with other members of the community, as well. Callaway et al. (1999) reported that the tortricid moth (*Agapeta zoegana*) introduced to the Western USA for biological control of spotted knapweed (*Centaurea maculosa*) increased the negative effect of its host on native grass (*Festuca idahoensis*).

16.3.4 Defense Barriers at Different Trophic Levels

Herbivores constitute more than half of insect fauna of the world, but these are restricted to only 9 (~30%) out of 29 insect orders (Gullen and Cranston 2005). This advocates that plants have evolved defense barriers to insect attack which include nutritional, mechanical, and allelochemical defenses, plant phenology, and spatial distribution that render plants inherently difficult to exploit. Plants possess a variety of ecologically important traits that may affect interactions in a food web. These plant traits are supposed due to the presence of secondary plant metabolites (allelochemicals) that play no role in plant growth, development, and reproduction but affect plant interactions with herbivores and higher trophic levels. Secondary metabolites attract, repel, poison, or harm insects and can be classified into toxins, digestibility reducers, and volatiles. These are useful in their induced state as they help attract natural enemies to the specific location of their prey. Toxins (alkaloids, glucosinolates, cardenolides, and furanocoumarins) when ingested at sufficiently high doses may poison and even kill the consumers. In a classical example, monarch caterpillars (Danaus plexippus) sequester cardiac glycosides from their milkweed host plants, which help protect the adults from bird predation (Brower et al. 1967). Contrary to providing protection, toxins sometimes show negative response for protection from enemies. For example, the leaf beetle (Chrysomela lapponica) feeding on salicyl glucoside (SG) content from willow (Salix spp.) trees is more prone to attack of phorid and tachinid flies (Zvereva and Rank 2003).

Volatiles are among other important plant traits to be integrated with digestibility-reducing chemicals (otherwise known as volatile organic compounds or VOCs) for plant defense. These are species specific and can be detected several meters or more from their source plant and provide reliable cues for insects to exploit in search of food. Predators and parasitoids are both known to use plant volatiles in their foraging decisions and also use array of cues while searching for prey, including those derived from the herbivores (such as frass). Volatiles are ubiquitous, multifunctional in nature, i.e., repel herbivores, attract pollinators, and act as within-plant signaling compounds. Baldwin (1998) found that survival of tobacco hornworm (*Manduca sexta*) eggs declined from 83% on control plants to 4% on plants with induced volatiles which was directly attributed to attraction and increased predation by the hemipteran predator (*Geocoris pallens*). The corn plants

release a compound (E)-b-caryophyllene due to mechanical injury or the feeding from larvae of the western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera*), important pest of corn, that attracts their nematode parasites (Rasmann et al. 2005).

16.3.4.1 Nutritional Barriers

In all living organisms, carbon (C), nitrogen (N), and phosphorus (P) are the major elements, but the relative balance of these elements in food differs at different trophic levels. Importantly, nutritional imbalances created by organisms feeding at lower trophic levels on nutrient-deficient (N and P) food can severely hamper their ability to meet nutrient demands, growth, and reproduction. For example, herbivores and detritivores have five to ten times higher nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) contents than their host (Denno and Fagan 2003). Nitrogen content (%) and C:N (carbon/ nitrogen) ratio between plants and insect herbivores have been recognized as imposing fundamental limitations on nitrogen acquisition (Awmack and Leather 2002). The planthopper (*Prokelisia dolus*) has been reported for severe constraints on growth due to limitations of N and P content of host plants (Huberty and Denno 2006). Plant nutritional resources can be classified into (a) traits that are adaptations for growth and reproduction (e.g., leaves, flowers, and fruits) and (b) structures that are thought to have evolved for the sole purpose of maintaining large enemy populations as bodyguards (e.g., extrafloral nectaries, food bodies). Plant traits that may have coevolved (extrafloral nectaries and food bodies) with natural enemies serve the purpose of attracting predators and parasitoids and thus providing protection to plants against herbivores. They serve no role in primary metabolic processes of plants for growth and development. Extrafloral nectaries are small openings purposefully positioned on petiole or midribs of leaves, stems, bracts, and fruits of angiosperms and are known for exuding nectar consisting of sugars like glucose, fructose, and sucrose. These are visited by ants, lacewing larvae, non-web-building spiders, and many other nectar-loving natural enemies. Food bodies are small epidermal structures rich in proteins and lipids that are harvested by foraging ants and some non-ant species (Fiala and Maschwitz 2008). They also suggested that ant-plant interactions are enhanced by food bodies. Where nectaries are visited by a diverse assemblage of consumers (facultative mutualism) on myrmecophilic plants (plants which lives in a mutualistic association with ants), the food bodies are harvested by ants (obligate mutualism) on myrmecophytic plants. The obligate mutualism involving food bodies is more of a symbiotic interaction, where the ants and plants in many cases cannot survive in the absence of the other. It differs from facultative mutualisms in which both partners may benefit from the association, but are not dependent on one another for survival.

16.3.4.2 Mechanical Barriers

Plants possess a variety of mechanical features and structures (general tissue toughness and hardness, trichomes, and surface waxes) that pose physical-chemical barriers to herbivore attack (Keeping and Kvedaras 2008; Lucas et al. 2000). In general, young leaves are less tough than mature leaves, due to number of factors associated with it such as leaf thickness, the amount of cellulose and lignin, and the structural components of plants (Peeters 2002). Diversity in density, shape, size, and forms of trichomes protects plants from herbivore attack, although their effectiveness may vary with circumstances (Handley et al. 2005; Pott et al. 2012; Valverde et al. 2001). Overall, trichomes affect insect herbivores by influencing oviposition, movement, growth and fecundity, and their interactions with higher trophic levels (Andres and Connor 2003).

Trichomes are small, epidermal hairs on leaves, stems, and other plant parts that serve as physical barriers hindering insect movement or may be associated with glands that express secondary compounds in viscous secretions exuding from the trichome tips to trap small insects. Plant species and genotypes differ in trichome length, density, and ratio of glandular to non-glandular hairs. For example, glandular trichomes of sacred datura (*Datura wrightii*) repel several whitefly species, while phylogenetically related bug mirid (*Tupiocoris notatus*) performs better on and prefers glandular trichome-bearing plants (van Dam and Hare 1998). Sometimes plants selectively encourage survival of natural enemies in special morphological structures called domatia, which insects use as refuge or housing for a mutualistic association. Mutualisms of ants and mites with domatia-bearing plants are good examples. Cavities, cracks, and crevices that are naturally formed in stems, branches, roots, galls, leaves, and bark are examples of such structures where opportunistic species establish their nests (Holldobler and Wilson 1990).

16.3.4.3 Defense Through Evolution

A wide range of defense mechanisms are present in prey species which can be categorized as primary, secondary, or tertiary depending on how they handle detection, capture, or handling by predators. With effective defenses, the prey evades detection from predators by a wide variety of morphological and behavioral mechanisms like concealing to match the environment, hiding their feeding damage (e.g., eating an entire leaf), or removing frass that accumulates at their feeding sites. For example, the green coloration of grasshoppers (family: Orthoptera) matches with the background vegetation (eucrypsis); the prev resemblance to an inedible food source of the predators, as in case of early instars of caterpillars of Papilio spp. mimicking bird droppings (mimesis), helps in primary protection. Sometimes unpalatable prey species may utilize the opposite strategy by advertising their unacceptability to predators using conspicuous smells, sounds, or coloration (aposematism). The evolutionary convergence in appearance, sound, or smell of unpalatable species is referred to as Mullerian mimicry. In this case, unrelated noxious species that are also prey to a common predator are avoided by the predator. When a palatable prey species is benefitted due to its appearance to an unpalatable prey species, this type of deceit is referred to as Batesian mimicry and is defined as the evolutionary advergence in appearance, sound, or smell. African swallowtail butterfly (Papilio dardanus) is a palatable species and subject to heavy predation by birds, but the occurrence of different species of distasteful mimetic morphs of P. dardanus females over different geographical range benefits the palatable one (Price et al. 2011).

16.4 Trophic Cascades

Strong (1992) defined "Trophic cascades mean runaway consumption, downward dominance through the food chain." Generally, trophic cascades are the indirect positive impacts of natural enemies on lower trophic levels, via suppression of herbivores. For this definition to be true, two fundamental conditions must hold true. Firstly, herbivores must suppress producer (plant) growth in the absence of natural enemies. Secondly, enemies must function collectively as a cohesive third trophic level, reducing the abundance of their herbivorous prey and releasing plants from the potentially devastating effects of herbivory. But in real world, plants may contain toxic chemicals and other factors like structural carbon which render them relatively inedible to herbivores. Similarly in real food webs in nature due to intraguild predation, omnivory and other complexities can affect the performance of natural enemies. Thus, strong cascading effects are expected when plants are relatively palatable and enemies attack herbivores instead of one another. Cascades weakly exist, and assumptions are violated in cases of strong plant defense mechanisms and heavy intraguild predation.

A number of biotic and abiotic factors influence each trophic level in a community which affects the outcome of different interactions. The strength of cascades either up or down the food web depends on the heterogeneity in extrinsic and intrinsic variables at any given trophic level. Three general circumstances are hypothesized to promote top-down cascades on plants. These include:

16.4.1 Suitable Environmental Conditions

Environment comprises of a wide range of variables which can act directly or indirectly on multiple trophic levels. These factors include relative humidity, temperature, light, nutrients, water, carbon dioxide, soil properties, and other disturbances. At moderate and low soil fertility, herbivores were reported to change the ranking of plant species by suppressing the palatable grasses (*Lolium perenne*, *Poa annua*, and *P. trivialis*) and promoting plant species with slower growth rate (*Festuca rubra*, *F. ovina*, and *Anthoxanthum odoratum*) (Buckland and Grime 2003) They also reported that carnivory of ladybird beetles and their larvae persisted in relation to ground beetle (*Pterostichus melanarius*) activity. Natural enemies are considered relatively more vulnerable to environmental stresses compared with herbivores. So we can predict strong top-down effects in low stress habitats, while moderate to high stresses will result in weak cascades thoroughly. Understanding of the basic biology is sometimes very important to study impact of environmental stresses on different trophic interactions.

16.4.2 Inherent Characteristics of Consumers and Resources

Producers, herbivores, and natural enemies each possess a suite of diverse inherent attributes that may promote trophic cascades. Foraging behavior is one such feature of predators and parasitoids based on which insects can be categorized into actively foraging (e.g., coccinellid beetles, lacewings, etc.) and sit and wait (e.g., most spider species) predators. Where the sedentary herbivore populations may be effectively regulated by actively foraging predators, the sit and wait predators are unlikely to suppress such populations. The sit and wait category includes omnivorous top predators, which generally suppress populations of widely foraging intermediate predators and thereby increasing herbivore densities. The tendency to protect host range is another characteristic in foragers where specialist parasitoids tend to protect plants more effectively than generalist or polyphagous species.

16.4.3 Multichannel Omnivory

Polis (1999) suggested that multichannel subsidies (input resources like insect prey, leaf litter) produce more consumers than can be supported by the resources and these consumers then depress their resources. Subsidies originate outside the delineated food web and can be classified into three general categories: spatial, temporal, and detrital. Spatial subsidies involve the movement of resources produced in one habitat to the adjacent habitat, where they promote consumer abundance and thereby strengthen trophic cascades in the recipient habitat (Leroux and Loreau 2008). Cicadas emerge from the soil every 13 or 17 years, and their carcasses are deposited into watercourses subsidizing aquatic ecosystems (Menninger et al. 2008). Temporal subsidies elevate consumer populations temporarily through resource pulses. Mature oak (Ouercus spp.) trees, a preferred food of white-footed mice (Peromyscus *leucopus*), produce large acorn (*Quercus* spp.) crops, referred to as masting, every 2-5 years in the USA. Masting in the autumn increases survival and breeding of mice in the succeeding winter and spring. As mice are predators of gypsy moth (Lymantria dispar) pupae, the masting helps reduce moth pupae in the subsequent year. These periodic pulses of oak acorn also help reducing Lyme disease transmitted by ticks (Ostfeld et al. 2006). Detrital subsidies may allow higher population densities of generalist predators that will contribute to stronger cascades in grazing food webs (Miyashita et al. 2003). Examples of detrital subsidies include natural spider control of planthoppers in tropical rice agroecosystems, and local subsidies similar to detritus include honeydew exudes of hemipterans which subsidize omnivorous hymenoptera.

16.5 Food Web Understanding in Agriculture, Conservation Ecology, and IPM

Understanding of food webs is important for maintaining balance in ecosystem. Though these are highly complex systems, basic knowledge of cropping patterns and consumers present at higher trophic levels can help in devising strategies for pest management. Understanding basic biology and ecology of producers and consumers can help predict probable problems that may arise in an agricultural system. Pesticides and other agricultural inputs sometimes have detrimental effects on different organisms interacting in the environment. This also affects natural enemies of insect pests and weed. Weed seed predators like *H. rufipes* were reported susceptible to field rates of some commonly used pesticides of older chemistry as compared to newer chemicals used in lowbush blueberry (Cutler et al. 2016). Conservation ecology helps study such effects and find alternatives for sustainable agriculture. Some of the important points involving the understanding of food webs are listed below which can help in improved agricultural management with the basic understanding of simple food chains and food webs.

16.5.1 Insects in Environmental Monitoring and Assessment

Insects are virtually present in all environments of interest, the above and below ground surface, aquatic habitats, wild and urban environments. Environmental assessment and environmental impact rely on sound-monitoring techniques. Long-term studies of species and communities are particularly valuable for detecting trends in populations and biodiversity correlated with abiotic and biotic variables such as land use, habitat destruction, and climate change. The climate change, conservation, biodiversity, and sustainable environments are studied to estimate health of communities and their long-term maintenance. Various insect species can be employed as indicators for the assessment of environment, degradation, or recovery. The conservation of ecology or maintaining biodiversity is the central theme during any environmental modifications.

16.5.2 Indicator Groups and Species

Focus on a particular insect taxon (indicator groups and indicator species) like butterflies, dragonflies, ants, or aquatic groups can be useful in observing any change in the ecology of the area under observation. Here the concepts of the ecological niche (defined as behavior of species living under specific environmental conditions) and guild (any species group that exploit the same resources often in related ways) become useful. Guilds of species may be employed as indicator groups, and several guilds could be used to monitor environmental conditions such as checkerspot butterflies (McLaughlin et al. 2002) or/and ants (Forys and Allen 2005).

16.5.3 Agricultural Practice

Human activities have changed community ecology. Though agricultural practices have simplified habitats, they had reduced nesting sites and food supplies for some kinds of insects. For example, nesting sites for twig-dwelling ants (family: Formicidae) were destroyed when dense-shady canopy of native trees was removed in coffee (*Coffea* spp.) plantations. The example of biological control of cottony cushion scale (*Icerya purchasi*), with *R. cardinalis*, is a classic example of biological control. However, introduction of insect growth regulators (IGRs) in the late 1990s caused high mortality of *R. cardinalis*, and cottony cushion scale reemerged in high numbers. So, integrated pest management (IPM) should include the use of reduced risk pesticides on crops (Gill and Garg 2014; Cutler et al. 2016). These pesticides are safe to the natural enemies and can play an important role in conservation ecology.

16.5.4 Restoration Ecology

Ecological restoration of an ecosystem is the approximate return to its structural and functional condition before damage occurred, and it depends on concepts of community ecology particularly approaches and concepts related to ecological succession and ecological assembly (Young et al. 2005). This required extensive knowledge of food webs and community ecology such as how the community develops and mechanisms driving activities of members. The restoration plan or better prospective restoration should incorporate a project ensuring a sustainable ecosystem well into the future. For integrated pest management, for example, in the biological control of insects, and weeds, attempts should be made to establish communities of natural enemies on these pest species. Promoting natural populations of granivorous insects in some cropping systems can be of valuable ecological service in managing weeds (Cutler et al. 2016).

16.5.5 Selection of Cropping Patterns

Producer (mostly plants) characteristics at the first trophic level impact survival in succeeding trophic levels as well as consumers' capacity to locate, capture, and consume hosts. One of the important principles of integrated pest management is that different strategies should not counteract with one another and try to synergize effects of other tactics. Subsidizing enemy diets with nutritional rewards by enhancing vegetation diversity, such as border or companion crops, cover crops, and intercropping, is the other main driver in the application of multitrophic interactions for pest management. Habitat management might support the abiotic environment for natural enemies.

16.6 Conclusion

In present times when the world is struggling to feed the ever-increasing global population, knowledge of species interactions in an ecosystem can be exploited for better management of crops. Crops worth billions of dollars can be saved from the damage done by insect pests of agricultural and forest ecosystems every year. For this purpose, a good understanding of the role played by different species at each trophic level needs to be understood. As discussed in the chapter, even a single organism plays different roles in a food web. Understanding of the key components of the ecosystem can help us devise ways to maintain ecological balance. For agriculture sustainability, emphasis should be on conservation studies to maintain ecological balance. In this regard, different cropping systems, cropping patterns, indicator groups, disturbances, and species at each trophic level, which can provide valuable conservation and ecological service, should be studied.

References

- Andres MR, Connor EF (2003) The community-wide and guild-specific effects of pubescence on the folivorous insects of manzanitas *Arctostaphylos* spp. Ecol Entomol 28:383–396
- Awmack CS, Leather SR (2002) Host plant quality and fecundity in herbivorous insects. Annu Rev Entomol 47:917–844
- Baldwin IT (1998) Jasmonate-induced responses are costly but benefit plants under attack in native populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:8113–8118
- Begon M, Townsend CR, Harper JL (2006) Ecology from individuals to ecosystems, 4th edn. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Malden
- Bezemer TM, De Deyn GB, Bossinga TM, Van Dam NM, Harvey JA, Van der Putten WH (2005) Soil community composition drives aboveground plant-herbivore-parasitoid interactions. Ecol Lett 8:652–661
- Brower LP, Brower JV, Corvino JM (1967) Plant poisons in a terrestrial food chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 57:893–898
- Bruno JF, Stachowicz JL, Bertness MD (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol Evol 18:119–125
- Buckland SM, Grime JP (2003) The effects of trophic structure and soil fertility on the assembly of plant communities: a microcosm experiment. Oikos 91:336–352
- Callaway RM, DeLuca RH, Belliveau WM (1999) Biological-control herbivores may increase competitive ability of the noxious weed *Centaurea maculosa*. Ecology 80:1196–1201
- Caltagirone LE, Doutt RL (1989) The history of the vedalia beetle importation to California and its impact on the development of biological control. Annu Rev Entomol 34:1–16
- Cutler GC, Astatkie T, Chahil GS (2016) Weed seed granivory by carabid beetles and crickets for biological control of weeds in commercial lowbush blueberry fields. Agric For Entomol 18 (4):390–397
- Denno RF, Fagan WF (2003) Might nitrogen limitation promote omnivory among carnivorous arthropods. Ecology 84:2522–2531
- Denno RF, Kaplan I (2007) Plant-mediated interactions in herbivorous insects: mechanisms, symmetry, and challenging the paradigms of competition past. In: Ohgushi T, Craig TA, Price PW (eds) Ecological communities: plant mediation in indirect interaction webs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Ellison AM, Bank MS, Clinton BD (2005) Loss of foundation species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. Front Ecol Environ 3:479–486

Elton C (1927) Animal ecology. Macmillan Co, New York. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.7435

- Fiala B, Maschwitz U (2008) Food bodies and their significance for obligate ant-association in the tree genus *Macaranga* (Euphorbiaceae). Bot J Linn Soc 110:61–75
- Forys EA, Allen CR (2005) The impacts of sprawl on biodiversity: the ant fauna of the lower Florida keys. Ecol Soc 10(1):25. http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol10/iss1/art25/
- Fox LR, Ribeiro SP, Brown VK, Masters GJ, Clarke IP (1999) Direct and indirect effects of climate change on St. John's wort, *Hypericum perforatum* L. (Hypericaceae). Oecologia 120:113–122
- Gill HK, Garg H (2014) Pesticide: environmental impacts and management strategies. In: Solenski S, Larramenday ML (eds) Pesticides- toxic effects. Intech, Rijeka, pp 187–230. http://www.intechopen.com/books/pesticides-toxic-aspects/pesticides-environmental-impactsand-management-strategies
- Gullen PJ, Cranston PS (2005) The insects: an outline of entomology, 3rd edn. Blackwell Publishing, Malden
- Handley R, Ekbom B, Agren J (2005) Variation in trichome density and resistance against a specialist insect herbivore in natural populations of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Ecol Entomol 30:284–292
- Harvey JA, Van dam NM, Witjes LMA, Soler R, Gols R (2007) Effects of dietary nicotine on the development of an insect herbivore, its parasitoid and secondary hyperparasitoid over four trophic levels. Ecol Entomol 32:15–23
- Holland JN, Chamberlain SA, Horn KC (2009) Optimal defence theory predicts investment in extrafloral nectar resources in an ant-plant mutualism. J Ecol 97:89–96
- Holldobler B, Wilson EO (1990) The ants. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Hoshokawa T, Koga R, Kikuchi Y, Xian-Ying M, Fukatsu T (2010) *Wolbachia* as a bacteriocyteassociated nutritional mutualist. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:769–774
- Huberty AF, Denno RF (2006) Trade-off in investment between dispersal and ingestion capability in phytophagous insects and its ecological implications. Oecologia 148:226–234
- Hughes L, Westoby M (1992) Capitula of stick insect eggs and elaiosomes on seeds: convergent adaptations for burial by ants. Funct Ecol 6:642–648
- Kaplan I, Denno RF (2007) Interspecific interactions in phytophagous insects revisited: a quantitative assessment of competition theory. Ecol Lett 10:977–994
- Keeping MG, Kvedaras OL (2008) Silicon as a plant defence against insect herbivory: response to Massey, Ennos and Hartley. J Anim Ecol 77:631–633
- Kluth S, Kruess A, Tscharntke T (2002) Insects as vectors of plant pathogens: mutualistic and antagonistic interactions. Oecologia 133:193–199
- Kopf A, Rank N, Roininen H, Tahvanainen J (1997) Defensive larval secretions of leaf beetles attract a specialist predator *Parasyrphus nigritarsis*. Ecol Entomol 22:176–183
- Leroux SJ, Loreau M (2008) Subsidy hypothesis and strength of trophic cascades across ecosystems. Ecol Lett 11:1147–1156
- Lindeman RL (1942) The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. Ecology 23:399-418
- Logan JD, Wolesensky W, Joernc A (2006) Temperature-dependent phenology and predation in arthropod systems. Ecol Model 196:471–482
- Losey JE, Denno RF (1998) Positive predator-predator interactions: enhanced predation rates and synergistic suppression of aphid populations. Ecology 79:2143–2152
- Lucas PW, Turner IM, Dominy NJ, Yamashita N (2000) Mechanical defenses to herbivory. Ann Bot London 86:913–920
- Lykouressis D, Garantonakis N, Perdikis D, Fantinou A, Mauromoustakos A (2009) Effect of female size on host selection by a koinobiont insect parasitoid (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Aphidiinae). Eur J Entomol 106:363–367
- McLaughlin JF, Hellman JJ, Boggs CL, Ehrlich PR (2002) The route to extinction: population dynamics of a threatened butterfly. Oecologia 132:538–548
- Menninger HL, Palmer MA, Craig LS, Richardson DC (2008) Periodical cicada detritus impacts stream ecosystem metabolism. Ecosystems 11:1306–1317

- Merritt RW, Cummins KW (1996) An introduction to the aquatic insects of North America, 3rd edn. Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company, Dubuque
- Miyashita T, Takada M, Shimazaki A (2003) Experimental evidence that above ground predators are sustained by underground detritivores. Oikos 103:31–36
- Nicholson AJ (1954) An outline of the dynamics of animal populations. Aust J Zool 2:9-65
- Niesenbaum RA (1992) The effects of light environment on herbivory and growth in the dioecious shrub *Lindera benzoin* (Lauraceae). Am Midl Nat 128:270–275
- Ostfeld RS, Canham CD, Oggenfuss K, Winchcombe RJ, Keesing F (2006) Climate, deer, rodents, and acorns as determinants of variation in Lyme-disease risk. PLoS Biol 4:e145
- Otto M, Mackauer M (1998) The developmental strategy of an idiobiont ectoparasitoid, *Dendrocerus carpenteri*: influence of variations in host quality on offspring growth and fitness. Oecologia 117:353–364
- Palmer TM (2003) Spatial habitat heterogeneity influences competition and coexistence in an African acacia ant guild. Ecology 84:2843–2855
- Peeters P (2002) Correlations between leaf structural traits and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. Biol J Linn Soc 77:43–65
- Polis GA (1999) Why are parts of the world green? Multiple factors control productivity and the distribution of biomass. Oikos 86:3–15
- Pott C, McLoughlin S, Shunqing W, Friis EM (2012) Trichomes on the leaves of Anomozamites villosus sp. nov. (Bennettitales) from the Daohugou beds (Middle Jurassic), Inner Mongolia, China: mechanical defence against herbivorous arthropods. Rev Palaeobot Palynol 169:48–60
- Preisser EL, Strong DR (2004) Climate affects predator control of an herbivore outbreak. Am Nat 163:754–762
- Price PW, Denno RF, Eubanks MD, Finke DL, Kaplan I (2011) Insect ecology behavior, populations and communities. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Quiring DT, McNeil JN (1984) Exploitation and interference intraspecific larval competition in the dipteran leaf miner, Agromyza frontella (Rondani). Can J Zool 62:421–427
- Rasmann S, Kollner TG, Degenhardt J (2005) Recruitment of entomopathogenic nematodes by insect-damaged maize roots. Nature 434:732–737
- Root RB (2001) Guild. In: Levin S (ed) Encyclopedia of biodiversity, vol 3. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 295–302
- Rosenheim JA (1987) Host location and exploitation by the cleptoparasitic wasp *Argochrysis* armilla (Hymenoptera: Chrysididae): the role of learning. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 21:401–406
- Simpson SJ, Sword GA, Lorch PD, Couzin ID (2006) Cannibal crickets on a forced march for protein and salt. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:4152–4156. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0508915103
- Snyder WE, Ives AR (2003) Interactions between specialist and generalist natural enemies: parasitoids, predators, and pea aphid biocontrol. Ecology 84:91–107
- Strong DR (1992) Are trophic cascades all wet? Differentiation and donor-control in specious ecosystems. Ecology 73:747–754
- Traniello JFA, Rosengaus RB, Savoie K (2002) The development of immunity in a social insect: evidence for the group facilitation of disease resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:6838–6842
- Turchin P, Taylor AD, Reeve JD (1999) Dynamical role of predators in population cycles of a forest insect: an experimental test. Science 285:1068–1071
- Valverde PL, Fornoni J, Nunez-Farfan J (2001) Defensive role of leaf trichomes in resistance to herbivorous insects in *Datura stramonium*. J Evol Biol 14:424–432
- van Dam NM, Hare JD (1998) Differences in distribution and performance of two sap-sucking herbivores on glandular and non-glandular *Datura wrightii*. Ecol Entomol 23:22–32
- van den Bosch R, Messenger PS, Gutierrez AP (1982) An introduction to biological control. Plenum Press, New York
- Whitham TG (1979) Territorial behavior of Pemphigus gall aphids. Nature 279:324-325

- Wissinger SA, McGrady J (1993) Intraguild predation and competition between larval dragonflies: direct and indirect effects on shared prey. Ecology 74:207–218
- Young TP, Petersen DA, Clary JJ (2005) The ecology of restoration: historical links, emerging issues and unexplored realms. Ecol Lett 8:662–673
- Zvereva EL, Rank NE (2003) Host plant effects on parasitoid attack on the leaf beetle *Chrysomela* lapponica. Oecologia 135:258–267



Future of Rice Crop Under Enriched CO₂

Biswanath Dari and Debjani Sihi

Abstract

Rice (Oryza sativa L.) is the second largest cereal crop produced globally, with a worldwide production of about 720 million metric tons in recent years and contributing toward for 20% of the global calorie intake. The growing condition of rice is extreme such as high vs. low temperature and high vs. low level of CO₂ concentration $[CO_2]$. Given CO_2 is a key substrate for photosynthesis, the atmospheric concentration of CO₂ dominantly influences the growth and yield of rice crop. The main component of rice is the kernel ($\sim 90\%$) which is starch, and the composition and behavior of starch are greatly impacted by environmental drivers including temperature, CO₂, and water. Therefore, it is important to understand the variation in production and yield of rice under the elevated [CO₂]. Here, we discussed the impacts of elevated [CO₂] on the quality and quantity of rice production under current and future climatic conditions. We have discussed the response of rice crops under elevated [CO₂] and its interaction with several other biophysical drivers including air temperature, ozone concentration, soil water content, and genotype in various experimental approaches, viz., free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE), open top chambers (OTC), growth chambers, and temperature gradient tunnels. Overall, elevated [CO₂] stimulated photosynthesis and production of rice on a short-term, but the long-term effects of elevated [CO₂] on the quality and quantity of rice production is yet to be resolved and need some attention with respect to various environmental constraints.

B. Dari (🖂)

Aberdeen Research and Extension Center, Department of Plant Sciences, University of Idaho, Aberdeen, ID, USA e-mail: dari@uidaho.edu

D. Sihi

Climate Change Science Institute and Environmental Sciences Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, USA e-mail: sihid@ornl.gov

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

S. K. Bal et al. (eds.), Advances in Crop Environment Interaction, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1861-0_17

Keywords

 $Climate \ change \ \cdot \ CO_2 \ \cdot \ Elevated \ concentration \ \cdot \ Enriched \ \cdot \ Fumigation \ type \ \cdot \ Mitigation \ \cdot \ Open \ chamber \ \cdot \ Rice \ production \ \cdot \ Temperature$

Abbreviations

С	Carbon
$[CO_2]$	Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration
CH_4	Methane
FACE	Free-air CO ₂ enrichment
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LAI	Leaf area index
N	Nitrogen
O ₃	Ozone
Р	Phosphorus
PPM	Parts per millions
RuBisCO	Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase

17.1 Introduction

More than half of the world population is dependent on rice (Oryza sativa L.) as a staple food source (Coates 2011; De Costa et al. 2003; IRRI 2002; Tuong and Bouman 2003). The production of rice is globally distributed which encompasses many countries over varied range of conditions between 45°N and 40°S latitude embracing Central America, Southern half of the USA, most of South America, Africa, Australia, India, China, Japan, the Philippines, and Southeast Asia (Bouman et al. 2002, 2007; De Costa et al. 2003; Dari et al. 2017; Sihi et al. 2017; Welch et al. 2010). Rice being highly produced and consumed in Asia (FAO 2013) is expected to increase its demand by about 30% by 2050 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2012). Among all other cereal crops, rice must be produced on a larger scale to mitigate the higher caloric intake of growing population. No matter what one's political persuasion about all environmental policies to control CO_2 emissions, it is well known that the concentrations of atmospheric CO₂ [CO₂] have been risen from about 280 to >400 ppm since 1800 (World Meteorogical Organization (WMO) 2017) and anticipated to rise to the level of 500-1000 ppm at the end of this century (Houghton 1996). Concurrently, the unintended benefits of enriched $[CO_2]$ in the atmosphere could possibly and positively contribute toward meeting the demand of higher production of rice in the face of climate change.

Photosynthesis being the prime physiological process in plant production and productivity for any agricultural crops and the CO₂ being a fundamental substrate for

photosynthesis, it is crucial to quantify the plant physiological processes in terms of crop production and productivity under elevated CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere. The change in the concentrations CO_2 might be responsible for the change in global radiation fluxes, thus the global climate change since CO_2 is an important 'greenhouse gas' which is transparent to visible light but it absorbs strongly at infrared light. The scientists throughout the world are debating about the global temperatures and precipitation which will increase by 1.4–5.8 °C and 5–20%, respectively, during the current century. Therefore, it is anticipated that increasing concentration of CO_2 and global climate change will certainly impact the plant community (Patindol et al. 2015). The impact in plant communities can be both positive and negative under elevated CO_2 concentration; thus the future of food quantity and quality might be dwindling.

Common consensuses among global climate chnage includes a projected increase of 21°C in global temperature can nullify the positive effect of elevated [CO₂] in rice production and productivity, as well as enhanced water shortage in combination with increasing temperature, will restrict the rice production substantially as modeled by CERES rice model in Northern India (Lal et al. 1998). As, for example, on an average, a 23% increase in rice yield has been reported with an increase in elevated [CO₂] (~627 ppm) (Patindol et al. 2015); thus it reporting the impact of enriched [CO₂] on rice production and productivity under changing global climate given increasing India's population will be noteworthy. Here, we review the perspective of the direct and interactive effect of different environmental factors (such as temperature, ozone, genotype/variety, etc.) and enriched CO₂ concentration on the production and productivity of rice. This chapter will end up with some mitigation or adaptation strategies for elevated CO₂ production with respect to rice production and productivity.

17.2 Rice Production and Elevated [CO₂]

Decadal studies are conducted to realize the response of rice crops under expected elevated $[CO_2]$ environment, and global warming showed mixed results with some positive and some negative effects (Ziska and Teramura 1992; Kim et al. 2001; Peng et al. 2004; Ziska et al. 2012). Data obtained from variable sources showed a variable positive yield increase in rice under enriched $[CO_2]$ (Table 17.1) which ranged from 11 to 71%. Therefore, an increase in the atmospheric $[CO_2]$ would lead to a positive or negative yield increase in any agricultural crops including rice which depends on the type of the photosynthesis occurring in that particular plant system either the plant is C₃ or C₄. The process of carbon fixation (conversion of atmospheric CO_2 into photosynthetic plant product, i.e., glucose) is varied among various crops.

To that end, the ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase (RuBisCO) is a crucial enzyme for carbon (C) fixation in any C_3 and C_4 plant systems. However, this conversion process operates differently in these two types of plant communities under changing atmospheric [CO₂] with global climate. As, for example, the net photosynthetic CO₂ uptake is generally enhanced in C_3 crops under enriched [CO₂]

Level of elevated [CO ₂] (unit)	Rice production or yield (%)	References
627 ppm	23	Ainsworth (2008)
610 ppm	71	Bloom (2006)
$530 \mu molmol^{-1}$	19	Kimball (1983)
$540 \mu molmol^{-1}$	11	Cure and Acock (1986)
610µmolmol ⁻¹	12	Long (2006)

Table 17.1 Effects of elevated carbon dioxide concentration in yield and production of rice

since the presence of RuBisCO inhibits the competing oxygenation reaction leading to photorespiration; thus the RuBisCO is not CO₂ saturated in today's atmosphere. The effects of increased atmospheric [CO₂] could be more pronounced over terrestrial C₃ plants such as rice, wheat, etc. as a prompt response to photosynthesis. It has been reported that a positive change of 38% in photosynthetic rate might be possible in C3 plants at 25 °C if the atmospheric [CO₂] changed from 400 to 550 ppm as projected by 2050. Conversely, the photosynthetic process in C₄ crops such as maize and sorghum remains comparatively unchanged or relatively less affected as these enzymes are situated in bundle sheath cells where the CO₂ is concentrated as high as three to six times than atmospheric [CO₂]. This is why C₄ crop yield generally remains unaltered by elevated [CO₂]. However, a recent study reported a reversal in this C₃-C₄ paradigm under a long-term (two decades) elevated CO₂ treatment (Reich et al. 2018). Irrespective of whether a C₃ vs. C₄ crops show a direct response to photosynthetic activity, an indirect increase in the efficiency of water use via a reduction in stomatal conductance may still increase yield.

17.3 Various Approaches: Scenarios of Rice Production Under Elevated [CO₂]

Many researchers have attempted to mimic the future climate change scenarios with enriched $[CO_2]$ by creating various ambiances for future rice crops. Among many such approaches, the commonly used system of rice production under elevated $[CO_2]$ involves growing rice crops under open top chambers; production of rice plants in growth chambers, i.e., under controlled environments; rice grown in the field using the free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) condition; or rice crop production in a temperature gradient tunnels. Among all these, the free-air CO₂ enrichment systems have been identified to be the most efficient system of production of rice under enriched atmospheric $[CO_2]$ which provides a natural environment for rice crops (Fig. 17.1).

In general, approximately 12% increase in yield of rice and other growth determining factors such as panicle numbers, biomass, grain numbers, harvest index, leaf area index (LAI), total leaf N content, etc. has been reported under the experimental approach named as free-air CO₂ enrichment system (Fig. 17.2). It has been reported that kernel amylose content of rice increased due to elevated [CO₂] (~ from 350 to 700 ppm) in combination with increased phosphate fertilization in growth chamber



experiments (Seneweera et al. 1996). Conversely, the grain amylose content and other factors of rice grain quality tested by sensory evaluation usually reduced under CO_2 enrichment in the free-air CO_2 enrichment systems (Terao et al. 2005). Additionally, other experiments under the free-air CO_2 enrichment systems with different rates of N fertilizer application reduced the amylose content but reasonably increased the rice yield, paste viscosity, and chalkiness (Yang et al. 2007).

17.4 Factors Impacting Rice Production Under Elevated [CO₂]

17.4.1 Effects of CO₂, Temperature, and Their Interactions

The growing seasons are usually shortened due to increased temperature which affects the rice yield adversely, but elevated $[CO_2]$ has the exact opposite effects (Erda et al. 2005). The change in atmospheric $[CO_2]$ has noticeably affected the relationship between various biochemical pathways in plants systems for carbon metabolism and the production of amino acids from inorganic nitrogen (N). Therefore, the yield variation in rice can greatly be explained by this interaction with respect to elevated CO_2 concentrations. One of the most common research areas in this aspect is to study the combined study of both elevated $[CO_2]$ and atmospheric



Fig. 17.2 The growth and growth determinant factors of rice crops under elevated CO₂. The horizontal lines surrounding each parameter represent 95% confidence interval values. The values in the parentheses are the degrees of freedom. *LAI* leaf area index, *TNC* total leaf nonstructural carbohydrates, A_{sat} light-saturated photosynthetic rate, g_s stomatal conductance to water vapor. (Adapted from Ainsworth 2008)

temperature change under rice production system. It is important to note in this context that although the increase in global temperature (~1.1 to 6.41 °C) can elevate the atmospheric [CO₂], it depends on the global emission scenarios (Meehl et al. 2007). While warming (2–4 °C) will decrease yield, the combination of warming and elevated [CO₂] compensate the increase in the rice production and productivity as a result of the enhanced concentration of atmospheric CO₂. The better grain quality has been reported to maintain by more heat-tolerant rice cultivars than standard cultivars under enhanced [CO₂] (Usui et al. 2014). On the other hand, a decrease in amylose and protein contents, as well as unchanged total starch and caloric energy values in rice, has been showed with an increase in atmospheric concentration of CO₂ (Goufo and Trindade 2014).

17.4.2 Effects of Interaction Between CO₂ and Ozone (O₃)

The effects of the concentration of atmospheric O_3 on growth, production, and productivity of various crops including rice are well reported. In general, the elevated concentration of CO_2 negates the adverse effects of O_3 . Therefore, the interaction between elevated $[CO_2]$ and elevated $[O_3]$ in the atmosphere and its responses to rice production and productivity are important under enriched $[CO_2]$ environment. In general, the rise in atmospheric $[CO_2]$ is closely related to an increase in tropospheric O_3 and temperature. A 14% yield reduction including significant adverse effects on other growth determinants such as grain quality (number and/or mass), photosynthetic rate, and index for leaf area (LAI) have been reported in rice grown with an exposure of 62 ppb O_3 (Ainsworth 2008). A mixed report on the CO₂-induced yield increase was explained by Reid and Fiscus (2008), while they conducted an experiment in a controlled ambient (fixed concentration of CO₂), i.e., air filtered by charcoal, suggesting other potential resource limitations. However, a modification in enriched concertation of CO₂ has also been reported by the normal atmospheric concentration of O_3 which can be considered as a resource-limited system under experimental approach, thus signifying the consideration of better management of resources for future rice crop production under elevated [CO₂].

17.4.3 Effects of Interaction Between CO₂ and Other Elements (Nitrogen and Phosphorus)

In general, the quantity and availability of N among all other plant nutrients determine the production and productivity of any crops including rice. Other than that, among other environmental factors, the availability of N to crop plants is the most discussed factor which can be affected by the increased concentration of atmospheric CO₂ (Anten et al. 2004). Therefore, the response of rice in terms of production and yield is generally more pronounced under the enriched concentration of CO_2 in an open top chamber as compared to pots due to more availability of N in fertilized pots compared to the natural soils.

The combination of availability of N and enriched concentration of atmospheric CO_2 has influential impact on plant infrastructure, LAI, and canopy photosynthesis (Fig. 17.3; Anten et al. 2004). Rice grown at an enriched atmospheric concentration of CO_2 (~200 pmol mol⁻¹ using the FACE approach) and at higher N-enriched conditions in FACE had a higher light-saturated rate of photosynthesis which results in an apparent higher quantity of rice yields than rice plants grown in ambient conditions. It has also been reported that the LAI has increased strongly in relation to the N availability. A prominent interaction between N and CO_2 on canopy carbon gain, growth, and yield of rice crops can be explained by a strong relationship between leaf N and elevated concentration of CO_2 in comparison to a normal atmospheric concentration of CO_2 . It is highly possible that enriched concentration of CO_2 and plant N availability enhance the LAI, thus, positive yield responses.

Another important factor other than N, which impacts the rice production under enriched concertation of CO_2 , is the management of P which has explicitly been mentioned by Yang et al. (2007). The elevated [CO_2] has significant effects on the ratio of the shoot to root P uptake which is usually modified by seasonal changes and acquired at grain maturity. In free-air CO_2 enrichment approach, the shoot P uptake by rice crop under enriched [CO_2] environment declined gradually with crop development as compared to ambient condition (Yang et al. 2007). Additionally, P use efficiency for biomass throughout the growing season and grain yield and P



Fig. 17.3 (a) The total leaf nitrogen, (b) leaf area index, (c) average N content per unit leaf area (n_{area}) , (d) canopy net daily photosynthesis of rice (*Oryza sativa*) grown in either ambient or FACE experiment. (Adapted from Anten et al. 2004)

harvest index at grain maturity significantly decreased in the FACE when compared to ambient-type climate change studies.

17.4.4 Effects of Other Environmental Factors

In general, the decreased moisture has reduced the effect on rice production under elevated [CO₂]. It is relatively important to report the effect of water use by rice under the elevated [CO₂]. However, the exact prediction of the rice yield by calculating accurate water use by plants under future climate change is almost impossible although scanty of information on the diurnal and seasonal variation in stomatal conductance of under enriched concentration of CO₂ is available (Shimono et al. 2010). Experiments with various cultivars proved to decrease the stomatal conductance of rice crops by approximately 64% over a period of 2 years with a general higher conductance in day time (morning plus noon) as compared to the afternoon under enriched concentration of CO_2 . Other factors such as genotype and environmental factors might greatly affect responses of rice yield under elevated concentration of CO_2 .

17.5 Effects of Elevated [CO₂] on Food Quality

The grain/food quality is the most important aspect of rice production, while discussing the rice yield under elevated or enriched $[CO_2]$ environment given climate change is happening. The importance of giving more emphasis on the future food supply rather than criticizing various methodologies by characterizing the uncertainties related to biotic and/or abiotic stress management under scenarios of the enriched concentration of atmospheric CO_2 has been realized (Ziska et al. 2012). The protein content is one of the most important characteristics while considering the rice food quality. Terao and his co-workers (2005) have shown that rice grown under ambient conditions produce a significantly lower quantity of protein as compared to rice grown under enriched $[CO_2]$. Improvement of other associated but essential characteristics in rice grain quality includes either enhanced whiteness of the rice grains and/or viscosity or decrease the surface hardness and/or unaltered amylose content. In contrast, other sensory properties of rice (e.g., appearance, aroma, deliciousness, and palatability index) have been reported being unaltered by a change in atmospheric CO_2 concentration (Terao et al. 2005).

Growth and N allocation of tropical rice have been modified because of CO₂ fertilization and elevated nighttime temperature. Rice crops grown on elevated [CO₂] (550 lmol mol⁻¹)/enriched C fertilization for 3 years in field showed significantly increased biomass production (both above ground and below ground), grain quality, and stoichiometry of mineral nutrients such as C and N in various plant parts (Fig. 17.4) than that of ambient CO_2 in control chamber-grown rice (Roy et al. 2015). In general, the grain yield of rice significantly increased (20-30%) under elevated [CO₂] compared to control chamber situation. It has been reported that the introduction of more heat-tolerant rice cultivars will improve the overall rice grain quality at elevated $[CO_2]$ than under normal level (Usui et al. 2014). An additional factor which might affect the grain quality along with elevated $[CO_2]$ is heat stress because elevated [CO₂] will likely lower the threshold temperature for heat stress. The enriched concentration of CO_2 has also been reported to directly inhibit the rice canopy respiration over a varied range of short-term air temperature treatments (Baker et al. 1992). The effect of ground area basis canopy respiration (Rd) under elevated [CO₂] at air temperature above 21 °C can greatly impact the rice grain quality with diurnal variation in CO_2 concentration, e.g., 350 μ molmol⁻¹ vs. 700 μ molmol⁻¹, during the daytime.



Fig. 17.4 Grain carbon accumulations under four growing conditions such as unchambered ambient CO_2 (UC), chambered ambient CO_2 (CC), elevated CO_2 (e-CO₂), and elevated CO_2 + elevated temperature (e-CO2 + T) over three Rabi (winter) cropping seasons. The columns followed by a common letter in a particular growth stage do not significantly (p < 0.05) differ by Tukey-Kramer's HSD test. (Adapted from Roy et al. 2015)

17.6 Mitigation and/or Adaptation

The production and productivity of rice crops under elevated $[CO_2]$ in the face of climate change are invincible. Therefore, research approaches are followed by the various conditions to either mitigate or adapt the future of rice production under elevated $[CO_2]$. However, the responses might vary depending on the experimental technique (either lab-oriented or field-based) used to grow rice under elevated $[CO_2]$ conditions. For instances, a special traits in rice cultivars i.e., kernel chalkiness, which is considered a a very common visual environment-related stress, could be modified by some environment interactions such as temperature (Patindol et al. 2014). Therefore, fumigation-type situation to grow rice which will approximate the field condition would be one possible way the mitigation or adaptation strategies to combat the climate change and secure substantial production of rice.

Identification of high heat-tolerant germplasm for rice crops can effectively negate the adverse effect of high temperature on elevated $[CO_2]$ of climate change to compensate the change in production or yield future rice crops. Another aspect of mitigation would be to utilize environmental tolerant rice varieties having some specific traits in a gene which is more resilient to change under the enriched concentration of CO_2 and adverse environmental conditions. As, for example, the kernel chalkiness, a very common visual environment-related stress, could be modified by some environment interactions such as temperature (Patindol et al. 2014). Consequently, identification of genotypes and their interaction with related
environmental factors under variable temperature and/or enriched [CO₂] in various locations would be a possible attempt at mitigation/adaptation.

17.7 Conclusions

The production, productivity, and calorie intake of rice among all other cereal crops in the South Asian countries but mainly in India are of great significance in global food market/business. It is well known that the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has estimated an increase of the elevated concentration of CO_2 which will impact the future of rice production and productivity. Climate change (increased air temperature) being the main culprit to this elevated $[CO_2]$. Thereafter, the interrelated influence of both $[CO_2]$ and air temperature along with other environmental or crop-related factors has a tremendous impact on rice production (Fig. 17.5). Results from both laboratory- and field-based experiments on elevated [CO₂] and increased air temperature showed positive and negative effects on rice crop yield, respectively. However, their combined effects explicitly describe different scenarios, e.g., the increased effect of elevated concentration of CO_2 in rice production and productivity can be nullified by the effect of increased temperature in the atmosphere. Investigations were made to explain the responses of the enriched concentration of CO₂ on production and productivity of rice under various controlled environments among which the free-air controlled experiment (FACE) systems have been identified to be the most efficient system of rice crop production



Fig. 17.5 Schematic diagram of future rice crop production under elevated/enriched CO_2 environment. The combination of various environmental factors such as temperature, ozone, CO_2 concentration, or plant parameters such as genotype or cultivars under elevated or enriched CO_2 environment compared to normal environment promoted the rice growth, yield, and food quality. $[CO_2]$ concentration of CO_2 , O_3 ozone

under elevated $[CO_2]$ which provides a natural environment for rice crops. However, the findings of rice production and productivity under elevated $[CO_2]$ in these experimental approaches are quite mixed and inconsistent. It is noteworthy to mention that the overall growth, production, and productivity of rice crops have been enhanced due to short-term stimulation of photosynthesis under the elevated concentration of CO₂ (Fig. 17.5). However, the long-term scenarios of rice production and yield in the current situation of global climate modifications under real field situation should be discussed more in details with all pros and cons.

References

- Ainsworth AE (2008) Rice production in a changing climate: a meta-analysis of responses to elevated carbon dioxide and elevated ozone concentration. Glob Chang Biol 14:1642–1650
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (2012) World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision. Rome, FAO: ESA working paper, 12-03, p 4
- Anten NP, Hirose T, Onoda Y, Kinugasa T, Kim HY, Okada M, Kobayashi K (2004) Elevated CO₂ and nitrogen availability have interactive effects on canopy carbon gain in rice. New Phytol 161 (2):459–471
- Baker JT, Allen LH, Boote KJ (1992) Response of rice to carbon-dioxide and temperature. Agric For Meteorol 60:153–166
- Baker J, Allen L, Boote K, Pickering N (1997) Rice responses to drought under carbon dioxide enrichment. 2. Photosynthesis and evapotranspiration. Glob Chang Biol 3:129–138
- Bloom AJ (2006) Rising carbon dioxide concentrations and the future of crop production. J Sci Food Agric 86(9):1289–1291
- Bouman BAM, Xiaoguang Y, Huaqi W, Zhiming W, Junfang Z, Changgui W, Bin C (2002) Aerobic rice (Han Dao): a new way of growing rice in water-short areas. In: Proceedings of the 12th international soil conservation organization conference, vol 26. Tsinghua University Press, Beijing, p 31
- Bouman BAM, Humphreys E, Tuong TP, Barker R (2007) Rice and water. Adv Agron 92:187-237
- Coates W (2011) Protein content, oil content and fatty acid profiles as potential criteria to determine the origin of commercially grown chia (Salvia hispanica L.). Ind Crops Prod 34(2):1366–1371
- Cure JD, Acock B (1986) Crop responses to carbon dioxide doubling: a literature survey. Agri For Meteorol 38(1–3):127–145
- Dari B, Sihi D, Bal SK, Kunwar S (2017) Performance of direct-seeded rice under various dates of sowing and irrigation regimes in semi-arid region of India. Paddy Water Environ 15(2):395–401
- De Costa WAJM, Weerakoon WMW, Herath HMLK, Abeywardena RMI (2003) Response of growth and yield of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) to elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide in the sub-humid zone of Sri Lanka. J Agron Crop Sci 189(2):83–95
- Erda L, Wei X, Hui J, Yinlong X, Yue L, Liping B, Liyong X (2005) Climate change impacts on crop yield and quality with CO₂ fertilization in China. Philos Trans R Soc B 360:2149–2154
- FAO (2013) Yearbook of World Food and Agriculture, Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations. FAO, Rome
- Goufo P, Trindade H (2014) Rice antioxidants: phenolic acids, flavonoids, anthocyanins, proanthocyanidins, tocopherols, tocotrienols, γ -oryzanol, and phytic acid. Food Sci Nutr 2 (2):75–104
- Houghton JT (ed) (1996) Climate change 1995: the science of climate change: contribution of working group I to the second assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, vol 2. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- IRRI (2002) Rice almanac: source book for the most important economic activity on earth, 3rd edn. CABI Publishing, Oxon

- Kim HY, Lieffering M, Miura S, Kobayashi K, Okada M (2001) Growth and nitrogen uptake of CO₂-enriched rice under field conditions. New Phytol 150(2):223–229
- Kimball BA (1983) Carbon dioxide and agricultural yield: an assemblage and analysis of 430 prior observations. Agron J 75(5):779–788
- Lal M, Singh KK, Rathore LS, Srinivasan G, Saseendran SA (1998) Vulnerability of rice and wheat yields in NW India to future changes in climate. Agric For Meteorol 89:101–114
- Long SP (2006) Food for thought: lower-than-expected crop yield stimulation with rising CO2 concentrations. Science 312(5782):1918–1921
- Meehl GA, Stocker TF, Collins WD (2007) Global climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M et al (eds) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge/New York, pp 747–845
- Patindol JA, Siebenmorgen TJ, Wang Y-J, Lanning SB, Counce PA (2014) Impact of elevated Nighttime air temperatures during kernel development on starch properties of field-grown Rice. Cereal Chemistry Journal 91(4):350–357
- Patindol JA, Siebenmorgen TJ, Wang YJ (2015) Impact of environmental factors on rice starch structure: a review. Starch-Stärke 67(1–2):42–54
- Peng S, Huang J, Sheehy JE, Laza RC, Visperas RM, Zhong X, Centeno GS, Khush GS, Cassman KG (2004) Rice yields decline with higher night temperature from global warming. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(27):9971–9975
- Reich PB, Hobbie SE, Lee TD, Pastore MA (2018) Unexpected reversal of C_3 versus C_4 grass response to elevated CO₂ during a 20-year field experiment. Science 360:317–320
- Reid CD, Fiscus EL (2008) Ozone and density affect the response of biomass and seed yield to elevated CO₂ in rice. Glob Chang Biol 14(1):60–76
- Roy KS, Bhattacharyya P, Nayak AK, Sharma SG, Uprety DC (2015) Growth and nitrogen allocation of dry season tropical rice as a result of carbon dioxide fertilization and elevated night time temperature. Nutr Cyc Agroecosyst 103(3):293–309
- Seneweera S, Blakeney A, Milham P, Basra AS (1996) Influence of rising atmospheric CO_2 and phosphorus nutrition on the grain yield and quality of rice (*Oryza sativa* cv. Jarrah). Cereal Chem 73:239–243
- Shimono H, Okada M, Inoue M, Nakamura H, Kobayashi K, Hasegawa T (2010) Diurnal and seasonal variations in stomatal conductance of rice at elevated atmospheric CO₂ under fully open-air conditions. Plant Cell Environ 33(3):322–331
- Sihi D, Dari B, Sharma DK, Pathak H, Nain L, Sharma OP (2017) Evaluation of soil health in organic vs. conventional farming of basmati rice in North India. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 180 (3):389–406
- Terao T, Miura S, Yanagihara T, Hirose T (2005) Influence of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) on the eating quality of rice. J Sci Food Agric 85:1861–1868
- Tuong TP, Bouman BAM (2003) Rice production in water-scarce environments. In: Water productivity in agriculture: limits and opportunities for improvement, vol 1, pp 13–42
- Usui Y, Sakai H, Tokida T, Nakamura H, Nakagawa H, Hasegawa T (2014) Heat-tolerant rice cultivars retain grain appearance quality under free-air CO₂ enrichment. Rice 7(1):6
- Welch JR, Vincent JR, Auffhammer M, Moya PF, Dobermann A, Dawe D (2010) Rice yields in tropical/subtropical Asia exhibit large but opposing sensitivities to minimum and maximum temperatures. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107(33):14562–14567
- World Meteorogical Organization (WMO) https://www.wmo.int/pages/index_en.html. Accessed on July 2017
- Yang L, Wang Y, Dong G, Gu H (2007) The impact of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) and nitrogen supply on grain quality of rice. Field Crop Res 102:128–140
- Ziska LH, Teramura AH (1992) CO₂ enhancement of growth and photosynthesis in rice (*Oryza* sativa L) modification by increased Ultraviolet-B radiation. Plant Physiol 99:473–481
- Ziska LH, Bunce JA, Shimono H, Gealy DR, Baker JT, Newton PCD, Reynolds MP, Jagadish KSV, Zhu C, Howden M, Wilson LT (2012) Food security and climate change: on the potential to adapt global crop production by active selection to rising atmospheric carbon dioxide. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279(1745):4097–4105